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I. INTRODUCTION 

1. This Honourable Court has permitted supplemental submissions as to the effect of the 
August 24, 2016 Consent Order (the "Consent Order") approving the transfer of assets from the 
Sawridge Band Trust (the "1982 Trust") to the Sawridge Band Inter Vivas Settlement (the "1985 
Trust") and the terms upon which those assets are currently held (the "Asset Transfer Issue"). 

2. Sawridge First Nation {"Sawridge") continues to rely upon its written submissions filed 
November 15, 2019 and November 20, 2019 in respect of the Asset Transfer Issue. 

3. Sawridge files these submissions to supplement the legal position advanced in its earlier 
submissions, address some of the evidence that has been adduced in this matter since 
November 2019, and respond to the submissions made by Aline Huzar on September 10, 2020: 

(a) Based on a review of the applicable evidence, including the affidavits and cross­
examinations of Paul Bujold and Catherine Twinn, Sawridge submits that this 
Court should have confidence in the sufficiency of the record before it and 
should direct that the assets situated in the 1985 Trust are held by the Trustees 
of the 1985 Trust (the "1985 Trustees") on a resulting trust for the benefit of the 
1982 Trust beneficiaries. The 1985 Trustees hold legal title, per the Consent 
Order, but they hold the assets subject to the terms of the 1982 Trust and the 
1982 Trust beneficiaries continue to be the beneficial owners. 

(b) None of the evidence adduced by any party or intervener since November 2019 
has altered this fact. The 1982 Trust continues to exist as it was not terminated 
or varied by court order or by any authority contained in the 1982 Trust deed. It 
is incontrovertible that all assets in the 1985 Trust originated in the 1982 Trust. 
Title to the 1982 Trust assets is held legally by the 1985 Trustees in trust for the 
1982 beneficiaries and subject to the terms of the 1982 Trust. 

(c) Catherine Twinn's evidence is largely based on hearsay, and is otherwise 
irrelevant to the Asset Transfer Issue, which is a question of law. 

(d) Finally, the correspondence of Aline Huzar is irrelevant to the determination of 
the Asset Transfer Issue. 

II. FACTS --

4. Sawridge relies on the statement of facts set out in its brief of November 15, 2019 and 
its reply brief of November 20, 2019. 
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Ill. PURPOSE OF THE APPLICATION 

5. This application was filed by the 1985 Trustees pursuant to an instruction from this 
Court to clarify the meaning and effect of the Consent Order pronounced by the Honourable 
Mr. Justice Thomas on August 24, 2016. At the case management hearing of April 25, 2019 this 
Court stated that it had "concerns with respect to ... a modification of a trust without any judicial 
approval, without any compliance with section 42 [of the Trustee Act, RSA 2000, c T-8], without 
anything other than simply the creation of a new trust" .1 

6. This Court discussed its aims at the November 22, 2019 case management hearing. On 
that date this Honourable Court asked "what's the theoretical basis in trust law that gets us to 
wherever we get to? What was the theoretical basis after the order is granted?"2 

7. This Court's intention was further confirmed at the case management hearing of 
November 27, 2019. At that case management hearing this Court stated that the purpose of the 
application is to consider whether the Consent Order means that the 1982 Trust assets are held 
by the 1985 Trustees for the benefit of the 1985 Trust beneficiaries or for the benefit of the 
1982 Trust beneficiaries.3 

8. At the November 27, 2019 case management hearing this Honourable Court further 
stated that to properly determine the meaning of the Consent Order this Honourable Court will 
have to consider "the context, and the background, and ... the status of this trust immediately 
prior to Justice Thomas granting his order".4 

IV. CASE LAW 

9. Sawridge continues to rely upon the authorities cited in its brief filed on November 15, 
2019 and reply brief filed November 20, 2019. 

10. Sawridge notes that Bruderheim Community Church v Board of Elders, 2018 ABQB 90 
was upheld on appeal with the Court of Appeal endorsing the reasons of the chambers justice.5 

11. Sawridge further relies on the recent decision of the Ontario Superior Court in Berg v 

Jaylevy.6 

1 Transcript of April 25, 2019 Case Management Hearing at 3:15-17 [Tab A] 

2 Transcript of November 22, 2019 Case Management Hearing at 8:37-39 [Tab BJ 

3 Transcript of November 27, 2019 Case Management Hearing at 5:24-31 [Tab CJ 

4 Transcript of November 27, 2019 Case Management Hearing at 6:30-31 [Tab CJ 

5 Bruderheim Community Church v Moravian Church in America (Canadian District}, 2020 ABCA 393 [Tab 1] 
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12. In many respects, the facts of this matter closely resemble the facts of Berg. In Berg 
there were three trusts created consecutively in time, all of which were controlled by the same 
trustee and which shared similar, but not identical beneficiaries. All trusts involved the same 
asset, a cottage. Berg also involved an incomplete set of documents, unclear records, and 
fading memories. 

13. In Berg, the settler/trustee, Allen, purchased the cottage in 2001 using both his own 
funds and funds contributed by his wife, Judith. Allen then executed a trust indenture declaring 
that he held the cottage on trust for a corporation wholly-owned by his wife Judith. This was 
the First Trust. Approximately six years later Allen executed an agreement of purchase and sale 
transferring the cottage from "Allen in trust for Judith's corporation" to "Allen in trust for Allen 
and Judith". This was the "First Transfer", which created the "Second Trust". Seven years later 
Allen attempted to transfer the cottage to a new legal owner, a corporation wholly-controlled 
by Allen, in trust for Allen. This was the "Second Transfer", which created the "Third Trust". 

14. The court found that the First Transfer was valid but that the Second Transfer was 
invalid. Judith was aware of the First Transfer and confirmed that her corporation received fair 
market value. However, the Second Transfer was invalid because Allen did not have Judith's 
consent, as a 50% beneficial owner, to transfer the cottage into his own beneficial ownership. 
The Second Trust had a very barebones declaration and did not give Allen, as trustee, the 
authority to dispose of the cottage on his own accord. 

[42) On the evidence, Mr. Berg, as trustee of Mrs. Berg's one-half beneficial 
interest in the cottage property, had no authority to divest her of this interest. 
Without Mrs. Berg's express consent, Mr. Berg, as trustee, had [sic] could not 
unilaterally vary the terms of the trust to eliminate Mrs. Berg's beneficial 
interest. A trust cannot be terminated or varied except in limited circumstances. 
As stated by A.H. Oosterhoff, et al. in Oosterhof! on Trusts: Text, Commentary 
and Materials, 8th ed. (Toronto: Carswell, 2014) [Oosterhof! on Trusts], at p. 329: 

After constitution, settlers cannot revoke trusts, unless 
they retain a power of revocation when creating the trust. 
This is because when a settler establishes a trust he or she 
disposes of the property and no longer has control over it, 
save by express provision. 

[43) Trusts may only be varied or terminated prematurely by the beneficiaries 
in reliance on the rule in Saunders v. Vautier (1884), 49 E.R. 482 (Ch.)[1]; or by 
court order; or by the trustee if the trust document specifically permits the 
variation and the variation is consistent with the settler's intention: see 
Oosterhof! on Trusts, at pp. 347-348. None of these methods of variation apply 

6 2019 ONSC 2255 [Berg] [Tab 2] 
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to the trust created by Mr. Berg. Accordingly, the trust could not be varied to 
eliminate Mrs. Berg's beneficial interest without her consent.7 

15. As stated in paragraph 43, a trust can only be varied or terminated by court order, or if 
the variation is permitted by the trust deed. Alberta has eliminated t he rule in Saunders v 
Vautier by statute. Variation or termination by court order is governed by Section 42 of the 
Trustee Act. The 2016 Consent Order did not meet the requirements of Section 42. 

16. The Court then held that since the Second Transfer was invalid the cottage was held by 
the beneficiaries of the Second Trust - the trust in existence immediately prior to the Second 
Transfer. The Court does not discuss a resulting or constructive trust and instead simply vests 
the cottage on the beneficiaries of the Second Trust - Judith and Allen's estate. The Court felt 
that this was the most straightforward response because the Second Trust - which had a 
barebones declaration - did not specify who took legal ownership after Allen's death. 

17. Sawridge does not propose following that course in this application. Sawridge's position 
is that the effect of the Consent Order is that legal ownership of the 1982 Trust assets is held by 
the 1985 Trustees but the assets are held subject to the terms of the 1982 Trust and for the 
beneficiaries defined in the 1982 Trust deed. Given the nature of the 1982 Trust there would be 
little sense transferring legal title directly to the beneficiaries as was done in Berg. 

V. SAWRIDGE'S SUBMISSIONS ARE BASED IN EVIDENCE 

18. Contrary to the position taken by the OPGT in its reply brief of November 20, 2019,8 all 
of Sawridge's submissions are based in evidence that has been filed in this Court. Having regard 
to the extensive questioning and document production that has occurred in this matter, this 
Court should have confidence in the sufficiency of the record before it to make a determination 

on the Asset Transfer Issue in accordance with Sawridge's position. 

19. Contrary to both Ms. Twinn's and the OPGT's assertions, the 1982 Trust continues to 
exist. This is largely established in Sawridge's brief of November 15, 2019. In short, the 1982 
Trustees did not have authority under the 1982 Trust Deed, the Trustee Act, or the common law 

to conduct the Asset Transfer. 

20. A trust can only be varied or terminated by court order under section 42 of the Trustee 
Act or if permitted by the trust deed. 

21. None of the evidence filed to date in this matter has shown that the 1982 Trustees did 
in fact have the authority to conduct the Asset Transfer. Whether the 1982 Trustees or their 
advisers believed that this authority existed .is irrelevant. 

7 
Berg at paragraphs 42-43 [Tab 2) 

8 Reply Brief of the Office of the Public Guardian and Trustee, fil ed November 20, 2019, at paragraph 2. 
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VI. CATHERINE TWINN EVIDENTIARY ISSUES 

A. Catherine Twinn's January 2020 Affidavit is largely based on Hearsay 

22. Ms. Twinn's affidavit sworn January 24, 2020 and filed January 28, 2020 (the "2020 
Twinn Affidavit") largely consists of hearsay and double hearsay.9 None of the evidence meets 
any of the requirements of the exceptions to the hearsay rule or the principled exception to the 
hearsay rule. The 2020 Twinn Affidavit evidence does not meet the dual requirements of 
necessity and reliability. The 2020 Twinn Affidavit evidence does not meet the requirements of 
the traditional exceptions to the hearsay rule or the requirements of the principled exception 
to the hearsay rule. 

23. Subparagraphs 5(a), 5(b), 5(c), 5(d), 5(e), 5(f), 5(g), 5(h), 5(i), 5(j), 5(k), 5(1), 5(m), 5(n), 
5(o), 5(p), and 5(q) of the 2020 Twinn Affidavit contain hearsay. These subparagraphs, which 
are the vast majority of the affidavit, contain many statements allegedly made by Mr. Ewoniak 
to Ms. Twinn and are provided for the truth of their content. Subparagraphs 5(d), 5(h), 5(i), 
5(k), 5(1), 5(n), 5(o), and 5(p) contain double hearsay as Ms. Twinn provides Mr. Ewoniak's 
alleged memory of remarks made by Chief Twinn or by Deloitte LLP, where Mr. Ewoniak was 
previously a partner. 

24. Hearsay is an out-of-court statement that is offered to prove the truth of whatever is 
asserted.10 Double hearsay is an out-of-court statement made by a declarant to a second 
person and then repeated by the second person to the person attempting to offer this out-of­
court statement to prove the truth of whatever is asserted.11 A double hearsay statement can 
only be admitted if both levels of hearsay satisfy either the traditional exception or principled 
exception to hearsay requirements.12 

25. Ms. Twinn attempts to use the 2020 Twinn Affidavit to enter statements, offered for the 
truth of their content, allegedly made by Mr. Ron Ewoniak. Mr. Ewoniak was an accountant 
retained by Sawridge, various Sawridge-related corporations, and eventually the trusts, from 
the late 1960s through to 1996.13 

26. Additionally, the 2020 Twinn Affidavit contains evidence, via hearsay, which purports to 
make legal determinations, including that the 1982 Trust "was dissolved" and has "ceased to 
exist". With respect to Mr. Ewoniak, these are determinations which can only be determined by 

9 Affidavit of Catherine Twinn, sworn January 24, 2020 and filed January 28, 2020 [Tab D] 

10 R v Khe/awon, 2006 SCC 57, [2006] 2 SCR 787, at paragraph 35 [Khe/awon] [Tab 3] 

11 
R v Starr, 2000 SCC 40, (2000] 2 SCR 144, at paragraph 172-174 [Starr] [Tab 4] 

12 R v Starr, 2000 SCC 40, [2000] 2 SCR 144, at paragraph 172 [Starr] [Tab 4] 

13 2020 Twinn Affidavit at paragraphs 5(a) to 5(b) [Tab D] 
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this Court. Mr. Ewoniak's opinion on the legal status of the 1982 Trust is irrelevant to a 
determination of whether the 1982 Trust continues to exist. 

27. Additionally, Ms. Twinn has never offered any affidavits directly from Mr. Ewoniak. Ms. 
Twinn has not provided an explanation for why she elected to offer this evidence as hearsay 
rather than directly from Mr. Ewoniak himself. 

28. Mr. Ewoniak acted as an accountant for Sawridge for many years. Sawridge was not 
provided with any advance knowledge that Ms. Twinn would be introducing hearsay evidence 
from a person who owes Sawridge various confidentiality obligations. 

29. Ms. Twinn does not provide any evidence regarding when her conversation with Mr. 
Ewoniak occurred, the nature and context of the conversation, whether the conversation was 
in person or via telephone, written or electronic correspondence, or some other medium. Ms. 
Twinn does not mention whether she advised Mr. Ewoniak that she is no longer a trustee of the 
1985 Trust. This lack of context raises serious reliability concerns. 

30. As a result of this hearsay, the 2020 Twinn Affidavit is inadmissible. Alternatively, the 
2020 Twinn Affidavit should be given no weight. 

Ms. Twinn's Hearsay Evidence Does Not Meet the Requirements of the Principled Exception 

31. It is clear that Ms. Twinn's 2020 Affidavit does not satisfy any of the traditional 
exceptions to the hearsay rule. Her 2020 Affidavit also does not satisfy the principled exception 
requirements. 

32. In Khelawon, the Supreme Court clarified that hearsay evidence is admissible when the 
tendering party can show that the evidence is both reliable and necessary.14 Ms. Twinn's 2020 
Affidavit evidence is neither reliable nor necessary. 

33. Ms. Twinn must provide context and circumstances must be provided to show that the 
statement is trustworthy. 15 None of this information is provided in Ms. Twinn's Affidavit. Her 
affidavit does not provide any context as to when Mr. Ewoniak made these statements, 
whether this conversation was in person or via telephone, or whether the conversation 
occurred in writing via letter or email. 

34. At Ms. Twinn's 2020 Questioning she gave evidence that the conversation was "recent" 
but was only able to say that the conversation was December 2019 or January 2020.16 When 
-asked whether Mr. Ewoniak would be willing to share any information he has about the trusts 

14 R v Khelawon, 2006 SCC 57, [2006] 2 SCR 787, at paragraph 42 [Khe/awon] [Tab 3] 

15 R v Khelawon, 2006 SCC 57, [2006] 2 SCR 787, at paragraph 48-49 [Khelawon] [Tab 3] 

16 Transcript from the Questioning re Asset Transfer Order Application of Catherine Twinn, March 12, 2020 at 30:8-
16 [Tab E] 
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Ms. Twinn does not answer directly, but instead says that he was willing to share this 
information with her.17 Ms. Twinn never states, either in her affidavit or at her questioning, 
whether Mr. Ewoniak believed that she continues to be a 1985 Trustee. 

35. Furthermore, both Ms. Twinn's 2020 Affidavit and her questioning evidence raise 
questions about Mr. Ewoniak's reliability. Mr. Ewoniak's statements concern events from over 
35 years ago. Both Mr. Ewoniak's statement in the affidavit18 and Ms. Twinn's questioning 
testimony19 suggest that Mr. Ewoniak was speaking without notes. It would be very strange for 
Mr. Ewoniak to have retained confidential documents subsequent to his retirement. 20 Mr. 
Ewoniak's memories of events from over 35 years ago, unaided by contemporaneous notes and 

provided without context, lack reliability. 

36. Additionally, the double hearsay evidence concerning Mr. Ewoniak's memories of Chief 
Twin n's views and opinions is unreliable for the same reasons as stated above. 

37. Ms. Twinn has also failed to show how her hearsay evidence is necessary. By Ms. 
Twinn's own admission at her questioning Mr. Ewoniak is alive, competent, and resides in 
Edmonton for at least part of the year. 21 There is no reason that Mr. Ewoniak could not have 
provided his evidence and been made available for cross-examination. 

38. Mr. Ewoniak's evidence is also not necessary because it does not assist with a 
determination of the issues in question on this application. This application is concerned with a 
pure question of law - the effect of the Asset Transfer Order and the 1982 Trustees' authority to 
"transfer" assets into the 1985 Trust. Mr. Ewoniak's evidence as to the Trustees' beliefs is not 
necessary. The Trustees' actions and their authority to conduct the Asset Transfer can be 
determined by reviewing the various trust deeds and trustee resolutions related to the Asset 
Transfer. The Trustees' actions and their authority are relevant, but their accountant's or 
professional advisors' opinions are not. Whether the Trustees believed they had an authority is 
irrelevant and thus Mr. Ewoniak's evidence on the same is not necessary. 

39. Additionally, Ms. Twinn's double hearsay evidence concerning Chief Twinn's intentions 
is unnecessary. Chief Twin n's intentions with respect to the purpose of the 1985 Trust is made 

17 Transcript from the Questioning re Asset Transfer Order Application of Catherine Twinn, March 12, 2020 at 31: 
6-8.(Tab E] 

18 2020 Twinn Affidavit at paragraph S(o) [Tab D]. 

19 Transcript from the Questioning re Asset Transfer Order Application of Catherine Twinn, March 12, 2020 at 31:9-
15 [Tab E] 

20 Transcript from the Questioning re Asset Transfer Order Application of Catherine Twinn, March 12, 2020 at 30: 
1-2.(Tab E] 

21 Transcript from the Questioning re Asset Transfer Order Application of Catherine Twinn, March 12, 2020 at 30: 
23-27.(Tab E] 
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clear through the 1985 Trust deed itself, his 1993 trial testimony, and through questioning 
evidence provided by various parties, including by Ms. Twinn. 22 Additionally, we can infer that 
Chief Twinn both intended for the Asset Transfer to be effective, as he caused the transfer to 
occur, and believed that the Asset Transfer was valid, as he then acted as a 1985 Trustee and 
dealt with trust assets on that basis. With respect, Chief Twin n's belief about the validity of the 
Asset Transfer is irrelevant to the determination of whether the Asset Transfer was valid at law 
and to the determination of the effect of the Consent Order and the terms on which the assets 
in the 1985 Trust are held. 

40. Furthermore, even if this evidence were not hearsay it should be accorded no weight. As 
stated above, Mr. Ewoniak is only able to provide his own lay opinion on the events 
surrounding the Asset Transfer. Mr. Ewoniak's opinion of the validity of the Asset Transfer is 
irrelevant, as a determination of the consequences of the Asset Transfer on the beneficial 
ownership of the 1982 Trust assets is a question of law for this Honourable Court to determine. 

B. Catherine Twinn's questioning evidence of March 12, 2020 Should Be Given No 
Weight 

41. On March 12, 2020 Ms. Twinn was questioned by the OPGT in relation to this 
application ("Ms. Twinn's Questioning").23 Sawridge respectfully submits that Ms. Twinn's 
testimony from that day should be given no to minimal weight in this Honourable Court's 
deliberations. 

42. Sawridge was opposed to Ms. Twinn's Questioning and made a statement on the record 
at the outset of Ms. Twinn's questioning.24 Sawridge was opposed to Ms. Twinn's questioning 
because Ms. Twinn had previously acted as counsel to Sawridge for many years. Sawridge, 
along with the 1985 Trustees, also took the position that Ms. Twinn's Questioning was 
improper and in violation of Rule 6.7 because Ms. Twinn and the OPGT are not adverse in 
interest on this application . 

Ms. Twinn's Prior Retainer by Sawridge 

43. Ms. Twinn was previously retained by Sawridge and by other First Nations in 1984 to act 
on their behalf on a constitutional challenge. Ms. Twinn acted for Sawridge from 1984 through 

22 The use of hearsay to introduce the viewpoint of a deceased person is less odious than the use of double 
hearsay. As the declarant is no longer able to provide the evidence himself hearsay becomes necessary. 
However, double hearsay is not necessary when so many sources of Chief Twinn's views exist . The reliability 
concerns of double hearsay remain. 

23 Transcript from the Questioning re Asset Transfer Order Application of Catherine Twinn, March 12, 2020 at 1 
[Tab E] 

24 Transcript from the Questioning re Asset Transfer Order Application of Catherine Twinn, March 12, 2020 at 2:9-
3:15 [Tab E] 
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to the final conclusion of Sawridge's constitutional challenge in 2009.25 The constitutional 
challenge involved, inter a/ia, a dispute over the amendments to the band membership rules 
introduced by Bill C-31 in April 1985. These are the same membership rule amendments which 
are at the heart of the difference between the 1982 Trust and 1985 Trust beneficiary 
definitions. 

44. In Ms. Twinn's capacity as Sawridge's counsel she came into the possession of many 
privileged documents. Sawridge was concerned that Ms. Twinn would divulge privileged 
information during the course of her questioning. 

Ms. Twinn and the OPGT are not adverse in interest on this application 

45. Sawridge also took issue with Ms. Twinn's Questioning as Ms. Twin and the OPGT are 
not adverse in interest in this application. 

46. Ms. Twinn's Questioning was clearly a questioning on affidavit and not a questioning for 
discovery, and as such Rule 6.7 applied. 

47. At paragraph 67 of Ms. Twinn's brief, filed November 15, 2019, Ms. Twinn prays for 
confirmation that the "meaning and effect of the Consent Order is to confirm that the subject 
assets are held subject to the terms of the 1985 Trust Deed". Meanwhile, at paragraph 96 of 
the OPGT responding brief, filed November 15, 2019, the OPGT requests that the Court 
"confirm that the effect of the consent order ... is that the assets were properly transferred and 
are, and have been since the date of the transfer, held in the 1985 Trust for the beneficiaries of 
the 1985 Trust." As such, Ms. Twinn and the OPGT are not adverse in interest and did not have 
the right to examine one another. 

Ms. Twinn's Questioning Testimony did not provide any relevant information concerning 
the Asset Transfer 

48. Notwithstanding the above submissions on admissibility, Ms. Twinn's Questioning also 
provided little to no information relevant to this application. Ms. Twinn confirmed that, 
although she served as a 1985 Trust trustee from 1986 through to 2018,26 she did not become 
actively involved with trust administration until 1997.27 Ms. Twinn further confirmed that she 

25 Twinn v Sawridge Band, 2017 ABQB 366 at para 2 [Tab S] 

26 Transcript from the Questioning re Asset Transfer Order Application of Catherine Twinn, March 12, 2020 at 9:8-9 
and 9:26 [Tab E] 

27 Transcript from the Questioning re Asset Transfer Order Application of Catherine Twinn, March 12, 2020 at 
50 :21-24 [Tab E] 
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could not recall the band membership meetings which occurred in the context of the asset 
transfer, including band council resolutions which she signed.28 

49. Furthermore, Ms. Twinn gave evidence which supports Sawridge's position on this 
application. Ms. Twinn stated that she understood that the 1985 Trust's purpose was to ensure 
that band assets developed prior to 1985 would not be shared with anyone who had 
enfranchised prior to 1985 and was being readmitted to band membership via Bill C-31. 29 Ms. 
Twinn gave evidence that the people who had enfranchised prior to 1985 had received 
substantial per captia payments from the band's capital and revenue accounts.30 The band 
wanted to ensure that persons who had enfranchised and received per capita payments would 
not have any remaining claim on the band's assets, as they had already received their share. 

50. Ms. Twin n's understanding of the 1985 Trust's purpose is consistent with the view she 
advocated in the Bill C-31 litigation. 

51. Additionally, a trustee's opinion and recollection of events which occurred 
approximately 35 years ago are not determinative of legal realities. Ms. Twinn, along with the 
other trustees, may have thought that the asset transfer was valid from 1985. They may have 
further thought that the Consent Order was sufficient to ameliorate any defects in the asset 
transfer. This belief does not change the legal reality or satisfy the Trustee Act. 

VII. THE 1982 TRUST ASSETS ARE HELD BY THE 1985 TRUSTEES FOR THE 1982 

BENEFICIARIES ON A RESULTING TRUST 

52. The 1982 Trust assets are currently held by the 1985 Trustees on a resulting trust for the 
benefit of the 1982 Trust beneficiaries. Legal title to the 1982 Trust assets is held by the 1985 
Trustees - that is the legal effect of the Consent Order. The 1985 Trustees took legal title either 
in 1985 when the purported transfer occurred or in 2016 (but retroactively to 1985) via the 

Consent Order. 

53. While legal title was transferred to the 1985 Trustees, equitable or beneficial title did 
not transfer. As discussed in Sawridge's brief filed November 15, 2019, the 1982 Trustees did 
not have the power, under the 1982 Trust deed, to convey either legal or equitable title to the 

28 Transcript from the Questioning re Asset Transfer Order Application of Catherine Twinn, March 12, 2020 at 
51:23-52:4 [Tab E] 

29 Transcript from the Questioning re Asset Transfer Order Application of Catherine Twinn, March 12, 2020 21 :24-
22:6, 23:23-27 [Tab E] 

30 Transcript from the Questioning re Asset Transfer Order Application of Catherine Twinn, March 12, 2020 at 22 :4-
15 and 25 :4-8 [Tab E] 
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198S Trustees. As the 2016 Consent Order was not brought under section 42 of the Trustee Act 
the Consent Order could not transfer beneficial title. 

S4. A resulting trust will arise when an express trust fails and the trustees are left holding 
the property.31 As the 1982 Trustees did not have the power to change the beneficial 
ownership of the 1982 Trust assets, the assets are held by the 198S Trustees on resulting trust, 
subject to the terms of the 1982 Trust and for the beneficiaries as defined in the 1982 Trust 
deed, being all present and future members of Sawridge. 

SS. In essence, this matter largely resembles Berg. The trustees did not have the authority 
to dispose of the entire trust property. The Trustees acted outside of their authority under the 
1982 Trust deed and did not act in accordance with section 42 of the Trustee Act. While the 
Court in Berg did not explicitly create a resulting trust, the effect of the final disposition was to 
return beneficial ownership of the trust corpus to the prior trust beneficiaries. There was no 
need to use a resulting trust in that case because there were only two beneficiaries, the trust 
asset was discrete, and because no party wanted to maintain the trust situation. 

VIII. ALL ASSETS IN THE 1985 TRUST ORIGINATED IN THE 1982 TRUST 

S6. The OPGT and Catherine Twinn have argued that a debenture issued by Sawridge 
Enterprises Ltd. (the "Debenture") also entered the 198S Trust corpus.32 The OPGT and Ms. 
Twinn argue that the Debenture has comingled with the 1982 Trust assets and thus barring a 
straightforward declaration that all 198S Trust assets are held on the 1982 Trust terms. With 
respect, the OPGT and Ms. Twinn are mistaken. 

S7. The Debenture was never a 198S Trust asset. The instrument assigning the Debenture to 
the 198S Trust was never registered, and the Debenture was discharged before this advice and 
direction application was commenced. As the instrument assigning the Debenture to the 198S 
Trust was never registered it never had any legal effect.33 

S8. The Debenture was issued in 198S to Chief Twinn as Trustee for the Sawridge Indian 
Band, as Sawridge was then known.34 The Debenture was security for $12,000,000.00 loaned to 
Sawridge Enterprises Ltd. by Sawridge. The Debenture is sometimes referred to as the 

31 Donovan Waters, Mark Gillen & Lionel Smith, eds, Waters' Law of Trusts in Canada 41
h Edition (Toronto: 

Carswell, 2012) at 446 [Waters] [Tab 6] 

32 Demand Debenture, issued by Sawridge Enterprises Ltd. to Walter P. Twinn on January 21, 1985 [Tab F] 

33 Assignment of Debenture, dated April 15, 1985 [Tab G] 

34 Demand Debenture, issued by Sawridge Enterprises Ltd. to Walter P. Twinn on January 21, 1985 at page 1 
[Tab F] 
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"$12,000,000.00 debenture". The Debenture was secured, inter alia, on two lots of land (the 

"Lands") then owned by Sawridge Enterprises Ltd. and bearing the legal descriptions of:35 

(a) LOT ONE (1) 

CONTAINING ONE AND TWELVE HUNDREDTHS (1.12) ACRES 

MORE OR LESS 

IN BLOCK FIVE-A (5-A) 

ON PLAN 3225 T.R. 

EXCEPTING THEREOUT: 

ACRES 

0.01 

PLAN NUMBER 

SUBDIVISION 752 0877 

(SLAVE LAKE - SE 36-72-6-5) 

EXCEPTING THEREOUT ALL MINES AND MINERALS. 

(b) LOT TWO (2) 

CONTAINING FOUR AND NINETY SIX HUNDREDTHS (4.96) ACRES 

MORE OR LESS 

IN BLOCK FIVE-A (5-A) 

ON PLAN 3225 T.R. 

(SLAVE LAKE - SE 36-72-6-5) 

EXCEPTING THEREOUT ALL MINES AND MINERALS. 

59. There is no evidence that the Debenture ever entered the 1982 Trust and, to Sawridge's 

knowledge, no party is advancing that position . 

60. The confusion as to whether the Debenture ever entered the 1985 Trust corpus is 

because Mr. Paul Bujold gave evidence at his questioning on May 27 & 28, 2014, that the 

Debenture became a 1985 Trust asset.36 Mr. Bujold arrived at this conclusion on the basis of an 

"Assignment of Debenture" (the "Assignment") dated April 15, 1985 which appears to assign 

the Debenture to the 1985 Trust. 37 Mr. Bujold clarified his position at his 2020 questioning and 

advised that the Debenture never became a 1985 Trust asset. 38 

35 Demand Debenture, issued by Sawridge Enterprises Ltd. to Walter P. Twinn on January 21, 1985 at page 25 [Tab 
F) 

36 Transcript from the Questioning on Affidavit of Paul Bujold, May 27 & 28, 2014 at 50:22-51:4 [Tab HJ 

37 
Assignment of Debenture dated April 15, 1985 [Tab G) 

38 Transcript from the Questioning re Asset Transfer Order Application of Paul Bujold, February 26 & March 2, 2020 
at 42 :2-19, 44:3-6, 46 :20-24, 47:4-15, 48:1-4, 48 :22-27 [Tab I) 
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61. The basis of Mr. Bujold's clarification was a title search conducted on the Lands shortly 
before his February 2020 questioning for discovery (the "Historic Title Certificate").39 The 
Historic Title Certificate shows that the Debenture was registered on March 14, 1985 as 
instrument 852 050 951. 

62. On June 6, 1986 Chief Twinn, as "Trustee for the Sawridge Indian Band" executed a 
postponement of the Debenture in favour of a Bank of Nova Scotia mortgage to be registered 
against the Land (the "First Postponement").40 The First Postponement was subsequently 
registered on the Historic Title Certificate on June 20, 1986 as instrument 862 135 756.41 The 
First Postponement was witnessed by Bruce Thom. Bruce Thom swore an Affidavit of Execution 
attesting to his witnessing the First Postponement on June 26, 1986. This Affidavit of Execution 
was commissioned by Ms. Twinn. 

63. On March 31, 1993 Chief Twinn, as "Trustee for the Sawridge Indian Band" executed a 
second postponement of the Debenture (the "Second Postponement").42 The Second 
Postponement was subsequently registered on the Historic Title Certificate on May 5, 1993 as 
instrument 932 118 429.43 

64. On October 22, 1986 Chief Twinn, as "Trustee for the Sawridge Indian Band" executed a 
Discharge of Mortgage, discharging the Sawridge Enterprises Ltd. from its obligations under the 
Debenture entirely (the "Discharge").44 The Discharge was subsequently registered on the 
Historic Title Certificate on November 15, 2003 as instrument 032 443 307.45 

65. The Assignment was never registered on title. Additionally, Chief Twinn never acted in a 
manner consistent with the Assignment. Instead, he continued to execute and register legal 
documents on his own authority and as Trustee for the Sawridge Indian Band. 

39 Historic Land Title Certificate on Title Number registered as LTO# 852 264 042 B, dated November 14, 2019, as 
TAB 1 to the correspondence of Michael Sestito, counsel for the 1985 Trustees, February 20, 2020 [Tab J) 

40 
Postponement of Debenture registered as LTO# 862 135 756 dated June 6, 1986, as TAB 3 to the 
correspondence of Michael Sestito, counsel for the 1985 Trustees, February 20, 2020 [Tab K) 

41 
Historic Land Title Certificate on Title Number regi stered as LTO# 852 264 042 B, dated November 14, 2019, as 
TAB 1 to the correspondence of Michael Sestito, counsel for the 1985 Trustees, February 20, 2020 [Tab J) 

42 
Postponement of Debenture registered as LTO# 932 118 429 dated March 31, 1993, as TAB 4 to the 
correspondence of Michael Sestito, counsel for the 1985 Trustees, February 20, 2020 [Tab L) 

43 
Historic Land Title Certificate on Title Number registered as LTO# 852 264 042 B, dated November 14, 2019, as 
TAB 1 to the correspondence of Michael Sestito, counsel for the 1985 Trustees, February 20, 2020 [Tab J) 

44 Discharge of Mortgage regi stered as LTO# 032 443 307 dated June 6, 1986, as TAB 4 to the correspondence of 
Michael Sestito, counsel for the 1985 Trustees, February 20, 2020 [Tab M) 

45 Historic Land Title Certificate on Title Number registered as LTO# 852 264 042 B, dated November 14, 2019, as 
TAB 1 to the correspondence of Michael Sestito, counsel for the 1985 Trustees, February 20, 2020 [Tab J) 
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66. Chief Twinn executed the First and Second Postponement as "Trustee for the Sawridge 
Indian Band". Ch ief Twinn also execut ed the Discharge as "Trustee for the Sawridge Indian 
Band". 

67. Chief Twinn clearly considered the Assignment meaningless and continued to believe 
that he held the Debenture on trust for the Sawridge Indian Band. This is the only reasonable 
inference to be drawn from Chief Twinn's execution of several subsequent documents as 
Trustee for Sawridge. 

68. Furthermore, the 1985 Trust financial statements entered into evidence by Catherine 
Twinn indicate that the Debenture never entered the 1985 Trust.46 

69. The 1985 Trust balance sheet for calendar years 1985 and 1986 show that the only 
significant asset of the 1985 Trust is due from Sawridge Holdings Ltd. There is no amount 
owing from Sawridge Enterprises Ltd. 

70. If the Debenture was transferred into the 1985 Trust on April 15, 1985 then the balance 
sheet should show $12,000,000.00 owing from Sawridge Enterprises Ltd. to the 1985 Trust. 
Nothing is shown. Presumably the 1985 Trust started off calendar 1985 with $0.00 in assets. 

71. The 1985 Trust income statement shows that there were no contributions by 
beneficiaries made to the 1985 Trust in calendar 1985 or in any other year. If the Debenture 
had been contributed to the Trust during 1985 it would be shown as a Contribution by 
beneficiaries or otherwise reflected as a Contribution to the Trust. 

72. Further, a note to the 1985 Trust financial statements indicates that the 1985 Trust 
assets "previously held by the Sawridge Band Trust (referred to as the "Old Trust")(and referred 
to in this brief as the 1982 Trust) were rolled into the Sawridge Band Inter-Vivas Settlement 
Trust on its inception". Based on these financial statements, these are the only contributions 
made to this Trust. 

73. Had the Debenture entered the 1985 Trust the calendar 1985 financial statements 
would show both the debt on the balance sheet as an asset owing from Sawridge Enterprises 
Ltd. to the 1985 Trust, and the income statement would show that $12,000,000.00 had been 
contributed into the 1985 Trust. Neither statement shows this. 

74. Therefore, the record shows that, notwithstanding the purported Assignment, Chief 
Twinn continued to deal with the Debenture as Trustee for the "Sawridge Indian Band" 
subsequent to the purported transfer, that the Debenture was eventually discharged in 2003, 
and that there is no indication on the 1985 Trust financial statements for calendar 1985 that 
the Debenture entered the 1985 Trust. 

46 Documents TWN007911 & TWN007912 from Catherine Twinn's unsworn Second Supplemental Affidavit of 
Records [Tab NJ . 
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75. In any event, the Debenture was discharged in 2003 and, therefore, it cannot be an 
asset of any trust. As such, the record shows that the only assets in the 1985 Trust came from 
the 1982 Trust. 

IX. THE CORRESPONDENCE OF ALINE HUZAR, DATED SEPTEMBER 10, 2020 IS IRRELEVANT 

76. On September 10, 2020 Ms. Aline Huzar ("Huzar") corresponded to this court on the 
issue of the "Sawridge Trust Fund" (the "Huzar Letter"). Sawridge respectfully submits that this 
court should accord no value to the Huzar Letter. Ms. Huzar's personal beliefs regarding the 
purpose and intentions of the "trust fund" are irrelevant to this advice and direction 
application. 

77. Ms. Huzar's position in this matter is analogous to that of Maurice Stoney, whose 
application to be added as a party or intervenor was dismissed by Justice Thomas.47 In 2013, 
the Federal Court determined that Ms. Huzar had no automatic right of membership in 
Sawridge.48 The Federal Court further determined that Ms. Huzar had no right of membership 
in Sawridge by virtue of Bill C-31. Ms. Huzar is not and never has been a member of Sawridge.49 

Ms. Huzar's application for membership in Sawridge was denied. The decision to deny her 
application was upheld at judicial review.50 

78. As Ms. Huzar is not and never has been a member of Sawridge, she does not meet the 
definition of beneficiary as set out in either the 1982 Trust or the 1985 Trust, and her 
submissions should be given no weight. 

X. RELIEF SOUGHT 

79. The position of Sawridge has always been that the Trust assets are held for the benefit 
of members only. Sawridge has always sought a resolution of this matter without continuing to 
dissipate the assets of the trust for the payment of legal fees. 

47 
1985 Sawridge Trust v Alberta {Public Trustee), 2017 ABQB 436 (Sawridge #6) [Tab 6] 

48 
Stoney v Sawridge First Nation, 2013 FC 509 at paragraphs 13-14 [Tab 7] 

49 
Stoney v Sawridge First Nation, 2013 FC 509 at paragraphs 3 [Tab 7] 

50 Stoney v Sawridge First Nation, 2013 FC 509 generally [Tab 7] 
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80. For the foregoing reasons and those set out in its prior submissions of November 15, 
2019 and November 20, 2019, Sawridge submits that this Court should find that the effect of 
the Consent Order is that the 1985 Trustees hold legal title on resulting trust for the 
beneficiaries of the 1982 Trust, being members of Sawridge, and subject to the terms of the 
1982 Trust. 

ALL OF WHICH IS RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED th is 2ih day of November, 2020. 

{E8870737.DOCX; 3} 

PARLEE McLAWS LLP 

Edward H. Molstad, Q.C. 

Counsel for the Intervenor, 
Sawridge First Nation 
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Memorandum of Judgment 

The Court: 

[1] The appellants appeal the chambers judge's refusal to grant a permanent injunction and 
other ancillary relief, the intended effects of which were to prevent the respondent from interfering 
with the appellants' continued use of church lands and buildings located in the Town of 
Bruderheim, Alberta: Bruderheim Community Church v Board of Elders, 2018 ABQB 90, 66 
Alta LR (6th) 168. 

[2] The original grant of the church lands in 1897 was, pursuant to a "Habendum Clause", 
made subject to a trust "for the purposes of the Congregation of the Moravian Church at 
Bruderheim." Despite irregularities in the registration of the Habendum Clause against subsequent 
certificates of title in the Land Titles Office, the chambers judge concluded that the terms of the 
trust had not changed. The parties do not dispute the continuation of the trust. The current 
certificate of title vests the fee simple of the church lands in the "Board of Elders of the Canadian 
District of the Moravian Church in America" ("Board of Elders") in trust, however, for "the 
Congregation of the Moravian Church." The central issue in this appeal, therefore, is whether the 
appellants are the intended beneficiaries under that trust. 

[3] Some background is required in order to situate the chambers judge' s decision. 

[ 4] The Unitas Fratrum, or "Unity of the Brethren", is a protestant Christian denomination 
with a heritage dating back to 1457. Colloquially, the Unitas Fratrum is known as the 'Moravian 
Church'. 

[5] The Unitas Fratrum is broken into twenty-four provinces. One of those provinces is the 
"Moravian Church, Northern Province" (the "Northern Province"). The "Book of Order" is the 
constitutional document for the Northern Province. Where the Bible serves the spiritual aspects of 
the Northern Province, the Book of Order serves the administrative aspects. The Book of Order 
also vests oversight of the Northern Province within a Provincial Elders Conference (the 
"Provincial Conference"). The respondent, Board of Elders, was incorporated to assist the 
Provincial Conference to administer the No1thern Province's Canadian property. 

[ 6] The Book of Order governs the contractual relationship between the parties to this dispute. 

[7] The Book of Order establishes the procedure and requirements for the recognition of new 
congregations . The Bruderheim Moravian Church was formally "undertaken" by the Provincial 
Conference as a congregation of the No1thern Province in December 1895 and an Atticle of 
Agreement was finalized in June 1896. In April 1897, the federal government, pursuant to the 
Dominion Lands Act, SC 1879. c.31 issued a grant to three members of the Bruderheim Moravian 
Church 'in trust for the purposes of the Congregation of the Moravian Church at Bruderheim." In 
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October 1912, the land was transferred to the Board of Elders in fee simple and that was amended 
in March, 1922 to include the original trust provision. 

[8] The Bruderheim Moravian Church is an unincorporated association, although it has been 
registered with the Canada Revenue Agency as a registered charity since January 1, 1967. The 
other appellant, Bruderheim Community Church, was incorporated in April 2017 under the 
Religious Societies Land Act, RSA 2000, c R-15. The Bruderheim Community Church represents 
some, but not all, of the members of the Bruderheim Moravian Church. 

[9] The Book of Order also sets out the procedure and consequences for dissolution of any 
congregation previously recognized. Article 1041 of the Book of Order mandates that all rules and 
regulations in congregational bylaws include provisions that expressly vest congregational 
property to the Northern Province should the congregation be dissolved. Article 1046 of the Book 
of Order states: 

1046. Whenever any Moravian congregation expressly or virtually severs its 
connection with the Moravian Church -Northern Province, or shall become defunct 
or be dissolved, the rights , privileges, and title to the property thereof, both real and 
personal, shall vest in the Moravian Church-Northern Province, and be 
administered according to the rules and regulations of said Church. 

[l O] As noted by the chambers judge, tensions developed between the Bruderheim Moravian 
Church and the Provincial Conference and the Northern Province. In May 2016, the Bruderheim 
Moravian Church resolved "to disassociate .. . from the Moravian Church, Northern Province and 
become ... an independent congregation ." That decision to disassociate was supported by 49 
members of the Bruderheim Moravian Church congregation. Only three members voted against 
the resolution. 

[11] In response, the Northern Province called for a further special meeting of the Bruderheim 
Moravian Church to be held on June 6, 2016. At that meeting, it was explained to the congregation 
that under the Book of Order, property owned by the Bruderheim Moravian Church would vest in 
the Northern Province on dissolution . As a result, the congregation of the Bruderheim Moravian 
Church voted against the resolution (53-1) but, in January 2017, adopted revised bylaws which 
purported to assert that it is "an independent and self-governing evangelical congregation." Those 
bylaws make no reference to the Moravian Church, the N011hern Province or its governance 
structure, or the Moravian faith. Forty-five members of the Bruderheim Moravian Church voted 
to accept the proposed bylaws. Four members abstained. None opposed the resolution . 
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[12] The Board of Elders concluded, therefore, that the Bruderheim congregation "had no 
intention of remaining within the ... [Moravian Church-Northern Province] or associating with the 
denomination in any capacity." The Board of Elders recommended to the Provincial Conference 
that it dissolve the Bruderheim Moravian Church which it did effective March 16, 2017. On March 
22, 2017, the Northern Province advised representatives of the Bruderheim Moravian Church that 
all real and personal property associated with the Bruderheim church reverted to the Northern 
Province. The Provincial Conference also demanded that the church property be vacated by May 
31 , 2017. 

[13] The appellants obtained an interim injunction enjoining the respondent from interfering 
with their use and enjoyment of the church lands and subsequently sought a permanent injunction 
to the same effect. 

[14] In dismissing the appellants ' application for a permanent injunction, the chambers judge 
found, after careful analysis of the materials before him, that the Board of Elders held title to the 
church lands and buildings as successors to the original trustees from 1897. He found that since 
1912 the Board of Elders were trustees on behalf of beneficiaries that were adherents to the 
worldwide Moravian Church organization with a congregation in Bruderheim and not simply to 
the Bruderheim Moravian Church. Thus, to be beneficiaries of the trust, he concluded that the local 
Bruderheim congregation must also be members of the Moravian Church. 

[15] The chambers judge concluded that having dissociated themselves from the Northern 
Province, the Bruderheim Moravian Church congregation ceased to be beneficiaries of the trust. 
As a result, he concluded that the people on whose behalf the Bruderheim Moravian Church and 
the Bruderheim Community Church sought the injunction had lost any right to use the church 
building and property as beneficiaries of that trust. Not having established a right to the church 
lands, the chambers judge refused the appellants ' application for a permanent injunction. 

[16] The appellants challenge the chambers judge ' s interpretation of the objects of the 1897 
trust. Creation of an express trust requires the presence of three ce1iainties, namely intention, 
subject matter, and object: Century Services Inc v Canada (Attorney General), 2010 SCC 60 at 
para 83 , [2010] 3 SCR 379. Certainty of objects requires that the persons or the class of persons 
who are the intended beneficiaries must be sufficiently certain so that the trust can be performed. 

[17] The appellants' primary argument on appeal is the chambers judge misconstrued the 
objects of the trust by concluding that only adherents to the worldwide Moravian Church with a 
congregation in Bruderheim are beneficiaries under the trust and not the local congregation of the 
Bruderheim Moravian Church. The appellants also argue procedural unfairness in the chambers 
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judge's determination that Bruderheim Moravian Church - as an unincorporated association -
lacked standing to seek a permanent injunction . 

[18] In support of their appeal, the appellants also bring an application under Rule 14.45 of the 
Alberta Rules of Court, Alta Reg 124/2010 seeking an order to admit new evidence on appeal. In 
that regard, the appellants have offered a body of what is said to be new evidence attached to 
Wayne Larson's affidavit filed April 25 , 2018, concerning which people constitute the 
congregation of the Bruderheim Moravian Church and their association with use of the church 
premises over time. Some of the proffered evidence relates to what are said to be links to people 
of Moravian heritage. The appellants also argue that the new evidence is necessary to respond to 
the doubts concerning standing insofar as not all of the members of the Bruderheim Moravian 
Church voted in May 2016 to disassociate from the Northern Province and therefore some of their 
members may still be beneficiaries under the trust regardless of how those beneficiaries are 
defined . 

[19] In our view the proposed fresh evidence is not admissible under the well-known test in 
Palmer v The Queen, [1980] 1 SCR 759, but even if it were, it does not assist to resolve the issues 
on appeal. 

[20] The entirety of the new evidence was available to the appellants at the time they brought 
their application for a permanent injunction. The right of those represented by the Bruderheim 
Moravian Church and the Bruderheim Community Church to occupy and use the Bruderheim 
church property has always been in issue. It was specifically in issue before the chambers judge. 
The proposed new evidence is said to support the legitimacy of the right thus claimed, it being an 
overview of church usage, of memberships and so forth. The proposed fresh evidence could have 
been obtained in advance of the hearing through exercise of due diligence. 

[21] More significantly, the evidence does not advance the interests on appeal. The chambers 
judge neither terminated nor varied the terms of the trust. He also understood that not all of the 
members of the Bruderheim Moravian Church voted to disassociate themselves from the Moravian 
Church. While he acknowledged, at paras 117-119, that the Board of Elders may at some time 
need to bring an application to vary or terminate the trust, or for advice and directions in relation 
to the approach to take in dealing with the church lands, he also emphasized that the trust remained 
valid and the Board of Elders must continue to hold the church lands in trust for the beneficiaries 
as he defined them. 

[22] It must be borne in mind that these appellants are not, by this appeal, advancing some form 
of adverse possession claim in the sense that the people represented by the Bruderheim Moravian 
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Church and the Bruderheim Community Church have used the church property for a long time and 
want to continue to do so. The chambers judge was alive to the historical usage of the church lands 
and by whom. This case is about whether the Bruderheim Moravian Church and the Bruderheim 
Community Church have established a basis for a permanent injunction. The proposed fresh 
evidence does not assist in resolving that issue. Nothing in the new evidence could reasonably be 
expected to impact the interpretation of the objects of the trust. 

[23] For all of the above reasons, the application to admit the new evidence is denied . 

[24] As to the merits of the appeal , we discern no basis for appellate intervention. The chambers 
judge correctly noted that the test for an interlocutory injunction and a permanent injunction differ 
in some important respects: Irving Oil Ltd v Ashar, 2016 ABCA 15 at para 17-18, 609 AR 388; 
1711811 Ontario Ltd v Buckley Insurance Brokers Ltd, 2014 ONCA 125 at paras 77-79, 371 
DLR (4th) 643 . Before a permanent injunction can be granted, whether summarily or after trial, a 
plaintiff must fully prove its rights. Simply demonstrating a "serious issue to be tried" is not 
sufficient. Once it has conclusively established its rights, the plaintiff must also demonstrate that 
it is entitled to the equitable remedy of a permanent injunction: Liu v Hamptons Golf Course Ltd, 
2017 ABCA 303 at para 17, [2017] AJ No 972 (QL) . 

[25] Title to the church lands is held by the Board of Elders. The appellants seek an injunction 
that would allow the Bruderheim Community Church to occupy and use the church building for 
their own services by, in effect, altering the title holding and suspending the trust indefinitely. 

[26] We agree with the analysis and disposition of the case by the chambers judge for the 
reasons he gave. There is no palpable and overriding error in his finding as to the character and 
elements of the trust, as to the legitimacy of the title holding, and as to the voluntary dissociation 
by those people represented by the Bruderheim Moravian Church and the Bruderheim Community 
Church from the class of persons who would qua! ify as beneficiaries of the trust (ie the Moravian 
Church) . In those circumstances, and setting aside the question of standing, there is no basis for an 
injunction that displace the Board of Elders as the title holder or that would force the Board of 
Elders to surrender control of the church property to either the Bruderheim Moravian Church or to 
the Bruderheim Community Church. 

[27] As to standing, we also conclude that there was no unfairness occasioned by the chambers 
judge' s conclusion that, while the Bruderheim Community Church had standing, the Bruderheim 
Moravian Church did not. The patiies must have known that standing was or would be a live issue 
in light of Wakeling JA ' s dissenting reasons in the appeal from the interim injunction: Bruderheim 
Community Church v Board of Elders of the Canadian District of the Moravian Church in 
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America, 2017 ABCA 343 at paras 105-106, [2017] AJ No 1451 (QL). Regardless, while the 
chambers judge concluded the Bruderheim Moravian Church was not a proper party to the 
litigation, he nevertheless well and thoroughly considered the substantive issues as if the appellants 
each had standing. 

[28] In conclusion, we endorse the reasons given by the chambers judge for dismissing the 
appellants' application for a permanent injunction. This court appreciates, as did the chambers 
judge, that dismissing the permanent injunction raises additional questions relative to the trust and 
its beneficiaries, but the answers to those questions are for another day. 

[29] The appeal is dismissed. 

Appeal heard on November 3, 2020 

Memorandum filed at Edmonton, Alberta 
this 6th day of November, 2020 

Authorized to sign for: Veldhuis J.A. 

Crighton J.A. 

Feehan J.A. 
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ONTARIO 

SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE 

IN THE MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF ALLEN BERG, deceased 

BETWEEN: ) 
) 

JUDITH BERG and AMY BERG in their ) 
capacities as ESTATE TRUSTEES OF ) 
THE ESTATE OF ALLEN BERG and ) 
MELAMEL PROPERTIES INC. ) 

Applicants 

-and-

JA YLEVY LIMITED, JUDITH BERG, in 
her personal capacity, AMY BERG, in her 
personal capacity, MICHAEL BERG and 
MELISSA BERG 

Respondents 

DIETRICHJ. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Megan E. Shortreed and Denise Cooney, for 
the Applicants 

Dena N. Varah and Derek Knoke, for the 
Respondent, Judith Berg, in her personal 
capacity 

HEARD: February 27, 2019 

[ 1] This application involves the determination of the beneficial ownership of a cottage 
property located in the Lake Simcoe area of Ontario. 

[2] During his lifetime, Allen Berg directed a series of transfers of the cottage property. At 
the time of his death, legal title to the cottage property was held by a corporation, Melamel 
Properties Inc., as trustee. All of the shares of Melamel Properties Inc. are held by Mr. Berg's 
estate. 

[3] The applicant Estate Trustees of Mr. Berg's estate identify Mr. Berg's widow, Judith 
Berg, as a potential beneficial owner of the cottage property either as a joint tenant or a tenant in 
common with the late Mr. Berg. They also identify Mr. Berg's estate as a potential beneficial 
owner. 

[ 4] For the reasons that follow, I find that the beneficial owners of the cottage property are 
Mrs. Berg and Mr. Berg's estate as equal tenants in common. 
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Factual Background 

[5] Following a fourteen-month battle with cancer, Mr. Berg died on April 17, 2015, at 67 
years of age. He was quite unwell at the time he directed the final transfer of the cottage property 
some eight months before his death. 

[6] Mr. Berg was survived by Mrs. Berg and their three children: Melissa Berg, Amy Berg 
and Michael Berg. Mrs. Berg, Amy Berg and Michael Berg were named as Executors (Estate 
Trustees) and Trustees under each of Mr. Berg's Primary Will and Secondary Will. Mrs. Berg 
and Amy Berg are acting as Estate Trustees of both the Primary Will and Secondary Will. In her 
capacity as Estate Trustee, Mrs. Berg has a veto power. 

The Purchase of the Cottage Property 

[7] It was Mrs. Berg who took a keen interest in the Lake Simcoe area. As a child, she 
summered there with her family. In 1984, her parents gifted their family cottage to Mrs. Berg 
and her siblings. Eventually, Mr. and Mrs. Berg acquired the family cottage from Mrs. Berg's 
siblings. 

[8] When a cottage near the family cottage was offered for sale, Mr. and Mrs. Berg sold the 
family cottage, and Mr. Berg purchased the cottage property that is the subject of this 
application. The cottage property is known municipally as 576 Lake Drive North, Keswick, 
Ontario, and described as Concession 2, Part Lots 23 and 24, Township of Georgina, Region of 
York, in the Province of Ontario. Mr. Berg made the purchase on November 1, 2001 using funds 
that included Mrs. Berg's share of the sale proceeds of the family cottage previously owned by 
Mrs. Berg's family. Mr. Berg purchased the cottage property as a trustee. 

[9] On December 1, 2001, Mr. Berg executed a trust indenture in which he agreed to hold the 
cottage property on trust for the settlor, Jaylevy Limited. All of the shares of Jaylevy Limited, a 
private investment corporation, were owned by Mrs. Berg. Jaylevy Limited is a respondent in 
this application but it does not assert that it holds any beneficial interest in the cottage property. 

[10] The trust indenture also provided that Mr. Berg could only convey, lease, dispose or 
otherwise deal with the cottage property in such manner as Jaylevy Limited directed in writing. 

The First Transfer by Mr. Berg 

[11] Despite the terms of the trust indenture requiring Mr. Berg to act on the written direction 
of Jaylevy Limited, on February 17, 2007, Mr. Berg entered into an agreement of purchase and 
sale in which he, "Allen S. Berg in trust for Jay Levy Ltd.", agreed to sell the cottage property to 
"Allen S. Berg in trust for Allen Berg and Judy Berg." The sale resulted in a loss for Jaylevy 
Limited since the costs of renovating and building on the cottage property exceeded the fair 
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market value of the property. Mr. Berg signed the agreement of purchase and sale on behalf of 
both the purchaser and the vendor. Jaylevy Limited received the proceeds of sale on February 26, 
2007, which were paid from an account controlled by Mr. Berg. 

[12] Mr. Larry Ross acted as the real estate lawyer for Mr. Berg on the initial acquisition of 
the cottage property and the subsequent transfers. The Estate Trustees obtained and reviewed his 
files relating to the cottage property. There they found a note, albeit undated, that states "Agmnt 
of PS Allen Berg in trust for Jaylevy Ltd.", followed by an arrow to the words "Allen Berg in 
trust for Allen Berg + Judith Berg." Subsequent to this transfer, Mr. Berg received 
correspondence from the Assessment Review Board with respect to the cottage property 
addressed to him "in trust." 

The Second Transfer by Mr. Berg 

[13] On August 14, 2014, Mr. Berg, as trustee, again transferred the cottage property. This 
time he transferred it, together with a number of other investment properties owned by him, to 
Melamel Properties Inc., an investment company in which he owned all of the shares. 

[14] Prior to the transfer, on July 14, 2014, Mr. Berg executed a declaration in which he 
solemnly declared that: i) Melamel PropeLties Inc. would hold the cottage property for him as 
beneficial owner; ii) that all consideration used in the acquisition of the cottage property relating 
to the conveyance was beneficially owned by him and that the source of the funds was him as 
beneficial owner; iii) that he was the beneficial owner of the cottage property and had been since 
November 30, 2001 and would continue to be after the transfer; iv) that Melamel Properties Inc. 
was and would be a bare trustee; v) a document attached as an exhibit set out the terms of the 
trust; vi) the books and records of Melamel Properties Inc. never recorded the cottage property as 
an asset; and vii) the transfer of the cottage property was being done for estate planning 
purposes. 

[15] Mr. Berg also signed an Acknowledgement and Direction in respect of the transfer which 
included a space for the spouse of the transferor to sign, indicating her consent to the transfer. 
That space was left blank. Further, the transfer application registered with the Land Registrar 
states that "the prope1ty is not ordinarily occupied by me and my spouse who is not separated 
from me, as our residence." The transfer register notes that the transferor is Allen Berg, "Acting 
as an individual", and the transferee is Melamel, "Acting as a company" and "a Trustee" of the 
cottage property. The explanation for the nominal consideration is that it was a transfer of 
"beneficial owner to trustee". The transfer is shown to be "for Allen Berg as Beneficial Owner." 
Judith Berg is not mentioned as a beneficial owner. 

[16] Since Mr. Berg's death, Mrs. Berg has continued to reside in the cottage property as her 
secondary residence. Melamel Properties Inc. has paid the property taxes, while other expenses, 
such as gas, maintenance and hydro have been paid by Mrs. Berg. 

Position of the Estate Trustees 
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[17] The Estate Trustees seek the direction of the court with regard to the identity of the 
beneficial owners for whom Melamel Properties Inc. holds the cottage property on trust. 

[ 18] The Estate Trustees submit that although the declaration sworn by the late Mr. Berg 
states that he had been the beneficial owner of the cottage property since its acquisition, there is 
evidence to the contrary. 

[19] Included in this evidence are the indenture, dated December 1, 2001 , which identifies 
Jaylevy Limited as the beneficial owner of the cottage property, and the agreement of purchase 
and sale, dated February 16, 2007, which evidences the transfer of the beneficial interest held by 
Jaylevy Limited to Mr. and Mrs. Berg. 
[20] The Estate Trustees have not located any documentation to suggest that Mrs. Berg 
consented to the elimination of her beneficial interest in the cottage property or a release of any 
of her rights as a beneficial owner. 

Position of Mrs. Berg 

[21] Mrs. Berg, in her personal capacity, submits that the entire beneficial interest in the 
cottage property should be vested in her. She submits that the cottage property has always been 
an impo1iant part of her life. She and Mr. Berg designed and built a new cottage on the existing 
prope1iy and they lived there up to six months of each year for ten years of their marriage. But 
for Mr. Berg' s death, she submits, it would have been their retirement home. 

[22] Mrs . Berg also submits that at no time did she transfer her beneficial interest in the 
cottage property or consent to any action that would deprive her of her beneficial interest. She 
further submits that the cottage property was a matrimonial home for the purposes of the Family 
Law Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. F.3, which she and her husband used a matrimonial home, and that she 
never released her rights in respect of the matrimonial home through any agreement or 
otherwise. 

[23] Mrs . Berg's evidence is that she was not aware of the transfer to Melamel Properties Inc. 
until after Mr. Berg's death . She deposed that she was not aware of, and did not consent to, the 
statements made by Mr. Berg in his declaration that he was the sole beneficial owner of the 
cottage property and had always been the beneficial owner and that all of the funds used to 
purchase the cottage property conveyed to Melamel Properties Inc. were sourced by him. 

[24] Mrs. Berg submits that the purported transfer of the cottage property by Mr. Berg to 
Melamel Properties Inc. is not a valid transfer as it was not permitted by law and it was premised 
on fundamental mistakes of fact. 

[25] Mrs. Berg seeks an order confirming that the entire beneficial interest in the cottage 
property is hers. Alternatively, she seeks an order confirming that she owns a 50% interest in the 
cottage beneficially and that she be permitted to compel the Estate Trustees to sell the remaining 
beneficial interest to her at the fair market value. 
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Analysis 

[26] Rule 14.05(3) of the Rules of Civil Procedure, R.R.O. 1990, Reg. 194 (the "Rules") 
authorizes the commencement of a proceeding by way of an application where the relief claimed 
is for: "(a) the opinion, advice or direction of the court on a question affecting the rights of a 
person in respect of the administration of the estate of a deceased person or the execution of a 
trust; [ . . . ] ( d) the determination of rights that depend on the interpretation of a deed, will, 
contract or other instrument [ ... ] ( e ) the declaration of an interest in land; [ ... ] and (h) in respect 
of any matter where it is unlikely that there will be any material fact in dispute." 

[27] Rule 74.15 provides that any person who appears to have a financial interest in an estate 
may seek an order providing for any matter that the court directs. The Estate Trustees have 
standing to seek an order with respect to the administration of the estate. 

[28] The Estate Trustees seek an order vesting the beneficial interest in the cottage prope1ty in 
accordance with the court's determination as to the beneficial owner or owners. Pursuant to s. 
100 of the Courts of Justice Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43 , this court may, by order, vest in any 
person an interest in real property that the court has authority to order be disposed or, 
encumbered or conveyed. 

The First Transfer by Mr. Berg 

[29] The transfer of the cottage property from Mr. Berg in trust for Jaylevy Lirnited to Mr. 
Berg in trust for Mr. Berg and Mrs. Berg was a valid transfer. The trust indenture, dated the 1st 

day of December, 2001 , at the third paragraph, specifically permits Mr. Berg, as trustee for 
Jaylevy Limited, to "convey, lease, dispose or otherwise deal with the said lands and premises 
only in such manner as the Settlor [being Jaylevy Limited] shall from time to time direct in 
writing." 

[30] Though Jaylevy Limited did not direct Mr. Berg, as trustee, in writing, to convey the 
cottage property, Mrs. Berg's evidence is that she, as sole shareholder of Jaylevy Limited, was 
fully aware that the cottage property was for sale and she acknowledges that the fair market 
value sale proceeds were received by her company Jaylevy Limited at the time of the sale. 

[31] The agreement of purchase and sale shows that Mr. Berg purchased the cottage property 
from "Jay levy Ltd. in trust". It appears from the note in Mr. Ross ' file that Mr. Berg instructed 
him that the cottage property either had been transferred, or was to be transferred , from Jaylevy 
Limited to Allen Berg in trust for Allen Berg and Judy Berg. Because the note is undated, it is 
impossible to know whether it was made before or after the transfer. The note is consistent with 
the agreement of purchase and sale. Neither states whether the ownership between Mr. and Mrs. 
Berg was intended to be as joint tenants or tenants in common. Beyond the agreement of 
purchase and sale and the solicitor's note, there is no evidence of any written trust agreement. 

[32] By his choice of language in the agreement of purchase and sale, and in the note made by 
his solicitor, it is apparent that Mr. Berg intended to establish a trust. The three certainties 
required to establish an express trust are present. Mr. Berg's intention to create a trust is clear. 
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The subject matter of the trust is the cottage property. The objects or beneficiaries of the trust are 
himself and his wife. 

[33] In construing the terms of a trust, the settlor's intention is important. It is not clear 
whether Mr. Berg intended that he and his wife would share the beneficial ownership in the 
cottage property as joint tenants with right of survivorship or as tenants in common. 

[34] In the absence of trust documentation to determine the nature and extent of Mrs. Berg's 
interest in the trust, the comt may look at extrinsic evidence to ascertain the settlor's intention. 
This is especially so where an ambiguity exists: Byers v. Foley (1993), 16 O.R. (3d) 641 (Gen. 
Div.) [Byers], at para. 15 and Canada Trust Co. v. Ontario (Human Rights Commission) (1990), 
74 O.R. (2d) 481 (C.A.), at paras. 108-111. Extrinsic evidence includes the conduct of the settlor 
and other evidence of the parties' intentions: Byers, at para. 15 and Hunter Estate v. Holton 
(1992), 7 O.R. (3d) 372 (Gen. Div.), at paras. 12 and 19-20. 

[35] Mrs. Berg asse1ts that Mr. Berg's intention, in creating the express trust, was that the 
entire beneficial interest in the cottage property was to be hers following his death. She argues 
that whatever beneficial interest Mr. Berg had in the cottage property would pass to her by right 
of survivorship, because, on his death, she alone would hold the entire residual beneficial interest 
in the trust. In finding this intention, she relies on the fact that the cottage property was initially 
held in trust for Jaylevy Limited, which was solely owned by her. She further asserts that the 
cottage property was built for her, at her request, funded in part by money gifted to her from her 
family, and that the cottage was located near the community with which she and her family were 
closely associated. She further asserts that Mr. Berg told her that his dealings with the cottage 
property were all for her and that she always believed that, on her husband's death, she would 
own the cottage property exclusively. 

[36] Apart from the ownership of the cottage property by Jaylevy Limited, Mrs. Berg's 
evidence in this regard is largely uncorroborated. In addition, her evidence fails to take into 
account that when Mr. Berg purchased the cottage property from Jaylevy Limited, in trust, for 
himself and Mrs. Berg, he paid $3,015,000 for it. At the time of purchase, Mr. Berg could have 
decided to hold the cottage property on trust for Mrs. Berg alone, but he did not do so. 

[37] Mrs . Berg asserts that she contributed to the funds paid for the cottage when Mr. Berg 
purchased it from Jaylevy Limited as well as when he purchased it, in trust, for Jaylevy Limited. 
When Mr. Berg first purchased the cottage property, in trust for Jaylevy Limited, the evidence is 
that Mrs. Berg did contribute to the purchase price. She had funds to contribute from the sale of 
the family cottage, a share of which she had inherited from her late parents. When Mr. Berg 
made the second purchase, from Jay levy Limited, for $3,015,000, the precise source of the funds 
used to make the purchase is not clear. Mrs. Berg submits that the funds included money gifted 
to her and from assets that she brought into the marriage and assets she and her husband amassed 
during their marriage. Mr. Berg paid the purchase price, by cheque, on February 26, 2007, from a 
bank account in Mr. Berg's name alone. The memo line on the cheque states "Re Purchase of 
576 Cottage." The records for Jaylevy Limited show a cheque deposit for $3,015,000 into 
Jaylevy Limited's bank account on February 26, 2007. There is no documentary evidence in 
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support of Mrs. Berg's asse1tion that she contributed to the purchase from Jay levy Limited. Mr. 
Berg made the decision to hold the cottage property on trust for Mrs. Berg and himself. I find it 
more likely than not that, having made a significant investment in the cottage property, Mr. Berg 
intended to reserve for himself a beneficial interest. 

(38] Further, when Mr. Berg later transferred the cottage property to Melamel Properties Inc., 
he made a declaration that he alone held the beneficial interest in the cottage property and had 
always held that beneficial interest. 

(39] In light of this evidence I am unable to find that Mrs. Berg is entitled to the entire 
beneficial interest in the cottage property. Subsection 13(1) of the Conveyancing and Law of 
Property Act, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.34 provides that where by any assurance, made and executed 
after the 1st day of July, 1834, land has been or is granted, conveyed or devised to two or more 
persons, other than executors or trustees, in fee simple or for any less estate, it shall be 
considered that such persons took or take as tenants in common and not as joint tenants, unless 
an intention sufficiently appears on the face of the assurance that they are to take as joint tenants. 
Subsection 13(2) provides that this section applies notwithstanding that one of such persons is 
the spouse of another. In this case there is little evidence other than Mrs. Berg's uncorroborated 
evidence that there was an intention that Mr. Berg would hold the cottage property on trust for 
himself and Mrs. Berg as joint tenants with right of survivorship. 

(40] Accordingly, I find that, as a consequence of the first transfer by Mr. Berg, he was 
holding the cottage prope1ty on trust for himself and Mrs. Berg as equal tenants in common. 

The Second Transfer by Mr. Berg 

[ 41] Subsequent to creating the express trust of the cottage property for the benefit of Mrs. 
Berg and himself, shortly before his death, as part of his estate planning, Mr. Berg attempted to 
transfer the cottage property to Melamel Properties Inc. The documentation in respect of this 
transfer shows a transfer by Mr. Berg, a trustee, to Melamel Properties Inc., in trust for Allen 
Berg. Mr. Berg, as president of Melamel Prope1ties Inc., signed a Declaration of Trust, dated the 
30th day of June, 2014, in which he states that he, as trustee, is holding the property as bare 
trustee and agent for Allen Berg as to "100%." The declaration is signed by Mr. Berg as 
"Trustee'', and as "Beneficiary." Other than his declaration made on the 141h day of July, 2014 
that the transfer was for "estate planning purposes", Mr. Berg's motivation for transferring the 
cottage property at that time, as he did, is unknown. Regardless, I find that the purported transfer 
was ineffective. 

(42] On the evidence, Mr. Berg, as trustee of Mrs. Berg's one-half beneficial interest in the 
cottage property, had no authority to divest her of this interest. Without Mrs. Berg's express 
consent, Mr. Berg, as trustee, had could not unilaterally vary the terms of the trust to eliminate 
Mrs. Berg's beneficial interest. A trust cannot be terminated or varied except in limited 
circumstances. As stated by A.H. Oosterhoff, et al. in Oosterhof! on Trusts: Text, Commentary 
and Materials, 8th ed. (Toronto: Carswell, 2014) [Oosterhof! on Trusts], at p. 329: 
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After constitution, settlors cannot revoke trusts, unless they retain a 
power of revocation when creating the trust. This is because when a 
settlor establishes a trust he or she disposes of the property and no 
longer has control over it, save by express provision. 

[ 43] Trusts may only be varied or terminated prematurely by the beneficiaries in reliance on 
the rule in Saunders v. Vautier (1884), 49 E.R. 482 (Ch.) 1

; or by court order; or by the trustee if 
the trust document specifically permits the variation and the variation is consistent with the 
settlor's intention: see Oosterhoff on Trusts, at pp. 347-348. None of these methods of variation 
apply to the trust created by Mr. Berg. Accordingly, the trust could not be varied to eliminate 
Mrs. Berg's beneficial interest without her consent. 

(44] There is no evidence to suggest that Mr. Berg acquired Mrs. Berg's beneficial interest in 
the cottage property prior to transferring it to Melamel Properties Inc. There is also no evidence 
to suggest that Mrs. Berg received any consideration for her beneficial interest in the cottage 
property on the transfer of the cottage property by Mr. Berg to Melamel Properties Inc., which 
would hold it on trust for his sole benefit. 

[ 45] Further, the purported transfer was supported by a number of statements made by Mr. 
Berg that are inaccurate. On July 14, 2014, Mr. Berg executed a declaration in which he 
solemnly declared that Melamel Limited would hold the cottage property for "ALLEN BERG as 
Beneficial Owner." No mention is made of Mrs. Berg's beneficial interest. Mr. Berg also 
declares that all consideration used in the acquisition of the cottage property relating to the 
conveyance was beneficially owned by him and that the source of the funds was his as beneficial 
owner. However, it is Mrs. Berg's evidence, albeit uncorroborated, that the funds used to 
purchase the cottage property from Jaylevy Limited came from money and assets that she 
brought into the marriage and assets that she and Mr. Berg had amassed during the marriage. 
Regardless of the source of the funds , Mr. Berg was not the sole beneficial owner. Mr. Berg 
further declared that he was the beneficial owner of the cottage property and had been since 
November 30, 2001 and would continue to be after the transfer. This is erroneous; on the 
evidence, he had not been the beneficial owner since November 30, 2001. Jay levy Limited had 
been the beneficial owner from November 30, 2001 to February 15, 2007 and Mrs. Berg and he 
were beneficial owners thereafter up to and including the date on which Mr. Berg swore the 
declaration. 

(46] Mr. Berg also signed an Acknowledgement and Direction to his lawyer, Mr. Ross, on the 
141

h day of July, 2014. He signed as "Allen Berg" with no reference to the trusteeship. The 
purported transfer required the signature of his spouse, giving her consent to the transfer, but he 
did not obtain her signature. Mrs. Berg's evidence is that she was not asked to sign the consent. 

1 The rule in Saunders v. Vautier provides that a trust may be varied and the trust property distributed where 
all the beneficiaries are sui juris and are absolutely entitled to the trust property. In this case, such 
beneficiaries may compel the trustees to distribute the property to them and bring the trust to an end. 
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[47] The transfer document attached to the Acknowledgement and Direction describes the 
transferor as "Berg, Allen Acting as an individual" and describes the transferee as "Melamel 
Prope11ies Inc. Acting as company". It also contains Mr. Berg's statement that "the property is 
not ordinarily occupied by me and my spouse who is not separated from me, as our residence." 
On the evidence, these too are erroneous statements. At the time of this transfer, Mr. Berg held 
legal title to the cottage property as a trustee. Mrs. Berg's evidence, which is uncontroverted, is 
that the cottage property was indeed a matrimonial home, which she and her late husband used as 
their secondary residence up to six months of the year. 

[ 48] In the Land Transfer Tax Statements, Mr. Berg does not tick the box describing himself 
as "a person in trust for whom the land conveyed in the above-described conveyance is being 
conveyed." Instead, he ticks the box that describes him as "The President, Vice-President, 
Manager, Secretary, Director, or Treasurer authorized to act for Melamel Prope11ies Inc. 
described as the [transferee]." The explanation for the nominal consideration is that the transfer 
was a transfer from "beneficial owner to trustee." This statement is also inaccurate. Mr. Berg was 
not the sole beneficial owner, and in any case held legal title only in his capacity as trustee for 
himself and Mrs. Berg. 

[49] The transfer was receipted and registered on the 14th day of August, 2014. The transferor 
is shown as "Berg, Allen" and the transferee is shown as "Melamel Properties Inc." in the 
capacity as "Trustee." In fact, Mr. Berg was acting as a trustee at the time of transfer because 
only the trustee, as legal owner, could convey title. 

[50] In light of the many misstatements made by Mr. Berg in his effort to transfer the cottage 
property to Melamel Properties Inc. and his breach of fiduciary duty in attempting to divest Mrs. 
Berg of her beneficial interest in the cottage property, without her consent, I find that Mr. Berg's 
purported transfer of the cottage property to his company as trustee for his exclusive benefit must 
fail. 

[51] A court may set aside a trust where the trust was made based on a mistake. The mistake 
must be a "fundamental fact" that is basic to the transaction: Donovan W.M. Waters, Q.C., 4th 
ed., Waters' Law of Trusts in Canada, 4th ed. (Toronto: Carswell, 2012) at pp. 389-390. The 
mistakes in this case relate to the fundamental facts that Mrs. Berg had a beneficial interest in the 
cottage that was not recognized by the trustee at the time he purported to transfer the cottage to 
Melamel Properties Inc., and that Mr. Berg had never been the sole beneficial owner of the 
cottage property, contrary to his declaration and other documented statements. 

[52] Accordingly, the transfer to Melamel Properties Inc. must be set aside with the result that, 
immediately prior to Mr. Berg's death, he continued to hold the cottage property on trust for the 
benefit of himself and Mrs. Berg as equal tenants in common. On his death, the beneficial 
owners of the cottage property became Mrs . Berg and the Estate of Allen Berg, each holding an 
undivided one-half interest. 

Disposition 
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[53] As Allen Berg is deceased, the express trust he created for the benefit of himself and his 
spouse on February 15, 2007 is without a trustee and, therefore, a legal representative who can 
effect a transfer of the legal title to the cottage property to the beneficial owners. Under these 
circumstances, I find this to be an appropriate case in which to rely on s. 100 of the Courts of 
Justice Act and to order the vesting of the cottage property in the beneficial owners. 

[54] An order shall issue vesting in Judith Berg, an undivided one-half interest in the cottage 
property as a tenant in common, and vesting in Judith Berg and Amy Berg, as Estate Trustees of 
the Estate of Allen Berg, an undivided one-half interest in the cottage property, known 
municipally as 576 Lake Drive North, Keswick, Ontario, and described as Concession 2, Part 
Lots 23 and 24, Town of Georgina, Region of York, in the Province of Ontario. 

[55] In the event of any inconsistencies, irregularities or omissions that arise in the 
implementation of this order, the land registrar shall make or modify the relevant records as the 
land registrar sees fit in order to implement what the land registrar believes to be the true intent 
of this order, and to request such further evidence or assurance as the land registrar deems fit, all 
without prejudice to the right of the parties to return to this court for direction or clarification. 

[56] I decline to order that Mrs. Berg shall be entitled to purchase Mr. Berg's one-half interest 
in the cottage property from his estate at its fair market value. Mrs. Berg is one of two Estate 
Trustees of her late husband's estate and is therefore in a position to influence how the cottage 
property is administered by the Estate Trustees. This is particularly so in light of the veto power 
she holds as long as she is a Trustee of the estate. Also, each of Mr. Berg's Primary Will and 
Secondary Will permits encroachments on the capital of the respective estates for the benefit of 
Mrs. Berg. The Estate Trustees have discretion to administer Mr. Berg's interest in the cottage 
property as they see fit. I see no need for the court to interfere with their discretion in this regard. 

Costs 

[57] Each of the parties submitted a bill of costs, which I have reviewed. The Estate Trustees 
seek costs of $83,097.31 (including disbursements and HST) on a full indemnity basis. Mrs. 
Berg seeks costs of $77,783 (including disbursements and HST) on a full indemnity basis. 
Pursuant to s. 131 of the Courts of Justice Act, the fixing of costs is a discretionary exercise. I 
have considered the bills of costs in light of the factors set out in r. 57.0lof the Rules. The 
principles of indemnity for the successful party and the expectations of the unsuccessful party do 
not apply in this case. The issues were not overly complex but nonetheless required the 
assistance of the court to resolve them. 

[58] Because Mr. Berg is no longer alive to testify as to his intention at the time he made the 
second transfer of the cottage property, or to rectify the title issues relating to the cottage 
property that arise as a consequence of transfers that he undertook unilaterally, it is desirable and 
appropriate that the matter be resolved by the court. In this case, resort to the court may be the 
only means to determine the beneficial ownership of an asset held by Mr. Berg's estate and to 
ensure that the interests in the cottage property are properly administered and registered. As such 
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there is a good public policy reason to support the payment of the costs of both parties out of Mr. 
Berg's estate: Sawdon Estate v. Sawdon, 2014 ONCA 101, at para. 85. 

[59] I find an award of substantial indemnity costs for each of the parties to be fair and 
reasonable. I therefore fix the costs of the Estate Trustees at $74,787.58, including disbursements 
and HST, and fix the costs of Mrs. Berg at $70,201, including disbursements and HST. These 
costs shall be paid from the assets fonning part of Mr. Berg's estate. 

Dietrich J. 

Released: April 18, 2019 
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bility - Trial judge admitting deceased complainants' 
hearsay statements to police into evidence - Whether 
statements admissible under principled exception to 
hearsay rule - Factors to be considered in determin­
ing whether hearsay statements sufficiently reliable to 
be admissible. 

In 1999, C, a cook who worked at a retirement home, 
found S, a resident of the home, badly injured in his 
room. His belongings were packed in garbage bags. 
S told C that the accused, the manager of the home, 
had beaten him and threatened to kill him if he did not 
leave the home. C took S to her apartment and cared 
for him for a few days. She then brought S to a doctor. 
The doctor testified that he found three fractured ribs 
and bruises that were consistent with S's allegation 
of assault but which also could have resulted from a 
fall. The next day, C took S to the police and S gave 
a videotaped statement alleging that the accused had 
assaulted him and threatened to kill him. The statement 
was not under oath but S answered "yes" when asked if 
he understood it was important to tell the truth and that 
he could be charged if he did not tell the truth. Medical 
records seized from the retirement home described S as 
"angry", "aggressive", "depressed" and "paranoid", and 
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Droit criminel - Preuve - Oui'-dire -Admissibilite 
- luge du proces admettant en preuve /es declarations 
relatees que des plaignants decides avaien.t faites a la 
police - Ces declarations etaient-elles admissibles en 
vertu de ['exception raisonnee a [a regle du Olti°-dire? 
- Facteurs a considerer pour decider si des declara­
tions relatees sont suffisammentfiables pour etre admis­
sibles. 

En 1999, C, une cl11s1111ere dans une maison de 
retraite, a trouve S, un resident de cet etablissement, 
blesse grievement dans sa chambre. Ses effets per­
sonnels etaient entasses dans des sacs a ordures. S a 
raconte a c que !'accuse, directeur de !'etablissement, 
l'avait battu et avait menace de le tuer s' il ne quittait 
pas la maison de retraite. C a conduit S a son appar­
tement et s'est occupee de Jui pendant quelques jours. 
Elle a ensnite conduit S chez un medecin. Ce dernier 
a temoigne qu'il avait decele trois cotes fracturees et 
des ecchymoses qui pouvaient avoir resu!te de !'agres­
sion alleguee par S, mais aussi d'une chute. Le lende­
main, C a conduit S au poste de police, ou S a fait une 
declaration enregistree sur bande video, dans !aquelle 
il alleguait que l'accuse l'avait agresse et avait menace 
de le tuer. Cette declaration n'a pas ete faite sous ser­
ment, mais S a repondu « oui » lorsqu'on Jui a demande 
s'il comprenait qu'il etait important de dire la verite et 
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revealed that he had been treated for paranoid psycho­
sis and depression. At trial, a psychiatrist who testified 
at the voir dire concluded that S had the capacity to 
communicate evidence and understood at the time he 
made his statement to the police that it was important 
to tell the truth. The defence argued that C influenced S 
to complain out of spite because the accused previously 
had terminated C's employment. 

The police attended the retirement home where 
more residents complained that they had been assaulted 
by the accused. The accused was charged in respect 
of five complainants but, by the time of the trial, four 
complainants, including S and D, had died of causes 
unrelated to the alleged assaults and the fifth was no 
longer competent to testify. Only one complainant had 
testified at the preliminary inquiry. The central issue at 
trial was whether the complainants' hearsay statements 
should be received in evidence. The trial judge admit­
ted some of the hearsay based in large part on the strik­
ing similarity between the statements. The trial judge 
ultimately found videotaped statements given by S and 
D to the police sufficiently credible to found convic­
tions for aggravated assault and uttering a death threat 
in respect of S, as well as assault causing bodily harm 
and assault with a weapon in respect of D. The accused 
was acquitted on the remaining counts . On appeal, a 
majority of the Court of Appeal excluded all of the 
hearsay statements and acquitted the accused on all 
charges. The dissenting judge would have upheld the 
convictions in respect of S. The Crown appealed as of 
right from the acquittals in respect of S and was denied 
leave to appeal from the acquittals in respect of D. 

Held: The appeal should be dismissed and the acquit­
tals affirmed. 

Hearsay evidence is presumptively inadmissible 
unless an exception to the hearsay rule applies, prima­
rily because of a general inability to test its reliabil­
ity. The essential defining features of hearsay are the 
fact that the out-of-court statement is adduced to prove 
the truth of its contents and the absence of a contem­
poraneous opportunity to cross-examine the declar­
ant. Hearsay includes an out-of-court statement made 
by a witness who testifies in court if the statement is 
tendered to prove the truth of its contents . In some 

que des accusations pourraient etre portees contre lui 
s'il mentait. Les dossiers medicaux saisis a la maison 
de retraite decrivaient S comme etant « en colere », 
« agressif », « depressif » et « paranoYaque », en plus 
de reveler qu'il avail ete traite pour une psychose para­
noi"aque et une depression. Au proces, une psychiatre 
ayant temoigne !ors du voir-dire a conclu que S avait 
la capacite de communiquer Jes faits dans son temoi­
gnage et qu'il comprenait !'importance de dire la verite 
au moment oii ii a fait sa declaration a la police. La 
defense a pretendu que c avait amene s a porter plainte 
pour se venger de !'accuse qui avait mis fin a son emploi 
auparavant. 

Des policiers se sont rendus a la maison de retraite 
OU d'autres residents se sont plaints d'avoir ere agres­
ses par !'accuse. Ce dernier a fait l'objet d'accusa­
tions a l'egard de cinq plaignants, mais, au moment du 
proces, quatre plaignants, dont S et D, etaient dece­
des de causes non liees aux agressions alleguees, et 
le cinquieme n'etait plus habile a temoigner. Un seul 
plaignant avait temoigne a l'enquete preliminaire. La 
principale question en litige etait de savoir s'il y avait 
lieu d'admettre en preuve les declarations relatees des 
plaignants. Le juge du proces a admis une partie de la 
preuve par ouY-dire en raison, dans une large mesure, 
de la similitude frappante des declarations . En fin de 
compte, il a estime que les declarations enregistrees sur 
bande video que S et D avaient faites a la police etaient 
suffisamment credibles pour justifier des declarations 
de culpabilite de voies de fait graves et de menaces de 
mort a l'endroit de S, ainsi que d'agressi.on ayant cause 
des lesions corporelles et d'agression armee a l'endroit 
de D. L'accuse a ete acquitte quant aux autres chefs. 
En appel, Ia Cour d'appel a la majorite a exclu toutes 
les declarations relatees et a acquitte !'accuse relative­
ment a toutes Jes accusations. Le juge dissident aurait 
maintenu les declarations de culpabilite relatives a S. 
Le ministere public a forme un pourvoi de plein droit 
contre Jes acquittements relatifs a S et s'est vu refuser 
l'autorisation d'appeler a l'egard de ceux relatifs a D. 

Arret : Le pourvoi est rejete et les acquittements sont 
confirmes. 

La preuve par ouY-dire est presumee inadmissi­
ble a moins qu'une exception a la regle du ouY-dire ne 
s'applique, essentiellement en raison de l'incapacite 
generale d'en verifier la fiabilite . Les caracteristiques 
determinantes essentielles du ou"i-dire sont le fait que 
la declaration extrajudiciaire soit presentee pour etablir 
la veracite de son contenu et l'impossibilite de contre­
interroger le cteclarant au moment precis ou il fait cette 
declaration. Le ouY-dire inclut une declaration extraju­
diciaire d'un temoin qui depose en cour lorsque cette 
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circumstances, hearsay evidence presents minimal dan­
gers and its exclusion rather than its admission would 
impede accurate fact finding. Hence over time a number 
of traditional exceptions to the exclusionary rule were 
created by the courts . Hearsay evidence that does not 
fall under a traditional exception may still be admitted 
under the principled approach if indicia of reliability 
and necessity are established on a voir dire. The reli­
ability requirement is aimed at identifying those cases 
where the concerns arising from the inability to test the 
evidence are sufficiently overcome to justify receiving 
the evidence as an exception to the general exclusion­
ary rule. The reliability requirement will generally be 
met by showing (1) that there is no real concern about 
whether the statement is true or not because of the cir­
cumstances in which it came about; or (2) that no real 
concern arises from the fact that the statement is pre­
sented in hearsay form because, in the circumstances, 
its truth and accuracy can nonetheless be sufficiently 
tested by means other than contemporaneous cross­
examination. These two principal ways of satisfying 
the reliability requirement are not mutually exclusive 
categories and they assist in identifying the factors that 
need to be considered on the admissibility inquiry. [2-3] 
[35] [37] [42] [49] [61-63] [65] 

The trial judge acts as a gatekeeper in making the 
preliminary assessment of the threshold reliability of 
a hearsay statement and leaves the ultimate determina­
tion of its worth to the fact finder. The factors to be 
considered on the admissibility inquiry cannot be cat­
egorized in terms of threshold and ultimate reli ability. 
Rather, all relevant factors should be considered includ­
ing, in appropriate cases, the presence of supporting or 
contradictory evidence. Comments to the contrary in 
previous decisions of this Court, including R. v. Starr, 
[2000] 2 S.C.R. 144, 2000 SCC 40, should no longer be 
followed. In determining admissibility, the court should 
adopt a more functional approach focussed on the par­
ticular dangers raised by the hearsay evidence sought to 
be introduced and on those attributes or circumstances 
relied upon by the proponent to overcome those dan­
gers. Whether certain factors will go only to ultimate 
reliability will depend on the context. In each case, the 
inquiry is limited to determining the evidentiary ques­
tion of admissibility. Corroborating or conflicting evi­
dence may be considered in the admissibility inquiry 
in appropriate cases. When the reliability requirement 
is met on the basis that the trier of fact has a sufficient 
basis to assess the statement's truth and accuracy, there 
is no need for the trial judge to inquire further into the 

declaration est presentee pour etablir la veracite de son 
contenu. Dans certains cas, la preuve par oui-dire pre­
sente des dangers minimes et son exclusion au lieu de 
son admission generait Ia constatation exacte des faits. 
C'est ainsi que les tribunaux ont etabli, au fil du temps, 
un certain nombre d'exceptions traditionnelles a la 
regle d'exclusion. La preuve-par oui-dire qui ne releve 
pas d'une exception traditionnelle peut tout de meme 
etre admissible suivant la methode d'analyse raisonnee, 
si l'existence d'indices de fiabilite et de necessite est 
etablie !ors d'un voir-dire. L'exigence de fiabilite vise a 
determiner Jes cas ou Jes preoccupations decoulant de 
l'impossibilite de verifier la preuve sont suffisamment 
sunnontees pour justifier !'admission de cette preuve 
a titre d'exception a Ia regle d'exclusion generale. En 
general, ii est possible de satisfaire a !'exigence de fia­
bilite en demontrant (1) qu'il n'y a pas de preoccupation 
rfolle quant au caractere veridique OU non de la declara­
tion, vu Jes circonstances dans lesquelles elle a ete faite, 
ou (2) que le fait que la declaration soit relatee ne sus­
cite aucune preoccupation reel le etant donne que, dans 
Jes circonstances, sa veracite et son exactitude peuvent 
neanmoins etre suffisamment verifiees autrement qu'au 
moyen d'un contre-interrogatoire effectue au moment 
precis ou e!Ie est faite. Ces deux principales fa~ons de 
satisfaire a !'exigence de fiabilite ne constituent pas des 
categories mutuellement exclusives et peuvent aider a 
reconnaltre les facteurs a considerer pour determiner 
l'admissibilite. [2-3] [35] [37] [42] [49] [61-63] [65] 

Le juge du proces joue le role de gardien en effec­
tuant cette appreciation preliminaire du seuil de fiabi­
lite d'une declaration relatee et laisse au juge des faits 
le soin d'en determiner en fin de compte Ia valeur. Les 
facteurs a considerer !ors de !'examen de l'admissibilite 
ne sauraient etre ranges dans des categories de seuil de 
fiabilite et de fiabilite en derniere analyse. Plus exacte­
ment, tous Jes facteurs pertinents devraient etre consi­
deres, y compris, dans Jes cas appropries, la presence 
d'elements de preuve a l'appui OU contradictoires. Les 
observations contraires formulees dans la jurispru­
dence de notre Cour, dont l'arret R. c. Stan~ [2000] 2 
R.C.S. 144, 2000 CSC 40, ne devraient plus etre sui­
vies. Pour se prononcer sur l'admissibilite, le tribunal 
devrait adopter une approche plus fonctionnelle axee 
sur les dangers particuliers que comporte la preuve par 
oui-dire qu'on cherche a presenter, de meme que sur les 
caracteristiques ou circonstances que la partie qui veut 
presenter la preuve invoque pour ecarter ces dangers. 
La question de savoir si certains facteurs toucheront 
uniquement la fiabilite en derniere analyse dependra du 
contexte. Dans chaque cas, !'examen ne porte que sur la 
question de l'admissibilite en matiere de preuve. Lors 
de l'examen de l'admissibilite, ii est possible, dans Jes 
cas appropries, de prendre en consideration une preuve 
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likely truth of the statement. When reliability is depend­
ent on the inherent trustworthiness of the statement, the 
trial judge must inquire into those factors tending to 
show that the statement is true or not. [2] [4] [92-93) 

In determining the question of threshold reliability, 
the trial judge must be mindful that hearsay evidence 
is presumptively inadmissible. The trial judge's func­
tion is to guard against the admission of hearsay evi­
dence which is unnecessary or the reliability of which 
is neither readily .apparent from the trustworthiness of 
its contents nor capable of being meaningfully tested 
by the ultimate trier of fact. If the proponent of the evi­
dence cannot meet the twin criteria of necessity and 
reliability, the general exclusionary rule prevails. In the 
context of a criminal case, the accused's inability to test 
the evidence may impact on the fairness of the trial, 
thereby giving the rule a constitutional dimension. As 
in all cases, the trial judge has a residual discretion to 
exclude admissible hearsay evidence where its prejudi­
cial effect is out of proportion to its probative value. [2-
3] 

R. v. Khan, [1990] 2 S.C.R. 531, and R. v. Smith, 
[1992) 2 S.C.R. 915, are examples where the reliabil­
ity requirement was met because the circumstances 
in which hearsay statements came about provided 
sufficient comfort in their truth and accuracy. R. v. 
B. (K.G.), [1993] 1 S.C.R. 740, and R. v. Hawkins , 
[1996) 3 S.C.R. 1043, provide examples where thresh­
old reliability was based on the presence of adequate 
substitutes for traditional safeguards relied upon to 
test the evidence. Similarly, in R. v. U. (F.J.), [1995) 3 
S.C.R. 764, the striking similarities between the com­
plainant's prior inconsistent out-of-court statement and 
the accused's independent statement were so compel­
ling that the very high reliability of the complainant's 
statement rendered its substantive admission necessary. 
[67-68] [73) [82) [86) [88) 

S's videotaped statement to the police was inadmis­
sible. Although S's death before trial made his hearsay 
statement necessary, the statement was not sufficiently 
reliable to overcome the dangers it presented . The cir­
cumstances in which it came about did not provide rea­
sonable assurances of inherent reliability. A number of 
serious issues arise including: whether S was mentally 

corroborante ou contradictoire. Dans le cas ou !'exi­
gence de fiabilite est remplie parce que le juge des faits 
dispose d'une base suffisante pour apprecier la veracite 
et !'exactitude de la declaration, il n'est pas necessaire 
que le juge du proces verifie davantage si la declara­
tion est susceptible d'etre veridique. Lorsque la fiabilite 
depend de la fiabilite inherente de la declaration, le juge 
du proces doit examiner les facteurs tendant a demon­
trer que la declaration est veridique ou non. [2] [4] [92-
93) 

En tranchant la question du seuil de fiabilite, le juge 
du proces doit etre conscient que la preuve par oul-dire 
est presumee inadmissible. Son role est de preven ir !'ad­
mission d'une preuve par ou"i-dire qui n'est pas neces­
saire ou dont la fiabilite ne ressort pas clairement de la 
veracite de son contenu ou ne peut, en derniere analyse, 
etre verifiee utilement par le juge des faits. Si la partie 
qui veut presenter la preuve ne peut satisfaire au double 
critere de la necessite et de la fiabilite, la regle d'exclu­
sion generale l'emporte. Dans une affaire criminelle, 
l'incapacite de !'accuse de verifier la preuve risque de 
compromettre l'equite du proces, d'ou la dimension 
constitutionnelle de la regle. Comme dans tout litige, 
le juge du proces a le pouvoir discretionnaire residue] 
d'exclure une preuve admissible lorsque son effet pre­
judiciable est disproportionne par rapport a sa valeur 
probante. [2-3) 

Les arrets R. c. Khan, [1990) 2 R.C.S. 531, et R. c. 
Smith, [1992) 2 R.C.S. 915, sont des exemples ou !'ex i­
gence de tiabilite etait remplie parce que les circons­
tances dans lesquelles des declarations relatees avaient 
etc faites etaient suffisamment rassurantes quant a leur 
veracite et a leur exactitude. Les arrets R. c. B. (K.G.), 
[1993) 1 R.C.S. 740, et R. c. Hawkins, [1996] 3 R.C.S. 
1043, sont des exemples ou le seuil de fiabilite repo­
sait sur !'existence de substituts adequats aux garanties 
traditionnelles invoquees pour verifier la preuve. De 
meme, dans l'arret R. c. U. (F.J.), [1995) 3 R.C.S . 764, 
les similitudes frappantes entre la declaration extraju­
diciaire incompatible que la plaignante avait faite ante­
rieurement et celle que !'accuse avait faite de fai;:on 
independante etaient si convaincantes qu'il etait neces­
saire d'admettre quant au fond la declaration de la plai­
gnante en raison de sa tres grande fiabilite. [67-68) [73) 
[82) [86) [88) 

La declaration enregistree sur bande video que S 
avait faite a la police etait inadmissible. Meme s'il etait 
necessaire de recourir a la declaration relatee de S parce 
que celui-ci etait decede avant l'ouverture du proces, 
cette declaration n'etait pas suffisamment fiable pour 
ecarter Jes dangers qu'elle presentait. Les circonstances 
dans lesquelles elle avait ete faite ne constituaient pas 
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competent; whether he understood the consequences of 
making his statement; whether be was influenced by 
C; whether his statement was motivated by dissatisfac­
tion about the management of the home; and, whether 
his injuries were caused by a fall. S's unavailability for 
cross-examination posed significant limitations on the 
accused's ability to test the evidence and on the trier 
of fact's ability to properly assess its worth. While the 
presence of a striking similarity between statements 
from different complainants could well provide suffi­
cient cogency to warrant the admission of hearsay evi­
dence in an appropriate case, the statements made by 
the other complainants in this case posed even greater 
difficulties and could not be substantively admitted to 
assist in assessing the reliability of S's allegations. The 
admission of the evidence risked impairing the fairness 
of the trial. Furthermore, S's evidence could have been 
taken before his death in the presence of a commis­
sioner and the accused or his counsel thereby preserv­
ing both the evidence and the rights of the accused. [7] 
[108] 
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APPEAL from a judgment of the Ontario Court 
of Appeal (Rosenberg, Armstrong and Blair JJ.A.) 
(2005), 195 O.A.C. 11, 194 C.C.C. (3d) 161, 26 C.R. 
(6th) 1, [2005] O.J. No. 723 (QL), setting aside the 
accused's convictions. Appeal dismissed. 

John S. Mclnnes and Eliott Behar, for the 
appellant. 

Timothy E. Breen, for the respondent. 

Alexander Budlovsky, for the intervener the 
Attorney General of British Columbia. 

Louis P. Strews and Joseph Di Luca, for the 
intervener the Criminal Lawyers' Association 
(Ontario). 

The judgment of the Court was delivered by 

CHARRON J.-

1. Overview 

This appeal turns on the admissibility of hear­
say statements under the principled case-by-case 
exception to the hearsay rule based on necessity 
and reliability. In particular, guidance is sought on 
what factors should be considered in determining 
whether a hearsay statement is sufficiently relia­
ble to be admissible. This Court's decision in R. v. 
Starr, [2000] 2 S.C.R. 144, 2000 SCC 40, has gen­
erally been interpreted as standing for the propo­
sition that circumstances "extrinsic" to the taking 
of the statement go to ultimate reliability only and 
cannot be considered by the trial judge in ruling 
on its admissibility. The decision has generated 
much judicial commentary and academic criti­
cism on various grounds, including the difficulty 
of defining what constitutes an "extrinsic" circum­
stance and the apparent inconsistency between 
this holding in Starr and the Court's considera­
tion of a semen stain on the declarant's clothing 
in R. v. Khan, [1990] 2 S.C.R. 531, the declar­
ant's motive to lie in R. v. Smith, [1992] 2 S.C.R. 
915, and most relevant to this case, the striking 

POURVOI contre un arret de la Cour d'appel de 
l'Ontario (les juges Rosenberg, Armstrong et Blair) 
(2005), 195 O.A.C. 11, 194 C.C.C. (3d) 161, 26 C.R. 
(6th) 1, [2005] O.J. No. 723 (QL), qui a annule les 
declarations de culpabilite prononcees contre !'ac­
cuse. Pourvoi rejete. 

John S. Mclnnes et Eliott Behar, pour 
l'appelante. 

Timothy E. Breen, pour l'intime. 

Alexander Budlovsky, pour l'intervenant le pro­
cureur general de la Colombie-Britannique. 

Louis P. Strews et Joseph Di 
l'intervenante Criminal Lawyers' 
(Ontario). 

Luca, pour 
Association 

Version fran\'.aise du jugement de la Cour rendu 
par 

LA JUGE CHARRON -

1. Apercu 

Le present pourvoi porte sur l'admissibilite des 
declarations relatees en vertu de }'exception raison­
nee a la regle du oui:-dire, qui s'applique cas par cas et 
repose sur la necessite et la fiabilite. Plus particulie­
rement, des indications sont requises sur les facteurs 
a considerer pour decider si une declaration relatee 
est suffisamment fiable pour etre admissible. L'arret 
de notre Cour R. c. Starr, [2000] 2 R.C.S. 144, 2000 
CSC 40, est generalement interprete comme signi­
fiant que Jes circonstances « extrinseques » dans 
lesquelles la declaration a ete recueillie n'ont une 
incidence que sur sa fiabilite en derniere analyse et 
ne peuvent pas etre prises en consideration par le 
juge du proces lorsqu'il se prononce sur son admissi­
bilite. Cet arret a suscite une multitude de commen­
taires dans la jurisprudence et de critiques dans la 
doctrine pour diverses raisons, dont la difficulte de 
definir ce qui constitue une circonstance « extrinse­
que » et !'incoherence manifeste entre cette conclu­
sion de l'arret Starr et le fait que la Cour a pris en 
consideration une tache de sperme trouvee sur les 
vetements de la declarante dans l'affaire R. c. Khan, 
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similarities between statements in R. v. U. (F.J.), 
[1995] 3 S.C.R. 764. 

As a general principle, all relevant evidence is 
admissible. The rule excluding hearsay is a well­
established exception to this general principle. 
While no single rationale underlies its historical 
development, the central reason for the presump­
tive exclusion of hearsay statements is the general 
inability to test their reliability. Without the maker 
of the statement in court, it may be impossible to 
inquire into that person's perception, memory, nar­
ration or sincerity. The statement itself may not be 
accurately recorded. Mistakes, exaggerations or 
deliberate falsehoods may go undetected and lead 
to unjust verdicts. Hence, the rule against hearsay 
is intended to enhance the accuracy of the court's 
findings of fact, not impede its truth-seeking func­
tion. However, the extent to which hearsay evi­
dence will present difficulties in assessing its worth 
obviously varies with the context. In some circum­
stances, the evidence presents minimal dangers 
and its exclusion, rather than its admission, would 
impede accurate fact finding. Hence, over time a 
number of exceptions to the rule were created by 
the courts. Just as traditional exceptions to the 
exclusionary rule were largely crafted around those 
circumstances where the dangers of receiving the 
evidence were sufficiently alleviated, so too must 
be founded the overarching principled exception to 
hearsay. When it is necessary to resort to evidence 
in this form, a hearsay statement may be admit­
ted if, because of the way in which it came about, 
its contents are trustworthy, or if circumstances 
permit the ultimate trier of fact to sufficiently 
assess its worth. If the proponent of the evidence 
cannot meet the twin criteria of necessity and reli­
ability, the general exclusionary rule prevails. The 
trial judge acts as a gatekeeper in making this pre-
1 im i nary assessment of the "threshold reliability" 
of the hearsay statement and leaves the ultimate 
determination of its worth to the fact finder. 

[1990] 2 R.C.S. 531, la raison de mentir de la decla­
rante dans l'affaire R. c. Smith , [1992] 2 R.C.S. 915, 
et, ce qui est le plus pertinent en l'espece, les simili­
tudes frappantes entre les declarations dans l'affaire 
R. c. U. (F.J.), [1995] 3 R.C.S. 764. 

En general, tout element de preuve pertinent est 
admissible. La regle excluant le oui:-dire est une 
exception bien etablie a ce principe general. Bien 
qu'aucun raisonnement unique n'en sous-tende 
!'evolution historique, !'exclusion dont Jes decla­
rations relatees sont presumees faire l'objet tient 
essentiellement a l'incapacite generale d'en verifier 
la fiabilite. Si le declarant n'est pas present en cour, 
il peut se reveler impossible de mettre a l'epreuve sa 
perception, sa memoire, sa relation du fait en ques­
tion ou sa sincerite. Ilse peut que la declaration elle­
meme ne fasse pas l'objet d'un compte rendu exact. 
Des erreurs, des exagerations ou des faussetes deli­
berees peuvent passer inaper~ues et mener a des ver­
dicts injustes. Ainsi, la regle interdisant le oui:-dire 
est censee accroitre !'exactitude des conclusions de 
fa it du tribunal et non entraver sa fonction de recher­
che de la verite. Toutefois, la difficulte de determi­
ner la valeur de la preuve par ou'i-dire varie selon 
le contexte. Dans certains cas, cette preuve presente 
des dangers minimes et son exclusion au lieu de 
son admission generait la constatation exacte des 
faits. C'est ainsi que les tribunaux ont etabli, au fil 
du temps, un certain nombre d'exceptions a la regle. 
Tout comme Jes exceptions traditionnelles a la regle 
d'exclusion ont ete largement con~ues en fonction 
des circonstances OU les dangers lies a !'admission 
de la preuve etaient suffisamment attenues, il doit 
en etre de meme pour !'exception generale raison­
nee a la regle du ou'i-dire. Lorsqu'il est necessaire 
de recourir a ce type de preuve, une declaration 
relatee peut etre admise si son contenu est fiable en 
raison de la maniere dont elle a ete faite ou si les 
circonstances permettent, en fin de compte, au juge 
des faits d'en determiner suffisamment la valeur. Si 
la partie qui veut presenter la preuve ne peut satis­
faire au double critere de la necessite et de la fiabi­
lite, la regle d'exclusion generale l'emporte. Le juge 
du proces joue le role de gardien en effectuant cette 
appreciation prelimi.naire du « seuil de fiabilite » de 
la declaration relatee et laisse au juge des faits le 
soin d'en determiner en fin de compte la valeur. 
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The distinction between threshold and ultimate 
reliability reflects the important difference between 
admission and reliance. Admissibility is deter­
mined by the trial judge based on the governing 
rules of evidence. Whether the evidence is relied 
upon to decide the issues in the case is a matter 
reserved for the ultimate trier of fact to decide in 
the context of the entirety of the evidence. The fail­
ure to respect this distinction would not only result 
in the undue prolongation of admissibility hearings, 
it would distort the fact-finding process. In deter­
mining the question of threshold reliability, the 
trial judge must be mindful that hearsay evidence is 
presumptively inadmissible. The trial judge's func ­
tion is to guard against the admission of hearsay 
evidence which is unnecessary in the context of the 
issue to be decided, or the reliability of which is 
neither readily apparent from the trustworthiness 
of its contents, nor capable of being meaningfully 
tested by the ultimate trier of fact. In the context of 
a criminal case, the accused's inability to test the 
evidence may impact on the fairness of the trial, 
thereby giving the rule a constitutional dimen­
sion. Concerns over trial fairness not only perme­
ate the decision on admissibility, but also inform 
the residual discretion of the trial judge to exclude 
the evidence even if necessity and reliability can 
be shown. As in all cases, the trial judge has the 
discretion to exclude admissible evidence where its 
prejudicial effect is out of proportion to its proba­
tive value. 

As I will explain, I have concluded that the fac­
tors to be considered on the admissibility inquiry 
cannot be categorized in terms of threshold and 
ultimate reliability. Comments to the contrary in 
previous decisions of this Court should no longer 
be followed. Rather, all relevant factors should 
be considered including, in appropriate cases, the 
presence of supporting or contradictory evidence. 
In each case, the scope of the inquiry must be tai­
lored to the particular dangers presented by the evi­
dence and limited to determining the evidentiary 
question of admissibility. 

La distinction entre seuil de fiabilite et fiabilite 
en derniere analyse refiete la difference importante 
entre admettre un element de preuve et s'y fier. Le 
juge du proces determine l'admissibilite en fonction 
des regles de preuve applicables. C'est au juge des 
faits qu'il appartient en fin de compte de decider, au 
regard de !'ensemble de la preuve, s'il ya lieu de se 
fier a cet eiernent de preuve pour trancher les ques­
tions en litige. L'omission de respecter cette distinc­
tion aurait pour effet non seulement de prolonger 
indfiment les audiences portant sur l'admissibilite, 
rnais egalernent de fausser le processus de consta­
tation des faits . En tranchant la question du seuil de 
fiabilite, le juge du proces doit etre conscient que 
la preuve par ou'i-dire est presumee inadmissible. 
Son role est de prevenir !'admission d'une preuve 
par ou'i-dire qui n'est pas necessaire pour trancher 
la question en litige ou dont la fiabilite ne ressort 
pas clairement de la veracite de son contenu ou ne 
peut, en derniere analyse, etre verifiee utilement 
par le juge des faits . Dans une affaire criminellc, 
l'incapacite de l'accuse de verifier la preuve risque 
de compromettre l'equite du proces, d'ou la dimen­
sion constitutionnelle de la regle. Les preoccupa­
tions relatives a l'equite du proces impregnent non 
seulernent la decision concernant l'admissibilite, 
mais encore guident l'exercice du pouvoir discre­
tionnaire residuel du juge du proces d'exclure des 
elements de preuve merne si leur necessite et leur 
fiabilite peuvent etre demontrees. Comrne dans tout 
litige, le juge du proces a le pouvoir discretionnaire 
d'exclure une preuve admissible lorsque son effet 
prejudiciable est disproportionne par rapport a sa 
valeur probante. 

Comme je l'expliquerai, je suis arrivee a la 
conclusion que les facteurs a considerer lors de 
l'examen de l'admissibilite ne sauraient etre ranges 
dans des categories de seuil de fiabilite et de fiabi­
lite en derniere analyse. Les observations contrai­
res formulees dans la jurisprudence de notre Cour 
ne devraient plus etre suivies. Plus exactement, tous 
les facteurs pertinents devraient etre consideres, y 
cornpris, dans Jes cas appropries, la presence d'ele­
ments de preuve a l'appui OU contradictoires. Dans 
chaque cas, l'examen doit etre fonction des dangers 
particuliers que presente la preuve et ne porter que 
sur la question de l'admissibilite. 
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In May 1999, five elderly residents of a retire­
ment home told various people that they were 
assaulted by the manager of the home, the respond­
ent, Ramnarine Khelawon. At the time of trial, 
approximately two and a half years later, four of 
the complainants had died of causes unrelated to 
the assaults, and the fifth was no longer competent 
to testify. Only one of the complainants had testi­
fied at the preliminary inquiry. The central issue at 
trial was whether the hearsay statements provided 
by the complainants had sufficient threshold reli­
ability to be received in evidence. Grossi J. held 
that the hearsay statements from each of the com­
plainants were sufficiently reliable to be admitted 
in evidence, based in large part on the "striking" 
similarity between them. He ultimately found Mr. 
Khelawon guilty of the offences in respect of two 
of the complainants, Mr. Skupien and Mr. Dinino, 
and acquitted him on the remaining counts. Mr. 
Khelawon was sentenced to two and a half years 
of imprisonment for the offences relating to Mr. 
Skupien and an additional two years for the offences 
related to Mr. Dinino. 

On appeal to the Court of Appeal for Ontario, 
Rosenberg J.A. (Armstrong J.A. concurring) 
excluded all statements and acquitted Mr. 
Khelawon. Blair J.A., in dissent, would have 
upheld the convictions in respect of Mr. Skupien 
only. The Crown appeals to this Court as of right, 
seeking to restore the convictions relating to Mr. 
Skupien. The Crown also sought but was denied 
leave in respect of the charges relating to Mr. 
Dinino. 

In my view, Mr. Skupien's videotaped state­
ment to the police was inadmissible. Although Mr. 
Skupien's death before the commencement of the 
trial made it necessary to resort to his evidence in 
this form, the statement was not sufficiently reli­
able to overcome the dangers it presented. The cir­
cumstances in which it came about did not pro­
vide reasonable assurances of inherent reliability. 
To the contrary, they gave rise to a number of seri­
ous issues including: whether Mr. Skupien was 

En mai 1999, cinq personnes agees residant 
dans une maison de retraite ont dit a differentes 
personnes que le directeur de l'etablissement, l'in­
time Ramnarine Khelawon, les avaient agressees. 
Au moment du proces, environ deux ans et demi 
plus tard, quatre des plaignants etaient decedes de 
causes non liees aux agressions et le cinquieme 
n'etait plus habile a temoigner. Un seul des plai­
gnants avait temoigne a l'enquete preliminaire. La 
principale question en litige etait de savoir si Jes 
declarations relatees des plaignants atteignaient 
un seuil de fiabilite suffisant pour qu'elles puissent 
etre admises en preuve. Le juge Grossi a conclu 
que les declarations relatees de chacun des plai­
gnants etaient suffisamment fiables pour etre admi­
ses en preuve, en raison, dans une large mesure, 
de leur similitude « frappante ». En fin de compte, 
ii a declare M. Khelawon coupable des infractions 
relatives a deux des plaignants, soit MM. Skupien 
et Dinino, et l'a acquitte a l'egard des autres chefs. 
M. Khelawon a ete condamne a une peine d'empri­
sonnement de deux ans et demi pour les infractions 
relatives a M. Skupien et a une peine additionnelle 
de deux ans pour celles relatives a M. Dinino. 

Lars de l'appel devant la Cour d'appel de l'On­
tario, le juge Rosenberg (avec l'appui du juge 
Armstrong) a exclu toutes les declarations et a 
acquitte M. Khelawon. Le juge Blair, dissident, 
aurait pour sa part maintenu les declarations de 
culpabilite relatives a M. Skupien seulement. Dans 
son pourvoi de plein droit devant notre Cour, le 
ministere public sollicite le retablissement des 
declarations de culpabilite relatives a M. Skupien. 
Il a egalement sollicite l'autorisation d'appeler des 
accusations relatives a M. Dinino, mais celle-ci lui 
a ete refusee. 

A mon avis, la declaration enregistree sur bande 
video que M. Skupien a faite a la police etait inad­
missible. Meme s'il etait necessaire de recourir ace 
type de temoignage de M. Skupien parce que celui­
ci etait decede avant l'ouverture du proces, la decla­
ration n'etait pas suffisarnment fiable pour ecarter 
les dangers qu'elle presentait. Les circonstances 
dans lesquelles elle a ete faite ne constituaient 
pas un gage raisonnable de fiabilite inherente. Au 
contraire, elles soulevaient un certain nombre de 
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mentally competent, whether he understood the 
consequences of making his statement, whether 
he was influenced in making the allegations by a 
disgruntled employee who had been fired by Mr. 
Khelawon, whether his statement was motivated by 
a general dissatisfaction about the management of 
the home, and whether his injuries were caused by a 
fall rather than the assault. In these circumstances, 
Mr. Skupien's unavailability for cross-examination 
posed significant limitations on the accused's abil­
ity to test the evidence and, in turn, on the trier 
of fact's ability to properly assess its worth. The 
statements made by other complainants posed even 
greater difficulties and could not be substantively 
admitted to assist in assessing the reliability of Mr. 
Skupien's allegations. In all the circumstances, 
particularly given that the Crown's case against Mr. 
Khelawon was founded on the hearsay statement, 
the admission of the evidence risked impairing the 
fairness of the trial and should not have been per­
mitted. As Rosenberg J.A. aptly noted, the admis­
sion of the evidence under the principled approach 
to the hearsay rule is not the only way the evidence 
of witnesses who may not be available for trial may 
be preserved. Sections 709 to 714 of the Criminal 
Code, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-46, expressly contemplate 
this eventuality and provide a procedure for the 
taking of the evidence before a commissioner in 
the presence of the accused or his counsel thereby 
preserving both the evidence and the rights of the 
accused. 

For reasons that follow, I would therefore dis­
miss the appeal and affirm the acquittals. 

2. Background 

Mr. Khelawon was charged with aggravated 
assault on Teofil Skupien and threatening to 
cause him death. He was also charged with aggra­
vated assault and assault with a weapon on Atillio 
Dinino, and assault causing bodily harm on three 
other complainants. The offences were alleged to 
have occurred during the month of May 1999 and, 
at the time, all the complainants were residents 

questions serieuses, notamment celles de savoir si 
M. Skupien jouissait de toutes ses facultes menta­
les, s'il comprenait les consequences de sa declara­
tion, s'il avait ete influence, dans ses allegations, par 
une employee mecontente qui avait ete congediee 
par M. Khelawon, si sa declaration etait motivee 
par une insatisfaction generale a l'egard de !'admi­
nistration de la maison de retraite et si ses blessu­
res etaient dues a une chute plut6t qu'a l'agression. 
Dans ces circonstances, l'impossibilite de contre­
interroger M. Skupien limitait substantiellement la 
capacite de l'accuse de verifier la preuve et, par­
tant, la capacite du juge des faits d'en determiner 
correctement la valeur. Les declarations des autres 
plaignants presentaient des difficultes encore plus 
grandes et n'etaient pas admissibles quant au fond 
pour aider a apprecier la fiabilite des allegations de 
M. Skupien. Compte tenu de !'ensemble des cir­
constances et, en particulier, du fait que la preuve 
du ministcre public contre M. Khelawon reposait 
sur la declaration relatee, !'admission de ce temoi­
gnage risquait de compromettre l'equite du proces 
et n'aurait pas dG etre autorisee. Comme l'a judi­
cieusement fait remarquer le juge Rosenberg, !'ad­
mission de la preuve suivant la methode d'analyse 
raisonnee de la regle du oui:-dire n'est pas la seule 
fa~on de preserver le temoignage de personnes qui 
peuvent etre dans l'impossibilite de se presenter au 
proces. Les articles 709 a 714 du Code criminel, 
L.R.C. 1985, ch. C-46, envisagent expressement 
cette eventualite et etablissent une procedure de 
prise de deposition par un commissaire en presence 
de l'accuse ou de son avocat, ce qui pennet de pre­
server a la fois la preuve et les droits de l'accuse. 

Pour les motifs qui suivent, je suis d'avis de reje­
ter le pourvoi et de confirmer les acquittements. 

2. Contexte 

M. Khelawon a ete accuse de voies de fait graves 
et de menaces de mort a l'endroit de Teofil Skupien. 
11 a egalement ete accuse de voies de faits graves 
et d'agression armee a l'endroit d'Atillio Dinino 
ainsi que d'agression ayant cause des lesions corpo­
relles a trois autres plaignants. Ces infractions 
auraient ete commises au cours du mois de mai 
1999 et, a l'epoque, tous les plaignants etaient des 
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at the Bloor West Village Retirement Home. Mr. 
Khelawon was the manager of the retirement home 
and his mother was the owner. As indicated earlier, 
none of the complainants was available to testify at 
trial. Hence, the central issue concerned the admis­
sibility of their hearsay statements made to various 
people. There were 10 statements in total, four of 
which consisted of videotaped statements made to 
the police. The trial, held before Grossi J. without 
a jury, proceeded essentially as a voir dire into the 
admissibility of the evidence, with counsel agree­
ing that it would not be necessary to repeat the evi­
dence about any statements later ruled admissible. 
None of the statements fit within any traditional 
exception to the hearsay rule. Their admissibility, 
rather, was contingent upon the Crown meeting 
the twin requirements of necessity and reliability 
under the principled approach to the hearsay rule, 
as established in Khan, Smith and, later, Starr. 

The charges concerning Mr. Skupien are the 
only matters before this Court. I will therefore 
summarize the evidence concerning Mr. Skupien's 
statements in more detail. I will also describe the 
circumstances surrounding the taking of the state­
ments from the other complainants to the extent that 
it is relevant to dispose of this appeal. The Crown 
sought to introduce three statements made by Mr. 
Skupien: the first to an employee of the retirement 
home, the second to the doctor who treated him 
for his injuries, and the third to the police. Only 
the latter was admitted at trial. I will describe each 
statement in turn. 

2.1 Mr. Skupien's Statement to Ms. Stangrat 

Mr. Skupien was 81 years old and, at the time 
of the events in question, he had lived at the Bloor 
West Village Retirement Home for four years. 
Mr. Skupien's initial complaint was made to one 
of the employees at the retirement home, Joanna 
Stangrat. Ms. Stangrat, also known under several 
other names, was a cook who had been working 

residents de Bloor West Village Retirement Home. 
M. Khelawon etait le directeur de l'etablissement et 
sa mere en etait la proprietaire. Comme je l'ai indi­
que precedemment, aucun des plaignants n'etait dis­
ponible pour temoigner au proces. En consequence, 
la principale question concernait l'admissibilite des 
declarations relatees qu'ils avaient faites a diverses 
personnes. II y avait en tout 10 declarations, dont 
quatre a la police qui etaient enregistrees sur bande 
video. Le proces tenu devant le juge Grossi siegeant 
sans jury s'est deroule essentiellement comme un 
voir-dire sur l'admissibilite de la preuve, les avo­
cats ayant convenu qu' il ne serait pas necessaire de 
reprendre la preuve concernant Jes declarations qui 
seraient par la suite jugees admissibles. Aucune des 
declarations n'etait visee par quelque exception tra­
ditionnelle a la regle du ou'i-dire. Pour qu'elles soient 
admissibles, le ministere public devait plutot satis­
faire a la double exigence de necessite et de fiabilite 
selon la methode d'analyse raisonnee de la regle du 
ou:i-dire, etablie dans les arrets Khan, Smith et, par 
la suite, Stan: 

Les accusations relatives a M. Skupien sont les 
seules soumises a notre Cour. Je vais done faire 
un resume plus detaille de la preuve concernant 
les declarations de M. Skupien. Je vais egalement 
decrire les circonstances entourant l'obtention des 
declarations des autres plaignants dans la mesure 
ou elles sont pertinentes pour trancher le present 
pourvoi. Le ministere public a cherche a produire 
trois declarations de M. Skupien : la premiere 
faite a une employee de la maison de retraite, la 
deuxieme, au medecin qui a soigne ses blessures, 
et la troisieme, a la police. Seule la derniere decla­
ration a ete admise en preuve au proces. Je decrirai 
chacune des declarations a tour de role. 

2.1 La declaration de M. Skupien a Mme Stan­
grat 

Au moment des faits en question, M. Skupien 
etait age de 81 ans et vivait depuis quatre ans dans 
l'etablissement Bloor West Village Retirement 
Home. II a adresse sa premiere plainte a l'une des 
employes de la maison de retraite, Mme Joanna 
Stangrat. Celle-ci, connue egalement sous plusieurs 
autres noms, etait cuisiniere a la maison de retraite 
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at the retirement home for a few months. She had 
come to know Mr. Skupien because he would often 
visit the kitchen and would sometimes walk her to 
the subway at the end of her shifts. Ms. Stangrat 
played a prominent role in the case concerning Mr. 
Skupien. In part, it was the theory of the defence 
at trial that she had influenced Mr. Skupien and 
the other complainants in making their complaints 
out of spite because Mr. Khelawon had given her a 
notice of termination a few weeks earlier. 

On May 8, 1999, Ms. Stangrat noticed that 
Mr. Skupien did not come to breakfast. She went 
to check on him in his room and found him lying 
on his bed. His face was red and there was blood 
around his mouth. When she got closer to him she 
saw bruising on his eye and nose. His eyes were 
swollen. When Mr. Skupien saw her, he asked her 
to come in and close the door. He appeared to be 
in shock and very shaky. Ms. Stangrat noticed two 
full green garbage bags on the floor. She closed the 
door and asked him what had happened and what 
was in the green garbage bags. Mr. Skupien told her 
what had happened the previous evening. He also 
showed her bruises on his upper left chest area. 

Mr. Skupien told Ms. Stangrat that he had 
to leave before twelve o'clock that day because 
'Tony", the name Mr. Khelawon went by, would 
come back and kill him. Mr. Skupien described 
to Ms. Stangrat how Mr. Khelawon had come into 
his room in anger at abom 8:00 p.m. the previous 
evening, and had punched him repeatedly in the 
face and ribs. After beating him up, Mr. Khelawon 
had packed the clothes into the green garbage bags 
and left them on the floor. Ms. Stangrat asked Mr. 
Skupien why Mr. Khelawon would attack him in 
this way. He told her that Tony was angry because 
Mr. Skupien had been going to the kitchen when 
he had no reason to go there. When the assault 
ended, Mr. Khelawon threatened Mr. Skupien that 
either he moved out of the home by noon the next 
day or he would return and kill him. Mr. Skupien 
asked her what he should do. Ms. Stangrat told him 

depuis quelques mois. Elle connaissait M. Skupien 
parce que celui-ci se rendait souvent a la cuisine et 
l'accompagnait parfois jusqu'au metro a la fin de 
son quart de travail. Mme Stangrat a joue un role 
important dans le dossier concernant M. Skupien. 
La these de la defense voulait notamment qu'elle 
ait amene M. Skupien et les autres plaignants a 
porter plainte pour se venger de M. Khelawon qui 
Jui avait rernis un avis de cessation d'emploi quel­
ques semaines auparavant. 

Le 8 mai 1999, Mme Stangrat a remarque que M. 
Skupien n'etait pas venu prendre son petit dejeu­
ner. Elle s'est rendue a sa chambre pour verifier s'il 
allait bien et l'a trouve etendu sur son lit. Son visage 
etait rouge et il avait du sang autour de la bouche. 
Lorsqu'elle s'est approchee de lui, elle a constate 
que son reil et son nez etaient contusionnes. Ses 
yeux etaient enfles. Lorsque M. Skupien l'a aper­
r;:ue, il Jui a demande d'entrer et de fermer la porte. 
11 semblait etre en etat de choc et tres ma] en point. 
Mme Stangrat a remarque la presence sur le plan­
cher de deux grands sacs a ordures verts remplis . 
Elle a ferme la porte et lui a demande ce qui s'etait 
passe et ce que contenaient les deux sacs a ordu­
res. M. Skupien lui a raconte ce qui s'etait passe le 
soir precedent. II lui a aussi montre les ecchymo­
ses qu'il avait sur la partie superieure gauche de sa 
poitrine. 

M. Skupien a dit a Mme Stangrat qu'il devait quit­
ter la maison de retraite avant midi ce meme jour 
parce que « Tony », le surnom de M. Khelawon, 
reviendrait pour le tuer. 11 a explique a Mme Stangrat 
que M. Khelawon etait entre dans sa chambre en 
colere vers 20 h le soir precedent et l'avait roue de 
coups de poing au visage et dans les cotes. Apres 
l'avoir battu, M. Khelawon avait entasse ses vete­
ments dans Jes sacs a ordures verts qu'il avait 
ensuite laisses sur le plancher. Mme Stangrat a 
demande a M. Skupien pourquoi M. Khelawon 
l'avait ainsi attaque. Celui-ci a repondu que Tony 
lui reprochait de se rendre a la cuisine alors qu'il 
n'avait aucune raison d'y aller. Apres avoir agresse 
M. Skupien, M. Khelawon l'a menace en lui disant 
de quitter la maison de retraite avant midi le lende­
main, sinon il reviendrait pour le tuer. M. Skupien a 
demande a Mme Stangrat ce qu'il devait faire. Elle 
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she would phone her daughter to come and get him 
and that he should stay in his room until she was 
finished her duties for the day. 

Ms. Stangrat arranged for Mr. Skupien to stay 
at her daughter's home later that day, and then to 
her apartment. Mr. Skupien was in pain but he was 
scared and did not want to see a doctor at that time. 
Ms. Stangrat kept Mr. Skup.ien at her apartment 
where she and a friend of hers alternated caring for 
him. A few days later, Mr. Skupien agreed to go to 
the doctor. Ms. Stangrat and her friend took him to 
see Dr. Pietraszek. 

2 .2 Mr. Skupien's Statement to the Treating Phy­
sician 

On May 12, 1999, Dr. Pietraszek examined Mr. 
Skupien. He found visible bruising to Mr. Skupien's 
face as well as bruises to his back and on the left side 
of his chest and noted that Mr. Skupien appeared to 
be in pain while breathing. X-rays revealed that he 
had suffered fractures to three ribs. Dr. Pietraszek 
testified that Mr. Skupien told him he had been hit 
in the face and body with something that was either 
a cane or a pipe. He denied any suggestion that Ms. 
Stangrat had related the story but acknowledged 
that she was present and may have helped him in 
describing what had happened. Dr. Pietraszek con­
sidered that the injuries were consistent with Mr. 
Skupien's account of how they were caused. He 
also testified that the injuries could have resulted 
from a fall. 

2.3 Mr. Skupien 's Videotaped Statement to the 
Police 

The following day, on May 13, 1999, Ms. 
Stangrat took Mr. Skupien to the police. Detective 
Karpow took his complaint. He observed bruising 
to the left side of Skupien's face, in the eye area. 
He arranged for Mr. Skupien to give a videotaped 
statement. Both Detective Karpow and Constable 
John Birrell were present. The statement was not 

lui a dit qu'elle telephonerait a sa fille pour qu'elle 
vienne le chercher et lui a conseille de rester dans 
sa chambre jusqu'a ce qu'elle ait termine ses taches 
de la journee. 

Mme Stangrat a fait en sorte que M. Skupien 
demeure chez sa fille plus tard le meme jour, et 
ensuite a son propre appartement. M. Skupien etait 
souffrant, ma.is il refusait alors de consulter un 
rnedecin parce qu'il avait peur. Mme Stangrat !'a 
garde a son appartement ou elle et une de ses amies 
se sont occupees de lui a tour de rOle. Quelques 
jours plus tard, M. Skupien a accepte de se rendre 
chez le mectecin. Mme Stangrat et son amie l'ont 
amene voir le Dr Pietraszek. 

2.2 La declaration de M. Skupien au medecin 
traitant 

Le 12 mai 1999, le or Pietraszek a examine M. 
Skupien. 11 a constate la presence d'ecchymoses 
dans son visage ainsi que dans son dos et sur la 
partie gauche de sa poitrine. 11 a aussi remarque 
que M. Skupien semblait eprouver de la douleur en 
respirant. Des radiographies ont pennis de consta­
ter que trois de ses cotes etaient fracturees. Dans 
son temoignage, le Dr Pietraszek a affirme que M. 
Skupien lui avait dit avoir ete frappe au visage et 
sur le corps avec ce qui lui avait semble etre une 
canne ou un tuyau. Le medecin a rejete toute idee 
que Mme Stangrat ait raconte cette histoire, mais il 
a reconnu qu 'elle etait presente et qu'elle pouvait 
avoir aide M. Skupien a decrire ce qui s'etait passe. 
Le Dr Pietraszek a estime que les blessures pou­
vaient avoir ete causees de la fac;:on relatee par M. 
Skupien. 11 a egalement temoigne que les blessures 
pouvaient etre dues a une chute. 

2.3 La declaration enregistree sur bande video 
que M. Skupien afaite a la police 

Le lendemain, soit le 13 mai 1999, Mme Stangrat 
a conduit M. Skupien au paste de police. Le detec­
tive Karpow a rec;:u sa plainte. 11 a remarque la pre­
sence d'ecchymoses sur la partie gauche du visage 
de M. Skupien, pres de l'ceil. Le detective s'est 
arrange pour que M. Skupien fasse une declaration 
enregistree sur bande video. Le detective Karpow 
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given under oath; however, Mr. Skupien was asked 
if he understood that it was very important that he 
tell the truth and that if he did not tell the truth 
"[be] could be charged with that". Mr. Skupien 
answered "Yes" to both questions. After a few 
other preliminary questions, he was asked what 
his complaint was. Mr. Skupien described how, 
on May 7, 1999, Tony came to his room and said: 
"enough is enough". He then began beating him by 
slapping and punching him in the face, the ribs and 
all over, telling him not to go into the kitchen. He 
said that if he did not leave, he would come by 12 
o'clock the next day and shoot him. Mr. Skupien 
then went on at some length to make several com­
plaints about the general management of the retire­
ment home until Detective Karpow brought him 
back to the matter at hand by asking him further 
questions about the incident and the events that 
followed. Mr. Skupien was generally responsive to 
the officer's questions. 

After the interview was completed, Mr. 
Khelawon was arrested. 

2.4 Further Investigation 

Ms. Stangrat gave the police a list of other 
people that she thought they should speak to at the 
retirement home. The next day, on May 14, 1999, 
several police officers attended the home to seek 
these people out. Because there were no mark­
ings on the doors, the police had to search through 
the residence, speaking to residents and nursing 
staff. When some of the people were located, they 
were found to be "unresponsive" and no mean­
ingful interviews could be conducted with them. 
Others, however, were able and willing to speak. 
The police would identify themselves as police, 
then ask the residents how things were going at the 
home and if anything had happened to them that 
they wanted to talk about. The police arranged to 
take videotaped statements from those who wanted 
to speak to them. These included three of the other 

et l'agent John Birrell etaient presents. La decla­
ration n'a pas ete faite sous serment, mais on a 
demande a M. Skupien s'il comprenait qu'il etait 
tres important de dire la verite et que, s'il men­
tait, [TRADUCTION] « des accusations en ce sens 
pourraient etre portees contre [lui] ». M. Skupien 
a repondu « oui » aux deux questions. Apres 
quelques autres questions preliminaires, on lui a 
demande en quoi consistait sa plainte. II a alors 
explique comment, le 7 mai 1999, Tony s'etait rendu 
a sa chambre et lui avait dit « en voila assez ». 11 
s'etait ensuite mis a le battre en lui administrant 
des gifles et des coups de poing au visage, dans les 
cotes et un peu partout, et en lui interdisant d'aller 
a la cuisine. Tony avait dit a M. Skupien que s'il 
ne partait pas, il reviendrait a midi le Iendemain 
pour l'abattre. M. Skupien a ensuite pris Ia peine 
d'ajouter plusieurs plaintes concernant !'adminis­
tration generale de la maison de retraite, jusqu'a 
ce que le detective Karpow Jui rappelle l'objet de 
sa demarche en lui posant d'autres questions sur 
!'episode en cause et la suite des evenements. M. 
Skupien a generalement bien repondu aux ques­
tions du policier. 

A la suite de cet entretien, M. Khelawon a ete 
arrete. 

2.4 L'enquete plus approfondie 

Mme Stangrat a remis aux policiers une liste 
d'autres personnes auxquelles, selon elle, ils 
devraient aller s'adresser a la maison de retraite. Le 
lendemain, soit le 14 mai 1999, plusieurs policiers 
sont alles rencontrer ces personnes a la maison de 
retraite. Comme il n'y avait pas d'inscriptions sur les 
portes, Jes agents ont dfi visiter tout l'etablissement, 
s'entretenant avec des residents et des membres du 
personnel in.fumier. Parmi les personnes trouvees, 
certaines se sont montrees [TRADUCTION] « peu 
receptives », d'ou l'impossibilite d'avoir un entre­
tien utile avec elles. D'autres, toutefois, ont pu et 
ont voulu parler. Apres avoir divulgue leur identite, 
les policiers demandaient aux residents comment 
c;a allait a la maison de retraite et s'ils souhaitaient 
discuter de ce qui pouvait leur etre arrive. Les poli­
ciers se sont arranges pour enregistrer sur bande 
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complainants, Mr. Dinino, Ms. Poliszak and 
Mr. Grocholska. The fourth complainant, Mr. 
Peiszterer, could not communicate with the police; 
however, his son provided a videotaped statement. 

2.5 Medical Records 

On May 15, 1999, Detective Karpow attended at 
the retirement home and met with Dr. Michalski, a 
physician who attended regularly at the home to see 
the residents. On May 18, 1999, the police returned 
to the home and seized the medical records and a 
journal containing nursing notes. 

Documentation from Mr. Skupien's file revealed 
that he had been living in an apartment before suf­
fering a stroke in February 1995. He was trans­
ferred to the retirement home in April 1995. A 
report dated April 13, 1995 noted his condition 
after the stroke. He suffered occasional periods of 
confusion, could not go outside on his own, needed 
help with meal preparation and banking, and had to 
be reminded to take his medication, but was able to 
perform all self-care tasks. 

Dr. Michalski's file noted frequent contact 
with Mr. Skupien during his stay at the retire­
ment home. From time to time, he was described 
as "depressed'', "aggressive", "angry", and "par­
anoid". A diagnosis of paranoid psychoses was 
made in June 1998 and medication was prescribed. 
In July 1998, "some improvement in paranoia" was 
noted. In August l 998, he was described as "angry, 
hostile" and his dosage was increased. In August 
1998, he was described as "confused". The pos­
sibility of dementia was first noted. In September 
1998, he was diagnosed with "depression" and pre­
scribed medication. In September 1998, improve­
ment with the depression was noted, and although 
apparently "eliminated" in January 1999, depres­
sion was again noted in February 1999. The notes 

video les declarations des personnes qui voulaient 
leur parler, dont celles de trois autres plaignants, 
M. Dinino, Mme Poliszak et M. Grocholska. Le 
quatrieme plaignant, M. Peiszterer, n'a pas ete en 
mesure de communiquer avec la police, mais son 
fils a fourni une declaration enregistree sur bande 
video. 

2.5 Les dossiers midicaux 

Le 15 mai 1999, le detective Karpow s'est 
rendu a la maison de retraite ou il a rencontre le 
Dr Michalski, un medecin appele regulierement a y 
soigner les residents. Le 18 mai 1999, la police est 
retournee a la maison de retraite et a saisi les dos­
siers medicaux et unjournal contenant des notes du 
personnel infirmier. 

La documentation tin~e du dossier de M. 
Skupien a revele que celui-ci habitait en appar­
tement jusqu'a ce qu'il soit victime d'un accident 
vascu1aire cerebral (AVC) en fevrier 1995. Ila ete 
transfere a la maison de retraite en avril 1995. Un 
rapport date du 13 avril 1995 fait etat de sa condi­
tion apres l'AVC. Il connaissait parfois des perio­
des de confusion, il ne pouvait sortir seul a l'ex­
terieur et il avait besoin d'aide pour preparer ses 
repas, effectuer ses operations bancaires et se rap­
peler de prendre ses medicaments, mais il etait en 
mesure d'accomplir toutes les taches en matiere de 
soins personnels. 

Le dossier du Dr Michalski faisait etat de ren­
contres frequentes avec M. Skupien pendant son 
sejour a la maison de retraite. Parfois, il etait 
decrit comme etant [TRADUCTTON] « depressif », 
« agressif » , « en colere » et « paranoiaque ». En 
juin 1998, un diagnostic de psychose paranoia­
que a ete etabli et des medicaments ont ete pres­
crits. En juillet 1998, « la paranoi'a a diminue quel­
que peu ». En aoilt 1998, M. Skupien a ete decrit 
comme etant « en colere et agressif » et la dose a 
ete augmentee. En aout 1998, il etait qualifie de 
« confus ». La possibilite de demence etait notee 
pour la premiere fois. En septembre 1998, un dia­
gnostic de « depression » a ere etabli et des medi­
caments ont ete prescrits. Toujours en septem­
bre 1998, une note indique que la depression est 
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also reflect a number of complaints of fatigue, 
weakness and dizziness. 

2.6 Expert Evidence on the Voir Dire 

Dr. Susan Lieff, a geriatric psychiatrist, was 
qualified to provide opinion evidence on the voir 
dire with respect to Mr. Skupien's capacity to 
understand the importance of telling the truth and 
communicate evidence. She also provided an opin­
ion with respect to Mr. Dinino. Her opinion was 
based solely on her review of the videotaped inter­
views and medical records. With regard to Mr. 
Skupien, Dr. Lieff testified that the videotape did 
not reveal any impaired judgment, delusions or hal­
lucinations, or intellectual pathology. He seemed to 
comprehend what was asked and responded appro­
priately. In Dr. Lieff's view, Mr. Skupien's affirma­
tive answer "Yes", when advised of the need to be 
truthful, reflected a clear understanding. Dr. Lieff 
did not consult with Dr. Michalski but took issue 
with his diagnosis of "dementia". In her opinion, the 
symptoms observed by Dr. Michalski were more 
likely side-effects of the anti-psychotic medication 
he was taking at the time. Dr. Lieff concluded that 
Mr. Skupien understood that it was important to 
tell the truth and that he had the capacity to com­
municate evidence. 

3. Trial Judge's Ruling on Admissibility 

As a preliminary issue, the trial judge ruled that 
the four complainants who had given videotaped 
statements were competent at the time within the 
meaning of s. 16 of the Canada Evidence Act, 
R.S.C. 1985, c. C-5, which he interpreted as requir­
ing that "witnesses must know the importance of 
telling the truth and must be able to communi­
cate the evidence". In support of this finding, the 
trial judge relied on his own viewing of the vide­
otapes and on Dr. Lieff's opinion evidence. (The 

attenuee et, meme si elle etait apparemment « eli­
minee » en janvier 1999, la depression a de nouveau 
ete notee en fevrier 1999. Ces notes font egalement 
etat d'un certain nombre de plaintes de fatigue, de 
faiblesse et d'etourdissements. 

2.6 Le temoignage d'expert lors du voir-dire 

La ore Susan Lieff, une psychiatre geriatrique, 
a ete autorisee a presenter, ]ors du voir-dire, un 
temoignage d'opinion sur la capacite de M. Skupien 
de comprendre !'importance de dire la verite et de 
communiquer les faits dans son temoignage. Elle 
a egalement exprime une opinion au sujet de M. 
Dinino. Son opinion etait fondee uniquement sur 
son examen des entretiens enregistres sur bande 
video et des dossiers medicaux. En ce qui concerne 
M. Skupien, la ore Lieff a temoigne que l'enregis­
trement ne revelait aucun affaiblissement de juge­
ment, aucun delire, aucune hallucination ni aucune 
pathologic mentale. II paraissait comprendrc Jes 
questions posees et il donnait des reponses perti­
nentes. Selon la ore Lieff, le « oui » que M. Skupien 
a repondu lorsqu'il a ere informe de la necessite de 
dire la verite indiquait qu'il avait bien compris ce 
qu'on lui disait. La ore Lieff n'a pas consulte le Dr 
Michalski, mais elle a conteste son diagnostic de 
« demence ». A son avis, Jes symptomes observes 
par le Dr Michalski s'apparentaient davantage a des 
effets secondaires du medicament antipsychotique 
que M. Skupien prenait a l'epoque. La Dre Licff a 
conclu que M. Skupien comprenait !'importance de 
dire la verite el qu'il etait capable de communiquer 
les faits dans son temoignage. 

3. La decision du juge du proces concernant l'ad­
missibilite 

A titre preliminaire, le juge du proces a conclu 
que les quatre plaignants ayant fait des declarations 
enregistrees sur bande video avaient a l'epoque la 
capacite requise au sens de l'art. 16 de la Loi sur 
la preuve au Canada, L.R.C. 1985, ch. C-5, qu'il 
a interprete comme exigeant que [TRADUCTION] 

« les temoins connaissent !'importance de dire la 
verite et soient capables de communiquer les faits 
dans leur temoignage ». Il a fonde sa conclusion sur 
son propre visionnement des bandes video et sur 
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mental capacity of the hearsay declarant is a rel­
evant factor on an inquiry into the statement's 
admissibility as it may impact on the reliability of 
the hearsay statement; however, it is important to 
note that s. 16 has no application here. Section 16 
sets out the threshold competency requirement for 
receiving the testimony of a witness in court. The 
threshold is a low one and the witness's testimony, 
if received, is then subject to cross-exam_ination 
in the usual way, including on any relevant matter 
concerning the witness's mental state. The inquiry 
into the admissibility of a hearsay statement may 
require more extensive probing into the declar­
ant's mental competency at the time of making the 
statement when there is no opportunity to cross­
examine the declarant.) 

After determining the s. 16 issue, the trial judge 
considered the necessity criterion. Although cer­
tain questions were raised at trial as to whether this 
criterion was met with respect to some of the com­
plainants' statements, none of the issues concerned 
Mr. Skupien and hence need not be reviewed here. 

Finally, the trial judge turned to the question of 
threshold reliability. He determined that all vide­
otaped statements to the police met the reliability 
requirement. In support of this finding, he noted 
that there was "nothing untoward in the police 
procedure in taking the statements" and, although 
three of the complainants' statements were taken at 
the retirement home, rather than at the police sta­
tion, he found that the "circumstances of taking the 
statements [were] as formal and solemn as could 
be expected in the situation". He noted that there 
was "no animosity directed at the accused" by the 
complainants in their statements other than voicing 
their complaint. The complainants "appeared forth­
right", they were "not evasive", and they did not 
"attempt to overstate their injuries". There were no 
"exceedingly leading" questions and, to the extent 
that there was leading, it went to weight rather than 
admissibility. All the statements were contempo­
raneous or made shortly after the events that they 
described. They knew their assailant well and there 
was no realistic alternative suspect. Further, both 

le temoignage d'opinion de la nre Lieff. (La capa­
cite mentale du declarant est pertinente pour exa­
miner l'admissibilite d'une declaration relatee etant 
donne qu'elle peut avoir une incidence sur la fiabi­
lite de cette declaration; cependant, il importe de 
souligner que l'art. 16 ne s'applique pas en l'espece. 
Cet article etablit la capacite minimale requise 
pour qu'un temoignage soit admis en cour. Ce seuil 
est bas et si le temoignage est re\:u, ii fa.it ensuite 
l'objet du contre-interrogatoire habituel qui porte 
notamment sur toute question pertinente concer­
nant l'etat d'esprit du temoin. L'examen de l'admis­
sibilite d'une declaration relatee peut requerir un 
examen plus approfondi de la capacite mentale du 
declarant au moment ou ii a fait la declaration, dans 
le cas ou il est impossible de le contre-interroger.) 

Apres avoir tranche la question de l'art. 16, le 
juge du proces s'est pencbe sur le critere de la neces­
site. Bien que des questions soulevees au proces 
aient vise a determiner si certaines declarations 
des plaignants satisfaisaient a ce critere, aucune de 
ces questions ne concernaient M. Skupien et c'est 
pourquoi ii n'est pas necessaire de les examiner en 
l'espece. 

Entin, le juge du proces a examine la question 
du seuil de fiabilite. 11 a conclu que toutes les decla­
rations enregistrees sur bande video qui ont ete 
faites a la police satisfaisaient a ]'exigence de fia­
bilite. A l'appui de cette conclusion, il a souligne 
qu'il n'y avait [TRADUCTION] « rien de malencon­
treux dans la procedure suivie par la police pour 
recueillir les declarations », et il a conclu que, bien 
que trois des declarations des plaignants aient ete 
recueillies a la maison de retraite plutot qu'au poste 
de police, « les circonstances dans lesquelles !es 
declarations ont ete recueillies [etaient], en !'oc­
currence, aussi formelles et solennelles que possi­
ble ». Le juge du proces a fait remarquer que, dans 
leurs declarations, les plaignants ne faisaient que 
formuler leurs plaintes respectives « sans mon­
trer de l'animosite pour l'accuse ». Les plaignants 
« paraissaient francs », ils n'etaient « pas evasifs » 
et ils « ne tentaient pas d'exagerer leurs blessures ». 
Les questions posees n'etaient pas « trop suggesti­
ves », et les seules questions suggestives touchaient 
la valeur probante plutot que l'admissibilite. Toutes 
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Mr. Skupien and Mr. Dinino had corroborating 
injuries. 

The crux of the trial judge's ruling, however, 
appears to have been his application of the decision 
of this Court in U. (F.J.) in which the complainant's 
out-of-court statement was admitted on the ground 
of its "striking similarity" with the accused's state­
ment concerning the same events. Throughout his 
reasons, the trial judge made repeated references 
to the similarity between the statements and con­
cluded that "the cumulative combination of similar 
points renders the overall similarity between the 
statements sufficiently distinctive to reject coinci­
dence as a likely explanation''. While he found that 
the oral statements were also "sufficiently simi­
lar to fit the principle in R. v. U. (F.J.)", he held, 
citing para. 217 in Starr as authority, that "to admit 
them would be oath-helping in that I have the video 
statements". 

In the trial judge's view, the only real hear­
say danger raised by the admission of the state­
ments was the absence of cross-examination but, 
citing Smith as authority, he concluded that relia­
ble evidence should not be excluded for this reason 
alone. The public interest in "the elderly receiving 
good care" allowed him "to take video statements 
together to bolster the complainants' credibil­
ity". He therefore ruled the videotaped statements 
admissible and the oral statements inadmissible. 

At the conclusion of the trial, Grossi J. ulti­
mately found only two of the videotaped state­
ments sufficiently credible to found a conviction , 
those of Mr. Dinino and Mr. Skupien. Since this 
appeal concerns the admissibility ruling only, it is 

Jes declarations avaient ete effectuees au moment 
ou les faits ctecrits etaient survenus, ou peu apres. 
Les plaignants connaissaient bien leur agresseur et 
il n'y avait aucune autre possibilite realiste de soup­
c;:onner quelqu'un d'autre. De plus, MM. Skupien 
et Dinino avaient tous Jes deux des blessures 
cor.roborantes. 

Toutefois, la decision du juge du proces semble 
reposer essentiellement sur son application de l'ar­
ret U. (F.J.) de notre Cour, ou la declaration extra­
judiciaire de la plaignante a ete admise en preuve a 
cause de sa « similitude frappante » avec la decla­
ration de l'accuse concernant les memes faits. Dans 
ses motifs, le juge du proces a mentionne, a main­
tes reprises, la similitude entre les declarations et a 
conclu que [TRADUCTION] « la combinaison cumu­
lative de points semblables rend[ait] la similitude 
globale entre les declarations suffisamment distinc­
tive pour rejeter la coi"ncidence comme explication 
probable ». Tout en estimant que Jes declarations 
orales etaient egalement « suffisamment similai­
res pour etre visees par le principe de l'arret R. c. 
U. (F.J.) », il a conclu, en se fondant sur le par. 217 
de l'arret Starr, que « Jes admettre en preuve equi­
vaudrait a admettre un temoignage justificatif du 
fait que je suis en possession des declarations sur 
bande video ». 

Selon le juge du proces, le seul veritable danger 
en matiere de oul-dire que comportait !'admission 
en preuve des declarations etait !'absence de contre­
interrogatoire, mais, s'appuyant sur l'arret Smith, 
ii a decide qu'une preuve fiable ne devrait pas etre 
exclue pour ce seul motif. L'interet public a ce que 
[TRADUCTTON] « les personnes agees soient bien 
traitees )) l'autorisait a « considerer Jes declarations 
sur bande video dans leur ensemble pour renfor­
cer la credibilite des plaignants ». Il a done conclu 
a l'admissibilite des declarations enregistrees sur 
bande video et a l'inadmissibilite des declarations 
orales. 

A la fin du proces, le juge Grossi a decide, en fin 
de compte, que seules deux des declarations enregis­
trees sur bande video etaient suffisamment credibles 
pour justifier une declaration de culpabilite, a savoir 
celles de MM. Dinino et Skupien. Comme le present 
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not necessary to review the reasons for conviction. 
It is common ground between the parties that if Mr. 
Skupien's statements are inadmissible, the convic­
tions must be set aside and the appeal dismissed. 

4. Court of Appeal for Ontario (2005), 195 O.A.C. 
11 

Mr. Khelawon appealed his convictions on the 
ground that the trial judge erred in admitting the 
videotaped statements. The Court of Appeal was 
unanimous in finding that Mr. Dinino's statement 
was not sufficiently reliable to warrant admission. A 
majority of the court found that Mr. Skupien's state­
ment was also inadmissible due to its unreliability. 

All three justices interpreted the trial judge's 
reasons as holding that without the similarity 
among the statements of the various complainants, 
none met the requirement of reliability and would 
therefore have been inadmissible (Rosenberg J.A. , 
at para. 90; Blair J.A., at para. 29). The court there­
fore focussed on this aspect of the evidence and, 
indeed, the source of the disagreement between the 
majority and the dissent was whether the similar­
ity of the statements was a permissible consider­
ation in assessing reliability under the principled 
approach. 

Rosenberg J.A., writing for the majority, held 
that the principle from V. (F.J.) could be applied 
only where the statements relate to the same event, 
and in most cases would be applied only where 
the declarant is available for cross-examination 
(para. 114). Here, the statements related to differ­
ent incidents. Although a trier of fact might con­
clude, using similar fact reasoning, that the same 
person committed all of the crimes, this is an issue 
going to ultimate reliability, not threshold reliabil­
ity (para. 115). Only the latter is relevant in deter­
mining admissibility. In addition, Rosenberg J.A. 
held that the comparator statements must also be 
substantively admissible, because the final deci­
sion as to the likelihood of coincidence or collusion 

pourvoi ne porte que sur la decision concernant 
l'admissibilite, il n'est pas necessaire d'examiner les 
motifs de la declaration de culpabilite. Les parties 
conviennent que si les declarations de M. Skupien 
sont inadmissibles, les declarations de culpabilite 
doivent etre annulees et le pourvoi, rejete. 

4. Cour d'appel de l'Ontario (2005), 195 O.A.C. 
11 

M. Khelawon a inte1jete appel contre ses decla­
rations de culpabilite en faisant valoir que le juge 
du proces avait commis une erreur en admettant 
en preuve Jes declarations enregistrees sur bande 
video. La Cour d'appel a statue a l'unanimite que 
la declaration de M. Dinino n'etait pas suffisam­
ment fiable pour etre admise en preuve. Les juges 
majoritaires ont estime que la declaration de M. 
Skupien etait egalement inadmissible en raison de 
sa non-fiabilite. 

Les trois juges ont tous interprete les motifs du 
juge du proces comme signifiant que, n'eut ete la 
similitude entre les declarations des divers plai­
gnants, aucune d'elles n'aurait satisfait a !'exigence 
de fiabilite, de sorte qu 'elles auraient toutes ete inad­
missibles (le juge Rosenberg, par. 90; le juge Blair, 
par. 29). La cour a done mis l'accent sur cet aspect 
de la preuve et, en fait, le desaccord entre les juges 
majoritaires et le juge dissident tenait a la question 
de savoir si la similitude entre Jes declarations pou­
vait etre prise en consideration pour apprecier la fia­
bilite suivant la rnethode d'analyse raisonnee. 

Le juge Rosenberg, s'exprimant au nom des juges 
majoritaires, a conclu que le principe de l'arret 
U. (F.J.) ne pouvait s'appliquer que lorsque les decla­
rations concernent les memes faits et que, dans la 
plupart des cas, ii ne serait applique que s'il est pos­
sible de contre-interroger le declarant (par. 114). En 
l'espece, Jes declarations concernaient des faits dif­
ferents. Un juge des faits pourrait conclure, suivant 
le raisonnement des faits similaires, que la meme 
personne a commis tous Jes crimes, mais c'est 13. une 
question de fiabilite en derniere analyse et non de 
seuil de fiabilite (par. 115). Seul le dernier est perti­
nent pour determiner l'admissibilite. De plus, selon 
le juge Rosenberg, !es declarations de comparaison 
doivent egalement etre admissibles quant au fond, 
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rests with the trier of fact (para. 128), and it would 
be odd for the trier of fact to be assessing ultimate 
reliability without access to "the very piece of evi­
dence that convinced the trial judge that the state­
ment was reliable" (para. 130). Grossi l's decision, 
therefore, was an impermissible expansion of the 
principle in U. (F.l.). Rosenberg J.A. also held, at 
para. 92, that such an expansion was inconsistent 
with the statement of Iacobucci J. in Starr, at para. 
217, that "corroborating ... evidence" should not 
be considered in determining threshold reliability. 

In dissent, Blair J.A. held that the central notion 
underpinning the U. (Fl.) "exception" was that 
absent collusion, prior knowledge, or improper 
influence, "striking similarities between statements 
belie coincidence and therefore bolster the reliabil­
ity of the statement under consideration" (para. 44). 
While he held that the absence of cross-examina­
tion remained a factor to be weighed in assessing 
threshold reliability, he was of the view that its 
absence, in and of itself, was not an impediment 
to the principled application of the U. (Fl.) excep­
tion. He also found that the exception could apply 
where the statements related to different events, 
stating that, for the purpose of finding threshold 
reliability, he could see no "logical difference" 
between statements concerning the same accused 
"doing the same thing on the same occasion" and 
"the same accused doing the same thing on differ­
ent occasions" (para. 48), drawing on the rationale 
for similar-fact reasoning, since both involve admit­
ting evidence on the basis of the "improbability of 
coincidence" (para. 49). Finally, he found that a 
finding that the comparator statements are not sub­
stantively admissible should not exclude them from 
the reliability analysis, pointing out that otherwise 
reliable statements could be held inadmissible for 
a variety of reasons, including a finding that they 
were not necessary (para. 53). 

parce que la decision finale concernant la proba­
bilite de coi:ncidence ou de collusion appartient au 
juge des faits (par. 128), et il serait etrange que celui­
ci apprecie la fiabilite en derniere analyse sans avoir 
acces a (TRADUCTION] « l'element de preuve meme 
qui a convaincu le juge du proces que la declaration 
etait fiable » (par. 130). La decision du juge Grossi 
constituait done un elargissement inacceptable de 
la portee du principe de l'arret U. (Fl.). Le juge 
Rosenberg a egalement decide, au par. 92, qu'un 
tel elargissement etait incompatible avec !'affirma­
tion du juge Iacobucci dans l'arret Starr, au par. 
217, selon laquelle il n'y a pas lieu de tenir compte 
d'une « preuve corroborante » pour etablir le seuil 
de fiabilite. 

Le juge Blair, dissident, a conclu que la notion 
fondamentale sous-tendant « !'exception » de l'ar­
ret U. (Fl.) veut que, en !'absence de collusion, 
de connaissance prealable ou d'infiuence indue, 
[TRADUCTION] «Jes similitudes frappantes entre 
!es declarations ecartent toute coi'ncidence et ren­
forcent done la fiabilite de la declaration exami­
nee » (par. 44). Bien qu'il ait decide que !'absence 
de contre-interrogatoire demeurait un element a 
soupeser en appreciant le seuil de fiabilite, le juge 
Blair etait d'avis que cette absence, en soi, ne fai­
sait pas obstacle a !'application raisonnee de !'excep­
tion de l'arret U. (F.l.). II a egalement conclu que 
cette exception pouvait s'appliquer quand Jes decla­
rations concernaient des faits differents, ajoutant 
que, pour determiner le seuil de fiabilite, ii ne voyait 
- compte tenu de la raison d'etre du raisonnement 
des faits similaires - aucune « difference logique » 
entre une declaration voulant que le meme accuse 
« ait accompli le meme acte a la meme occasion » 
et une declaration voulant que « le meme accuse 
ait accompli le meme acte a differentes occasions » 

(par. 48), etant donne que les deux situations com­
portent !'admission d'un element de preuve fondee 
sur « l'improbabilite d'une coi:ncidence » (par. 49). 
Enfin, ii a estime que les declarations de comparai­
son jugees inadmissibles quant au fond ne devraient 
pas etre exclues de l'analyse de la fiabilite, faisant 
remarquer que des declarations par ailleurs fiables 
pourraient etre jugees inadmissibles pour diverses 
raisons, dont la conclusion qu'elles n'etaient pas 
necessaires (par. 53). 

i"­
L(') 

0 
0 
(/) 
(0 
0 
0 
N 



[2006] 2 R.C.S. R. c. KHELAWON Lajuge Charron 807 

On the basis of these conclusions, Blair J.A. held 
that the trial judge had not erred in considering the 
similarity among the statements in determining 
their threshold reliability. He then went on to apply 
"the U. (F.J.) exception" to the statements at issue 
on appeal, and held that although the videotaped 
statement of Mr. Dinino was inadmissible, the vid­
eotaped statement of Mr. Skupien was. 

5. Rule Against Hearsay 

5.1 General Exclusionary Rule 

The basic rule of evidence is that all relevant evi­
dence is admissible. There are a number of excep­
tions to this basic rule. One of the main exceptions is 
the rule against hearsay: absent an exception, hear­
say evidence is not admissible. Hearsay evidence 
is not excluded because it is irrelevant - there is 
no need for a special rule to exclude irrelevant evi­
dence. Rather, as we shall see, it is the difficulty of 
testing hearsay evidence that underlies the exclu­
sionary rule and, generally, the alleviation of this 
difficulty that forms the basis of the exceptions to 
the rule. Although hearsay evidence includes com­
munications expressed by conduct, I will generally 
refer to hearsay statements only. 

5.2 Definition of Hearsay 

At the outset, it is important to determine what 
is and what is not hearsay. The difficulties in defin­
ing hearsay encountered by courts and learned 
authors have been canvassed before and need not 
be repeated here: see R. v. Abbey, [1982] 2 S.C.R. 
24, at pp. 40-41, per Dickson J. It is sufficient to 
note, as this Court did in Starr, at para. 159, that the 
more recent definitions of hearsay are focussed on 
the central concern underlying the hearsay rule: the 
difficulty of testing the reliability of the declarant's 
assertion. See, for example, R. v. O'Brien, [1978] 
1 S.C.R. 591, at pp. 593-94. Our adversary system 
puts a premium on the calling of witnesses, who 
testify under oath or solemn affirmation, whose 

Compte tenu de ces conclusions, le juge Blair a 
statue que le juge du proces n'avait commis aucune 
erreur en tenant compte de la similitude des decla­
rations pour en determiner le seuil de fiabilite . Il 
a ensuite applique [TRADUCTION] « !'exception de 
l'arret V. (F.J.) » aux declarations visees par l'ap­
pel et a conclu que, meme si la declaration de M. 
Dinino enregistree sur bande video etait inadmissi­
ble, celle de M. Skupien aussi enregistree sur bande 
video etait par ailleurs admissible. 

5. La regle interdisant le ou1-dire 

5.1 Une reg le d'exclusion generate 

La regle de preuve fondamentalc veut que tous 
les elements de preuve pertinents soient admissi­
bles. Cette regle fondamentale comporte un certain 
nombre d'exceptions. L'une des principales excep­
tions est la regle interdisant le ou1-dire : sauf excep­
tion, la preuve par ou1-dire n'est pas admissible. La 
preuve par ou!-dire n'est pas exclue parce qu'elle 
n'est pas pertinente - une regle speciale n'est pas 
necessaire pour exclure une preuve non pertinente. 
Cornme nous le verrons, c'est plutot la difficulte de 
verifier la preuve par ou!-dire qui sous-tend la regle 
d'exclusion et, en general, !'attenuation de cette dif­
ficulte qui constitue le fondement des exceptions a 
la regle. Bien que la preuve par ou!-dire comprenne 
la conduite expressive, je m'en tiendrai generale­
ment aux declarations relatees. 

5.2 Definition du oui-dire 

Au depart, il importe de determiner ce qui 
constitue du ou1-dire et ce qui n'en constitue pas. 
Les difficultes que Jes tribunaux et les auteurs de 
doctrine ont eues a definir le ou!-dire ont deja fait 
l'objet d'un examen approfondi et il n'est pas neces­
saire de les reprendre en l'espece : voir R. c. Abbey, 
[1982] 2 R.C.S. 24, p. 40-41, le juge Dickson. Il 
suffit de noter, comme notre Cour l'a fait au par. 
159 de l'arret Stan; que les plus recentes defini­
tions du ou!-dire sont axees sur la preoccupation 
majeure qui sous-tend cette regle du ou!-dire, soit 
la difficulte de verifier la fiabilite de !'affirma­
tion du declarant. Voir, par exemplc, l'arret R. c. 
O'Brien, [1978] 1 R.C.S . 591 , p. 593-594. Notre 
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demeanour can be observed by the trier of fact, and 
whose testimony can be tested by cross-examina­
tion. We regard this process as the optimal way 
of testing testimonial evidence. Because hearsay 
evidence comes in a different form, it raises par­
ticular concerns. The general exclusionary rule is 
a recognition of the difficulty for a trier of fact to 
assess what weight, if any, is to be given to a state­
ment made by a person who has not been seen or 
heard, and who has not been subject to the test of 
cross-examination. The fear is that untested hear­
say evidence may be afforded more weight than it 
deserves. The essential defining features of hear­
say are therefore the following: (1) the fact that the 
statement is adduced to prove the truth of its con­
tents and (2) the absence of a contemporaneous 
opportunity to cross-examine the declarant. I will 
deal with each defining feature in turn . 

5.2.l Statements Adduced for Their Truth 

The purpose for which the out-of-court state­
ment is tendered matters in defining what consti­
tutes hearsay because it is only when the evidence 
is tendered to prove the truth of its contents that the 
need to test its reliability arises. Consider the fol ­
lowing example. At an accused's tri al on a charge 
for impaired driving, a police officer testifies that 
he stopped the accused's car because he received 
information from an unidentified caller that the car 
was driven by a person who had just left a local 
tavern in a "very drunk" condition. If the state­
ment about the inebriated condition of the driver is 
introduced for the sole purpose of establishing the 
police officer's grounds for stopping the vehicle, it 
does not matter whether the unidentified caller's 
statement was accurate, exaggerated, or even false. 
Even if the statement is totally unfounded, that 
fact docs not take away from the officer's explana­
tion of his actions. If, on the other hand, the state­
ment is tendered as proof that the accused was in 
fact impaired, the trier of fact's inability to test the 

systeme accusatoire attache une grande impor­
tance a !'assignation de temoins qui deposent sous 
la foi du serment ou d'une affirmation solennelle 
et dont le comportement peut etre observe par le 
juge des fairs, et le temoignage, verifi6 au moyen 
d'un contre-interrogatoire. Nous considerons que 
ce processus represente la meilleure fac;:on de veri­
fier la preuve testimoniale. Paree qu'elle se presente 
sous une forme differente, la preuve par oui:-dire 
suscite des preoccupations particulieres. La regle 
d'exclusion generale reconnait la difficulte pour le 
juge des faits d'apprecier le poids a donner, s'il y a 
lieu, a une declaration d'une personne qui n'a ete ni 
vue ni entendue et qui n'a pas eu a subir un contre­
interrogatoire. On craint que la preuve par oui:-dire 
non verifiee se voie accorder plus de poids qu'elle 
n'en merite. Les caracteristiques determinantes 
essentielles du oui'-dire sont done les suivantes : (1) 
le fait que la declaration soit presentee pour eta­
blir la veracite de son contenu et (2) l'impossibilite 
de contre-interroger le declarant au moment precis 
ou il fait cette declaration. J'examinerai chacune de 
ces caracteristiques determinantes a tour de role. 

5.2.l Declarations presentees pour etablir la vera­
cite de leur contenu 

Le but dans lequel la declaration extrajudiciaire 
est presentee revet de !'importance lorsqu'il s'agit 
de determiner ce qui constitue du ou'i-dire, car c'est 
seulement lorsque la preuve est presentee pour eta­
blir la veracite de son contenu qu'il devient neces­
saire d'en verifier la fiabilite. Prenons l'exemple 
suivant. Au proces d'un accuse inculpe de conduite 
avec facultes affaiblies, un policier temoigne qu'il 
a intercepte !'automobile de !'accuse a la suite d'un 
appel d'un inconnu !'informant que le vehicule etait 
conduit par une personne en etat d'« ebriete avan­
cee » qui venait tout juste de quitter une taverne de 
quartier. Si la declaration concernant l'etat d'ebriete 
du conducteur est presentee dans le seul but d'eta­
blir Jes motifs que le policier avait d'intercepter le 
vehicule, ii importe peu de savoir si la declaration 
de l'auteur inconnu de l'appel etait exacte, exageree 
ou meme fausse. Meme si la declaration est tota­
lement denuee de fondement, cela n'enleve rien a 
!'explication que le policier a donnee au sujet de 
ses actes. Si, par contre, la declaration est presentee 
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reliability of the statement raises real concerns. 
Hence, only in the latter circumstance is the evi­
dence about the caller's statement defined as hear­
say and subject to the general exclusionary rule. 

5.2.2 Absence of Contemporaneous Cross­
Examination 

The previous example, namely where the witness 
tells the court what A told him, is the more obvious 
form of hearsay evidence. A is not before the court 
to be seen, heard and cross-examined. However, 
the traditional law of hearsay also extends to out­
of-court statements made by the witness who does 
testify in court when that out-of-court statement 
is tendered to prove the truth of its contents. This 
extended definition of hearsay has been adopted in 
Canada: R. v. B. (K.G.), [1993] 1 S.C.R. 740, at pp. 
763-64; Starr, at para. 158. It is important to under­
stand the rationale for treating a witness's out-of­
court statements as hearsay. 

When the witness repeats or adopts an ear­
lier out-of-court statement, in court, under oath 
or solemn affirmation, of course no hearsay issue 
arises. The statement itself is not evidence, the tes­
timony is the evidence and it can be tested in the 
usual way by observing the witness and subject­
ing him or her to cross-examination. The hearsay 
issue does arise, however, when the witness does 
not repeat or adopt the information contained in the 
out-of-court statement and the statement itself is 
tendered for the truth of its contents. Consider the 
following example to illustrate the concerns raised 
by this evidence. 

In an out-of-court statement, W identifies the 
accused as her assailant. At the trial of the accused 
on a charge of assault, W testifies that the accused 
is not her assailant. The Crown seeks to tender the 
out-of-court statement as proof of the fact that the 

dans le but de prouver que !'accuse avait effective­
ment les facultes affaiblies, l'incapacite du juge des 
faits d'en verifier la fiabilite suscite des preoccupa­
tions reelles. Ce n'est done que dans ce dernier cas 
que la preuve relative a la declaration de !'auteur 
de l'appel constitue du ou"i-dire et est assujettie a la 
regle d'exclusion generale. 

5.2.2 L'impossibilite de contre-interroger au 
moment precis ou la declaration est faite 

L'exemple precedent, a savoir lorsque le temoin 
raconte au tribunal ce que A lui a <lit, est la forme 
la plus evidente de preuve par ou1-dire. A n'est pas 
devant le tribunal de maniere a pouvoir etre vu, 
entendu et contre-interroge. Toutefois, la regle tra­
ditionnelle du ou"i-dire s'applique egalement a la 
declaration extrajudiciaire du temoin qui depose 
en cour lorsque cette declaration extrajudiciaire est 
presentee pour etablir la veracite de son contenu. 
Cette definition elargie du oui:-dire a ete adoptee 
au Canada: R. c. B. (K.G.), [1993] 1 R.C.S . 740, p. 
763-764; Stan; par. 158. Il est important de com­
prendre pourquoi les declarations extrajudiciai­
res d'un temoin sont considerees comme etant du 
ou"i-dire. 

Lorsque, devant le tribunal, le temoin reitere OU 
adopte - sous la foi du serment ou d'une affirma­
tion solennelle - une declaration extrajudiciaire 
anterieure, il va de soi qu'aucune question de ou"i­
dire ne se pose. Ce n'est pas la declaration elle-meme 
qui constitue un element de preuve, mais plutot le 
temoignage, qui peut etre verifie de la fa<;on habi­
tuelle en observant le temoin et en lui faisant subir 
un contre-interrogatoire. Toutefois, la question du 
OU"i-dire se pose lorsque le temoin ne reitere pas OU 
n'adopte pas le contenu de la declaration extrajudi­
ciaire, et que la declaration elle-meme est presen­
tee pour etablir la veracite de son contenu. Prenons 
l'exemple suivant pour illustrer Jes preoccupations 
suscitees par cet element de p.reuve. 

Dans une declaration extrajudiciaire, W designe 
!'accuse comme etant son agresseur. Au proces de 
!'accuse pour voies de fait, W temoigne que !'ac­
cuse n'est pas son agresseur. Le ministere public 
cherche a presenter la declaration extrajudiciaire 
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accused did assault W. In these circumstances, 
the trier of fact is asked to accept the out-of-court 
statement over the sworn testimony of the witness. 
Given the usual premium placed on the value of in­
court testimonial evidence, a serious issue arises 
as to whether it is at all necessary to introduce the 
statement. In addition, the reliability of that state­
ment becomes crucial. How trustworthy is it? In 
what circumstances did W make that statement? 
Was it made casually to friends at a social function, 
or rather, to the police as a formal complaint? Was 
W aware of the potential consequences of making 
that statement, did she intend that it be acted upon? 
Did she have a motive to lie? In what condition was 
W at the time she made the statement? Many more 
questions can come to mind on matters that relate 
to the reliability of that out-of-court statement. 
When the trier of fact is asked to consider the out­
of-court statement as proof that the accused in fact 
assaulted W, assessing its reliability may prove to 
be difficult. 

Concerns over the reliability of the statement 
also arise where W does not recant the out-of-court 
statement but testifies that she has no memory of 
making the statement, or worse still, no memory 
of the assault itself. The trier of fact does not see 
or hear the witness making the statement and, 
because there is no opportunity to cross-examine 
the witness contemporaneously with the making 
of the statement, there may be limited opportunity 
for a meaningful testing of its truth. In addition, an 
issue may arise as to whether the prior statement is 
fully and accurately reproduced. 

Hence, although the underlying rationale for the 
general exclusionary rule may not be as obvious 
when the declarant is available to testify, it is the 
same - the difficulty of testing the reliability of 
the out-of-court statement. The difficulty of assess­
ing W's out-of-court statement is the reason why 
it falls within the definition of hearsay and is sub­
ject to the general exclusionary rule. As one may 
readily appreciate, however, the degree of difficulty 

pour prouver que l'accuse a effectivement agresse 
W. Dans ces circonstances, on demande au juge 
des faits de retenir la declaration extrajudiciaire 
plutot que le temoignage sous serment du temoin. 
Compte tenu de !'importance habituellement accor­
dee au temoignage devant le tribunal, une question 
serieuse se pose, soit celle de savoir s'il est abso­
lument necessaire de presenter la declaration. De 
plus, la fiabilite de cette declaration devient deter­
minante. Jusqu'a quel point est-elle fiable? Dans 
quelles circonstances W a-t-elle fait cette declara­
tion? L'a-t-elle faite a brfile-pourpoint a des amis 
lors d'une activite SOCiale, OU plutot a la police a 
titre de plainte formelle? W etait-elle consciente 
des consequences que pouvait avoir cette decla­
ration, voulait-elle qu'on y donne suite? Avait­
elJe une raison de mentir? Dans quel etat etait 
W au moment ou elle a fait la declaration? Bien 
d'autres questions peuvent venir a !'esprit au sujet 
de la fiabilite de cette declaration extrajudiciaire. 
Lorsqu'on demande au juge des faits de considerer 
que la declaration extrajudiciaire prouve que l'ac­
cuse a effectivement agresse W, il peut se reveler 
difficile d'apprecier la fiabilite de cette preuve. 

Des preoccupations concernant la fiabilite de 
la declaration naissent egalement lorsque w ne 
revient pas sur sa declaration extrajudiciaire, mais 
temoigne qu'elle ne se souvient pas l'avoir faite, ou 
pis encore, qu'elle n'a aucun souvenir de l'agression 
elle-meme. Le juge des faits ne voit pas ou n'en­
tend pas le temoin faire la declaration et, puisque 
qu'il n'y a aucune possibilite de contre-interroger le 
temoin au moment precis ou il fait sa declaration, 
la possibilite de verifier utilement la veracite de 
cette declaration peut etre limitee. De plus, il peut 
y avoir lieu de se demander si la declaration ante­
rieure est reproduite integralement et fidelement. 

Ainsi, bien qu'il se puisse que la raison d'etre de 
la regle d'exclusion generale ne soit pas aussi evi­
dente lorsque le declarant est disponible pour temoi­
gner, elle reste la meme, soit la difficulte de verifier 
la fiabilite de la declaration extrajudiciaire. La dif­
ficulte d'apprecier la declaration extrajudiciaire de 
W explique pourquoi elle est visee par la definition 
du ou'i-dire et est assujettie a la regle d'exclusion 
generale. Toutefois, on le comprendra aisement, la 
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may be substantially alleviated in cases where the 
declarant is available for cross-examination on 
the earlier statement, particularly where an accu­
rate record of the statement can be tendered in evi­
dence. I will come back to that point later. My point 
here is simply to explain why, by definition, hear­
say extends to out-of-court statements tendered for 
their truth even when the declarant is before the 
court. 

5.3 Hearsay Exceptions: A Principled Approach 

It has long been recognized that a rigid appli­
cation of the exclusionary rule would result in the 
unwarranted loss of much valuable evidence. The 
hearsay statement, because of the way in which it 
came about, may be inherently reliable, or there may 
be sufficient means of testing it despite its hearsay 
form. Hence, a number of common law exceptions 
were gradually created. A rigid application of these 
exceptions, in turn, proved problematic leading to 
the needless exclusion of evidence in some cases, 
or its unwarranted admission in others. Wigmore 
urged greater flexibility in the application of the 
rule based on the two guiding principles that under­
lie the traditional common law exceptions: neces­
sity and reliability (Wigmore on Evidence (2nd ed. 
1923), vol. III, § 1420, at p. 153). This Court first 
accepted this approach in Khan and later recog­
nized its primacy in Starr. The governing frame­
work, based on Starr, was recently summarized in 
R. v. Mapara, [2005] 1 S.C.R. 358, 2005 SCC 23, 
at para. 15: 

(a) Hearsay evidence is presumptively inadmissible 
unless it falls under an exception to the hearsay 
rule. The traditional exceptions to the hearsay rule 
remain presumptively in place. 

(b) A hearsay exception can be challenged to deter­
mine whether it is supported by indicia of neces­
sity and reliability, required by the principled 
approach. The exception can be modified as neces­
sary to bring it into compliance. 

difficulte peut etre attenuee substantiellement lors­
que le declarant peut etre contre-interroge au sujet 
de sa declaration anterieure, en particulier lorsqu'il 
est possible de deposer en preuve un compte rendu 
exact de la declaration. Je reviendrai sur cette ques­
tion plus loin. Je ne tiens ici qu'a expliquer pour­
quoi, par definition, le oui·-dire englobe Jes decla­
rations extrajudiciaires presentees pour etablir la 
veracite de leur contenu, et ce, meme lorsque le 
dcclarant est devant le tribunal. 

5.3 Les exceptions a la regle du ouY-dire : une 
methode d'analyse raisonnee 

On reconnalt depuis Jongtemps qu'une appli­
cation rigide de la regle d'exclusion entralnerait la 
perte injustifiee d'elements de preuve tres precieux. 
La declaration relatee peut, en raison de la maniere 
dont elle a ete faite, etre intrinsequement fiable, OU 

il peut exister suffisamment de moyens de la verifier 
en depit du fait qu'elle est relatee. Partant, un cer­
tain nombre d'exceptions de common law ont peu 
a peu fait Ieur apparition . Une application rigide de 
ces exceptions s'est revelee, a son tour, problemati­
que et a donne lieu, dans certains cas, a !'exclusion 
inutile d'elements de preuve ou, dans d'autres cas, 
a leur admission injustifiee. Wigmore a preconise 
une application plus souple de la regle, fondee sur 
les deux principes directeurs qui sous-tendent les 
exceptions de common law traditionnelles, a savoir 
la necessite et la fiabilite (Wigmore on Evidence (2e 
ed. 1923), vol. III, § 1420, p. 153). Notre Cour a 
d'abord retenu cette approche dans l'arret Khan et 
en a, par la suite, reconnu la primaute dans l'ar­
ret Stan: Le cadre d'analyse applicable selon l'ar­
ret Starr a ete resume recemment dans l'arret R. 
c. Mapara, [2005] 1 R.C.S. 358, 2005 CSC 23, 
par. 15 : 

a) La preuve par ouY-dire est presumee inadmissible 
a moins de relever d'une exception a la regle du 
oul-dire. Les exceptions traditionnelles cominuent 
presomptivement de s'appliquer. 

b) II est possible de contester une exception a !'exclu­
sion du oul-dire au motif qu'elle ne presenterait pas 
les indices de necessite et de fiabilite requis par la 
methode d'analyse raisonnee. On peut la modifier 
au besoin pour la rendre conforme a ces exigen­
ces. 
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(c) In "rare cases", evidence falling within an existing 
exception may be excluded because the indicia of 
necessity and reliability are lacking in the particu­
lar circumstances of the case. 

(d) If hearsay evidence does not fall under a hearsay 
exception, it may still be admitted if indicia of 
reliability and necessity are established on a voir 
dire. 

In this case, we are concerned with the admis­
sion of evidence under item (d). In particular, the 
courts below were divided over two main ques­
tions: (1) what factors must be considered in decid­
ing whether the evidence is sufficiently reliable to 
be admitted; and (2) whether the "exception" rec­
ognized by this Court in U. (F.J.) can be extended 
to the facts of this case. I will comment first on the 
second question. 

In my view, the discussion over whether the 
"U. (F.J.) exception" applies here exemplifies 
the concern expressed in U. (F.J.) itself, that the 
"new approach to hearsay does not itself become 
a rigid pigeon-holing analysis" (para. 35). In 
U. (F.J.), there was a similar debate over whether 
the "B. (K.G.) exception" to the rule against the sub­
stantive admission of prior inconsistent statements 
extended to circumstances where the reliability 
of the complainant's statement was based, not so 
much on the circumstances in which it came about 
as was the case in B. (K.G.), but on its striking sim­
ilarity to a statement made by the accused. Lamer 
C.J. explained how his decision in B. (K.G.) was an 
application of the principled approach to hearsay, 
and how "[i]n addition ... a threshold of reliabil­
ity can sometimes be established, in cases where 
the witness is available for cross-examination, by a 
striking similarity between two statements" (para. 
40). He concluded his analysis by anticipating that 
yet other situations may arise. He stated the follow­
ing (at para. 45): 

I anticipate that instances of statements so strik­
ingly similar as to bolster their reliability will be rare. 

c) Dans de « rares cas », la preuve relevant d'une 
exception existante peut etre exclue parce que, 
dans les circonstances particulieres de l'espece, 
elle ne presente pas !es indices de necessite et de 
fiabilite requis. 

d) Si la preuve par ou'i-di re ne releve pas d'une excep­
tion a la regle d'exclusion, elle peut tout de meme 
etre admissible si )'existence d'indices de fiabi\ite 
et de necessite est etablie lors d'un voir-dire. 

Dans la presente affaire, il est question d'ad­
mission de preuve selon l'al. d). En particulier, 
Jes tribunaux d'instance inferieure etaient parta­
ges quant a deux questions principales : (1) Quels 
facteurs doit-on considerer pour decider si la 
preuve est suffisamment fiable pour etre admise? 
(2) L'« exception » reconnue par notre Cour dans 
l'arret U. (F.J.) peut-elle s'appliquer aux fails de 
la presente affaire? Je vais d'abord commenter la 
deuxieme question. 

A mon avis, le debat entourant la question de 
savoir si « !'exception de l'arret U. (F.J.) » s'appli­
que en l'espece illustre le souci exprime dans l'arrer 
U. (F.J.) lui-meme, a savoir que la « nouvelle fac;on 
d'aborder le oui:-dire ne devienne pas en soi une 
analyse rigide de categories » (par. 35). Dans l'ar­
ret U. (F.J.), un debat semblable a porte sur la ques­
tion de savoir si « !'exception de l'arret B. (K.G.) » 
a la regle interdisant !'admission quant au fond des 
declarations anterieures incompatibles s'appliquait 
dans le cas ou la fiabilite de la declaration du plai­
gnant tenait non pas tant aux circonstances dans 
lesquelles elle avait ete faite, comme l'affaire dans 
B. (K.G.), mais plut6t a sa similitude frappante avec 
une declaration de !'accuse. Le juge en chef Lamer 
a explique comment sa decision dans l'affaire 
B. (K.G.) etait une application de la methode d'ana­
lyse raisonnee au oui:-dire et comment en outre 
« l'etablissement d'un seuil de fiabilite est parfois 
possible, dans les cas ou le temoin peut etre contre­
interroge, lorsqu'il existe une similitude frappante 
entre deux declarations » (par. 40). 11 a conclu son 
analyse en prevoyant que d'autres situations peu­
vent encore se presenter. Voici ce qu'il a affirme 
(par. 45): 

Je m'attends ace que soient rares Jes cas de declara­
tions dont la similitude est frappante au point d'etayer 
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In keeping with our principled and flexible approach to 
hearsay, other situations may arise where prior incon­
sistent statements will be judged substantively admis­
sible, bearing in mind that cross-examination alone 
provides significant indications of reliability. It is not 
necessary in this case to decide if cross-examination 
alone provides an adequate assurance of threshold reli­
ability to allow substantive admission of prior incon­
sistent statements. 

As I will discuss later, both B. (K.G.) and U. (F.J.) 
highlight the particular concerns raised in cases of 
prior inconsistent statements. However, following 
Lamer C.J.'s own words of caution against "rigid 
pigeon-holing analysis", it is my view that neither 
B. (K.G.) nor V. (F.J.) should be interpreted as 
creating categorical exceptions to the rule against 
hearsay based on fixed criteria. The majority judg­
ment in B. (K.G.) itself leaves room for appropri­
ate substitutes for the criteria it sets out. Further, to 
interpret these cases as creating new categories of 
exceptions would not be in keeping with the flex­
ible case-by-case principled approach. We would 
simply be replacing the traditional set of exceptions 
with a new and (for the time being) less ossified 
one. Rather, these cases provide guidance - not 
fixed categories - on the application of the princi­
pled case-by-case approach by identifying the rel­
evant concerns and the factors to be considered in 
determining admissibility. 

I will review B. (K. G.) and V. (F.J.) in this light 
as well as some other relevant decisions from this 
Court. Since the issues raised on this appeal relate 
to the assessment of reliability, my analysis will 
be focussed on that criterion. However, as I will 
explain, necessity and reliability should not be 
considered in isolation. One criterion may impact 
on the other. For example, as we shall see, in some 
cases the need for the evidence may, in large part, 
be based on the fact that the hearsay statement is 
highly reliable and the fact-finding process would 
be distorted without it. However, before I dis­
cuss the factors relating to reliability, I want to 

leur fiabilite. Conformement a notre demarche en 
matiere de ou1-dire fondee sur des principes et souple, il 
peut y avoir d'autres situations ou les declarations ante­
rieures incompatibles seront jugees admissibles quant 
au fond, compte tenu du fa it que le contre-interrogatoire 
seul donne d'importants indices de fiabilite. En l'espece, 
il n'est pas necessaire de decider si le contre-interroga­
toire seul donne une assurance suffisante quant au seuil 
de fiabilite pour permettre l'admission, quant au fond, 
de declarations anterieures incompatibles. 

Comme je l'expliquerai plus loin, Jes arrets 
B. (K.G.) et U. (F.J.) font tous Jes deux ressortir les 
preoccupations particulieres suscitees dans des cas 
de declaration anterieure incompatible. Toutefois, 
compte tenu de la mise en garde du juge en chef 
Lamer contre une « analyse rigide de categories », 
j'estime que ni l'arret B. (K.G.) ni l'arret U. (F.J.) 
ne devraient etre interpretes comme creant des 
categories d'exceptions - fondees sur des criteres 
fixes - a la regle interdisant le ou:i-dire. Le juge­
ment majoritaire dans l'affaire B. (K.G.) permet 
lui-meme de remplacer par des substituts ade­
quats les criteres qu'il enonce. De plus, interpre­
ter ces arrets comme creant de nouvelles categories 
d'exceptions ne serait pas Conforme a la methode 
souple d'analyse raisonnee applicable cas par cas. 
Nous nous trouverions simplement a remplacer la 
serie d'exceptions traditionnelles par une nouvelle 
serie moins sclerosee (pour !'instant). Au lieu d'eta­
blir des categories fixes, ces arrets donnent plutot 
des indications sur !'application cas par cas de la 
methode d'analyse raisonnee en decrivant ]es pre­
occupations pertinentes et les facteurs a considerer 
pour determiner l'admissibilite. 

J'examinerai sous cet angle les arrets B. (K.G.) 
et U. (F.J.), de meme que certains autres arrets per­
tinents de notre Cour. Puisque les questions sou­
levees dans le present pourvoi concernent !'appre­
ciation de la fiabilite, mon analyse portera sur ce 
critere. Toutefois, comme je l'expliquerai, la neces­
site et la fiabilite ne devraient pas etre examinees 
separement. Un critere peut influer sur l'autre. Par 
exemple, comme nous le verrons, la necessite de la 
preuve peut, dans certains cas, decouler en grande 
partie du fait que la declaration relatee est tres 
fiable et que le processus de constatation des faits 
serait fausse sans elle. Toutefois, avant d'analyser 
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say a word on the overarching principle of trial 
fairness. 

5.4 Constitutional Dimension: Trial Fairness 

Prior to admitting hearsay statements under the 
principled exception to the hearsay rule, the trial 
judge must determine on a voir dire that necessity 
and reliability have been established. The onus is 
on the person who seeks to adduce the evidence to 
establish these criteria on a balance of probabili­
ties. In a criminal context, the inquiry may take 
on a constitutional dimension, because difficulties 
in testing the evidence, or conversely the inabil­
ity to present reliable evidence, may impact on an 
accused's ability to make full answer and defence, 
a right protected by s. 7 of the Canadian Charter of 
Rights and Freedoms: Dersch v. Canada (Attorney 
General), [1990] 2 S.C.R. 1505. The right to make 
full answer and defence in turn is linked to another 
principle of fundamental justice, the right to a fair 
trial: R. v. Rose, [1998] 3 S.C.R. 262. The concern 
over trial fairness is one of the paramount reasons 
for rationalizing the traditional hearsay excep­
tions in accordance with the principled approach. 
As stated by Iacobucci J. in Starr, at para. 200, in 
respect of Crown evidence: "It would compromise 
trial fairness, and raise the spectre of wrongful 
convictions, if the Crown is allowed to introduce 
unreliable hearsay against the accused, regardless 
of whether it happens to fall within an existing 
exception." 

As indicated earlier, our adversary system is 
based on the assumption that sources of untrust­
worthiness or inaccuracy can best be brought 
to light under the test of cross-examination. It is 
mainly because of the inability to put hearsay evi­
dence to that test, that it is presumptively inad­
missible. However, the constitutional right guar­
anteed under s. 7 of the Charter is not the right 
to confront or cross-examine adverse witnesses in 
itself. The adversarial trial process, which includes 

les facteurs lies a la fiabilite, je tiens a dire un mot 
sur le principe dominant de l'equite du proces. 

5.4 La dimension constitutionnelle : l'equite du 
proces 

Avant d'admettre les declarations relatees en 
vertu de !'exception raisonnee a la regle du ou'i­
dire, le juge du proces doit decider, lors d'un voir­
dire, que la necessite et la fiabilite ont ere etablies. 
11 incombe a la personne qui cherche a presenter 
la preuve d'etablir ces criteres selon la prepon­
derance des probabilites. En matiere criminelle, 
l'examen peut comporter une dimension consti­
tutionnelle parce que la difficulte de verifier la 
preuve OU , a l'inverse, l'impossibilite de presen­
ter une preuve fiable peut compromettre la capa­
cite de !'accuse de presenter une defense pleine et 
entiere, qui est un droit garanti par l'art. 7 de la 
Charle canadienne des droits et libertes : Dersch 
c. Canada (Procureur general), [1990] 2 R.C.S. 
1505. Le droit de presenter une defense pleine et 
entiere est, a son tour, lie a un autre principe de 
justice fondamentale, a savoir le droit a un proces 
equitable : R. c. Rose, [1998] 3 R.C.S. 262. La pre­
occupation relative a l'equite du proces est l'une 
des raisons primordiales de rationaliser les excep­
tions traditionnelles a la regle du ou:i-dire confor­
mement a la methode d'analyse raisonnee. Comme 
l'a precise le juge Iacobucci, au par. 200 de l'arret 
Starr, quant a la preuve du ministere public, « [s]i 
on permettait au ministere public de presenter une 
preuve par ou'i-dire non fiable contre l'accuse, peu 
importe qu'elle se trouve OU 11011 a relever d'une 
exception existante, cela compromettrait l'equite 
du proces et ferait apparaitre le spectre des decla­
rations de culpabilite erronees. » 

Comme je l'ai indique precedemment, notre 
systeme accusatoire repose sur l'hypothese voulant 
que le contre-interrogatoire represente le meilleur 
moyen de reveler les causes d'inexactitude OU de 
manque de fiabilite. C'est principalement en raison 
de l'incapacite de la verifier de cette fa9on que la 
preuve par ou:i-dire est presumee inadmissible. 
Toutefois, le droit constitutionnel garanti par )'art. 
7 de la Charte n'est pas en soi le droit de confron­
ter ou contre-interroger des temoins opposes. Le 
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cross-examination, is but the means to achieve the 
end. Trial fairness, as a principle of fundamental 
justice, is the end that must be achieved. Trial fair­
ness embraces more than the rights of the accused. 
While it undoubtedly includes the right to make 
full answer and defence, the fairness of the trial 
must also be assessed in the light of broader soci­
etal concerns: see R. v. Mills, [1999) 3 S.C.R. 668, 
at paras. 69-76. In the context of an admissibility 
inquiry, society's interest in having the trial process 
arrive at the truth is one such concern. 

The broader spectrum of interests encompassed 
in trial fairness is reflected in the twin principles 
of necessity and reliability. The criterion of neces­
sity is founded on society's interest in getting at 
the truth. Because it is not always possible to 
meet the optimal test of contemporaneous cross­
examination, rather than simply losing the value 
of the evidence, it becomes necessary in the inter­
ests of justice to consider whether it should none­
theless be admitted in its hearsay form. The crite­
rion of reliability is about ensuring the integrity of 
the trial process. The evidence, although needed, 
is not admissible unless it is sufficiently reliable 
to overcome the dangers arising from the diffi­
culty of testing it. As we shall see, the reliability 
requirement will generally be met on the basis of 
two different grounds, neither of which excludes 
consideration of the other. In some cases, because 
of the circumstances in which it came about, the 
contents of the hearsay statement may be so reli­
able that contemporaneous cross-examination of 
the declarant would add little if anything to the 
process. In other cases, the evidence may not be 
so cogent but the circumstances will allow for 
sufficient testing of evidence by means other than 
contemporaneous cross-examination. In these cir­
cumstances, the admission of the evidence will 
rarely undermine trial fairness. However, because 
trial fairness may encompass factors beyond the 
strict inquiry into necessity and reliability, even 
if the two criteria are met, the trial judge has the 
discretion to exclude hearsay evidence where its 

processus judiciaire accusatoire, qui comprend le 
contre-interrogatoire, n'est que le moyen de parve­
nir a la fin recherchee. L'equite du proces, en tant 
que principe de justice fondamentale, est la fin qui 
doit etre atteinte. L'equite du proces englobe plus 
que Jes droits de l'accuse. Bien qu'elle comprenne 
indubitablement le droit de presenter une defense 
pleine et entiere, l'equite du proces doit aussi etre 
evaluee a la lumiere de preoccupations sociales 
plus globales : voir R. c. Mills, [1999] 3 R.C.S. 
668, par. 69-76. Dans le contexte d'un examen de 
l'admissibilite, l'une de ces preoccupations est l'in­
teret qu'a la societe ace que le processus judiciaire 
permette de decouvrir la verite. 

La gamme plus vaste d'interets compris dans 
l'equite du proces se refiete dans le double prin­
cipe de la necessite et de la fiabilite. Le critere de 
la necessite repose sur l'interet qu'a la societe a 
decouvrir la verite. Etant donne qu'il n'est pas tou­
jours possible de satisfaire au critere optimal du 
contre-interrogatoire effectue au moment precis 
ou la declaration est faite, au lieu de simplement 
perdre la valeur de la preuve en question, ii devient 
necessaire dans l'interet de la justice de se deman­
der si cette preuve devrait neanmoins etre admise 
sous sa forme relatee. Le critere de la fiabilite vise 
a assurer l'integrite du processus judiciaire. Bien 
qu'elle soit necessaire, la preuve n'est pas admissi­
ble, sauf si elle est suffisamment fiable pour ecarter 
Jes dangers que comporte la difficulte de la verifier. 
Comme nous le verrons, deux motifs differents, qui 
ne s'excluent pas mutuellement, pennettent genera­
lement de satisfaire a l'exigence de fiabilite. Dans 
certains cas, ii se peut que, en raison des circons­
tances dans lesquelles la declaration relatee a ete 
faite, le contenu de cette declaration soit si fiable 
qu'il aurait ete peu OU pas utile de COntre-interroger 
le declarant au moment precis ou il s'est exprime. 
Dans d'autres cas, il peut arriver que la preuve ne 
soit pas aussi convaincante, mais les circonstances 
permettront de la verifier suffi.samment autrement 
qu'au moyen d'un contre-interrogatoire effectue au 
moment precis ou elle est presentee. Dans ces cir­
constances, !'admission de la preuve compromet­
tra rarement J'equite du proces. Toutefois, vu que 
l'equite du proces peut englober des facteurs allant 
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probative value is outweighed by its prejudicial 
effect. 

6. The Admissibility Inquiry 

6.1 Distinction Between Threshold and Ultimate 
Reliability: A Source of Confusion 

As stated earlier, the trial judge only decides 
whether hearsay evidence is admissible. Whether 
the hearsay statement will or will not be ultimately 
relied upon in deciding the issues in the case is a 
matter for the trier of fact to determine at the con­
clusion of the trial based on a consideration of the 
statement in the context of the entirety of the evi­
dence. It is important that the trier of fact's domain 
not be encroached upon at the admissibility stage. 
If the trial is before a judge and jury, it is crucial 
that questions of ultimate reliability be left for 
the jury - in a criminal trial , it is constitution­
ally imperative. If the judge sits without a jury, it 
is equally important that he or she not prejudge the 
ultimate reliability of the evidence before having 
heard all of the evidence in the case. Hence, a dis­
tinction must be made between "ultimate reliabil­
ity" and "threshold reliability". Only the latter is 
inquired into on the admissibility voir dire. 

The distinction between threshold and ultimate 
reliability has been made in a number of cases (see, 
for example, B. (K.G.) and R. v. Hawkins, [1996) 
3 S.C.R. 1043), but we are mainly concerned here 
with the elaboration of this principle in Starr. In 
particular, the following excerpt from the Court's 
analysis has been the subject of much of the discus­
sion and commentary (at paras. 215 and 217): 

In this connection, it is important when examin­
ing the reliability of a statement under the principled 
approach to distinguish between threshold and ulti­
mate reliability. Only the former is relevant to admis­
sibility: see Hawkins , supra, at p. 1084. Again, it is 

au-dela de l'examen rigoureux de la necessite et de 
la fiabilite, le juge du proces a le pouvoir discretion­
naire d'exclure la preuve par oui:-dire lorsque son · 
effet prejudiciable l'emporte sur sa valeur probante, 
et ce, meme si Jes deux criteres sont respectes. 

6. L'examen de l'admissibilite 

6.1 La distinction entre seu.il de fiabilite et fia­
bilite en derniere analyse : source de confu­
sion 

Comme nous l'avons vu, le juge du proces decide 
uniquement si la preuve par oui'-dire est admissible. 
II appartient au juge des faits de decider, a l'issue 
du proces, s'il s'en remettra, en fin de compte, a la 
declaration relatee pour trancher les questions en 
litige, apres l'avoir examinee en fonction de !'en­
semble de la preuve. Au stade de l'admissibilite, il 
importe de ne pas empieter sur la competence du 
juge des faits. Si le proces a lieu devant un juge et 
un jury, il est essentiel que les questions de fiabilite 
en derniere analyse soient laissees au jury - dans 
un proces criminel, c'est un imperatif constitution­
nel. Si le juge siege sans jury, ii importe tout autant 
qu'il ne prejuge pas de la fiabilite en derniere ana­
lyse de la preuve avant d'avoir entendu !'ensemble 
de la preuve au dossier. Il faut done etablir une dis­
tinction entre « fiabilite en derniere analyse » et 
« seuil de fiabilite ». Lors d'un voir-dire portant 
sur l'admissibilite, !'examen se limite au seuil de 
fiabilite. 

La distinction entre seuil de fiabilite et fiabilite 
en derniere analyse (ou fiabilite ultime ou absolue) 
a ete etablie dans un certain nombre d'arrets (voir, 
par exemple, B. (K.G.) et R. c. Hawkins, [1996] 3 
R.C.S. 1043). Cependant, nous nous interessons 
surtout en l'espece a !'explication de ce principe 
contenue dans l'arret Starr. Une bonne partie des 
discussions et des commentaires a porte notam­
ment sur l'extrait suivant de !'analyse de la Cour 
(par. 215 et 217) : 

A cet egard, lorsque la fiabilite d'une declaration 
est examinee selon la methode fondee sur des princi­
pes, il importe d'etablir une distinction entre le seuil 
de fiabilite et la fiabilite absolue. Seul le seuil de fia­
bilite est pertinent relativement a l'admissibilite : voir 
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not appropriate in the circumstances of this appeal 
to provide an exhaustive catalogue of the factors that 
may influence threshold reliability. However, our juris­
prudence does provide some guidance on this subject. 
Threshold reliability is concerned not with wheLher the 
statement is true or not; that is a question of ultimate 
reliability. Inslead, it is concerned with whether or not 
the circumstances surrounding the statement itself pro­
vide circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness. This 
could be because the declarant had no motive to lie (see 
Khan, supra; Smith, supra), or because there were safe­
guards in place such that a lie could be discovered (see 
Hawkins, supra; U. (F.J.), supra; B. (K.G.), supra). 

At the stage of hearsay admissibility the trial judge 
should not consider the declarant's general reputation 
for truthfulness, nor any prior or subsequent statements, 
consistent or not. These factors do not concern the cir­
cumstances of the statement itself. Similarly, J would 
not consider the presence of corroborating or conflicting 
evidence. On this point, I agree with the Ontario Court 
of Appeal's deci sion in R. v. C. (B.) (1993), 12 O.R. (3d) 
608; see also Idaho v. Wright, 497 U.S. 805 (1990). In 
summary, under the principled approach a court must 
not invade the province of the trier of fact and condi­
tion admissibility of hearsay on whether the evidence 
is ultimately reliable. However, it will need to exam­
ine whether the circumstances in which the statement 
was made lend sufficient credibility to allow a finding 
of threshold reliability. [Underlining added.] 

The Court's statement that "[t]hreshold reliabil­
ity is concerned not with whether the statement is 
true or not" has created some uncertainty. While 
it is clear that the trial judge does not determine 
whether the statement will ultimately be relied 
upon as true, it is not so clear that in every case 
threshold reliability is not concerned with whether 
the statement is true or not. Indeed, in U. (F.J.), 
the rationale for admitting the complainant's hear­
say statement was based on the fact that "the only 
likely explanation" for its striking similarity with 
the independent statement of the accused was that 
"they were both telling the truth" (para. 40). 

Hawkins, precite, a lap. 1084. La encore, ii ne convient 
pas, dans !es circonstances du present pourvoi, de four­
nir une liste detaillee des facteurs qui peuvent inftuer 
sur le seuil de fiabilite. Toutefois, notre jurisprudence 
est utile dans une certaine mesure a ce sujet. Le seuil 
de fi abilite ne concerne pas la question de savoir si la 
declaration est veridique ou non; c'est une question de 
fiabilite absolue. 11 concerne plutot la question de savoir 
si les circonstances ayant entoure la declaration elle­
meme offrent des garanties circonstancielles de fiabi­
lite. Ces garanties pourraient decouler du fait que le 
declarant n'avait aucune raison de mentir (voir Khan et 
Smith, precites) ou du fait qu'il y avait des mesures de 
protection qui permettaient de deceler les mensonges 
(voir Hawkins, U. (F.J.) et B. ( K.G.), precites). 

A J'etape de l'admissibilite de la preuve par oui:-dire, 
le juge du proces ne devrait pas tenir compte de la repu­
tation generale de sincerite du declarant, ni d'aucune 
declaration anterieure ou ulterieure, compatible ou 
incompatible. Ces facteurs n'ont pas trait aux circonstan­
ces de la declaration el le-meme. De meme, je ne tiendrais 
pas compte de la presence d'une preuve corroborante ou 
contradictoire. Sur ce point, je suis d'accord avec l'arrer 
de la Cour d'appel de !'Ontario R. c. C. (B.) (1993), 12 
O.R. (3d) 608; voir egalement Idaho c. Wright, 497 U.S. 
805 (1990) . En resume, en vertu de la methode fondee Sur 
des pr.incipes, le tribunal ne doit pas empieter sur la com­
petence du juge des faits ni subordonner J'admissibilite de 
la preuve par ou·i-dire a la question de savoir si la preuve 
est absolument fiable. II devra cependant examiner si les 
circonstances ayant entoure la declaration conferent suf­
fisarnment de credibilite pour pouvoir conclure que le 
seuil de fiabilite est atteint. [Je souligne.] 

L'affirmation de la Cour selon laquelle « [l]e 
seuil de fiabilite ne concerne pas la question de 
Savoir Si la declaration est veridique OU non » a Cree 
une certaine incertitude. Meme s'il est evident que 
le juge du proces ne decide pas si la declaration 
sera tenue pour veridique en definitive, il n'est pas 
aussi evident que, dans toute affaire, le seuil de fia­
bilite ne concerne pas la question de savoir si la 
declaration est veridique OU non. En fait, dans l'ar­
ret V. (F.J.), on a justifie l'admission de la decla­
ration relatee de la plaignante par le fait que « la 
seule explication probable » de la similitude frap­
pante entre cette declaration et la declaration faite 
de fac;:on independante par !'accuse etait que « tous 
les deux disaient la verite » (par. 40). 
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Further, it is not easy to discern what is or is not 
a circumstance "surrounding the statement itself". 
For example, in Smith, the fact that the deceased 
may have had a motive to lie was considered by 
the Court in determining threshold admissibility. 
As both Rosenberg J.A. and Blair J.A. point out in 
their respective reasons, "in determining whether 
the declarant had a motive to lie, the judge will nec­
essarily be driven to consider factors outside the 
statement itself or the immediately surrounding 
circumstances" (para. 97). 

Much of the confusion in this area of the law 
has arisen from this attempt to categorically label 
some factors as going only to ultimate reliability. 
The bar against considering "corroborating or con­
flicting evidence", because it is only relevant to the 
question of ultimate reliability, is a further exam­
ple. Quite clearly, the corroborative nature of the 
semen stain in Khan played an important part in 
establishing the threshold reliability of the child's 
hearsay statement in that case. 

This part of the analysis in Starr therefore 
requires clarification and, in some respects, recon­
sideration. I will explain how the relevant fac­
tors to be considered on an admissibility inquiry 
cannot invariably be categorized as relating either 
to threshold or ultimate reliability. Rather, the rel­
evance of any particular factor will depend on 
the particular dangers arising from the hearsay 
nature of the statement and the available means, 
if any, of overcoming them. I will then return to 
the impugned passage in Starr, dealing more spe­
cifically with the question of supporting evidence 
since that reference appears to have raised the most 
controversy. 

6.2 Identifying the Relevant Factors: A Func­
tional Approach 

6.2.l Recognizing Hearsay 

The first matter to determine before embark­
ing on a hearsay admissibility inquiry, of course, 
is whether the proposed evidence is hearsay. This 

De plus, il n'est pas facile de discerner ce qui est 
et ce qui n'est pas une circonstance « ayant entoure 
la declaration elle-meme ». Par exemple, lorsqu'elle 
s'est prononcee sur le seuil d'admissibilite dans l'af­
faire Smith, la Cour a tenu compte du fait que la vic­
time pouvait avoir eu une .raison de mentir. Comme 
l'ont souligne les juges Rosenberg et Blair dans leurs 
motifs respectifs, [TRADUCTTON] « pour decider si 
le cteclarant avait une raison de mentir, le juge sera 
necessairement amene a considerer des facteurs 
exterieurs a la declaration elle-meme ou aux circons­
tances immediates qui l'ont entouree » (par. 97). 

La confusion qui regne dans ce domaine du droit 
tient en grande partie a cette tentative de classer cer­
tains facteurs comme touchant uniquement la fiabi­
lite en derniere analyse. Un autre exemple est !'inter­
diction de tenir compte d'une « preuve corroborante 
ou contradictoire » parce qu'elle n'est pertinente 
qu'en ce qui concerne la question de la fiabilite en 
derniere analyse. De toute evidence, la nature corro­
borante de la tache de sperme, dans l'affaire Khan, a 
joue un role important dans l'etablissement du seuil 
de fiabilite de la declaration relatee de l'enfant. 

Cette partie de ]'analyse de l'arret Starr a done 
besoin d'etre clarifiee et, a certains egards, d'etre 
reconsideree. J'expliquerai comment Jes facteurs a 
considerer lors de ]'examen de l'admissibilite ne peu­
vent pas toujours etre classes com me ayant trait soit 
au seuil de fiabilite, soit a la fiabilite en derniere ana­
lyse. La pertinence d'un facteur dependra plut6t des 
dangers particuliers decoulant du fait que la declara­
tion constitue du ouY-dire, et des moyens possibles, 
s'il en est, de les ecarter. Je reviendrai ensuite au 
passage conteste de l'arret Starr, en m'attardant plus 
precisement a la question de la preuve a l'appui etant 
donne que cette mention parait avoir souleve le plus 
de controverse. 

6.2 Determination des facteurs pertinents : une 
approche fonctionnelle 

6.2.1 Reconnaissance du ouY-dire 

La premiere question a trancher avant de pro­
ceder a l'examen de l'admissibilite d'une preuve 
par ouY-dire est bien sO.r celle de savoir si la preuve 
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may seem to be a rather obvious matter, but it is 
an important first step. Misguided objections to the 
admissibility of an out-of-court statement based on 
a misunderstanding of what constitutes hearsay are 
not uncommon. As discussed earlier, not all out­
of-court statements will constitute hearsay. Recall 
the defining features of hearsay. An out-of-court 
statement will be hearsay when: (1) it is adduced 
to prove the truth of its contents and (2) there is 
no opportunity for a contemporaneous cross­
examination of the declarant. 

Putting one's mind to the defining features of 
hearsay at the outset serves to better focus the 
admissibility inquiry. As we have seen, the first 
identifying feature of hearsay calls for an inquiry 
into the purpose for which it is adduced. Only when 
the evidence is being tendered for its truth will it 
constitute hearsay. The fact that the out-of-court 
statement is adduced for its truth should be consid­
ered in the context of the issues in the case so that 
the court may better assess the potential impact of 
introducing the evidence in its hearsay form. 

Second, by putting one's mind, at the outset, 
to the second defining feature of hearsay - the 
absence of an opportunity for contemporaneous 
cross-examination of the declarant, the admissi­
bility inquiry is immediately focussed on the dan­
gers of admitting hearsay evidence. Iacobucci J. in 
Starr identified the inability to test the evidence as 
the "central concern" underlying the hearsay rule. 
Lamer C.J. in U. (Fl.) expressed the same view but 
put it more directly by stating: "Hearsay is inad­
missible as evidence because its reliability cannot 
be tested" (para. 22). 

6.2.2 Presumptive Inadmissibility of Hearsay 
Evidence 

Once the proposed evidence is identified as hear­
say, it is presumptively inadmissible. I stress the 

proposee constitue du ou1-dire. Cela peut parai­
tre assez evident, mais c'est une premiere etape 
importante. Les objections malencontreuses a l'ad­
missibilite d'une declaration extrajudiciaire, qui 
tiennent a une meprise sur ce qui constitue du OUI­

dire, ne sont pas rares. Comme nous l'avons vu, 
les declarations extrajudiciaires ne constituent pas 
toutes du ou1-dire. Rappelons-nous Jes caracteris­
tiques determinantes du ou'i-dire. Une declaration 
extrajudiciaire constituera du ou1-dire, premiere­
ment, si elle est presentee pour etablir la veracite 
de son contenu et, deuxiemement, s'il y a impossi­
bilite de contre-interroger le declarant au moment 
precis ou il fait cette declaration. 

S'arreter au depart aux caracteristiques deter­
minantes du ou'i-dire permet de mieux orienter 
l'examen de l'admissibilite. Comme nous l'avons 
vu, la premiere caracteristique particuliere du ou:i­
dire oblige a examiner le but dans Iequel la preuve 
est presentee. Ce n'est que si elle est presentee pour 
etablir Ia veracite de son contenu que la preuve 
constitue du ou1-dire. Le fait que la declaration 
extrajudiciaire soit presentee pour etablir la vera­
cite de son contenu devrait etre examine dans le 
contexte des questions en litige afin que le tribunal 
soit mieux en mesure d'evaluer l'effet potentiel de 
la presentation de cette preuve relatee. 

Deuxiemement, si on s'arrete au depart a la 
seconde caracteristique determinante du ou1-dire, 
soit l'impossibilite de contre-interroger le declarant 
au moment precis ou il fait sa declaration, !'exa­
men de l'admissibilite porte aussitot sur les dan­
gers d'admettre la preuve par ou:i-dire. Dans l'arret 
Starr, le juge Iacobucci a decrit l'impossibilite de 
verifier la preuve comme etant la « preoccupation 
majeure » qui sous-tend la regle du ou1-dire. Dans 
l'arret U. (Fl.), le juge en chef Lamer a exprime le 
meme point de vue, mais plus directement en ces 
termes : « Le ou1-dire n'est pas admissible comme 
preuve parce que sa fiabilite ne peut etre verifiee » 
(par. 22). 

6.2.2 La presomption d'inadmissibilite de la 
preuve par ou1-dire 

Des que la preuve proposee est designee 
comme etant du ou:i-dire, elle est presumee 
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nature of the hearsay rule as a general exclusionary 
rule because the increased flexibility introduced in 
the Canadian law of evidence in the past few dec­
ades has sometimes tended to blur the distinction 
between admissibility and weight. Modifications 
have been made to a number of rules, including the 
rule against hearsay, to bring them up to date and 
to ensure that they facilitate rather than impede the 
goals of truth seeking, judicial efficiency and fair­
ness in the adversarial process. However, the tradi­
tional rules of evidence reflect considerable wisdom 
and judicial experience. The modern approach has 
built upon their underlying rationale, not discarded 
it. In Starr itself, where this Court recognized the 
primacy of the principled approach to hearsay 
exceptions, the presumptive exclusion of hearsay 
evidence was reaffirmed in strong terms. Iacobucci 
J. stated as follows (at para. 199): 

By excluding evidence that might produce unfair ver­
dicts, and by ensuring that lirigants will generally have 
the opportunity to confront adverse witnesses, the 
hearsay rule serves as a cornerstone of a fair justice 
system. 

6.2.3 Traditional Exceptions 

The Court in Starr also reaffirmed the continuing 
relevance of the traditional exceptions to the hear­
say rule. More recently, this Court in Mapara reit­
erated the continued application of the traditional 
exceptions in setting out the governing analytical 
framework, as noted in para. 42 above. Therefore, 
if the trial judge determines that the evidence falls 
within one of the traditional common law excep­
tions, this finding is conclusive and the evidence is 
ruled admissible, unless, in a rare case, the excep­
tion itself is challenged as described in both those 
decisions. 

6.2.4 Principled Approach: Overcoming the 
Hearsay Dangers 

Since the central underlying concern is the ina­
bility to test hearsay evidence, it follows that under 

inadmissible. J'insiste sur le fait que la regle du 
oul-dire est par nature une regle d'exclusion gene­
rale, car l'assouplissement accru du droit canadien 
de la preuve au cours des dernieres decennies a 
parfois eu tendance a estomper la distinction entre 
admissibilite et valeur probante. Des modifications 
ont ete apportees a un certain nombre de regles 
- dont la regle interdisant le ou1-dire - afin de 
Jes mettre a jour et d'assurer qu'elles favorisent la 
realisation des objectifs de recherche de la verite, 
d'efficacite du systeme judiciaire et d'equite du pro­
cessus accusatoire, au lieu de l'entraver. Toutefois, 
les regles de preu ve traditionnelles temoignent 
d'une sagesse et d' une experience judiciaire consi­
derables. L'approche moderne a consolide, et non 
ecarte, leur raison d'etre fondamentale. Dans l'ar­
ret Starr lui-meme, ou notre Cour a reconnu la 
primaute de la methode d'analyse raisonnee des 
exceptions a la regle du ou'i-dire, la presomption 
d'exclusion de la preuve par Olli-dire a ete reaffir­
mee de maniere non equivoque. Le juge Iacobucci 
s'est ainsi exprime (par. 199) : 

En ecartant Jes elements de preuve susceptibles de 
donner lieu a des verdicts inequitables et en assurant 
que Jes parties aient generalement la possibilite de 
confronter des ternoins opposes, la regle du oul-dire est 
une pierre angulaire d'un systeme de justice equitable. 

6.2.3 Les exceptions traditionnelles 

Dans l'arret Stan; la Cour a aussi reaffirme que 
les exceptions traditionnelles a la regle du oui:-dire 
sont toujours pertinentes. Plus recemment, dans 
l'arret Mapara, notre Cour a confirme le main­
tien des exceptions traditionnelles en etablissant le 
cadre d'analyse applicable, expose plus haut au par. 
42. Par consequent, si le juge du proces conclut que 
la preuve releve de l'une des exceptions de common 
law traditionnelles, cette conclusion est definitive et 
la preuve est ju gee admissible sauf si, dans de rares 
cas, !'exception elle-merne est contestee, collline le 
precisent ces deux arrets . 

6.2.4 La methode d'analyse raisonnee: ecarter 
les dangers du oui:-dire 

Etant donne que la preoccupation majeure sous­
jacente est l'impossibilite de verifier la preuve par 
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the principled approach the reliability requirement 
is aimed at identifying those cases where this dif­
ficulty is sufficiently overcome to justify receiving 
the evidence as an exception to the general exclu­
sionary rule. As some courts and commentators 
have expressly noted, the reliabi lity requirement is 
usually met in two different ways: see, for exam­
ple, R. v. Wilcox (2001), 152 C.C.C. (3d) 157, 2001 
NSCA 45; R. v. Czibulka (2004), 189 C.C.C. (3d) 
199 (Ont. C.A.); D. M. Paciocco, "The Hearsay 
Exceptions: A Game of 'Rock, Paper, Scissors'", 
in Special Lectures of the Law Society of Upper 
Canada 2003: The Law of Evidence (2004), 17, at 
p. 29. 

One way is to show that there is no real concern 
about whether the statement is true or not because 
of the circumstances in which it came about. 
Common sense dictates that if we can put sufficient 
trust in the truth and accuracy of the statement, 
it should be considered by the fact finder regard­
less of its hearsay form. Wigmore explained it this 
way: 

There are many situations in which it can be easily 
seen that such a required test [i.e., cross-examination] 
would add little as a security, because its purposes had 
been already substantially accomplished. If a statement 
has been made under such circumstances that even a 
sceptical caution would look upon it as trustworthy (in 
the ordinary instance), in a high degree of probability, it 
would be pedantic to insist on a test whose chief object 
is already secured. [§ 1420, p. 154] 

Another way of fulfilling the reliability require­
ment is to show that no real concern arises from the 
fact that the statement is presented in hearsay form 
because, in the circumstances, its truth and accu­
racy can nonetheless be sufficiently tested . Recall 
that the optimal way of testing evidence adopted by 
our adversarial system is to have the declarant state 
the evidence in court, under oath, and under the 
scrutiny of contemporaneous cross-examination. 
This preferred method is not just a vestige of past 
traditions. It remains a tried and true method, par­
ticularly when credibility issues must be resolved. 
It is one thing for a person to make a damaging 

ou1-dire, il s'ensuit que, selon la methode d'ana­
lyse raisonnee, !'exigence de fiabilite vise a deter­
miner les cas ou cette difficulte est suffisamment 
surmontee pour justifier !'admission de la preuve 
a titre d'exception a la regle d'exclusion generate. 
Comme certains tribunaux et commentateurs ont 
pris soin de le souligner, il y a deux manieres de 
satisfaire a !'exigence de fiabilite : voir, par exem­
ple, R. c. Wilcox (2001), 152 C.C.C. (3d) 157, 2001 
NSCA 45; R. c. Czibulka (2004), 189 C.C.C. (3d) 
199 (C.A. Ont.); D. M. Paciocco, « The Hearsay 
Exceptions : A Game of "Rock, Paper, Scissors" », 

dans Special Lectures of the Law Society of Upp er 
Canada 2003: The Law of Evidence (2004), 17, 
p. 29. 

Une maniere consiste a demonter qu'il n'y a pas 
de preoccupation reelle quant au caractere veridi­
que ou non de la declaration, vu les circonstances 
dans lesquelles elle a ete faite. Le bon sens veut 
que, si on peut avoir suffisamment confiance en 
la veracite et !'exactitude de la declaration, le juge 
des faits devrait en tenir compte independamment 
du fait qu'elle est relatee. A cet egard, Wigmore a 
donne !'explication suivante : 

[TRADUCTION] Dans de nombreux cas, on peut faci­
lement voir qu'une telle epreuve requise [c'est-a-dire 
le contre-interrogatoire] ajouterait peu comme garan­
tie parce que ses objets ont en grande partie deja ete 
atteints. Si une declaration a ete faite dans des circons­
tances ou meme un sceptique prudent la considererait 
comme tres probablement fiable (en temps normal), il 
serait trop pointilleux d'insister sur une epreuve dont 
l'objet principal est deja atteint. [§ 1420, p. 154] 

Une autre maniere de satisfaire a !'exigence 
de fiabilite consiste a demontrer que le fait que la 
declaration soit relatee ne suscite aucune preoc­
cupation reelle etant donne que, dans les circons­
tances, sa veracite et son exactitude peuvent nean­
moins etre suffisamment verifiees. Rappelons-nous 
que, dans notre systeme accusatoire, la meilleure 
fac;:on de verifier la preuve est de faire temoigner 
le declarant sous serment devant le tribunal, tout 
en lui faisant subir un contre-interrogatoire minu­
tieux. Cette methode privilegiee n'est pas seule­
ment un vestige de traditions passees. Elle demeure 
une methode eprouvee et fiable, particulierement 
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statement about another in a context where it may 
not really matter. It is quite another for that person 
to repeat the statement in the course of formal 
proceedings where he or she must commit to its 
truth and accuracy, be observed and heard, and be 
called upon to explain or defend it. The latter situ­
ation, in addition to providing an accurate record 
of what was actually said by the witness, gives 
us a much higher degree of comfort in the state­
ment's trustworthiness. However, in some cases it 
is not possible to put the evidence to the optimal 
test, but the circumstances are such that the trier of 
fact will nonetheless be able to sufficiently test its 
truth and accuracy. Again, common sense tells us 
that we should not lose the benefit of the evidence 
when there are adequate substitutes for testing the 
evidence. 

These two principal ways of satisfying the reli­
ability requirement can also be discerned in respect 
of the traditional exceptions to the hearsay rule. 
Iacobucci J. notes this distinction in Starr, stating 
as follows: 

For example, testimony in former proceedings is admit­
ted, at least in part, because many of the traditional 
dangers associated with hearsay are not present. As 
pointed out in Sopinka, Lederman and Bryant, supra, 
at pp. 278-79: 

... a statement which was earlier made under oath, 
subjected to cross-examination and admitted as tes­
timony at a former proceeding is received in a subse­
quent trial because the dangers underlying hearsay 
evidence are absent. 

Other exceptions are based not on negating traditional 
hearsay dangers, but on the fact that the statement pro­
vides circumstantial guarantees of reliability. This 
approach is embodied in recognized exceptions such as 
dying declarations, spontaneous utterances, and state­
ments against pecuniary interest. [Emphasis added by 
Iacobucci J. ; para. 212.] 

Some of the traditional exceptions stand on a 
different footing, such as admissions from parties 

lorsqu'il faut resoudre des questions de credibilite. 
C'est une chose de faire une declaration prejudiciable 
a propos d'autrui dans un contexte OU il se peut que 
cette declaration n'ait pas vraiment d'importance; 
c'est une toute autre chose que le declarant repete 
sa declaration dans le cadre de procedures formel­
les ou il doit en garantir la veracite et !'exactitude, 
etre observe et entendu, et etre appele a l'expliquer 
OU a la defendre. Cette derniere situation, en plus de 
fournir un compte rendu exact de ce qu'a reellement 
dit le temoin, nous rassure beaucoup plus quant a la 
fiabilite de la declaration. Toutefois, dans certains 
cas, il n'est pas possible de verifier la preuve de la 
meilleure fac;on, mais Jes circonstances sont telles 
que le juge des faits sera neanmoins en mesure d'en 
verifier suffisamment la veracite et !'exactitude. La 
encore, le bon sens nous indique qu'il ne faudrait 
pas perdre l'avantage de cette preuve lorsqu'il existe 
d'autres fac;ons adequates de la verifier. 

II est egalement possible de distinguer ces deux 
principales fac;ons de satisfaire a !'exigence de fia­
bilite dans le cas des exceptions traditionnelles a la 
regle du ou'i-dire. Le juge Iacobucci note ainsi cette 
distinction dans l'arret Starr : 

Par exernple, le temoignage fait dans le cadre d'une ins­
tance anterieure est admis, du moins en partie, parce 
que bien des dangers qui se rattachent traditionnelle­
ment a la preuve par oul-dire ne se posent pas. Comme 
ii a ete souligne dans Sopinka, Lederman et Bryant, op. 
cit., aux pp. 278 et 279 : 

[TRADUCTTON] ... une declaration qui a ete faite 
anterieurement sous la foi du serment, qui a fait 
l'objet d'un contre-interrogatoire et qui a ere admise 
en tant que preuve testimoniale lors d'une instance 
anterieure est admise lors d'un proces ulterieur 
parce que les dangers que com.porte la preu.ve par 
oui'-dire ne se posent pas. 

D'autres exceptions soot fondees non pas sur la suppres­
sion des dangers traditionnels de la preuve par oul-dire, 
mais sur le fait que la declaration offre des garanties 
circonstancielles de fiabilite. Cette mechode se retrouve 
dans des exceptions reconnues comme les declarations 
de mouraots, Jes declarations spontanees et !es declara­
tions au detriment des interets financiers de leur auteur. 
[Souligne par le juge Iacobucci; par. 212.] 

Certaines exceptions traditionnelles ont 
une assise differente, tels les aveux de parties 
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(confessions in the criminal context) and co­
conspirators' statements: see Mapara, at para. 21. 
In those cases, concerns about reliability are based 
on considerations other than the party's inability to 
test the accuracy of his or her own statement or that 
of his or her co-conspirators. Hence, the criteria for 
admissibility are not established in the same way. 
However, in cases where the exclusionary rule is 
based on the usual hearsay dangers, this distinction 
between the two principal ways of satisfying the 
reliability requirement, although not by any means 
one that creates mutually exclusive categories, may 
assist in identifying what factors need to be consid­
ered on the admissibility inquiry. 

Khan is an example where the reliability require­
ment was met because the circumstances in which 
the statement came about provided sufficient com­
fort in its truth and accuracy. Similarly in Smith, 
the focus of the admissibility inquiry was also on 
those circumstances that tended to show that the 
statement was true. On the other hand, the admis­
sibility of the hearsay statement in B. (K.G.) and 
Hawkins was based on the presence of adequate 
substitutes for testing the evidence. As we shall 
see, the availability of the declarant for cross­
examination goes a long way to satisfying the 
requirement for adequate substitutes. In U. (F.J.), 
the Court considered both those circumstances 
tending to show that the statement was true and 
the presence of adequate substitutes for testing the 
evidence. U. (F.J.) underscores the heightened con­
cern over reliability in the case of prior inconsist­
ent statements where the trier of fact is invited to 
accept an out-of-court statement over the sworn 
testimony from the same declarant. I will briefly 
review how the analysis of the Court in each of 
those cases was focussed on overcoming the par­
ticular hearsay dangers raised by the evidence. 

6.2.4.1 R. v. Khan, [1990] 2 S.C.R. 531 

As stated earlier, Khan is an example where 
the reliability requirement was met because the 
circumstances in which the statement came about 

(confessions en matiere criminelle) et les declara­
tions de coconspirateurs : voir l'arret Mapara, par. 
21. Dans ces cas, les preoccupations relatives a la 
fiabilite tiennent a des considerations autres que l'in­
capacite de la partie en question de verifier l'exac­
titude de sa propre declaration ou de celles de ses 
coconspirateurs. Partant, Jes criteres d'admissibi­
lite ne sont pas etablis de la meme fa9on. Toutefois, 
dans Jes cas OU la regle d'exclusion repose sur les 
dangers habituels du oui-dire, la distinction entre 
les deux principales fa9ons de satisfaire a l'exigence 
de fiabilite - bien qu'elle ne cree aucunement des 
categories mutuellement exclusives - peut aider a 
reconnai'tre les facteurs a considerer pour determi­
ner l'admissibilite. 

L'affaire Khan est un exemple oi:1 !'exigence de 
fiabilite etait remplie parce que les circonstances 
dans lesquelles la declaration avait ete faite etaient 
suffisamment rassurantes quant a sa veracite et 
a son exactitude. De rneme, dans l'affaire Smith, 
l'examen de l'admissibilite etait aussi axe Sur les 
circonstances qui tendaient a demontrer la vera­
cite de la declaration. Par contre, dans les affaires 
B. (K.G.) et Hawkins, l'admissibilite de la declara­
tion relatee reposait sur !'existence d'autres moyens 
adequats de verifier la preuve. Comme nous le ver­
rons, la possibilite de contre-interroger le declarant 
permet dans une large mesure de satisfaire a l'exi­
gence de substituts adequats. Dans l'arret U. (F.J.), 
la Cour a pris en consideration tant Jes circonstan­
ces tendant a demontrer la veracite de la declara­
tion que l'existence d'autres rnoyens adequats de 
verifier la preuve. L'arret U. (F.J.) souligne que la 
preoccupation relative a la fiabilite augmente dans 
le cas de declarations anterieures incompatibles, oil 
le juge des faits est invite a retenir une declaration 
extrajudiciaire au lieu du temoignage sous serment 
du meme declarant. J'examinerai brievement com­
ment, dans chacune de ces affaires, l'analyse de la 
Cour etait axee sur la possibilite d'ecarter Jes dan­
gers particuliers du oui-dire souleves par la preuve. 

6.2.4.l R. c. Khan, [1990] 2 R.C. S. 531 

Comme je l'ai deja dit, l'arret Khan est un exem­
ple OU l'exigence de fiabilite etait remplie parce que 
les circonstances dans lesquelles la declaration avai[ 
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provided sufficient comfort in its truth and accu­
racy. The facts are well known. Khan involved a 
sexual assault on a very young child by her doctor. 
The child was incompetent to testify. The child's 
statements to her mother about the incident were 
inadmissible under any of the traditional hearsay 
exceptions. However, the child's statement had 
several characteristics that suggested the state­
ment was true. Those characteristics answered 
many of the concerns that one would expect would 
be inquired into in testing the evidence, had it 
been available for presentation in open court in 
the usual way. McLachlin J., in the following oft­
quoted statement, summarized them in this way: 

I conclude that the mother's statement in the case 
at bar should have been received. It was necessary, the 
child's viva voce evidence having been rejected. It was 
also reliable. The child had no motive to falsify her 
story, which emerged oaturally and without prompting. 
Moreover, the fact that she cou Id not be expected to have 
knowledge of such sexual acts imbues her statement 
with its own peculiar stamp of reliability. Finally, her 
statement was corroborated by real evidence. [p. 548] 

The facts also revealed that the statement was made 
almost immediately after the event. That feature 
removed any concern about inaccurate memory. 
The fact that the child had no reason to lie alleviated 
the concern about sincerity. Because the statement 
was made naturally and without prompting, there 
was no real danger that it came about because of 
the mother's influence. Most importantly, as stated 
in the above excerpt, the event described was one 
that would ordinarily be outside the experience of 
a child of her age giving it a "peculiar stamp of 
reliability". Finally, the statement was confirmed 
by a semen stain on the child's clothing. These 
characteristics each went to the truth and accuracy 
of the statement and, taken together, amply justi­
fied its admission. The criterion of reliability was 
met. There is nothing controversial about the fac­
tors considered in Khan, except for the supportive 
evidence of the semen stain. I will come back to 
that point later. 

ete faite etaient suffisamment rassurantes quant a 
sa veracite et a son exactitude. Les faits sont bien 
connus. 11 y etait question d'une agression sexuelle 
commise par un medecin sur une tres jeune enfant. 
L'enfant etait inhabile a temoigner. Les declarations 
que l'enfant avait faites a sa mere au sujet de !'episode 
n'etaient pas admissibles en application des excep­
tions traditionnelles a la regle du oui'-dire. Toutefois, 
la declaration de l'enfant presentait plusieurs carac­
teristiques qui donnaient a penser que la declaration 
etait veridique. Ces caracteristiques repondaient a 
de nombreuses preoccupations qui auraient ete cen­
sees etre examinees a l'faape de la verification de la 
preuve si celle-ci avait pu etre presentee en cour de 
la fac;on habituelle. La juge McLachlin les a ainsi 
resumees dans un enonce souvent cite : 

Je conclus qu'en l'espece la declaration de la mere 
aurait dfi etre reyue en preuve. Elle etait necessaire 
puisque le temoignage de vive voix de l'enfant avait 
ete rejete. Elle etait egalement fiable. L'enfant n'avait 
aucune raison d'inventer son histoire gu'elle a racontee 
naturellernent sans etre incitee a le faire . En outre, le fa it 
qu'on ne pouvait s'attendre a ce que l'enfant connaisse 
ce genre d'acte sexuel confere a sa declaration une fia­
bilite toute particuliere. Enfi.n, sa declaration a ere cor­
roboree par une preuve rnateri elle. [p. 548] 

Les faits revelaient aussi que la declaration avait 
suivi presque immediatement les faits reproches. 
Cette caracteristique ecartait toute crainte de souve­
nir inexact. Le fa it que l'enfant n'avait aucune raison 
de mentir attenuait la preoccupation relative a la 
sincerite. Puisque la declaration avait ete faite natu­
rellement et sans avoir ete provoquee, il n'y avait 
pas de veritable danger qu'elle ait ete faite sous !'in­
fluence de la mere. Qui plus est, comme l'indique 
la citation precedente, les faits decrits depassaient 
!'experience normale d'une enfant de son age, ce qui 
conferait a la declaration une « fiabilite toute parti­
cu liere ». Entin, la declaration etait confirmee par la 
presence d'une tache de sperme sur les vetements de 
l'enfant. Chacune de ces caracteristiques touchait la 
veracite et !'exactitude de la declaration et, ensem­
ble, elles justifiaient amplement son admission. Le 
critere de fiabilite etait rempli. A !'exception de la 
preuve a l'appui constituee de la tache de sperme, 
les facteurs consideres dans l'affaire Khan n'avaient 
rien de controverse. Je reviendrai plus loin sur cette 
question. 
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6.2.4.2 R. v. Smith, [1992] 2 S.C.R. 915 

In Smith, this Court's inquiry into the circum­
stantial guarantees of reliability was also focussed 
on those circumstances that tended to show that the 
statement was true. 

Smith was charged with the murder of K. The 
Crown's evidence included the testimony of K's 
mother about four telephone calls K made to her 
on the night of the murder. Defence counsel did 
not object to this evidence. Smith was convicted at 
trial. The Court of Appeal allowed the appeal and 
ordered a new trial on the ground that the phone 
calls were hearsay, and only the first two were 
admissible for the purpose of establishing K's state 
of mind. In refusing to apply the curative proviso, 
the Court of Appeal found that the hearsay had 
been used to place Smith with K at the time of her 
death, thereby "buttressing certain identification 
evidence of questionable reliability" (pp. 922-23). 
The Crown appealed to this Court. 

After ruling that the state of mind, or "present 
intentions" exception did not apply to the phone 
calls, Lamer C.J. went on to elaborate on and then 
apply the approach outlined in Khan. After quot­
ing extensively from Wigmore on the underlying 
rationale for the hearsay rule and its exceptions, he 
elaborated on the reliability prong of the principled 
analysis and stated as follows (at p. 933): 

If a statement sought to be adduced by way of hear­
say evidence is made under circumstances which sub­
stantially negate the possibility that the declarant was 
untruthful or mistaken, the hearsay evidence may be 
said to be "reliable", i.e., a circumstantial guarantee of 
trustworthiness is established. [Emphasis added.] 

In determining whether the phone calls were reli­
able, Lamer C.J. held that the first two were, but the 
third was not (the fourth was not in issue on appeal 
to this Court). With respect to the first two, there 
was no reason to doubt K's veracity - "[s]he had no 
known reason to lie" - and the traditional dangers 
associated with hearsay - perception, memory and 

6.2.4.2 R. c. Smith, [1992] 2 R.C.S. 915 

Dans l'arret Smith, l'examen des garanties cir­
constancielles de fiabilite effectue par notre Cour 
etait axe egalement sur les circonstances tendant a 
demontrer la veracite de la declaration. 

M. Smith etait accuse du meurtre de K. La preuve 
du ministere public incluait le temoignage de la 
mere de K au sujet de quatre appels telephoniques 
que K lui avait faits la nuit du meurtre. L'avocat de 
la defense ne s'est pas oppose a la presentation de 
cette preuve. M. Smith a ete declare coupable en 
premiere instance. La Cour d'appel a accueilli l'ap­
pel et ordonne la tenue d'un nouveau proces pour 
le motif que les appels telephoniques constituaient 
du ou:i-dire et que seuls les deux premiers appels 
etaient admissibles pour etablir l'etat d'esprit de K. 
En refusant d'appliquer la disposition reparatrice, 
la Cour d'appel a conclu que le ou:i-dire avait servi 
a etablir que K etait avec M. Smith au moment de 
son deces, ce qui avait eu pour effet « de renforcer 
une certaine preuve d'identification d'une fiabilite 
douteuse » (p. 922-923). Le ministere pub1 ic s'est 
pourvu devant notre Cour. 

Apres avoir decide que !'exception de l'etat d'es­
prit ou des « intentions existantes » ne s'appli­
quait pas aux appels telephoniques, le juge en chef 
Lamer a explicite puis applique la methode expo­
see dans l'arret Khan. Apres avoir cite longuement 
Wigmore au sujet de la raison d'etre de la regle du 
ou:i-dire et de ses exceptions, ii s'est attarde au volet 
« fiabilite)) de la methode d'analyse raisonnee et a 
declare ce qui suit (p. 933) : 

Si une declaration qu'on veut presenter par voie de 
preuve par oui-dire a ete faite dans des circonstan­
ces qui ecartent considerablement la possibilite que le 
declarant ait menti ou comrnis une erreur, on peut dire 
que la preuve est « fiable », c'est-a-dire qu'il y a une 
garantie circonstancielle de fiabilite. [Je souligne.] 

Au sujet de la fiabilite des appels telephoniques, 
le juge en chef Lamer a decide que les deux pre­
miers appels etaient fiables , mais que le troisieme ne 
l'etait pas (le quatrieme n'etant pas en cause devant 
notre Cour). Dans le cas des deux premiers appels, ii 
n'y avait aucune raison de douter de la veracite des 
propos de K - « [ e]lle n'avait aucune raison connue 
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credibility - "were not present to any significant 
degree" (p. 935). As we can see, the Court looked 
at factors that would likely have been inquired 
into during the course of cross-examination if the 
declarant had been available to testify and found 
that these usual concerns were largely alleviated 
because of the way in which the statements came 
about. Hence, the Court concluded that the absence 
of the ability to cross-examine K should go to the 
weight given to this evidence, not its admissibility. 

With respect to the third phone call, however, 
Lamer C.J. held that " the conditions under which 
the statement was made do not . . . provide that 
circumstantial guarantee of trustworthiness that 
would justify its admission without the possibility 
of cross-examination" (p. 935). First, he held that 
she may have been mistaken about Smith return­
ing to the hotel, or about his purpose in returning 
(p. 936). Second, he held that she might have lied 
to prevent her mother from sending another man to 
pick her up. With respect to this second possibility, 
Lamer C.J. held that the fact that K had been trav­
elling under an assumed name with a credit card 
which she knew was either stolen or forged demon­
strated that she was "at least capable of deceit" (p. 
936). Again, the Court looked at factors that would 
likely have been inquired into during the course of 
cross-examination if the declarant had been avail­
able to testify and concluded that these "hypoth­
eses" showed that the circumstances of the state­
ment were not such as to "justify the admission 
of its contents" since it was impossible to say that 
the evidence was unlikely to change under cross­
examination (p. 937). It is important to note that 
the Court did not go on to determine whether, on its 
view of the evidence, the declarant was mistaken or 
whether she had lied - those would be matters for 
the ultimate trier of fact to decide. On the admis­
sibility inquiry, it sufficed that the circumstances 
in which the statement was made gave rise to these 
issues to bar its admission. 

de mentir » - et les dangers traditionnellement 
associes au ou1-dire, a savoir les problemes de per­
ception, de memoire et de credibilite, « etaient dans 
une large mesure inexistants » (p. 935). Comme 
nous pouvons le constater, la Cour a pris en conside­
ration des facteurs qui auraient vraisemblablement 
ete examines en contre-interrogatoire si la decla­
rante avait ete disponible pour temoigner, et a conclu 
que ces preoccupations habituelles etaient grande­
ment attenuees en raison de la fac;:on dont les decla­
rations avaient ete faites. La Cour a done conclu que 
l'incapacite de contre-interroger K devait influer 
sur le poids accorde a cette preuve et non sur son 
admissibilite. 

Toutefois, en ce qui a trait au troisieme appel tele­
phonique, le juge en chef Lamer a statue que « les 
conditions dans lesquelles la declaration a ete faite 
ne fournissent pas la garantie circonstancielle de fia­
bilite qui justifierait son admission sans possibilite 
de contre-interroger » (p. 935). Premierement, il a 
conclu que K a pu se tramper quant au retour de M. 
Smith a !'hotel OU quant a la raison de son retour 
(p. 936). Deuxiemement, il a decide qu'elle pou­
vait avoir menti pour empecher sa mere d'envoyer 
un autre homme la chercher. Quant a cette seconde 
possibilite, le juge en chef Lamer a estime que le fait 
que K voyageait sous un nom d'emprunt en utilisant 
une carte de credit qu'elle savait volee ou contrefaite 
demontrait qu 'elle etait «a tout le moins capable 
de tramper » (p. 936). La encore, la Cour a pris en 
consideration des facteurs qui auraient vraisembla­
blement ete examines en contre-interrogatoire si la 
declarante avait ere disponible pour temoigner, et a 
conclu que ces « hypotheses » demontraient que les 
circonstances dans lesquelles la declaration avait ete 
faite n'etaient pas de nature a « justifie[r] !'admission 
de son contenu » puisqu'il etait impossible de dire 
que cette preuve ne serait pas susceptible de changer 
lors d'un contre-interrogatoire (p. 937). 11 importe 
de noter que la Cour n'a pas ensuite decide si, selon 
sa perception de la preuve, la declarante etait dans 
l'erreur ou avait menti - ce sont la des questions qui 
devaient etre tranchees en fin de compte par le juge 
des faits. Lors de l'examen de l'admissibilite, il suf­
fisait que les circonstances dans lesquelles la decla­
ration avait ete faite aient souleve ces questions pour 
en empecher !'admission. 
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6.2.4.3 R. v. B. (K.G.), [1993} 1 S.C.R. 740 

B. (K.G.) provides an example where threshold 
reliability was essentially based on the presence of 
adequate substitutes for the traditional safeguards 
relied upon to test the evidence. 

The issueinB. (K.G.) was the substantive admis­
sibility of prior inconsistent statements made by 
three of B's friends , in which they told the police 
that B was responsible for stabbing and killing the 
victim in the course of a fight. The three recanted 
their statements at trial. (They subsequently plead 
guilty to perjury.) The Crown sought to admit the 
prior statements to police for the truth of their con­
tents. Although the trial judge had no doubt the 
recantations were false, he followed the traditional 
common Jaw ("orthodox") rule that the statements 
could be used only to impeach the witnesses. In 
light of the doubtfulness of the other identification 
evidence, the trial judge acquitted B. 

The issue before this Court was whether the 
orthodox rule in respect of prior inconsistent 
statements should be maintained. Jn reviewing its 
history, Lamer C.J. noted that, although the pro­
hibition on hearsay was not always recognized as 
the basis for the rule, similar "dangers" were cited 
as reasons against admission, namely absence of 
an oath or affirmation, inability of the trier of 
fact to assess demeanour, and lack of contempo­
raneous cross-examination (pp. 763-64 ). After 
reviewing the academic criticism, the views of 
law reform commissioners, legislative changes in 
Canada and elsewhere, and developments in the 
law of hearsay, Lamer C.J. concluded that it was 
the province and duty of the Court to formulate a 
new rule (p. 777). He held that "evidence of prior 
inconsistent statements of a witness other than an 
accused should be substantively admissible on a 
principled basis , following this Court's decisions 
in Khan and Smith" with the requirements of reli­
ability and necessity "adapted and refined in this 

6.2.4.3 R. c. B. (K.G.), [1993} 1 R.C.S. 740 

L'arret B. (K.G.) est un exemple ou le seuil de 
fiabilite reposait essentiellement sur !'existence de 
substituts adequats aux garanties traditionnelles 
invoquees pour verifier la preuve. 

La question litigieuse dans l'arret B. (K.G.) por­
tait sur l'admissibilite quant au fond de declara­
tions anterieures incompatibles de trois amis de B, 
dans lesquelles ceux-ci avaient dit a la police que 
B avait poignarcte a mort la victime au cours d'une 
bagarre. Les trois sont revenus sur leurs declara­
tions au proces. (Ils ont, par la suite, plaide cou­
pable a des accusations de pa1jure.) Le ministere 
public sollicitait !'admission des declarations ante­
rieures faites a la police pour etablir la veracite de 
leur contenu. Bien qu'il n'ait aucunement doute 
de la faussete des retractations, le juge du proces 
a suivi la regle de common law traditionnelle 
(« orthodoxe ») selon laquelle les declarations ne 
pouvaient servir qu'a attaquer la credibilite des 
temoins. Vu le caractere douteux des autres ele­
ments de preuve d'identification, le juge du proces 
a acquitte B. 

La question soumise a notre Cour etait de savoir 
s'il y avait lieu de maintenir l'application de la regle 
orthodoxe a l'egard des declarations anterieures 
incompatibles. En faisant l'historique, le juge en 
chef Lamer a constate que, bien que !'interdiction 
du oui:-dire n'ait pas toujours ete reconnue comme 
etant le fondement de la regle, des « dangers » sem­
blables avaient ete evoques pour interdire !'admis­
sion d'une declaration, a savoir l'absence de serment 
ou d'affirmation solennelle, l'incapacite du juge des 
faits d'apprecier le comportement et !'absence de 
contre-interrogatoire au moment precis ou la decla­
ration avait ete faite (p. 763-764). Apres avoir exa­
mine les critiques d'auteurs de doctrine, les opi­
nions de membres de commissions de reforme du 
droit, les changements apportes par le legislateur au 
Canada et ailleurs, ainsi que l'evolution de la regle 
du oui:-dire, le juge en chef Lamer a conclu qu'il 
etait du ressort et du devoir de la Cour de formu­
ler une nouvelle regle (p. 777). Il a estime que « la 
preuve des declarations anterieures incompatibles 
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particular context, given the particular problems 
raised by the nature of such statements" (p. 783). 

The most important contextual factor in 
B. (K.G.) is the availability of the declarant. Unlike 
the situation in Khan or Smith, the trier of fact is 
in a much better position to assess the reliability of 
the evidence because the declarant is available to 
be cross-examined on his or her prior inconsistent 
statement. The admissibility inquiry into threshold 
reliability, therefore, is not so focussed on the ques­
tion whether there is reason to believe the state­
ment is true, as it is on the question whether the 
trier of fact will be in a position to rationally evalu­
ate the evidence. The search is for adequate substi­
tutes for the process that would have been available 
had the evidence been presented in the usual way, 
namely through the witness, under oath or affirma­
tion, and subject to the scrutiny of contemporane­
ous cross-examination. 

Since the declarant testifies in court, under 
oath or affirmation, and is available for cross­
examination, the question becomes why there is 
any remaining concern over the reliability of the 
prior statement. As I have indicated earlier, neces­
sity and reliability should not be considered in 
isolation. One criterion may have an impact on 
the other. The situation in B. (K.G.) is one exam­
ple. As noted by Lamer C.J., "[p]rior inconsistent 
statements present vexing problems for the neces­
sity criterion" (p. 796). Indeed, the declarant is 
available as a witness. Why should not the usual 
rule apply and the recanting witness's sworn tes­
timony alone go to the truth of the matter? After 
all , is that not the optimal test on reliability -
that the witness come forth to be seen and heard, 
swear or affirm to tell the truth in the formal con­
text of court proceedings, and be subjected to 

d'un temoin, autre que l'accuse, doit etre admissi­
ble quant au fond, d'apres l'analyse fondee sur Jes 
principes elaboree dans les arrets de notre Cour, 
Khan et Smith », et que les exigences de fiabilite et 
de necessite « doivent etre adapte[e]s et raffine[e]s 
dans le contexte present, vu !es problemes parti­
culiers souleves par la nature de ces declarations » 
(p. 783). 

Le facteur contextuel le plus important dans 
l'arret B. (K.G.) est la disponibilite du declarant. 
Contrairement a la situation dans l'affaire Khan OU 

l'affaire Smith, le juge des faits est beaucoup mieux 
en mesure d'apprecier la fiabilite de la preuve parce 
que le declarant est disponible pour etre contre­
interroge au sujet de sa declaration anterieure 
incompatible. Par consequent, !'examen du seuil 
de fiabilite applicable en matiere d'admissibilite ne 
porte pas tant sur la question de savoir s'il y a un 
motif de croire que la declaration est veridique que 
sur celle de savoir si le juge des faits sera en mesure 
d'apprecier rationnellement la preuve. Il faut cher­
cher des substituts actequats au processus qui aurait 
ete disponible si la preuve avait ete presentee de 
la fa\:On habituelle, a savoir par l'entremise du 
temoin qui vient deposer sous la foi du serment ou 
d'une affirmation solennelle et qui subit un contre­
interrogatoire au moment precis ou la declaration 
est faite. 

Etant donne que le declarant temoigne en cour 
sous la foi du serment ou d'une affirmation solen­
nelle et qu 'il est possible de le contre-interroger, 
la question est alors de savoir pourquoi se preoc­
cupe-t-on encore de la fiabilite de la declaration 
anterieure. Comme je l'ai indique precedemment, 
la necessite et la fiabilite ne devraient pas etre 
examinees separement. Un critere peut infl.uer 
sur l'autre. La situation dans l'affaire B. (K.G.) 
en est un exemple. Comme l'a fait remarquer le 
juge en chef Lamer, « [l]es declarations anterieu­
res incompatibles posent des problemes embar­
rassants par rapport au critere de la necessite » 
(p. 796). En fait, le declarant est disponible pour 
temoigner. Pourquoi la regle habituelle ne devrait­
elle pas s'appliquer, et pourquoi le temoignage 
sous serment du temoin qui se retracte ne devrait­
il pas seul permettre de decouvrir la verite? Apres 
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cross-examination? If a witness recants a prior 
statement and denies its truth, the default position 
is to conclude that the trial process has worked as 
intended - untruthful or inaccurate information 
will have been weeded out. There must be good 
reason to present the prior inconsistent statement as 
substantive proof over the sworn testimony given 
in court. 

As we know, the Court ultimately ruled in 
B. (K.G.), and the principle is now well established, 
that necessity is not to be equated with the una­
vailability of the witness. The necessity criterion 
is given a flexible definition. In some cases, such 
as in B. (K.G.) where a witness recants an earlier 
statement, necessity is based on the unavailability 
of the testimony, not the witness. Notwithstanding 
the fact that the necessity criterion can be met on 
varied bases, the context giving rise to the need for 
the evidence in its hearsay form may well impact 
on the degree of reliability required to justify its 
admission. As stated by Larner C.J. in B. (K.G.), 
where the hearsay evidence is a prior inconsist­
ent statement, reliability is a "key concern" (at 
pp. 786-87): 

The reliability concern is sharpened in the case of prior 
inconsistent statements because the trier of fact is asked 
to choose between two statements from the same wit­
ness, as opposed to other forms of hearsay in which 
only one account from the declarant is tendered. In 
other words, the focus of the inquiry in the case of prior 
inconsistent statements is on the comparative reliability 
of the prior statement and the testimony offered at trial, 
and so additional indicia and guarantees of reliability 
to those outlined in Khan and Smith must be secured 
in order to bring the prior statement to a comparable 
standard ofreliability before such statements are admit­
ted as substantive evidence. 

tout, n'est-ce pas la le critere optimal en matiere 
de fiabilite - a savoir que le temoin se presente 
pour etre vu et entendu, pour promettre, sous la 
foi du serment ou d'une affirmation solennelle, 
de dire la verite dans le cadre formel de procedu­
res judiciaires, et pour faire J'objet d'un contre­
interrogatoire? Si un temoin revient sur une decla­
ration anterieure et en nie la veracite, la solution 
par defaut consiste a conclure que le proces a eu 
Ies resultats escomptes : Jes renseignements faux 
OU inexacts ont ete elimines. II doit y avoir une 
bonne raison de presenter la declaration ante­
rieure incompatible comme preuve quant au fond 
de preference au temoignage sous serment devant 
le tribunal. 

Comme nous le savons, dans l'arret B. (K.G.), la 
Cour a statue en fin de compte - et ce principe est 
maintenant bien etabli - que Ia necessite ne sau­
rait etre assimilee a la non-disponibilite du temoin. 
Le critere de la necessite re9oit une definition 
souple. Dans certains cas, comme dans J'affaire 
B. (K.G.) ou un temoin revient sur une declara­
tion anterieure, la necessite tient a la non-disponi­
bilite du temoignage et non du temoin. Malgre le 
fait qu'il peut etre satisfait de di verses manieres au 
critere de la necessite, le contexte qui engendre la 
necessite de la preuve par oui:-dire peut bien avoir 
une incidence sur le degre de fiabilite exige pour en 
justifier !'admission. Comme l'a dit le juge en chef 
Lamer dans l'arret B. (K.G.), lorsque la preuve par 
oui"-dire est une declaration anterieure incompati­
ble, la fiabilite est une « preoccupation fondamen­
tale » (p. 787) : 

Cette preoccupation s'accentue dans le cas des decla­
rations anterieures incompatibles parce que le juge 
des faits doit choisir entre deux declarations faites par 
le meme temoin, par opposition aux autres formes de 
ou"i-dire dans lesquel!es une seule version des faits est 
presentee. Autrement dit, dans le cas des declarations 
anterieures incompatibles, !'examen est axe sur la fia­
bilite relative de la declaration anterieure et du temoi­
gnage entendu au proces, de sorte que des indices et 
garanties de fiabilite autres que ceux enonces dans les 
arrets Khan et Smith doivent etre prevus afin que la 
declaration anterieure soit soumise a une norme de fia­
bili te comparable avant que les declarations de ce genre 
soient admises quant au fond. 
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Lamer C.J. went on to describe the general 
attributes of in-court testimony that provide the 
usual safeguards for reliability. He reviewed at 
some length the compelling reasons to prefer state­
ments made under oath or affirmation, the value of 
seeing and hearing the witness in assessing cred­
ibility, the importance of having an accurate record 
of what was actually said, and the value of contem­
poraneous cross-examination. In considering what 
would constitute an adequate substitute .in respect 
of the prior inconsistent statement, he concluded (at 
pp. 795-96) that there will be "sufficient circum­
stantial guarantees of reliability" to render such 
statements substantively admissible where 

(i) the statement is made under oath or solemn affirma­
tion following a warning as to the existence of sanc­
tions and the significance of the oath or affirmation, 
(ii) the statement is videotaped in its entirety, and (iii) 
the opposing party ... has a full opportunity to cross­
examine the witness respecting the statement .... 
Alternatively, other circumstantial guarantees of reli­
ability may suffice to render such statements substan­
tively admissible, provided that the judge is satisfied 
that the circumstances provide adequate assurances of 
reliability in place of those which the hearsay rule tra­
ditionally requires. 

To say that a statement is sufficiently reliable 
because it is made under oath, in person, and the 
maker is cross-examined is somewhat of a mis­
nomer. A lot of courtroom testimony proves to be 
totally unreliable. However, therein lies the safe­
guard - in the process that has uncovered its 
untrustworthiness. Hence, the presence of ade­
quate substitutes for that process establishes a 
threshold of reliability and makes it safe to admit 
the evidence. 

Lamer C.J. also added an important proviso, to 
which I will return later, on the trial judge's discre­
tion to refuse to allow the jury to make substan­
tive use of the statement, even where the criteria 
outlined above are satisfied when there is any con­
cern that the statement may be the product of some 
form of investigatory misconduct (pp. 801-2). Here, 
although the statements were videotaped, and the 

Le juge en chef Lamer a ensuite decrit les carac­
teristiques generales d'un temoignage en cour qui 
offre les garanties habituelles de fiabilite. 11 a exa­
mine longuement Jes raisons imperieuses de pre­
ferer les declarations faites sous la foi du serment 
ou d'une affirmation solennelle, l'utilite de voir et 
d'entendre le temoin pour apprecier la credibilite, 
!'importance d'avoir un compte rendu exact de ce 
qui a reellement ete dit, et l'avantage du contre­
interrogatoire effectue au moment precis ou la 
declaration est faite. En etudiant ce qui constitue­
rait un substitut adequat a l'egard de la declaration 
anterieure incompatible, il a conclu, aux p. 795-
796, qu'il y aura des « garanties circonstancielles 
de fiabilite suffisantes » pour rendre de telles decla­
rations adrnissibles quant au fond 

(i) si la declaration est faite sous serment ou affirmation 
solennelle apres une mise en garde quant a l'existence 
de sanctions et a !'importance du serment ou de !'affir­
mation solennelle, (ii) si elle est enregistree integrale­
ment sur bande video, et (iii) si la partie adverse [ ... ] 
a la possibilite voulue de contre-interroger le temoin au 
sujet de la declaration [ ... ] Subsidiairement, ii se peut 
que d'autres garanties circonstancielles de fiabilite suf­
fisent a rendre une telle declaration admissible quant au 
fond, a la condition que le juge soit convaincu que les 
circonstances offrent des garanties suffisantes de fiabi­
lite qui se substituent a celles que la regle du oui:-dire 
exige habituellement. 

Il n'est pas tout a fait juste d'affirmer qu'une 
declaration est suffisamment fiable parce qu'elle est 
faite en personne et sous serment, et que le decla­
rant est contre-interroge. Maints temoignages en 
cour s'averent tout a fait indignes de foi . Toutefois, 
c'est la que se situe la garantie - dans le processus 
qui en a revele le manque de fiabilite. L'existence de 
substituts adequats a ce processus etablit done un 
seuil de fiabilite et permet d'admettre sans risque 
la preuve. 

Le juge en chef Lamer a egalement assujetti a 
une reserve importante - sur laquel le je revien­
drai plus loin - le pouvoir discretionnaire du juge 
du proces de refuser que la declaration soit soumise 
au jury comme preuve de fond meme dans le cas 
ou les criteres susmentionnes sont respectes, s'il y 
a quelque crainte que la declaration soit le produit 
d'une forme d'inconduite de la part des enqueteurs 
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witnesses were cross-examined, the statements 
were not made under oath. Whether there was a 
sufficient substitute to warrant substantive admis­
sion was sent back to be determined by the trial 
judge (p. 805). The appeal was allowed and a new 
trial ordered. Cory J. (L'Heureux-Dube J. concur­
ring) agreed with the result but for different rea­
sons that, for the purpose of our analysis, need not 
be reviewed here. 

6.2.4.4 R. v. U. (F.J.), [1995] 3 S.C.R. 764 

U. (F.J.) brought back to the Court the issue of 
admissibility of prior inconsistent statements. In an 
interview with police, the complainant, J.U., told 
the interviewing officer that the accused, her father, 
was having sex with her "almost every day" (para. 
4). She gave considerable details about the sexual 
activity and also described two physical assaults. 
The interviewing police officer later testified that 
he had attempted to tape the interview, but that the 
tape recorder had malfunctioned. He subsequently 
prepared a summary, based partly on notes and 
partly on his memory. 

Immediately after interviewing J.U., the same 
officer interviewed the accused. Again, the inter­
view was not taped. The accused admitted to 
having sex with J.U. "many times", describing sim­
ilar sexual acts and the two physical assaults that 
J.U. had described (para. 5). At trial, J.U. recanted 
the allegations of sexual abuse. She claimed to have 
lied at the behest of her grandmother. The accused 
denied having told police that he had engaged in 
sexual activity with J.U. 

The focus of the discussion before this Court was 
whether the "rule" in B. (K.G.) applied to this case. 
Although the criteria in B. (K.G.) were based on the 
principled approach in Khan and Smith, it was not 
clear whether B. (K.G.) established a distinct "rule" 

(p. 801-802). En l'espece, bien que les declarations 
aient ete enregistrees sur bande video et que les 
temoins aient ete contre-interroges, ces declarations 
n'ont pas ete faites sous serment. La question de 
savoir s'il y avait un substitut suffisant pour justifier 
l'admission quant au fond a ete renvoyee au juge du 
proces pour qu'il la tranche (p. 805). Le pourvoi a 
ete accueilli et un nouveau proces a ete ordonne. Le 
juge Cory (avec l'appui de lajuge L'Heureux-Dube) 
etait d'accord avec le resultat, mais pour des motifs 
differents qui, pour les besoins de notre analyse, 
n'ont pas a etre examines ici. 

6.2.4.4 R. c. U. (F.J.), [1995] 3 R.C.S. 764 

Dans l'affaire U. (F.J.), la question de l'admis­
sibilite des declarations anterieures incompati­
bles a de nouveau ete soumise a la Cour. Au cours 
d'un entretien avec la police, la plaignante, J.U., a 
declare au policier qui l'interrogeait que l'accuse, 
son pere, avait eu des rapports sexuels avec elle 
[TRADUCTION] « presque chaque jour » (par. 4). 
Elle a donne de nombreux details concernant ces 
activites sexuelles et a egalement fait etat de deux 
agressions physiques. Le policier qui l'a interrogee 
a temoigne plus tard qu 'il avait tente d'enregistrer 
l'entretien, mais que le magnetoscope avait mal 
fonctionne. 11 a, par la suite, prepare un resume en 
se fondant en partie sur Jes notes qu' il avait prises 
et en partie sur ce qu'il avail retenu. 

Immediatement apres avoir interroge J.U., le 
meme policier a interroge !'accuse. La encore, 
l'entretien n'a pas ete enregistre. L'accuse a 
reconnu avoir eu des .rapports sexuels avec J.U. 
[TRADUCTTON] « bien des fois », decrivant des actes 
sexuels similaires et les deux agressions physiques 
dont elle avait fait etat (par. 5). Au proces, J.U. 
est revenue sur ses allegations d'abus sexuel. Elle 
a soutenu avoir menti a la demande de sa grand­
mere. L'accuse a nie avoir dit a la police qu'il avail 
eu des rapports sexuels avec J.U. 

Le debat devant la Cour portait sur la question 
de savoir si la « regle » de l'arret B. (K.G.) s'ap­
pliquait a l'affaire. Bien que les criteres de l'arret 
B. (K.G.) aient ere fondes sur la methode d'analyse 
raisonnee adoptee dans les arrets Khan et Smith, il 
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for admitting prior inconsistent statements. Lamer 
C.J. sought to clarify the relationship between these 
cases, stating as follows (at para. 35): 

Khan and Smith establish that hearsay evidence 
will be substantively admissible when it is necessary 
and sufficiently reliable. Those cases also state that 
both necessity and reliability must be interpreted flex­
ibly, taking account of the circumstances of the case 
and ensuring that our new approach to hearsay does 
not itself become a rigid pigeon-holing analysis. My 
decision in B. (K.G.) is an application of those princi­
ples to a particular branch of the hearsay rule, the rule 
against the substantive admission of prior inconsistent 
statements. The primary distinction between B. (K.G.), 
on the one hand, and Khan and Smith, on the other, 
is that in B. (K.G.) the declarant is available for cross­
examination. This fact alone goes part of the way to 
ensuring that the reliability criterion for admissibility 
is met. The case at bar differs from B. (K.G.) only in 
terms of available indicia of reliability. Necessity is met 
here in the same way it was met in B. (K.G.) : the prior 
statement is necessary because evidence of the same 
quality cannot be obtained at trial. For that reason, 
assessing the reliability of the prior inconsistent state­
ment at issue here is determinative. 

Lamer C.J. went on to determine how the indicia 
of reliability could be founded on different criteria 
than those set out in B. (K.G.). The complainant's 
statement to the police was not made under oath. 
Nor was it videotaped. Most importantly, however, 
the declarant was available for cross-examination, 
thereby significantly alleviating the usual dangers 
arising from the introduction of hearsay evidence. 
Yet, the same concerns about the reliability of the 
prior inconsistent statement arose in this case. The 
complainant had recanted her earlier allegations. 
In the usual course of the trial process, this should 
be the end of the matter. Consider, for example, if 
the complainant had made the earlier allegations 
about being sexually assaulted by her father to 
some girlfriends in the context of playing a game 
of "Truth or Dare" where each player was being 
encouraged to outdo the previous one by saying or 
doing something outrageous. It would be difficult 

n'etait pas evident que l'arret B. (K.G.) etablissait 
une « regle » distincte applicable a !'admission des 
declarations anterieures incompatibles. Le juge en 
chef Lamer a cherche a clarifier en ces termes le 
lien entre ces affaires (par. 35) : 

Il ressort des arrets Khan et Smith que la preuve par 
oui:-dire sera admissible quant au fond lorsqu'elle est 
necessaire et suffisamment fiable. 11 y est egalement dit 
qu 'on doit interpreter de fac;:on souple tant la necessite 
que la fiabilite, tenant compte des circonstances de l'af­
faire et veillant ace que notre nouvelle fac;:on d'aborder 
le oul-dire ne devienne pas en soi une analyse rigide de 
categories. Ma decision dans B. (K.G.) est une applica­
tion de ces principes a une branche particuliere de la 
regle du oui'-dire, la regle interdisant l'admission quant 
au fond des declarations anterieures incompatibles. La 
principale distinction entre l'arret B. (K.G.) d'une part, 
et Jes arrets Khan et Smith d'autre part, reside dans le 
fait que, dans J'arret B. (K.G.), !'auteur de la declaration 
peut etre contre-interroge. Ce seul fait contribue a !'as­
surance du respect du critere de l'admissibilite quant a 
la fiabilite. L'espece differe de l'arret B. (K.G.) seule­
ment quant aux indices de fiabilite disponibles. Le cri­
tere de la necessite est rempli en l'espece de la meme 
fac;:on qu'il y est satisfail dans B. (K.G.) : la declara­
tion anterieure est necessaire parce qu'une preuve de la 
meme qualite ne peut etre obtenue au proces. C'est pour 
cette raison qu'il est determinant d'evaluer la fiabilite 
de la declaration anterieure incompatible en question en 
l'espece. 

Le juge en chef Lamer a ensuite determine com­
ment les indices de fiabilite pouvaient reposer sur 
d'autres criteres que ceux enonces dans l'arret 
B. (K.G.). La declaration de la plaignante a la police 
n'avait pas ete faite sous serment et n'avait pas 
non plus ete enregistree sur bande video. Qui plus 
est cependant, la cteclarante pouvait etre contre­
interrogee, ce qui attenuait consicterablement les 
dangers habituels decoulant de la presentation d'une 
preuve par ou'i-dire. Pourtant, cette affaire susci­
tait Jes memes preoccupations quant a la fiabilite 
de la declaration anterieure incompatible. La plai­
gnante etait revenue sur ses allegations anterieures. 
Dans le cours normal du processus judiciaire, cela 
devrait mettre un tenne a l'affaire. Supposons, par 
exemple, qu'en jouant avec certaines de ses amies 
au jeu de la verite « Truth or Dare », dans lequel 
chaque joueur est encourage a surpasser le joueur 
precedent en disant ou faisant quelque chose qui 

::i 
c 
co 
~ 
l'­
LO 

u 
u 
(/) 

(!) 
0 
0 
N 



[2006] 2 R.C.S. R. c. KHELAWON Lajuge Charron 833 

to find justification for introducing her casual state­
ment as substantive proof over her sworn testimony 
that the events never happened. Hence, the focus 
must turn on the reliability of the prior inconsistent 
statement. 

In B. (K.G.), the Court held that a prior incon­
sistent statement is sufficiently reliable for sub­
stantive admissiou if .it is made in circumstances 
comparable to the giving of in-court testimony. In 
U. (Fl.), the reliability requirement was met rather 
by showing that there was no real concern about 
whether the complainant was speaking the truth 
in her statement to the police. The striking simi­
larities between her statement and the independ­
ent statement made by her father were so compel­
ling that the only likely explanation was that they 
were both telling the truth. Again here, the criteria 
of necessity and reliability intersect. In the inter­
est of seeking the truth, the very high reliability 
of the statement rendered its substantive admission 
necessary. 

Again here, Lamer C.J. added the following pro­
viso (at para. 49): 

I would also highlight here the proviso I specified 
in B. (KG.) that the trial judge must be satisfied on the 
balance of probabilities that the statement was not the 
product of coercion of any form, whether involving 
threats, promises, excessively leading questions by the 
investigator or other person in a position of authority, or 
other forms of investigatory misconduct. 

6.2.4.5 R. v. Hawkins, [1996) 3 S.C.R. 1043 

This Court's decision in Hawkins was con­
cerned mainly with the issue of spousal incompe­
tency. However, it is also instructive on the applica­
tion of the principled approach to the hearsay rule. 
My remarks here are confined to the latter aspect 
of the case. It exemplifies how, in some circum­
stances, the reliability requirement may be estab­
lished solely by the presence of adequate substitutes 

choque, la plaignante aurait allegue avoir ete agres­
see sexuellernent par son pere. L'utilisation, a titre 
de preuve quant au fond, de la declaration qu'elle 
a faite a brGle-pourpoint - de preference a son 
temoignage sous sennent voulant que ces faits ne 
se soient jamais produits - serait difficilement jus­
tifiable. L'accent doit done etre mis sur la fiabilite 
de la declaration anterieure incompatible. 

Dans l'arret B. (K.G.), la Cour a conclu qu'une 
declaration anterieure incompatible est suffisam­
ment fiable pour etre admise quant au fond si elle 
est faite dans des circonstances comparables a 
celles d'un temoignage devant le tribunal. Dans 
l'affaire U. (Fl.), on a satisfait a !'exigence de fia­
bilite en demontrant plut6t que la question de savoir 
si la plaignante avait dit la verite dans sa declara­
tion a la police n'etait pas vraiment un sujet de pre­
occupation. Les similitudes frappantes entre sa 
declaration et celle faite de fac;:on independante par 
son pere etaient si convaincantes que la seule expli­
cation vraisemblable etait qu'il s disaient tous Jes 
deux la verite. La encore, Jes criteres de la necessite 
et de la fiabilite se recoupent. Par souci de recher­
che de la verite, il etait necessaire d'admettre quant 
au fond la declaration en raison de sa tres grande 
fiabilite. 

La encore, le juge en chef Lamer a ajoute la 
condition suivante (par. 49) : 

Je soulignerais egalement les conditions que j'ai pre­
cisees dans B. (K.G.), a savoir que le juge du proces doit 
etre convaincu, selon la preponderance des probabilites, 
que la declaration n'est pas le produit de la coercition, 
que ce soit menaces, promesses, questions trop sugges­
tives de l'enqueteur ou d'une autre personne en situation 
d'autorite, ou autres manquements des enqueteurs. 

6.2.4.5 R. c. Hawkins, [1996) 3 R.C.S. 1043 

L'arret Hawkins de notre Cour portait surtout sur 
la question de l'inhabilite a temoigner du conjoint. 
Toutefois, cet arret est egalement interessant en ce 
qui concerne !'application de la methode d'analyse 
raisonnee a la regle du ou'i-dire. Mes remarques ne 
visent ici que ce dernier aspect de l'arret. II mus­
tre comment, dans certaines circonstances, seule 
!'existence de substituts adequats aux garanties 
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for the safeguards traditionally relied upon to test 
trial testimony. As we shall see, again here, lhe 
opportunity to cross-examine the declarant was a 
crucial factor. Because there were sufficient indicia 
of reliability so as to afford the trier of fact a sat­
isfactory basis for evaluating the truth of the state­
ment, the Court concluded that the trial judge erred 
in excluding the statement based on its perceived 
lack of probative value. 

Hawkins, a police officer, was charged with 
obstructing justice and corruptly accepting money. 
His then girlfriend, G, testified at his preliminary 
inquiry. After testifying the first time, G brought 
an application to testify again and recanted much 
of what she had said, with explanations. By the 
time of the trial, Hawkins and G were married 
and therefore G was incompetent to testify under 
s. 4 of the Canada Evidence Act. After ruling that 
the common law rule of spousal incompetency 
applied, and that G's testimony at the preliminary 
inquiry could not be read in at trial under s. 715 
of the Criminal Code, the trial judge held that the 
evidence was not admissible under the principled 
approach because it was not sufficiently reliable. 
Hawkins was acquitted. The verdict was over­
turned by majority decision of the Court of Appeal 
for Ontario. On further appeal to this Court, the 
appeal was dismissed but for different reasons. 
This Court refused to modify the common law 
rule of spousal incompetency as it was invited to 
do. The Court agreed with the trial judge that the 
common law rule applied, and the testimony could 
not be read in under s. 715. However, a majority of 
the Court held that the preliminary inquiry testi­
mony could be read in at trial under the principled 
approach to the admission of hearsay. The three 
dissenting judges held that this violated the policy 
underlying s. 4 and should not be permitted. 

traditionnelles invoquees pour verifier le temoi­
gnage au proces peut permettre de satisfaire a 
!'exigence de fiabilite. Comme nous le verrons, la 
encore, la possibilite de contre-interroger la decla­
rante etait un facteur crucial. Paree qu'il y avait 
suffisamment d'indices de fiabilite pour que le juge 
des faits dispose d'une base satisfaisante pour exa­
miner la veracite de la declaration, la Cour a conclu 
que le juge du proces avait commis une erreur en 
excluant la declaration parce qu'il la croyait depour­
vue de valeur probante. 

M. Hawkins, un policier, a ete accuse d'avoir 
enlrave la justice et d'avoir par corruplion accepte 
de !'argent. G, qui etait sa petite amie a l'epoque, 
a temoigne a l'enquete preliminaire. Apres avoir 
temoigne la premiere fois, G a demande a temoi­
gner de nouveau, et elle est revenue, en s'expli­
quant, sur une grande partie de ce qu'elle avait dit. 
Au moment du proces, M. Hawkins et G etaient 
maries , et G etait, de ce fait, inhabile a temoi­
gner en vertu de l'art. 4 de la Loi sur la preuve 
au Canada. Apres avoir decide que la regle de 
common law de l'inhabilite du conjoint a temoigner 
s'appliquait et que le temoignage de G recueilli a 
l'enquete preliminaire ne pouvait pas etre lu au 
proces en application de l'art. 715 du Code crimi­
nel, le juge du proces a conclu que la preuve n'etait 
pas admissible selon la methode d'analyse raison­
nee parce qu'elle n'etait pas suffisamment fiable. 
M. Hawkins a ete acquitte. Le verdict a ete ecarte 
par une decision majoritaire de la Cour d'appel 
de l'Ontario. Le pourvoi forme par la suite devant 
notre Cour a ere rejete, mais pour des motifs dif­
ferents. La Cour a refuse de se rendre a !'invitation 
de modifier la regle de common law de l'inhabilite 
du conjoint a temoigner. Elle a convenu avec le 
juge du proces que la regle de common law s'ap­
pliquait et que le temoignage ne pouvait pas etre 
lu en application de l'art. 715. Toutefois, les juges 
majoritaires de la Cour ont decide que le temoi­
gnage recueilli a l'enquete preliminaire pouvait 
elre lu au proces suivant la melhode d'analyse rai­
sonnee applicable a !'admission du oui'-dire. Les 
trois juges dissidents ont estime que cela derogeait 
a la politique sous-jacente de l'art. 4 et ne devait 
pas etre permis. 
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After determining that the necessity criterion 
was met, Lamer C.J. and Iacobucci J. (Gonthier 
and Cory JJ. concurring) addressed reliability. In 
the circumstances of this case, it could hardly be 
said that the complainant's testimony was inher­
ently trustworthy. She had given contradictory ver­
sions, all under oath. Rather, the Court looked for 
the presence of a satisfactory basis for evaluating 
the truth of the statement, stating as follows, at 
para. 75: 

The criterion of reliability is concerned with thresh­
old reliability, not ultimate reliability. The function of the 
trial judge is limited to determining whether the particu­
lar hearsay statement exhibits sufficient indicia of reli­
ability so as to afford the trier of fact a satisfactory basis 
for evaluating the truth of the statement. More specifi­
cally, the judge must identify the specific hearsay dan­
gers raised by the statement, and then determine whether 
the facts surrounding the utterance of the statement offer 
sufficient circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness to 
compensate for those dangers. The ultimate reliability of 
the statement, and the weight to be attached to it, remain 
determinations for the trier of fact. [Emphasis added.] 

The Court held that, generally, a witness's tes­
timony before a preliminary inquiry will satisfy 
the test for threshold reliability, since the fact that 
it was given under oath and subject to contempo­
raneous cross-examination in a hearing involving 
the same parties and mainly the same issues will 
provide sufficient guarantees of its trustworthiness 
(para. 76). In addition, the accuracy of the statement 
is certified by a written transcript which is signed 
by the judge, and the party against whom the hear­
say evidence is tendered has the power to call the 
declarant as a witness. The inability of the trier of 
fact to observe demeanour was found to be "more 
than compensated by the circumstantial guarantees 
of trustworthiness inherent in the adversarial, adju­
dicative process of a preliminary inquiry" (para. 
77). The fact that the early common Jaw was pre­
pared to admit former testimony under certain cir­
cumstances indicated an implicit acceptance of its 
reliability notwithstanding the lack of the declar­
ant's presence (para. 78). Therefore, Lamer C.J. 
and Iacobucci J. concluded (at para. 79): 

Apres avoir determine que le critere de la neces­
site etait rempli, le juge en chef Lamer et le juge 
Iacobucci (avec l'appui des juges Gonthier et Cory) 
ont aborcte la question de la fiabilite. Dans les cir­
constances de cette affaire, on ne pouvait guere 
affirmer que le temoignage de la plaignante etait 
en soi digne de foi. Les versions qu'elle avait toutes 
presentees sous serment etaient contradictoires. La 
Cour a plut6t verifie s'il existait une base satisfai­
sante pour examiner la veracite de Ia declaration, 
affirmant ceci (par. 75) : 

Le critere de la fiabilite vise un seuil de fiabilite et 
non une fiabilite absolue. La tiiche du juge du proces se 
limite a determiner si la declaration relatee en question 
renferme suffisamment d'indices de fiabilite pour four­
nir au juge des faits une base satisfaisante pour exami­
ner la veracite de la declaration. Plus particulierement, 
le juge doit cerner Jes dangers specifigues du oui:-dire 
auxquels donne lieu la declaration et determiner ensuite 
si les faits entourant cctte declaration offrent suffisam­
mcnt de garanties circonstancielles de fiabilite pour 
contrebalancer ccs dangers. II continue d'appartcnir au 
juge des faits de se prononcer sur la fiabilite absolue de 
la declaration et le poids a Jui accorder. [Je souligne.] 

La Cour a statue qu'en general un temoignage 
recueilli a l'enquete preliminaire satisfait au cri­
tere du seuil de fiabilite puisque le fait qu'il a ete 
presente sous serment et que le temoin a alors ete 
contre-interroge dans le cadre d 'une audience met­
tant en cause les memes parties et essentiellement 
les memes questions en litige fournit suffisamment 
de garanties de fiabilite de ce temoignage (par. 76). 
De plus, l'exactitude de la declaration est certifiee 
par une transcription signee par le juge, et la partie 
contre laquelle la preuve par ou1-dire est presen­
tee a le pouvoir d'assigner le declarant a temoi­
gner. L'impossibilite pour le juge des faits d 'obser­
ver le comporternent a ere qualifiee de « plus que 
contrebalance[e] par les garanties circonstancielles 
de fiabilite propres a la procedure decisionnelle de 
nature accusatoire que constitue l'enquete preli­
minaire » (par. 77). Le fait qu'a l'origine on etait 
dispose en common law a admettre en preuve un 
temoignage anterieur dans certaines circonstances 
indiquait qu'on en reconnaissait implicitement la 
fiabilite malgre !'absence du declarant (par. 78). Le 
juge en chef Lamer et le juge Iacobucci ont done 
conclu ceci (par. 79) : 
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For these reasons, we find that a witness 's recorded 
testimony before a preliminary inquiry bears sufficient 
hallmarks of trustworthiness to permit the trier of fact 
to make substantive use of such statements at trial. The 
surrounding circumstances of such testimony, partic­
ularly the presence of an oath or affirmation and the 
opportunity for contemporaneous cross-examination, 
more than adequately compensate for the trier of fact's 
inability to observe the demeanour of the witness in 
court. The absence of the witness at trial goes to the 
weight of such testimony, not to its admissibility. 

Applying this reasoning to the statement at issue, it 
was found to be reliable (para. 80). 

Lamer C.J. and Iacobucci J. added that the trial 
judge had erred in considering the internal contra­
dictions contained in the testimony because these 
considerations properly related to the ultimate 
assessment of the actual probative value of the 
testimony, a matter for the trier of fact. Although 
some of the analysis on this last point is couched 
in terms of categorizing factors as relevant to either 
threshold or ultimate reliability, an approach which 
should no longer be adopted, the Court's conclu­
sion on this point exemplifies where the line should 
be drawn on an inquiry into threshold reliability. 
When the reliability requirement is met on the 
basis that the trier of fact has a sufficient basis to 
assess the statement's truth and accuracy, there is 
no need to inquire further into the likely truth of 
the statement. That question becomes one that is 
entirely left to the ultimate trier of fact and the trial 
judge is exceeding his or her role by inquiring into 
the likely truth of the statement. When reliability 
is dependent on the inherent trustworthiness of the 
statement, the trial judge must inquire into those 
factors tending to show that the statement is true or 
not- recall U. (Fl.). 

6.3 Revisiting Paragraphes 215 and 217 in Starr 

As I trust it has become apparent from the pre­
ceding discussion, whether certain factors will 
go only to ultimate reliability will depend on the 

Pour ces motifs, nous sommes d'avis qu'un temoi­
gnage enregistre lors d'une enquete preliminaire 
comporte suffisamment de garanties de fiabilite pour 
permettre au juge des faits d'en faire une utilisation 
quant au fond au cours du proces. Les circonstances 
entourant ce temoignage, tout particulierement !'exis­
tence d'un serment ou d'une affirmation et la possibilite 
de contre-interrogatoire au moment de la declaration 
font plus que contrebalancer l'impossibilite pour le juge 
des faits d'observer le comportement du temoin en cour. 
L'absence du temoin au proces influe sur le poids et non 
sur l'admissibilite du temoignage. 

Appliquant ce raisonnement a la declaration 
en cause, la Cour a estime qu'elle etait fiable 
(par. 80). 

Le juge en chef Lamer et le juge Iacobucci ont 
ajoute que le juge du proces avait commis une 
erreur en tenant compte des contradictions inter­
nes du temoignage parce que ces considerations se 
rapportaient, a juste titre, a !'appreciation en der­
niere analyse de la valeur probante meme du temoi­
gnage, qui doit etre faite par le juge des faits. Bien 
qu'une partie de l'analyse relative ace dernier point 
consiste a classer des facteurs comme se rapportant 
soit au seuil de fiabilite soit a la fiabilite en derniere 
analyse - methode qui ne devrait plus etre suivie 
-, la conclusion de la Cour a cet egard illustre OU 
doit etre tracee la ligne de demarcation en matiere 
d'examen du seuil de fiabilite. Lorsque l'exigence 
de fiabilite est remplie parce que le juge des faits 
dispose d'une base suffisante pour apprecier la 
veracite et !'exactitude de la declaration, il n'est 
pas necessaire de verifier davantage si la declara­
tion est susceptible d'etre veridique. Cette ques­
tion releve alors entierement, en derniere analyse, 
du juge des faits et le juge du proces outrepasse 
son role en verifiant si la declaration est suscepti­
ble d'etre veridique. Lorsque la fiabilite depend de 
la fiabilite inherente de la declaraLion, le juge du 
proces doit examiner les facteurs tendant a demon­
trer que la declaration est Veridique OU non - qu'on 
se rappelle l'arret U. (Fl.). 

6.3 Reexamen des par. 215 et 217 de l'arret Starr 

Comme le revele, je l'espere, !'analyse qui pre­
cede, la question de savoir si certains facteurs tou­
cheront uniquement la fiabilite en derniere analyse 
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context. Hence, some of the comments at paras. 
215 and 217 in Starr should no longer be followed. 
Relevant factors should not be categorized in 
terms of threshold and ultimate reliability. Rather, 
the court should adopt a more functional approach 
as discussed above and focus on the particular 
dangers raised by the hearsay evidence sought 
to be introduced and on those attributes or cir­
cumstances relied upon by the proponent to over­
come those dangers. In addition, the trial judge 
must remain mindful of the limited role that he 
or she plays in determining admissibility - it is 
crucial to the integrity of the fact-finding process 
that the question of ultimate reliability not be pre­
determined on the admissibility voir dire. 

I want to say a few words on one factor identified 
in Stan~ namely "the presence of corroborating or 
conflicting evidence" since it is that comment that 
appears to have raised the most controversy. I repeat 
it here for convenience: 

Similarly, I would not consider the presence of cor­
roborating or conflicting evidence. On this point, I 
agree with the Ontario Court of Appeal's decision in 
R. v. C. (B .) (1993), 12 O.R. (3d) 608; see also Idaho v. 
Wright, 497 U.S . 805 (1990). [para. 217] 

I will briefly review the two cases relied upon in 
support of this statement. The first does not really 
provide assistance on this question and the second, 
in my respectful view, should not be followed. 

In R. v. C. (B.) (1993), 12 O.R. (3d) 608 (C.A.), 
the trial judge, in convicting the accused, had used 
a co-accused's statement as evidence in support of 
the complainant's testimony. The Court of Appeal 
held that this constituted an error. While a state­
ment made by a co-accused was admissible for 
its truth against the co-accused, it remained hear­
say as against the accused. The co-accused had 
recanted his statement at trial. His statement was 
not shown to be reliable so as to be admitted as an 
exception to the hearsay rule against the accused. 

dependra du contexte. Partant, certains des com­
mentaires formules aux par. 215 et 217 de l'arret 
Starr ne devraient plus etre suivis. Les facteurs per­
tinents ne doivent plus etre ranges dans des catego­
ries de seuil de fiabilite et de fiabilite en derniere 
analyse. Le tribunal devrait plutot adopter une 
approche plus fonctionnelle, comme nous l'avons 
vu precedemment, et se concentrer sur Jes dan­
gers particuliers que comporte la preuve par oui·­
dire qu'on cherche a presenter, de meme que sur 
les caracteristiques ou circonstances que la partie 
qui veut presenter la preuve invoque pour ecarter 
ces dangers. De plus, le juge du proces doit demeu­
rer conscient du role limite qu'il joue lorsqu'il se 
prononce sur l'admissibilite - il est essentiel pour 
assurer l' integrite du processus de constatation des 
faits que la question de Ja fiabilite en derniere ana­
lyse ne soit pas prejugee lors du voir-dire portant 
sur l'admissibilite. 

Je tiens a dire quelques mots sur un facteur 
decrit dans l'arret Starr, a savoir « la presence d'une 
preuve corroborante ou contradictoire », puisqu'il 
semble que ce soit ce commentaire qui a souleve le 
plus de controverse. Pour des raisons de commo­
dite, je reproduis le commentaire en question : 

De meme, je ne tiendrais pas compte de la presence 
d'une preuve corroborante ou contradictoire. Sur ce 
point, je suis d'accord avec l'arret de la Cour d'appel de 
!'Ontario R. c. C. (B.) (1993), 12 O.R. (3d) 608; voir ega­
lement Idaho c. Wright, 497 U.S . 805 (1990). [par. 217] 

J'examinerai brievementles deux decisions invo­
quees a J'appui de cet enonce. La premiere n'est pas 
vraiment utile a cet egard et la seconde, selon moi, 
ne devrait pas etre suivie. 

Dans l'affaire R. c. C. (B.) (1993), 12 O.R. (3d) 
608 (C.A.), en declarant l'accuse coupable, le juge 
du proces avait utilise la declaration d'un coaccuse 
comme preuve etayant le temoignage de la plai­
gnante. La Cour d'appel a conclu que cela consti­
tuait une erreur. Alors que la declaration d'un coac­
cuse etait admissible contre Jui comme preuve de 
sa veracite, elle restait du oui"-dire a l'egard de !'ac­
cuse. Le coaccuse etait revenu sur sa declaration 
au proces. Il n'a pas ete demontre que sa decla­
ration etait suffisamment fiable pour etre admise 
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Therefore, this case is of no assistance on the ques­
tion of whether supporting evidence should be con­
sidered or not in determining hearsay admissibility. 
It simply reaffirms the well-established rule that an 
accused's statement is only admissible against its 
maker, not the co-accused. 

Idaho v. Wright, 497 U.S. 805 (1990), is more on 
point. In that case, five of the nine justices of the 
United States Supreme Court were not persuaded 
that "evidence corroborating the truth of a hear­
say statement may properly support a finding that 
the statement bears 'particularized guarantees of 
trustworthiness"' (p. 822). In the majority's view, 
the use of corroborating evidence for that purpose 
"would permit admission of a presumptively unre­
liable statement by bootstrapping on the trustwor­
thiness of other evidence at trial, a result we think 
at odds with the requirement that hearsay evidence 
admitted under the Confrontation Clause be so 
trustworthy that cross-examination of the declar­
ant would be of marginal utility" (p. 823). By way 
of example, the majority observed that a statement 
made under duress may happen to be true, but evi­
dence tending to corroborate the truth of the state­
ment would be no substitute for cross-examination 
of the declarant at trial. The majority also raised 
the concern, arising mostly in child sexual abuse 
cases, that a jury may rely on the partial corrobo­
ration provided by medical evidence to mistakenly 
infer the trustworthiness of the entire allegation. 

In his dissenting opinion, Kennedy J., with whom 
the remaining three justices concurred, strongly 
disagreed with the position of the majority on the 
potential use of supporting or conflicting evidence. 
In my view, his reasons echo much of the criticism 
that has been voiced about this Court's position in 
Starr. He said the following: 

I see no constitutional justification for this decision 
to prescind corroborating evidence from consideration 
of the question whether a child's statements are reliable. 

contre !'accuse a titre d'exception a la regle du 
oui:-dire. Cette affaire n'est done d'aucun secours 
pour ce qui est de savoir s'il y a lieu de conside­
rer une preuve a l'appui pour decider de l'admissi­
bilite d'un oui:-dire. On y reaffirme simplement la 
regle bien etablie selon laquelle la declaration d'un 
accuse n'est admissible que contre Jui et non centre 
un coaccuse. 

L'arret Idaho c. Wright, 497 U.S. 805 (1990), 
est plus apropos. Dans cette affaire, cinq des neuf 
juges de la Cour supreme des Etats-Unis n'etaient 
pas convaincus que [TRADUCTTON] « la preuve cor­
roborant la veracite d'une declaration relatee puisse 
etayer, a juste titre, la conclusion que la declara­
tion comporte "des garanties particulieres de fia­
bilite" » (p. 822). Selon les juges majoritaires, 
!'utilisation d'une preuve corroborante a cette fin 
« permettrait d'admettre une declaration presumee 
peu fiable en se fondant sur la fiabilite d'un autre 
element de preuve au proces, resultat que nous 
crayons contraire a ]'exigence que la preuve par 
oui:-dire admise en vertu de la clause de confron­
tation des temoins soit ace point digne de foi qu 'il 
serait peu utile de contre-interroger le declarant » 
(p. 823). Par exemple, les juges majoritaires ont fait 
observer qu'une declaration fa ite sous la contrainte 
peut se reveler veridique, mais qu'une preuve ten­
dant a corroborer la veracite de cette declaration ne 
saurait etre substituee au contre-interrogatoire du 
declarant au proces. Les juges majoritaires ont aussi 
exprime la crainte, surtout dans Jes affaires d'abus 
sexuels d'enfants, qu'un jury s'appuie sur la corro­
boration partielle fournie par la preuve medicale 
pour inferer a tort la fiabilite de toute ]'allegation. 

Dans ses motifs dissidents, le juge Kennedy, 
avec l'appui des trois autres juges, s'est dit en pro­
fond desaccord avec le point de vue des juges majo­
ritaires concernant !'utilisation potentielle d'un ele­
ment de preuve a l'appui OU contradictoire. A mon 
avis, ses motifs reprennent une bonne partie des 
critiques formulees au sujet de la position de notre 
Cour dans l'arret Stan: 11 a affirme ceci : 

[TRADUCTION] Je ne vois rien qui justifie constitu­
tionnellernent cette decision de dissocier la preuve cor­
roborante de l'examen de la question de savoir si les 
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It is a matter of common sense for most people that one 
of the best ways to determine whether what someone 
says is trustworthy is to see if it is corroborated by other 
evidence. In the context of child abuse, for example, if 
part of the child's hearsay statement is that the assailant 
tied her wrists or had a scar on his lower abdomen, and 
there is physical evidence or testimony to corroborate 
the child's statement, evidence which the child could 
not have fabricated, we are more likely to believe that 
what the child says is true. Conversely, one can imagine 
a situation in which a child makes a statement which is 
spontaneous or is otherwise made under circumstances 
indicating that it is reliable, but which also contains 
undisputed factual inaccuracies so great that the cred­
ibility of the child's statements is substantially under­
mined. Under the Court's analysis, the statement would 
satisfy the requirements of the Confrontation Clause 
despite substantial doubt about its reliability. [pp. 828-
29] 

Kennedy J. also strongly disagreed with the 
majority's view that only circumstances sur­
rounding the making of the statement should be 
considered: 

The [majority] does not offer any justification for 
barring the consideration of corroborating evidence, 
other than the suggestion that corroborating evidence 
does not bolster the "inherent trustworthiness" of the 
statements. But for purposes of determining the reli­
ability of the statements, I can discern no difference 
between the factors that the Court believes indicate 
"inherent trustworthiness" and those, like corroborat­
ing evidence, that apparently do not. Even the factors 
endorsed by the Court will involve consideration of 
the very evidence the Court purports to exclude from 
the reliability analysis . The Court notes that one test 
of reliability is whether the child "use[d] . . . terminol­
ogy unexpected of a child of similar age." But making 
this determination requires consideration of the child's 
vocabulary skills and past opportunity, or lack thereof, 
to learn the terminology at issue. And, when all of the 
extrinsic circumstances of a case are considered, it may 
be shown that use of a particular word or vocabulary in 
fact supports the inference of prolonged contact with 
the defendant, who was known to use the vocabulary 
in question. As a further example, the Court notes that 
motive to fabricate is an index of reliability. But if the 
suspect charges that a third person concocted a false 
case against him and coached the child, surely it is 
relevant to show that the third person had no contact 
with the child or no opportunity to suggest false testi­
mony. Given the contradictions inherent in the Court's 

declarations d'un enfant sont fiables . II va de soi pour 
la plupart des gens que l'un des meilleurs moyens de 
savoir si quelqu'un est digne de foi consiste a verifier 
si ses propos sont corrobores par une autre preuve. Par 
exemple, dans un cas de violence envers une enfant, si 
une partie de la declaration relatee de l'enfant veut que 
l'assaillant Jui ait lie Jes poignets ou qu'il ait eu une 
cicatrice au bas de !'abdomen, et qu 'une preuve mate­
rielle ou un temoignage corrobore cette declaration -
preuve que l'enfant n'aurait pas pu fabriquer -, nous 
serons probablement plus enclins a croire que !'enfant 
dit Ia verite. A !'inverse, on peut penser a la declaration 
qu'un enfant fait de maniere spontanee ou, par ailleurs 
dans des circonstances indiquant qu'elle est fiable, mais 
qui contient aussi des inexactitudes factuelles incontes­
tees si enormes que la credibilite de ses declarations 
s'en trouve considerablement minee. Selon !'analyse de 
la Cour, la declaration satisferait aux exigences de la 
clause de confrontation des temoins malgre un doute 
ineconsiderable quanta sa fiabilite. [p. 828-829] 

Le juge Kennedy etait aussi en profond desac­
cord avec le point de vue des juges majoritaires 
selon lequel seules les circonstances entourant la 
declaration doivent etre considerees : 

[TRADUCTTON) L[es juges majoritaires] n'offre[nt] 
aucune justification pour ecarter !'examen de la preuve 
corroborante, si ce n'est qu'[ils] indique[nt] que celle­
ci ne renforce pas la « fiabilite inherente » des declara­
tions . Mais pour determiner la fiabilite des declarations, 
je ne vois aucune difference entre Jes facteurs qui, selon 
la Cour, indiquent !'existence de « fiabilite inherente » 
et ceux qui, comme la preuve corroborante, ne parais­
sent pas le faire. Meme !es facteurs retenus par la Cour 
obligeront a examiner la preuve meme que celle-ci 
entend soustraire a !'analyse de la fiabilite. La Cour 
note que l'un des criteres de fiabilite est de savoir si 
l'enfant a « utilis[e] [ ... ] un vocabulaire inattendu de la 
part d'un enfant de son age ». Mais pour se prononcer 
sur ce point, ii faut examiner Jes connaissances de !'en­
fant sur le plan du vocabulaire et la possibilite qu'il a eu 
ou non d'apprendre le vocabulaire en cause. Et lorsque 
toutes les circonstances extrinseques d'une affaire sont 
pr.ises en compte, ii peut se reveler que l'usage d'un mot 
OU d'un VOCabulaire particu]ier etaye en fait !'inference 
d'un contact prolonge avec le defendeur, qui eta it connu 
pour son utilisation du vocabulaire en question. Comme 
autre exemple, la Cour note qu'un motif d'inventer une 
histoire est significatif en ce qui concerne la question 
de la fiabilite. Mais si le suspect accuse un tiers d'avoir 
invente une fausse preuve contre Jui et d'avoir prepare 
l'enfant, ii est silrement utile de demontrer que ce tiers 
n'a eu aucun contact avec l'enfant ni aucune possibilite 
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test when measured against its own examples, I expect 
its holding will soon prove to be as unworkable as it is 
illogical. 

The short of the matter is that both the circum­
stances existing at the time the child makes the state­
ments and the existence of corroborating evidence 
indicate, to a greater or lesser degree, whether the state­
ments are reliable. If the Court means to suggest that 
the circumstances surrounding the making of a state­
ment are the best indicators ofreliability, I doubt this is 
so in every instance. And, if it were true in a particular 
case, that does not warrant ignoring other indicators of 
reliability such as corroborating evidence, absent some 
other reason for excluding it. If anything, I should think 
that corroborating evidence in the form of testimony 
or physical evidence, apart from the narrow circum­
stances in which the statement was made, would be a 
preferred means of determining a statement's reliability 
for purposes of the Confrontation Clause, for the simple 
reason that, ur1like other indicators of trustworthiness, 
corroborating evidence can be addressed by the defend­
ant and assessed by the tr.ial court in an objective and 
critical way. [References omitted; pp. 833-34.] 

In my view, the opinion of Kennedy J. better 
reflects the Canadian experience on th.is question . 
It has proven difficult and at times counterintuitive 
to limit the inquiry to the circumstances surround­
ing the making of the statement. This Court itself 
has not always followed this restrictive approach. 
Further, I do not find the majority's concern over the 
"bootstrapping" nature of corroborating evidence 
convincing. On this point, I agree with Professor 
Paciocco who commented on the reasoning of the 
majority in Idaho v. Wright as follows (at p. 36): 

The final rationale offered is that it would involve 
"bootstrapping" to admit evidence simply because it 
is shown by other evidence to be reliable. In fact, the 
"bootstrapping" label is usually reserved to circular 
arguments in which a questionable piece of evidence 
"picks itself up by its own bootstraps" to fit within an 
exception. For example, a party claims it can rely on 
a hearsay statement because the statement was made 
under such pressure or involvement that the prospect 
of concoction can fairly be disregarded, but then relies 
on the contents of the hearsay statement to prove the 
existence of that pressure or involvement [Ratten v. R., 
[1972] A.C. 378 (P.C.)] . Or, a party claims it can rely 
on the truth of the contents of a statement because it 

de proposer un faux temoignage. Vu Jes contradictions 
inherentes du critere de la Cour qui se degagent de ses 
propres exemples, je pense que sa conclusion se revelera 
rapidement aussi inapplicable qu'illogique. 

Bref, tant Jes circonstances entourant Jes declara­
tions de l'enfant que !'existence d'une preuve corrobo­
rante indiquent plus ou moins si Jes declarations sont 
fiables. Si la Cour veut donner a entendre que les cir­
constances entourant une declaration sont Jes meilleurs 
indices de fiabilite, je doute qu'il en soit ainsi dans tous 
Jes cas. Et, si cela etait vrai dans une affaire donnee, 
cela ne justifie pas de passer sous silence d'autres indi­
ces de fiabilite comme la preuve corroborante, s' il n'y 
a aucune autre raison de Jes ecarter. D'ailleurs, je crois 
que la preuve corroborante sous forme de temoignage 
ou de preuve materielle, outre Jes c.irconstances bien 
precises entourant la declaration, serait un moyen pri ­
v.ilegie de determiner la fiabilite d'une declaration pour 
Jes besoins de la clause de confrontation, pour la simple 
raison que, contra.irement aux autres indices de fia­
bilite, la preuve corroborante peut etre etudiee par le 
defendeur et appreciee de fac;:on objective et critique par 
le tribunal de premiere instance. [Renvois om is; p. 833-
834.] 

A mon avis, !'opinion du juge Kennedy reflete 
mieux !'experience caoadienne sur cette question. 
11 s'est revele difficile et parfois paradoxal de limi­
ter l'enquete aux circonstances entourant la declara­
tion. Notre Cour elle-meme n'a pas toujours adopte 
cette approche restrictive. De plus, je ne juge pas 
convaincante la preoccupation des juges majori­
taires quant au caractere « autocorroborant » de 
la preuve corroborante. A cet egard, je suis d'ac­
cord avec les commentaires suivants du professeur 
Paciocco concernant le raisonoement majoritaire 
de l'arret Idaho c. Wright (p. 36) : 

[TRADUCTION] Le raisonnement final propose veut 
qu'admettre une preuve simplement parce qu' une autre 
preuve etablit qu'elle est fiable en ferait une preuve 
« autocorroborante ». En fait , on reserve generalement 
cette etiquette aux arguments circulaires selon les­
quels un element de preuve douteux « s'appuie sur lui­
meme » pour s'eriger en exception. Par exemple, une 
partie soutient qu'elle peut s'appuyer sur une declara­
tion relatee parce qu'elle a ete faite sous une pression 
ou contrainte telle que la possibilite d'invention peut 
etre ecartee a juste titre, mais s'appuie ensuite sur le 
contenu de cette meme declaration pour prouver I' exis­
tence de cette pression ou contrainte [Ratten c. R., 
[1972] A.C. 378 (P.C.)]. Ou encore, une partie affirme 
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was a statement made by an opposing party litigant, 
but then relies on the contents of the statement to prove 
it was made by an opposing party litigant: see R. v. 
Evans, [1991] 1 S.C.R. 869. Looking to other evidence 
to confirm the reliability of evidence, the thing Idaho 
v. Wright purports to prevent, is the very antithesis of 
"bootstrapping". 

7. Application to This Case 

Mr. Skupien's statements to the cook, Ms. 
Stangrat, to the doctor and to the police constituted 
hearsay. The Crown sought to introduce the state­
ments for the truth of their contents. In the con­
text of this trial, the evidence was very important 
- indeed the two charges against Mr. Khelawon in 
respect of this complainant were entirely based on 
the truthfulness of the allegations contained in his 
statements. 

Mr. Skupien's hearsay statements were presump­
tively inadmissible. None of the traditional hearsay 
exceptions could assist the Crown in proving its 
case. The evidence could only be admitted under 
the principled exception to the hearsay rule. 

Mr. Skupien's death before the trial made it nec­
essary for the Crown to resort to Mr. Skupien's evi­
dence in its hearsay form. It was conceded through­
out that the necessity requirement had been met. 
The case therefore turned on whether the evidence 
was sufficiently reliable to warrant admission. 

Since Mr. Skupien had died before the trial, he 
was no longer available to be seen, heard and cross­
examined in court. There was no opportunity for 
contemporaneous cross-examination. Nor had there 
been an opportunity for cross-examination at any 
other hearing. Although Mr. Skupien was elderly 
and frail at the time he made the allegations, there 
is no evidence that the Crown attempted to preserve 
his evidence by application under ss. 709 to 714 of 
the Criminal Code. He did not testify at the prelim­
inary hearing. The record does not disclose if he 
had died by that time. In making these comments, I 

qu'elle peut cornpter sur la veracite d'une declaration 
parce qu'elle a ete faite par une partie opposee, mais 
s'appuie ensuite sur le contenu de la declaration pour 
prouver qu'elle a ere faite par une partie opposee : voir 
R. c. Evans, [1991] 1 R.C.S. 869. S'en remettre a un 
autre element de preuve pour confirmer la fiabilite 
d'une preuve, ce que l'arret Idaho c. Wright vise a pre­
venir, est l'antithese merne de la preuve « autocorrobo­
rante ». 

7. Application a la presente affaire 

Les declarations que M. Skupien a faites a la 
cuisiniere, Mme Stangrat, au medecin et a la police 
constituaient du ou!-dire. Le ministere public cher­
chait a presenter ces declarations pour etablir la 
veracite de leur contenu. Dans le contexte du pre­
sent proces, cette preuve etait tres importante -
en fait, Jes deux accusations portees contre M. 
Khelawon relativement a ce plaignant reposaient 
entierement sur la veracite des allegations conte­
nues dans Jes declarations de ce dernier. 

Les declarations relatees de M. Skupien etaient 
presumees inadmissibles. Aucune des exceptions 
traditionnelles a la regle du ou!-dire ne pouvait 
aider le ministere public a etablir sa preuve. La 
preuve ne pouvait etre admise qu'en application de 
!'exception raisonnee a la regle du oui:-dire. 

Le deces de M. Skupien avant le proces a force 
le ministere public a recourir a son temoignage 
sous sa forme relatee. Il a ete concede dans toutes 
les cours que l'on avait satisfait a l'exigence de 
necessite. Il s'agissait done de savoir si le temoi­
gnage etait suffisamment fiable pour etre admis en 
preuve. 

Com me M. Skupien etait decede avant le proces, 
il ne pouvait plus etre vu, entendu et contre­
interroge en cour. 11 ne pouvait pas etre contre­
interroge au moment prfris de sa declaration. Il 
n'y avait pas eu non plus d'autre possibilite de le 
contre-interroger a aucune autre audience. Meme 
si M. Skupien etait age et frele au moment de ses 
allegations, rien ne prouve que le ministere public 
a tente de preserver son temoignage en application 
des art. 709 a 714 du Code criminel. M. Skupien n'a 
pas temoigne a l'enquete preliminaire. Le dossier 
n'indique pas s'il etait decede a cette epoque. En 
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do not question the fact that it was necessary for the 
Crown to resort to Mr. Skupien's evidence in hear­
say form. Necessity is conceded. However, in an 
appropriate case, the court in deciding the question 
of necessity may well question whether the propo­
nent of the evidence made all reasonable efforts to 
secure the evidence of the declarant in a manner 
that also preserves the rights of the other party. 
That issue is not raised here. 

The fact remains however that the absence of 
any opportunity to cross-examine Mr. Skupien has 
a bearing on the question of reliability. The central 
concern arising from the hearsay nature of the evi­
dence is the inability to test his allegations in the 
usual way. The evidence is not admissible unless 
there is a sufficient substitute basis for testing the 
evidence or the contents of the statement are suffi­
ciently trustworthy. 

Obviously, there was no case to be made here on 
the presence of adequate substitutes for testing the 
evidence. This is not a Hawkins situation where the 
difficulties presented by the unavailability of the 
declarant were easily overcome by the availability 
of the preliminary hearing transcript where there 
had been an opportunity to cross-examine the com­
plainant in a hearing that dealt with essentially the 
same issues. Nor is this a B. (KG.) situation where 
the presence of an oath and a video were coupled 
with the availability of the declarant at trial. There 
are no adequate substitutes here for testing the evi­
dence. There is the police video - nothing more. 
The principled exception to the hearsay rule does 
not provide a vehicle for founding a conviction on 
the basis of a police statement, videotaped or other­
wise, without more. In order to meet the reliability 
requirement in this case, the Crown could only rely 
on the inherent trustworthiness of the statement. 

In my respectful view, there was no case to be 
made on that basis either. This was not a situation 

faisant ces cornmentaires, je ne remets pas en ques­
tion la necessite pour le ministere public de recourir 
au temoignage sous forme relatee de M. Skupien. 
Je reconnais que c'etait necessaire. Toutefois, dans 
une instance appropriee, il se peut bien que, pour 
trancher la question de la necessite, le tribunal se 
demande si la partie qui veut presenter la preuve a 
deploye tous les efforts raisonnables pour preserver 
la preuve du declarant de maniere a preserver ega­
lement Jes droits de l'autre partie. Cette question ne 
se pose pas en l'espece. 

Il reste toutefois que !'absence de possibilite de 
contre-interroger M. Skupien a une incidence sur la 
question de la fiabilite. La preoccupation majeure 
que suscite le caractere relate de la preuve est l'in­
capacite de verifier de la maniere habituelle Jes 
allegations que cette preuve comporte. La preuve 
est inadmissible a moins qu'il y ait un autre motif 
suffisant de ]a verifier OU que le contenu de la decla­
ration soit suffisamment fiable. 

De toute evidence, ii n'y avait aucune preuve 
a faire en l'espece au sujet de !'existence d'autres 
moyens adequats de verifier la preuve. Il ne s'agit 
pas d'une situation comme celle dans l'affaire 
Hawkins ou Jes difficultes presentees par la non­
disponibilite de la declarante pouvaient facilement 
etre surmontees par le fait que l'on disposait de la 
transcription de !'audience preliminaire ou on avait 
eu l'occasion de contre-interroger la plaignante 
dans le cadre d'une audience portant essentielle­
ment sur les rnemes questions en litige. II ne s'agit 
pas non plus d'une situation comme celle dans l'af­
faire B. (KG.) ou un serment et une bande video 
s'ajoutaient a la disponibilite du declarant au proces. 
II n'y a en l'espece aucun autre moyen adequat de 
verifier la preuve. Il y a la bande video de la police 
- rien d'autre. L'exception raisonnee a la regle du 
oui:-dire ne constitue pas un moyen de fonder une 
declaration de culpabilite sur une declaration faire 
a la police sur bande video ou autrement, sans plus. 
Pour satisfaire a !'exigence de fiabilite en l'espece, 
le ministere public ne pouvait se fonder que sur la 
fiabilite inherente de la declaration. 

A mon avis, il n'y avait aucune preuve a faire 
sur ce fondement non plus. II ne s'agissait pas d'une 
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as in Khan where the cogency of the evidence was 
such that, in the words of Wigmore, it would be 
"pedantic to insist on a test whose chief object is 
already secured" (§ 1420, at p. 154). To the con­
trary, much as in the case of the third statement 
ruled inadmissible in Smith, the circumstances 
raised a number of serious issues such that it would 
be impossible to say that the evidence was unlikely 
to change under cross-examination. Mr. Skupien 
was elderly and frail. His mental capacity was at 
issue - the medical records contained repeated 
diagnoses of paranoia and dementia. There was 
also the possibility that his injuries were caused by 
a fall rather than an assault - the medical records 
revealed a number of complaints of fatigue, weak­
ness and dizziness and the examining physician, 
Dr. Pietraszek, testified that the injuries could have 
resulted from a fall (A.R., vol. II, at p. 259). The evi­
dence of the garbage bags filled with Mr. Skupien's 
possessions provided little assistance in assessing 
the likely truth of his statement - he could have 
filled those bags himself. Ms. Stangrat's obvious 
motive to discredit Mr. Khelawon presented fur­
ther difficulties. The initial allegations were made 
to her - Dr. Pietraszek acknowledged in his evi­
dence that when he saw Mr. Skupien, Ms. Stangrat 
was present and may have helped him by giving 
some indication of what happened. The extent to 
which Mr. Skupien may have been influenced in 
making his statement by this disgruntled employee 
was a live issue. Mr. Skupien had issues of his own 
with the way the retirement home was managed. 
This is apparent from his rambling complaints on 
the police video itself. The absence of an oath and 
the simple "yes" in answer to the police officer's 
question as to whether he understood that it was 
important to tell the truth do not give much insight 
on whether he truly understood the consequences 
for Mr. Khelawon of making his statement. In 
these circumstances, Mr. Skupien's unavailability 
for cross-examination posed significant limitations 
on the accused's ability to test the evidence and, in 
turn, on the trier of fact's ability to properly assess 
its worth. 

situation comme celle dans l'arret Khan ou la force 
probante de la preuve etait telle que, cornme l'a 
affirme Wigmore, ii serait [TRADUCTION] « trop 
pointilleux d'insister sur une epreuve dont l'objet 
principal est deja atteint » (§ 1420, p. 154). Au con­
traire, tout conune dans le cas de la troisieme declara­
tion ju gee inadmissible dans 1 'arret Smith, Jes circon­
stances soulevaient un certain nombre de questions 
serieuses de sorte qu'il etait impossible de dire que 
cette preuve ne serait pas susceptible de changer !ors 
d'un contre-interrogatoire. M. Skupien etait age et 
frele. Sa capacite mentale etait en cause - Jes dossi­
ers medicaux faisaient etat de diagnostics repetes de 
parano!a et de demence. Il y avait egalement la pos­
sibilite que ses blessures aient resulte d'une chute 
plutol que d'une agression - Jes dossiers medicaux 
revelaient un certain nombre de plaintes de fatigue, 
de faiblesse et d'etourdissements et le medecin 
traitant, le Dr Pietraszek, a temoigne que !es bles­
sures pouvaient etre dues a une chute (d.a., vol. II, 
p. 259). Les sacs a ordures remplis d'effets person­
nels de M. Skupien etaient peu utiles pour deter­
miner si la declaration etait susceptible d'etre veri­
dique - il pouvait avoir rempli ces sacs lui-meme. 
D'autres difficultes resultaient du motif evident que 
Mme Stangrat avait de discrediter M. Khelawon. Les 
premieres allegations ont ete formulees devant elle 
- dans son temoignage, le Dr Pietraszek a reconnu 
que Mme Stangrat etait presente lorsqu'il a rencon­
tre M. Skupien et qu'elle pouvait avoir aide ce dern­
ier en fournissant des indices sur ce qui s'etait pro­
duit. Il fallait determiner dans quelle mesure cette 
employee mecontente pouvait avoir influence M. 
Skupien lorsqu'il a fait sa declaration. M. Skupien 
avait lui-meme certaines recriminations au sujet de 
la fac;:on dont la maison de retraite etait geree. Cela 
ressort de ses plaintes incoherentes contenues dans 
l'enregistrement video de la police. L'absence de ser­
ment et le simple « oui » repondu lorsque le policier 
lui a demande s'il comprenait qu'il etait important 
de dire la verite n'aident pas beaucoup a determiner 
s'il saisissait vraiment !es consequences de sa decla­
ration pour M. Khelawon. Dans ces circonstances, 
l'impossibilite de contre-interroger M. Skupien 
limitait considerablement la capacite de !'accuse de 
verifier la preuve et, partant, la capacite du juge des 
faits d'en determiner correctement la valeur. 
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As indicated earlier, the crux of the trial judge's 
finding that the evidence was sufficiently trust­
worthy was based on the "striking similarities" 
between the statements of the five complainants. As 
Rosenberg J.A., I too would not reject the possibil­
ity that the presence of a striking similarity between 
statements from different complainants could well 
provide sufficient cogency to warrant the admis­
sion of hearsay evidence in an appropriate case. 
However, the statements made by the other com­
plainants in this case posed even greater difficulties 
and could not be substantively admitted to assist 
in assessing the reliability of Mr. Skupien's allega­
tions. For example, the videotaped interview with 
Mr. Dinino which formed the basis of the second 
conviction against Mr. Khelawon was nine minutes 
in length. It was preceded by a 30-minute interview 
with the police. The police officer had no notes of 
the initial interview. Constable Pietroniro acknowl­
edged that it "was very difficult" to get Mr. Dinino 
to answer questions and that much of the videotape 
is inaudible. Constable Pietroniro would gener­
ally put to Mr. Dinino what he thought Mr. Dinino 
was saying and Mr. Dinino would respond "yes" 
or "yeah". Constable Pietroniro agreed that he was 
making an educated guess as to what Mr. Dinino 
was saying and that there were some things said by 
Mr. Dinino that he did not understand. Quite apart 
from these difficulties, it is also far from clear on 
the record on precisely what features the trial judge 
based his finding that there was a "striking similar­
ity" between the various statements. However, I do 
not find it necessary to elaborate on this point. The 
admissibility of the other statements is no longer 
in issue. The Court of Appeal unanimously ruled 
them inadmissible. 

I conclude that the evidence did not meet the 
reliability requirement. The majority of the Court 
of Appeal was correct to rule it inadmissible. 

8. Conclusion 

For these reasons, I would dismiss the appeal. 

Comme nous l'avons vu, la conclusion du juge 
du proces que la preuve etait suffisamment fiable 
reposait essentiellement sur !es « similitudes frap­
pantes » entre les declarations des cinq plaignants. 
A l'instar du juge Rosenberg, je suis moi aussi d'avis 
de ne pas ecarter le fait que !'existence d'une simili­
tude frappante entre les declarations de divers plai­
gnants pourrait bien etre suf fisamment probante 
pour justifier !'admission d'une preuve par ou1-dire 
dans un cas approprie. Toutefois, les declarations 
des autres plaignants en l'espece presentaient des 
difficultes encore plus grandes et ne pouvaient etre 
admises quant au fond pour aider a apprecier la fia­
bilite des allegations de M. Skupien. Par exemple, 
l'entretien enregistre sur bande video de M. Dinino, 
sur lequel reposait la deuxieme declaration de 
culpabilite de M. Khelawon, durait neuf minutes et 
avait ete precede d'un entretien de 30 minutes avec 
la police. Le policier ne possedait aucune note de 
l'entretien initial. L'agent Pietroniro a reconnu qu'il 
etait [TRADUCTION] « tres difficile» d'obtenir des 
reponses de M. Dinino et qu'une grande partie de 
l'enregistrement etait inaudible. 11 repetait generale­
ment a M. Dinino ce qu'il croyait que celui-ci avait 
dit, et M. Dinino repondait par « oui » OU « ouais ». 
L'agent Pietroniro a reconnu qu'il faisait des suppo­
sitions eclairees au sujet de ce que M. Dinino disait 
et qu'il n'avait pas saisi certains propos de ce der­
nier. Outre ces difficultes, le dossier est loin d'indi­
quer clairement sur quelles caracteristiques precises 
le juge du proces s'est fonde pour conclure a !'exis­
tence d'une « similitude frappante » entre !es diver­
ses declarations. Toutefois, je ne juge pas necessaire 
de m'etendre sur cette question. L'admissibilite des 
autres declarations n'est plus en cause. La Cour 
d'appel a decide, a l'unanimite, qu'elles etaient 
inadmissibles. 

Je conclus que la preuve ne satisfait pas a !'exi­
gence de fiabilite. Les juges majoritaires de la Cour 
d'appel ont eu raison de la declarer inadmissible. 

8. Conclusion 

Pour ces motifs, je suis d'avis de rejeter le 
pourvoi. 
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Appeal dismissed. 
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Droit criminel - Preuve - Oui~dire - Admissibilite 
- Exception des intentions existantes - Accuse declare 
coupable de meurtre au premier degre -Admission par 
lejuge du proces de la declaration d'intention de la vic­
time - La declaration est-elle admissible en vertu de 
! 'exception des «intentions existantes» a la regle du our­
dire? - La declaration est-elle admissible en vertu de 
lafa9onfondee sur des principes d 'aborder l'admissibi­
lite de la preuve par oui"-dire? - Les exceptions a la 
regle du oui~dire doivent-elles etre conformes a lafa9on 
fondee sur des principes d'aborder l'admissibilite de la 
preuve par oui~dire? - La preuve par oui~dire qui 
releve d'une exception traditionnelle peut-elle tout de 
meme etre inadmissible si elle n 'est pas suffisamment 
fiable et necessaire? 

Droit criminel - Preuve - Oui~dire - Admissibilite 
- Exception de ! 'identification anterieure - Accuse 
declare coupable de meurtre au premier degre -
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police officers' testimony regarding out-of-court identi­
fication by witness - Witness not testifying at trial that 
she had made out-of-court identification - Whether 
police evidence admissible under traditional exception 
to hearsay rule - Whether police evidence admissible 
under principled approach to hearsay admissibility. 

Criminal law - Charge to jwy - Reasonable doubt 
- Accused convicted of first degree murder - Whether 
trial judge explained concept of reasonable doubt to 
jwy in adequate manner. 

The accused was convicted of two counts of first 
degree murder. He had been accused of shooting C and 
W by the side of a highway. C and W had been drinking 
with the accused in a hotel. Outside, C and W offered a 
couple a ride home in W's station wagon. W drove, and 
the group first stopped at an adjacent gas station, where 
G, a sometime girlfriend of C, approached the station 
wagon and had a conversation with C. During the con­
versation, G observed a car beside the gas station, and 
saw the accused in the car. She became angry with C 
because he was out with W rather than her, and she 
walked away from the car. C got out of the car and fol­
lowed her into a Janeway, where they had a further con­
versation. G asked C why he would not come home with 
her. According to G, C replied that he had to "go and do 
an Autopac scam with Robert". She understood 
"Robert" to be the accused. A day or two later, G saw a 
picture in the newspaper of what she believed was the 
car in which she had seen the accused. The car had been 
found at the scene of the murder. She phoned the police 
and told them she had seen the car on the night of the 
murders at the gas station, with the accused in it. The 
Crown's theory was that the killing was a gang-related 
execution peIJJetrated by the accused. W was an unfor­
tunate witness who was killed simply because she was 
in the wrong place at the wrong time. The theory was 
that the accused had used an Autopac scam as a pretext 
to get C out into the countryside. The trial judge found 
that G's anticipated testimony regarding the scam was 
admissible under the "present intentions" or "state of 
mind" exception to the hearsay rule. 

Admission par le juge du proces du temoignage des 
policiers concernant I 'identification extrajudiciaire par 
un temoin - Temoin n 'a.ffirmant pas au proces avoir 
procede a une identification extrajudiciaire - Le temoi­
gnage des policiers est-ii admissible en vertu d'une 
exception traditionnelle a la regle du oui~dire? - Le 
temoignage des policiers est-ii admissible en vertu de la 
fa9on fondee sur des principes d 'aborder l 'admissibilite 
de la preuve par oui~dire? 

Droit criminel - Expose au jwy - Doute raisonna­
ble - Accuse declare coupable de meurtre au premier 
degre - Le juge du proces a-t-il su.ffisamment explique 
au jwy la notion de doute raisonnable? 

L'accuse a ete declare coupable relativement a deux 
chefs d'accusation de meurtre au premier degre. II avait 
ete inculpe d'avoir abattu C et W sur l'accotement d'une 
route. C et W avaient pris un verre avec !'accuse dans 
un hotel. A l'extfaieur, C et Wont offert a uncouple de 
!es raccompagner chez eux dans la familiale de W. W a 
pris le volant et le groupe a fait un premier arret a une 
station-service voisine, OU G, qui frequentait ca !'occa­
sion, s'est approchee de la familia le et s'est entretenue 
avec C. Pendant cette conversation, G a remarque la 
presence d'une automobile a cote de la station-service et 
a apen;:u !'accuse a l'interieur de celle-ci. Elle s'est mise 
en colere contre C parce qu'il etait en compagnie de W 
au lieu d'etre avec elle, et s'est eloignee de !'automo­
bile. C est descendu de !'auto et a suivi G dans une 
ruelle, ou ils ont eu une autre conversation. G a 
demande a C pourquoi il ne la raccompagnerait pas chez 
elle. Selon G, C a repondu qu ' il devait «aller frauder 
!' Autopac avec Robert». Elle a compris que «Robert» 
etait !'accuse. Le lendemain OU le surlendemain, Ga cru 
reconnaltre, sur une photo dans le journal, !'automobile 
dans laquelle elle avait apen;:u !'accuse. Cette automo­
bile avait ete decouverte sur Jes lieux du meurtre. Elle a 
telephone a Ja police pour !'informer que, Ja nuit Oll Jes 
meurtres avaient ete commis, elle avait apen;:u !'automo­
bile en question a la station-service et que !'accuse s'y 
trouvait. La these du ministere public etait que !'accuse 
avait execute sa victime en raison de son appartenance a 
une bande. w etait un temoin malchanceux qui a ete tue 
simplement parce qu'il se trouvait a la mauvaise 
place au mauvais moment. Selon cette these, !' accuse 
s 'etait servi de la fraude de I' Autopac comme pretexte 
pour entrainer C a la campagne. Le juge du proces a 
conclu que le temoignage prevu de G au sujet de la 
fraude etait admissible en vertu de !'exception des 
«intentions existantes» OU de J'«etat d'esprit» a Ja regJe 
du ou'i-dire. 
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Two police officers visited the couple who had been 
given a ride. One of the officers testified that the wife, 
B, had told them that she bad seen a man talking to C at 
the gas station. The officer testified that B indicated that 
the man in one of the photographs she was shown 
looked like the man whom she had seen at the gas sta­
tion talking to C and who was also "probably driving 
the other car". The photograph was a photo of the 
accused. Following a voir dire the trial judge ruled that 
the officers' anticipated testimony was admissible pur­
suant to the prior identification exception to the hearsay 
rule, notwithstanding the fact that B had not testified at 
trial as to having seen a man talking to C at the gas sta­
tion, or as to having identified that man in one of the 
photographs presented to her by the police. 

The Court of Appeal, in a majority decision, upheld 
the convictions. At issue here is whether the court erred 
in affirming the trial judge 's decision to admit G's testi­
mony regarding a statement of intention made by the 
deceased C, in affirming the trial judge 's decision to 
admit the testimony of the police officers regarding B 's 
out-of-court identification and in finding that the trial 
judge had explained the concept of reasonable doubt to 
the jury in an adequate manner. 

Held (McLacblin C.J. and L'Heureux-Dube, Gonthier 
and Bastarache JJ. dissenting) : The appeal should be 
allowed and a new trial ordered. 

Per Iacobucci, Major, Binnie, Arbour and LeBel JJ. : 
Since C's out-of-court statement to G that be had to "go 
and do an Autopac scam with Robert", meaning the 
accused, is sought to be adduced in order to prove the 
truth of its contents, G's testimony regarding C's state­
ment to her is hearsay and would generally be inadmis­
sible as such. The "state of mind" or "present inten­
tions" exception to the hearsay rule as it has developed 
in Canada permits the admission into evidence of state­
ments of intent or of other mental states for the truth of 
their contents and also, in the case of statements of 
intention in particular, to support an inference that the 
declarant followed through on the intended course of 
action, provided it is reasonable on the evidence for the 
trier of fact to infer that the declarant did so. A state­
ment of intention cannot be admitted to prove the inten­
tions of someone other than the declarant, unless a hear-

[2000] 2 S.C.R. 

Deux policiers ont rendu visite au couple qui s'etait 
fait raccompagner en voiture. L'un d'eux a temoigne 
que la femme, B, leur avait declare avoir vu un homme 
parler a C a la station-service. Le policier a temoigne 
que B avait indique que l'homme figurant sur l'une des 
photos qu 'on Jui avait montrees ressemblait a l'bomme 
qu'elle avait vu parler a ca la station-service et qui, de 
plus, «conduisait probablement l'autre automobile». La 
photo en cause etait une photo de l 'accuse. A la suite 
d'un voir-dire, le juge du proces a decide que le temoi­
gnage prevu des deux policiers etait admissible en vertu 
de I' exception de l' identification anterieure a la regle du 
ou·i-dire, malgre le fait que B n'avait pas temoigne au 
proces qu 'elle avait vu un homme s'entretenir avec Ca 
la station-service ou qu'elle avait identifie cet homme 
sur l'une des photographies que lui avaient montrees les 
policiers. 

Dans un arret majoritaire, la Cour d'appel a confirme 
Jes declarations de culpabilite. II s'agit en l'espece de 
savoir si la cour a commis une erreur en confirmant la 
decision du juge du proces d'admettre le temoignage de 
G concemant la declaration d'intention de feu C, en 
confirmant la decision du juge du proces d'admettre le 
temoignage des policiers concernant !'identification 
extrajudiciaire par B et en concluant que le juge du pro­
ces avait suffisamrnent explique au jury la notion de 
doute raisonnable. 

Arret (le juge en chef McLachlin et Jes juges 
L'Heureux-Dube, Gonthier et Bastarache sont dissi­
dents): Le pourvoi est accueilli et un nouveau proces 
ordonne. 

Les juges Iacobucci, Major, Binnie, Arbour et LeBel: 
Etant donne que le but dans lequel on cherche a presen­
ter la declaration extrajudiciaire de C a G selon laquel!e 
ii devait «aller frauder I' Autopac avec Robert», 
c'est-a-dire !'accuse, est d'etablir la veracite de son con­
tenu, le temoignage de G concemant la declaration que 
lui avait faite C est du ou·i-dire et serait generalement 
inadmissible pour cette raison. L'exception de l '«etat 
d'esprit» OU des «intentions existantes» a Ja regJe du 
ou'i-dire qui est appliquee au Canada permet !'admission 
en preuve des declarations d'intention et d'autres etats 
d'esprit pour etablir la veracite de leur contenu et, 
notamment dans le cas des declarations d' intention, pour 
etayer la deduction que le declarant a donne suite a la 
fayon dont ii comptait agir, pourvu que la preuve per­
mette raisonnablement au juge des faits de deduire que 
le declarant !'a fait. Une declaration d' intention ne 
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say exception can be established for each level of 
hearsay. The trial judge erred in admitting C's statement 
to G under the present intentions exception and, having 
admitted it, in not limiting its use by the jury. The state­
ment contained no indicia of reliability since it was 
made under circumstances of suspicion. C may have had 
a motive to lie in order to make it seem that he was not 
romantically involved with W, and could easily point to 
the accused, who was sitting nearby in a car but out of 
earshot, as being the person with whom he was going to 
do an Autopac scam. Moreover, the trial judge failed to 
instruct the jury that the statement was only admissible 
as evidence regarding the intentions of C, not the 
accused. It is well-established that when a piece of evi­
dence may conceivably be put to both proper and 
improper uses, the trial judge in a criminal case must 
give the jury a limiting instruction regarding the pe1mis­
sible inferences that may be drawn from the evidence. In 
this case the trial judge did not instruct the jury on the 
proper uses of C's statement; in fact, he did the opposite 
by expressly inviting the jury to use the evidence to 
infer the accused's intentions. In so doing, he clearly 
committed an error of law warranting reversal. Finally, 
when properly limited, the evidence was more prejudi­
cial than probative. The trial judge erred by not consid­
ering whether the prejudicial effect of the prohibited use 
of the evidence overbears its probative value on the per­
mitted use. The impermissible inferences that the jury 
might well have drawn from C's statement are that the 
accused was in the car that followed C, that the accused 
was alone in the car (since C referred only to the 
accused), and that the accused went with C as part of a 
plan to lure C to a secluded area and kill him. The preju­
dicial effect of the admission of C's statement out­
weighed the statement's probative value. The statement 
ought to have been excluded on this basis as well. 

In Khan, Smith, and subsequent cases, this Court 
allowed the admission of hearsay not fitting within an 
established exception where it was sufficiently reliable 
and necessary to address the traditional hearsay dangers. 
This concern for reliability and necessity should be no 
less present when the hearsay is sought to be introduced 

saurait etre admise pour prouver !es intentions d'une 
personne autre que le declarant a moins qu ' il ne soit 
possible d'etablir qu'une exception a la regle du ou·i-dire 
s'applique a chaque niveau de ou·i-dire. Le juge du pro­
ces a eu tort d'admettre la declaration de Ca Gen vertu 
de !'exception des intentions existantes et de ne pas en 
delimiter !'utilisation par le jury apres l'avoir admise. 
La declaration n'offrait aucun signe de fiabilite etant 
donne qu 'elle a ete faite dans des circonstances douteu­
ses. C pouvait avoir eu un motif de mentir dans le but de 
faire croire qu'il n'avait aucune liaison amoureuse avec 
W, et c'est avec facilite qu 'il a pu indiquer que !'accuse, 
qui se trouvait dans une automobile stationnee tout pres 
mais qui etait trop loin pour entendre ce qui se disait, 
etait la personne avec qui ii allait frauder I' Autopac. En 
outre, le juge du proces n'a pas dit au jury que la decla­
ration en cause etait admissible pour etablir !es inten­
tions de C seulement et non celles de !'accuse. II est 
reconnu que, si, en theorie, ii peut y avoir a la fois 
bmme utilisation et mauvaise utilisation d 'un element de 
preuve, le juge du proces en matiere criminelle doit don­
ner au jury une directive restrictive concemant les 
deductions acceptables qui peuvent etre faites de la 
preuve. En l'espece, le juge du proces n'a donne au jury 
aucune directive sur Jes utilisations qui pouvaient etre 
faites de la declaration de C; en realite, ii a fait le con­
traire en invitant expressement le jury a utiliser cet ele­
ment de preuve pour deduire Jes intentions de !'accuse. 
Ce faisant, ii a manifestement comrnis une erreur de 
droit justifiant revision. Enfin, meme si son utilisation 
avait ete delimitee correctement, la preuve etait plus 
prejudiciable que probante. Le juge du proces a commis 
une erreur en ne se demandant pas si l'effet prejudicia­
ble de !'utilisation interdite de la preuve l'emporte sur sa 
valeur probante relative a I 'utilisation permise. Les 
deductions inacceptables que le jury aurait bien pu faire 
a partir de la declaration de c sont que !'accuse etait 
dans !'automobile qui a suivi C, qu'il etait seul dans 
cette automobile (puisque C n'a mentionne que !'ac­
cuse) et qu'il avait accompagne C dans le cadre d'un 
plan visant a attirer C dans un endroit retire pour le tuer. 
L'effet prejudiciable de I' admission de la declaration de 
C l'emportait sur la va!eur probante de cette declaration. 
La declaration aurait egalement dG etre ecartee pour ce 
motif. 

Dans Jes arrets Khan et Smith et d'autres arrets subse­
quents, notre Cour a permis !'admission d'elements de 
preuve par ouT-dire qui ne relevaient pas d'une excep­
tion reconnue, lorsque ces elements de preuve etaient 
suffisamrnent fiables et necessaires pour remedier aux 
dangers traditimmels du ouT-dire. Cette preoccupation 
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under an established exception. This is particularly true 
in the criminal context given the fundamental principle 
of justice, protected by the Canadian Charter of Rights 
and Freedoms, that the innocent must not be convicted. 
It would compromise trial fairness, and raise the spectre 
of wrongful convictions, if the Crown is allowed to 
introduce unreliable hearsay against the accused, regard­
less of whether it happens to fall within an existing 
exception. In addition to improving trial fairness, bring­
ing the hearsay exceptions into line with the principled 
approach will also improve the intellectual coherence of 
the law of hearsay. To the extent that the various excep­
tions may conflict with the requirements of a principled 
analysis, it is the principled analysis that should prevail. 
It is nevertheless important for a court to exercise a cer­
tain degree of caution when reconsidering the traditional 
exceptions, which continue to play an important role 
under the principled approach. In some rare cases, it 
may be possible under the particular circumstances of a 
case for evidence clearly falling within an otherwise 
valid exception nonetheless not to meet the principled 
approach's requirements of necessity and reliability. In 
such a case, the evidence would have to be excluded. 
However, these cases will no doubt be unusual, and the 
party challenging the admissibility of evidence falling 
within a traditional exception will bear the burden of 
showing that the evidence should nevertheless be inad­
missible. The trial judge will determine the procedure 
(whether by voir dire or otherwise) to determine admis­
sibility under the principled approach 's requirements of 
reasonable necessity and reliability. 

C's statement to G was also inadmissible under the 
principled approach. Since it was made under "circum­
stances of suspicion", the statement was not reliable. 
Nor are there any other circumstantial guarantees of 
trustworthiness that could render the statement reliable. 
Having found that the statement is unreliable, it is 
unnecessary to go on to ask whether it was necessary or 
not. Since it does not fall under an existing exception 
either, the courts below erred in admitting this evidence. 
There was no serious argument that the error was one 
that could be saved by the curative proviso. 

[2000] 2 S.C.R. 

de fiabilite et de necessite ne doit pas etre moindre lors­
qu 'on cherche a presenter une preuve par ou"i-dire en 
vertu d'une exception reconnue. Cela est particuliere­
ment vrai en matiere criminelle, etant donne que la regle 
selon laquelle !'innocent ne doit pas etre declare coupa­
ble est un principe de justice fondamentale garanti par la 
Charle canadienne des droits et libertes. Si on permet­
tait au ministere public de presenter une preuve par ou"i­
dire non fiable contre !'accuse, peu irnporte qu'elle se 
trouve ou non a relever d'tme exception existante, cela 
compromettrait l'equite du proces et ferait appara!tre le 
spectre des declarations de culpabilite erronees. En plus 
d'ameliorer l'equite du proces, le fait d' adapter !es 
exceptions a la regle du ou"i-dire a la methode fondee sur 
des principes augmentera egalement la coherence intel­
lectuelle du droit de la preuve par ou"i-dire. Dans la 
mesure ou ii peut exister un conflit entre !es di verses 
exceptions et !es exigences d'une analyse fondee sur des 
principes, c'est cette derniere qui doit l'emporter. II est 
toutefois important qu'un tribunal demontre une cer­
taine prudence en reexaminant !es exceptions tradition­
nelles, qui continuent de jouer un role important dans la 
methode fondee sur des principes. II se peut egalement 
que, dans de rares cas, des circonstances particulieres 
fassent en sorte qu'une preuve manifestement visee par 
une exception par ailleurs valide ne satisfasse toutefois 
pas aux exigences de necessite et de fiabilite de la 
methode fondee sur des principes. En pareils cas, la 
preuve devrait etre ecartee. Toutefois, ces cas seront cer­
tes inhabituels et la partie qui conteste l' admissibilite de 
la preuve visee par une exception traditionnelle aura le 
fardeau de demontrer que la preuve doit neanmoins etre 
inadmissible. Le juge du proces etablira la procedure 
(par voir-dire ou autrement) applicable pour determiner 
l'admissibilite en vertu des exigences de necessite et de 
fiabilite raiso1mables de la methode fondee sur des 
principes. 

La declaration de Ca G n'etait pas non plus admissi­
ble en vertu de la methode fondee sur des principes. 
Cette declaration n'etait pas fiable etant do1me qu'elle 
avait ete faite dans des «Circonstances douteuses». II n'y 
a pas non plus d 'autres garanties circonstancielles de 
fiabilite susceptibles de rendre la declaration fiable. 
Apres avoir conclu que la declaration n'est pas fiable, ii 
n, est pas necessaire de se demander si elle etait neces­
saire. Etant d01me qu'elle ne releve pas non plus d'une 
exception existante, !es cours d'instance inferieure ont 
commis une erreur en l'admettant en preuve. On n'a 
avance aucun argument serieux selon lequel ii pouvait 
etre remectie a ]'erreur au moyen de la disposition 
reparatrice. 
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The trial judge erred in admitting the police evidence 
regarding B's out-of-court identification under a tradi­
tional exception to the hearsay rule. Under the "prior 
identification" exception, prior statements identifying or 
describing the accused are admissible where the identi­
fying witness identifies the accused at trial, or where the 
identifying witness is unable to identify the accused at 
trial, but can testify that he or she previously gave an 
accurate description or made an accurate identification. 
These requirements are not satisfied in the circum­
stances of this case. Since B did not identify the accused 
in court, only the second branch of the exception could 
possibly be applicable. However, B did not testify that 
she could not remember whether the accused was the 
person whom she identified. She was not asked to com­
pare the accused with her recollections about the person 
she saw on the night of the murders. Accordingly, the 
underlying circumstances of necessity required to trig­
ger the second branch of the traditional exception did 
not exist. Moreover, the police evidence went far 
beyond the scope of the "prior identification" exception. 
The officers' testimony went beyond simply asserting 
that B had identified the accused, and provided almost 
the entirety of the narrative underlying the identifica­
tion. The police testimony was equally inadmissible 
under the principled approach. The testimony was not 
necessary, since B was a witness at trial and could have 
provided first-hand evidence, had the Crown chosen to 
question her on the point. Furthermore, there are strong 
indications that B's identification was unreliable. The 
trial judge's cautionary instruction to the jury was insuf­
ficient to remedy the harm caused by the admission of 
the evidence. 

The reasonable doubt instruction given in this case 
falls prey to many of the same difficulties outlined in 
Lifchus, and likely misled the jury as to the content of 
the criminal standard of proof. The key difficulty with 
this instruction is that it was not made clear to the jury 
that the Crown was required to do more than prove the 
accused's guilt on a balance of probabilities. The trial 
judge told the jury that they could convict on the basis 
of something less than absolute certainty of guilt, but 
did not explain, in essence, how much less. In addition, 
rather than telling the jury that the words "reasonable 
doubt" have a specific meaning in the legal context, the 
trial judge expressly instructed the jury that the words 
have no "special coll!lotation" and "no magic meaning 
that is peculiar to the Jaw". By asserting that absolute 

Le juge du proces a commis une erreur en se fondant 
sur une exception traditio1melle a la regle du ou'i-dire 
pour admettre le temoignage des policiers relativement a 
I 'identification extrajudiciaire par B. Aux termes de 
I 'exception de I' «identification anterieure», les declara­
tions anterieures qui identifient ou decrivent !'accuse 
sont admissibles lorsque le temoin auteur de !'identifica­
tion identifie !'accuse au prod$ ou lorsque le temoin 
auteur de !'identification est incapable d'identifier !'ac­
cuse au proces, mais peut affirmer qu'il a deja foumi 
une description ou une identification exacte. Dans !es 
circonstances de la presente affaire, ii n'a pas ete satis­
fait a ces exigences. Etant donne que B n'a pas identifie 
!'accuse en cour, seul le deuxieme volet de !'exception 
aurait pu s'appliquer. Cependant B n'a pas temoigne 
qu'elle etait incapable de se rappeler si !'accuse etait la 
persoll!le qu'elle avait identifiee. On ne lui a pas 
demande de comparer !'accuse a la persoll!le qu'elle se 
souvenait avoir apen;:ue la nuit des meurtres. Par conse­
quent, la situation sous-jacente de necessite requise pour 
declencher !'application du deuxieme volet de !'excep­
tion traditi01melle n'existait pas. De plus, le temoignage 
des policiers a excede de beaucoup la portee de !'excep­
tion de I' «identification anterieure» . En temoignant, !es 
policiers ne se sont pas contentes d'affirmer que B avait 
identifie !'accuse, et leur temoignage a constitue presque 
tout le recit sous-jacent a !'identification. Le temoignage 
des policiers etait tout aussi inadmissible selon la 
methode fondee sur des principes. II n'etait pas neces­
saire puisque B a temoigne au proces et aurait pu foumir 
une preuve originate si le ministere public avait choisi 
de l'interroger en consequence. II y a egalement de 
solides indices que !'identification faite par B n'etait pas 
fiable. La mise en garde que le juge du proces a faite au 
jury etait insuffisante pour remedier au tort cause par 
!'admission de la preuve. 

La directive sur le doute raisoll!lable qui a ete dollllee 
en l'espece pose, dans une large mesure, Jes memes dif­
ficultes que celles exposees dans l'arret Lifchus et elle a 
probablement induit le jury en erreur quant au contenu 
de la norme de preuve applicable en matiere criminelle. 
Le probleme fondamental que pose cette directive est 
qu'on n'a pas indique clairement au jury que le minis­
tere public etait tenu de faire plus qu'etablir la culpabi­
lite de I 'accuse selon la preponderance des probabilites. 
Le juge du proces a dit au jury qu'il pourrait prononcer 
une declaration de culpabilite en fonction d'une norme 
de preuve moindre que la certitude absolue de culpabi­
lite, sans pour autant expliquer essentiellement jusqu' a 
quel point elle pourrait etre infeneure a cette demiere 
norme. En outre, au lieu de dire au jury que Jes mots 
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certainty was not required, and then linking the standard 
of proof to the "ordinary everyday" meaning of the 
words "reasonable doubt", the trial judge could easily 
have been understood by the jury as asserting a 
probability standard as the applicable standard of proof. 
The trial judge did refer to the Crown's onus and to the 
presumption of innocence, and he stated that the 
accused should receive the benefit of any reasonable 
doubt. The error in the charge is that the jury was not 
told how a reasonable doubt is to be defined. As was 
emphasized repeatedly in Life/ms and again in Bisson, a 
jury must be instructed that the standard of proof in a 
criminal trial is higher than the probability standard 
used in making everyday decisions and in civil trials. In 
this case the jmy was not told that something more than 
probability was required in order to convict, and nearly 
all of the instructions they were given weakened the 
content of the reasonable doubt standard in such a man­
ner as to suggest that probability was indeed the requi­
site standard of proof. The reasonable likelihood that the 
jury applied the wrong standard of proof raises a realis­
tic possibility that the accused's convictions constitute a 
miscarriage of justice. 

Per L'Heureux-Dube and Gonthier JJ. (dissenting): 
The following framework of analysis should be adopted 
for hearsay statements. First, it must be determined 
whether the statement is hearsay. Second, the trial judge 
should determine whether the hearsay statement falls 
within an established exception to the hearsay rule. 
Third, if the evidence does not fall within an established 
exception, the trial judge should determine whether it 
would still be admissible under the principled approach. 
Fourth, the trial judge maintains the limited residual dis­
cretion to exclude evidence where the risk of undue 
prejudice substantially exceeds the evidence's probative 
value. Finally, once the statements are found admissible, 
it is for the trier of fact to weigh the evidence and make 
a determination as to the ultimate reliability of the hear­
say evidence at issue. The case-by-case application of 
the principled approach to statements falling within 
accepted exceptions to the rule against hearsay should 
not be countenanced. Individual cases may illuminate or 
illustrate the need to modify a particular traditional 
exception, but every piece of evidence that falls within a 
traditional exception should not be subjected to the prin-
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«doute raiso1mable» ant un sens particulier dans le con­
texte juridique, le juge du proces Jui a expressement dit 
que ces mots n'avaient aucune «c01motation particu­
liere» ni «aucun sens magique propre au droit». Lorsque 
le juge du proces a affirme que la certitude absolue 
n'etait pas requise et qu'il a ensuite lie la norme de 
preuve au sens «0rdinaire de taus Jes jours» de I' expres­
sion «doute raiso1mable», le jury aurait pu facilement 
comprendre qu'il disait qu 'm1e norme de probabilite 
etait la norme de preuve applicable. Le juge du proces a 
mentionne I' obligation du ministere public et la pre­
somption d ' innocence, et il a dit que l 'accuse devait 
beneficier de tout doute raisonnable. L'erreur de l'ex­
pose provient du fait que le jury n'a pas ete informe de 
la definition a donner au doute raisonnable. Comme on 
l'a souligne a maintes reprises dans Life/ms, puis de 
nouveau dans Bisson, il faut dire au jmy que la norme 
de preuve applicable dans un proces criminel est plus 
elevee que la norme de la preponderance des probabi­
lites qui est utilisee dans les decisions de taus Jes jours 
et dans Jes proces civils. En l'espece, on n'a pas dit au 
jury qu'il fallait plus qu'une probabilite pour qu 'il 
puisse prononcer une declaration de culpabilite, et pres­
que toutes Jes directives qui ant ete donnees ant affaibli 
le contenu de la norme du doute raisonnable au point 
d' indiquer que la probabilite etait effectivement la 
norme de preuve requise. La probabilite raisonnable que 
le jury ait applique la mauvaise norme de preuve sou­
leve une possibilite realiste que Jes declarations de cul­
pabilite de !'accuse constituent une erreur judiciaire. 

Les juges L'Heureux-Dube et Gonthier (dissidents): II 
y a lieu d'adopter le cadre d'analyse suivant en ce qui 
concerne Jes declarations relatees. Premierement, ii y a 
lieu de determiner si la declaration est du ou·i-dire. 
Deuxiemement, le juge du proces doit decider si la 
declaration en question releve d'une exception reconnue 
a la regle du oul-dire. Troisiemement, si la preuve ne 
releve pas d'une exception reconnue, le juge du proces 
doit determiner si la declaration est tout de meme 
admissible en vertu de la methode fondee sur des prin­
cipes. Quatriemement, le juge du proces conserve le 
pouvoir discretionnaire residue! limite d'ecarter une 
preuve lorsque le risque d'effet prejudiciable indu l'em­
porte substantiellement sur la valeur probante de la 
preuve. Finalement, des que Jes declarations sont jugees 
admissibles, ii appartient au juge des faits d'apprecier la 
preuve presentee et de se prononcer ultimement sur la 
fiabilite de la preuve par oul-dire en cause. L ' applica­
tion cas par cas de la methode fondee sur des principes 
aux declarations relevant des exceptions rec01mues a la 
regle du ou·i-dire ne devrait pas etre favorisee. Chaque 
cas peut faire ressortir ou mettre en lumiere la necessite 
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cipled approach and the concomitant voir dire that it 
may entail. 

While it is the duty of the courts to review common 
law rules, this duty carries with it a corresponding 
responsibility to proceed prudently. The usurpation of 
the traditional hearsay exceptions by the principled 
approach is not warranted under the current state of our 
law. Our jurisprudence has recognized the need to relax 
the hearsay rule to keep it in step with our changing 
society, specifically our greater appreciation of jurors ' 
abilities. However, the existing common law exceptions 
should be retained. The principled necessity-reliability 
analysis, while appropriate where hearsay evidence does 
not fall within an established exception to the hearsay 
mle, has not replaced and should not supplant the tradi­
tional exceptions to the hearsay rule. 

The traditional exceptions are built upon a determina­
tion that a threshold of reliability is met in particular 
instances of hearsay statements. Reliability under the 
principled approach is similarly restricted to a threshold 
inquiry. In re-evaluating a hearsay exception, the court 
must ask whether some reason exists to doubt that the 
rationale underlying the exception applies in certain cir­
cumstances. The scope of this inquiry is restricted; the 
court should not consider every possible permutation of 
indicators of reliability or unreliability. The only time a 
court should entertain a challenge to an existing excep­
tion is where there are facts, generally applicable to a 
class of persons, which weaken the theoretical justifica­
tion for the exception. While in principle the trial 
judge's residual discretion to exclude admissible evi­
dence where its prejudicial effect substantially out­
weighs its probative value could, in appropriate circum­
stances, apply to evidence falling within an exception to 
the hearsay rule, this point was not addressed in the 
Court of Appeal and was not argued before this Court. 

Since the Crown sought to use C's statement to G as 
proof of the truth of its contents, it is hearsay. The state­
ment falls squarely within the "present intentions" 
exception to the hearsay rule. An exception to the hear­
say rule arises when the declarant' s statement is 
adduced in order to demonstrate the intentions, or state 
of mind, of the declarant at the time when the statement 
was made. A requirement that the statement must appear 

de modifier une exception traditio1melle particuliere, 
mais ii n'y a pas lieu d'assujettir chaque element de 
preuve qui releve d'une exception traditionnelle a la 
methode fondee sur des principes et au voir-dire conco­
mitant qu'elle peut necessiter. 

Bien qu'il incombe aux tribunaux de reviser Jes regles 
de common law, ce devoir comporte la responsabilite 
correspondante d'agir avec prudence. L'empietement de 
la methode fondee sur des principes sur les exceptions 
traditionnelles n'est pas justifie selon l'etat actuel de 
notre droit. Notre jurisprudence a reconnu la necessite 
d'assouplir la regle du ou"i-dire pour !'harmoniser avec 
!'evolution de notre societe, particulierement avec la 
plus grande consideration que nous accordons a la capa­
cite des jures. Cependant, les exceptions de common 
law existantes devraient etre maintenues. L'analyse de 
la necessite et de la fiabilite fondee sur des principes, 
bien qu 'appropriee lorsque la preuve par ou"i-dire ne 
releve pas d 'une exception etablie a la regle du ou·i-dire, 
n'a pas remplace et ne devrait pas supplanter Jes excep­
tions traditio1melles a la regle du ou"i-dire. 

Les exceptions traditionnelles reposent sur une deci­
sion qu 'un seuil de fiabilite est atteint dans le cas de cer­
taines declarations. L'appreciation de la fiabilite au sens 
de la methode fondee sur des principes se limite elle 
aussi a un examen du seuil de fiabilite. Au moment de 
reevaluer une exception a la regle du ou"i-dire, la cour 
doit se demander s'il ya une raison de douter de !'appli­
cation du raisonnement sous-jacent a !'exception dans 
certaines circonstances. La portee de cet examen est 
limitee; la cour ne devrait pas examiner chaque permu­
tation possible des indices de fiabilite ou de non-fiabi­
lite. Une cour ne devrait examiner la contestation d'une 
exception existante qu'en presence de faits, generale­
ment applicables a une categorie de personnes, qui 
minent la justification theorique de !'exception. Meme 
si, en principe, le pouvoir discretionnaire residue! du 
juge du proces d'ecarter une preuve admissible lorsque 
son effet prejudiciable l'emporte substantiellement sur 
sa valeur probante pouvait, dans des circonstances 
appropriees, s'appliquer a la preuve qui releve d'une 
exception a la regle du ou"i-dire, ce point n 'a pas ete 
aborde en Cour d'appel ni debattu devant notre Cour. 

Etant donne que le ministere public a tente d'utiliser 
la declaration de C a G comme preuve de la veracite de 
son contenu, ii s'agit de ou"i-dire. La declaration releve 
nettement de !'exception des «intentions existantes» a la 
regle du ouI-dire. Une exception a la regle du ou"i-dire 
s'applique lorsque la declaration du declarant est pre­
sentee pour demontrer ses intentions ou son etat d' esprit 
au moment ou ii l'a faite. II n'y a pas lieu d'ajouter une 
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to have been made in a natural manner and not under 
circumstances of suspicion should not be added. While 
statements of intention may be admissible despite the 
fact that they refer to a joint act, the "present intentions" 
exception may not be used to infer that a third party 
acted in accordance with the declarant's stated intention. 
The trial judge did not err in leaving C's statement of 
intention to the jury. Properly cautioned by the trial 
judge, juries are perfectly capable of determining what 
weight ought to be attached to such evidence, and of 
drawing reasonable inferences therefrom. The Crown 
did not ask the jury to draw an impe1missible inference, 
and the trial judge did not err in instructing the jury on 
this issue. 

With respect to B' s out-of-court identification, while 
the trial judge may have committed an error by allowing 
the police officers to testify as to the out-of-court identi­
fication, any harm that such evidence may have caused 
was effectively negated by the trial judge's instructions 
to the jmy. The harm caused by the introduction of the 
evidence was minimal given other testimony that placed 
the accused at the gas station before the murders. B's 
statement that "he was probably driving the other car" 
could not have suggested that B identified the accused 
in the town where the murders took place, rather than at 
the gas station. Given the trial judge's admonition to the 
jury and the accused's admission of the marginal role 
that the identification evidence played, there is no rea­
sonable possibility that the verdict would have been dif­
ferent if the alleged error had not been made. 

While trial judges are now expected to follow the 
Lifchus model charge, failure to do so in cases tried 
before Lifchus does not constitute reversible error if the 
charge conveys to the jury the special meaning attached 
to reasonable doubt. Despite not having the benefit of 
this Court' s decision in Lifchus, the trial judge included 
most of the suggested elements in his charge to the jury. 
The charge instructed the jurors that a reasonable doubt 
must not be an imaginary or frivo lous doubt; that it is a 
doubt based upon reason and common sense; that it 
must be based on the evidence that the jurors heard in 
the courtroom; and that the Crown is not required to 
prove its case to absolute certainty. The trial judge's 
charge was not flawless, in that the trial judge errone­
ously stated that the words "reasonable doubt" are used 
in their everyday, ordinary sense and have no special 
legal meaning. The verdict ought not to be disturbed, 
however, because the charge, when read as a whole, 
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exigence selon laquelle Ia declaration doit paraltre avoir 
ete faite de maniere naturelle et non pas dans des cir­
constances douteuses. Bien que Jes declarations d'inten­
tion puissent etre admissibles meme si elles font allusion 
a un acte accompli conjointement, l'exception des 
«intentions existantes» ne saurait servir a dectuire qu'un 
tiers a donne suite a l'intention explicite du declarant. 
Le juge du proces n 'a comm is aucune erreur en soumet­
tant la declaration d'intention de c a I'appreciation du 
jury. Le jury, a qui le juge du proces a fait la mise en 
garde appropriee, est parfaitement en mesure de deter­
miner le poids qu'il faut accorder a cette preuve et d'en 
tirer des conclusions raiso1mables. Le ministere public 
n 'a pas demande au jury de faire une deduction inaccep­
table et le juge du proces n 'a comm is aucune erreur clans 
ses directives au jury sur ce point. 

Quant a )'identification extrajudiciaire faite par B, 
meme s'il se peut que le juge du proces ait commis une 
erreur en pe1mettant aux policiers de temoigner au sujet 
de l'identification extrajudiciaire, tout prejudice que 
cette preuve peut avoir cause a effectivement ete elimine 
par Jes directives du juge du proces au jury. Le prejudice 
cause par la presentation de cette preuve etait minime 
compte tenu des autres temoignages selon lesquels !'ac­
cuse etait a la station-service avant !es meurtres. La 
declaration de B selon laquelle !'accuse «conduisait pro­
bablement l'autre automobile» ne pouvait pas laisser 
entendre que B avait reconnu !'accuse dans la ville ou 
Jes meurtres ant eu lieu, plutot qu'a la station-service. 
Compte tenu de la mise en garde du juge du proces au 
jury et de la reconnaissance par l'accuse du role secon­
daire joue par la preuve d'identification, ii n'y a aucune 
possibilite raiso1mable que le verdict eut ete different si 
l'erreur alleguee n'avait pas ete cornmise. 

Bien que Jes juges du proces soient desormais censes 
suivre le modele d'expose de l'arret Lifchus, !'omission 
de le faire clans des affaires entendues avant l'arret 
Lifcl1t1s ne constitue pas une erreur donnant ouverture a 
revision, si !'expose transmet au jury le sens particulier 
qui est prete au doute raisonnable. Bien qu'il n'ait pas 
beneficie de la decision de notre Cour clans l'affaire 
Lifchus, le juge du proces a inclus Ia plupart des ele­
ments proposes dans son expose au jury. L'expose indi­
quait aux jures qu'un doute raisonnable ne doit pas etre 
imaginaire ou frivole, que c'est un doute fonde sur la 
raison et le ban sens, qu'il doit reposer sur la preuve que 
les jures ant entendue clans la salle d'audience et que le 
ministere public n' est pas tenu de prouver les accusa­
tions avec une certitude absolue. L'expose du juge du 
proces n ' etait pas sans lacunes du fait que le juge y a 
affirme a tort que Jes mots «doute raisonnable» sont uti­
lises dans leur sens ordinaire de taus Jes jours et n'ont 
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makes it clear that the jury could not have been under 
any misapprehension as to the correct burden and stan­
dard of proof to apply. The charge communicated 
clearly to the jury that they could not find the accused 
guilty on a balance of probabilities. Moreover, the 
charge made it clear to them that the standard of proof 
beyond a reasonable doubt is inextricably linked to the 
presumption of innocence and that this burden never 
shifts to the accused. In light of the trial judge's compli­
ance with the bulk of the principles enunciated in 
Lifchus, the charge was not automatically vitiated by the 
failure to include a specific item mentioned in Lifchus 
or by the inclusion of an improper item. 

Per McLachlin C.J. and Bastarache J. (dissenting): 
L'Heureux-Dube l's reasons on the issues of B's out­
of-court identification and the charge to the jury on rea­
sonable doubt were agreed with, as were her findings 
that the victim C's statement that he intended to do an 
Autopac scam with the accused later the night of the 
murder was admissible and that the trial judge's charge 
to the jury adequately warned them of the dangers asso­
ciated with this evidence. 

The following principles govern the admissibi lity of 
hearsay evidence: (!)Hearsay evidence is admissible if 
it falls under an exception to the hearsay rule; (2) The 
exceptions can be interpreted and reviewed as required 
to conform to the values of necessity and reliability that 
justify exceptions to the hearsay rule; (3) Where the evi­
dence is admissible under an exception to the hearsay 
rule, the judge may still refuse to admit the evidence if 
its prejudicial effect outweighs its probative value; (4) 
Where evidence is not admissible under an exception to 
the hearsay mle, the judge may admit it provided that 
necessity and reliability are established. C's statement 
that he intended to do an Autopac scam with the accused 
later that night is a statement of present intention. State­
ments of present intention presented for the truth of their 
contents (i.e., to permit inferences as to what the person 
in fact did) are admissible, provided they were not made 
in circumstances of suspicion. There were no circum­
stances of suspicion here that precluded the trial judge 
from admitting C's statement that he was doing an 
Autopac scam with the accused later that night. The 
statement should accordingly be admitted as evidence of 
what the deceased intended to do at the time he made 
the statement. While a statement of joint intention 

pas de sens juridique particulier. Cependant, le verdict 
n'a pas a etre casse puisque !'expose, considere dans son 
ensemble, indique clairement que le jury ne peut pas 
avoir mat compris quel fardeau et quelle norme de 
preuve s'appliquaient. L'expose indiquait clairement au 
jury qu'il ne pouvait pas conclure a la culpabilite de 
!'accuse selon la preponderance des probabilites. De 
plus, !'expose a indique clairement au jury que la norme 
de la preuve hors de tout doute raisonnable est inextrica­
blement liee a la presomption d'innocence et que ce far­
deau ne se deplace jamais sur Jes epaules de !'accuse. 
Compte tenu du fait que le juge du proces a respecte la 
plupart des principes enonces dans l'arret Lifchus, !'ex­
pose n'etait pas automatiquement invalide par !'omis­
sion d'inclure un element particulier mentionne dans 
l'arret Lifcl1t1s OU par ]'inclusion d'un element inappro­
prie. 

Le juge en chef McLachlin et le juge Bastarache 
(dissidents): Les motifs du juge L'Heureux-Dube sur Jes 
questions de !'identification extrajudiciaire par B et sur 
!'expose au jury sur le doute raisonnable sont acceptes, 
tout comme le sont ses conclusions voulant que la decla­
ration de la victime C, selon laquelle ce demier avait 
!'intention defrauder l'Autopac avec !'accuse plus tard 
la nuit du memire, etait admissible et que, dans son 
expose au jury, le juge du proces a suffisamment mis en 
garde le jury contre !es dangers lies a cet element de 
preuve. 

Les principes suivants regissent l'admissibilite de la 
preuve par ou·i-dire: (I) la preuve par oui'-dire est admis­
sible si elle releve d'une exception a la regle du ou'i-dire; 
(2) Jes exceptions peuvent etre interpretees et revisees 
au besoin afin d'en assurer la conformite aux valeurs de 
necessite et de fiabilite qui justifient !es exceptions a la 
regle du ou·i-dire; (3) lorsque la preuve est admissible en 
vertu d'une exception a la regle du ou'i-dire, le juge peut 
tout de meme refuser de l'admettre si son effet prejudi­
ciable l'emporte sur sa valeur probante; (4) lorsque la 
preuve n'est pas admissible en vertu d'une exception a 
la regle du ou'i-dire, le juge peut l' admettre pourvu que 
!'on en ait etabli la necessite et la fiabilite. La declara­
tion de C, selon laquelle ii avait !'intention de frauder 
I' Autopac avec !'accuse plus tard cette nuit-la, est une 
declaration d'intention existante. Les declarations d'in­
tention existante presentees comme preuve de la vera­
cite de leur contenu (c'est-a-dire pour permettre de faire 
des deductions quant a ce que la personne a reellement 
fait) sont admissibles pourvu qu'elles n'aient pas ete 
faites dans des circonstances douteuses. II n'y avait pas 
de circonstances douteuses en l'espece qui empechaient 
le juge du proces d'admettre la declaration de C, selon 
laquelle ii allait frauder I' Autopac avec I 'accuse plus 
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cannot support an inference as to the state of mind of 
the third party, in some circumstances it can be fairly 
considered along with other evidence in deciding what 
the third party did. C's statement may thus be viewed as 
one piece of circumstantial evidence supporting the 
inference that the accused was with C later that night. It 
may be that where the only source of inference as to the 
third party's conduct is the statement of joint intention, 
it would be unsafe to permit the jury to rely on it for that 
purpose. When this occurs, the jury should be so 
directed. This was not such a case; the statement was 
merely one of a matrix of circumstances that the jury 
could consider in determining whether the accused met 
C later that night as C stated was their common inten­
tion. Accordingly, the trial judge was not required to tell 
the jury that they could not consider the statement on the 
question of what the accused in fact did. While a more 
complete warning as to the danger of drawing infer­
ences on actual conduct from statements of joint inten­
tion would have been preferable, the trial judge's 
instruction to the jury that it was "for [them] to decide 
whether the evidence of [C's] statement about the scam 
goes as far as the Crown would have [them] believe" 
could have left the jury in no doubt that they must not 
facilely jump from C's statement to the conclusion that 
C and the accused actually met later that evening. The 
matter was fairly put to the jury and no new trial is 
required on this ground. 
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lard cette nuit-la. Par consequent, ii y a lieu d'admettre 
la declaration comme preuve de ce que la personne 
decedee avait !'intention de faire au moment ou elle a 
fait cette declaration. Meme si elle ne peut pas etayer 
une deduction relative a l'etat d'esprit du tiers, dans cer­
taines circonstances, la declaration d'intention com­
mune peut, a juste titre, etre prise en consideration con­
jointement avec d'autres elements de preuve pour 
determiner ce que le tiers a fait. La declaration de C 
peut done etre consideree comme un element de preuve 
circonstancielle qui etaye la deduction que !'accuse s'est 
retrouve avec C plus tard cette nuit-la. II se peut que, si 
la declaration d'intention commune est le seul element a 
partir duquel des deductions concernant la conduite du 
tiers peuvent etre faites, ii soit risque de permettre au 
jury de l'utiliser a cette fin. Le cas echeant, le jury 
devrait recevoir des directives en ce sens. Tel n'a pas ete 
le cas en l'espece; la declaration ne portait que sur un 
ensemble de circonstances dont le jury pouvait tenir 
compte pour determiner si !'accuse avait rencontre C 
plus tard cette nuit-la, comme ils avaient !'intention 
commune de le faire selon ce qu 'a declare C. Le juge du 
proces n'etait done pas tenu de dire aux membres du 
jury qu'ils ne pourraient pas tenir compte de la declara­
tion pour determiner ce que !'accuse a fait en realite. 
Meme s'il avait ete preferable de faire une mise en 
garde plus complete au sujet du danger de se servir de 
declarations d'intention commune pour faire des deduc­
tions concernant la conduite adoptee, la directive que le 
juge du proces a donnee aux membres du jury, selon 
laquelle ii leur «appart[enait] de decider si la preuve de 
la declaration de [C] au sujet de la fraude [ allait] aussi 
loin que le ministere public vou[lait] [leur] faire croire», 
ne laissait planer dans leur esprit aucun doute qu'ils ne 
devaient pas s'empresser de conclure de la declaration 
de C que ce demier et !'accuse se sont effectivement 
rencontres plus tard cette nuit-la. La question a ete sou­
mise ajuste titre a !'appreciation du jury et la tenue d'un 
nouveau proces n'est pas requise pour ce motif. 
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Alexander Budlovsky and Marian K. Brown, for 
the intervener the Attorney General of British 
Columbia. 

The reasons of McLachlin C.J. and Bastarache J. 
were delivered by 

THE CHIEF JUSTICE (dissenting) - I agree with 
Justice L'Heureux-Dube on the issues of Ms. 
Ball's out-of-court identification and the charge to 
the jury on reasonable doubt. I also agree that the 
victim Cook's statement that he intended to do an 
Autopac scam with the accused later the night of 
the murder was admissible and that the trial 
judge's charge to the jury adequately warned them 
of the dangers associated with this evidence. 
Accordingly, I would dismiss the appeal. How­
ever, I would deal with the hearsay issue relating 
to the victim's statement of intention somewhat 
differently than either of my colleagues. 

In my view, the following principles govern the 
admissibility of hearsay evidence: 

1. Hearsay evidence is admissible if it falls 
under an exception to the hearsay rule; 

2. The exceptions can be interpreted and 
reviewed as required to conform to the val­
ues of necessity and reliability that justify 
exceptions to the hearsay rule; 

3. Where the evidence is admissible under an 
exception to the hearsay rule, the judge may 
still refuse to admit the evidence if its preju­
dicial effect outweighs its probative value; 

4. Where evidence is not admissible under an 
exception to the hearsay rule, the judge may 
admit it provided that necessity and reliabil­
ity are established. 

In short, the common law exceptions to the 
hearsay rule remain the law, as interpreted and 
updated to confonn to the twin requirements of 
necessity and reliability. Additionally, evidence 
not falling within an exception may be admitted if 

Alexander Budlovsky et Marian K. Brown, pour 
l'intervenant le procureur general de la Colombie­
Britannique. 

Version franc;:aise des motifs du juge en chef 
McLachlin et du juge Bastarache rendus par 

LE JUGE EN CHEF (dissidente) - Je partage 
l'avis de Madame le juge L'Heureux-Dube sur les 
questions de !'identification extrajudiciaire par 
Mme Ball et de I' expose au jury sur le doute raison­
nable. Je conviens egalement que la declaration de 
la victime Cook, selon laquelle ce dernier avait 
!'intention de frauder I' Autopac avec !'accuse plus 
tard la nuit du meurtre, etait admissible et que, 
dans son expose au jury, le juge du proces a suffi­
samment mis en garde le jury contre Jes dangers 
lies a cet element de preuve. En consequence, je 
suis d'avis de rejeter le pourvoi. Toutefois, 
j'aborde quelque peu differemment de mes col­
legues la question de oul-dire concemant la decla­
ration d'intention de la victime. 

Selon moi, !es principes suivants regissent l'ad­
missibilite de la preuve par ou'i-dire: 

1. La preuve par ou'i-dire est admissible si elle 
releve d'une exception a la regle du oul-dire; 

2. Les exceptions peuvent etre interpretees et 
revisees au besoin afin d'en assurer la con­
formite aux valeurs de necessite et de fiabi­
lite qui justifient !es exceptions a la regle du 
ou'i-dire; 

3. Lorsque la preuve est admissible en vertu 
d'une exception a la regle du oul-dire, le 
juge peut tout de meme refuser de l'admettre 
si son effet prejudiciable l'emporte sur sa 
valeur probante; 

4. Lorsque la preuve n'est pas admissible en 
vertu d 'une exception a la regle du ou'i-dire, 
le juge peut l'admettre pourvu que !'on en 
ait etabli la necessite et la fiabilite. 

Bref, les exceptions de cmmnon law a la regle 
du oul-dire restent applicables, telles qu'elles sont 
interpretees et mises a jour de maniere a etre con­
fonnes a la double exigence de necessite et de fia­
bilite. En outre, la preuve qui ne releve pas d'une 
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the requirements of necessity and reliability are 
established. This retains the certainty and predict­
ability associated with the common law exceptions 
to the hearsay rule and avoids the need to hold a 
voir dire when evidence falls within an established 
exception. At the same time, it pennits the excep­
tions to evolve and evidence outside the exceptions 
to be admitted where necessity and circumstantial 
guarantees of reliability exist. As with all evi­
dence, the trial judge has an overriding discretion 
to exclude the evidence if its prejudicial effect out­
weighs its probative value. 

Applying these rules to this case, the first ques­
tion is whether an established exception to the 
hearsay rule applies to the evidence at issue. The 
answer in this case is yes. The victim's statement 
that he intended to do an Autopac scam with the 
accused later that night is a statement of present 
intention. Statements of present intention consti­
tute a long-recognized exception to the rule against 
admitting hearsay evidence. 

The next question concerns the ambit of the 
exception of statements of present intention. Here 
my colleagues differ. L'Heureux-Dube J. holds 
that all statements of present intention are admissi­
ble. Iacobucci J., following Professor Wigmore's 
formulation of the exception, holds that statements 
of present intention are admissible, unless made in 
circumstances of suspicion. Canadian law has not 
yet settled this question. 

Interpreting the exception in light of the under­
lying requirements of necessity and reliability, I 
share Iacobucci J. 's view that statements of present 
intention presented for the truth of their contents 
(i.e., to pennit inferences as to what the person in 
fact did) are admissible, provided they were not 
made in circumstances of suspicion. Contempora­
neity is cited as providing a guarantee of trustwor­
thiness for statements of present intention. In the 

exception peut etre admise si Jes conditions de 
necessite et de fiabilite sont remplies. Cela permet 
de maintenir la certitude et la previsibilite liees aux 
exceptions de common law a la regle du ou·i-dire, 
tout en dispensant de tenir un voir-dire lorsque la 
preuve releve d'une exception etablie. Cela per­
met, du meme coup, aux exceptions d'evoluer et a 
la preuve non visee par les exceptions d'etre 
admise si c'est necessaire et s'il existe des garan­
ties circonstancielles de fiabilite. Co1mne il peut le 
faire a l' egard de tout element de preuve, le juge 
du proces conserve le pouvoir discretionnaire 
d 'ecarter la preuve si son effet prejudiciable l'em­
porte sur sa valeur probante. 

Si on applique ces regles a la presente affaire, la 
premiere question qui se pose est de savoir si une 
exception reconnue a la regle du ou"i-dire s'ap­
plique a la preuve en cause. La reponse a cette 
question est affinnative en l'espece. La declaration 
de la victime, selon laquelle elle avait !'intention 
de fraud er I' Autopac avec I' accuse plus tard cette 
nuit-la, est une declaration d'intention existante. 
Les declarations d'intention existante constituent 
une exception reconnue depuis longtemps a la 
regle interdisant !'admission de Ia preuve par ou·i­
dire. 

L'autre question qui se pose concerne la portee 
de !'exception des declarations d'intention exis­
tante. Mes collegues ont des opinions divergentes 
sur ce point. Madame le juge L'Heureux-Dube 
conclut que toutes Jes declarations d'intention exis­
tante sont admissibles. Le juge Iacobucci, qui 
adopte la fonnulation que le professeur Wigmore 
donne de !'exception, conclut que Jes declarations 
d'intention existante sont admissibles, sauf si elles 
sont faites dans des circonstances douteuses. Le 
droit canadien n'a pas encore regle cette question. 

Interpretant !'exception a la lumiere des exi­
gences sous-jacentes de necessite et de fiabilite, je 
partage l' avis du juge Iacobucci que Jes declara­
tions d'intention existante presentees comme 
preuve de Ia veracite de leur contenu (c ' est-a-dire 
pour permettre de faire des deductions quant a ce 
que la personne a reellement fait) sont admissibles 
pourvu qu'elles n'aient pas ete faites dans des cir­
constances douteuses. La contemporaneite est con-
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normal course, the words are contemporaneous 
with a present intention to do that act. If a person 
as she heads out the door says, "I'm going to the 
store", there is every reason to believe that is what 
she intends to do. This flows from the fact that in 
the great majority of cases, people making such 
statements actually intend to do the indicated act. 
The statement of intention is admitted as a state­
ment of mental condition: inferences that may be 
drawn as to whether the intended act occurred are 
another matter: Wigmore on Evidence, vol. 6 
(Chadbourn rev. 1976), at §1725, p. 139; R. J. 
Deslisle: "R. v. Smith: The Relevance of Hearsay" 
(1991), 2 C.R. (4th) 260, at p. 264. 

The reason statements of present intention are 
generally reliable indicators of the speaker's "pre­
sent" or contemporaneous state of mind was cap­
tured by Gray J. in Mutual Life Insurance Co. v. 
Hillmon, 145 U.S. 285 (1892), at p. 299, quoting 
Beasley C.J. in Hunter v. State, 40 N.J.L.: 

In the ordinary course of things, it was the usual infor­
mation that a man about leaving home would communi­
cate, for the convenience of his family, the information 
of his friends, or the regulation of his business. At the 
time it was given, such declarations could, in the nature 
of things, mean harm to no one; he who uttered them 
was bent on no expedition of mischief or wrong, and the 
attitude of affairs at the time entirely explodes the idea 
that such utterances were intended to serve any purpose 
but that for which they were obviously designed .... At 
the time the words were uttered ... the reference to the 
companion who was to go with him was nothing more, 
as matters then stood, than an indication of an additional 
circumstance of his going. 

Sometimes, however, statements of intention 
may not reflect the actual present intention of the 
speaker. The circumstances may suggest that the 
speaker had reason to lie about his or her inten­
tions. In such cases, the circumstantial guarantee 
of trustworthiness that underlies the exception dis­
appears. This is why Wigmore held that the excep-

sideree comme fournissant une garantie de fiabilite 
des declarations d'intention existante. Normale­
ment, les mots sont prononces lorsqu'il y a une 
intention existante d'accomplir l'acte en cause. Si 
une personne affinne «Je vais au magasin», en se 
dirigeant vers la porte, tout porte a croire que c' est 
ce qu'elle a !'intention de faire. Cela decoule du 
fait que, dans la plupart des cas, les personnes qui 
font de telles declarations ont vraiment !'intention 
d'accomplir l'acte dont elles parlent. La declara­
tion d'intention est admise en tant que declaration 
d'etat d'esprit: les deductions possibles quant a 
savoir si l'acte projete a ete accompli sont une 
autre question: Wigmore on Evidence, vol. 6 
(Chadbourn rev. 1976), au § 1725, p. 139; R. J. 
Delisle, «R. v. Smith: The Relevance of Hearsay» 
(1991), 2 C.R. (4th) 260, a lap. 264. 

La raison pour laquelle les declarations d'inten­
tion existante sont generalement des indications 
fiables de l'etat d'esprit «existant» ou contempo­
rain de leur auteur a ete exposee par le juge Gray 
dans Mutual Life Insurance Co. c. Hillmon, 145 
U.S. 285 (1892), a la p. 299, alors qu'il citait le 
juge en chef Beasley dans Hunter c. State, 40 
N.J.L.: 

[TRADUCTION] II s'agissait normalement des renseigne­
ments habituels qu'un homme qui s'apprete a quitter son 
domicile communiquerait pour rendre service a sa 
famille, pour informer ses amis ou pour gerer son entre­
prise. Au moment ou elles ont ete faites, ces declara­
tions ne pouvaient pas, dans l' ordre des choses, se vou­
loir prejudiciables a qui que ce soit; celui qui !es a faites 
n'etait pas resolu a accomplir un mefait ni a faire du 
tort, et le contexte qui regnait a l'epoque ecarte entiere­
ment l'idee que ces declarations etaient faites dans un 
but autre que celui auquel elles se rapportaient manifes-
tement [ ... ] Au moment ou les paroles ont ete pronon-
cees [ . .. ] la mention du compagnon qui devait l'accom-
pagner n'etait alors rien de plus que !'indication d'un 
autre fait entourant son depart. 

Cependant, il peut parfois arriver que des decla­
rations d'intention ne refletent pas veritablement 
!'intention existante de leur auteur. Les circons­
tances peuvent indiquer que la personne qui s'ex­
primait avait des raisons de mentir au sujet de ses 
intentions. Dans de tels cas, la garantie circonstan­
cielle de fiabilite qui sous-tend I 'exception dispa-

7 

8 

_) 

c 
Ci) 

~ 
0 
"<:j" 

u u 
(J) 

0 
0 
0 
N 



9 

162 R. v. STARR The Chief Justice [2000] 2 S.C.R. 

tion did not apply where the circumstances cast 
suspicion on whether the statement of intention 
represented the speaker' s actual intention. Where 
circumstances of suspicion exist, the presumption 
of reliability that normally underlies the exception 
is removed, and it would be inconsistent with the 
principles underlying the exceptions to the hearsay 
rule to admit the evidence. (Given the preswnption 
of reliability underlying the exception, it falls to 
the person opposing the evidence to show circum­
stances of suspicion.) For this reason, I agree with 
Iacobucci J. that the statements of present intention 
are admissible, absent circumstances of suspicion. 

This brings us to the question of whether there 
were circumstances of suspicion here that pre­
cluded the trial judge from admitting the victim's 
statement that he was doing an Autopac scam with 
the accused later that night. The majority of the 
Court of Appeal held there were not. Iacobucci J., 
by contrast, finds there were. I find myself in 
agreement with the Court of Appeal. The victim 
Cook, who had another woman and two other peo­
ple in his car, encountered his girlfriend at a ser­
vice station. They conversed. He told her that he 
was going to do an Autopac scam with the accused 
later that night. They parted. The question is 
whether the circumstances of this encounter cast 
suspicion on whether the victim's statement repre­
sented his actual intention at the time he spoke. It 
is argued that the circumstances suggest that he 
may have made up the Autopac scam story to 
explain or offset the presence of another woman in 
his car. It is not clear to me how the statement that 
he intended to do an Autopac scam with the 
accused explains why another woman would be in 
the car with him. Nor is it clear how the statement 
countered the suggestion that the victim was 
romantically involved with the woman in the car. 
It begs the question, "If you are doing an Autopac 
scam with someone else later tonight, why are you 
with this woman?" If the victim had said he 
intended to do the scam with the woman, it might 
have attracted suspicion as to whether it repre-

ralt. C' est pourquoi Wigmore a conclu que !'ex­
ception ne s'appliquait pas lorsque Jes 
circonstances soulevaient un doute quant a savoir 
si la declaration d'intention refletait la veritable 
intention de son auteur. En presence de circons­
tances douteuses, la presomption de fiabilite qui 
sous-tend normalement !'exception disparalt et 
admettre la preuve serait incompatible avec les 
principes sous-jacents des exceptions a la regle du 
ou'i-dire. (Compte tenu de la presomption de fiabi­
lite qui sous-tend !'exception, ii incombe a la per­
sonne qui s'oppose a !'admission de la preuve de 
demontrer I' existence de circonstances douteuses.) 
Pour ce motif, je partage l'avis du juge Iacobucci 
que Jes declarations d'intention existante 
sont admissibles en !'absence de circonstances 
douteuses. 

Cela nous amene a la question de savoir s ' il y 
avait des circonstances douteuses en l'espece qui 
empechaient le juge du proces d'admettre la decla­
ration de la victime, selon laquelle elle allait frau­
der l'Autopac avec !'accuse plus tard cette nuit-la. 
La Cour d'appel a la majorite a conclu a !' absence 
de telles circonstances. Par contre, le juge 
Iacobucci conclut le contraire. Je partage l'avis de 
la Cour d'appel. La victime Cook, qui avait fait 
monter une fe1mne et deux autres personnes dans 
sa voiture, a rencontre son amie de creur a une sta­
tion-service. Ils ont discute. 11 lui a dit qu'il allait 
frauder l'Autopac avec !'accuse plus tard cette 
nuit-la. Ils se sont separes. La question est de 
savoir si Jes circonstances de cette rencontre soule­
vent un doute quant a savoir si, au moment ou elle 
a ete faite, la declaration de la victime refletait la 
veritable intention de cette demiere. On pretend 
qu'il se peut, d'apres les circonstances, que Cook 
ait invente l'histoire de la fraude de I' Autopac pour 
expliquer ou attenuer la presence d'une autre 
femme dans la voiture. Je ne vois pas comment la 
declaration qu'il avait !'intention de frauder l'Au­
topac avec !'accuse explique pourquoi une autre 
fe1mne se trouvait dans la voiture avec lui. Je ne 
vois pas non plus comment cette declaration con­
tredisait l'idee que la victime avait une relation 
amoureuse avec la femme se trouvant dans la voi­
ture. Cela entraine la question suivante: «Si tu es 
sur le point de frauder l'Autopac avec quelqu'un 
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sented his actual intentions. But that is not what 
occurred. Accordingly, I would admit the state­
ment as evidence of what the deceased intended to 
do at the time he made the statement. 

Iacobucci J. argues that the statement is not 
admissible for a second reason - because the 
statement involves the intention to do a joint act 
with a third person, the accused. In my view, this 
goes not to admissibility, but to the inferences 
which may be drawn from the statement. However, 
my colleague goes on to argue that no inference as 
to what the accused did can be drawn from the 
statement, and that the jury should have been so 
instructed. 

It is common ground that the trial judge must 
give the jury appropriate instructions on how the 
jury may use hearsay evidence: R. v. Rockey, 
[1996] 3 S.C.R. 829, at para. 38. It is also beyond 
dispute that if failure to give such instructions ren­
ders the trial unfair, a new trial must be ordered. 

Two issues arise: (1) Should the trial judge have 
told the jury they could not draw an inference from 
Cook's statement as to the accused's conduct? and 
(2) If not, should the trial judge have specifically 
warned the jury about the danger of making such 
an inference? 

On the first issue, my colleagues suggest that a 
jury can never infer what a person other than the 
speaker did from a statement of joint intention. I 
would not state the matter so categorically. Cer­
tainly, such a statement cannot support an infer­
ence as to the state of mind of the third party. 
However, in some circumstances the statement of 
joint intention can be fairly considered along with 
other evidence in deciding what the third party did. 
The declarant's state of mind may be one piece of 
evidence amongst others for the jury to consider in 
detennining what happened. Viewed thus, Cook's 

d'autre plus tard cette nuit, que fais-tu avec cette 
fermne?» Si la victime avait dit qu ' elle avait !'in­
tention de commettre la fraude avec cette fermne, 
il y aurait pu y avoir des doutes quant a savoir si 
c'etait la sa veritable intention. Mais ce n'est pas 
ce qui s'est produit. Par consequent, je suis d'avis 
d' admettre la declaration c01nme preuve de ce que 
la personne decedee avait !' intention de faire au 
moment ou elle a fait cette declaration. 

Le juge Iacobucci pretend que la declaration 
n'est pas admissible pour un deuxieme motif -
parce qu'elle indique !'intention d'accomplir un 
acte conjointement avec un tiers, !'accuse. J'estime 
que cela concerne non pas l'admissibilite, mais 
plutot Jes deductions qui peuvent etre faites de la 
declaration. Cependant, mon collegue ajoute que la 
declaration ne peut pas servir a deduire ce que 
!'accuse a fait, et que le jury aurait dfi recevoir des 
directives en ce sens. 

II est reconnu que le juge du proces doit donner 
aux membres du jury des directives appropriees 
sur les fins auxquelles ils peuvent utiliser la preuve 
par oui:-dire: R. c. Rockey, [1996] 3 R.C.S. 829, au 
par. 38. II est egalement inconteste que, si !'omis­
sion de donner ces directives rend le proces inequi­
table, un nouveau proces doit etre ordonne. 

Deux questions se posent: (1) Le juge du proces 
aurait-il dfi dire aux membres du jury qu'ils ne 
pourraient pas se servir de la declaration de Cook 
pour faire une deduction au sujet de la conduite de 
!'accuse? (2) Dans la negative, le juge du proces 
aurait-il dfi mettre le jury expressement en garde 
contre le danger de faire une telle deduction? 

En ce qui conceme la premiere question, mon 
collegue affinne qu'unjury ne peutjamais dectuire, 
a partir d'une declaration d'intention commune, ce 
qu'a fait une personne autre que le declarant. Jene 
serais pas aussi categorique a ce propos. Une telle 
declaration ne peut surement pas etayer une deduc­
tion relative a l'etat d'esprit du tiers. Toutefois, 
dans certaines circonstances, la declaration d'in­
tention commune peut, a juste titre, etre prise en 
consideration conjointement avec d'autres ele­
ments de preuve pour detenniner ce que le tiers a 
fait. L'etat d'esprit du declarant peut constituer 
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statement may be viewed as one piece of circum­
stantial evidence supporting the inference that 
Starr was with the deceased later that night. The 
cases to which we have been referred, other than 
some American cases, do not go so far as to say 
that statements of joint intention can never be used 
on the issue of what the third party did. 

This said, it may be that where the only source 
of inference as to the third party's conduct is the 
statement of joint intention, it would be unsafe to 
permit the jury to rely on it for that purpose. When 
this occurs, the jury should be so directed. In my 
opinion, this was not such a case; the statement 
was merely one of a matrix of circwnstances that 
the jury could consider in detem1ining whether the 
accused met Cook later that night as Cook stated 
was their common intention. Accordingly, I con­
clude that the trial judge was not required to tell 
the jury that they could not consider the statement 
on the question of what the accused in fact did. 

The second issue is whether the trial judge in 
any event should have specifically warned the jury 
about the danger of using the statement of joint 
intention as evidence on the issue of what the 
accused did. To answer this question, we must 
return to what the trial judge said. The Crown had 
suggested that the statement of joint intention sup­
ported an inference that the accused proposed the 
scam to the victim as a way to get the victim in an 
isolated place. After this, the trial judge told the 
jury that it was "for [them] to decide whether the 
evidence of Cook's statement about the scam goes 
as far as the Crown would have [them] believe". 

An express instruction about the danger 
involved in drawing inferences from one person's 
statement of present intention to what another per-

l 'un des elements de preuve que le jury peut pren­
dre en consideration pour determiner ce qui s'est 
produit. A cet egard, la declaration de Cook peut 
etre consideree COllliile Un element de preuve cir­
constancie!le qui etaye la deduction que Starr s'est 
retrouve avec la victime plus tard cette nuit-la. La 
jurisprudence qui nous a ete mentionnee, autre que 
certaines decisions americaines, ne va pas jusqu'a 
preciser que Jes declarations d'intention commune 
ne peuvent jamais servir a detenniner ce que le 
tiers a fait. 

Cela dit, il se peut que, si la declaration d'inten­
tion commune est le seul element a partir duquel 
des deductions concernant la conduite du tiers peu­
vent etre faites, il soit risque de permettre au jury 
de l'utiliser a cette fin . Le cas echeant, le jury 
devrait recevoir des directives en ce sens. A mon 
avis, tel n'est pas le cas en l'espece; la declaration 
ne portait que sur un ensemble de circonstances 
dont le jury pouvait tenir compte pour determiner 
si I 'accuse avait rencontre Cook plus tard cette 
nuit-la, comme ils avaient !'intention commune de 
le faire selon ce qu'a declare Cook. Je conclus 
done que le juge du proces n'etait pas tenu de dire 
aux membres du jury qu' ils ne pourraient pas tenir 
compte de la declaration pour detenniner ce que 
!'accuse a fait en realite. 

La deuxieme question est de savoir si, de toute 
maniere, le juge du proces aurait du mettre en 
garde expressement le jury au sujet du danger 
d'utiliser la declaration d'intention commune 
collline preuve de ce que !'accuse a fait. Pour 
repondre a cette question, il nous faut revenir a ce 
que le juge du proces a dit. Le ministere public 
avait pretendu que la declaration d'intention com­
mune etayait une deduction que l'accuse avait pro­
pose la fraude a la victime dans le but de l'attirer 
dans un endroit retire. A la suite de cela, le juge du 
proces a dit aux jures qu'il leur [TRADUCTION] 
«appart[ enait] de decider si la preuve de la declara­
tion de Cook au sujet de la fraude [allait] aussi loin 
que le ministere public vou[lait] [leur] faire 
croire». 

11 est generalement souhaitable de donner une 
directive expresse au sujet du danger de se servir 
de la declaration d'intention existante d'une per-
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son did is generally desirable. However, the issue 
on appeal is whether the trial judge's instruction in 
fact conveyed to the jury the need to be careful and 
not to jump facilely from Cook's statement that he 
was doing an Autopac scam with the accused that 
night to the conclusion that the accused in fact met 
Cook at the proposed site of the scam. I am satis­
fied that the trial judge's direction accomplished 
this. The trial judge told the jury that they could 
use the statement for a hearsay purpose, i.e., in 
deciding what the accused did. He went on to sug­
gest that they might not wish to draw this infer­
ence, notwithstanding the Crown's invitation. The 
jury thus knew the inference was for them and 
them alone and that it was one they must carefully 
consider. While a more complete warning as to the 
danger of drawing inferences on actual conduct 
from statements of joint intention would have been 
preferable, I am satisfied that the trial judge's 
instruction in this case could have left the jury in 
no doubt that they must not facilely jump from 
Cook's statement to the conclusion that Cook and 
the accused actually met later that evening. The 
matter was fairly put to the jury and no new trial is 
required on this ground. On this view, either no 
error was committed, or if it was, it does not con­
stitute reversible error. 

I conclude that the victim Cook's statement that 
he intended to do an Autopac scam with the 
accused was admissible as evidence of the victim' s 
present intention, and that the trial judge's instruc­
tions sufficed in the circumstances to obviate the 
danger of impermissible inferences. 

In the result, I agree with L'Heureux-Dube J. 
that the appeal should be dismissed. 

sonne pour faire des deductions concemant ce 
qu 'une autre personne a fait. Cependant, la ques­
tion qui se pose dans le present pourvoi est de 
savoir si la directive du juge du proces a, en realite, 
incite le jury a faire montre de prudence et a ne pas 
s'empresser de conclure de la declaration de Cook, 
selon laquelle il allait fraud er l 'Autopac avec I' ac­
cuse cette nuit-la, que ce demier a effectivement 
rencontre Cook a l' endroit projete pour comrnettre 
la fraude. Je suis convaincue que la directive du 
juge du proces a eu cet effet. Le juge du proces a 
dit aux membres du jury qu ' ils pourraient se servir 
de la declaration a des fins de our-dire, c' est-a-dire 
pour decider ce que l'accuse a fait. 11 a ensuite 
affirme qu'il se pourrait qu'ils ne veuillent pas 
faire cette deduction, en depit de !'invitation du 
ministere public a le faire. Le jury savait done 
qu'il lui appartenait, a Jui seul, de faire cette 
deduction et qu'il Jui fallait soigneusement envisa­
ger de le faire. Meme s'il avait ete preferable de 
faire une mise en garde plus complete au sujet du 
danger de se servir de declarations d'intention 
commune pour faire des deductions concernant la 
conduite adoptee, je suis persuadee que le juge du 
proces en l'espece aurait pu donner une directive 
qui n'aurait laisse planer dans l'esprit des membres 
du jury aucun doute qu ' ils ne devaient pas s'em­
presser de conclure de la declaration de Cook que 
ce demier et l'accuse s'etaient effectivement ren­
contres plus tard cette nuit-la. La question a ete 
soumise a juste titre a !' appreciation du jury et la 
tenue d'un nouveau proces n'est pas requise pour 
ce motif. A cet egard, aucune erreur n' a ete com­
mise ou, si une erreur a ete commise, elle ne cons­
titue pas une erreur donnant ouverture a revision. 

Je conclus que la declaration de la victime 
Cook, selon laquelle il avait !'intention de frauder 
l' Autopac avec !'accuse, etait admissible c01mne 
preuve de son intention existante et que, dans Jes 
circonstances, les directives du juge du proces suf­
fisaient pour empecher que des deductions inac­
ceptables ne soient faites. 

En consequence, je partage l'avis du juge 
L'Heureux-Dube qu'il y a lieu de rejeter le 
pourvoi. 
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The reasons of L'Heureux-Dube and Gonthier 
JJ. were delivered by 

L'HEUREUX-DUBE J. (dissenting) -

I. Introduction 

The appellant was convicted at trial before a 
judge and jury on two counts of first degree mur­
der. He was convicted of killing Bernard (Bo) 
Cook and Darlene Weselowski by shooting them 
by the side of a provincial highway on the outskirts 
of Winnipeg in the early morning hours of August 
21, 1994. The Manitoba Court of Appeal ((1998), 
123 C.C.C. (3d) 145) upheld the verdict, dis­
missing the grounds of appeal raised before us. 
While this case originally came to us as of right, 
the Court ordered a re-hearing of the appeal and 
invited submissions on the scope of the present 
intentions exception to the hearsay rule and on the 
application of the "principled approach" as set out 
in R. v. Khan, [1990] 2 S.C.R. 531, and subsequent 
cases to the traditional exceptions to the hearsay 
rule. This case also requires us to explicate and 
apply the principles regarding a charge to the jury 
on reasonable doubt as set out by this Court in 
R. v. Lifchus, [1997] 3 S.C.R. 320. 

I have had the benefit of reviewing the reasons 
of Iacobucci J. and I am unable to agree with his 
analysis of the issues. While we are both in agree­
ment that the principled approach applies to all 
hearsay statements, we have very different concep­
tions as to what this entails. 

Our difference of opinion can be reduced to two 
crucial points. First, whereas Iacobucci J. would 
hold that the principled approach must "prevail" 
over the traditional exceptions to the hearsay rule, 
I would not endorse such an approach because I 
believe that it invites challenges to every piece of 
evidence that falls under a traditional exception. I 
would hold that the traditional exceptions endure, 
subject to their categorical re-examination under 
the principled approach should the issue arise in a 
proper case. Second, beneath this first disagree-

Version frarn;:aise des motifs des juges 
L'Heureux-Dube et Gonthier rendus par 

LE JUGE L'HEUREUX-DUBE (dissidente) -

I. Introduction 

A son proces devant un juge et un jury, l'appe­
lant a ete declare coupable relativement a deux 
chefs d'accusation de meurtre au premier degre, 
soit d'avoir tue Bernard (Bo) Cook et Darlene 
Weselowski en les abattant sur l'accotement d'une 
route provinciale aux abords de Winnipeg, aux 
petites heures du matin, le 21 aofit 1994. La Cour 
d'appel du Manitoba ((1998), 123 C.C.C. (3d) 
145) a maintenu le verdict et rejete les moyens 
d'appel qui sont maintenant souleves devant nous. 
Bien que le present pourvoi ait ete fonne de plein 
droit au depart, notre Cour a ordonne une nouvelle 
audition et a invite les parties a lui soumettre des 
arguments sur la portee de l'exception des inten­
tions existantes a la regle du ou"i-dire et sur !'appli­
cation de la «methode fondee sur des principes», 
enoncee dans l'arret R. c. Khan, [1990] 2 R.C.S. 
531 , et d'autres arrets subsequents, aux exceptions 
traditionnelles a la regle du ou·i-dire. La presente 
affaire nous oblige, en outre, a expliciter et a appli­
quer les principes relatifs a l'expose au jury sur le 
doute raisonnable, que notre Cour a enonces dans 
l'arret R. c. Lifchus, [1997] 3 R.C.S. 320. 

J'ai pris connaissance des motifs du juge 
Iacobucci et je ne puis souscrire a son analyse des 
questions en litige. Bien que nous convenions tous 
deux que la methode fondee Sur des principes s'ap­
plique a tout ou·i-dire, nous avons des conceptions 
tres differentes de ce que cela implique. 

Notre divergence d'opinions porte essentielle­
ment sur deux points cruciaux. En premier lieu, 
alors que le juge Iacobucci est d'avis que la 
methode fondee sur des principes doit «l'empor­
tern Sur les exceptions traditionnelles a la regle du 
ou"i-dire, je ne saurais etre d'accord parce que j'es­
time qu'il invite a contester tout element de preuve 
qui releve d'une exception traditionnelle. Selon 
moi, les exceptions traditionnelles continuent de 
s'appliquer, sous reserve de leur reexamen par 
categorie selon la methode fondee sur des prin-
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ment lie two very different conceptions of what the 
threshold reliability analysis under the principled 
approach entails. As demonstrated by his analysis 
of the hearsay statements in this case, Iacobucci J. 
would require the trial judge to detennine the cred­
ibility of the hearsay declarant at the threshold 
stage. I believe that such detenninations encroach 
on the trier of fact's determination of ultimate reli­
ability. Moreover, I believe that the traditional 
exceptions already incorporate a finding of thresh­
old reliability and the trial judge need not engage 
in the type of reliability determination favoured by 
Iacobucci J. on a "threshold" inquiry of evidence 
that falls within a -traditional exception to the hear­
say rule. 

The end result of Iacobucci J. 's approach is an 
open invitation to challenge previously admissible 
hearsay evidence. I do not believe that this 
approach flows from our previous decisions in 
Khan, supra, and R. v. Smith, [1992] 2 S.C.R. 915 . 
These cases were not about the exceptions to the 
hearsay rule but about expanding the scope of 
admissible evidence beyond the boundaries of the 
traditional categories. They accepted the traditional 
exceptions as a given but sought other means to 
admit reliable and necessary evidence through the 
adoption of a "principled approach" to hearsay. 
I fear that to adopt the course charted by 
Iacobucci J. would sacrifice the experience, cer­
tainty and predictability of centuries of jurispru­
dence in the name of a quest for purported intellec­
tual coherence that is untested by the forges of our 
courtrooms. 

On the issue of the jury charge on reasonable 
doubt, the Lifchus standard provides guidelines for 
trial judges rather than an iron-clad roster of pro­
scriptions and prohibitions. I do not read Lifchus as 
providing that the inclusion or exclusion of certain 
phrases automatically vitiates a jury charge. 
Instead, I read Lifchus as mandating that a charge 

cipes dans Jes cas appropries ou la question se 
pose. En deuxieme lieu, ce premier desaccord 
resulte de deux conceptions tres differentes de ce 
qu'implique !'analyse du seuil de fiabilite en vertu 
de la methode fondee sur des principes. Comme le 
demontre son analyse des declarations en l' espece, 
le juge Iacobucci obligerait le juge du proces a 
decider de la credibilite de !' auteur de la declara­
tion extrajudiciaire a l'etape de !'analyse du seuil 
de fiabilite. Je crois qu'une telle determination a 
cette etape empiete sur la determination ultime de 
fiabilite qui releve du juge des faits. En outre, les 
exceptions traditionnelles comportent deja une 
conclusion quanta !'existence d'un seuil de fiabi­
lite et le juge du proces n'a pas a se lancer dans le 
type de determination de fiabilite, preconise par le 
juge Iacobucci, lors de !'examen du seuil de fiabi­
lite d'une preuve qui releve d'une exception tradi­
tionnelle a la regle du ou'i-dire. 

En definitive, l'approche preconisee par mon 
collegue constitue une invitation generale a contes­
ter une preuve par ou'i-dire auparavant admissible. 
Je ne crois pas que cette approche decoule de nos 
arrets anterieurs Khan, precite, et R. c. Smith, 
[1992] 2 R.C.S. 915 . Ces arrets concemaient non 
pas Jes exceptions a la regle du ou'i-dire, mais 
l'elargissement de la portee de la preuve admissi­
ble au-dela des limites des categories tradition­
nelles. On y considerait les exceptions tradition­
nelles comme un fait acquis, mais on y cherchait 
d'autres moyens d' admettre une preuve fiable et 
necessaire par !'application au ou'i-dire d'une 
«methode fondee sur des principes». Je crains que 
s'engager dans la voie tracee par le juge Iacobucci 
ne revienne a sacrifier !'experience, la certitude et 
la previsibilite jurisprudentielles acquises au cours 
des siecles pour se lancer a la recherche d'une 
coherence intellectuelle apparente que nos tribu­
naux n' out pas encore eu l' occasion de tester. 

Quant a la question de !'expose au jury sur le 
doute raisonnable, la nonne de l'arret Lifchus 
donne au juge du proces des lignes directrices plu­
t6t qu'une liste stricte de proscriptions et d'inter­
dictions. Selon moi, l'arret Lifchus ne signifie pas 
que !'inclusion ou !'exclusion de certaines expres­
sions doive automatiquement invalider un expose 
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be examined in its entirety to detennine whether 
the jury properly understood the concept of proof 
beyond a reasonable doubt. I am of the opinion 
that the jury charge in this case properly communi­
cated this concept to the jury. 

My colleague Iacobucci J. has adequately set 
forth the factual background and judicial history of 
this case. In dealing with the individual grounds 
for appeal, I will elaborate when necessary. 

II. Analysis 

A. The Admissibility of Cook 's Statement 

(1) Introduction and Summary 

Approximately one hour before he was mur­
dered, Bernard (Bo) Cook spoke with Jodie 
Giesbrecht and told her that he had to "go and do 
an Autopac scam with Robert" (the appellant). The 
trial judge admitted Ms. Giesbrecht's testimony as 
to what Mr. Cook told her the night he and Darlene 
Weselowski were murdered. The appellant chal­
lenges the admission of this statement on the 
grounds that it is inadmissible hearsay. 

Iacobucci J. and I disagree regarding the admis­
sion of this statement as an exception to the rule 
against hearsay for declarations of "state of mind" 
or "present intentions" as recognized by this Court 
in Smith, supra. For ease of reference, I will refer 
to this exception as the "present intentions" excep­
tion as that tenn best encapsulates the type of 
statement at issue before us. Several points of disa­
greement arise in the course of our analysis of this 
statement. The first is the scope of this exception; 
the second is the proper use to which the statement 
can be put by the jury. 

The third level of disagreement involves the 
question of how to analyze the hearsay statement. 
Should it be examined under the traditional excep­
tions to the hearsay rule or under the new princi­
pled approach developed by this Court in Khan 
and subsequent cases? This question in tum 
requires us to determine the present status of the 

au jury. Je considere plut6t qu'il commande d'exa­
miner l'expose dans son ensemble afin de determi­
ner si le jury a bien compris la notion de preuve 
hors de tout doute raisonnable. J'estime que l'ex­
pose du juge dans la presente affaire a pennis au 
jury de bien comprendre cette notion. 

Mon collegue le juge Iacobucci a expose les 
faits de meme que l'historique des procedures judi­
ciaires en l'espece. J'ajouterai des precisions, au 
besoin, en examinant chacun des moyens d' appel. 

II. Analyse 

A. Admissibilite de la declaration de Cook 

(l) Introduction et resume 

Environ une heure avant d'etre assassme, 
Bernard (Bo) Cook s' est entretenu avec Jodie 
Giesbrecht et lui a dit qu'il devait [TRADUCTION] 
<<aller frauder l' Autopac avec Robert» (l'appelant). 
Le juge du proces a admis le temoignage de Mme 
Giesbrecht relativement a ce que M. Cook lui a dit 
la nuit OU ce demier et Darlene Weselowski ont ete 
assassines. L' appelant conteste l' admission de 
cette declaration au motif qu'il s'agit de ou"i-dire 
inadmissible. 

Le juge Iacobucci et moi sommes en desaccord 
en ce qui a trait a l'admission de cette declaration a 
titre d'exception a la regle du ou"i-dire concernant 
les declarations d' «intentions existantes» ou 
d' «etat d 'esprit», que notre Cour a reconnue dans 
l'arret Smith, precite. Par souci de commodite, je 
vais referer a l ' exception des «intentions exis­
tantes» puisque cette expression traduit bien le 
type de declaration en cause devant nous. Plusieurs 
points de desaccord ressortent de notre analyse de 
cette declaration. Le premier conceme la portee de 
cette exception, et le deuxieme, l'utilisation que le 
jury peut faire de la declaration. 

Le troisieme point de desaccord a trait a la fai;:on 
d'analyser la declaration en question. Devrait-elle 
etre examinee sous l'angle des exceptions tradi­
tionnelles a la regle du OUI-dire OU selon la nou­
velle approche fondee sur des principes que notre 
Cour a coni;:ue dans l'arret Khan et d'autres arrets 
subsequents? Cette question oblige, a son tour, a 
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traditional exceptions in light of and in relationship 
to the principled approach. 

I wish to articulate clearly my position on the 
state of hearsay law after Khan and its progeny. 
First, I do not believe that Khan "prevails" over the 
traditional exceptions to the hearsay rule. The 
effect of Iacobucci J. 's analysis is to reduce these 
exceptions to mere reference points that provide 
little more than a convenient launching pad for the 
application of the principled approach to previ­
ously accepted exceptions to the hearsay rule. Sec­
ond, I would not follow Iacobucci J. 's suggested 
approach because in my mind it impermissibly 
shifts responsibility from the trier of fact onto the 
judge. I believe that this framework directly con­
tradicts the underlying essence of the principled 
approach and the thrust of hearsay refonn in the 
common law world over the last 30 years. An 
overly strict view of hearsay is inconsistent with 
our desire to provide the trier of fact with more, 
rather than less, evidence. I of course recognize 
that some restrictions on the admissibility of evi­
dence are nonetheless necessary, for both judges 
and juries. 

I would adopt the following framework of anal­
ysis for hearsay statements. First, it must be deter­
mined whether the statement is hearsay. Second, 
the trial judge should detennine whether the hear­
say statement falls within an established exception 
to the hearsay rule. If it does, the evidence is 
admissible. Third, if the evidence does not fall 
within an established exception, the trial judge 
should determine whether it would still be admissi­
ble under the principled approach. Fourth, the trial 
judge maintains the limited residual discretion to 
exclude evidence where the risk of undue 
prejudice substantially exceeds the evidence's pro­
bative value. Finally, once the statements are 
found admissible, it is for the trier of fact to weigh 
the evidence and make a determination as to the 
ultimate reliability of the hearsay evidence at issue. 

detenniner la situation actuelle des exceptions tra­
ditionnelles eu egard et par rapport a la methode 
fondee sur des principes. 

Je tiens a exposer clairement mon point de vue 
sur l'etat du droit en matiere de ou"i-dire a la suite 
de l'arret Khan et des arrets qui en ont decoule. En 
premier lieu, je ne crois pas que l'arret Khan 
«l'emporte» sur Jes exceptions traditionnelles a la 
regle du ou'i-dire. L'analyse du juge Iacobucci a 
pour effet de convertir ces exceptions en de sim­
ples points de repere qui servent tout au plus de 
point de depart commode a )'application de la 
methode fondee sur des principes aux exceptions 
auparavant reconnues a la regle du ou·i-dire. En 
deuxieme lieu, je ne puis suivre la methode propo­
see par le juge Iacobucci parce que, a mon avis, 
elle transfere de maniere inacceptable la responsa­
bilite du juge des faits au juge du droit. Ce cadre 
d'analyse contredit directement, a mon avis, !'es­
sence meme de la methode fondee sur des prin­
cipes ainsi que !'orientation generale de la refonne 
de la regle du ou"i-dire que la common law a con­
nue au cours des 30 dernieres annees. Une percep­
tion trop stricte du ou"i-dire est incompatible avec 
notre volonte de fournir au juge des faits plus que 
moins d'elements de preuve. Je reconnais evidem­
ment que certaines restrictions relatives a l'admis­
sibilite de la preuve sont neanmoins necessaires 
pour Jes juges comme pour le jury. 

J'adopterais le cadre d'analyse suivant en ce qui 
concerne les declarations qui ressortent du ou·i­
dire. Premierement, il y a lieu de determiner si la 
declaration est du ou·i-dire. Deuxiemement, le juge 
du proces doit decider si la declaration en question 
releve d'une exception reconnue a la regle du 
ou"i-dire. Si oui, elle est admissible. Troisieme­
ment, si la preuve ne releve pas d'une exception 
reconnue, le juge du proces doit determiner si la 
declaration est tout de meme admissible en vertu 
de la methode fondee sur des principes. Quatrie­
mement, le juge du proces conserve le pouvoir dis­
cretionnaire residue! limite d'ecarter une preuve 
lorsque le risque d' effet prejudiciable indu l' em­
porte substantiellement sur la valeur probante de la 
preuve. Finalement, des que Jes declarations sont 
jugees admissibles, il appartient au juge des faits 
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The Chief Justice essentially adopts this frame­
work in para. 2 of her reasons. 

In addition, I would allow for the re-evaluation, 
in a proper case, of a traditional exception under 
the principled approach. That is to say, I believe 
that the principled approach may be applied to 
reconsider the reliability and necessity of the class 
of statements that are included in a categorical 
exception to the rule against hearsay. I would not 
countenance the case-by-case appljcation of the 
principled approach to statements falling within 
accepted exceptions to the rule against hearsay. 
Individual cases may illuminate or illustrate the 
need to modify a particular traditional exception, 
but every piece of evidence that falls within a 
traditional exception should not be subjected to the 
principled approach and the concomitant voir dire 
that it may entail. To do so would unnecessarily 
complicate the trial process and sacrifice experi­
ence, certainty and predictability in the name of 
the vague and uncertain mantra of "principle". 

(2) H:earsay Reform 

The rule against hearsay developed at the same 
time as the modern form of trial and is associated 
with a deep-seated distrust of the jury system: 
Cross on Evidence (7th ed. 1990), at p. 510. It is 
premised on a belief that the jury will erroneously 
assess the probative value of evidence and the 
retention of the rule reflects continued suspicions 
about jury deliberations: J. Sopinka, S. N. 
Lederman and A. W. Bryant, The Law of Evidence 
in Canada (2nd ed. 1999), at p. 176. The rule 
against hearsay is "founded on a lack of faith in 
the capacity of the trier of fact properly to evaluate 
evidence of a statement": Smith, supra, at p. 935. 
The modern trend to reform the rules of evidence 
in general and the hearsay rules in particular con­
stitutes a sharp break from this distrust of the jury. 
As the Law Reform Commission of Canada 
explained in its 1975 Report on Evidence, at p. 5: 

d'apprecier la preuve presentee et de se prononcer 
ultimement sur la fiabilite de la preuve par out-dire 
en cause. Le Juge en chef adopte essentiellement 
ce cadre d'analyse au deuxieme paragraphe de ses 
motifs. 

Je pennettrais en outre, dans les cas appropries, 
la reevaluation d'une exception traditionnelle en 
fonction de la methode fondee sur des principes. 
Autrement dit, je crois que la methode fondee sur 
des principes peut servir a reexaminer la fiabilite et 
la necessite de declarations visees par une catego­
rie d'exceptions a la regle du ou"i-dire. Jene favori­
serais pas !'application cas par cas de la methode 
fondee sur des principes aux declarations relevant 
des exceptions reconnues a la regle du ou"i-dire. 
Chaque cas peut faire ressortir ou mettre en 
lmruere la necessite de modifier une exception tra­
ditionnelle particuliere, mais ii n'y a pas lieu d'as­
sujettir chaque element de preuve qui releve d'une 
exception traditionnelle a la methode fondee sur 
des principes et au voir-dire concomitant qu'elle 
peut necessiter. Cela aurait pour effet de compli­
quer inutilement le proces et de sacrifier l'expe­
rience, la certitude et la previsibilite au nom du 
mantra vague et incertain des «principes». 

(2) La refonne de la regle du ou·i-dire 

La regle du oui:-dire s' est developpee en meme 
temps que la fonne moderne du proces, et elle est 
liee a une profonde mefiance a l' egard du systeme 
de jury: Cross on Evidence (7e ed. 1990), a la 
p. 510. Elle repose sur la conviction que le jury 
fera une appreciation erronee de la valeur probante 
de la preuve, et son maintien reflete la persistance 
de soupc;ons au sujet des deliberations du jury: J. 
Sopinka, S. N. Lederman et A. W. Bryant, The 
Law of Evidence in Canada (2e ed. 1999), a la 
p. 176. La regle qui interdit le ou"i-dire est «fondee 
sur un manque de confiance en la capacite du juge 
des faits d'apprecier comme il se doit la "preuve 
d'une declaration»: Smith, precite, a lap. 935. La 
tendance moderne a reformer les regles de preuve 
en general et les regles du oui:-dire en particulier 
constitue un net rejet de cette mefiance a l'egard 
du jury. Ainsi que l'a explique la Commission de 
reforme du droit du Canada, aux pp. 5 et 6 de son 
Rapport sur la preuve publie en 1975: 
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. .. at least 95% of criminal cases in Canada are now 
tried by a judge alone, so there is no need for all the 
precautions about what is to be allowed in evidence 
now. Judges are experienced in weighing evidence and, 
in any event, they have to learn of disputed evidence to 
determine whether it is admissible or not. Even when 
there is a jury, the situation is profoundly different from 
the past. Jurors today are far more sophisticated and bet­
ter educated than in the past. [Emphasis added.] 

We have recognized these changes, commenting in 
R. v. Levogiannis, [1993] 4 S.C.R. 475, at p. 487, 
that "the recent trend in courts has been to remove 
barriers to the truth-seeking process''. This Court 
has taken a flexible approach to the rules of evi­
dence, "reflect[ing] a keen sensibility to the need 
to receive evidence which has real probative force 
in the absence of overriding countervailing consid­
erations": R. v. Seaboyer, [1991] 2 S.C.R. 577, at 
p. 623. In the specific context of hearsay evidence, 
Lamer CJ. speaking for a unanimous Court in 
Smith, supra, at p. 932, explained that "[t]he move­
ment towards a flexible approach was motivated 
by the realization that, as a general rule, reliable 
evidence ought not to be excluded simply because 
it cannot be tested by cross-examination." Our 
motivation in refonning the rules of evidence has 
been "a genuine attempt to bring the relevant and 
probative evidence before the trier of fact in order 
to foster the search for truth": Levogiannis, supra, 
at p. 487. These principles must guide all of our 
evidentiary refonn endeavours. 

Our reform of the hearsay rules began in Ares v. 
Venner, [1970] S.C.R. 608, when we refused to 
follow the House of Lords' position that the hear­
say rule was frozen in time subject to reform only 
through the initiative of Parliament: see Myers v. 
Director of Public Prosecutions, [ 1965] A.C. 1001. 
In Ares, at p. 624, we adopted the minority posi­
tion of Lord Donovan in Myers that "[t]he com­
mon law is moulded by the judges and it is still 
their province to adapt it from time to time so as to 
make it serve the interests of those it binds." What 
is at issue in this appeal is whether Khan and its 

. .. au mains 95 p. 100 des affaires criminelles etant ins­
truites par un juge seul, cette attitude d'extreme circons­
pection vis-a-vis de la reception d'une preuve n'a plus 
sa raison d'etre. Les juges out l'habitude d'evaluer la 
preuve; de toute fa<;on, ils doivent d'abord prendre con­
naissance de !'element de preuve litigieux avant de se 
prononcer sur son admissibilite. Les choses ont change 
meme dans le cas d'un proces avec jury. De nos jours, 
Jes jures sont beaucoup plus raffines et plus instruits que 
dans le passe. [Je souligne.] 

Nous avons reconnu ces changements en faisant 
remarquer, dans l'arret R. c. Levogiannis, [1993] 4 
R.C.S. 475, a lap. 487, que <des tribunaux tendent 
de plus en plus a ecarter les obstacles a la decou­
verte de la verite». Notre Cour a adopte, a l'egard 
des regles de preuve, une attitude plus souple qui 
indique qu' elle est «particulierement sensibl[ e] a la 
necessite de recevoir une preuve d 'une valeur pro­
bante reelle en !'absence d'autres considerations 
dominantes»: R. c. Seaboyer, [1991] 2 R.C.S. 577, 
a la p. 623 . Dans le contexte particulier de la 
preuve par ou'i-dire, lejuge en chef Lamer, s'expri­
mant au nom de la Cour a l'unanirnite dans l'arret 
Smith, precite, a lap. 932, a explique que «[!]'evo­
lution vers une conception souple est motivee par 
le fait qu'on s'est rendu compte qu'en regle gene­
rale la preuve qui est fiable ne devrait pas etre 
exclue simplement parce qu'elle ne peut etre veri­
fiee au moyen d'un contre-interrogatoire.» Notre 
motivation a reformer les regles de preuve a ete de 
«veritablement tent[ er] de faire en so rte que les 
elements de preuve pertinents et probants soient 
presentes au juge des faits et ce, afin de favoriser 
la recherche de la verite»: Levogiannis, precite, a 
la p. 487. Ces principes doivent guider tous nos 
efforts de reforme en matiere de preuve. 

Notre reforme des regles du ou'i-dire a debute 
avec l'arret Ares c. Venner, [1970] R .C.S. 608, ou 
nous avons refuse d'adopter le point de vue de la 
Chambre des lords selon lequel la regle du ou'i-dire 
etait figee dans le temps, sous reserve de refonnes 
qui ne pouvaient emaner que du legislateur: voir 
Myers c. Director of Public Prosecutions, [1965] 
A.C. 1001. Dans Ares, a la p. 624, nous avons 
adopte le point de vue de lord Donovan, dissident 
dans l'arret Myers , selon lequel [TRADUCTION] 
«[ c ]e sont les juges qui fa<;onnent la common law 
et ii est toujours de leur competence de !'adapter a 
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progeny have followed Lord Donovan's impera­
tive to "adapt" the common law from time to time 
or whether this Court has embarked upon an 
entirely different course and revolutionized the law 
of hearsay in this country. 

In Khan, supra, McLachlin J. (as she then was), 
writing for a unanimous Court, held that hearsay 
evidence of a child's statement on crimes commit­
ted against the child should be received, provided 
that the guarantees of necessity and reliability are 
met. The effect and reach of Khan were unclear to 
many with some commentators opining that the 
decision was analogous to Ares, supra, in creating 
a new categorical exception to the hearsay rule. 
See, e.g., D. Rowsell, "Necessity and Reliability: 
What is the Impact of Khan on the Admissibility 
of Hearsay in Canada?" (1991), 49 U.T. Fae. L. 
Rev. 294, at p. 295. However, this interpretation of 
Khan was expressly disavowed by this Court in 
Smith, supra. 

In Smith , at p. 932, Lamer CJ. , speaking also 
for a unanimous Court, stated that "Khan should 
not be understood as turning on its particular facts, 
but, instead, must be seen as a particular expres­
sion of the fundamental principles that underlie the 
hearsay rule and the exceptions to it". At p. 930, he 
had said: 

The principled basis of the hearsay rule, and its excep­
tions, was thus understood by commentators on the 
common law of evidence early in this century. The deci­
sion of this Court in Khan, therefore, should be under­
stood as the triumph of a principled analysis over a set 
of ossified judicially created categories. 

Later at p. 932, Lamer C.J. characterized Khan as 
signalling a departure "from a view of hearsay 
characterized by a general prohibition on the 
reception of such evidence, subject to a limited 
number of defined categorical exceptions" and 
moving towards "an approach governed by the 

!'occasion de maniere qu 'elle serve l'interet de 
ceux qu 'elle lie.» Dans le present pourvoi, il s'agit 
de determiner si l 'arret Khan, precite, et les arrets 
qui en decoulent ont donne suite a !'invitation de 
lord Donovan d'«adaptern a !'occasion la common 
law, ou si notre Cour s'est engagee dans une voie 
entierement differente et a revolutionne le droit de 
la preuve par oul-dire au pays. 

Dans l'arret Khan, precite, Madame le juge 
McLachlin (maintenant Juge en chef) a statue, au 
nom de la Cour a l'unanimite, qu'il y a lieu de 
recevoir a titre de preuve par ou·i-dire une declara­
tion d'une enfant au sujet de crimes dont elle a ete 
victime, pourvu que les garanties de necessite et de 
fiabilite soient respectees. Pour plusieurs, l'effet et 
la portee de l'arret Khan n'etaient pas clairs, cer­
tains commentateurs allant jusqu'a exprimer l'avis 
que cet arret etait analogue a l'arret Ares, precite, 
du fait qu'il creait une nouvelle categorie d'excep­
tions a la regle du ou·i-dire. Voir par exemple D. 
Rowsell, «Necessity and Reliability: What is the 
Impact of Khan on the Admissibility of Hearsay in 
Canada?» (1991), 49 U.T. Fae. L. Rev. 294, a la 
p. 295 . Cette interpretation de l'arret Khan a toute­
fois ete expressement rejetee par notre Cour dans 
l'arret Smith, precite. 

Dans Smith , a lap. 932, le juge en chef Lamer a 
affirrne, au nom de la Cour a l'unanimite, que 
«l'arret Khan doit etre considere non pas comme 
un cas d'espece, mais plut6t cornme une expres­
sion particuliere des principes fondarnentaux qui 
sous-tendent la regle du oul-dire et ses excep­
tions». A la page 930, il avait dit: 

Les commentateurs de la common law en matiere de 
preuve comprenaient done, au debut du siecle, que la 
regle du ou"i-dire et ses exceptions etaient fondees sur 
des principes. L'arret Khan de notre Cour doit done etre 
pen;u comme le triomphe d'une analyse fondee sur des 
principes sur un ensemble de categories sclerosees con­
r;ues par Jes tribunaux. 

Plus loin, a la p. 932, le juge en chef Lamer a 
signale que l'arret Khan s'ecartait «d'une concep­
tion de la preuve par ou·i-dire caracterisee par une 
interdiction generale de la reception d'une telle 
preuve, sous reserve d'un nombre restreint de cate­
gories d'exceptions definies», et representait une 

:::::i 
c 
Ci) 

~ 
0 
'<:j-

u 
u 
(J) 

0 
0 
0 
N 



[2000] 2 R.C.S. R. c. STARR Le juge L 'Heureux-Dube 173 

principles which underlie the rule and its excep­
tions alike". Finally, at p. 933, Lamer C.J. stated 
that Khan "signalled an end to the old categorical 
approach to the admission of hearsay evidence. 
Hearsay evidence is now admissible on a princi­
pled basis, the governing principles being the reli­
ability of the evidence, and its necessity." 

The next year, inR. v. B. (K.G.) , [1993] 1 S.C.R. 
740, this Court held that prior inconsistent state­
ments may be admitted for the truth of their con­
tents if they are necessary and reliable. The Court 
established an elaborate voir dire requirement 
which has spawned much commentary on how to 
show reliability and necessity. See R. J. Delisle, 
"B. (K.G.) and Its Progeny" (1998), 14 C.R. (5th) 
75, at p. 75; P. M. McCrea, "Judicial Law-Making: 
The Development of the Principled Exception to 
the Hearsay Rule - Implications for Prelimina1y 
Hearing Recantations" (1998), 61 Sask. L. Rev. 
199, at p. 208; D. A. R. Thompson, "The Supreme 
Court Goes Hunting and Nearly Catches a Hearsay 
Woozle" (1995), 37 C.R. (4th) 282, at p. 284; J. 
Wood, "Hearsay - Necessity and Reliability" 
(1997), 20 Prov. Judges J. 5; A. Marin, "How to 
Assess Reliability in Khan and K.G.B. Applica­
tions" (1996), 38 Crim. L.Q. 353. 

The attempts at explanation made in Smith and 
B. (K. G.) left open the question of where the tradi­
tional exceptions stood in the aftermath of Khan 
and its progeny. Courts and commentators 
remained uncertain over the application of the 
principled approach to the traditional categories. 

(3) Relationship Between the Principled 
Approach and the Hearsay Exceptions 

Iacobucci J. takes the position that the tradi­
tional hearsay exceptions should not automatically 
be applied without consideration of the principled 
approach. He states that in the event of a conflict 

evolution vers «une conception regie par les prin­
cipes qui sous-tendent la regle ainsi que ses excep­
tions». Entin, a la p. 933, le juge en chef Lamer a 
affirme que l'arret Khan «annon[c;:ait] la fin de 
l'ancienne conception, fondee sur des categories 
d' exceptions, de !'admission de la preuve par 
ou·i-dire. L'admission de la preuve par oui-dire est 
desormais fondee sur des principes, dont Jes prin­
cipaux sont la fiabilite de la preuve et sa neces­
site.» 

L'annee suivante, dans R. c. B. (K.G.), [1993] 1 
R.C.S. 740, notre Cour a statue que des declara­
tions anterieures incompatibles peuvent etre admi­
ses com.me preuve de la veracite de leur contenu si 
elles sont necessaires et fiables . Notre Cour a exige 
un voir-dire elabore, ce qui a engendre une foule 
de conunentaires sur la fac;:on d'etablir la fiabilite 
et la necessite. Voir R. J. Delisle, «B. (K.G.) and 
Its Progeny» (1998), 14 C.R. (5th) 75, a lap. 75; P. 
M. McCrea, «Judicial Law-Making: The Develop­
ment of the Principled Exception to the Hearsay 
Rule - Implications for Preliminwy Hearing 
Recantations» (1998), 61 Sask. L. Rev. 199, a la 
p. 208; D. A. R. Thompson, «The Supreme Court 
Goes Hunting and Nearly Catches a Hearsay 
Woozle» (1995), 37 C.R. (4th) 282, a lap. 284; J. 
Wood, «Hearsay - Necessity and Reliability» 
(1997), 20 Journal des juges provinciaux 5; A. 
Marin, «How to Assess Reliability in Khan and 
K.G.B. Applications» (1996), 38 Crim. L.Q. 353 . 

Les tentatives d' explications dans les arrets 
Smith et B. (K. G.) n' ont pas regle la question des 
exceptions traditionnelles et de leur role a la suite 
de l'arret Khan et des arrets qui en ont decoule. 
Les tribunaux et Jes commentateurs sont demeures 
dans !'incertitude quanta !'application aux catego­
ries traditionnelles de la methode fondee sur des 
principes. 

(3) La relation entre la methode fondee Sur 
des principes et les exceptions a la regle du 
oui-dire 

Le juge Iacobucci est d'avis qu'il ne faut pas 
appliquer automatiquement les exceptions tradi­
tionnelles a la regle du oui-dire sans examiner la 
methode fondee Sur des principes. 11 affinne que, 
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between the principled approach and the existing 
exceptions, " it is the principled approach that must 
prevail" (para. 155). I do not quarrel with this idea 
but I do take issue with what Iacobucci J. asserts 
that this entails. At bottom, I read Iacobucci J. 's 
approach as diminishing the role of the traditional 
exceptions in the hearsay analysis. I do not believe 
that such an approach is warranted either by our 
jurisprudence or by the underlying rationale of the 
principled approach. 

It is possible to identify five different interpreta­
tions of Khan and its progeny: (1) Khan created a 
particular new exception to the rule against hear­
say for child testimony; (2) Khan provides the 
basis for creating new categorical exceptions for 
necessary and reliable evidence; (3) Khan created 
a residual exception for necessary and reliable evi­
dence, leaving the traditional exceptions intact; ( 4) 
Khan not only permits the admission of evidence 
which does not fall within the existing exceptions 
but allows courts to revisit a traditional exception 
to detennine whether it can still be justified on the 
basis of necessity and reliability; (5) Khan abol­
ishes the traditional exceptions and supplants them 
with the principled approach of necessity and relia­
bility which are applied on a case-by-case basis. I 
will examine each possibility in turn. 

The first interpretation of Khan can be dealt 
with quickly. The reading of Khan that argued that 
it created a narrow exception for children's testi­
mony was expressly disavowed by this Court in 
Smith , supra, at p. 932, and B. (K.G.) , supra, at 
p. 798. 

The second interpretation of Khan views "neces­
sity" and "reliability" as the basis for creating new 
categorical exceptions. See Thompson, supra, at 
p. 284: "Despite the language of 'principled flexi­
bility', two of the three cases so far have led to the 
creation of new categorical exceptions: child 
abuse hearsay in Khan and some prior inconsistent 

en cas de conflit entre la methode fondee sur des 
principes et les exceptions existantes, «c'est la 
methode fondee sur des principes qui doit l'empor­
tern (par. 155). Je n'ai rien contre cette idee, mais 
je suis en desaccord avec ce qu'elle entrame selon 
le juge Iacobucci. En derniere analyse, je considere 
que l'approche du juge Iacobucci reduit le rOle des 
exceptions traditionnelles dans !'analyse du ou"i­
dire. Je crois qu 'une telle methode n'estjustifiee ni 
par notre jurisprudence ni par le raisonnement qui 
sous-tend la methode fondee sur des principes. 

11 est possible d'identifier cinq interpretations 
differentes de l'am~t Khan et des arrets qui en 
decoulent: (1) l' arret Khan a cree une nouvelle 
exception particuliere a la regle du oul-dire dans le 
cas du temoignage d'un enfant; (2) l'arret Khan 
justifie la creation de nouvelles categories d'excep­
tions applicables aux elements de preuve neces­
saires et fiables ; (3) l'arret Khan a cree une excep­
tion residuelle applicable a la preuve necessaire et 
fiable tout en conservant intactes les exceptions 
traditionnelles; (4) l'arret Khan permet non seule­
ment d 'admettre la preuve qui ne releve pas des 
exceptions existantes, mais encore il donne aux tri­
bunaux la latitude de reexaminer une exception 
traditionnelle pour detenniner si elle est toujours 
justifiable pour des raisons de necessite et de fiabi­
lite; (5) l'arret Khan abolit les exceptions tradition­
nelles et les remplace par l'approche fondee sur 
des principes, soit necessite et fiabilite, qui sont 
appliques cas par cas. Je vais examiner chacune de 
ces possibilites a tour de role. 

On peut disposer rapidement de la premiere 
interpretation de l'arret Khan. L'opinion selon 
laquelle l'arret Khan a cree une exception limitee 
dans le cas du temoignage d'un enfant a ete 
expressement rejetee par notre Cour dans l'arret 
Smith, precite, a lap. 932, et dans l'arret B. (K. G.), 
precite, a la p. 798. 

Selan la deuxieme interpretation de l'arret 
Khan, la <mecessi te» et la «fiabilite» justifient la 
creation de nouvelles categories d'exceptions. Voir 
Thompson, lac. cit., a la p. 284: [TRADUCTION] 
«Malgre le vocabulaire de «souplesse fondee sur 
des principes», deux des trois decisions ontjusqu' a 
maintenant entrame la creation de nouvelles 
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statements in K. G.B." (emphasis in original). In B. 
(K.G.), at p. 798, we similarly expressly repudiated 
this possibility: "the decisions in Khan and Smith 
established that Canadian courts will no longer 
carve out categorical 'exceptions"'. 

The third interpretation of Khan sees it as creat­
ing a new residual exception for "necessary" and 
"reliable" evidence that does not fall within the 
traditional categories. This was first expressed by 
M. T. MacCri1mnon in "Developments in the Law 
of Evidence: The 1990-91 Term - Social Science, 
Law Reform and Equality" (1992), 3 Supreme 
Court L.R. (2d) 269, at p. 322, where she stated 
that Khan "created a residual exception to the hear­
say rule similar to that in the Federal Rules of Evi­
dence". This interpretation is also adopted by 
Sopinka, Ledennan and Bryant, supra, at p. 191. 
By far, this is the most widely accepted interpreta­
tion of Khan. See McCrea, supra, at p. 208; R. 
Prithipaul, "Observations on the Current Status of 
the Hearsay Rule" (1997), 39 Crim. L.Q. 84, at 
p. 92; Thompson, supra, at p. 284; D. Oleskiw, 
"Recent Developments in the Law of Hearsay" 
(1994), 1 Crown's Newsletter 37, at p. 38; M. B. 
Blok, "The Changed Law of Hearsay Evidence 
(Or, "Hearsay Today, Gone Tomorrow")" (1993), 
51 Advocate 675, at p. 685; H. Stewart, "Prior 
Identifications and Hearsay: A Note on R. v. Tat" 
(1998), 3 Can. Crim. L. Rev. 61, at p. 64; 
L. Stuesser, "R. v. B. (K.G.): Prior Inconsistent 
Statements as Truth" (1991), 5 C.R. (5th) 373, at 
p. 378. 

The fourth possibility is that Khan permits the 
re-evaluation of the traditional exceptions on a cat­
egorical basis. This was suggested by Marc 
Rosenberg, before his appointment to the bench, in 
the article "B. (K.G.) - Necessity and Reliability: 
The New Pigeon-holes" (1993), 19 C.R. (4th) 69, 
at p. 71, where he said, "[m]oreover, I think that 
not only is it possible to admit evidence which 

categories d'exceptions: le ou"i-dire en matiere de 
mauvais traitement d'enfants dans l'arret Khan et 
certaines declarations anterieures incompatibles 
dans l'arret K.G.B.» (en italique dans !'original). 
Dans l'arret B. (K.G.), a lap. 798, nous avons de la 
meme fa<;:on expressement ecarte cette possibilite: 
<des arrets Khan et Smith ont etabli que les tribu­
naux canadiens n'etabliront plus de categories 
d' «exceptions»». 

La troisieme interpretation de l'arret Khan y voit 
une nouvelle exception residuelle applicable a la 
preuve «necessaire» et «fiable» qui ne releve pas 
des categories traditionnelles. Cette interpretation 
a ete formulee pour la premiere fois par M. T. 
MacCrimmon dans «Developments in the Law of 
Evidence: The 1990-91 Term - Social Science, 
Law Reform and Equality» (1992), 3 Supreme 
Court L.R. (2d) 269, a lap. 322, ou elle a ecrit que 
l'arret Khan [TRADUCTION] «a cree une exception 
residuelle a la regle du ou"i-dire, qui ressemble a 
celle qu'on trouve dans !es Federal Rules of Evi­
dence». Cette interpretation est aussi adoptee par 
Sopinka, Lederman et Bryant, op. cit., a lap. 191. 
C'est de loin !'interpretation de l'arret Khan Ia 
plus largement acceptee. Voir McCrea, foe. cit., a 
lap. 208; R. Prithipaul, «Observations on the Cur­
rent Status of the Hearsay Rule» (1997), 39 Crim. 
L.Q. 84, a lap. 92; Thompson, loc. cit., a lap. 284; 
D. Oleskiw, «Recent Developments in the Law of 
Hearsay» (1994), 1 Crown's Newsletter 37, a la 
p. 38; M. B. Blok, «The Changed Law of Hearsay 
Evidence (Or, "Hearsay Today, Gone Tomor­
row")» (1993), 51 Advocate 675, a la p. 685; H. 
Stewart, «Prior Identifications and Hearsay: A 
Note on R. v. Tat» (1998), 3 Rev. can. D.P. 61, a la 
p. 64; L. Stuesser, «R. v. B. (K.G.): Prior Inconsis­
tent Statements as Truth» (1991), 5 C.R. (5th) 373, 
a lap. 378. 

La quatrieme possibilite est que l'arret Khan 
permet la reevaluation par categorie des exceptions 
traditionnelles. C'est ce qu'avait propose Marc 
Rosenberg avant d'etre nomme juge, dans I' article 
intitule <<B. (K. G.) - Necessity and Reliability: 
The New Pigeon-holes» (1993), 19 C.R. (4th) 69, a 
lap. 71, ou il a dit: [TRADUCTION] «[e]n outre, je 
pense que non seulement il est possible d'admettre 

41 

42 

:J 
c 
cc 
~ 
0 
'<:j-

u 
u 
U) 

0 
0 
0 
N 



43 

176 R. v. ST ARR L 'Heureux-Dube J. [2000] 2 S.C.R. 

does not fall within the existing exceptions but it 
must also be open to the courts to revisit any estab­
lished exception to determine whether that excep­
tion can still be justified on the basis of necessity 
and reliability." For an application of this approach 
see Rowsell, supra, at pp. 304-8 (re-examining 
dying declarations and spontaneous declarations in 
light of Khan). Rosenberg explains the basis for 
his assertion as follows (at pp. 80-81): 

... the reason which justifies an existing exception may 
in time be found to be wanting. The exceptions were 
created as the courts from time to time applied common 
sense and expetience, but ideas which seemed reasona­
ble in the 19th century may appear questionable in the 
late 20th century. 

I would accept this approach as dictated by the ten­
ets embodied in the principled approach. Yet, as I 
will explain below, I have a radically different 
conception than Iacobucci J. of what this entails. 

The final possibility is that Khan and its prog­
eny abolish the traditional exceptions and replace 
them with a case-by-case detem1ination of reliabil­
ity and necessity. That the passages previously 
quoted from Smith, supra, may provide this 
impression is explained by Professor Schiff in Evi­
dence in the Litigation Process (4th ed. 1993), vol. 
1, at p. 660: 

Upon even a careful reading of Smith, the court might 
appear to abolish the existing hearsay exceptions, leav­
ing in their place the judge's authority to admit any item 
of hearsay evidence shown to be "necessary" and "relia­
ble" in the particular circumstances. The existing excep­
tions are nonetheless alive and well. ... 

In Sopinka, Lederman and Bryant, supra, at 
p. 193, the authors state that "[t]here is no sugges­
tion in the cases that the court was countenancing 
the exclusion of hearsay which would be otherwise 
admitted through one of the recognized 
exceptions." Furthermore, in B. (K. G.), supra, 

une preuve qui ne releve pas des exceptions exis­
tantes, mais encore qu'il doit etre loisible aux tri­
bunaux de reexaminer toute exception etablie pour 
detenniner si elle est toujours justifiable pour des 
raisons de necessite et de fiabilite.» Pour une 
application de ce point de vue, voir Rowsell, lac. 
cit., aux pp. 304 a 308 (qui a reexamine les decla­
rations de mourants et les declarations spontanees 
a la lwniere de l'arret Khan). Rosenberg explique 
ainsi le fondement de son affirmation (aux pp. 80 
et 81 ): 

[TRADUCTION] . . . la raison qui justifie !'existence d'une 
exception peut, a la longue, etre jugee insuffisante. Les 
exceptions ont ete creees au fur et a mesure que !es tri­
bunaux recouraient au bon sens et a !'experience 
acquise, mais des idees qui semblaient raisotmables au 
XJXe siecle peuvent para'itre discutables a la fin du xxe 
siecle. 

J'accepte cette methode conune etant dictee par les 
preceptes contenus dans la methode fondee sur des 
principes. Cependant, comrne je l'expliquerai plus 
loin, ma conception de ce que cela implique est 
completement differente de celle du juge 
Iacobucci. 

La demiere possibilite est que l'arret Khan et Jes 
arrets qui en decoulent abolissent les exceptions 
traditionnelles pour les remplacer par une determi­
nation cas par cas de la fiabilite et de la necessite. 
Dans Evidence in the Litigation Process ( 4e ed. 
1993), vol. 1, a la p. 660, le professeur Schiff 
explique ainsi le fait que les passages susmen­
tionnes de l'arret Smith, precite, puissent donner 
cette impression: 

[TRADUCTION] Si on lit attentivement l'arret Smith, la 
cour peut sembler abolir les exceptions existantes a la 
regle du ou'i-dire et leur substituer le pouvoir du juge 
d'admettre tout element de preuve par ou·i-dire qui 
s'avere «necessa ire» et «fiable» dans les circonstances 
particulieres de l'affaire. II n'en demeure pas moins que 
!es exceptions existantes se portent bien . . . 

Dans Sopinka, Lederman et Bryant, op. cit. , a la 
p. 193, les auteurs affinnent que [TRADUCTION] 
«[l]a jurisprudence ne laisse aucunement entendre 
que la cour approuvait !'exclusion d'une preuve 
par ou·i-dire qui serait par ailleurs admise en vertu 
de l'une des exceptions reconnues.» De plus, dans 
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Lamer C.J. speaking for a majority of the Court, 
stated (at p . 798): "While the decisions in Khan 
and Smith established that Canadian courts will no 
longer carve out categorical 'exceptions', the new 
approach shares the same principled basis as the 
existing exceptions." I take this statement as 
affinning the continued existence of the traditional 
exceptions while laying the groundwork for the 
application of the principled approach to new 
developments. See McCrea, supra, at p . 208. 
Moreover, we have admitted evidence based solely 
on the traditional exceptions in cases subsequent to 
Khan: see R. v. Terry, [1996) 2 S.C.R. 207, at para. 
28. In that case, with no discussion of the princi­
pled approach, we stated: "An admission against 
interest made by the accused is admissible as a rec­
ognized exception to the hearsay rule, provided 
that its probative value outweighs its prejudicial 
effect." 

I am able to find only a single author who pro­
poses sweeping aside the existing exceptions in the 
name of the principled approach. However, that 
author is hardly complimentary in his assessment 
of this approach. In "The Supreme Court of 
Canada and Hearsay: The Relevance for Arbitra­
tion", in W. Kaplan, J. Sack and M. Gunderson, 
eds., Labour Arbitration Yearbook 1994-95, 123, 
Professor D. M. Paciocco states (at p. 139): 

In summary, the Supreme Court of Canada has 
rejected the traditional approach to identifying admissi­
ble hearsay. It has replaced it with an ad hoc or case-by­
case assessment in which the admission of hearsay evi­
dence is determined as a matter of judicial discretion, 
according to the general principles of "necessity" and 
"reliability." 

Most of the other commentators assert that the 
traditional categories have not been replaced by 
the principled approach. See McCrea, supra, at 
p. 208 (stating that "in B. (K.G.), decided shortly 
after Smith, the Court clarified that the established 
hearsay exceptions remained very much intact"); 
Thompson, supra, at p. 284 ("Smith does not 
sweep away the existing exceptions") and at p. 291 

B. (K. G.), precite, le juge en chef Lamer a affirme, 
au nom de la Cour a la majorite (a lap. 798): «Cer­
tes, les arrets Khan et Smith ont etabli que les tri­
bunaux canadiens n'etabliront plus de categories 
d' «exceptions», ma is la nouvelle analyse repose 
sur les memes principes que Jes exceptions exis­
tantes .» Selon moi, cet enonce confirme le main­
tien des exceptions traditionnelles tout en prepa­
rant le terrain pour l'application de la methode 
fondee sur des principes a de nouvelles situations. 
Voir McCrea, foe. cit., a la p. 208. De plus, nous 
avons admis des elements de preuve en vertu uni­
quement des exceptions traditionnelles dans des 
affaires subsequentes a l'arret Khan: voir R. c. 
Teny, [1996) 2 R.C.S. 207, au par. 28. Dans cette 
affaire, sans analyser la methode fondee sur des 
principes, nous avons affirme: «Un aveu fait par 
!'accuse contre ses interets est admissible en vertu 
d'une exception reconnue a la regle du oul-dire, 
dans la mesure ou sa valeur probante l 'emporte sur 
son effet prejudiciable.» 

Je n'ai pu trouver qu'un seul auteur qui propose 
d 'ecarter Jes exceptions existantes au nom de la 
methode fondee sur des principes. Toutefois, cet 
auteur n'est guere elogieux dans l'evaluation qu'il 
fait de cette methode. Dans «The Supreme Court 
of Canada and Hearsay: The Relevance for Arbi­
tratiom>, dans W. Kaplan, J. Sack et 
M. Gunderson, dir., Labour Arbitration Yearbook 
1994-95, 123, le professeur D. M . Paciocco ecrit (a 
la p. 139): 

[TRADUCTION] En resume, la Cour supreme du 
Canada a rejete la methode traditionnel!e employee pour 
identifier la preuve par oul-dire admiss ible. Elle l'a rem­
placee par une evaluation speciale ou cas par cas, dans 
laquelle l'admissibilite de la preuve par ou'i-dire est 
determinee en fonction d'un pouvoir discretionnaire 
judiciaire, selon !es principes generaux de la «necessite» 
et de la «fiabilite». 

La plupart des autres commentateurs affinnent que 
les categories traditionnelles n'ont pas ete rempla­
cees par la methode fondee sur des principes. Voir 
McCrea, foe. cit., a lap. 208 (qui ecrit que [TRA­

DUCTION) «dans l'arret B. (K.G.), rendu peu de 
temps apres l'arret Smith , la Cour a precise que Jes 
exceptions reconnues a la regle du oul-dire demeu­
raient a peu pres intactes» ); Thompson, foe. cit., a 
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("It is hard to believe that the real intent of Smith 
was to wipe out the whole structure of hearsay 
exceptions, constructed over the years by the com­
mon law."); P. B. Carter, "Hearsay: Whether and 
Whither?" (1993), 109 L.Q.R. 573, at p. 579 ("R. 
v. Smith should be seen as supplementing and 
developing, rather than as totally replacing, the 
traditional framework of the common law"); Stew­
art, supra, at p. 64 ("Before reaching the princi­
pled approach, the Court must be satisfied that the 
statement is not admissible under any existing 
exception to the rule against hearsay."); A. L.-T. 
Choo, Hearsay and Confrontation in Criminal Tri­
als (1996), at p. 169. 

It is the duty of the courts to review common 
law rules and as recognized by the Law Reform 
Commission of Canada in its Report on Evidence, 
supra, at p. 69, the hearsay rule is the most charac­
teristic rule of our system of judge-made rules of 
evidence. However, the duty to review the com­
mon law carries with it a corresponding responsi­
bility to proceed prudently. This Court has limited 
changes in the common law to those which are 
"slow and incremental" rather than "major and far­
reaching": Watkins v. Olafson, [1989] 2 S.C.R. 
750, at p. 760, per McLachlin J. This Court must 
restrict reforms to only "those incremental changes 
which are necessary to keep the common law in 
step with the dynamic and evolving fabric of our 
society": R. v. Salituro, [1991] 3 S.C.R. 654, at 
p. 670, per Iacobucci J. The adoption of the princi­
pled approach in Khan was based on these calcula­
tions and, similarly, any extension of it must be 
evaluated in tenns of the above considerations. 

I do not see the usurpation of the traditional 
exceptions by the principled approach as warranted 
under the current state of our law. After studying 
the issue for several years, the Law Refonn Com­
mission of Canada in its 1975 Report on Evidence 
concluded (at p. 5): "Many of the existing rules are 

la p. 284 ([TRADUCTION] «L'arret Smith n'ecarte 
pas !es exceptions existantes») et a lap. 291 ([TRA­
DUCTION] «Il est difficile de croire que le but veri­
table de l'arret Smith etait d' aneantir tout le sys­
teme des exceptions a la regle du ou"i-dire, etabli au 
fil des ans par la common law.»); P. B. Carter, 
«Hearsay: Whether and Whither?» (1993), 109 
L. Q.R. 573, a lap. 579 ([TRADUCTION] «l'arret R. c. 
Smith devrait etre per9u comme completant et 
expliquant le cadre traditionnel de la common law 
plutot que comme le rempla9ant totalement>>); Ste­
wart, foe. cit. , a lap. 64 ((TRADUCTION] «Avant de 
recourir a la methode fondee sur des principes, la 
cour doit etre convaincue que la declaration n'est 
pas admissible en vertu d'une exception existante a 
la regle du oul-dire.»); A. L.-T. Choo, Hearsay 
and Confrontation in Criminal Trials (1996), a la 
p. 169. 

11 incombe aux tribunaux de reviser les regles de 
common law et, collllne !'a reconnu la Commis­
sion de reforme du droit du Canada dans son Rap­
port sur la preuve, op. cit.' a la p. 78, la regle du 
ou·i-dire est la plus caracteristique de notre systeme 
de regles de preuve jurisprudentielles. Toutefois, le 
devoir de reviser la common law comporte la res­
ponsabilite correspondante d' agir avec prudence. 
Notre Cour a limite Jes modifications de la com­
mon law a celles qui se font «lentement et progres­
sivement» plutot qu 'a celles qui modifient «sensi­
blement et profondement»: Watkins c. Olafson, 
[1989] 2 R.C.S. 750, a la p. 760, le juge 
McLachlin. Notre Cour doit limiter les reformes 
aux seuls «changements progressifs necessaires 
pour que la common law suive l'evolution et le 
dynamisme de la societe»: R. c. Salituro, [1991] 3 
R.C.S. 654, a lap. 670, le juge Iacobucci. L'adop­
tion de l'approche fondee sur des principes dans 
l'arret Khan se basait sur ces dicta et, partant, toute 
application de cette approche doit etre evaluee en 
fonction des considerations susmentionnees. 

Selon moi, l'empietement de la methode fondee 
sur des principes sur les exceptions traditionnelles 
n'est pas justifie selon l'etat actuel de notre droit. 
Apres avoir etudie cette question pendant plusieurs 
annees, la Commission de reforme du droit du 
Canada a conclu, a la p. 6 de son Rapport sur la 
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sound and well-tested, and have the advantage of 
being familiar to the profession. We would retain 
these." Similarly, the Ontario Law Reform Com­
mission in its 197 6 Report on the Law of Evidence 
concluded (at p. 15): "In our view, the general 
exclusionary rule now in effect should be retained, 
together with the existing common law exceptions. 
The hearsay rule should, however, be relaxed by 
way of further, codified, exceptions." Our jurispru­
dence has recognized the need to relax the hearsay 
rule to keep it in step with our changing society, 
specifically our greater appreciation of jurors' abil­
ities. However, I am not convinced that changes 
have occurred that are so substantial as to vitiate 
the general conclusions of these commissions 
which of course studied these issues in far greater 
detail than we can. 

I find it persuasive that other common law juris­
dictions that have studied the question have 
reached similar conclusions, retaining the tradi­
tional exceptions while relaxing the standards for 
admissibility under the hearsay rule. See, e.g., 
United Kingdom Law Commission, Consultation 
Paper No. 138, Criminal Law- Evidence in Crim­
inal Proceedings: Hearsay and Related Topics 
(1995), at pp. 145-59; Law Reform Commission of 
Ireland, "The Rule Against Hearsay", in Reports 
(1979), vol. 2, 105, at pp. 201-9; Evidence Act 
1995, 1995, No. 2, ss. 59-75 (Australia); Federal 
Rules of Evidence, Rules 801 et seq. (United 
States). 

The reforms that Iacobucci J. proposes will have 
"major and far-reaching" effects on the common 
law and the trial process and therefore should be 
avoided: see Watkins, supra, at p. 760. Within 
Iacobucci J. 's approach, evidence that falls under a 
traditional exception would be doubly challenged. 
First, while according to Iacobucci J. evidence fall­
ing within a traditional exception is presumptively 

preuve publie en 1975: «Beaucoup de regles exis­
tantes sont sages et ont subi l'epreuve du temps, en 
plus d'etre bien connues de la profession juridique, 
ce qui n'est pas un mince avantage. Il n'est done 
pas question de les eliminer.» La Commission de 
reforme du droit de l'Ontario a elle aussi conclu, a 
la p. 15 de son Report on the Law of Evidence 
publie en 1976: [TRADUCTION] «A notre avis, la 
regle d'exclusion generale presentement en 
vigueur devrait etre maintenue, avec les exceptions 
de common law existantes. La regle du ou"i-dire 
devrait toutefois etre assouplie par de nouvelles 
exceptions codifiees.» Notre jurisprudence a 
reconnu la necessite d'assouplir la regle du ou"i­
dire pour !'harmoniser avec !'evolution de notre 
societe, particulierement avec la plus grande consi­
deration que nous accordons a la capacite des 
jures. Je ne suis toutefois pas convaincue qu'il y a 
eu des changements importants au point d'infinner 
les conclusions generales de ces commissions qui 
ont evidemment etudie ces questions beaucoup 
plus en profondeur que nous sommes en mesure de 
le faire. 

Le fait que d'autres ressorts de common law qui 
ont examine la question soient arrives a des con­
clusions similaires, a savoir maintenir les excep­
tions traditionnelles tout en assouplissant les 
nonnes d'admissibilite en vertu de la regle du ou·i­
dire, m'appara'it persuasif. Voir, par exemple, Uni­
ted Kingdom Law Commission, Consultation 
Paper No. 138, Criminal Law - Evidence in Crim­
inal Proceedings: Hearsay and Related Topics 
(1995), aux pp. 145 a 159; Law Refonn Commis­
sion of Ireland, «The Rule Against Hearsay», dans 
Reports (1979), vol. 2, 105, aux pp. 201 a 209; 
Evidence Act 1995, 1995, n° 2, art. 59 a 75 (Aus­
tralie); Federal Rules of Evidence, regles 801 et 
suiv. (Etats-Unis). 

Les refom1es proposees par le juge Iacobucci 
auront pour effet de modifier «sensiblement et pro­
fondement» la common law et le proces, et il y a 
done lieu de les eviter: voir Watkins, precite, a la 
p. 760. Selon l'approche preconisee par le juge 
Iacobucci, la preuve qui releve d'une exception 
traditionnelle serait doublement contestee. En pre­
mier lieu, meme si, selon le juge Iacobucci, la 
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admissible (para. 212), it is open to revisit the 
exceptions themselves to re-interpret them in a 
manner consistent with the requirements of 
necessity and reliability (para. 213). Second, 
Iacobucci J. asserts that "[i]n some rare cases, it 
may also be possible under the particular circum­
stances of a case for evidence clearly falling within 
an otherwise valid exception nonetheless not to 
meet the principled approach's requirement of 
necessity and reliability" (para. 214). I fear that 
this invitation will create further uncertainty in the 
law as lawyers being lawyers will be quick to 
claim that their case is the "rare" one of which 
Iacobucci J. speaks. Iacobucci J. does not specify 
how trial judges are to deal with these rare cases, 
stating that they will determine the procedure 
"whether by voir dire or otherwise" (para. 214), 
but I think it is safe to asswne that trial judges will 
turn to the procedure familiar to them and man­
dated by our previous jurisprudence: the voir dire 
(see B. (K.G.), supra). 

In any event, voir dire or not, this approach 
would require an in-depth re-evaluation of the 
admissibility of evidence already found to fall 
within an exception to the hearsay rule. The voir 
dire is merely the most formal mode of conducting 
this inquiry. With or without a voir dire, the double 
analysis mandated in every case of hearsay evi­
dence on this approach would inevitably and 
unnecessarily complicate and lengthen trials. 

It is generally acknowledged that the principled 
approach will result in lengthening trials as litiga­
tion over the admissibility of evidence becomes 
more common. See Schiff, supra, at p. 661; 
Thompson, supra, at p. 295; Prithipaul, supra, at 
p. 92; Blok, supra, at p. 685. See also Rosenberg, 
"B. (K. G.) - Necessity and Reliability: The New 
Pigeon-holes", supra, at p. 75. In adopting the 
principled approach to hearsay evidence not falling 
within an established exception, we have chosen 
this course in the name of the search for truth and 
because of confidence that juries will be able to 

preuve v1see par une exception traditionnelle est 
presumee admissible (au par. 212), ii sera possible 
de reexaminer !es exceptions elles-memes pour les 
interpreter d'une maniere confonne aux exigences 
de necessite et de fiabilite (au par. 213). En 
deuxieme lieu, le juge Iacobucci affirme qu' «[i]l se 
peut egalement que, dans de rares cas, des circons­
tances particulieres fassent en sorte qu'une preuve 
manifestement visee par une exception par ailleurs 
valide ne satisfasse toutefois pas aux exigences de 
necessite et de fiabilite de la methode fondee sur 
des principes» (par. 214). Je crains que cette invi­
tation ne cree davantage d'incertitude dans le droit 
etant donne que les avocats ne manqueront sfue­
ment pas de faire valoir que leur cas est l 'un des 
«rares cas» dont parle le juge Iacobucci. Bien que 
ce dernier ne precise pas comment !es juges du 
proces devront traiter ces rares cas et qu' il affirme 
simplement qu'ils etabliront la procedure «par 
voir-dire ou autrement>> (par. 214), je crois qu' on 
peut presumer que le juge du proces recourra a la 
procedure qui lui est familiere et qui est prescrite 
par notre jurisprudence: le voir-dire (voir B. 
(K.G.), precite). 

De toute fa90n, voir-dire OU pas, cette methode 
exige une reevaluation en profondeur de l'admissi­
bilite d'une preuve deja jugee comme relevant 
d'une exception a la regle du ou"i-dire. Le voir-dire 
n'est que la fa90n la plus fonnelle de proceder a 
cet examen. Avec ou sans voir-dire, la double ana­
lyse prescrite par cette approche dans chaque cas 
ou ii y a preuve par oul-dire compliquerait et allon­
gerait inevitablement et inutilement le proces. 

11 est generalement reconnu que la methode fon­
dee sur des principes aura pour effet d'allonger !es 
proces alors que !es litiges portant sur l'admissibi­
lite de la preuve deviennent plus courants. Voir 
Schiff, op. cit., a lap. 661; Thompson, loc. cit. , a la 
p. 295; Prithipaul, Zoe. cit., a la p. 92; Blok, loc. 
cit., a lap. 685. Voir aussi Rosenberg, «B. (K.G.) 
- Necessity and Reliability: The New Pigeon­
holes», loc. cit., a lap. 75. En adoptant l'approche 
fondee sur des principes pour aborder la preuve 
par ou·i-dire qui ne releve pas d'une exception 
reconnue, nous avons choisi cette voie par souci de 
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accurately weigh the quality of the evidence before 
them. However, 

[t]aking away all of the rules and replacing them with 
necessity and reliability makes the role of the trial judge 
that much more difficult. ... Trial judges simply do not 
have the luxury to spend hours, let alone days, ponder­
ing the reliability of a particular piece of evidence, an 
issue normally reserved to the fact-finding phase of the 
trial. What is required is a set of rules which can be 
applied to most situations. [Emphasis added.] 

(M. Rosenberg, "Developments in the Law of Evi­
dence: The 1992-93 Term - Applying the Rules" 
(1994), 5 Supreme Court L.R. (2d) 421, at p. 487.) 

I would conclude that the principled necessity­
reliability analysis, while appropriate where hear­
say evidence does not fall within an established 
exception to the hearsay rule, has not replaced 
and should not supplant the traditional exceptions 
to the hearsay rule. I am not persuaded by 
Iacobucci J. 's attempt to split the difference and 
hold that the principled approach applies to the 
evidence that falls within a traditional exception 
but that a voir dire may only sometimes be neces­
sary. Either the principled approach applies to the 
traditional exceptions or it does not. If it does, then 
a voir dire is required to consider the admissibility 
of such evidence. See B. (K.G.), supra. See also 
Thompson, supra, at p. 295 ("A voir dire is 
required, sometimes a complicated one under the 
residual exception."). If the traditional exceptions 
endure, as I believe they should, then no voir dire 
is required. 

The source of the disagreement between my col­
league Iacobucci J. and me can be traced to variant 
understandings of threshold reliability inquiry 
under the principled approach. The traditional 
exceptions are built upon a determination that a 

recherche de la verite et en raison de notre con­
fiance dans la capacite du jury d'evaluer exacte­
ment la qualite de la preuve qui leur est presentee. 
Toutefois, 

[TRADUCTION] [!]'elimination de toutes [es regles pour 
les remplacer par des criteres de necessite et de fiabilite 
complique d'autant plus la tache du juge du proces. 
[ .. . ] Le juge du proces ne peut simplement pas se per­
mettre de consacrer des heures, voire des jours, a medi­
ter sur la fiabilite d'un element de preuve particulier, 
question normalement reservee a la phase de constata­
tion des faits du proces. Ce qu'il faut, c'est un ensemble 
de regles qui peuvent s'appliquer a la plupart des situa­
tions. [Je souligne.] 

(M. Rosenberg, «Developments in the Law of Evi­
dence: The 1992-93 Term - Applying the Rules» 
(1994), 5 Supreme Court L.R. (2d) 421, a la 
p. 487.) 

Je conclus que !'analyse de la necessite et de la 
fiabilite fondee sur des principes, bien qu'appro­
priee lorsque la preuve par ou·i-dire ne releve pas 
d'une exception etablie a la regle du ou"i-dire, n'a 
pas remplace et ne devrait pas supplanter Jes 
exceptions traditionnelles a la regle du ou'i-dire. La 
tentative du juge Iacobucci de couper la poire en 
deux et de conclure que la methode fondee sur des 
principes s'applique a la preuve qui releve d'une 
exception traditionnelle, mais qu'un voir-dire n'est 
peut-etre necessaire que dans certains cas ne me 
convainc pas. Ou bien la methode fondee sur des 
principes s'applique aux exceptions traditionnelles, 
ou bien elle ne s'y applique pas. Si elle s'y 
applique, il faut tenir un voir-dire pour examiner si 
une telle preuve est admissible. Voir B. (K.G.), pre­
cite. Voir egalement Thompson, loc. cit., a la 
p. 295 ([TRADUCTION] «11 est necessaire de tenir un 
voir-dire, parfois un voir-dire complique en vertu 
de !'exception residuelle.») . Si Jes exceptions tradi­
tionnelles continuent de s'appliquer, ce qui devrait 
etre le cas selon moi, aucun voir-dire n'est alors 
necessaire. 

Le desaccord entre mon collegue le juge 
Iacobucci et moi tient a des conceptions differentes 
de !'examen du seuil de fiabilite qui doit etre effec­
tue en vertu de la methode fondee sur des prin­
cipes. Les exceptions traditionnelles reposent sur 
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threshold of reliability is met in particular 
instances of hearsay statements. Reliability under 
the principled approach is similarly restricted to a 
threshold inquiry: B. (K.G.), supra, at p. 787. In R. 
v. Hawkins, [1996] 3 S.C.R. 1043, this Court 
explained the nature of the reliability analysis (at 
para. 75): 

The criterion of reliability is concerned with threshold 
reliability, not ultimate reliability. The function of the 
trial judge is limited to determining whether the particu­
lar hearsay statement exhibits sufficient indicia of relia­
bility so as to afford the trier of fact a satisfactory basis 
for evaluating the truth of the statement. More specifi­
cally, the judge must identify the specific hearsay dan­
gers raised by the statement, and then determine 
whether the facts surrounding the utterance of the state­
ment offer sufficient circumstantial guarantees of trust­
worthiness to compensate for those dangers. The ulti­
mate reliability of the statement, and the weight to be 
attached to it, remain determinations for the trier of fact. 

Although it may appear that the above pro­
nouncement conflicts with certain statements made 
in Khan, supra, and Smith, supra, it is possible to 
reconcile the approaches taken in all of these 
cases. In Khan, although McLachlin J. spoke in 
terms of the complainant not having a reason to 
lie, in essence, the recognition there was that chil­
dren of such a tender age do not have a reason to 
lie about sexual subjects. Moreover, it is almost 
impossible for a child of such a tender age to have 
knowledge about the functioning of male anatomy 
in that way, rendering statements made by people 
in that class inherently reliable. Similarly, in 
Smith , one can see how people who are in need of 
assistance generally, as a class of people, have no 
reason to lie when they say that they need help. It 
is certainly true that these facts were present in the 
individual cases in Khan and Smith, but the rule 
would be applicable to a larger class of persons. 

Threshold reliability exists where there is a cir­
cumstantial guarantee of trustworthiness. It does 
not mean that the hearsay is true or even likely to 
be true, but rather it asks whether the circum-

une decision qu'un seuil de fiabilite est atteint dans 
le cas de certaines declarations. L'appreciation de 
la fiabilite au sens de la methode fondee sur des 
principes se limite elle aussi a un examen du seuil 
de fiabilite: B. (K.G.), precite, a lap. 787. Dans R. 
c. Hawkins, [1996] 3 R.C.S. 1043, notre Cour a 
explique la nature de !'analyse de la fiabilite (au 
par. 75): 

Le critere de la fiabilite vise un seuil de fiabilite et 
non une fiabilite absolue. La tilche du juge du proces se 
limite a detenniner si la declaration relatee en question 
renferme suffisamment d'indices de fiabilite pour four­
nir au juge des faits une base satisfaisante pour exami­
ner la veracite de la declaration. Plus particulierement, 
le juge doit cerner Jes dangers specifiques du ou·i-dire 
auxquels donne lieu la declaration et determiner ensuite 
si Jes faits entourant cette declaration offrent suffisam­
ment de garanties circonstancielles de fiabilite pour con­
trebalancer ces dangers. II continue d'appartenir au juge 
des faits de se prononcer sur la fiabilite absolue de la 
declaration et le poids a Jui accorder. 

Meme si l'enonce susmentionne peut sembler 
contredire certaines declarations faites dans Jes 
arrets Khan et Smith, precites, il est possible de 
concilier les approches adoptees dans chacun de 
ces arrets. Dans l'arret Khan, meme si Madame le 
juge McLachlin parlait de plaignant qui n'avait 
aucune raison de mentir, il y a ete essentiellement 
reconnu que des enfants aussi jeunes n'ont aucune 
raison de mentir au sujet de questions sexuelles. 
De plus, ii est pratiquement impossible qu'un 
enfant aussi jeune ait une telle connaissance du 
fonctionnement de l'anatomie masculine, ce qui 
rend intrinsequement fiables Jes declarations faites 
par des personnes de cette categorie. De meme, 
dans l'arret Smith, on peut voir pourquoi Jes gens 
qui ont generalement besoin d'aide, en tant que 
categorie de personnes, n'ont aucune raison de 
mentir lorsqu'ils di.sent qu'ils ont besoin d'aide. Il 
est certainement vrai que ces faits etaient presents 
dans chacune des affaires Khan et Smith, mais la 
regle s'appliquerait a une categorie plus vaste de 
personnes. 

Un seuil de fiabilite est atteint lorsqu'il existe 
une garantie circonstancielle de fiabilite. Cela ne 
signi.fie pas que le OUI-dire est veridique OU meme 
susceptible de l'etre, mais cela pose plutot la ques-
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stances are such that there is sufficient reliability 
for the hearsay to be properly assessed by the jury. 
The traditional hearsay exceptions are based on a 
determination of threshold reliability: Smith, 
supra, at pp. 929-30. These exceptions have histor­
ically been founded on truisms common to classes 
of people or common to circU111stances applicable 
to all people. There is no reason why that should 
not continue to be the case. 

I acknowledge that some of the existing excep­
tions may require fine tuning. It may be that soci­
ety has changed in such a manner that the rationale 
for the exception no longer applies. And, there 
may be circU111stances which could arise in an indi­
vidual case which challenge the inherent reliability 
that underpins a hearsay exception. However, the 
court must differentiate between individual cir­
cumstances that go to the weight of the evidence 
(such as motive to lie or other extraneous circum­
stances unique to the individual) and circum­
stances that are properly considered at the thresh­
old stage. 

In re-evaluating a hearsay exception, the court 
must ask whether some reason exists to doubt that 
the rationale underlying the exception applies in 
certain circumstances. The scope of this inquiry is 
restricted; the court should not consider every pos­
sible permutation of indicators of reliability or 
unreliability. To do so would result in the excision 
of the categories and abolition of their utility. 
Rather, the questions should always be: Is there 
something wrong with the exception itself? Should 
the exception be inapplicable in some circum­
stances? 

The only time when a court should entertain a 
challenge to an existing exception is where there 
are facts, generally applicable to a class of persons, 
which weaken the theoretical justification for the 
exception. If facts arise which demonstrate that 
within an exception, we no longer think that state­
ments made by a particular class of persons are 
inherently reliable, then to a certain extent, the 
rationale for the exception has been displaced and 
the exception must be modified to exclude people 
in such circumstances. For example, it may be that 

tion de savoir si les circonstances sont telles qu'il 
existe un niveau de fiabilite suffisant pour que le 
jury puisse apprecier adequatement le ou·i-dire. Les 
categories traditionnelles de ou·i-dire sont fondees 
sur une determination du seuil de fiabilite: Smith, 
precite, aux pp. 929 et 930. Ces exceptions repo­
sent sur des truismes communs a des categories de 
personnes OU a des circonstances applicables a 
tous. Rien ne justifie qu'il n'en soit plus ainsi. 

Je reconnais que certaines exceptions existantes 
peuvent avoir besoin d'etre ajustees. 11 se peut que 
la societe ait evolue au point que l' exception n'a 
plus sa raison d'etre. 11 se peut aussi que des cir­
constances susceptibles de se presenter dans un cas 
particulier compromettent la fiabilite inherente qui 
sous-tend une exception a la regle du ou·i-dire. La 
cour doit cependant differencier les circonstances 
particulieres ayant une incidence sur le poids de la 
preuve (comme un motif de mentir ou d'autres cir­
constances etrangeres pro pres a une personne) des 
circonstances qui doivent etre examinees a l'etape 
de l'analyse du seuil de fiabilite. 

Au moment de reevaluer une exception a la 
regle du oul-dire, la cour doit se demander s'il ya 
une raison de douter de l'application du raisonne­
ment sous-jacent a l'exception dans certaines cir­
constances. La portee de cet examen est limitee; la 
cour ne devrait pas examiner chaque permutation 
possible des indices de fiabilite ou de non-fiabilite. 
Si elle le faisait, cela entramerait la suppression 
des categories qui deviendraient ainsi inutiles. 11 
faut plut6t continuer de poser Jes questions sui­
vantes: L'exception elle-meme pose-t-elle pro­
bleme? L'exception devrait-elle etre inapplicable 
dans certaines circonstances? 

Une cour ne devrait examiner la contestation 
d'une exception existante qu'en presence de faits, 
generalement applicables a une categorie de per­
sonnes, qui minent la justification theorique de 
!'exception. S'il y existe des faits qui demontrent 
que, dans le cas d 'une exception, nous ne crayons 
plus que les declarations d'une categorie particu­
liere de personnes soient intrinsequement fiables, 
alors l'exception perd jusqu'a un certain point sa 
raison d'etre et doit etre modifiee de fa90n a 
exclure les gens qui se trouvent dans cette situa-
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a court may wish to reconsider the dying declara­
tion under certain circumstances such as when a 
dying person is under the influence of powerful 
drugs. Another exemption that may benefit from 
re-examination is the business records exception 
where the records are written by persons who are 
not disinterested parties. Both of these examples 
reflect particular circumstances under which relia­
bility may be questioned for all people in such a 
situation. I believe that this approach will force the 
courts to reconsider the exceptions only where a 
problem exists with the theoretical foundation of 
the exception. Furthermore, having the courts 
remember the reasons for the rule will prove very 
beneficial. The problem with the exceptions was 
that they were thought to be "ossified judicially 
created categories" (Smith, supra, at p. 930), but 
this approach will foster a renewed understanding 
of the rationales underlying these categories. 

In sum, if one wishes to displace an exception, 
which is based on concepts of necessity and relia­
bility, one will have to displace either necessity or 
the reliability upon which the exception is based. 
This can only be done where the circumstances 
would be generally applicable to a class of persons 
or in a particular circumstance faced by all per­
sons. 

In principle, the trial judge's residual discretion 
to exclude admissible evidence where its prejudi­
cial effect substantially outweighs its probative 
value (Seaboyer, supra, at p. 611) could, in appro­
priate circumstances, apply to evidence falling 
within an exception to the hearsay rule: see, e.g., 
Hawkins, supra, at para. 85. This point was not 
addressed in the Court of Appeal and was not 
argued before this Court and therefore I see no 
need to undertake an analysis of the issue. 

I would summarize my position in the following 
terms which I believe are largely consistent with 
the approach taken by the British Columbia Court 
of Appeal in R. v. Chahley (1992), 72 C.C.C. (3d) 
193, and R. v. Collins (1997), 118 C.C.C. (3d) 514. 
First, Khan and its progeny permit hearsay evi-

tion. Par exemple, il se peut qu'une cour veuille 
reexarniner la declaration d'un mourant dans le cas 
notamment ou le mourant l'a faite alors qu'il etait 
sous l'effet d'un medicament puissant. Une autre 
exception susceptible de beneficier d'un reexamen 
est celle des dossiers d'entreprise etablis par des 
personnes qui ne sont pas desinteressees. Ces deux 
exemples refletent des circonstances particulieres 
dans lesquelles la fiabilite de toutes les personnes 
en cause peut etre mise en doute. Je crois que cette 
approche ne forcera les tribunaux a reexaminer une 
exception que si le fondement theorique de cette 
exception pose un probleme. De plus, le fait 
d'obliger les tribunaux a se rappeler les raisons de 
la regle se revelera fort benefique. Le probleme 
que posaient les exceptions emanait du fait 
qu'elles etaient considerees comme des «catego­
ries sclerosees conc;:ues par les tribunaux» (Smith, 
precite, a la p. 930), mais cette approche favorisera 
une meilleure comprehension des raisons qui sous­
tendent ces categories. 

Somme toute, pour pouvoir ecarter une excep­
tion fondee sur les concepts de necessite et de fia­
bilite, il faudra ecarter la necessite OU la fiabilite 
sur laquelle repose cette exception. Cela ne peut se 
faire que si Jes circonstances sont generalement 
applicables a une categorie de personnes OU, dans 
un cas particulier, a tous. 

En principe, le pouvoir discretionnaire residue! 
du juge du proces d'ecarter une preuve admissible 
lorsque son effet prejudiciable l'emporte substan­
tiellement sur sa valeur probante (Seaboyer, pre­
cite, a la p. 611) pourrait, dans des circonstances 
appropriees, s'appliquer a la preuve qui releve 
d'une exception a la regle du ou"i-dire: voir, par 
exemple, l'arret Hawkins, precite, au par. 85. Ce 
point n' a pas ete aborde en Cour d'appel ni debattu 
devant notre Cour et je ne vois done pas la neces­
site d'entreprendre une analyse de cette question. 

Je resumerais ma position dans Jes termes sui­
vants, qui, a mon avis, sont largement compatibles 
avec l'approche adoptee par la Cour d'appel de la 
Colombie-Britannique dans les arrets R. c. Chahley 
(1992), 72 C.C.C. (3d) 193, et R. c. Collins (1997), 
118 C.C.C. (3d) 514. D'abord, quoique l'arret 
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dence to be admitted in new situations where nec­
essary and where indicia of reliability are present, 
but did not abolish the traditional exceptions. Sec­
ond, the traditional exceptions are largely consis­
tent with the necessity-reliability criteria and so do 
not generally require revision. Finally, the tradi­
tional exceptions may be modified or supple­
mented as appropriate to confonn to the principled 
approach (on this last point, see Rosenberg, 
"B. (KG.) - Necessity and Reliability: The New 
Pigeon-holes", supra, at p. 71 ). Trial judges should 
continue to apply the traditional exceptions to the 
hearsay rule. 

(4) Admissibility of Cook's Statement of 
Intention 

(a) Is the Statement Hearsay? 

No disagreement exists that the Crown sought 
to use Cook's statement to Giesbrecht that he had 
to "go and do an Autopac scam with Robert" as 
proof of the truth of its contents. Accordingly, as 
Iacobucci J. explains in para. 165, it is hearsay. 

(b) The "Present Intentions" Exception to the 
Hearsay Rule 

The next question is whether the statement falls 
within a recognized exception to the rule against 
hearsay. All three judges in the Court of Appeal 
recognized that the statement fell squarely within 
the "present intentions" exception recognized by 
this Court in Smith, supra, at p. 925. Twaddle J.A. , 
dissenting, would have excluded the statement not 
because it exceeded the confines of the "present 
intentions" exception but because he believed that 
the principled approach should be applied in this 
case. I disagree both with Iacobucci J. 's descrip­
tion of the "present intentions" exception and with 
his modification of the exception to comply with 
the principled approach. Furthermore, I do not 

Khan et les arrets qui en decoulent permettent 
d'admettre une preuve par ou·i-dire dans de nou­
velles situations ou cela est necessaire et ou il 
existe des indices de fiabilite, ils n'ont pas aboli 
les exceptions traditionnelles. Ensuite, les excep­
tions traditionnelles sont largement compatibles 
avec les criteres de necessite et de fiabilite, de 
sorte qu'elles n'ont generalement pas besoin d'etre 
revisees. Enfin, les exceptions traditionnelles peu­
vent etre modifiees ou completees au besoin afin 
d'assurer la conformite avec la methode fondee sur 
des principes (sur ce demier point, voir Rosenberg, 
«B. (KG.) - Necessity and Reliability: The New 
Pigeon-holes», lac. cit., a la p. 71). Les juges du 
proces devraient continuer d'appliquer les excep­
tions traditionnelles a la regle du oui-dire. 

(4) Admissibilite de la declaration d'intention 
de Cook 

a) La declaration est-elle du oui'-dire? 

Tous s'accordent pour dire que le ministere 
public a tente d 'utiliser la declaration de Cook a 
Giesbrecht, qu'il devait [TRADUCTION] «aller frau­
der l' Autopac avec Robert», comme preuve de la 
veracite de son contenu. Par consequent, cornme 
l'explique le juge Iacobucci au par. 165, il s'agit 
de oui-dire. 

b) L 'exception des «intentions existantes» a la 
regle du oui'-dire 

La question est maintenant de savoir si la decla­
ration releve d'une exception reconnue a la regle 
du oui-dire. Les juges de la Cour d'appel ont tous 
trois retenu que la declaration relevait nettement de 
l' exception des «intentions existantes» reconnue 
par notre Cour dans l'arret Smith, precite, a la 
p. 925. Le juge Twaddle, dissident, aurait ecarte la 
declaration non pas parce qu'elle excedait les con­
fins de !'exception des «intentions existantes», 
mais parce qu'il croyait que la methode fondee Sur 
des principes devait etre appliquee en l'espece. Je 
ne souscris ni a la description que donne le juge 
Iacobucci de !'exception des «intentions exis­
tantes», ni a sa modification de l'exception en vue 
de respecter la methode fondee sur des principes. 
Jene suis pas d'accord non plus avec sa qualifica-
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agree with his characterization of the so-called 
"joint act" rule under this exception. 

This Court recently examined the "present 
intentions" exception in detail in Smith, supra, 
where we recognized that an "exception to the 
hearsay rule arises when the declarant's statement 
is adduced in order to demonstrate the intentions, 
or state of mind, of the declarant at the time when 
the statement was made" (p. 925). Drawing on 
Wigmore, Iacobucci J. would add the requirement 
that the statement "must appear to have been made 
in a natural manner and not under circwnstances of 
suspicion" (para. 168). Let me be quite clear that 
this second requirement is a new addition to the 
conunon law exception. In the course of reviewing 
nearly eighty years of jurisprudence of the present 
intentions exception in this country, I have been 
able to unearth but a single reference to the Wig­
more requirement of "circwnstantial guarantee of 
trusthworthiness": see R. v. McKenzie (1986), 32 
C.C.C. (3d) 527 (B.C.C.A.), at p. 534. In R. v. P. 
(R.) (1990), 58 C.C.C. (3d) 334 (Ont. H.C.), at 
p. 338, Doherty J. (as he then was), while not men­
tioning Wigmore did however note in passing that 
"[i]t also appears that there is some circumstantial 
guarantee of trustworthiness attaching to these 
utterances as there is no suggestion that the 
deceased had reason to misrepresent her state of 
mind when she made these various statements to 
her sister and other close associates." Neither of 
these cases provides any explanation, elaboration 
or application of the "circumstantial guarantee of 
trustworthiness" component. The clear weight of 
authority in this country examining the "present 
intentions" exception lacks any mention of this 
component: see, e.g., Smith, supra, R. v. Moore 
(1984), 15 C.C.C. (3d) 541 (Ont. C.A.) (per Martin 
J.A.), leave to appeal to the Supreme Court of 
Canada refused, (1985] 1 S.C.R. x; M (L.N) v. 
Green (1995), 14 B.C.L.R. (3d) 194 (S.C.); 
Neufeld v. Child and Family Services of Winnipeg 
(1993), 89 Man. R. (2d) 150 (Q.B.); R. v. Jack 
(1992), 70 C.C.C. (3d) 67 (Man. C.A.); R. v. 
McLeod (1991), 6 B.C.A.C. 223; R. v. Miller 
(1991), 5 O.R. (3d) 678 (C.A.); R. v. Carriere 
(1986), 40 Man. R. (2d) 150 (C.A.); R. v. Baron 
van Lindberg (1977), 66 B.C.L.R. 277 (S.C.); R. v. 

tion de la regle dite de l' «acte accompli conjointe­
ment» dans le contexte de cette exception. 

Notre Cour a recemment analyse en detail !'ex­
ception des «intentions existantes» dans l'arret 
Smith, precite, ou elle a reconnu qu'une «exception 
a la regle du ou"i-dire s'applique lorsque la declara­
tion du declarant est presentee pour demontrer ses 
intentions ou son etat d'esprit au moment ou ii !'a 
faite» (p. 925). S'appuyant sur Wigmore, le juge 
Iacobucci ajouterait !'exigence selon laquelle la 
declaration (TRADUCTION] «doit para'itre avoir ete 
faite de maniere naturelle et non pas dans des cir­
constances douteuses» (par. 168). J'aimerais preci­
ser que cette deuxieme exigence est un nouvel 
ajout a !'exception qui releve de la conunon law. 
Passant en revue quelque quatre-vingts annees de 
jurisprudence canadienne relative a !'exception des 
intentions existantes, je n'ai pu deceler qu'un seul 
renvoi a !'exigence de Wigmore qu'il y ait «garan­
tie circonstancielle de fiabilite» : voir R. c. 
McKenzie (1986), 32 C.C.C. (3d) 527 (C.A.C.-B.), 
a la p. 534. Dans R. c. P. (R.) (1990), 58 C.C.C. 
(3d) 334 (H.C. Ont.), a la p. 338, le juge Doherty 
(maintenant juge de la Cour d'appel) a fait remar­
quer en passant, sans toutefois mentionner Wig­
more, [TRADUCTION] «[qu'u]ne certaine garantie 
circonstancielle de fiabilite semble se rattacher a 
ces declarations vu que rien n'indique que la per­
sonne decedee avait des raisons de cacher son etat 
d'esprit reel lorsqu'elle a fait ces diverses declara­
tions a sa sceur et a ses autres proches associes .» 
Aucune de ces decisions ne foumit une explica­
tion, des details ou une application de !'element 
«garantie circonstancielle de fiabilite». La grande 
majorite des decisions canadiennes dans lesquelles 
a ete examinee !'exception des «intentions exis­
tantes» ne mentionne pas cet element: voir, par 
exemple, Smith, precite; R. c. Moore (1984), 15 
C.C.C. (3d) 541 (C.A. Ont.) (le juge Martin), auto­
risation de pourvoi devant la Cour supreme du 
Canada refusee, (1985] 1 R.C.S. x; M (L.N) c. 
Green (1995), 14 B.C.L.R. (3d) 194 (C.S .); 
Neufeld c. Child and Family Services of Winnipeg 
(1993), 89 Man. R. (2d) 150 (B.R.); R. c. Jack 
(1992), 70 C.C.C. (3d) 67 (C.A. Man.); R. c. 
McLeod (1991), 6 B.C.A.C. 223; R. c. Miller 
(1991), 5 O.R. (3d) 678 (C.A.); R. c. Carriere 
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Flemming (1980), 43 N.S.R. (2d) 249 (Co. Ct.); R. 
v. Jackson (1980), 57 C.C.C. (2d) 154 (Ont. C.A.); 
Hildebrand v. Butler (1979), 11 B.C.L.R. 234 
(S.C.); R. v. Strongquil (1978), 43 C.C.C. (2d) 232 
(Sask. C.A.); R. v. Baltzer (1974), 10 N.S.R. (2d) 
561 (S.C.A.D.); R. v. Bencardino (1973), 2 O.R. 
(2d) 351 (C.A.); Re Grant Estate, [1971] 1 
W.W.R. 555 (B.C.S.C.); Great West Uranium 
Mines Ltd. v. Rock Hill Uranium Ltd., [1955] 4 
D.L.R. 307 (Sask. C.A.); Gray v. New Augarita 
Porcupine Mines Ltd., [1952] 3 D.L.R. 1 (P.C.); R. 
v. Wysochan (1930), 54 C.C.C. 172 (Sask. C.A.); 
R. v. Covlin, [1923] 3 W.W.R. 555 (Alta. 
S.C.A.D.); R. v. Feny (1992), 18 C.R. (4th) 221 
(Ont. Ct. (Gen. Div.)); Re J.B. (1998), 166 Nfld. & 
P.E.I.R. 1 (Nfld. C.A.); Collins v. Collins (1993), 
114 Nfld. & P.E.I.R. 215 (Nfld. U.F.C.); R. v. Maji 
(1998), 21 C.R. (5th) 139 (B.C.C.A.); Home v. 
Corbeil, [1955] 4 D.L.R. 750 (Ont. H.C.), at 
pp. 754-55. Nor does the leading treatise in this 
country on evidence discuss the addition proposed 
by Iacobucci J.: see Sopinka, Lederman and 
Bryant, supra, at §§ 6.225-6.242. I do not see this 
addition as either necessary or desirable. 

By interpreting "circumstances of suspicion" in 
a broad fashion (see paras. 177-79), Iacobucci J. 's 
approach neutralizes the utility of the exceptions 
which provide predictability and a certain degree 
of swiftness in our trial process. By requiring the 
negation of the possibility that the declarant was 
untruthful, Iacobucci J. creates an extremely high 
threshold for the introduction of previously accept­
able hearsay evidence. The possibility of untruth­
fulness is inherent in every statement. Ascertaining 
truth is the fundamental task for the trier of fact, 
not for the trier of law determining threshold relia­
bility. 

In addition, by adding the requirement that a 
statement of intention not be made under circum­
stances of suspicion so as to confonn with the 
principled approach, Iacobucci J. reveals the essen­
tial problem with his proposed mode of hearsay 
analysis. For if each exception is to incorporate a 

(1986), 40 Man. R. (2d) 150 (C.A.); R. c. Baron 
von Lindberg (1977), 66 B.C.L.R. 277 (C.S.); R. c. 
Flemming (1980), 43 N.S.R. (2d) 249 (C. cte); R. 
c. Jackson (1980), 57 C.C.C. (2d) 154 (C.A. Ont.); 
Hildebrand c. Butler (1979), 11 B.C.L.R. 234 
(C.S.); R. c. Strongquil (1978), 43 C.C.C. (2d) 232 
(C.A. Sask.); R. c. Baltzer (1974), 10 N.S.R. (2d) 
561 (C.S., Div. app.); R. c. Bencardino (1973), 2 
O.R. (2d) 351 (C.A.); Re Grant Estate, [1971 ] 1 
W.W.R. 555 (C.S.C.-B.); Great West Uranium 
Mines Ltd. c. Rock Hill Uranium Ltd., [1955] 4 
D.L.R. 307 (C.A. Sask.); Gray c. New Augarita 
Porcupine Mines Ltd., [1952] 3 D.L.R. 1 (C.P.); R. 
c. Wysochan (1930), 54 C.C.C. 172 (C.A. Sask.); 
R. c. Covlin, [1923] 3 W.W.R. 555 (C.S. Alb., Div. 
app.); R. c. Feny (1992), 18 C.R. (4th) 221 (C. 
Ont. (Div. gen.)); Re J.B. (1998), 166 Nfld. & 
P.E.I.R. 1 (C.A.T.-N.); Collins c. Collins (1993), 
114 Nfld. & P.E.I.R. 215 (C.U.F.T.-N.); R. c. Maji 
(1998), 21 C.R. (5th) 139 (C.A.C.-B.); Home c. 
Corbeil, [1955] 4 D.L.R. 750 (H.C. Ont.), aux 
pp. 754 et 755. Le principal traite sur la preuve 
dans notre pays n'aborde pas non plus l'ajout 
propose par le juge Iacobucci: voir Sopinka, 
Lederman et Bryant, op. cit., aux§§ 6.225 a 6.242. 
Je considere que cet ajout n'est ni necessaire ni 
souhaitable. 

En dormant une interpretation large aux «cir­
constances douteuses» (voir Jes par. 177 a 179), le 
juge Iacobucci enleve toute utilite aux exceptions 
pour ce qui est d'assurer la previsibilite et une cer­
taine celerite dans nos proces. En exigeant que l'on 
ecarte la possibilite que le declarant ait menti, le 
juge Iacobucci impose un critere extremement exi­
geant pour la presentation d'une preuve par ou·i­
dire auparavant admissible. La possibilite que l'on 
ait menti est inherente a chaque declaration. La 
decouverte de la verite incombe essentiellement au 
juge des faits et non pas au juge du droit qui etablit 
le seuil de fiabilite. 

De plus, en ajoutant !'exigence qu'une declara­
tion d'intention ne soit pas faite dans des circons­
tances douteuses de maniere a ce qu, elle respecte 
Ja methode fondee Sur des principes, le juge 
Iacobucci revele le probleme essentiel que souleve 
le mode d'analyse du oui'-dire qu'il propose. En 

64 

65 

::i 
c 
Cil 

~ 
0 
'<:!" 

u 
u 
Cf) 

0 
0 
0 
N 



66 

67 

188 R. v. STARR L 'Heureux-Dube J. [2000] 2 S.C.R. 

necessity and reliability component in examining 
each individual statement that comes under the 
exception, then the end result is the eradication of 
the exceptions themselves. I appreciate that under 
the approach proposed by Iacobucci J., the excep­
tions are supposed to continue to serve a useful 
role as, inter alia, "practical manifestations of the 
principled approach in concrete and meaningful 
form" (para. 205). However, once a trial judge is 
required to examine every hearsay statement in 
terms of reliability and necessity, I do not think 
that there is much left of the exceptions. 

Earlier, I explained my preferred mode of ratio­
nalizing the traditional exceptions with the princi­
pled approach. I will not repeat it except to say that 
I believe that the categories as a whole may be 
revisited and refined in light of the principled 
approach, but they are not supplanted by it. I see 
no reason to depart from the existing definition of 
this exception as outlined by Lamer C.J. in Smith, 
supra, and Martin J.A. in Moore, supra. 

(c) The "Joint Act" Rule and the "Present 
Intentions" Exception 

It is common cause that the "present intentions" 
exception may not be used to infer that a third 
party acted in accordance with the declarant's 
stated intention. Doherty J. explained the pennissi­
ble chain of inferences in P. (R.), supra, at p. 343: 

Evidence of the deceased 's state of mind may, in 
tum, be relevant as circumstantial evidence that the 
deceased subsequently acted in accordance with that 
avowed state of mind. When a deceased says, "I will go 
to Ottawa tomorrow", the statement affords direct evi­
dence of the state of mind - an intention to go to 
Ottawa tomorrow - and circumstantial evidence that 
the deceased in fact went to Ottawa on that day. If either 
the state of mind, or the fact to be inferred from the 
existence of the state of mind is relevant, the evidence is 
receivable subject to objections based on undue 
prejudice. 

effet, les exceptions elles-memes finiront par dis­
paraltre s'il faut, dans chaque cas, analyser la 
necessite et la fiabilite de chacune des declarations 
visees par !'exception. Si je comprends bien, selon 
la methode proposee par le juge Iacobucci, les 
exceptions sont censees conserver leur utilite a 
titre, notamment, de «manifestations pratiques 
sous fonne concrete et utile de la methode fondee 
sur des principes» (par. 205). Cependant, des 
qu'un juge du proces est tenu d'examiner la fiabi­
lite et la necessite de chaque declaration relatee, je 
ne pense pas qu'il reste grand-chose des excep­
tions . 

J'ai explique plus haut la methode que je privile­
gie pour rationaliser !es exceptions traditionnelles 
en fonction de la methode fondee SUI des prin­
cipes. Je ne la repeterai pas, sauf pour dire que je 
crois que les categories dans leur ensemble peu­
vent etre reexaminees et precisees en fonction de la 
methode fondee sur des principes, sans toutefois 
etre remplacees par cette methode. Je ne vois 
aucune raison de m'eloigner de la definition exis­
tante de cette exception formulee par le juge en 
chef Lamer dans Smith , precite, et par le juge 
Martin dans Moore, precite. 

c) La reg le de /' <<acte accompli conjointement» 
et I 'exception des «intentions existantes» 

II est generalement reconnu que !'exception des 
«intentions existantes» ne saurait servir a deduire 
qu'un tiers a donne suite a !'intention explicite de 
l'auteur de la declaration. Le juge Doherty a 
explique la chaine des deductions permises dans la 
decision P. (R.), precitee, a la p. 343: 

[TRADUCTION] La preuve de l'etat d'esprit de la per­
sonne decedee peut, a son tour, etre pertinente a titre de 
preuve circonstancielle que la personne decedee a par la 
suite agi conformement a cet etat d'esprit exprime. 
Lorsque la personne decedee a dit «J'irai a Ottawa 
demain», la declaration foumit une preuve directe de 
l'etat d'esprit - !'intention d'aller a Ottawa demain -
et une preuve circonstancielle que la personne decedee 
est effectivement allee a Ottawa ce jour-13. Si l'etat 
d 'esprit ou le fait qui peut en etre deduit est pertinent, la 
preuve est recevable sous reserve d'objections fondees 
sur un prejudice indu. 
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Later at p. 344, Doherty J. wrote: "The evidence is 
not, however, admissible .. . to show that persons 
other than the deceased acted in accordance with 
the deceased's stated intentions, save perhaps 
cases where the act was a joint one involving the 
deceased and another person." Lamer C.J. adopted 
this statement of the joint act exception in Smith, 
supra, at pp. 926-27. 

This exception simply recognizes basic princi­
ples of logic. As Professor R. J. Delisle explains in 
"R. v. Smith: The Relevance of Hearsay" (1991 ), 2 
C.R. (4th) 260, at p. 264: 

The statement of the declarant's then state of mind 
should be received as evidence of that state of 
mind .. .. The next step in the chain - whether an 
inference should be drawn that the deceased acted in 
accordance with that state of mind, by himself, or 
jointly with another - presents a problem, not of hear­
say, but of relevance and prejudicial value. 

Doherty J. properly recognized this in P. (R.), 
supra, at pp. 346-49. 

Statements of intention may be admissible 
despite the fact that they refer to a joint act: see the 
leading cases of Mutual Life Insurance Co. v. 
Hillman, 145 U.S. 285 (1892), at p. 296; United 
States v. Pheaster, 544 F.2d 353 (9th Cir. 1976), at 
pp. 374-80; People v. Alcalde, 148 P.2d 627 (Cal. 
1944), at pp. 631-33. Alcalde presented a situation 
similar to the one before us: the deceased declarant 
had said that she "was going out with Frank" that 
evening. The California Supreme Court, over the 
dissent of Traynor J., held that the statement was 
admissible to show the decedent's intent that eve­
ning. Generally, this sort of evidence is admissible 
as an indication of the declarant's intention at the 
time he or she spoke. The inferences to be drawn 
from the evidence are for the jury, properly cau­
tioned. 

Plus loin, a la p. 344, le juge Doherty ecrit: [TRA­
DUCTION] <<Toutefois, la preuve n'est pas admissi­
ble [ . .. ] pour etablir que des personnes autres que 
la personne decedee ont donne suite aux intentions 
explicites de cette derniere, sauf peut-etre dans le 
cas d 'un acte que la personne decedee et une autre 
personne ont accompli ensemble.» Le juge en chef 
Lamer a adopte cet enonce de !'exception de l'acte 
accompli conjointement dans l'arret Smith, precite, 
aux pp. 926 et 927. 

Cette exception ne fait que reconna'itre des prin­
cipes logiques de base. Comme l'explique le pro­
fesseur R. J. Delisle dans <<R. v. Smith: The Rele­
vance of Hearsay» (1991), 2 C.R. (4th) 260, a la 
p. 264: 

[TRADUCTlON] La declaration exprimant l'etat d'esprit 
de son auteur a l'epoque OU ii !'a faite devrait etre 
admise comrne preuve de cet etat d'esp1it. [ . .. ] La 
prochaine etape - a savoir s'il ya lieu de deduire que 
la personne decedee a donne suite a cet etat d'esprit, 
seule ou avec d'autres - pose un probleme non pas de 
ou"i-dire, mais de pe11inence et d'effet prejudiciable. 

Le juge Doherty a reconnu cela a bon droit dans la 
decision P. (R.), precitee, aux pp. 346 a 349. 

Les declarations d'intention peuvent etre admis­
sibles meme si elles font allusion a un acte accom­
pli conjointement: voir les arrets de principe 
Mutual Life Insurance Co. c. Hillman, 145 U.S. 
285 (1892), a lap. 296; United States c. Pheaster, 
544 F.2d 353 (9th Cir. 1976), aux pp. 374 a 380; 
People c. Alcalde, 148 P.2d 627 (Cal. 1944), aux 
pp. 631 a 633. Dans Alcalde, la situation etait 
analogue a celle dont nous sommes saisis: la vic­
time ayant fait la declaration avait dit qu'elle [TRA­
DUCTION] «sortait avec Frank>> ce soir-la. Malgre la 
dissidence du juge Traynor, la Cour supreme de la 
Californie a statue que cette declaration etait 
admissible pour demontrer l'intention de la victime 
ce soir-la. En general, ce genre de preuve est 
admissible a titre d'indication de l'intention 
qu'avait !'auteur de la declaration au moment ou il 
s' est ex prime. II appartient au jury, a pres une mise 
en garde appropriee, d'utiliser la preuve pour faire 
les deductions qui s'imposent. 
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( d) Use of Cook's Statement 

I do not believe that the trial judge erred in leav­
ing Cook's statement of intention to the jury. 
"Properly cautioned by the trial judge, juries are 
perfectly capable of determining what weight 
ought to be attached to such evidence, and of 
drawing reasonable inferences therefrom" (Smith, 
supra, at p. 937). The trial judge told the jury that 
"[t]he Crown says that Ms. Giesbrecht's evidence 
is the second thread of evidence to link the 
accused, Robert Starr, with the deaths of Cook and 
Weselowski. Again, it is for you to decide whether 
the evidence of Cook's statement about the scam 
goes as far as the Crown would have you believe" 
(emphasis added). I do not believe that this instruc­
tion invited the jury to draw an impennissible 
inference against the appellant. In examining what 
the Crown "would have [the jury] believe", the 
Crown, referring to another statement not at issue 
here, explained "evidence of intention" as "What 
was the deceased thinking about just before his 
death?". The Crown continued: 

The difference between the statement of intention by 
Mr. Cook to Young and the statement of intention by 
Mr. Cook to Giesbrecht is that Cook carried the Gies­
brecht intention out, didn't he? He ended up in a car, say 
the prosecution, driving down a ditch, smashing it up 
outside of the Turski home. He travelled all that way. He 
had to have; he was found dead there, and the car that 
was smashed against the pole was the car that Starr had 
been in, in the Mohawk garage. So that expression of 
intention appears to have been carried out. ... 

I believe that the Crown was entitled to ask the 
jury to draw an inference that Cook in fact acted in 
accordance with his stated intention, even if that 
stated intention involved a joint act: see P. (R.), 
supra. In this situation, circumstances of joint 
intention may be considered along with the other 
evidence in determining what the third party did. 
Thus, I do not believe that the Crown asked the 
jury to draw an impermissible inference nor do I 

d) Utilisation de la declaration de Cook 

Jene crois pas que le juge du proces ait commis 
une erreur en soumettant la declaration d'intention 
de Cook a !'appreciation du jury. «Le jury, a qui le 
juge du proces a fait la mise en garde appropriee, 
est parfaitement en mesure de detenniner le poids 
qu'il faut accorder a cette preuve et d'en tirer des 
conclusions raisonnables» (Smith, precite, a la 
p. 937). Le juge du proces a dit au jury que [TRA­

DUCTION] «[l]e ministere public affirme que le 
temoignage de Mme Giesbrecht est le deuxieme 
element de preuve qui relie !'accuse Robert Starr 
au deces de Cook et a celui de Weselowski. La 
encore, ii vous appartient de decider si la preuve de 
la declaration de Cook au sujet de la fraude va 
aussi loin gue le ministere public voudrait vous le 
faire croire» Ue souligne). Jene crois pas que cette 
directive invitait le jury a faire une deduction inac­
ceptable au detriment de l'appelant. En examinant 
ce qu'il aurait voulu «faire croire» au jury, le 
ministere public a explique, au sujet d'une autre 
declaration qui n'est pas en cause en l'espece, que 
la «preuve de !'intention» consiste a se demander: 
[TRADUCTION] «Que pensait la victime juste avant 
de mourir?» 11 a ajoute: 

[TRADUCTION] La difference entre la declaration d'in­
tention que M. Cook a faite a Young et celle qu'il a faite 
a Giesbrecht est que Cook a donne suite a !'intention 
qu ' il avait exprimee a Giesbrecht, n'est-ce pas? II s'est 
retrouve, affirrne la poursuite, dans une automobile qu'il 
a conduite dans un fosse et bousillee a l'exterieur de la 
maison des Turski. II a parcouru toute cette distance. II 
devait l'avoir fait; ii a ete trouve mort a cet endroit et la 
voiture qui a heurte le poteau etait celle dans laquelle 
Starr avait pris place au garage Mohawk. II semble done 
avoir donne suite a cette expression d'intention . . . 

Je crois que le ministere public avait le droit de 
demander au jury de deduire que Cook a effective­
ment donne suite a son intention explicite, meme si 
cette intention explicite visait un acte accompli 
conjointement: voir P. (R.), precite. Dans ce cas, 
des circonstances d'intention commune peuvent 
etre prises en consideration avec Jes autres ele­
ments de preuve pour determiner ce que le tiers a 
fait. Selan moi, le ministere public n'a pas 
demande au jury de faire une deduction inaccepta­
ble et je ne crois pas non plus que le juge du proces 
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believe that the trial judge erred in instructing the 
jury on this issue. 

Accordingly, I would dismiss this ground of the 
appeal. 

B. The Admissibility of Che1y l Ball 's Out-of Court 
Identification 

On this issue, I agree with Monnin J.A.'s deci­
sion in the Court of Appeal that the trial judge may 
have committed an error by allowing the police 
officers to testify as to Ms. Ball ' s out-of-court 
identification of the appellant, but that any harm 
that such evidence may have caused was effec­
tively negated by the trial judge' s instructions to 
the jury. Therefore, I do not find it necessary to 
analyze this evidence under the "prior identifica­
tion" exception or under the principled approach as 
my colleague Iacobucci J. does . I am convinced 
that the hann caused by the introduction of the evi­
dence was minimal given other testimony that 
placed the appellant at the Mohawk gas station 
before the murders. Any hann that may have been 
caused by the impugned evidence was nullified by 
the trial judge's instruction to the jury. 

In the days immediately following the murders, 
RCMP Constables Madden and MacLeod visited 
the home of Cheryl and Daniel Ball, interviewing 
them on four occasions on three different days. 
Ms. Ball testified at trial that on the second visit, 
two days after the murder, the police showed her 
some photographs. She testified that her memory 
of seeing the photos was hazy and that she did not 
think she had recognized anyone in the photos. 
Regarding the RCMP's third visit on the same day 
as the second, Ms. Ball testified that she thought 
she had pointed to one of the three photographs 
shown to her and said that the person in the photo 
"looks kind of familiar" . Ms. Ball met with the 
police a week later, but at trial she did not recall 
having said anything to them about any of the 
photos on that occasion. Ms. Ball did not testify at 
trial as to why the person in the photo shown to her 
on the second visit looked familiar or where she 
had seen the person. She was not asked whether 

ait commis une erreur dans ses directives au jury 
sur ce point. 

Par consequent, Je SUIS d'avis de rejeter ce 
moyen d'appel. 

B. Admissibilite de !'identification extrajudiciaire 
par Che1y l Ball 

Sur ce point, je partage la decision du juge 
Monnin de la Cour d'appel qu'il se peut que le 
juge du proces ait commis une erreur en pennettant 
aux policiers de temoigner au sujet de !'identifica­
tion extrajudiciaire de l 'appelant par Cheryl Ball, 
mais que tout prejudice que cette preuve peut avoir 
cause a effectivement ete elimine par Jes directives 
du juge du proces au jury. Par consequent, j 'es time 
qu ' il n'est pas necessaire d'analyser cette preuve 
en vertu de !'exception de !'«identification ante­
rieure» OU de la methode fondee SUI des principes, 
comme le fait mon collegue le juge Iacobucci. Je 
suis persuadee que le prejudice cause par la pre­
sentation de cette preuve etait minime compte tenu 
des autres temoignages selon lesquels l'appelant 
etait a la station-service Mohawk avant Jes 
meurtres. Tout prejudice qui peut avoir ete cause 
par la preuve attaquee a ete elimine par les direc­
tives du juge du proces au jury. 

Au cours des jours qui ont suivi immediatement 
Jes meurtres, les agents Madden et MacLeod de la 
GRC se sont rendus au domicile de Cheryl et 
Daniel Ball pour Jes interroger a quatre reprises en 
trois jours. Madame Ball a temoigne au proces 
que, !ors de la deuxieme visite, deux jours apres 
Jes meurtres, Jes policiers lui ont montre des photo­
graphies. Elle a declare qu'elle se souvenait vague­
ment avoir vu Jes photos et qu'elle ne croyait pas 
avoir reconnu qui que ce soit sur celles-ci. En ce 
qui concerne la troisieme visite de la GRC, qui a 
eu lieu le meme jour que la deuxieme, Mme Ball a 
temoigne qu'elle croyait avoir indique une des 
trois photographies qui Jui avaient ete montrees et 
avoir affinne que la personne figurant sur cette 
photo [TRADUCTION] «[lui disait] quelque chose». 
Madame Ball a rencontre les policiers une semaine 
plus tard, mais elle ne se souvenait pas au proces 
de leur avoir dit quoi que ce soit au sujet des pho­
tos a cette occasion. Madame Ball n'a pas 
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she had seen the appellant on the night of the mur­
der and she did not testify that she had done so. In 
fact, she did not mention the appellant in her testi­
mony or identify him in court. 

Constable Madden testified that on the second 
visit to her home, Ms. Ball told him and Constable 
MacLeod that she had seen a man talking to Cook 
at the Mohawk gas station. Constable Madden tes­
tified that Ms. Ball described the man she had seen 
as white, with glasses and short hair in a ponytail. 
She mentioned nothing about a goatee. Constable 
Madden testified that, at the time of the murders, 
the appellant had long hair that was not in a 
ponytail, was not wearing glasses, and had a 
goatee. To Constable Madden's knowledge, the 
appellant had never worn glasses. Constable Mad­
den testified that Ms. Ball indicated that the man in 
Photo No. 3 looked like the man whom she had 
seen at the Mohawk gas station talking to Cook 
and who was "probably driving the other car". 
Photo No. 3 was a black and white photocopy of a 
photo of the appellant in which he had a mous­
tache, no goatee, long hair, and no glasses. 

Constable Madden further testified that when he 
and Constable MacLeod returned to the Ball resi­
dence one week later, Ms. Ball picked out the 
same photograph of the appellant that she had 
identified on the previous occasion, from amongst 
a set of eight photographs. None of the other 
photos had been included among the three shown 
to her the week before. Ms. Ball was not asked 
whether her previous selection of the same photo 
influenced her selection of it one week later. 

The dissent in the Court of Appeal and 
Iacobucci J. in his reasons assert that Constable 
Madden' s testimony of Ms. Ball's out-of-court 
identification was important because it placed the 
appellant in St. Norbert, whereas without Ms. 

explique, au proces, pourquoi la personne figurant 
sur la photo qui Jui avait ete montree lors de la 
deuxieme visite lui disait quelque chose, ni ou elle 
avait vu cette personne. On ne Jui a pas demande si 
elle avait vu l'appelant la nuit des meurtres et elle 
n'a pas temoigne qu'elle l'avait vu. En fait, elle 
n'a pas mentionne l'appelant dans son temoignage 
et ne l'a pas identifie en cour. 

L'agent Madden a temoigne que, !ors de la 
deuxieme visite au domicile de Mme Ball, celle-ci 
Jui avait declare, en presence de ]'agent MacLeod, 
avoir vu un homme parler a Cook a la station­
service Mohawk. II a temoigne que l'homme decrit 
par Mme Ball etait blanc, portait des lunettes et 
avait Jes cheveux courts attaches en queue de che­
val. Elle n'a pas parle d'une barbiche. L' agent 
Madden a temoigne qu ' a l'epoque des meurtres 
l'appelant avait Jes cheveux longs et non attaches 
en queue de cheval, qu'il ne portait pas de lunettes 
et qu'il avait une barbiche. A sa connaissance, 
l'appelant n'avaitjamais porte de lunettes. L'agent 
Madden a affinne que Mme Ball avait indique que 
l'homme figurant sur la troisieme photo ressem­
blait a l'homme qu'elle avait vu parler a Cook a la 
station-service Mohawk et qui [TRADUCTION] 

«conduisait probablement l'autre automobile». La 
troisieme photo etait une photocopie en noir et 
blanc d'une photo de l'appelant qui avait les che­
veux longs et une moustache mais pas de barbiche, 
et ne portait pas de lunettes. 

L'agent Madden a en outre temoigne que lors­
que lui et !'agent MacLeod sont retournes a la resi­
dence des Ball une semaine plus tard, Mme Ball a 
choisi la meme photographie de l'appelant qu ' elle 
avait indiquee precede1runent, parmi une serie de 
huit photographies. Aucune des autres photos ne 
figurait panni Jes trois qui Jui avaient ete montrees 
la semaine precedente. On n' a pas demande a Mme 
Ball si le choix de photo qu'elle avait fait anterieu­
rement avait influence son choix une semaine plus 
ta rd. 

Dans Jes motifs dissidents rediges en Cour d'ap­
pel et dans les motifs du juge Iacobucci, on affirme 
que le temoignage de !'agent Madden au sujet 
de !'identification extrajudiciaire par Mme Ball 
etait important parce qu'il situait l'appelant a 
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Ball's identification the appellant was last seen 
"halfway across the city from where the crime 
occurred". Both Twaddle J.A. and Iacobucci J. are 
of the opinion that this piece of evidence might 
have been the "last straw", allowing the Crown to 
meet its onus. With respect, I cannot agree. 

Constable Madden testified that Ms. Ball had 
stated that the appellant "was the one that she saw 
at the Mohawk Station and that he was probably 
driving the other car" (emphasis added). Accord­
ing to Twaddle J.A. and Iacobucci J., this second 
half of the sentence may suggest that Ms. Ball 
identified the appellant in St. Norbert where the 
murders took place, rather than at the Mohawk gas 
station. I do not believe that the evidence supports 
such an interpretation. After Constable Madden 
made the above statement in his testimony, the 
trial judge asked for a clarification: 

THE COURT: I'm sony, Mr. Dangerfield would you 
have Constable Madden repeat the words that Mrs. 
Ball said. "He is the one I saw at the Mohawk" is that 
what you said? 

THE WITNESS: She felt that he was the one at the 
Mohawk Station. 

THE COURT: Yes. 
THE WITNESS: And she described him. 
THE COURT: Yes. 
THE WITNESS: And felt he was the one there that had 

been talking to Bo Cook and that had been driving the 
car. 

A few questions later, on direct examination, Con­
stable Madden again returned to the specifics of 
Ms. Ball's identification of the appellant: 

Q All right. You put this before Mrs. Ball. What did she 
say on that occasion? 

A Without any hesitation at all, she pointed at photo 
number 5. 

Q Did she say anything? 

A And said: That was the one at the Mohawk. 

St. Norbert, tandis que, si on fait abstraction de 
!'identification par Mme Ball, l'appelant a ete 
apen;:u pour la derniere fois [TRADUCTION] «a mi­
chemin entre le lieu du crime et l'autre bout de la 
ville». Les juges Twaddle et Iacobucci estiment 
tous !es deux qu'il se pourrait que cet element de 
preuve ait ete ce qui en fin de compte avait perrnis 
au ministere public de s'acquitter de son obliga­
tion. En toute deference, je ne suis pas de cet avis. 

L'agent Madden a temoigne que Mme Ball avait 
dit que l'appelant [TRADUCTION] «etait la personne 
qu'elle avait apen;:ue a la station-service Mohawk 
et qu'il conduisait probablement l'autre automo­
bile» Ue souligne). Selon !es juges Twaddle et 
Iacobucci, cette deuxieme moitie de phrase peut 
laisser entendre que Mme Ball a reconnu l'appelant 
a St. Norbert ou !es meurtres ont eu lieu, plutot 
qu'a la station-service Mohawk. Je ne crois pas 
que la preuve etaye cette interpretation. Apres que 
!'agent Madden eut fait la declaration susmention­
nee dans son temoignage, le juge du proces a 
demande des eclaircissements: 

(TRADUCTION] 

LA CQUR: Excusez-moi, Me Dangerfield, pourriez­
vous demander a !'agent Madden de repeter ce que 
Mme Ball a dit. «C'est Jui que j 'ai aperyu a la station­
service Mohawk», est-ce bien ce que vous avez dit? 

LE TEMQIN: Elle avait !'impression que c'etait Jui qui 
etait a la station-service Mohawk. 

LA CQUR: Qui. 
LE TEMQIN: Et elle !'a decrit. 
LA CQUR: Qui. 
LE TEMOIN: Et elle avait !'impression que c'etait Jui 

qui avait parle a Bo Cook et qui avait conduit !'auto­
mobile. 

Plus tard, au cours de l'interrogatoire principal, 
!'agent Madden a donne d'autres details au sujet de 
!'identification de l'appelant par Mme Ball: 

(TRADUCTION] 

Q D 'accord. Yous avez montre cela a Mme Ball. 
Qu'a-t-elle dit a ce moment-la? 

R Sans hesiter, elle a indique la cinquieme photo. 

Q A-t-elle dit quelque chose? 

R Et elle a dit: C'etait celui qui etait a la station-service 
Mohawk. 
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The appellant's trial counsel clearly understood 
Constable Madden to be testifying that Ms. Ball 
identified the appellant as seeing him at the 
Mohawk gas station. On cross-examination, coun­
sel for the appellant asked the following regarding 
Ms. Ball's out-of-court identification: 

Q So did you say to Mrs. Ball, you also saw the picture 
from the first time, are you sure that the fellow you 
saw at the Mohawk is photograph 5 and you're not 
just repeating what you say on August 23rd? 

A No, we did not. 

The cross-examination on this point continued: 

Q And even when she picked somebody out, she wasn't 
sure that was the person. She was telling you this 
person looks like? 

A She says: I believe this is the one at the Mohawk. 

Q Did you ask her if she was positive? 

A She gave a description. I did not ask her if you are 
absolutely positive. She said: I think that's the one at 
the Mohawk. 

Q When she gave you the description of the person at 
the Mohawk, did she tell you that that person had a 
goatee? 

A No, sir. 

Q She told you that she thought the person in the photo­
graph was wearing glasses - pardon me - the per­
son at the Mohawk was wearing glasses? 

A She said she [sic] was white, light coloured hair. 

In the course of Constable Madden's testimony, he 
did not make a single reference to St. Norbert; 
neither did Crown counsel nor counsel for the 
appellant. Furthermore, Constable MacLeod's 
testimony similarly lacks any reference to St. 
Norbert: 

L'avocat de l'appelant au proces a clairement com­
pris que l'agent Madden temoignait que Mme Ball 
avait identifie l'appelant comme etant la personne 
qu'elle avait apers;ue a la station-service Mohawk. 
Au cours du contre-interrogatoire, l'avocat de l'ap­
pelant a pose la question suivante au sujet de 
!'identification extrajudiciaire par Mme Ball: 

[TRADUCTION] 

Q Alors avez-vous dit a M1110 Ball, vous avez aussi vu la 
photo la premiere fois, etes-vous certaine que la per­
sonne que vous avez apen;:ue a la station-service 
Mohawk est sur la cinquieme photographie et 
vous ne faites pas que repeter ce que vous avez dit le 
23 aoilt? 

R Non, nous n'avons pas dit cela. 

Le contre-interrogatoire sur ce point s'est pour­
suivi ainsi: 

[TRADUCTION] 

Q Et meme lorsqu'elle a choisi quelqu'un, elle n'etait 
pas sf1re que c'etait cette personne. Elle vous a dit a 
qui ressemblait cette pers01me? 

R Elle a dit: Je crois que c'est la personne qui etait a la 
station-service Mohawk. 

Q Lui avez-vous demande si elle en etait certaine? 

R Elle a donne une description. Je ne lui ai pas 
demande si elle etait absolument certaine. Elle a dit: 
Je crois que c'est la personne qui etait a la station­
service Mohawk. 

Q Lorsqu'elle YOUS a decrit la personne qui etait a la 
station-service Mohawk, vous a-t-elle dit que cette 
personne avait une barbiche? 

R Non, monsieur. 

Q Elle vous a dit qu'elle pensait que la personne sur la 
photographie portait des lunettes - pardonnez-moi 
- la personne qui etait a la station-service Mohawk 
portait des lunettes? 

R Elle a dit qu'elle etait de race blanche, avec des che­
veux clairs. 

Au cours de son temoignage, !'agent Madden n'a 
pas mentionne une seule fois St. Norbert, pas plus 
que ne !'a fait le substitut du procureur general ou 
l'avocat de l'appelant. L'agent MacLeod n'a pas 
mentionne, lui non plus, St. Norbert dans son 
temoignage: 
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Q And what did Mrs. Ball say, if anything, on seeing 
them this time? 

A She pointed to one photograph and she identified that 
person as being at the Mohawk Station on the night 
that they were there. 

Q I see. Is that all she said about him that you recall? 

A She said it was him, it was the same guy. 

Q I see. She mentioned the name Cook in this connec­
tion? 

A Yes, she mentioned that this person had been talking 
to Bernard Cook. 

In light of the above testimony, I cannot agree 
with my colleague Iacobucci J. ' s assertion that 
there were two distinct elements to Constable 
Madden' s testimony: namely, being at the 
Mohawk station and "probably" being in the other 
car in St. Norbert. Nor do I accept his assertion in 
para. 228 that the jury could have "easily" taken 
the reference to the "other car" to refer "not 
to .. . the Mohawk station, but to the second car 
seen in St. Norbert when the Balls last saw Cook 
and Weselowski alive". In light of the above testi­
mony, I find it stretches credulity to assert that the 
jury could have taken Constable Madden' s testi­
mony to refer to Ms. Ball placing the appellant in 
St. Norbert. Moreover, I do not see how these 
seven obscure words - "he was probably driving 
the other car" - subsequently clarified on no less 
than eight occasions, could have constituted the 
"last straw" that allowed the Crown to meet its 
onus. Additionally, Ms. Ball's own limited testi­
mony directly contradicts the inference that Con­
stable Madden was referring to Ms. Ball seeing the 
appellant in St. Norbert. Ms. Ball testified in court 
that when she was dropped off in St. Norbert she 
saw a small car next to the car in which she had 
been riding but that she could not see if anyone 
was in the car. In a discussion outside the presence 
of the jury, the court reiterated that Ms. Ball had 
just testified that she did not see anyone in the car 
that was alongside the car in which she had been a 
passenger. Given that Ms. Ball testified clearly that 
she did not see the driver of the car in St. Norbert, 
I do not see how the jury could have drawn a con-

[TRADUCTION] 

Q Et qu'est-ce que Mme Ball a dit, a supposer qu'elle ait 
dit quelque chose, lorsqu'elle !es a vues cette fois? 

R Elle a indique une photographie et a dit que la per­
sonne qui y figurait etait a la station-service Mohawk 
la nuit OU ils y etaient. 

Q Je vois. Est-ce la tout ce qu'elle a dit a son sujet 
d'apres vous? 

R Elle a dit que c'etait lui, que c'etait le meme gars. 

Q Je vois. Elle a mentionne le nom de Cook a cet 
egard? 

R Oui, elle a mentionne que cette personne avait parle a 
Bernard Cook. 

Compte tenu du temoignage susmentionne, je ne 
puis souscrire a l'affinnation de mon collegue le 
juge Iacobucci que le temoignage de !'agent 
Madden comportait deux elements distincts, a 
savoir, se trouver a la station-service Mohawk et 
«probablement» dans l'autre automobile a St. Nor­
bert. Je ne puis non plus souscrire a son affirma­
tion, au par. 228, que le jury aurait pu «facilement» 
considerer que la mention de I' «autre automobile» 
concernait «non pas [ ... ] la station-service 
Mohawk, mais la deuxieme automobile apen;:ue a 
St. Norbert quand Jes Ball ont vu pour la derniere 
fois Cook et Weselowski vivants». A la lumiere du 
temoignage susmentionne, je pense qu'il est exa­
gere d'affinner que le jury aurait pu deduire du 
temoignage de !'agent Madden que Mme Ball 
situait l 'appelant a St. Norbert. De plus, je ne vois 
pas comment ces six mots obscurs - «ii condui­
sait probablement l'autre automobile» - , qui ont 
subsequemment ete clarifies a au moins huit repri­
ses, auraient pu constituer ce qui en fin de compte 
avait perrnis au ministere public de s'acquitter de 
son obligation. En outre, le temoignage limite de 
Mme Ball contredit directement la deduction que 
!'agent Madden renvoyait au fait que Mme Ball 
avait apen;:u l'appelant a St. Norbert. Madame Ball 
a temoigne au proces que lorsqu' elle est descendue 
de la voiture a St. Norbert, elle a aperc;:u une petite 
automobile pres de celle qui l'avait ramenee, mais 
qu'elle n'a pas pu voir si quelqu'un y prenait 
place. Dans un echange en !'absence du jury, la 
cour a repete que Mme Ball venait de temoigner 
qu ' elle n'avait aperc;:u personne dans !'automobile 
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trary inference from Constable Madden's testi­
mony. 

Furthermore, no hann was done by Constable 
Madden's testimony because Jodie Giesbrecht's 
testimony also placed the appellant at the Mohawk 
station and also saw the appellant sitting in a car at 
the station. Moreover, any conceivable prejudice 
that might have been suffered by the appellant was 
cured by the trial judge's cautionary instruction to 
the jury. On this issue, he instructed the jury as fol­
lows: 

I think it is of some significance that Cheryl Ball was 
not asked if the reason she could identify the individual 
in photo number 5 of Exhibit 11 was because she had 
seen a photo, that is, photo number 3 in Exhibit 10, a 
week before. I think it is significant that photo number 3 
in Exhibit I 0 is the only one, the only photograph of the 
tluee people in Exhibit 10 repeated in Exhibit 11. It is 
significant, I think, that she was not told that the 
description she gave of the man she saw talking to Cook 
did not in fact fit the description of the man in photo­
graph number 3 of Exhibit 10. It is significant, I think, 
as well that, in court, she did not mention Starr by name 
and that she was not asked to identify nor did she iden­
tify the accused, Starr, in the dock as being the man she 
saw at the Mohawk station. I would tell you, then, that 
the identification evidence of Mrs. Ball is, to say the 
least, extremely frail, and I would express the opinion 
that it does not link the accused, Starr, to the deaths of 
either Weselowski or Cook. However, it is for you to 
decide the value of her evidence. 

Even the appellant's own counsel characterized the 
introduction of the constables' testimony as much 
ado about not very much. Rather than characterize 
this evidence as the "last straw" as Twaddle I.A. 
did in the Court of Appeal, the appellant's counsel 
conceded that the case did not rise and fall with the 
constables' testimony. 

qui se trouvait a cote de celle dont elle etait des­
cendue. Puisque Mme Ball a clairement temoigne 
qu'elle n'avait pas vu le conducteur de !'automo­
bile a St. Norbert, je ne vois pas comment le jury 
aurait pu deduire le contraire du temoignage de 
!'agent Madden. 

De plus, aucun prejudice n'a ete cause par le 
temoignage de !'agent Madden puisque, dans son 
temoignage, Jodie Giesbrecht a elle aussi situe 
l' appelant a la station-service Mohawk et declare y 
avoir apen;;u l'appelant dans une automobile. En 
outre, tout prejudice theorique que l'appelant 
aurait pu subir a ete corrige par la mise en garde du 
juge du proces au jury. A ce sujet, ii a dit au jury: 

[TRADUCTION] Je pense qu'i[ est revelateur dans une 
certaine mesure qu'on n'ait pas demande a Cheryl Ball 
si la raison pour laquelle elle pouvait identifier la per­
sonne sur la photo numero 5 de la piece 11 etait qu'elle 
avait vu une photo, c'est-a-dire la photo numero 3 de la 
piece 10, la semaine precedente. Je pense qu'il est signi­
ficatif que la photo numero 3 de la piece 10 so it la seule, 
la seule photographic des trois personnes dans la piece 
10 que l'on retrouve egalement dans la piece 11. II est 
significatif, je pense, qu 'on ne Jui ait pas dit que la des­
cription qu'elle a donnee de l'hornme qu'elle avait vu 
parter a Cook ne correspondait pas, en fait, a la descrip­
tion de l'hornme figurant sur la photographic numero 3 
de la piece 10. Je pense egalement qu'il est revelateur 
qu'en cour elle n'ait pas designe Starr par son nom, 
qu'on ne lui ait pas demande d'identifier !'accuse Starr 
au bane des accuses et qu'elle ne l'ait pas identifie 
comme etant l'homme qu'elle avait aperc;:u a la station­
service Mohawk. Je vous dirais done que la preuve 
d'identification de Mme Ball est, le moins qu'on puisse 
dire, extremement fragile, et j 'expiimerais !'opinion 
qu' elle ne relie I 'accuse Starr ni au deces de Weselowski 
ni a celui de Cook. Cependant, ii vous appartient de 
juger de la valeur de son temoignage. 

Meme l'avocat de l'appelant a qualifie de tempete 
dans un verre d'eau la presentation du temoignage 
des agents. Au lieu de considerer cette preuve 
co1TI1ne etant ce qui en fin de compte a fait la diffe­
rence, co1TI1ne l'avait fait le juge Twaddle de la 
Cour d'appel, l'avocat de l'appelant a reconnu que 
l'issue de l'affaire ne dependait pas du temoignage 
des agents. 
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In sum, given the trial judge's admonition to the 
jury and the appellant's admission of the marginal 
role that the identification evidence played, I can­
not say that there is a reasonable possibility that 
the verdict would have been different ifthe alleged 
error had not been made. I would dismiss this 
ground of the appellant's appeal. 

C. The Adequacy of the Instruction to the Jwy on 
Reasonable Doubt 

(1) The Decisions in Li[chus and Bisson 

As Iacobucci J. ably describes, our recent deci­
sions in Lifclnis, supra, and R. v. Bisson, [1998] 1 
S.C.R. 306, provide the framework for a review of 
a trial judge's charge to the jury on reasonable 
doubt. I wish to emphasize the following points 
regarding these decisions. 

In Lifchus, at para. 22, this Court held that the 
expression "beyond a reasonable doubt" must be 
explained to a jury. In four different manners, 
Cory J. articulated guidelines for how trial judges 
should go about explaining this concept to a jury. 
First, he discussed what should be avoided (at 
paras. 23-26). Second, Cory J. explained what 
should be included in the definition of reasonable 
doubt (at paras. 27-35). Third, Cory J. provided a 
swnmary of what the definition "should and 
should not contain" (at paras. 36 and 37). 
Iacobucci J. reproduces this list of principles in 
paras. 231 and 232 of his reasons. Finally, Cory J. 
offered a suggested charge for trial judges to use in 
explaining the concept of reasonable doubt to a 
jury (at para. 39). 

Several matters are noteworthy about Cory J. 's 
reasons in Lifchus as set out above. First, in grap­
pling with the issue of whether reasonable doubt 
must be explained to a jury, Cory J. acknowledged 
the confusing nature of this term and implicitly 
recognized the challenge facing trial judges in 
articulating it to a jury. 

Somme toute, compte tenu de la mise en garde 
du juge du proces au jury et de la reconnaissance 
par l'appelant du role secondaire joue par la preuve 
d'identification, je ne saurais dire qu'il existe une 
possibilite raisonnable que le verdict eut ete diffe­
rent si l'erreur alleguee n'avait pas ete commise. Je 
suis d'avis de rejeter ce moyen d'appel de l'appe­
lant. 

C. Le caractere suffisant de la directive au jwy 
sur le doute raisonnable 

(1) Les arrets Li[chus et Bisson 

Comme le decrit fort bien le juge Iacobucci, nos 
arrets recents Lifchus, precite, et R. c. Bisson, 
[1998] 1 R.C.S. 306, etablissent un cadre d'analyse 
de l'expose du juge du proces au jury sur le doute 
raisonnable. Je tiens a souligner Jes points suivants 
en ce qui a trait a ces arrets. 

Dans Lifchus, au par. 22, notre Cour a statue que 
!'expression «hors de tout doute raisonnable» doit 
etre expliquee au jury. Le juge Cory a fonnule, de 
quatre manieres differentes, des lignes directrices 
sur la fa9on dont le juge du proces devrait s'y 
prendre pour expliquer ce concept a un jury. En 
premier lieu, ii a analyse ce qui devrait etre evite 
(aux par. 23 a 26). En deuxieme lieu, le juge Cory 
a explique ce que devrait comporter la definition 
du doute raisonnable (aux par. 27 a 35). En troi­
sieme lieu, ii a fait un resume de ce que la defini­
tion «devrait et ne devrait pas contenirn (aux 
par. 36 et 37). Le juge Iacobucci reproduit cette 
Iiste de principes aux par. 231 et 232 de ses motifs. 
Enfin, le juge Cory a propose un mode le d' expose 
que pourraient suivre Jes juges du proces appeles a 
expliquer le concept du doute raisonnable a un jury 
(au par. 39). 

Plusieurs points meritent d'etre releves au sujet 
des motifs susmentionnes dujuge Cory dans l'arret 
Lifchus. Premierement, en debattant la question de 
savoir si le doute raisonnable doit etre explique a 
un jury, le juge Cory a remarque combien cette 
expression est deroutante et ii a reconnu implicite­
ment le defi que doit relever le juge du proces 
appele a l'expliquer au jury. 
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Second, I believe it is notable that in articulating 
how the expression "reasonable doubt" should be 
explained to the jury, Cory J. generally employed 
the words "should" and "should not" rather than 
the imperative "must" and "must not": Lifchus, 
supra, at paras. 23, 26, 28, 29, 31, 33, 35, 36 and 
37. I cannot believe that Cory J. intended to use 
"should" and "must" interchangeably so as to 
make his list of items that "should be avoided" 
equivalent to a list of items that are prohibited and 
the inclusion of which automatically constitutes 
reversible error. I find support for this position in 
Cory J. 's statement that the equation of the term 
"moral certainty" with "reasonable doubt" in a 
trial judge's charge to the jury "although not nec­
essarily fatal to a charge on reasonable doubt, 
should be avoided" (para. 25 (emphasis added)). 

Third, Cory J. stated expressly that "[a]ny fonn 
of instruction that complied with the applicable 
principles and avoided the pitfalls referred to 
would be satisfactory" (para. 40). He did not view 
his suggested charge as a "magic incantation that 
needs to be repeated word for word" (para. 40). 

Fourth, and most importantly, Cory J. expressly 
stated that "an error in the instructions as to the 
standard of proof may not constitute a reversible 
error" (para. 41 ). He reiterated this Court's state­
ment in R. v. W (D.), [1991] 1 S.C.R. 742, at 
p. 758, that the verdict ought not be disturbed "if 
the charge, when read as a whole, makes it clear 
that the jury could not have been under any misap­
prehension as to the correct burden and standard of 
proof to apply". Cory J. explained that "[o]n the 
other hand, if the charge as a whole gives rise to 
the reasonable likelihood that the jury misappre­
hended the standard of proof, then as a general rule 
the verdict will have to be set aside and a new trial 
directed" (para. 41). 

Two further annotations to Lifchus are neces­
sary. Lifchus, at para. 27, emphasized the need for 
the trial judge to link the standard of proof beyond 
a reasonable doubt to 

Deuxiemement, ii faut souligner que, pour 
decrire comment !'expression «doute raisonnable» 
devrait etre expliquee au jury, le juge Cory a gene­
ralement employe Jes mots «devrait» et «ne devrait 
pas» au lieu des mots «doit» et «ne doit pas»: 
Lifchus, precite, aux par. 23, 26, 28, 29, 31, 33, 35, 
36 et 37. II m'est difficile de croire que le juge 
Cory a entendu employer Jes mots «devrait» et 
«doit» indifferemment de fas;on a assimiler sa liste 
de ce qui «devrai[t] etre evit[e]» a une liste de ce 
qui est interdit et dont !'inclusion constitue auto­
matiquement une erreur donnant ouverture a revi­
sion. Mon point de vue ace sujet est etaye par !'af­
firmation du juge Cory que le fait d'assimiler la 
«certitude morale» au «doute raisonnable» dans 
!'expose du juge du proces au jury, bien qu'il <me 
soit pas necessairement fata[l] a la validite d'un 
expose sur le doute raisonnable [ . . . ] devrait etre 
evit[e]» (par. 25 (je souligne)). 

Troisiemement, le juge Cory a precise que 
«[t]oute autre forme de directives qui respecterait 
Jes principes applicables et eviterait Jes ecueils 
mentionnes precedemment conviendrait» (par. 40). 
II ne percevait pas !'expose qu'il proposait comme 
«une formule magique qui doit etre reprise mot 
pour mot» (par. 40). 

Quatriemement, et qui plus est, le juge Cory a 
expressement dit qu'«il est possible qu'une erreur 
dans Jes directives sur la norme de preuve ne cons­
titue pas une erreur donnant ouverture a revision» 
(par. 41). II a reitere l'enonce de notre Cour dans 
l'arret R. c. W (D.), [1991] 1 R.C.S. 742, a la 
p. 758, selon lequel le verdict n'a pas a etre change 
«Si !'expose, considere dans son ensemble, indique 
clairement que le jury ne peut pas ne pas avoir 
compris quel fardeau et quelle norme de preuve 
s'appliquent». Le juge Cory a explique que «[p]ar 
contre, si !'expose, considere dans son ensemble, 
souleve une probabilite raisonnable que le jury a 
ma! compris la norme de preuve applicable, alors, 
en regle generale, le verdict doit etre annule et un 
nouveau proces doit etre ordonne» (par. 41). 

Deux autres remarques s'imposent concernant 
l'arret Lifchus. Dans cet arret, au par. 27, on a sou­
ligne la necessite que le juge du proces lie la 
norme de la preuve hors de tout doute raisonnable 
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that basic premise which is fundamental to all criminal 
trials: the presumption of i1mocence. The two concepts 
are forever as closely linked as Romeo with Juliet or 
Oberon with Titania and they must be presented 
together as a unit .. . Jurors must be reminded that the 
burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the 
accused committed the crime rests with the prosecution 
throughout the trial and never shifts to the accused. 

In addition, Cory J. stated that jurors "must be 
advised that the Crown is not required to prove its 
case to an absolute certainty since such an unreal­
istically high standard could seldom be achieved" 
(para. 31). 

Bisson, supra, applied the Lifchus principles to 
the problems that arise when examples are given to 
illustrate the phrase "beyond a reasonable doubt". 
In Bisson, the trial judge' s charge ran afoul of 
Lifchus because it contained numerous misstate­
ments. First, the charge stated that a reasonable 
doubt consists of [TRANSLATION] "a degree of cer­
tainty which you use every day, in your important 
activities, whether at work, at home or in your lei­
sure activities. It is a degree of certainty which you 
employ, which you have used since you reached 
the age of reason, without perhaps having dis­
sected it as we are doing at present" (para. 3). 
Under Lifchus, at paras. 23-24, such a statement 
was clearly wrong. Second, this misstatement was 
compounded rather than cured by looking at the 
charge as a whole: Bisson, at para. 9. The charge 
proceeded to provide an example of the steps taken 
in order to detennine the level of oil in an automo­
bile (at paras. 3 and 4). The charge then reiterated 
its earlier error, stating, [TRANSLATION] "the degree 
of certainty that is required before concluding that 
someone is guilty of something, is exactly the 
same degree of certainty, certainty beyond a rea­
sonable doubt, as the degree of certainty you use 
in important activities in your life. Reasonable 
doubt is no more than that, it is no less than that" 
(para. 4). 

Cory J. discussed the problems that examples 
may create, noting that the example used seemed 
to suggest to jurors that they can apply the same 

au principe fondamental de tous les proces penaux: la 
presomption d'innocence. Ces deux concepts sont pour 
toujours intimement lies l'un a l'autre, comrne Romeo et 
Juliette OU Oberon et Titania, et ils doivent etre pre­
sentes comme formant un tout. [ .. . ] II faut rappeler aux 
jures que le fardeau de prouver hors de tout doute rai­
sonnable que !'accuse a commis le crime incombe a la 
poursuite tout au long du proces, et qu'il ne se deplace 
jamais sur les epaules de !'accuse. 

Le juge Cory a ajoute qu'«il faut [ . . . ] infonner 
[les jures] que le ministere public n'est pas tenu de 
prouver les accusations avec une certitude absolue, 
etant donne qu'une norme aussi deraisonnablement 
elevee pourrait rarement etre respectee» (par. 31 ). 

Dans l'arret Bisson, precite, les principes de 
l'arret Lifchus ont ete appliques aux problemes qui 
se posent lorsque des exemples sont proposes pour 
illustrer !'expression «hors de tout doute raisonna­
ble». Dans l'affaire Bisson, !'expose du juge du 
proces allait a l'encontre de l'arret Lifchus parce 
qu' il comportait de nombreuses inexactitudes. Pre­
mierement, on y affirmait qu'un doute raisonnable 
«est un degre de certitude que vous utilisez chaque 
jour, dans vos activites importantes, que ce soit au 
travail, a la maison OU dans VOS loisirs. C'est un 
degre de certitude que vous employez, que vous 
avez utilise depuis que vous avez l'age de raison, 
sans peut-etre en avoir fait la dissection comme on 
le fait presentement» (par. 3). Selon l'arret Lifchus, 
aux par. 23 et 24, un tel enonce etait clairement 
errone. Deuxiemement, cette inexactitude etait 
aggravee plutot que corrigee lorsqu ' on examinait 
!'expose dans son ensemble: Bisson, au par. 9. On 
y donnait un exemple des etapes a suivre pour 
verifier le niveau d'huile d'une automobile (aux 
par. 3 et 4). On y repetait l'erreur qui y avait deja 
ete cornmise, en affirmant: «le degre de certitude 
que l'on exige avant de conclure que quelqu'un est 
coupable de quelque chose, c'est exactement le 
meme degre de certitude, la certitude hors de tout 
doute raisonnable que le degre de certitude que 
vous utilisez dans les activites importantes de votre 
vie. Le doute raisonnable c'est pas plus que r;:a, 
c 'est pas rnoins que r;:a» (par. 4). 

Le juge Cory a analyse Jes problemes que des 
exernples peuvent creer, soulignant que l' exemple 
utilise laisse entendre aux jures que, pour statuer 
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standard they would use in everyday, routine deci­
sions to the determination of guilt beyond a rea­
sonable doubt (at para. 7). The trial judge in Bisson 
erred in providing an example because it invited 
the jurors to apply a standard of proof significantly 
lower than the standard to which the prosecution 
must be held in a criminal case (at para. 8). Cory J. 
then noted that an error in the instructions as to the 
standard of proof may not constitute a reversible 
error if the charge when read as a whole does not 
give rise to the reasonable likelihood that the jury 
misapprehended the correct standard of proof (at 
para. 9). Looking at the instructions in their 
entirety, the Court concluded that a reasonable 
likelihood existed that the jury misapprehended the 
correct standard of proof (at para. 10). 

I believe that these are the relevant principles to 
apply in considering the propriety of a charge to 
the jury on proof beyond a reasonable doubt. 

(2) The Adequacy of the Reasonable Doubt 
Charge in This Case 

In determining the adequacy of the reasonable 
doubt charge in this case, I find the reasons of 
Sharpe J.A. in the recent case of R. v. Tombran 
(2000), 47 O.R. (3d) 182 (C.A.), particularly help­
ful because the charge in that case was strikingly 
similar to the one at issue before us. I would adopt 
Sharpe J.A.'s holding, at p. 194, that "[w]hile trial 
judges are now expected to follow the Lifchus 
model charge, failure to do so in cases tried before 
Lifchus, supra, does not constitute reversible error 
if the charge conveys to the jury the special mean­
ing attached to reasonable doubt". 

Despite not having the benefit of this Court' s 
decision in Lifchus, the trial judge included most 
of the suggested elements in his charge to the jury. 

sur la culpabilite hors de tout doute raisonnable, ils 
peuvent appliquer la meme nonne que celle qu'ils 
utiliseraient pour prendre des decisions dans la vie 
de tous les jours (au par. 7). Dans l'affaire Bisson, 
le juge du proces a commis une erreur en donnant 
un exemple, du fait qu'on y invitait les jures a 
appliquer une norrne de preuve sensiblement 
moins elevee que la nonne que la poursuite est 
tenue d'appliquer en matiere criminelle (au par. 8). 
Le juge Cory a ensuite fait remarquer qu'une 
erreur dans Jes directives sur la nonne de preuve 
pouvait ne pas constituer une erreur donnant 
ouverture a revision si l'expose, considere dans 
son ensemble, ne souleve aucune probabilite rai­
sonnable que le jury ait ma! compris la nonne de 
preuve applicable (au par. 9). Apres avoir examine 
Jes directives dans leur ensemble, la Cour a conclu 
qu'il existait une probabilite raisonnable que le 
jury ait ma! compris la nonne de preuve applicable 
(au par. 10). 

Je crois que ce sont la les principes qui doivent 
etre appliques lorsqu'il s'agit d'examiner la jus­
tesse d 'un expose au jury sur la preuve hors de tout 
doute raisonnable. 

(2) Le caractere suffisant de l'expose sur le 
doute raisonnable en l'espece 

Pour determiner le caractere suffisant de !'ex­
pose sur le doute raisonnable en l'espece, je consi­
dere que Jes motifs du juge Sharpe dans l'arret 
recent R. c. Tombran (2000), 47 O.R. (3d) 182 
(C.A.), sont particulierement utiles parce que !'ex­
pose qui avait ete fait dans cette affaire ressemblait 
remarquablement a celui dont nous avons ete saisis 
en l'espece. Je souscris a la conclusion du juge 
Sharpe, a lap. 194, que [TRADUCTION] «[b]ien que 
Jes juges du proces soient desonnais censes suivre 
le modele d'expose de l'arret Lifchus, !'omission 
de le faire dans des affaires entendues avant l'arret 
Lifchus, precite, ne constitue pas une erreur don­
nant ouverture a revision, si !'expose transmet au 
jury le sens particulier qui est prete au doute rai­
sonnable». 

Bien qu' il n'ait pas beneficie de la decision de 
notre Cour dans l'affaire Lifchus, le juge du proces 
a inclus la plupart des elements proposes dans son 
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I agree with the conclusion of the Court of Appeal 
that the charge met the key requirements of Lifchus 
and that the flaws in the charge do not vitiate it. 
For reference, I will set out the impugned portion 
of the charge below: 

It is rarely possible to prove anything with absolute cer­
tainty and so the burden of proof on the Crown is only 
to prove the guilt of the accused beyond reasonable 
doubt. What, then, is proof beyond a reasonable doubt? 

The words "reasonable doubt" are used in their every­
day, ordinary sense and not as a legal term having some 
special connotation. The words have no magic meaning 
that is peculiar to the law. A reasonable doubt is an hon­
est, fair doubt, based upon reason and common sense. It 
is a real doubt, not an imaginary or frivolous one resting 
on speculation or guess rather than upon the evidence 
you heard in this courtroom. 

So you can see, the words "reasonable doubt" are 
ordinary words we use in our everyday language. So if 
you can say, I am satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt, 
the Crown has met the onus upon it. If you cannot say 
those words - if you cannot say, I am satisfied beyond 
a reasonable doubt, the Crown has not met the onus on 
it, and the accused is entitled to have your doubt 
resolved in his favour. 

It is clear from the above selection that, like in 
Tombran, supra, the trial judge succeeded, without 
the benefit of our decision in Lifchus, in comply­
ing with most of its guidelines. This portion of the 
charge instructed the jurors that a reasonable doubt 
must not be an imaginary or frivolous doubt 
(Lifchus, at para. 31); that it is a doubt based upon 
reason and common sense (Lifchus, at para. 30); 
that it must be based on the evidence that the jurors 
heard in the courtroom (Lifchus, at para. 30); and 
that the Crown is not required to prove its case to 
absolute certainty (Lifchus, at para. 31). This por­
tion of the charge did not equate proof beyond a 
reasonable doubt to proof to a moral certainty 
(Lifchus, at paras. 25 and 37); nor did it instruct 
jurors that they might convict if they were "sure" 
that the accused was guilty (Lifchus, at para. 37); 

expose au jury. Je souscris a la conclusion de la 
Cour d'appel que !'expose satisfaisait aux exi­
gences fondamentales de l'arret Lifchus et que ses 
lacunes ne l'invalident pas. Pour en faciliter la 
consultation, je reproduis la partie contestee de 
!'expose qui a ete fait: 

[TRADUCTION] 11 est rarement possible d'etablir quelque 
chose avec une certitude absolue, de sorte que le minis­
tere public n'a qu'a etablir la culpabilite de !'accuse 
hors de tout doute raisonnab\e. En quoi consiste done la 
preuve hors de tout doute raisonnable? 

L'expression «doute raisonnable» est utilisee dans 
son sens ordinaire de tous \es jours et non pas en tant 
qu'expression juridique ayant une connotation particu­
liere. Cette expression n'a aucun sens magique propre 
au droit. Un doute raisormable est un doute sincere et 
\egitime qui est fonde sur la raison et le bon sens. C'est 
un doute reel et non pas un doute imaginaire ou frivole 
qui repose sur des conjectures ou des suppositions plutot 
que sur !es temoignages que vous avez entendus dans 
cette salle d'audience. 

Yous pouvez ainsi constater que les mots «doute rai­
sonnable» sont des mots ordinaires que nous utilisons 
dans la vie de tous les jours. Done, si vous pouvez dire 
<ge suis convaincu hors de tout doute raisonnable», le 
ministere public s'est acquitte de !'obligation qui lui 
incombait. Si vous ne pouvez pas prononcer ces mots -
si vous ne pouvez pas dire <rje suis convaincu hors de 
tout doute raisonnable», le ministere public ne s'est pas 
acquitte de !'obligation qui lui incombait et tout doute 
doit etre tranche en faveur de !'accuse. 

II ressort clairement de l'extrait qui precede que, 
comme cela avait ete le cas dans l'affaire Tombran, 
precite, le juge du proces a reussi, sans avoir eu le 
benefice de notre arret Lifchus, a en respecter la 
plupart des lignes directrices. Cette partie de !'ex­
pose indiquait aux jures qu'un doute raisonnable 
ne doit pas etre imaginaire OU frivole (Lifchus, au 
par. 31), que c'est un doute fonde sur la raison et le 
bon sens (Lifchus, au par. 30), qu'il doit reposer 
sur la preuve que Jes jures ont entendue dans la 
salle d'audience (Lifchus, au par. 30), et que le 
ministere public n'est pas tenu de prouver Jes 
accusations avec une certitude absolue (Lifchus, au 
par. 31). Cette partie de !'expose n'a pas assimile 
la preuve hors de tout doute raisonnable a une 
preuve correspondant a la certitude morale 
(Lifchus, aux par. 25 et 37), pas plus qu'elle n'a 
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nor did it invite jurors to apply the same standard 
of proof that they apply to important decisions in 
their own lives (Lifchus, at para. 37; Bisson, 
supra) . Elsewhere in his charge, the trial judge 
exhorted the jury to put any feelings of prejudice 
or sympathy out of their minds (Lifchus, at 
paras. 31 and 36). 

The trial judge's charge, however, was not flaw­
less. Specifically, we must examine the effect of 
the trial judge's misstatement that the words "rea­
sonable doubt" are used in their everyday, ordinary 
sense and have no special legal meaning. It is 
asserted that this flaw in the charge, together with 
the failure of the trial judge to state expressly that 
the Crown was required to do more than prove the 
appellant's guilt on a balance of probabilities, con­
stitutes reversible error. With respect, I cannot 
agree. 

The verdict ought not to be disturbed because 
the charge, "when read as a whole, makes it clear 
that the jury could not have been under any misap­
prehension as to the correct burden and standard of 
proof to apply": W. (D.), supra, at p. 758; Lifchus, 
at para. 41. While the judge told the jury that the 
words "reasonable doubt" had no special meaning, 
this was a hannless error because he proceeded to 
give them all the legal information they required. 
The jury knew the accused was presumed inno­
cent, they knew the standard of proof was very 
high - a standard just below absolute certainty -
and they knew that they could not convict on a bal­
ance of probabilities. Cory J. 's objection to the "no 
special meaning" instruction in Lifchus was 
founded on the danger that the jury might judge on 
the basis of their everyday affairs: see Bisson, 
supra. This danger was obviated in this case by 
the trial judge's instruction. Therefore, the charge 
as a whole does not give rise to the reasonable 

indique aux jures qu'ils pourraient declarer !'ac­
cuse coupable s'ils etaient «Surs» de sa culpabilite 
(Lifchus, au par. 37) ou invite les jures a appliquer 
la meme norme de preuve que celle qu'ils utilisent 
pour prendre des decisions importantes dans leur 
propre vie (Lifchus, au par. 37; Bisson, precite). 
Ailleurs dans son expose, le juge du proces a incite 
Jes jures a Se liberer !'esprit de tout prejuge OU de 
toute sympathie (Lifchus, aux par. 31 et 36). 

L'expose du juge du proces n'etait toutefois pas 
sans lacunes. Plus precisement, ii nous faut exami­
ner l' effet de l' assertion inexacte du juge du proces 
que les mots «doute raisonnable» sont utilises dans 
leur sens ordinaire de tous les jours et n'ont pas 
de sens juridique particulier. On affinne que 
cette lacune dans !'expose, conjuguee a !'omission 
du juge du proces de preciser que le ministere 
public etait tenu de faire plus qu'etablir la culpabi­
lite de l'appelant selon la preponderance des pro­
babilites, constitue une erreur donnant ouverture 
a revision. En toute deference, je ne suis pas 
d'accord. 

Le verdict n'a pas a etre casse puisque !'expose, 
«considere dans son ensemble, indique clairement 
que le jury ne peut pas avoir mal compris quel far­
deau et quelle norme de preuve s' appliquent>>: W. 
(D.), precite, a lap. 758; Lifchus, au par. 41. Meme 
si le juge du proces a dit aux jures que !es mots 
«doute raisonnable» n'ont aucun sens particulier, il 
s'agit d'une erreur inoffensive puisqu'il leur a 
ensuite fourni tous les renseignements juridiques 
dont ils avaient besoin. Le jury savait que l'accuse 
etait presume innocent, il savait que la norme de 
preuve etait tres elevee - une norme juste au-des­
sous de la certitude absolue - et il savait qu'il ne 
pouvait pas conclure a la culpabilite selon la pre­
ponderance des probabilites. L'objection du juge 
Cory concernant la directive sur l' absence de sens 
juridique particulier, donnee dans l'arret Lifchus, 
etait fondee sur le risque que les membres du jury 
portent un jugement comme ils le font dans leur 
vie de tous les jours: voir Bisson, precite. En l'es­
pece, la directive du juge du proces a pare a ce ris­
que. Par consequent, l' expose dans son ensemble 
ne souleve aucune probabilite raisonnable que le 
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likelihood that the jury misapprehended the stan­
dard of proof: Lifchus, supra. 

What is essential is that the charge cmmnunicate 
clearly to the jury that they cannot find the accused 
guilty on a balance of probabilities. I believe that 
the charge did this. The opening sentence of the 
charge clearly implies that proof beyond a reasona­
ble doubt is just one notch lower than absolute cer­
tainty; it is the highest level of proof that can be 
humanly achieved. This negates any suggestion 
that proof on a balance of probabilities might suf­
fice. "[R]eading the charge as a whole, this jury 
could not have been left with any doubt that the 
burden was on the Crown to prove every element 
of the offence beyond a reasonable doubt rather 
than on a mere balance of probabilities": Tombran, 
supra, at p. 194. 

Moreover, the charge complied with Lifchus's 
first principle that it must be made clear to the jury 
that the standard of proof beyond a reasonable 
doubt is inextricably linked to the presumption of 
innocence and that this burden never shifts to the 
accused: Lifchus, at para. 27. The relevant portion 
of the trial judge's charge on this point is: 

Let me first emphasize the presumption of innocence. 
Simply put, the accused is presumed to be innocent and 
he continues to be and remain innocent unless and until 
the Crown has satisfied you beyond reasonable doubt of 
his guilt. This presumption remains with the accused 
and for his benefit from the beginning of the case until 
the end of the case. The onus of proving guilt rests upon 
the Crown from the begim1ing to the end of the case and 
it never shifts. There is no burden whatsoever on the 
accused to prove his innocence. The Crown must prove 
beyond a reasonable doubt that an accused person is 
guilty of the offence or offences with which he is 
charged before he can be convicted. 

In light of the trial judge's compliance with the 
bulk of the principles enunciated in Lifchus, I am 
loath to find that the charge was automatically viti-

jury ait mal compris la nonne de preuve: Lifchus, 
precite. 

L'essentiel, c'est que !'expose indique claire­
ment au jury qu'il ne peut pas conclure a la culpa­
bilite de l'accuse selon la preponderance des pro­
babilites. Je crois que l'expose l'a clairement fait. 
La premiere phrase de l' expose implique claire­
ment que la preuve hors de tout doute raisonnable 
se situe juste au-dessous de la certitude absolue; 
c'est la nonne de preuve la plus elevee qu'il est 
humainement possible d'atteindre. Cela ecarte 
toute idee qu 'une preuve selon la preponderance 
des probabilites pourrait suffire. [TRADUCTION] 
«[S]i on lit l'expose dans son ensemble, le jury ne 
pouvait pas douter qu'il incombait au ministere 
public de prouver chaque element de l'infraction 
hors de tout doute raisonnable plutot que selon la 
simple preponderance des probabilites»: Tombran, 
precite, a lap. 194. 

De plus, l'expose a respecte le premier principe 
de l'arret Lifchus selon lequel ii faut indiquer clai­
rement au jury que la nonne de la preuve hors de 
tout doute raisonnable est inextricablement liee a 
la presomption d'innocence et que ce fardeau ne se 
deplace jamais sur les epaules de l'accuse: Lifchus, 
au par. 27. La partie pertinente de l'expose du juge 
du proces sur ce point est la suivante: 

[TRADUCTION] J'aimerais d'abord souligner la pre­
somption d'innocence. Tout simplement, !'accuse est 
presume innocent et continue de l'etre tant et aussi 
longtemps que le ministere public ne vous a pas con­
vaincus hors de tout doute raisonnable de sa culpabilite. 
L'accuse beneficie de cette presomption du debut jus­
qu'a la fin de l'affaire. Le fardeau de prouver la culpabi­
lite incombe au ministere public du debut a la fin de 
l'affaire, et ce fardeau ne se deplace jamais. L'accuse 
n'a absolument aucune obligation de prouver son inno­
cence. Pour que la personne accusee puisse etre declaree 
coupable, le ministere public doit prouver hors de tout 
doute raisonnable qu'elle est coupable de !'infraction ou 
des infractions qui lui sont reprochees. 

Compte tenu du fait que le juge du proces a res­
pecte la plupart des principes enonces dans l'arret 
Lifchus, j 'hesite a conclure que l'expose etait auto-
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ated by the failure to include a specific item men­
tioned in Lifchus or by the inclusion of an 
improper item. To do so would contravene our 
holding that "an error in the instructions as to the 
standard of proof may not constitute a reversible 
error": Lifchus, at para. 41. 

Jurors are sophisticated persons who are 
instructed to listen to and follow the entirety of the 
judge's charge to them. We must assume that they 
do so. It would ill behoove a reviewing court to do 
exactly what the jury is commanded not to do and 
isolate a phrase or a small section of the charge, 
ignoring the whole of it. I do not believe that is 
what Cory J. intended in Lifchus. Rather, he was 
attempting to provide guidance to trial judges in 
the extremely difficult task of articulating what is 
proof beyond a reasonable doubt and communicat­
ing this standard to the jury. 

Lifchus should be viewed as a broad template 
for trial judges to assist them in their difficult task. 
Cory J. 's suggestions provide a touchstone for 
comparison for courts in reviewing jury charges. 
However, reviewing courts must resist the tempta­
tion to use the Lifchus suggestions as a mandatory 
checklist. The tendency to do so is natural and 
understandable as it would make the task of 
reviewing a jury charge far easier. However, a jury 
charge is not a multiple choice exam that can be 
marked by a computer. Rather, it is akin to a work 
of literature that must be studied in its entirety in 
order to evaluate it as a whole. 

Examining the charge in its entirety, I do not 
find that a reasonable likelihood existed that the 
jury misapprehended the correct standard of proof. 
Accordingly, I would dismiss this ground of 
appeal. 

matiquement invalide par l'omission d'inclure un 
element particulier mentionne dans l'arret Lifchus 
ou par l'inclusion d'un element inapproprie. Une 
telle conclusion irait a l'encontre de notre decision 
qu'«il est possible qu'une erreur dans les directives 
sur la norme de preuve ne constitue pas une erreur 
donnant ouverture a revision»: Lifchus, au par. 41. 

Les jures sont des personnes averties qui sont 
chargees d'ecouter et de suivre tout l'expose que 
leur fait le juge. Nous devons presumer qu'ils le 
font. Un tribunal d'examen serait mal venu de faire 
exactement ce qu'on interdit a un jury de faire, et 
d'isoler une expression ou une petite partie de !'ex­
pose sans tenir compte de !'ensemble de cet 
expose. Je ne crois pas que c'est ce que le juge 
Cory envisageait dans Lifchus. II tentait plut6t de 
guider les juges du proces dans la tache extreme­
ment ardue qui leur incombe d'expliquer claire­
ment ce qu' est la preuve hors de tout doute raison­
nable et de communiquer cette norme au jury. 

L'arret Lifchus devrait etre pen;;u comme un 
modele general destine a aider Jes juges du proces 
a s'acquitter de leur tache difficile. Les proposi­
tions du juge Cory fournissent un element de com­
paraison au tribunal qui examine un expose au 
jury. Le tribunal qui procede a un tel examen doit 
toutefois resister a la tentation d'utiliser les propo­
sitions de l'arret Lifchus comme une liste de con­
tr6le obligatoire. II s'agit la d'une tendance natu­
relle et comprehensible puisque cela faciliterait 
grandement !'examen d'un expose au jury. Cepen­
dant, un expose au jury n'est pas un test a choix 
multiples susceptible d'etre corrige par ordinateur. 
II s'apparente plut6t a une ceuvre litteraire qu'il 
faut etudier en entier dans le but de l' evaluer dans 
son ensemble. 

Apres avoir examine l'expose en entier, je con­
clus qu'il n'y avait aucune probabilite raisonnable 
que le jury ait mal compris la norme de preuve 
applicable. Par consequent, je suis d'avis de rejeter 
ce moyen d'appel. 
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III. Disposition 

I would dismiss the appeal. 

The judgment of Iacobucci, Major, Binnie, 
Arbour and Lebel JJ. was delivered by 

IACOBUCCI J. -

I. Introduction and Summary 

The appellant, Robert Starr, was convicted at 
trial before a judge and jury of two counts of first 
degree murder. He had been accused of killing 
Bernard (Bo) Cook and Darlene Weselowski by 
shooting them by the side of a provincial highway 
on the outskirts of Winnipeg in the early morning 
hours of August 21, 1994. 

This appeal was originally taken as of right from 
the decision of the Manitoba Court of Appeal, dis­
missing the appellant's appeal from the two con­
victions. Twaddle J.A. dissented in the Court of 
Appeal on two distinct hearsay issues and on the 
sufficiency of the trial judge's charge to the jury on 
the issue of reasonable doubt, which are the issues 
that form the basis for this appeal. Twaddle J.A. 
would have allowed the appeal and ordered a new 
trial. On November 9, 1999, the Court ordered a 
re-hearing of the appeal, and, by letter dated 
November 18, 1999, invited submissions on the 
application of the "principled approach" to the 
traditional hearsay exceptions, and on the scope of 
the common law exception for statements of pre­
sent intention. 

As a general matter, I agree with the lucid rea­
sons of Twaddle J.A., and with the remedy he pro­
posed. However, because this case raises important 
issues regarding the admissibility of hearsay evi­
dence, including, in particular, the question of 
whether exceptions to the hearsay rule must con­
fonn to the principled approach to hearsay admis-

III. Dispositif 

Je rejetterais le pourvoi. 

Version franc;:aise du jugement des juges 
Iacobucci, Major, Binnie, Arbour et LeBel rendu 
par 

LE JUGE IACOBUCCI -

I. Introduction et resume 

A son proces devant un juge et un jury, l'appe­
lant Robert Starr a ete declare coupable relative­
ment a deux chefs d'accusation de meurtre au pre­
mier degre. 11 avait ete accuse d'avoir tue Bernard 
(Bo) Cook et Darlene W eselowski en les abattant 
sur l'accotement d'une route provinciale aux 
abords de Winnipeg, aux petites heures du matin, 
le 21 aofit 1994. 

11 s'agit d'un pourvoi qui, au depart, a ete forme 
de plein droit contre l'arret dans lequel la Cour 
d'appel du Manitoba a rejete l'appel que l'appelant 
avait interjete contre les deux declarations de cul­
pabilite. En Cour d'appel, le juge Twaddle a 
exprime une dissidence relativement a deux ques­
tions differentes en matiere de ou'i-dire et au carac­
tere suffisant de l'expose du juge du proces au jury 
sur la question du doute raisonnable, lesquelles 
questions constituent le fondement du present 
pourvoi. Le juge Twaddle aurait accueilli l'appel et 
ordonne la tenue d'un nouveau proces. Le 9 
novembre 1999, la Cour a ordonne la tenue d'une 
nouvelle audition du pourvoi et, dans une lettre 
datee du 18 novembre 1999, elle a invite les parties 
a lui presenter des observations sur l'application de 
la «methode fondee sur des principes» aux excep­
tions traditionnelles a la regle du ou'i-dire et sur la 
portee de l'exception de common law relative aux 
declarations d'intention existante. 

De fac;:on generale, je souscris aux motifs clairs 
dujuge Twaddle et a la reparation qu'il propose. Je 
vais cependant exposer mes motifs en detail, etant 
donne que la presente affaire souleve des questions 
importantes au sujet de l'admissibilite de la preuve 
par ou'i-dire, notamment la question de savoir si les 
exceptions a la regle du ou'i-dire doivent etre con-
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sibility adopted by this Court in R. v. Khan, [1990] 
2 S.C.R. 531, and subsequent cases, I will set out 
my reasons in some detail. The appeal also pro­
vides a useful opportunity to comment upon the 
proper application of the principles set out by this 
Court in R. v. Lifchus, [1997] 3 S.C.R. 320, regard­
ing the appropriate manner of instructing a jury on 
reasonable doubt. This is particularly important in 
light of the frequency with which this issue has 
arisen of late, particularly in R. v. Russell, S.C.C., 
No. 26699 (heard November 5, 1999), R. v. 
Beauchamp, S.C.C., No. 27075 (heard December 
8, 1999), and R. v. Avetysan, S.C.C., No. 27279 
(heard January 28, 2000).* 

In the result, I conclude that the Court of Appeal 
erred in admitting the statement in question under 
the "present intentions" exception to the hearsay 
rule. However, Khan, supra, and subsequent cases 
have established that hearsay that does not fit 
within a traditional exception may nonetheless be 
admissible if it meets the twin criteria of reliability 
and necessity. This case therefore requires that we 
detennine the admissibility of evidence under the 
principled approach, and more particularly, the 
interaction between the principled approach and 
the traditional exceptions. In so doing, I conclude 
that hearsay that does fit within a traditional hear­
say exception, as currently understood, may still be 
inadmissible if it is not sufficiently reliable and 
necessary. The traditional exception must therefore 
yield to comply with the principled approach. 

With respect to the jury instructions on the 
phrase "beyond a reasonable doubt'', as set out in 
Lifchus, supra, an instruction like the one in this 
case, which fai ls to explain that the beyond a rea­
sonable doubt standard has special legal signifi-

*R. V. Russell, 2000 sec 55, R. V. Beauchamp, 2000 sec 
54, and R. v. Avetysan, 2000 SCC 56, were released November 
10, 2000. 

fonnes a la fai;:on fondee sur des principes d'abor­
der l 'admissibilite de la preuve par oul-dire, que 
notre Cour a adoptee dans R. c. Khan, [1990] 2 
R.C.S. 531, et d'autres arrets subsequents. Le pre­
sent pourvoi fournit egalement une occasion utile 
de faire des observations sur la bonne fa9on d'ap­
pliquer les principes que notre Cour a enonces 
dans l'arret R. c. Lifchus, [1997] 3 R.C.S. 320, 
relativement a la maniere appropriee de donner au 
jury des directives sur le doute raisonnable. Cela 
est particulierement important compte tenu de la 
frequence a laquelle cette question a ete soulevee 
dernierement, notaimnent dans Jes affaires R. c. 
Russell, C.S .C., n° 26699 ( entendue le 5 novembre 
1999), R. c. Beauchamp, C.S.C., n° 27075 (enten­
due le 8 decembre 1999), et R. c. Avetysan, C.S.C., 
n° 27279 ( entendue le 28 janvier 2000)*. 

En definitive, je conclus que la Cour d'appel a 
commis une erreur en admettant la declaration en 
question en vertu de !'exception des «intentions 
existantes» a la regle du oul-dire. Cependant, l'ar­
ret Khan, precite, et d'autres arrets subsequents ont 
etabli que la preuve par oul-dire qui ne releve pas 
d'une exception traditionnelle peut neanmoins etre 
admissible si elle satisfait aux deux criteres de la 
fiabilite et de la necessite. La presente affaire nous 
oblige done a determiner l'admissibilite de la 
preuve selon la methode fondee sur des principes 
et, plus particulierement, la nature de !'interaction 
de cette methode et des exceptions traditionnelles. 
Ce faisant, je conclus que la preuve par ou·i-dire 
qui releve effectivement d'une exception tradition­
nelle a la regle du ou"i-dire, dans son sens actuel, 
peut neanmoins etre inadmissible si elle n'est pas 
suffisamment fiable et necessaire. L'exception 
traditionnelle doit done ceder le pas afin d'assurer 
la conformite avec la methode fondee sur des 
principes. 

Quant aux directives au jury sur l' expression 
«hors de tout doute raisonnable», qui ont ete enon­
cees dans l'arret Lifchus, precite, une directive 
c01mne celle dont il est question en l'espece ne 
satisfait pas a la norme de l'arret Lifchus etant 

*R. c. Russell, 2000 CSC 55, R. c. Beauchamp, 2000 CSC 
54, et R. c. Avetysan, 2000 CSC 56, ont ete rendus le 10 
novembre 2000. 
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cance and requires a significantly higher quantum 
of proof than the balance of probabilities, will not 
satisfy the Lifcl1Us standard. 

II. Factual Background 

Bernard Cook and Darlene W eselowski were 
drinking with the appellant at the Westbrook Hotel 
in the north end of Winnipeg during the late eve­
ning and early morning of August 20-21 , 1994. 
Cook had been released from prison the previous 
day. A witness, Janet Daly, testified that at around 
1 :50 a.m., the appellant stood up and told Cook: 
"If we are going to get this done, we better get this 
done now." Cook, Weselowski, and the appellant 
then left the hotel. 

Cook and Weselowski parted ways with the 
appellant. Outside, Cook and Weselowski offered a 
couple named Cheryl and Daniel Ball a ride home 
in Weselowski's station wagon to the Balls' resi­
dence in St. Norbert, a 20 to 30 minute drive away. 
Cook and Weselowski were intoxicated. Cook' s 
blood-alcohol content at the time of his death, 
around 3:00 a.m., was .250. Weselowski 's was 
.140. By Cheryl Ball ' s account at trial, the Balls 
were also "really, really drunk". 

Weselowski drove, and the group first stopped at 
an adjacent Mohawk gas station, where Jodie Gies­
brecht, a sometime girlfriend of Cook, approached 
the station wagon and had a conversation with 
Cook. During the conversation, Giesbrecht 
observed a car beside the Mohawk gas station, and 
saw the appellant in the car. She could not deter­
mine whether anyone else was in the car with the 
appellant. A day or two later, Giesbrecht saw a 
picture in the newspaper of what she believed was 
the car in which she had seen the appellant. The 
car had been found at the scene of the murder. 
After seeing the picture, Giesbrecht phoned the 
police and told them she had seen the car on the 

donne qu' on n'y explique pas que la nonne de la 
preuve hors de tout doute raisonnable a un sens 
juridique particulier et requiert un degre de preuve 
beaucoup plus eleve que la preponderance des pro­
babilites. 

II. Les faits 

Bernard Cook et Darlene W eselowski prenaient 
un verre avec l'appelant a l'h6tel Westbrook, dans 
le secteur nord de Winnipeg, a la fin de la soiree 
du 20 aout 1994 et aux petites heures du matin du 
21 aout. Cook etait sorti de prison la veille. Un 
temoin, Janet Daly, a affirme que, vers 1 h 50, 
l'appelant s' etait leve et avait dit a Cook: [TRADUC­
TION] «Si nous devons le faire, il vaut mieux le 
faire maintenant.» Cook, Weselowski et l'appelant 
ant alors quitte l'h6tel. 

Cook et Weselowski se sont separes de l' appe­
lant. A l'exterieur, Cook et Weselowski ont offert 
au couple Cheryl et Daniel Ball de les raccompa­
gner chez eux, a St. Norbert, dans la familiale de 
Weselowski, ce qui representait un trajet de 20 a 
30 minutes. Cook et Weselowski etaient ivres. Au 
moment de son deces, vers 3 h, le taux d'alcoole­
mie de Cook etait de 0,250. Celui de Weselowski 
etait de 0,140. Selan le recit de Cheryl Ball au pro­
ces, les Ball etaient aussi [TRADUCTION] «vraiment, 
vraiment ivres». 

Weselowski a pris le volant et le groupe a fait un 
premier arret a la station-service Mohawk Voisine, 
OU Jodie Giesbrecht, qui frequentait Cook a l' occa­
sion, s ' est approchee de la familiale et s'est entre­
tenue avec Cook. Pendant cette conversation, 
Giesbrecht a remarque la presence d 'une automo­
bile a cote de la station-service Mohawk et a 
apen;:u l'appelant a l' interieur de celle-ci. Elle n 'a 
pas pu voir si l'appelant etait en compagnie de 
quelqu'un d'autre dans !' automobile. Le lendemain. 
ou le surlendemain, Giesbrecht a cru reconnaitre, 
sur une photo dans le journal, !'automobile dans 
laquelle elle avait apen;:u l'appelant. Cette automo­
bile avait ete decouverte Sur les lieux du meurtre. 
Apres avoir vu la photo, Giesbrecht a telephone a 
la police pour !'informer que, pendant la nuit du 20 
au 21 aout 1994, elle avait aperc;:u !'automobile en 
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night of August 20-21, 1994 at the Mohawk gas 
station, with the appellant in it. 

Giesbrecht had spent part of the previous eve­
ning with Cook, just after his release from prison. 
She had been sitting with Cook and the appellant 
at the Westbrook Hotel about 45 minutes before 
Cook left the hotel with Weselowski. Giesbrecht 
testified that she attempted to avoid being seen by 
Cook as she approached the car, because she did 
not want Cook "to take off on me while he was 
with Darlene [Weselowski]". In their discussion 
beside the station wagon, Cook told Giesbrecht 
that he was driving the Balls home with Weselow­
ski. Giesbrecht became angry with Cook because 
he was out with Weselowski rather than her, and 
she walked away from the car. Cook got out of the 
car and followed Giesbrecht into a Janeway, where 
they had a further conversation. Giesbrecht asked 
Cook why he would not come home with her. 
According to Giesbrecht, Cook replied that he had 
to "go and do an Autopac scam with Robert". 
Giesbrecht understood "Robert" to be the appel­
lant. Cook said he was to receive $500 for his 
involvement in wrecking a car for insurance pur­
poses. Giesbrecht testified that it was strange for 
Cook to discuss business matters like this with her. 

At trial, the defence unsuccessfully sought to 
exclude as hearsay Giesbrecht's testimony regard­
ing Cook's stated intent to participate in an 
Autopac scam with the appellant. 

Weselowski, Cook, and the Balls drove to Le 
Maire Street in St. Norbert, where the Balls got out 
of the car. Shortly after exiting the station wagon, 
Cheryl Ball looked back and observed a smaller 
car alongside the station wagon. Cheryl Ball had 
seen the smaller car follow them as they turned 
onto Le Maire Street. She could not recall the col­
our or make of the smaller car. She could not see 
how many people were in the smaller car. She 
could not hear any voices coming from either of 

question a la station-service Mohawk et que l'ap­
pelant s'y trouvait. 

Giesbrecht avait passe une partie de la s01ree 
precedente avec Cook, juste apres sa sortie de pri­
son. Elle etait assise avec Cook et l'appelant a 
!'hotel Westbrook depuis environ 45 minutes lors­
que Cook a quitte l 'h6tel avec W eselowski. Gies­
brecht a temoigne qu'elle avait tente d'eviter que 
Cook la voie pendant qu'elle s'approchait de !'au­
tomobile, parce qu'elle ne voulait pas qu'il la [TRA­
DUCTION] «fuie alors qu'il se trouvait avec Darlene 
[Weselowski]». Au cours de leur discussion a cote 
de la familiale, Cook a dit a Giesbrecht qu ' il rac­
compagnait Jes Ball chez eux avec Weselowski. 
Giesbrecht s'est rnise en colere contre Cook parce 
qu'il etait en compagnie de Weselowski au lieu 
d'etre avec elle, et s'est eloignee de !'automobile. 
Cook est descendu de !'auto et a suivi Giesbrecht 
dans une ruelle, ou ils ont eu une autre conversa­
tion. Giesbrecht a demande a Cook pourquoi il ne 
la raccompagnerait pas chez elle. Selon Gies­
brecht, Cook a repondu qu'il devait [TRADUCTION] 
<<aller frauder l' Autopac avec Robert» . Giesbrecht 
a compris que «Robert» etait l'appelant. Cook a dit 
qu'il toucherait 500 $ pour aider a envoyer une 
automobile a la ferraille a des fins d'assurance. 
Giesbrecht a temoigne que Cook n' avait pas cou­
tume de discuter d'affaires de ce genre avec elle. 

Au proces, la defense a tente en vain de faire 
ecarter, en tant que oui'-dire, le temoignage de 
Giesbrecht au sujet de !'intention explicite de 
Cook de participer a une fraude de I' Autopac avec 
I' appelant. 

Weselowski, Cook, et Jes Ball se sont rendus sur 
la rue Le Maire a St. Norbert, ou les Ball sont sor­
tis de !'automobile. Peu apres etre descendue de la 
familiale, Cheryl Ball s'est retoumee et a remarque 
la presence d'une petite automobile a cote de la 
familiale. Cheryl Ball s'etait aperc;ue que cette 
automobile les suivait au moment ou ils s'enga­
geaient sur la rue Le Maire. Elle ne pouvait se rap­
peler ni la couleur ni la marque de cette automo­
bile. Elle a ete incapable de voir combien de 
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the two cars. Cheryl Ball then turned away and 
continued to walk home with her husband. 

Around 3:00 a.m., Albert and Darlene Turski 
were awakened by their dog barking and by the 
sound of spinning tires outside their bedroom win­
dow. The Turskis lived on a farm bordering on 
provincial highway 247, several kilometres from 
where the Balls had been dropped off. 

Albert Turski testified that he looked out the 
window and saw on the road the lights of two cars. 
One car seemed to be larger than the other, judging 
by the sound of its engine. He could not see the 
vehicles clearly, other than their lights. The road 
was 50 to 75 yards away. The smaller car was 
driving along a ditch and its tires sounded like they 
were spinning in the grass. The larger car 
approached the smaller car but did not come right 
up to it. The smaller car got stuck but then 
emerged from the ditch. The lights on the larger 
car turned off. Albert Turski heard mumbling from 
people talking for about 10 to 15 seconds. He 
could not detennine whether it was two people 
talking, or more than two. He then heard two 
"pops", and about five seconds later the smaller 
car drove across the road into the ditch again and 
back out, weaving, while the larger car turned its 
lights on and drove off down the highway at a nor­
mal speed. Albert Turski went back to bed. 

Darlene Turski's testimony was largely similar 
to that of her husband. However, she heard the 
mumbling of people talking for what she consid­
ered to be one or two minutes, and she testified 
that the talking sounded as though it involved 
"more than two" people. Right after the conversa­
tion ended, she heard two "pops". About fifteen 
seconds later, she said, the two cars pulled away 
and she and her husband lay back down in bed. 
Albert fell asleep immediately, but Darlene Turski 
stayed awake for a period of time. She then heard 

personnes y prenaient place. Elle n'a entendu 
aucune voix provenant de l'une ou l'autre des deux 
automobiles. Cheryl Ball s'est alors retournee et a 
continue de marcher en direction de son domicile 
avec son epoux. 

Vers 3 h, Albert et Darlene Turski ont ete 
reveilles par les jappements de leur chien et par 
des crissements de pneus a l'exterieur vis-a-vis la 
fenetre de leur chambre a coucher. Les Turski 
vivaient dans une ferme longeant la route provin­
ciale 247, a plusieurs kilometres de l'endroit OU les 
Ball avaient ete deposes. 

Albert Turski a temoigne qu'il avait regarde par 
la fenetre et qu'il avait apen;u sur la route les feux 
de deux automobiles. L'une d'elles semblait plus 
grosse que l'autre, a en juger par le bruit de son 
moteur. Il n'a pas pu voir les vehicules clairement, 
a l'exception de leurs feux. La route se trouvait de 
50 a 75 verges plus loin. La petite automobile lon­
geait un fosse et semblait patiner sur l'herbe 
d'apres le bruit de ses pneus. La grosse automobile 
s'est approchee de la petite sans toutefois se rendre 
tout a fait a sa hauteur. La petite automobile s'est 
embourbee, ma is a reussi a s' extirper du fosse. Les 
feux de la grosse automobile se sont eteints. Albert 
Turski a entendu des gens marrnonner pendant 10 
a 15 secondes. Il n'a pas pu determiner s'il y avait 
seulement deux personnes qui parlaient ou si elles 
etaient plus nombreuses. 11 a alors entendu deux 
bruits secs et, environ cinq secondes plus tard, la 
petite automobile a traverse la route pour se retrou­
ver de nouveau dans le fosse et en ressortir en zig­
zaguant, tandis que la grosse voiture allumait ses 
feux et reprenait la route a une vitesse normale. 
Albert Turski est retourne au lit. 

Le temoignage de Darlene Turski correspondait 
en grande partie a celui de son epoux. Elle a toute­
fois entendu des gens marmonner pendant une a 
deux minutes selon elle, et elle a temoigne que le 
bruit de la conversation semblait indiquer qu'il y 
avait (TRADUCTION] «plus que deux» personnes. 
Des que la conversation eut pris fin, elle a entendu 
deux bruits secs. Elle a raconte qu'environ quinze 
secondes plus tard les deux automobiles avaient 
repris la route et qu'elle et son epoux etaient 
retournes au lit. Albert s'est aussit6t rendormi, 
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more "pops" in a fast series, which sounded as if 
they were further away from the house. 

At 4:26 a.m., a young couple drove by the Tur­
skis' house on provincial highway 247 and discov­
ered the body of Darlene W eselowski on the side 
of road outside the house, and the body of Bernard 
Cook lying 400 metres up the road. W eselowski 
had been shot twice in the head. Cook had been 
shot three times in the head and three times in the 
chest. Both victims had been shot with the same 
9mm Glock semi-automatic pistol. A damaged car 
was found driven into a telephone pole in the ditch 
near Cook' s body. 

Four days later, on August 25, 1994, the 
Weselowski station wagon was found parked on 
Buchanan Street, a block and a half from the home 
of the appellant's brother William on Risbey 
Street. There were blood spatters all over the front 
passenger side of the car, and several shell casings 
were found in the car. The blood was determined 
to be Cook's. Some of the appellant's scalp hairs 
were found on the floor of the driver's side of the 
vehicle. 

On August 22, 1994, the day after the murders, 
the appellant and his common Jaw wife Shelley 
Letexier checked into a room at the Downs Hotel. 
After they left the hotel at 3:28 a.m. on August 25, 
1994, they drove to the home of the appellant's 
brother, William, on Risbey Street. After their 
departure, a leather jacket in good condition was 
found in a dumpster at the back of the hotel. A 
search of the appellant's home resulted in the 
seizure of a purchase receipt from the Sidney I. 
Robinson store for 9mm ammunition capable of 
being loaded into a 9mm Glock semi-automatic 
pistol such as that which killed Weselowski and 
Cook. Store records from the purchase bore the 
appellant's name. 

RCMP Constables Patrick Madden and Harvey 
MacLeod paid three visits to the home of Cheryl 

mais Darlene Turski est restee eveillee pendant un 
certain temps. Elle a ensuite entendu d'autres 
bruits secs qui se sont succede rapidement et qui 
semblaient provenir d'un endroit plus eloigne de la 
maison. 

A 4 h 26, un jeune couple, qui circulait sur la 
route provinciale 247 pres de la maison des Turski, 
a decouvert le corps de Darlene Weselowski sur 
l'accotement de la route a l'exterieur de la maison, 
ainsi que le corps de Bernard Cook qui gisait 400 
metres plus loin le long de la route. Weselowski 
avait rec;:u deux coups de feu a la tete. Cook avait 
rec;:u trois coups de feu a la tete et trois a la poi­
trine. Les deux victimes avaient ete abattues au 
moyen du meme pistolet semi-automatique 9mm 
Glock. Une automobile endommagee, qui avait 
embouti un poteau telephonique, a ete retrouvee 
dans le fosse pres du corps de Cook. 

Quatre jours plus tard, soit le 25 aout 1994, la 
familiale de W eselowski a ete retrouvee stationnee 
sur la rue Buchanan, a un coin de rue et demi de la 
rue Risbey ou demeure William, le frere de l'appe­
lant. 11 y avait du sang partout du cote du passager 
a !'avant de !'automobile, et plusieurs douilles ont 
ete trouvees dans celle-ci. II a ete etabli que le sang 
etait celui de Cook. Des cheveux de l'appelant ont 
ete trouves sur le plancher du cote du conducteur 
du vehicule. 

Le lendemain des meurtres, soit le 22 aout 1994, 
l'appelant et sa conjointe de fait, Shelley Letexier, 
ont loue une chambre a l'hotel Downs. Apres avoir 
quitte l'hotel a 3 h 28, le 25 aout 1994, ils se sont 
rendus en voiture au domicile de William, le frere 
de l'appelant, sur la rue Risbey. Apres leur depart, 
un blouson de cuir en bon etat a ete trouve dans 
une benne a l'arriere de !'hotel. Une perquisition 
au domicile de l'appelant a permis de saisir un 
rec;:u d'achat du magasin Sidney I. Robinson pour 
des munitions de calibre 9mm pouvant convenir a 
un pistolet semi-automatique 9mm Glock com.me 
celui qui a ete utilise pour tu er W eselowski et 
Cook. L'achat avait ete fait au nom de l'appelant, 
selon Les registres du magasin. 

Les agents Patrick Madden et Harvey MacLeod 
de la GRC se sont rendus trois fois au domicile de 
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and Daniel Ball after the murders. Cheryl Ball tes­
tified that on the second visit, on August 23, 1994, 
the police showed her some photographs. At trial, 
she had a hazy memory of seeing the photos, and 
testified that she did not think she had recognized 
anyone in the photos. The police left, but then 
Daniel Ball called the police back into the house, 
and Cheryl Ball met with the police again. She tes­
tified at trial that she thought she pointed to one of 
the three photographs shown to her and said that 
the person in the photo "looks kind of familiar" . 
She met with the police again on August 30, 1994, 
but did not recall at trial having said anything to 
police about any of the photos at that time. Cheryl 
Ball did not testify at trial as to why the person in 
the photo shown to her on August 23, 1994 looked 
familiar, or where she had seen the person. She 
was not asked whether she had seen the appellant 
on the night of the murders, and she did not testify 
that she had done so. She did not mention the 
appellant in her testimony, or identify the appellant 
in court. She did testify, however, that nothing she 
said in her conversations with police was untrue. 

Daniel Ball had less recollection of his meetings 
with police in August 1994. He could not remem­
ber at trial whether he was shown any of the 
photos that police later testified he was shown 
when they met with him. He did not recall having 
identified anyone in the pictures as being familiar. 

Constable Madden testified that on August 23 , 
1994, Cheryl Ball told him and Constable 
MacLeod that she had seen a man talking to Cook 
at the Mohawk gas station. The man she had seen 
was white, had short hair in a ponytail, and wore 
glasses. She did not mention him having a goatee. 
Madden testified that, at the time of the murders, 
the appellant had long hair that was not in a 
ponytail, was not wearing glasses, and wore a 
goatee. To Madden's knowledge, the appellant had 
never worn glasses. Madden testified that after 
Daniel Ball beckoned him and MacLeod back into 

Cheryl et Daniel Ball apres !es meurtres. Cheryl 
Ball a temoigne que, lors de la deuxieme visite, le 
23 aout 1994, les policiers lui avaient montre cer­
taines photographies. Au proces, elle se souvenait 
vaguement avoir vu les photos et elle a temoigne 
qu ' elle ne croyait pas avoir reconnu qui que ce so it 
sur celles-ci . Les policiers sont partis, mais Daniel 
Ball les a alors fait revenir a la maison et Cheryl 
Ball les a rencontres de nouveau. Elle a temoigne 
au proces qu'elle croyait avoir indique une des 
trois photographies qui lui avaient ete montrees et 
avoir affinne que la personne figurant sur cette 
photo [TRADUCTION] «[lui disait] quelque chose». 
Elle a rencontre une fois de plus les policiers le 30 
aout 1994, mais au proces, elle ne se souvenait pas 
leur avoir dit quoi que ce soit au sujet des photos a 
ce moment-la. Cheryl Ball n'a pas explique, au 
proces, pourquoi la personne figurant sur la photo 
qui lui avait ete montree le 23 aout 1994 lui disait 
quelque chose, ni ou elle avait vu cette personne. 
On ne lui a pas demande si elle avait vu l'appelant 
la nuit des meurtres et elle n'a pas temoigne 
qu'elle l'avait vu. Elle n'a pas mentionne l'appe­
lant dans son temoignage et ne l' a pas identifie en 
cour. Elle a toutefois temoigne que rien de ce 
qu'elle avait <lit aux policiers n'etait faux. 

Daniel Ball se souvenait moins des rencontres 
qu'il avait eues avec les policiers en aout 1994. Ila 
ete incapable de se rappeler au proces si on lui 
avait montre Jes photos qui, d'apres le temoignage 
ulterieur des policiers, lui auraient ete montrees 
lorsqu'ils l'ont rencontre. Il ne se souvenait pas 
avoir affirme qu'une personne figurant sur Jes pho­
tos lui disait quelque chose. 

L'agent Madden a temoigne que, le 23 aout 
1994, Cheryl Ball lui avait declare, en presence de 
!' agent MacLeod, avoir vu un hoilllne parler a 
Cook a la station-service Mohawk. L'homme 
qu'elle avait aper9u etait blanc, avait les cheveux 
courts attaches en queue de cheval, et portait des 
lunettes. Elle n'a pas mentionne qu ' il avait une 
barbiche. Madden a temoigne qu'a l'epoque des 
meurtres l'appelant avait les cheveux longs, sans 
queue de cheval, et une barbiche et ne portait pas 
de lunettes. A sa connaissance, l'appelant n'avait 
jamais porte de lunettes. Madden a affirme 

121 

122 

0 
"tj"' 

u 
u 
(j) 

0 
0 
0 
N 



123 

124 

125 

212 R. v. STARR Iacobucci J. (2000] 2 S.C.R. 

the house to speak to Cheryl Ball on August 23, 
Cheryl Ball indicated that the man in Photo No. 3 
looked like the man whom she had seen at the 
Mohawk gas station talking to Cook and who was 
also "probably driving the other car". Photo No. 3 
was a photo of the appellant, in which he wore a 
moustache, no goatee, long hair, and no glasses. 
The photograph was a black and white photocopy. 

Madden testified that he and MacLeod returned 
to the Ball residence on August 30, 1994 and, in 
separate interviews, showed Cheryl and Daniel 
Ball a set of eight photographs. Photo No. 5 was 
the same photo of the appellant that had been 
included in photocopied form as Photo No. 3 on 
August 23, 1994. None of the other photos had 
been included among the three photos shown to the 
Balls on August 23rd. According to Madden, 
Cheryl and Daniel Ball separately picked Photo 
No. 5 as being the person from the gas station, 
although Daniel Ball told them that he may have 
picked that photo because he had seen the same 
photo on August 23. Cheryl Ball was not asked 
whether her previous selection of the same photo 
on August 23 had influenced her selection on 
August 30. 

Madden's testimony to the effect that Cheryl 
Ball identified the appellant as having spoken to 
Cook at the Mohawk gas station, as well as 
MacLeod's testimony to the same effect, constitute 
a second group of statements that the defence 
unsuccessfully sought to have excluded as hearsay 
at trial. 

Police intercepted private communications 
involving the appellant and his common law wife, 
Shelley Letexier, who were recorded making sev­
eral statements that were relied upon to some 
degree at trial by both the Crown and the defence. 
On the tapes, the appellant is heard making state­
ments to Letexier which the Crown argued were 
consistent with his having been in a stolen car that 
followed Cook, Weselowski and the Balls up to 

qu'apres que Daniel Ball leur eut fait signe, a Jui et 
a MacLeod, de revenir a la maison pour parler a 
Cheryl Ball, le 23 aout, cette demiere avait indique 
que l'homme figurant sur la troisieme photo res­
semblait a l'homme qu'elle avait vu parler a Cook 
a la station-service Mohawk et qui, de plus, [TRA­
DUCTION] «conduisait probablement l'autre auto­
mobile». La troisieme photo etait une photo de 
l'appelant qui avait Jes cheveux longs et une mous­
tache mais pas de barbiche, et ne portait pas de 
lunettes. Cette photographie etait une photocopie 
en noir et blanc. 

Madden a temoigne que lui et MacLeod etaient 
retoumes a la residence des Ball le 30 aout 1994 et 
qu'en les interrogeant separement ils avaient mon­
tre a Cheryl et a Daniel Ball une serie de huit pho­
tographies. La cinquieme photo etait la meme 
photo de l'appelant qui avait ete incluse sous 
forme de photocopie comme etant la troisieme 
photo le 23 aout 1994. Aucune des autres photos 
ne figurait parmi les trois qui avaient ete montrees 
aux Ball le 23 aout. Selon Madden, Cheryl et 
Daniel Ball ant chacun de leur cote choisi la cin­
quieme photo comme representant la personne 
aperc;:ue a la station-service, quoique Daniel Ball 
leur ait dit qu'il pouvait avoir choisi cette photo 
parce c'etait celle qu'il avait vue le 23 aout. On n'a 
pas demande a Cheryl Ball si le choix de photo 
qu'elle avait deja fait le 23 aout avait influence son 
choix le 30 aout. 

Le temoignage de Madden, selon lequel Cheryl 
Ball avait identifie l'appelant comme etant la per­
sonne qui avait parle a Cook a la station-service 
Mohawk, et le temoignage de MacLeod dans le 
meme sens constituent un deuxieme groupe de 
declarations que la defense a vainement tente de 
faire ecarter en tant que ou"i-dire au proces. 

Les policiers ont intercepte des communications 
privees au cours desquelles l'appelant et sa con­
jointe de fait, Shelley Letexier, ant fait plusieurs 
declarations que le ministere public et la defense 
ont invoquees dans une certaine mesure au proces. 
Dans Jes enregistrements, on entend l'appelant 
faire a Letexier des declarations qui, selon le 
ministere public, pouvaient laisser croire qu'il 
s'etait trouve dans une automobile volee qui avait 
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the point that the Balls were dropped off in St. 
Norbert, and with his having thrown a leather 
jacket into the dumpster at the Downs Hotel. How­
ever, the appellant was also recorded stating to 
Letexier that he "never killed anyone", and Letex­
ier was recorded stating that the appellant and 
unspecified others were stupid to have followed a 
car: "Oh well you guys are so fuckin' stupid. You 
got fuckin' witnesses seen you guys, seen you 
behind that car. It should ah, been called off right 
away when there were four people." 

Several other witnesses testified at trial, includ­
ing Cecil Starr, a cousin of the appellant and a 
friend of Cook's, who testified that, about ten days 
after the murders, the appellant confessed to hav­
ing killed Cook and Weselowski . Cecil Starr said 
that the confession occurred at the apartment of 
Dwight Bamlett, and that Cecil Starr had subse­
quently attended a party on a reserve where several 
people, including Cecil's brother, Mervin Starr, as 
well as Dwight Bamlett, were discussing the con­
fession. 

Several defence witnesses, including Cecil 
Starr's sister Audrey Malcolm, testified that Cecil 
Starr was a habitual liar, and that his story of the 
appellant's alleged confession was false. Malcolm 
stated that Cecil Starr had since told her that he 
had not seen the appellant for over two years, and 
that the appellant had never confessed. Mervin 
Starr testified that he had never been at a party of 
the type described by Cecil. Dwight Bamlett testi­
fied that Cecil Starr and the appellant had never 
been present together in his apartment, and that he 
had never been at a party on a reserve of the type 
described by Cecil. Former Staff Sergeant Savage 
of the RCMP testified that he had interviewed 
Cecil Starr shortly before trial, and that Cecil had 
denied ever having said that the appellant con­
fessed to him, and had said he could not remember 
any party on the reserve. 

suivi Cook, Weselowski et les Ball jusqu'a ce que 
les Ball aient ete deposes a St. Norbert, et qu' il 
avait jete un blouson de cuir dans la benne de l 'h6-
tel Downs. Toutefois, on pouvait egalement y 
entendre l' appelant dire a Letexier qu'il n'avait 
[TRADUCTION] <~amais tue qui que ce soit», et 
Letexier declarer que l'appelant et d' autres per­
sonnes dont l'identite n'etait pas precisee avaient 
ete stupides de suivre une voiture: [TRADUCTION] 
«Et bien, vous les gars, vous etes si stupides. 11 y a 
des foutus temoins qui vous ont vus, les gars, qui 
vous ont vus derriere cette automobile. Cela, euh, 
aurait du etre annule a partir du moment OU il y 
avait quatre personnes.» 

Plusieurs autres temoins ont depose au proces, 
dont Cecil Starr, un cousin de l'appelant et un ami 
de Cook, qui a affinne qu'une dizaine de jours 
apres les meurtres l'appelant avait avoue avoir tue 
Cook et Weselowski. Cecil Starr a dit que l'aveu 
avait ete fait a l'appartement de Dwight Bamlett et 
qu'il avait par la suite participe a une rete dans une 
reserve ou plusieurs personnes, y compris le frere 
de Cecil, Mervin Starr, de meme que Dwight 
Bamlett, avaient discute de cet aveu. 

Plusieurs temoins de la defense, dont la sreur de 
Cecil Starr, Audrey Malcolm, ont temoigne que 
Cecil Starr etait un menteur invetere et que son 
recit concemant le pretendu aveu de l'appelant 
etait faux. Malcolm a affirme que Cecil Starr lui 
avait dit, depuis lors, qu'il n ' avait pas vu l'appe­
lant depuis plus de deux ans et que l'appelant 
n'avaitjamais rien avoue. Mervin Starr a temoigne 
qu' il ne s'etait jamais rendu a une rete du genre 
decrit par Cecil. Dwight Bamlett a temoigne que 
Cecil Starr et l'appelant ne s'etaientjamais trouves 
ensemble dans son appartement et qu'il ne s' etait 
j amais rendu dans une reserve pour y participer a 
une rete du genre decrit par Cecil. L'ex-sergent 
d'etat-major Savage de la GRC a temoigne qu'il 
avait interroge Cecil Starr peu de temps avant le 
proces, et que Cecil avait nie avoir deja declare 
que l'appelant lui avait fait un aveu, tout en se 
disant incapable de se souvenir d 'une rete dans la 
reserve. 
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Finally, the trial judge called Constable Robert 
Young of the Winnipeg police to testify regarding 
his interactions with Cook on August 20, 1994, 
several hours before the murders. Young testified 
that Cook was the "sergeant at arms" of the Mani­
toba Warriors gang, meaning he was the person 
responsible for all of the gang's criminal matters . 
Young stated that he and Cook had had meetings 
previous to August 20, 1994, at which Cook had 
expressed his desire to dissociate himself from the 
Manitoba Warriors. Young stated that he met with 
Cook on August 20, 1994 at about 6:00 p.m. Cook 
told Young about a break-in that had occurred ear­
lier that day at the Sidney I. Robinson store, in 
which guns had been stolen. Cook said that he was 
to meet with members of the Los Bravos gang later 
that night at the Westbrook Hotel to purchase some 
of these guns, and that he had been told by Joseph 
Flett, the President of the Manitoba Warriors, to 
wear his gang colours. Cook expressed a concern 
as to why he was being asked to wear gang 
colours. Cook told Young that ifhe purchased guns 
he would tum one over to Young, and that he 
would alert Young of success in the purchase by 
calling Young at around 1 :00 a.m. Young never 
received the anticipated telephone call from Cook. 
When Cook's body was found, he was wearing the 
gang colours of the Manitoba Warriors. 

The theory of the Crown at trial was that the 
killing of Cook was a gang-related execution per­
petrated by the appellant. Weselowski was an 
unfortunate witness who was killed simply because 
she was in the wrong place at the wrong time. The 
theory was that the appellant had used an Autopac 
scam as a pretext to get Cook out into the country­
side. Outside the Turskis' home, Cook got into the 
smaller car and drove it into the ditch, hitting tele­
phone poles in an effort to damage the car. The 
appellant shot Weselowski twice in the head, then 
drove Weselowski's station wagon up the road to 
where Cook had stopped the smaller car in the 
ditch. When Cook entered the station wagon on the 
passenger side, the appellant shot him from the 
driver's seat three times in the head and three 
times in the chest. He then pushed Cook's body 

Enfin, le juge du proces a demande a !'agent 
Robert Young de la police de Winnipeg de temoi­
gner au sujet des rapports qu'il avait eus avec 
Cook le 20 aofit 1994, plusieurs heures avant les 
meurtres. Young a temoigne que Cook etait le 
«Sergent d'annes» de la bande des Warriors du 
Manitoba, en ce sens qu'il etait la personne char­
gee de toutes Jes affaires criminelles de la bande. 
Young a declare que Jui et Cook avaient eu des 
rencontres avant le 20 aofit 1994, et que Cook avait 
alors exprime la volonte de se dissocier des 
Warriors du Manitoba. Young a dit qu'il avait ren­
contre Cook le 20 aofit 1994, vers 18 h. Cook a 
infonne Young qu 'une introduction par effraction 
avait eu lieu plus tot dans la joumee au magasin 
Sidney I. Robinson et que des armes a feu y 
avaient ete derobees. Cook a dit qu'il devait ren­
contrer des membres de la bande Los Bravos a 
l'h6tel Westbrook, plus tard dans la soiree, pour 
acheter certaines de ces armes a feu et que Joseph 
Flett, le president des Warriors du Manitoba, Jui 
avait demande de porter Jes couleurs de sa bande. 
Cook s'est dit tracasse par la raison pour laquelle 
on Jui demandait de porter Jes couleurs de sa 
bande. Cook a declare a Young que, s'il achetait 
des armes a feu, ii lui en remettrait une et Jui con­
firmerait l'achat en l'appelant vers 1 h. Young n'a 
jamais rec;:u l'appel qu'il attendait de Cook. Lors­
que le corps de Cook a ete trouve, il portait !es 
couleurs des Warriors du Manitoba. 

La these du ministere public au proces etait que 
Cook avait ete execute par l'appelant en raison de 
son appartenance a une bande. Weselowski etait un 
temoin malchanceux qui a ete tue simplement 
parce qu' il se trouvait a la mauvaise place au mau­
vais moment. Seton cette these, l'appelant s'etait 
servi de la fraude de l 'Autopac comme pretexte 
pour entrainer Cook a la campagne. A l'exterieur 
du domicile des Turski, Cook est monte dans la 
petite automobile et !'a conduite dans le fosse, 
heurtant des poteaux telephoniques en vue de l'en­
dommager. L'appelant a tire Weselowski a la tete a 
deux reprises, et a ensuite conduit la familiale de 
cette demiere jusqu'a l'endroit ou Cook avait 
arrete la petite automobile dans le fosse. Lorsque 
Cook a pris place dans la familiale du cote du pas­
sager, l'appelant a fait feu sur Jui a partir du siege 
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out of the vehicle and drove away, parking near his 
brother's house, where the appellant abandoned 
the station wagon. 

The defence theory focussed on the issue of 
identity. The defence argued that the circumstan­
tial evidence adduced by the Crown had failed to 
prove that the appellant actually shot the victims, 
and had failed to dispel the real possibility that 
other gang-related individuals were the killers. 

III. Judicial History 

A. Manitoba Court of Queen's Bench 

(1) Ruling and jury instructions on Cook's 
statement of intention 

The Crown brought an application at trial to per­
mit Jodie Giesbrecht to testify that Cook had told 
her, inter alia, that he had to "go and do an 
Autopac scam with Robert". The Crown sought to 
have this testimony admitted as evidence of 
Cook's state of mind on the evening of the murder 
and of his intention to go with the appellant to per­
petrate a car insurance scam. The defence objected 
on the basis that the evidence was hearsay if used 
to prove that the appellant acted in accordance 
with Cook's stated intention, and that its admission 
would be more prejudicial than probative because 
the jury would likely draw such an impermissible 
inference. 

The trial judge did not hold a voir dire as part of 
the Crown motion. Hirschfield J. found that Gies­
brecht' s anticipated testimony regarding the 
Autopac scam was admissible under the "present 
intentions" or "state of mind" exception to the 
hearsay rule. Hirschfield J. found that the prejudi­
cial effect of the admission of the evidence was 
that Cook's alleged statement implicated the appel­
lant in the commission of insurance fraud. The trial 

du conducteur, l'atteignant a la tete a trois reprises 
et la poitrine a trois reprises egalement. II a ensuite 
pousse le corps de Cook hors du vehicule et a 
quitte Jes lieux pour ensuite aller stationner la 
familiale pres de la maison de son frere, ou il l'a 
abandonnee. 

La these de la defense etait axee sur la question 
de l'identite. La defense a pretendu que Jes ele­
ments de preuve circonstancielle presentes par le 
ministere public n'etablissaient pas que l'appelant 
avait effectivement fait feu sur les victimes et 
n'ecartaient pas la possibilite reelle que les meur­
triers aient ete d'autres personnes liees a une 
bande. 

III. Historigue des procedures judiciaires 

A. Cour du Banc de la Reine du Manitoba 

(1) La decision et les directives au jury relative­
ment a la declaration d'intention de Cook 

Au proces, le ministere public a demande que 
Jodie Giesbrecht soit autorisee a temoigner que 
Cook Jui avait dit, notamment, qu'il devait [TRA­
DUCTION] <<aller frauder I' Autopac avec Robert». 
Le ministere public a cherche a faire admettre ce 
temoignage en tant que preuve de l'etat d'esprit de 
Cook le soir du meurtre et de son intention d'aller 
commettre une fraude d'assurance-automobile 
avec l'appelant. La defense s'y est opposee pour le 
motif que cette preuve serait du oui:-dire si elle 
etait utilisee pour etablir que l'appelant a agi con­
fonnement a !'intention explicite de Cook, et que 
son admission serait plus prejudiciable que pro­
bante parce que le jury ferait probablement une 
telle deduction inacceptable. 

Le juge du proces n'a pas tenu de voir-dire dans 
le cadre de la requete du ministere public. Le juge 
Hirschfield a conclu que le temoignage prevu de 
Giesbrecht au sujet de la fraude de I' Autopac etait 
admissible en vertu de !'exception des «intentions 
existantes» OU de l'«etat d'esprit» a la regle du OUl­

dire. Le juge Hirschfield a decide que l'effet preju­
diciable de !'admission de ce temoignage etait que 
la declaration presumee de Cook impliquait l'appe-
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judge noted that, in this regard, the words said to 
have been spoken by Cook "would be as prejudi­
cial as against the deceased as they are against the 
[appellant]". Hirschfield J. concluded that, in light 
of the other evidence that the Crown anticipated 
calling in order to link the appellant to the 
murders, the probative value of Giesbrecht's testi­
mony outweighed any prejudicial effect. 

In his subsequent instructions to the jury regard­
ing the use to be made of Giesbrecht's testimony 
regarding Cook's statements to her on the night of 
the murders, Hirschfield J. told the jury that it was 
for them to decide whether Cook's statement about 
the scam linked the appellant with the deaths of 
Cook and Weselowski . 

(2) Ruling and jury instructions on Cheryl 
Ball's out-of-court identification 

A voir dire was held to detennine the admissi­
bility of the testimony of Constables Madden and 
Macleod regarding Cheryl Ball ' s alleged identifi­
cation of the appellant as being a person she had 
seen talking to Cook at the Mohawk gas station. 
Madden and Macleod both testified. The Crown 
argued it was entitled to adduce the statements of 
the two officers, notwithstanding the fact that 
Cheryl Ball had not testified at trial as to having 
seen a man talking to Cook at the gas station, or to 
having identified that man in one of the photo­
graphs presented to her by police. The Crown 
relied upon the prior identification exception to the 
hearsay rule. The defence argued that the use of 
hearsay evidence to establish a prior out-of-court 
identification of the accused by a witness is per­
missible only where the witness acknowledges in 
court having made the prior identification. 
Although the record is not entirely clear on this 
point, Hirschfield J. appears to have accepted the 
Crown' s submissions. He ruled Madden and 
MacLeod's anticipated evidence admissible. 

lant dans la perpetration d 'une fraude en matiere 
d' assurance. Le juge du proces a fait remarquer a 
cet egard que les paroles qu'aurait prononcees 
Cook [TRADUCTION] «Seraient aussi prejudiciables 
a la personne decedee qu'elles le sont pour [l'appe­
lant]». Le juge Hirschfield a conclu que, a la 
lumiere des autres temoignages que le ministere 
public prevoyait presenter afin de relier l ' appelant 
aux meurtres, la valeur probante du temoignage de 
Giesbrecht l'emportait sur tout effet prejudiciable. 

Dans les directives qu'il a par la suite donnees 
au jury au sujet de l'utilisation qui devrait etre faite 
du temoignage de Giesbrecht concemant les decla­
rations que Cook lui avait faites la nuit des 
meurtres, le juge Hirschfield a dit aux jures qu'il 
leur appartenait de decider si la declaration de 
Cook au sujet de la fraude reliait l ' appelant au 
deces de Cook et a celui de W eselowski. 

(2) La decision et les directives au jury relative­
ment a l'identification extrajudiciaire par 
Cheryl Ball 

Un voir-dire a ete tenu pour detenniner l ' admis­
sibilite du temoignage des agents Madden et 
Macleod au sujet de la presumee identification par 
Cheryl Ball de l'appelant corrune etant la personne 
qu'elle avait vu parler a Cook a la station-service 
Mohawk. Madden et Macleod ont temoigne tous 
les deux. Le ministere public a pretendu qu'il avait 
le droit de presenter les declarations des deux 
agents malgre le fait que Cheryl Ball n'avait pas 
temoigne au proces qu'elle avait vu un homme 
s' entretenir avec Cook a la station-service OU 

qu'elle avait identifie cet homme sur l'une des 
photographies que lui avaient montrees les poli­
ciers. Le ministere public a invoque l' exception de 
l'identification anterieure a la regle du ou·i-dire. La 
defense a fait valoir que !'utilisation de la preuve 
par ou"i-dire pour etablir !'identification anterieure 
extrajudiciaire de l'accuse par un temoin n'est 
acceptable que si le temoin reconnait en cour avoir 
effectue cette identification anterieure. Bien que le 
dossier ne soit pas tout a fait clair sur ce point, le 
juge Hirschfield parait avoir retenu les arguments 
du ministere public. 11 a decide que le temoignage 
prevu de Madden et Macleod etait admissible. 
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In his instructions to the jury, Hirschfield J. 
reviewed the out-of-court identification evidence 
said to have been provided by Cheryl Ball to Con­
stables Madden and MacLeod. The trial judge con­
cluded his instructions with a caution that Cheryl 
Ball's identification evidence was "extremely 
frail" and, in his view, did not link the appellant to 
the deaths of Cook and Weselowski. However, 
Hirschfield J. left it to the jury to decide the value 
of Ball's evidence on this point. 

(3) Charge to the jury on reasonable doubt 

In his instructions to the jury, Hirschfield J. 
explained that the appellant was presumed to be 
innocent and that the onus was on the Crown to 
prove the appellant's guilt beyond a reasonable 
doubt. He then defined the reasonable doubt stan­
dard in the following terms: 

It is rarely possible to prove anything with absolute cer­
tainty and so the burden of proof on the Crown is only 
to prove the guilt of the accused beyond reasonable 
doubt. What, then, is proof beyond a reasonable doubt? 

The words "reasonable doubt" are used in their every­
day, ordinary sense and not as a legal term having some 
special connotation. The words have no magic meaning 
that is peculiar to the law. A reasonable doubt is an hon­
est, fair doubt, based upon reason and common sense. It 
is a real doubt, not an imaginary or frivolous one resting 
on speculation or guess rather than upon the evidence 
you heard in this courtroom. 

So you can see, the words "reasonable doubt" are 
ordinary words we use in our everyday language. So if 
you can say, I am satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt, 
the Crown has met the onus upon it. If you cannot say 
those words - if you cannot say, I am satisfied beyond 
a reasonable doubt, the Crown has not met the onus on 
it, and the accused is entitled to have your doubt 
resolved in his favour. 

No further definition of the reasonable doubt stan­
dard was provided. The trial judge went on to 
explain that the jury might be left with a reasona-

Dans ses directives au jury, le juge Hirschfield a 
examine la preuve d'identification extrajudiciaire 
qui, disait-on, avait ete fournie par Cheryl Ball aux 
agents Madden et MacLeod. Le juge du proces a 
termine ses directives par une mise en garde selon 
laquelle la preuve d'identification de Cheryl Ball 
etait [TRADUCTION) «extremement fragile» et, a son 
avis, ne reliait l'appelant ni au deces de Cook ni a 
celui de Weselowski. Cependant, le juge 
Hirschfield a laisse au jury le soin de detenniner la 
valeur de la preuve de Ball a ce sujet. 

(3) L'expose au jury sur le doute raisonnable 

Dans ses directives au jury, le juge Hirschfield a 
explique que l' appelant etait presume innocent et 
qu'il incombait au ministere public d'en etablir la 
culpabilite hors de tout doute raisonnable. II a 
ensuite defini la norme du doute raisonnable de la 
fat;on suivante: 

[TRADUCTION] II est rarement possible d'etablir quelque 
chose avec une certitude absolue, de sorte que le minis­
tere public n'a qu'a etablir la culpabilite de !'accuse 
hors de tout doute raisonnable. En quoi consiste done la 
preuve hors de tout doute raisonnable? 

L'expression «doute raisonnable» est utilisee dans 
son sens ordinaire de tous Jes jours et non pas en tant 
qu'expression juridique ayant une c01motation particu­
liere. Cette expression n'a aucun sens magique propre 
au droit. Un doute raiso1mable est un doute sincere et 
legitime qui est fonde sur la raison et le bon sens. C'est 
un doute reel et non pas un doute imaginaire ou frivole 
qui repose sur des conjectures ou des suppositions plut6t 
que sur Jes temoignages que vous avez entendus dans 
cette salle d' audience. 

Yous pouvez ainsi constater que Jes mots «doute rai­
sonnable» sont des mots ordinaires que nous utilisons 
dans la vie de tous Jes jours. Done, si vous pouvez dire 
<rje suis convaincu hors de tout doute raisonnable», le 
ministere public s'est acquitte de !'obligation qui Jui 
incombait. Si vous ne pouvez pas prononcer ces mots -
si vous ne pouvez pas dire <rje suis convaincu hors de 
tout doute raisonnable», le ministere public ne s'est pas 
acquitte de !'obligation qui Jui incombait et tout doute 
doit etre tranche en faveur de !'accuse. 

Aucune autre definition de la norme du doute rai­
sonnable n'a ete donnee. Le juge du proces a 
ensuite explique que le jury pourrait avoir un doute 
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ble doubt unless it rejected as untrue some or all of 
the evidence, if any, that favoured the appellant. 

B. Manitoba Court of Appeal (1998), 123 C.C.C. 
(3d) 145 

(1) Monnin J.A., Kroft J.A. concurring 

(a) Admissibility of Cook 's Statement of 
Intention 

Monnin J.A. found that Giesbrecht's testimony 
that Cook told her he was going to do an Autopac 
scam with the appellant was hearsay, but was 
nonetheless admissible. While he did cite the deci­
sion of this Court in R. v. Smith, [1992] 2 S.C.R. 
915, Monnin J.A. primarily relied upon the "pre­
sent intentions" or "state of mind" exception to the 
hearsay rule, to the effect that, where the intention 
or state of mind of an out-of-court declarant is rel­
evant to a fact in issue, evidence that would other­
wise be hearsay is admissible to prove the declar­
ant's intention or state of mind. Monnin J.A. 
endorsed the trial judge's ruling, stating that 
Cook's alleged statement to Giesbrecht was admis­
sible to demonstrate Cook's state of mind at the 
time, and to demonstrate that Cook acted in accor­
dance with his "stated intention or plan" (p. 158). 
Monnin J.A. also found that the probative value of 
Cook's statement outweighed any prejudicial 
effect. 

(b) Admissibility of Che1yl Ball's Out-of Court 
Identification 

Monnin J.A. found that the trial judge may have 
committed an error in pennitting the Crown to 
adduce evidence through Constables Madden and 
Macleod that Cheryl Ball had identified the appel­
lant as a person she had seen talking to Cook at the 
Mohawk gas station. However, Monnin J.A. held 

raisonnable a moins qu'il ne conclue a la faussete 
d'une partie ou de la totalite des temoignages qui 
pourraient etre favorables a l'appelant. 

B. Cour d'appel du Manitoba (1998), 123 C.C.C. 
(3d) 145 

(1) Le juge Monnin (avec l'appui du juge 
Kroft) 

a) Admissibilite de la declaration d'intention de 
Cook 

Le juge Monnin a conclu que le temoignage de 
Giesbrecht, selon lequel Cook Jui avait dit qu'il 
allait frauder I' Autopac avec l'appelant, etait du 
ou"i-dire, mais qu'il etait neanmoins admissible. 
Bien qu'il ait cite l'arret de notre Cour R. c. Smith, 
[1992] 2 R.C.S. 915, le juge Monnin s'est fonde 
avant tout sur l' exception des «intentions exis­
tantes» OU de i'«etat d'esprit» a la regle du 
ou1-dire, qui prevoit que, lorsque la question de 
!'intention ou de l'etat d'esprit de !'auteur d'une 
declaration extrajudiciaire est pertinente relative­
ment au fait en cause, la preuve qui constituerait 
par ailleurs du ou·i-dire est admissible pour etablir 
!'intention ou l'etat d'esprit de l'auteur de cette 
declaration. Le juge Monnin a souscrit a la deci­
sion du juge du proces en disant que la declaration 
que Cook aurait faite a Giesbrecht etait admissible 
pour etablir l'etat d'esprit de Cook ace moment-la 
et pour demontrer que Cook avait agi conforme­
ment a son [TRADUCTION] «intention OU projet 
explicite» (p. 158). Le juge Monnin a egalement 
conclu que la valeur probante de la declaration de 
Cook l'emportait sur tout effet prejudiciable. 

b) Admissibilite de !'identification extrajudi­
ciaire par Cheryl Ball 

Le juge Monnin a decide qu'il se pouvait que le 
juge du proces ait commis une erreur en pennettant 
au ministere public de presenter, par l'entremise 
des agents Madden et Macleod, la preuve que 
Cheryl Ball avait identifie l'appelant comme etant 
une personne qu'elle avait vu parler a Cook a la 
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that the trial judge' s cautionary instruction regard­
ing the frailty of the identification evidence "effec­
tively negated any hann that such evidence might 
have caused" (p. 159). He stated that the appel­
lant's case was not one that "turned on the issue of 
identification" (p . 159), and that there was ample · 
other evidence that the jury could have relied upon 
to arrive at a guilty verdict. Citing R. v. Bevan, 
[1993] 2 S.C.R. 599, as establishing the applicable 
test for confirming a guilty verdict in the face of 
an error in law, Monnin J.A. stated that he was sat­
isfied that, even if the evidence of Madden and 
MacLeod had been excluded, a properly instructed 
jury would have reached the same verdict. 

(c) The Instruction on Reasonable Doubt 

Monnin J.A. stated that the trial judge's charge 
to the jury, considered as a whole, was more than 
fair and balanced, and if anything favoured the 
appellant. On the issue of reasonable doubt, 
Monnin J.A. held that the trial judge's charge to 
the jury met the requirements set out by this Court 
in Lifchus, supra, both in its actual language and in 
overall tone. In particular, Monnin J.A. found that 
the trial judge had explained the link between the 
reasonable doubt standard and the preswnption of 
innocence, the requirement that the Crown must 
prove more than mere probability of guilt, and the 
principle that a reasonable doubt is based on rea­
son and common sense, logically founded upon the 
evidence or lack of evidence. Monnin J.A. noted 
that, while the trial judge might have erred in stat­
ing that the words "reasonable doubt" should be 
understood in their everyday ordinary sense, any 
such error was remedied by the fact that the trial 
judge went significantly further than had the trial 
judge in Lifchus, offering "interpretive assistance" 
and linking the concept of reasonable doubt to the 
evidence. 

station-service Mohawk. Le juge Monnin a cepen­
dant conclu que la mise en garde du juge du proces 
relativement a la fragilite de la preuve d' identifica­
tion [TRADUCTION] «a effectivement elimine tout 
prejudice que cette preuve pouvait avoir cause» 
(p. 159). II a declare que la preuve de l'appelant ne 
[TRADUCTION] «reposait [pas] sur la question de 
!'identification» (p . 159) et qu ' il y avait beaucoup 
d 'autres elements de preuve Sur Jesquels le jury 
aurait pu s'appuyer pour prononcer un verdict de 
culpabilite. Indiquant que l ' arret R. c. Bevan, 
[1993] 2 R.C.S. 599, avait etabli le critere applica­
ble pour confirmer un verdict de culpabilite en pre­
sence d 'une erreur de droit, le juge Monnin a 
affirme qu'il etait convaincu que, meme si le 
temoignage de Madden et de MacLeod avait ete 
ecarte, un jury ayant rei;:u des directives appro­
priees aurait rendu le meme verdict. 

c) La directive sur le doute raisonnable 

Le juge Monnin a dit que, dans !'ensemble, l'ex­
pose dujuge au jury etait plus qu'equitable et equi­
libre, et qu'il etait plutot favorable a l'appelant. En 
ce qui concerne la question du doute raisonnable, 
le juge Monnin a decide que I' expose du juge au 
jury satisfaisait aux exigences enoncees par notre 
Cour dans l'arret Lifchus, precite, tant sur le plan 
de sa formulation meme que sur celui de son ton 
general. En particulier, le juge Monnin a conclu 
que le juge du proces avait explique le lien entre la 
nonne du doute raisonnable et la presomption 
d'innocence, entre !'exigence que le ministere 
public etablisse plus qu'une simple probabilite de 
culpabilite et le principe voulant qu 'un doute rai­
sonnable soit fonde sur la raison et le bon sens et 
qu'il decoule logiquement de la preuve ou de !'ab­
sence de preuve. Le juge Monnin a fait remarquer 
que, meme s'il se pouvait que le juge du proces ait 
commis une erreur en disant qu'il fallait donner a 
!'expression «doute raisonnable» son sens ordi­
naire de tous les jours, cette erreur avait ete corri­
gee par le fait qu'il etait alle beaucoup plus loin 
que le juge du proces dans Lifchus en offrant une 
[TRADUCTION] «aide en matiere d ' interpretatiom> et 
en liant la notion du doute raisonnable a la preuve. 
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(2) Twaddle J.A., dissenting 

(a) Admissibility of Cook's Statement of 
Intention 

Twaddle J.A. stated that four questions arose 
from the trial judge's admission of Giesbrecht's 
evidence for the purpose of showing Cook's inten­
tion or state of mind on the night of the murders, 
namely: (1) whether a statement that is adduced to 
prove the intention or state of mind of a deceased 
person should be considered for admission under a 
categorized exception to the hearsay rule, or only 
under the principled approach to the admission of 
hearsay evidence enunciated in Khan, supra, and 
subsequent cases; (2) whether Cook' s statement 
was in fact properly admitted for the purpose of 
illustrating Cook's state of mind or intention; (3) 
whether the statement would have been admissible 
on the basis of necessity and reliability alone, pur­
suant to the principles established in Khan, supra, 
and subsequent cases; and ( 4) whether the jury was 
properly instructed as to the limits of the state­
ment' s use. 

With respect to the issue of whether the princi­
pled approach to the admissibility of hearsay 
should be understood as having made the excep­
tions to the hearsay rule irrelevant, Twaddle J.A. 
stated that, in Smith, supra, this Court made it 
"very clear that the new approach was to be pre­
ferred" (p. 166). Nonetheless, Twaddle J.A. noted 
that, even in Smith , this Court analysed first 
whether statements of the deceased were admissi­
ble under the "present intentions" or "state of 
mind" exception to the hearsay rule, and then 
analysed whether they were admissible using the 
necessity and reliability approach. Twaddle J.A. 
stated that this bifurcated approach was likely 
taken because the trial judgment in Smith was ren­
dered prior to Khan, supra. He stated that the 
appropriate test for the trial judge to have applied 
in the appellant's case was likely the necessity and 
reliability test alone. However, in light of Smith 
and the trial judge's focus on the "state of mind" 

(2) Le juge Twaddle, dissident 

a) Admissibilite de la declaration d 'intention 
de Cook 

Le juge Twaddle a affirme que !'admission par 
le juge du proces du temoignage de Giesbrecht aux 
fins de demontrer !'intention ou l'etat d'esprit de 
Cook la nuit des meurtres soulevait quatre ques­
tions: 1) celle de savoir s'il y a lieu d'examiner la 
possibilite d'admettre une declaration presentee en 
vue d'etablir !'intention ou l' etat d'esprit d'une 
personne decedee, en vertu d'une categorie d'ex­
ceptions a Ja regJe du OU°i-dire OU seuJement en 
vertu de la fa9on fondee sur des principes d'abor­
der !'admission de la preuve par ou·i-dire qui a ete 
enoncee dans l'arret Khan , precite, et d' autres 
arrets subsequents, 2) celle de savoir si la declara­
tion de Cook a effectivement ete admise a bon 
droit dans le but d'illustrer l'etat d'esprit ou !'in­
tention de Cook, 3) celle de savoir si la declaration 
aurait ete admissible uniquement pour des raisons 
de necessite et de fiabilite, conformement aux 
principes etablis dans l'arret Khan, precite, et 
d'autres arrets subsequents, et 4) celle de savoir si 
le jury a re9u des directives appropriees au sujet de 
!'utilisation lirnitee qui pourrait etre faite de la 
declaration. 

Quant a savoir s'il ya lieu de considerer que la 
fa9on fondee sur des principes d'aborder l'admis­
sibilite de la preuve par ou"i-dire a rendu inutiles 
Jes exceptions a la regle du ou"i-dire, le juge 
Twaddle a affinne que, dans l'arret Smith, precite, 
notre Cour avait indique [TRADUCTION] «tres clai­
rement qu'il fallait choisir la nouvelle methode» 
(p. 166). Neanmoins, le juge Twaddle a fait remar­
quer que, meme dans Smith , notre Cour s'etait 
d'abord demande si Jes declarations de la personne 
decedee etaient admissibles en vertu de ['exception 
des «intentions existantes» OU de J' «etat d'esprit» a 
la regle du ou·i-dire, et ensuite si elles etaient 
admissibles selon la methode de la necessite et de 
la fiabilite . Le juge Twaddle a dit que cette 
methode a deux volets avait vraisemblablement ete 
adoptee parce que le jugement de premiere ins­
tance dans Smith avait precede l'arret Khan, pre­
cite. Il a dit que le seul critere qu'aurait du appli­
quer le juge du proces dans le cas de l'appelant 
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exception, Twaddle J.A. dealt with both 
approaches to the admissibility of Giesbrecht's 
testimony. 

Twaddle J.A. stated that it was generally 
accepted that evidence of a statement made by a 
person who has since died is admissible to prove 
the state of mind or present intentions of the 
deceased at the time of making the statement. The 
controversy, Twaddle J.A. noted, is over the imper­
missible uses to which such ante mortem state­
ments might be put by the trier of fact. In particu­
lar, there is a concern that evidence regarding the 
state of mind of the deceased might be misused by 
the trier of fact to infer the state of mind, character, 
or subsequent actions of the accused rather than 
the declarant. Twaddle J.A. stated that this concern 
over impennissible uses of the evidence was rele­
vant in determining whether the probative value of 
the hearsay statement outweighs its prejudicial 
effect upon the accused, relying in this regard upon 
the judgment of Doherty J. (as he then was) in R. v. 
P. (R.) (1990), 58 C.C.C. (3d) 334 (Ont. H.C.), 
which was cited with approval by this Court in 
Smith, supra. 

Twaddle J.A. stated that the trial judge had erred 
in finding that the probative value of Cook's state­
ment to Giesbrecht outweighed its prejudicial 
effect. Part of the error, Twaddle J.A. explained, 
stemmed from the trial judge's finding that the rel­
evant prejudice that would be suffered by the 
appellant if the statement was admitted was only 
that the jury might be inflamed by infonnation 
suggesting he was inclined to commit a criminal 
act such as insurance fraud . Rather, Twaddle J.A. 
found, the prejudice was the more serious problem 
that the jury may have used evidence of Cook's 
state of mind to infer the appellant's state of mind 
and the appellant's subsequent course of conduct, 
i.e. , that the appellant did in fact meet with 

etait probablement celui de la necessite et de la fia­
bilite. Cependant, a la lumiere de l 'arret Smith et 
de l'accent mis par le juge du proces sur l'excep­
tion de l'«etat d'esprit», le juge Twaddle a exa­
mine les deux fac;:ons d' aborder l'admissibilite du 
temoignage de Giesbrecht. 

Le juge Twaddle a affirme qu'il etait generale­
ment accepte que la preuve d'une declaration faite 
par une personne subsequemment decedee etait 
admissible pour etablir l'etat d'esprit OU les inten­
tions de cette personne au moment ou elle a fait sa 
declaration. Le juge Twaddle a souligne que la 
controverse porte sur les utilisations inacceptables 
que le juge des faits pourrait faire de ces declara­
tions ante mortem. On craint notamment que le 
juge des faits ne fasse mauvais usage de la preuve 
relative a l'etat d'esprit de la personne decedee 
pour deduire l'etat d'esprit, le temperament ou les 
actes ulterieurs de l'accuse plutot que ceux de l'au­
teur de la declaration. Le juge Twaddle a dit que 
cette crainte relative aux utilisations inacceptables 
de la preuve etait pertinente pour determiner si la 
valeur probante de la declaration relatee l' emporte 
sur son effet prejudiciable sur l'accuse, s'appuyant 
a cet egard sur le jugement rendu par le juge 
Doherty (maintenant juge de la Cour d'appel de 
!'Ontario) dans R. c. P. (R.) (1990), 58 C.C.C. (3d) 
334 (H.C. Ont.), que notre Cour a cite en l'approu­
vant dans l'arret Smith, precite. 

Le juge Twaddle a dit que le juge du proces 
avait commis une erreur en concluant que la valeur 
probante de la declaration de Cook a Giesbrecht 
l'emportait sur son effet prejudiciable. Le juge 
Twaddle a explique que cette erreur decoulait en 
partie de la conclusion du juge du proces que le 
seul prejudice pertinent que l'appelant subirait si la 
declaration etait admise etait la possibilite que le 
jury soit indigne par des renseignements indiquant 
que l'appelant etait enclin a commettre un acte cri­
minel comme une fraude en matiere d'assurance. 
Selon le juge Twaddle, le prejudice decoulait plu­
tOt du probleme plus grave pose par la possibilite 
que le jury ait utilise la preuve de l'etat d'esprit de 
Cook pour deduire l' etat d'esprit et la ligne de con­
duite ulterieure de l'appelant, autrement dit pour 
deduire que l' appelant avait effectivement rencon-
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Cook later that night on the side of provincial 
highway 247. 

Twaddle J.A. held further that the trial judge had 
erred, after finding that Giesbrecht's testimony 
was admissible pursuant to the "state of mind" 
exception, in not then holding a voir dire to deter­
mine the reliability of Cook's statement, in accor­
dance with the principled approach to hearsay 
admissibility set out in Khan and Smith. Twaddle 
J.A. found that Giesbrecht's evidence was equally 
inadmissible on this basis. He reviewed several 
factors indicating that Cook's statement was ume­
liable, including especially Cook's strong motive 
to lie to Giesbrecht about his intentions on the 
night of the murders. 

Finally, Twaddle J.A. held that the trial judge 
had erred in his instruction to the jury regarding 
the pennissible use of Cook's statement. Twaddle 
J.A. noted that, rather than caution the jury against 
using Cook's statement in order to prove the 
appellant's state of mind and subsequent actions, 
as he ought to have done, the trial judge in fact 
invited the jury to draw this impermissible infer­
ence if they felt the evidence warranted it. Twaddle 
J.A. held that Cook's statement to Giesbrecht was 
inadmissible on any basis, and that the statement's 
admission, particularly with an erroneous instruc­
tion to the jury regarding its permissible use, con­
stituted reversible error. 

(b) Admissibility of CJ1e1yl Ball's Out-of-Court 
Identification 

Twaddle J.A. characterized this issue as whether 
a police officer's evidence of an out-of-court iden­
tification of the accused by a witness is admissible 
where the witness does not testify as to whether 
she made the identification in question. Twaddle 
J.A. felt that it was important to consider this ques­
tion, notwithstanding the Crown's concession on 
appeal that the identification evidence might have 
been inadmissible, because he did not agree that 

tre Cook plus tard cette nuit-la sur l'accotement de 
la route provinciale 247. 

Le juge Twaddle a egalement decide que, apres 
avoir conclu que le temoignage de Giesbrecht etait 
admissible en vertu de I' exception de I' «etat d' es­
prit», le juge du proces avait commis une erreur en 
ne tenant pas de voir-dire pour detenniner la fiabi­
lite de la declaration de Cook, confonnement a la 
fac;:on fondee sur des principes d'aborder l'admis­
sibilite de la preuve par ou'i-dire, qui a ete enoncee 
dans les arrets Khan et Smith . Le juge Twaddle a 
conclu que le temoignage de Giesbrecht etait tout 
aussi inadmissible pour ce motif. 11 a examine plu­
sieurs elements indiquant que la declaration de 
Cook n'etait pas fiable, en particulier les fortes rai­
sons que Cook avait de mentir a Giesbrecht au 
sujet de ses intentions la nuit des meurtres. 

Enfin, le juge Twaddle a conclu que le juge du 
proces avait commis une erreur dans sa directive 
au jury sur I 'utilisation acceptable de la declaration 
de Cook. Le juge Twaddle a souligne qu'au lieu de 
mettre le jury en garde contre I 'utilisation de la 
declaration de Cook pour etablir l'etat d'esprit de 
l'appelant et ses actes ulterieurs, comme ii aurait 
du le faire, le juge du proces avait en realite invite 
le jury a tirer cette conclusion inacceptable si 
jamais ii estimait qu'elle etait justifiee par la 
preuve. Le juge Twaddle a statue que la declaration 
de Cook a Giesbrecht etait inadmissible quel que 
ce soit le motif invoque, et que !'admission de la 
declaration, d'autant plus qu'elle etait accompa­
gnee d'une directive erronee au jury a l'egard de 
!'utilisation qui pourrait en etre faite, constituait 
une erreur donnant ouverture a revision. 

b) Admissibilite de !'identification extrajudi­
ciaire par Che1yl Ball 

Le juge Twaddle a decrit cette question comme 
etant de savoir si le temoignage d'un policier qui 
porte sur !'identification extrajudiciaire de !'accuse 
par un temoin est admissible lorsque ce temoin ne 
depose pas au sujet de la question de savoir s' il a 
procede a !'identification en cause. Bien que le 
ministere public ait reconnu en appel qu'il se pou­
vait que la preuve d'identification soit inadmissi­
ble, le juge Twaddle a estime qu'il etait important 
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the trial judge's cautionary instruction to the jury 
regarding the frailty of the identification evidence 
was sufficient to dispel the possibility of a miscar­
riage of justice. 

Twaddle J.A. noted that the more common fact 
scenario is where a witness testifies that he or she 
recalls having made a previous identification of the 
accused, but is unable to repeat the identification 
in court or to recall who was identified. He stated 
that the law is fairly clear that, in such circum­
stances, a police officer may be pennitted to testify 
simply as to the specific photograph or person pin­
pointed by the witness on that previous occasion: 
R. v. Tat (1997), 117 C.C.C. (3d) 481 (Ont. C.A.). 
After reviewing some of the relevant jurispru­
dence, Twaddle J.A. distinguished the appellant's 
case from cases such as Tat. He stated that, where a 
witness does not acknowledge having made a prior 
identification, there is a problem because it is no 
longer the eyewitness implicating the accused, but 
the police. There is no way to test whether, in fact, 
the eyewitness ever implicated the accused, 
because there is no testimony on point. 

Twaddle J.A. stated that, given the inherent 
frailty of identification evidence in any event, it 
would take exceptional circumstances for identifi­
cation evidence introduced as hearsay to be suffi­
ciently reliable to be admissible under the princi­
pled approach to hearsay admissibility. He did not 
find such exceptional circumstances to exist in the 
appellant's case. 

Moving on to consider whether this ground of 
appeal could nonetheless be dismissed on the basis 
that the trial judge's cautionary instruction to the 
jury negated any miscarriage of justice, Twaddle 
J.A. held that the jury verdict might reasonably 
have been different if the two officers had not been 
permitted to testify on the alleged identification by 
Cheryl Ball. He stated that Ball's identification of 
the appellant was important because it placed the 
appellant in St. Norbert, whereas without Ball's 
identification the appellant was last seen "halfway 
across the city from where the crime occurred" 

d'examiner cette question parce qu'il n'etait pas 
d'accord pour dire que la mise en garde du juge du 
proces au jury au sujet de la fragilite de la preuve 
d'identification etait suffisante pour ecarter la pos­
sibilite d'erreur judiciaire. 

Le juge Twaddle a fait remarquer que le scena­
rio le plus courant est celui ou un temoin dit qu'il 
se souvient avoir identifie anterieurement !'accuse, 
mais est incapable de !'identifier de nouveau en 
cour ou de se rappeler qui ii a identifie. II a affirme 
que le droit est assez clair en pareil cas: on peut 
pennettre a un policier de deposer uniquement au 
sujet de la photographie ou de la personne indiquee 
anterieurement par le temoin: R. c. Tat (1997), 117 
C.C.C. (3d) 481 (C.A. Ont.) . Apres avoir examine 
certains arrets pertinents, le juge Twaddle a etabli 
une distinction entre le cas de l'appelant et des 
affaires comme Tat. II a affinne que, lorsqu'un 
temoin ne reconnalt pas avoir effectue une identifi­
cation anterieure, il en resulte un probleme parce 
que c' est non plus le temoin oculaire mais plut6t la 
police qui implique !'accuse. II n'y a aucun moyen 
de verifier si, en fait, le temoin oculaire a deja 
implique !'accuse, en raison de !'absence de temoi­
gnage a cet egard. 

Le juge Twaddle a dit qu'en raison de la fragilite 
inherente de la preuve d'identification ii faudrait 
de toute maniere des circonstances exceptionnelles 
pour qu'une preuve d'identification presentee par 
oui:-dire soit suffisamment fiable pour etre admissi­
ble selon la fa<;on fondee sur des principes d'abor­
der I' admissibilite de la preuve par ou·i-dire. II a 
conclu a I' absence de tell es circonstances excep­
tionnelles dans le cas de l'appelant. 

Passant ensuite a la question de savoir si ce 
moyen d'appel pouvait neamnoins etre rejete pour 
le motif que la mise en garde du juge du proces au 
jury avait annule toute erreur judiciaire qui pouvait 
avoir ete commise, le juge Twaddle a conclu que le 
verdict rendu par le jury aurait pu raisonnablement 
etre different si les deux policiers n'avaient pas ete 
autorises a temoigner au sujet de la presumee iden­
tification par Cheryl Ball. 11 a affirme que !'identi­
fication de l'appelant par Ball etait importante 
parce qu'elle situait l'appelant a St. Norbert, tandis 
que, si on fait abstraction de !'identification par 
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(p. 176). Although the trial judge cautioned the 
jury as to the frailty of the evidence, he also left it 
to the jury to decide whether to accept the identifi­
cation evidence. Twaddle J.A. found that there was 
a reasonable possibility that the jury would not 
have convicted the appellant if Ball had not identi­
fied the appellant as the driver of the car that fol­
lowed Cook and Weselowski to St. Norbert. This 
piece of evidence might have been the "last straw", 
he said, allowing the Crown to meet its onus. 

(c) The Instruction on Reasonable Doubt 

Twaddle J.A. stated that there is a problem in 
instructing a jury, as the trial judge did in this case, 
that the word "reasonable" in the criminal standard 
of proof beyond a reasonable doubt is to be under­
stood in its everyday, ordinary meaning. By this 
understanding, he said, the tenn "reasonable 
doubt" would mean that even a legitimate doubt 
would not stand in the way of conviction if the 
doubt was only moderate, or only made guilt prob­
able. Twaddle J.A. referred on this point to the rea­
sons of this Court in Lifchus, supra, where Cory J. 
stated that, while a jury should be told that abso­
lute certainty is not required in order to convict, 
the jury should also be told that something more 
than mere probability of guilt is required for a con­
viction. 

Twaddle J.A. stated that an omission to instruct 
the jury that a probability of guilt is not a sufficient 
basis upon which to convict, when the jury is 
instructed that absolute certainty of guilt is not 
required, will ordinarily be a fatal error justifying a 
new trial. He found that the requirement to instruct 
the jury that "beyond a reasonable doubt" means 
something more than "proof on the balance of 
probabilities" is particularly acute where, as in the 
appellant's case, the trial judge tells the jury that 
the words "reasonable doubt" are to be understood 
in their ordinary, everyday meaning and not as 
having a special connotation in the criminal law 

Ball, l'appelant avait ete apen;u pour la derniere 
fois [TRADUCTION] «a mi-chemin entre le lieu du 
crime et l'autre bout de la ville» (p. 176). Meme si 
le juge du proces a mis le jury en garde contre la 
fragilite de Ia preuve, il lui a quand meme laisse le 
soin de decider d'accepter ou non la preuve d'iden­
tification. Le juge Twaddle a conclu qu'il y avait 
une possibilite raisonnable que le jury n'ait pas 
declare l'appelant coupable si Ball ne l'avait pas 
identifie cormne etant le conducteur de !'automo­
bile qui avait suivi Cook et Weselowski jusqu'a St. 
Norbert. Cet element de preuve pouvait, selon lui, 
avoir ete ce qui en fin de compte avait permis au 
ministere public de s'acquitter de son obligation. 

c) La directive sur le doute raisonnable 

Le juge Twaddle a affirme qu'il est problema­
tique de dire a un jury, comme l'a fait le juge du 
proces en l'espece, que le mot «raisonnable», dans 
la nonne de la preuve hors de tout doute raison­
nable qui s'applique en matiere criminelle, doit 
etre pris dans son sens ordinaire de tous les jours. 
Selon cette interpretation, a-t-il dit, !'expression 
«doute raisonnable» signifierait que meme un 
doute legitime n'empecherait pas une declaration 
de culpabilite si le doute etait seulement modere OU 

s'il ne faisait que rendre probable la culpabilite. A 
ce propos, le juge Twaddle a renvoye aux motifs 
de notre Cour dans Lifchus, precite, ou le juge 
Cory a affirme que, meme si on do it dire a un jury 
que la certitude absolue n'est pas requise pour ren­
dre un verdict de culpabilite, on doit aussi lui dire 
qu'il faut plus qu'une simple probabilite de culpa­
bilite pour le faire. 

Le juge Twaddle a affirme que !'omission de 
preciser au jury que la probabilite de culpabilite 
n'est pas un motif suffisant pour prononcer une 
declaration de culpabilite, lorsqu'on lui dit que la 
certitude absolue de culpabilite n'est pas requise, 
constitue ordinairement une erreur fatale qui justi­
fie la tenue d'un nouveau proces. II a conclu que 
!'exigence d'informer le jury que !'expression 
«hors de tout doute raisonnable» signifie plus 
qu'une «preuve selon la preponderance des proba­
bilites» est particulierement cruciale lorsque, 
comme dans le cas de l'appelant, le juge du proces 
dit au jury que !'expression «doute raisonnable» 
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context. Following Lifchus, supra, Twaddle J.A. 
held that a review of the trial judge's charge to the 
jury as a whole in this case gave rise to a reasona­
ble likelihood that the jury misapprehended the 
standard of proof, such that a new trial was 
required. 

IV. Issues 

Three issues of law are presented by this appeal: 

1. Did the majority of the Manitoba Court of 
Appeal err in law in affirming the trial judge's 
decision to admit Jodie Giesbrecht's testimony 
regarding a statement of intention made by the 
deceased Bernard Cook? 

2. Did the majority of the Manitoba Court of 
Appeal err in law in affirming the trial judge's 
decision to admit the testimony of Constables 
Madden and MacLeod regarding an out-of­
court identification made by Cheryl Ball? 

3. Did the majority of the Manitoba Court of 
Appeal err in law in finding that the trial judge 
had explained the concept of reasonable doubt 
to the jury in an adequate manner? 

V. Analysis 

A. The Hearsay Issues 

(1) Introduction 

The law of hearsay in Canada and throughout 
the common law world has long been governed by 
a strict exclusionary rule relaxed by a complex 
array of exceptions. Recently, as noted in Smith , 
supra, at p. 932, this Court has moved in a new 
direction by adopting a principled approach to 
hearsay "governed by the principles which under­
lie the rule and its exceptions alike". According to 
this approach, hearsay evidence may be admissi­
ble, notwithstanding the inapplicability of the cate­
gorical exceptions on the facts of the case, pro-

doit etre prise dans son sens ordinaire de tous les 
jours et non pas etre consideree comme ayant une 
connotation particuliere dans le contexte du droit 
criminel. Suivant l' arret Lifchus, precite, le juge 
Twaddle a conclu que !'examen de !' ensemble de 
!'expose du juge du proces au jury en l'espece 
engendrait une probabilite raisonnable que le jury 
ait ma! compris la nonne de preuve applicable, de 
sorte qu'un nouveau proces etait requis. 

IV. Les questions en litige 

Le present pourvoi souleve trois questions de 
droit: 

1. La Cour d'appel du Manitoba a la majorite 
a-t-elle conunis une erreur de droit en confir­
mant la decision du juge du proces d'admettre 
le temoignage de Jodie Giesbrecht concemant 
la declaration d'intention de feu Bernard Cook? 

2. La Cour d'appel du Manitoba a la majorite 
a-t-elle commis une erreur de droit en confir­
mant la decision du juge du proces d'admettre 
le temoignage des agents Madden et MacLeod 
concernant !'identification extrajudiciaire par 
Cheryl Ball? 

3. La Cour d'appel du Manitoba a la majorite 
a-t-elle commis une erreur de droit en concluant 
que le juge du proces avait suffisamment 
explique au jury la notion de doute raisonnable? 

V. Analyse 

A. Les questions relatives au oui~dire 

( 1) Introduction 

Le droit de la preuve par ou·i-dire au Canada et 
dans les ressorts de conunon law a longtemps ete 
regi par une regle d'exclusion stricte temperee par 
une serie complexe d'exceptions. Rece1mnent, 
comme on l'a souligne dans l'arret Smith, precite, 
a la p. 932, notre Cour a change d'orientation en 
adoptant une fac;on fondee sur des principes 
d'aborder le ou1-dire, qui est «regie par les prin­
cipes qui sous-tendent la regle ainsi que ses excep­
tions». Selon cette methode, la preuve par ou1-dire 
peut etre admissible malgre l' inapplicabilite des 
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vided the criteria of necessity and reliability set out 
in Khan are met. 

The majority in the Court of Appeal below was 
of the view that hearsay evidence should be admis­
sible either where the evidence falls within a tradi­
tional hearsay exception, or where the evidence is 
admissible using the principled approach devel­
oped in Khan and Smith. Twaddle J.A., dissenting, 
held that the principled approach must prevail in 
detennining hearsay admissibility, and that the fact 
that the evidence in the particular case fell within a 
traditional hearsay exception was insufficient 
standing alone to detennine its admissibility. 

My approach in these reasons is as follows. First 
of all, and with respect for the contrary view, I am 
of the opinion that the Court of Appeal erred in 
finding that Cook' s statement to Giesbrecht fit 
within the present intentions exception to the hear­
say rule. I reach this conclusion for two reasons: 
the statement was made under circumstances of 
suspicion, and it was used to prove the intentions 
of someone other than the declarant. Having so 
concluded, it is necessary to ask whether the state­
ment was admissible under the principled 
approach, as enunciated in Khan, supra, and Smith, 
supra. I conclude that it was not, much for the 
same reasons that it does not fall within the present 
intentions exception. Answering this question also 
raises issues respecting the interaction between the 
principled approach and the existing exceptions. I 
conclude that in the event of a conflict between the 
two, it is the principled approach that must prevail. 
The governing principles for hearsay admissibility 
must be reliability and necessity. 

I begin my analysis with a brief discussion of 
the nature and purpose of hearsay evidence, which 
I hope will be helpful in defining the precise hear­
say issues in the appeal, and the problem posed for 
the trial process by hearsay evidence more broadly. 
Next, I consider in turn the admissibility of Jodie 

categories d'exceptions aux faits de l'affaire, 
pourvu que les criteres de necessite et de fiabilite 
enonces dans l'arret Khan soient respectes. 

La Cour d' appel a la majorite etait d'avis que la 
preuve par ou'i-dire devrait etre admissible soit 
lorsqu'elle releve d'une exception traditionnelle a 
la regle du ou1-dire, soit lorsqu'elle est admissible 
selon la methode fondee sur des principes etablie 
dans les arrets Khan et Smith. Le juge Twaddle, 
dissident, a conclu que la methode fondee sur des 
principes doit l'emporter lorsqu' il s'agit de deter­
miner l'admissibilite de la preuve par ou·i-dire, et 
que le fait que la preuve en l'espece ait releve 
d 'une exception traditionnelle a la regle du oui­
dire etait insuffisant a lui seul pour en detenniner 
l'admissibilite. 

Dans les presents motifs, je procede de la far;on 
suivante. Tout d'abord et en toute deference pour 
!'opinion contraire, je suis d'avis que la Cour d'ap­
pel a commis une erreur en concluant que la decla­
ration de Cook a Giesbrecht relevait de !'exception 
des intentions existantes a la regle du ou·i-dire. 
Deux raisons m'incitent a tirer cette conclusion: la 
declaration a ete faite dans des circonstances dou­
teuses et a servi a etablir les intentions d'une per­
sonne autre que son auteur. Une fois cette conclu­
sion tiree, il faut se demander si la declaration etait 
admissible en vertu de la methode fondee sur des 
principes, comme le prevoient les arrets Khan et 
Smith, precites. Je conclus qu'elle ne l'etait pas, et 
ce, a peu pres pour les memes raisons qu 'elle ne 
releve pas de !'exception des intentions existantes. 
La reponse a cette question souleve egalement des 
questions relatives a !'interaction de la methode 
fondee sur des principes et des exceptions exis­
tantes. Je conclus que, en cas de conflit entre !es 
deux, c'est la methode fondee sur des principes qui 
doit l'emporter. Les principes regissant l'admissi­
bilite du ou·i-dire doivent etre la fiabilite et la 
necessite. 

Je commence mon analyse par un bref examen 
de la nature et de l'objet de la preuve par ou1-dire, 
qui, je l'espere, sera utile pour definir precisement 
les questions relatives au ou·i-dire qui se posent en 
l'espece et, de far;on plus generale, le probleme 
que pose la preuve par ou!-dire dans un proces. Je 
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Giesbrecht's testimony regarding Bernard Cook's 
statement of intention, and the admissibility of 
Constables Madden's and MacLeod's testimony 
regarding Cheryl Ball's out-of-court identification. 
As I will explain below, both statements were 
unreliable and should have been excluded under 
both the traditional exception and the principled 
approach. 

(2) The Nature and Purpose of Hearsay 
Evidence 

The hearsay rule is a notable exception to the 
general evidentiary principle that all relevant evi­
dence is admissible. To repeat, hearsay evidence 
was traditionally excluded unless the hearsay evi­
dence came within one of the so-called exceptions 
to the rule. While it is very difficult to express an 
entirely complete definition of "hearsay evidence'', 
it will be useful to elaborate briefly on the princi­
pal defining features of hearsay before beginning 
to analyse the hearsay issues in this appeal. 

Hearsay issues most typically arise when a wit­
ness at trial testifies regarding the contents of an 
earlier, out-of-court statement. Bernard Cook's 
alleged statement to Jodie Giesbrecht fits within 
this most simple definition. A statement can be 
hearsay even though the out-of-court statement 
was made by the witness at trial, or even in some 
cases where the only "statement" was a non-verbal 
assertion. The breadth of the hearsay rule is illus­
trated in this case by the hearsay evidence regard­
ing Cheryl Ball's out-of-court identification, dis­
cussed more fully below. Ball was a witness in the 
trial proceedings in this case yet has also been pos­
ited as an out-of-court declarant for the purpose of 
the hearsay rule, because Constables Madden and 
MacLeod testified about her out-of-court state­
ments identifying the appellant. 

vais ensuite examiner a tour de role l'admissibilite 
du temoignage de Jodie Giesbrecht concernant la 
declaration d'intention de Bernard Cook, et l'ad­
missibilite du temoignage des agents Madden et 
MacLeod au sujet de !'identification extrajudi­
ciaire par Cheryl Ball. Conune je vais l'expliquer 
plus loin, les deux declarations n'etaient pas 
fiables et auraient du etre ecartees a la fois en vertu 
de !'exception traditionnelle et en vertu de la 
methode fondee sur des principes. 

(2) La nature et l'objet de la preuve par oul-dire 

La regle du oul-dire constitue une exception 
remarquable au principe general en matiere de 
preuve, qui veut que tout element de preuve perti­
nent soit admissible. Encore une fois, la preuve par 
ou"i-dire etait traditionnellement ecartee sauf si elle 
relevait de l'une des <lites exceptions a la regle. 
Bien qu'il soit tres difficile de donner une defini­
tion tout a fait complete de la «preuve par ou"i­
dire», il sera utile de donner brievement des details 
sur les principales caracteristiques determinantes 
du ou·i-dire avant d'entreprendre !'analyse des 
questions relatives au ou·i-dire dans le present 
pourvoi. 

Les questions relatives au ou"i-dire se posent le 
plus souvent lorsqu'un temoin au proces depose au 
sujet du contenu d'une declaration extrajudiciaire 
anterieure. La declaration que Bernard Cook aurait 
faite a Jodie Giesbrecht correspond a cette defini­
tion on ne peut plus simple. Une declaration peut 
constituer du ou·i-dire meme si la declaration extra­
judiciaire a ete faite par le temoin au proces, OU 

meme, dans certains cas, lorsque la seule «declara­
tion>> etait une affinnation non verbale. La portee 
de la regle du ou·i-dire est illustree en l'espece par 
la preuve par ou·i-dire concernant l'identification 
extrajudiciaire par Cheryl Ball, qui est analysee 
plus completement ci-apres. Ball etait un temoin 
au proces dans la presente affaire, ce qui ne l'a pas 
empechee d'etre designee comme etant !'auteur 
d'une declaration extrajudiciaire pour les fins de la 
regle du oul-dire, en raison du temoignage des 
agents Madden et MacLeod concernant ses decla­
rations extrajudiciaires dans lesquelles elle identi­
fiait l'appelant. 
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The difficulty encountered in defining hearsay 
has been acknowledged many times by courts and 
by learned authors on the law of evidence: see, 
e.g., R. v. Abbey, [1982] 2 S.C.R. 24, at pp. 40-41, 
per Dickson J. (as he then was), citing Phipson on 
Evidence (12th ed. 1976 (supplemented to 1980)), 
para. 625, at pp. 263-64. More recent definitions of 
hearsay have focussed upon the precise evidentiary 
concerns underlying the exclusionary rule, namely 
the absence of an opportunity for meaningful, con­
temporaneous cross-examination of the out-of­
court declarant in court under oath or solemn affir­
mation, regarding the truth of the specific state­
ment or expressive conduct that is sought to be 
admitted as proof of its contents. The central con­
cern revolves around the inability to test the relia­
bility of the declarant's assertion. As stated by the 
Law Reform Commission of Canada in its 1975 
Report on Evidence, at pp. 68-69: 

Hearsay statements are excluded from evidence in tri­
als because of the difficulty of testing their reliability. If 
a person who actually observed a fact is not in court, but 
a statement he made to someone about it is introduced 
in evidence, there is no way of inquiring into that per­
son's perception, memory, narration or sincerity. His 
statement about the fact might be fa lse because he mis­
perceived it or did not remember it correctly, or he may 
have misled the person to whom it was made because he 
used words not commonly used, or he may simply have 
lied about it. These factors, which determine the relia­
bility of his statement, can only be tested if he is in the 
courtroom and subject to cross-examination. 

It was this fundamental concern with reliability 
to which Lamer CJ. was adverting when, speaking 
for the majority of the Court in R. v. B. (K.G.), 
[1993] 1 S.C.R. 740, at p. 764, he articulated the 
central "hearsay dangers" as "the absence of an 
oath or solemn affirmation when the statement was 
made, the inability of the trier of fact to assess the 
demeanour and therefore the credibility of the 

La difficulte qu'il y a a definir le ou1-dire a ete 
reconnue a maintes reprises par les tribunaux et par 
les auteurs de doctrine sur le droit de la preuve: 
voir, par exemple, l'arret R. c. Abbey, [1982] 2 
R.C.S. 24, aux pp. 40 et 41, le juge Dickson (plus 
tard Juge en chef), citant Phipson on Evidence (J2e 
ed. 1976 (avec supplements jusqu'en 1980)), 
par. 625, aux pp. 263 et 264. Des definitions plus 
recentes du ou"i-dire ont mis !' accent sur Jes preoc­
cupations memes en matiere de preuve qui sous­
tendent la regle d'exclusion, a savoir l'impossibi­
lite de faire subir en cour a !'auteur de la declara­
tion extrajudiciaire, sous la foi du serment ou 
d'une affinnation solennelle, au moment precis ou 
il fait cette declaration, un contre-interrogatoire 
utile sur la veracite de la declaration ou conduite 
expressive particuliere que l' on cherche a faire 
admettre co1IDne preuve de son contenu. La preoc­
cupation majeure a trait a l'impossibilite de veri­
fier la fiabilite de l'affinnation du declarant. 
Comme l'a affirme la Commission de refonne du 
droit du Canada, a la p. 77 de son Rapport sur la 
preuve publie en 1975: 

Le droit refuse d'admettre en preuve !es declarations 
par ou'i-dire a cause de la difficulte d'en contr6ler la 
veracite. Si au lieu d'entendre la deposition de celui qui 
a observe un fait particulier, on se contente de presenter 
en preuve une declaration qu'il a faite a ce sujet a un 
tiers, ii n'est pas possible de mettre a l'epreuve la per­
ception de !'auteur de la declaration, sa memoire, sa 
relation du fait en question ou sa sincerite. II se peut que 
sa declaration s'avere inexacte soit parce qu ' il a eu du 
fait une mauvaise perception, soit parce qu'il.ne s'en 
souvient pas correctement, soit parce qu'il a induit son 
interlocuteur en erreur en employant des mots qui ne 
sont pas d'usage courant, soit parce qu ' il a carrement 
menti. Si on veut contr6ler ces divers facteurs sur les­
quels repose la vfaacite d'une declaration, ii faut que 
son auteur soit present a !'audience et qu'il soit soumis 
au feu du contre-interrogatoire. 

C'est a cette preoccupation fondamentale de fia­
bilite que faisait allusion le juge en chef Lamer 
lorsque, s'exprimant au nom de la Cour a la majo­
rite dans l'arret R. c. B. (K.G.), [1993] 1 R.C.S. 
740, a la p. 764, il a affirme que les principaux 
«dangers [ ... ] de la preuve par ou1-dire» etaient 
«!'absence de serment ou d'affirmation solennelle 
au moment ou la declaration a ete faite, l' impossi-
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declarant when the statement was made (as well as 
the trier's inability to ensure that the witness actu­
ally said what is claimed), and the lack of contem­
poraneous cross-examination by the opponent". 
See similarly E. M. Morgan, "Hearsay Dangers 
and the Application of the Hearsay Concept" 
(1948), 62 Harv. L. Rev. 177; S. Schiff, Evidence 
in the Litigation Process (4th ed. 1993), vol. 1, at 
pp. 239-41. 

Cross on Evidence (7th ed. 1990) describes the 
hearsay rule in the following terms, at p. 42: 

... an assertion other than one made by a person while 
giving oral evidence in the proceedings is inadmissible 
as evidence of any fact asserted. [Emphasis in original.] 

It is of interest to note that the above fonnulation 
was adopted as correct by the House of Lords in R. 
v. Shmp, (1988] 1 W.L.R. 7, at p. 11. Though for­
mulated differently, the definition of hearsay 
promulgated by the United States Federal Rule of 
Evidence 801 is similar: '"Hearsay' is a statement, 
other than one made by the declarant while testify­
ing at the trial or hearing, offered in evidence to 
prove the truth of the matter asserted". "Statement" 
is defined as "(1) an oral or written assertion or (2) 
nonverbal conduct of a person, if it is intended by 
the person as an assertion". The most recent edi­
tion of Professor McCormick's treatise on evi­
dence (McCormick on Evidence (5th ed. 1999), 
vol. 2, at § 246) has adopted this definition. 

These articulations of the hearsay rule make 
clear that hearsay evidence is defined not by the 
nature of the evidence per se, but by the use to 
which the evidence is sought to be put: namely, to 
prove that what is asserted is true. When the out­
of-court statement is offered for its truth, the 
inability to cross-examine or "test" the source of 
the evidence in court under oath or solemn affir­
mation as to the truth of the assertion undermines 
its reliability: see I. Younger, An Irreverent Intro-

bilite pour le juge des faits d'evaluer le comporte­
ment et, par consequent, la credibilite de !'auteur 
de la declaration au moment ou il l' a faite (ainsi 
que l' impossibilite pour le juge des faits de s'assu­
rer que le temoin a vraiment dit ce que l'on pretend 
qu ' il a dit), et !'absence de contre-interrogatoire 
par l'adversaire au moment precis ou la declaration 
a ete faite». Voir, dans le meme sens, E. M. 
Morgan, «Hearsay Dangers and the Application of 
the Hearsay Concept» (1948), 62 Harv. L. Rev. 
177; S. Schiff, Evidence in the Litigation Process 
(4e ed. 1993), vol. 1, aux pp. 239 a 241. 

Dans Cross on Evidence (7e ed. 1990), !'auteur 
decrit ainsi la regle du oul-dire, a la p. 42: 

[TRADUCTION] ... une affirmation autre que celle faite 
par une personne qui temoigne au cours d'un proces est 
inadmissible comme preuve des faits qui y sont rap­
portes. [En italique dans !'original.] 

II est interessant de noter que la fonnulation sus­
mentionnee a ete jugee exacte par la Chambre des 
lords dans l'arret R. c. Shmp, (1988] 1 W.L.R. 7, a 
la p. 11. Quoique formulee differemment, la defi­
nition du oul-dire promulguee aux Etats-Unis par 
la regle 801 des Federal Rules of Evidence est 
similaire: [TRADUCTION] «Le "ou·i-dire" est une 
declaration, autre que celle que le declarant fait en 
temoignant au proces OU a !'audience, presentee en 
preuve pour etablir la veracite de !'affirmation qui 
est faite». Le mot «declaration» est defini comrne 
(TRADUCTION] «(l) une affinnation orale OU ecrite 
ou (2) un comportement non verbal d'une per­
sonne, si celle-ci veut qu' il constitue une affirma­
tion». Le professeur McCormick adopte cette defi­
nition dans !'edition la plus recente de son traite 
sur la preuve, McCormick on Evidence (Se ed. 
1999), vol. 2, au § 246. 

II ressort clairement de ces formulations de la 
regle du ou"i-dire que la preuve par oul-dire se defi­
nit en fonction non pas de la nature de la preuve 
elle-meme, mais de !'utilisation que l'on cherche a 
en faire, a savoir, etablir la veracite de ce qui est 
affirme. Lorsqu'on invoque une declaration extra­
judiciaire pour en demontrer la veracite, l'impossi­
bilite de contre-interroger la source de cette preuve 
en cour, sous la foi du sennent ou d'une affinna­
tion solennelle, en vue de «verifier» la veracite de 
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duction to Hearsay (1977), an address to the 
American Bar Association Annual Meeting, 
Atlanta, Georgia, August 11, 1976. In short, the 
essential defining features of hearsay are the pur­
pose for which the evidence is adduced, and the 
absence of a meaningful opportunity to cross­
examine the declarant in court under oath or sol­
emn affirmation as to the truth of its contents. 

With this understanding of the nature and pur­
pose of the hearsay rule in mind, I now turn to 
consider the hearsay evidence and exceptions at 
issue in this appeal. 

(3) Admissibility of Cook's Statement of Inten­
tion 

(a) The Proposed Use of Cook's Statement 

Assuming the veracity of Jodie Giesbrecht's tes­
timony at trial, approximately one hour before 
Cook was killed, he told Giesbrecht that he had to 
"go and do an Autopac scam with Robert'', mean­
ing the appellant. 

The first stage of the hearsay analysis is to ask 
whether Cook's out-of-court statement to 
Giesbrecht is sought to be adduced in order to 
prove the truth of its contents. The Crown 
acknowledged in the courts below that the purpose 
of adducing Cook's statement was to illustrate 
Cook's immediate intention, shortly prior to his 
death, to go with the appellant to wreck a car f6r 
insurance purposes. Cook's intended course of 
action on the night of his murder was relevant, the 
Crown argued, because the jury could infer from 
this evidence of intention that Cook followed 
through on his intention, thus shedding light upon 
the location of the murders and the presence of a 
wrecked car at the scene. The Crown submitted 
that the statement, if true, also linked the appellant 
to Cook, the car, and the scene. In short, the inten­
tion to "go and do an Autopac scam with Robert" 

!'affirmation qui est faite en mine la fiabilite: voir 
I. Younger, An In-everent Introduction to Hearsay 
(1977), allocution prononcee !ors de l'assemblee 
annuelle de I' American Bar Association tenue a 
Atlanta, en Georgie, le 11 aout 1976. Bref, Jes 
caracteristiques determinantes essentielles du ou·i­
dire sont le but dans lequel la preuve est presentee 
et l'absence d'occasion utile de contre-interroger le 
declarant en cour, sous la foi du serment ou d'une 
affirmation solennelle, relativement a la veracite 
du contenu de cette preuve. 

Ayant a !'esprit cette conception de la nature et 
du but de la regle du ou"i-dire, je vais maintenant 
examiner la preuve par ou·i-dire et Jes exceptions 
qui sont en cause dans le present pourvoi. 

(3) Admissibilite de la declaration d'intention 
de Cook 

a) L 'utilisation proposee de la declaration de 
Cook 

Si le temoignage de Jodie Giesbrecht au proces 
est tenu pour avere, Cook a dit a Giesbrecht, envi­
ron une heure avant d'etre tue, qu'il devait [TRA­
DUCTION] «aller frauder I' Autopac avec Robert», 
c' est-a-dire I' appelant. 

La premiere etape de !'analyse du ou·i-dire con­
siste a se demander si le but dans lequel on cherche 
a presenter la declaration extrajudiciaire de Cook a 
Giesbrecht est d'etablir la veracite de son contenu. 
Le ministere public a reconnu devant Jes tribunaux 
d'instance inferieure que la presentation de la 
declaration de Cook visait a demontrer !'intention 
immediate de Cook, peu de temps avant son deces, 
d' aller avec I' appelant envoyer une automobile a la 
ferraille a des fins d'assurance. La fai;:on dont 
Cook comptait agir la nuit ou ii a ete assassine etait 
pertinente, selon le ministere public, parce que le 
jury pouvait deduire de cette preuve d'intention 
que Cook avait donne suite a son intention, ce qui 
expliquait done l'endroit ou Jes meurtres avaient 
ete commis et la presence d'une automobile acci­
dentee sur ces lieux. Le ministere public a soutenu 
que la declaration, si elle etait veridique, reliait 
egalement l'appelant a Cook, a l'automobile et aux 
lieux. Bref, I' intention d' «aller frauder l' Autopac 

::i 
c 
(il 

~ 
0 
"tj" 

u 
u 
(/) 

0 
0 
0 
N 



[2000] 2 R.C.S. R. c. STARR Le juge Iacobucci 231 

is the content of Cook's statement, and the Crown 
sought to use the statement as proof of its contents. 

It is very important to note that the Crown's pro­
posed use of Cook's statement to Giesbrecht went 
beyond proving just Cook's intentions. In his clos­
ing address to the jury, Crown counsel argued that 
Cook's statement proved that the appellant "pro­
posed that [Autopac] scheme to Cook because it 
would isolate Cook if he followed along with it, 
without alarming him". Given the trial judge's 
instruction to the jury that it was "for [them] to 
decide whether the evidence of Cook's statement 
about the scam goes as far as the Crown would 
have [them] believe'', it is apparent that the evi­
dence was also admitted in order to prove the 
intentions, and subsequent actions in conformity 
therewith, of the appellant. By permitting the 
Crown's argument to go to the jury, the trial judge 
expressly permitted the jury to infer the appellant's 
intentions and subsequent conduct based on 
Cook's statement of intention to Giesbrecht. 

In light of these proposed uses of the statement, 
Giesbrecht's testimony regarding Cook's statement 
to her is hearsay and would generally be inadmissi­
ble as such. It was an out-of-court statement, and it 
was offered by the Crown to prove the truth of the 
matter asserted; namely, that Cook intended to do 
an Autopac scam with Starr. The next stage of the 
hearsay analysis is to examine whether Gies­
brecht's evidence is nonetheless admissible under 
the appropriate exception. 

(b) The "State of Mind" or "Present Inten­
tions" Exception to the Hearsay Rule 

(i) Scope of the Rule 

The Crown argued that the "state of mind" or 
"present intentions" exception to the hearsay rule 
applied to render Cook's statement to Giesbrecht 

avec Robert» constitue le contenu de la declaration 
de Cook, et le ministere public a cherche a utiliser 
cette declaration comme preuve de son contenu. 

11 est tres important de souligner que le minis­
tere public ne comptait pas utiliser la declaration 
de Cook a Giesbrecht seulement pour etablir les 
intentions de Cook. Dans son expose final au jury, 
le substitut du procureur general a fait valoir que la 
declaration de Cook prouvait que l' appelant avait 
[TRADUCTION] «propose ce plan [concernant l'Au­
topac] a Cook parce que cela permettrait de l 'isoler 
sans eveiller aucune crainte chez lui s'il y partici­
pait». Compte tenu de la directive du juge du pro­
ces aux jures, selon laquelle ii leur [TRADUCTION] 
«appart[ enait] de decider si la preuve de la declara­
tion de Cook au sujet de la fraude [allait] aussi loin 
que le ministere public vou[lait] [leur] faire 
croire», il appert que cet element de preuve a ega­
lement ete admis pour etablir les intentions de l'ap­
pelant et les actes qu'il a accomplis pour dormer 
suite a ces intentions. En pennettant que !'argu­
ment du ministere public soit soumis a !'apprecia­
tion du jury, le juge du proces a expressement per­
mis au jury de deduire de la declaration d'intention 
de Cook a Giesbrecht les intentions de l'appelant 
et sa conduite subsequente. 

Compte tenu de ces utilisations proposees de la 
declaration, le temoignage de Giesbrecht concer­
nant la declaration que lui avait faite Cook est du 
ou1-dire et serait generalement inadmissible pour 
cette raison. 11 s'agissait d'une declaration extraju­
diciaire que le ministere public a presentee en 
preuve pour etablir la veracite de l'affinnation qui 
etait faite, a savoir que Cook avait !'intention de 
frauder l'Autopac avec Starr. L'etape suivante de 
!'analyse du ou"i-dire consiste a verifier si le temoi­
gnage de Giesbrecht est neanmoins admissible en 
vertu de !'exception pertinente. 

b) L 'exception de l '«etat d'esprit» ou des 
«intentions existantes» a la regle du oui~dire 

(i) La portee de la regle 

Le ministere public a fait valoir que !'exception 
de l' «etat d' esprit» OU des «intentions existantes» a 
la regle du ou·i-dire avait pour effet de rendre 
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admissible. This exception was most recently dis­
cussed in detail by this Court in Smith, supra, 
where it was recognized that an "exception to the 
hearsay rule arises when the declarant's statement 
is adduced in order to demonstrate the intentions, 
or state of mind, of the declarant at the time when 
the statement was made" (p. 925). Wigmore has 
argued that the present intentions exception also 
includes a requirement that a statement "be of a 
present existing state of mind, and must appear to 
have been made in a natural manner and not under 
circumstances of suspicion": Wigmore on Evi­
dence, vol. 6 (Chadbourn rev. 1976), at § 1725, 
p. 129 (emphasis in original) . L'Heureux-Dube J. , 
at para. 63 of her reasons, denies that Wigmore's 
suggestion has ever been adopted in our jurispru­
dence. As I will discuss below, regardless of 
whether the present intentions requirement ever 
had such a requirement, the principled approach 
demands that it must have it now. I will therefore 
examine the admissibility of Cook's statement 
under the present intentions exception in light of 
that understanding. 

In Smith, Lamer C.J. explained that the excep­
tion as it has developed in Canada permits the 
admission into evidence of statements of intent or 
of other mental states for the truth of their contents 
and also, in the case of statements of intention in 
particular, to support an inference that the declar­
ant followed through on the intended course of 
action, provided it is reasonable on the evidence 
for the trier of fact to infer that the declarant did 
so. At the same time, there are certain inferences 
that may not permissibly be drawn from hearsay 
evidence of the out-of-court declarant's intentions. 
On this point, Lamer C.J. cited with approval (at 
p. 927) from the judgment of Doherty J. in P. (R.) , 
supra, at pp. 343-44, where the case law was sum­
marized as follows: 

The evidence is not, however, admissible to show the 
state of mind of persons other than the deceased (unless 
they were aware of the statements), or to show that per-

admissible la declaration de Cook a Giesbrecht. 
Cette exception a, la demiere fois, ete examinee en 
profondeur par notre Cour dans l'arret Smith, pre­
cite, ou ii a ete reconnu qu'une «exception a la 
regle du ou1-dire s'applique lorsque la declaration 
du declarant est presentee pour demontrer ses 
intentions ou son etat d'esprit au moment ou il !'a 
faite» (p. 925). Wigmore a fait valoir que !'excep­
tion des intentions existantes comporte aussi une 
exigence selon laquelle la declaration [TRADUC­

TION] «doit refleter un etat d'esprit actuel et doit 
para1tre avoir ete faite de maniere naturelle et non 
pas dans des circonstances douteuses»: Wigmore 
on Evidence, vol. 6 (Chadbourn rev. 1976), au § 
1725, p. 129 (en italique dans l' original). Au para­
graphe 63 de ses motifs, le juge L'Heureux-Dube 
affirme que la proposition de Wigmore n'a jamais 
ete adoptee dans notre jurisprudence. Cormne nous 
le verrons plus loin, peu importe que !'exception 
des intentions existantes ait jamais comporte une 
telle exigence, )a methode fondee Sur des principes 
requiert qu' elle la comporte main tenant. Je vais 
done examiner l'admissibilite de la declaration de 
Cook en vertu de !'exception des intentions exis­
tantes, en tenant pour acquis que !'exception des 
intentions existantes comporte cette exigence. 

Dans l'arret Smith, le juge en chef Lamer a 
explique que !'exception qui est appliquee au 
Canada permet !'admission en preuve des declara­
tions d' intention et d 'autres etats d'esprit pour eta­
blir la veracite de leur contenu et, notamment dans 
le cas des declarations d'intention, pour etayer la 
deduction que le declarant a donne suite a la fac;:on 
dont ii comptait agir, pourvu que la preuve per­
mette raisonnablement au juge des faits de deduire 
que le declarant !'a fait. En meme temps, il n'est 
pas pennis de se servir de la preuve par ou·i-dire 
pour effectuer certaines deductions concernant Jes 
intentions de !'auteur d'une declaration extrajudi­
ciaire. A ce propos, le juge en chef Lamer a cite, 
en l'approuvant (a lap. 927), un extrait de la deci­
sion du juge Doherty dans P. (R.), precite, aux 
pp. 343 et 344, OU la jurisprudence est resumee 
ams1: 

[TRADUCTION] Toutefois, la preuve n'est pas admissible 
pour montrer l'etat d'esprit de personnes autres que la 
personne decedee (a mains que celles-ci n' aient ete au 
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sons other than the deceased acted in accordance with 
the deceased's stated intentions, save perhaps cases 
where the act was a joint one involving the deceased 
and another person. The evidence is also not admissible 
to establish that past acts or events referred to in the 
utterances occurred. 

As noted by J. Sopinka, S. N. Lederman and A. 
W. Bryant, in The Law of Evidence in Canada 
(2nd ed. 1999), at § 6.236, in Smith the Court 
adopted "the proposition that the admissibility of 
statements of intention were to be limited to the 
declarant's state of mind and could not be used to 
prove the act or intention of any other person". It is 
important to emphasize that even in "cases where 
the act was a joint one involving the deceased and 
another person", the hearsay is not generally 
admissible to show the intentions of a third party. I 
draw this conclusion for two reasons. 

First, I can find no support in Canadian jurispru­
dence for the proposition that statements of inten­
tion are admissible against someone other than the 
declarant, apart from the one comment by Doherty 
J. noted above. Any other interpretation focusses 
on the exception and ignores the rule. In support of 
the proposition quoted above, Doherty J. cited 
three U.S. cases. All three had held that statements 
about joint acts were only admissible to prove the 
state of mind of the declarant: see Giles v. United 
States, 432 A.2d 739 (D.C. App. 1981), at pp. 745-
46; United States v. Brown, 490 F.2d 758 (D.C. 
Cir. 1973); People v. Madson, 638 P.2d 18 (Colo. 
1981). See also Shepard v. United States, 290 U.S. 
96 (1933), at pp. 105-6; D. Kiesel, "One Person's 
Thoughts, Another Person's Acts: How the Federal 
Circuit Courts Interpret the Hillman Doctrine" 
(1984), 33 Cath. U. L. Rev. 699, at pp. 738-39; and 
J. M. Maguire, 'The Hillman Case - Thirty-Three 
Years After" (1925), 38 Harv. L. Rev. 709, at 
p. 721. 

courant des declarations) ou pour etablir que des per­
sonnes autres que la personne decedee ont donne suite 
aux intentions exp Ii cites de cette derniere, sauf peut-etre 
dans le cas d'un acte que la personne decedee et une 
autre personne ont accompli ensemble. La preuve n'est 
pas non plus admissible pour etablir que Jes actes OU 

evenements anterieurs mentionnes dans les declarations 
se sont produits. 

Comme l'ont souligne J. Sopinka, S. N . 
Ledennan et A. W. Bryant dans The Law of Evi­
dence in Canada (2e ed. 1999), au § 6.236, notre 
Cour a adopte, dans l'arret Smith, [TRADUCTION] 
«la proposition selon laquelle seules Jes declara­
tions d'intention portant sur l'etat d'esprit de leur 
auteur seraient admissibles et ces declarations ne 
pourraient pas etre utiJisees pour prouver J'acte OU 

!'intention de toute autre personne». II importe de 
souligner que, meme dans «le cas d'un acte que la 
personne decedee et une autre personne ont 
accompli ensemble», le ou·i-dire n'est generale­
ment pas admissible pour demontrer !es intentions 
d'un tiers. Deux raisons m'amenent a tirer cette 
conclusion. 

Premierement, je ne trouve rien dans la jurispru­
dence canadienne qui etaye la proposition selon 
laquelle !es declarations d'intention sont admis­
sibles contre une personne autre que leur auteur, a 
!'exception du commentaire susmentionne du juge 
Doherty. Toute autre interpretation est axee sur 
I' exception et ne tient pas compte de la regle. A 
l'appui de la proposition susmentionnee, le juge 
Doherty a cite trois decisions americaines. Dans 
Jes trois cas, la cour a conclu que !es declarations 
relatives a des actes accomplis conjointement 
n'etaient admissibles que pour prouver l'etat d'es­
prit du declarant: voir Giles c. United States, 432 
A.2d 739 (D.C. App. 1981), aux pp. 745 et 746; 
United States c. Brown, 490 F.2d 758 (D.C. Cir. 
1973); People c. Madson, 638 P.2d 18 (Colo. 
1981). Voir egalement Shepard c. United States, 
290 U.S. 96 (1933), aux pp. 105 et 106; D. Kiesel, 
«One Person's Thoughts, Another Person's Acts: 
How the Federal Circuit Courts Interpret the 
Hillman Doctrine» (1984), 33 Cath. U. L. Rev. 
699, aux pp. 738 et 739; et J. M. Maguire, «The 
Hillman Case - Thirty-Three Years Aftern 
(1925), 38 Harv. L. Rev. 709, a lap. 721. 
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Second, there are very good reasons behind the 
rule against allowing statements of present inten­
tion to be used to prove the state of mind of some­
one other than the declarant. As noted above, the 
central concern with hearsay is the inability of the 
trier of fact to test the reliability of the declarant's 
assertion. When the statement is tendered to prove 
the intentions of a third party, this danger is multi­
plied. If a declarant makes a statement about the 
intentions of a third party, there are three possible 
bases for this statement: first, it could be based on 
a prior conversation with the accused; second, it 
could be based on a prior conversation with a 
fourth party, who indicated the third party's inten­
tions to the declarant; or third, it could be based on 
pure speculation on the part of the declarant. 
Under the first scenario, the statement is double 
hearsay. Since each level of double hearsay must 
fall within an exception, or be admissible under the 
principled approach, the mere fact that the declar­
ant is making a statement of present intention is 
insufficient to render it admissible. The second 
level of hearsay must also be admissible. 

The other two scenarios also clearly require 
exclusion. If the statement about joint acts is based 
on a conversation with a fourth party, then the 
statement is triple hearsay, or worse. If, on the 
other hand, it is based on pure speculation, then it 
clearly is unreliable and does not fit within the 
rationale underlying the present intentions excep­
tion. 

In conclusion then, a statement of intention can­
not be admitted to prove the intentions of someone 
other than the declarant, unless a hearsay exception 
can be established for each level of hearsay. One 
way to establish this would obviously be the co­
conspirator exception: see R. v. Carter, [1982] 1 
S.C.R. 938; Sopinka, Ledennan and Bryant, supra, 
at pp. 303-7. This is no doubt what Doherty J. was 
referring to in P. (R.), supra, when he spoke of 
"cases where the act was a joint one involving the 
deceased and another person" (p. 344). Barring the 

Deuxiemement, d'excellentes raisons sous­
tendent la regle interdisant I 'utilisation des declara­
tions d, intention existante pour prouver l' etat d, es­
prit d'une personne autre que le declarant. Comme 
nous l' avons vu, le principal probleme que pose le 
ou'i-dire est l ' incapacite du juge des faits de veri­
fier la fiabilite de !'affirmation du declarant. Lors­
que la declaration est presentee pour prouver les 
intentions d'un tiers, ce danger s'accro'it. La decla­
ration qu'une personne fait au sujet des intentions 
d'un tiers peut avoir trois fondements : premiere­
ment, elle peut etre fondee sur une conversation 
anterieure avec !'accuse; deuxiemement, elle peut 
etre fondee sur une conversation anterieure avec 
une quatrieme personne, qui a fait part des inten­
tions du tiers au declarant; troisiemement, elle peut 
etre fondee sur de simples hypotheses de la part du 
declarant. Selon le premier scenario, la declaration 
constitue du double ou·i-dire. Etant donne que 
chaque niveau du double ou'i-dire doit relever 
d'une exception ou etre admissible en vertu de la 
methode fondee sur des principes, le simple fait 
que le declarant fasse une declaration d'intention 
existante est insuffisant pour la rendre admissible. 
Le deuxieme niveau de ou·i-dire doit egalement 
etre admissible. 

Les deux autres scenarios conunandent aussi 
manifestement !'exclusion. Si la declaration au 
sujet des actes accomplis conjointement est fondee 
sur une conversation avec une quatrieme personne, 
la declaration constitue alors du triple ou'i-dire ou 
pis encore. Si, par contre, elle est fondee sur de 
simples hypotheses, elle n 'est manifestement pas 
fiable et n'est pas confonne au raisonnement qui 
sous-tend !'exception des intentions existantes. 

En conclusion, une declaration d' intention ne 
saurait done etre admise pour prouver Jes inten­
tions d'une personne autre que le declarant a moins 
qu'il ne soit possible d'etablir qu'une exception a 
la regle du ou'i-dire s'applique a chaque niveau de 
ou·i-dire, ce qui pourrait evidemment etre fait 
notamment au moyen de !'exception des coauteurs 
d'un complot: voir R. c. Carter, [1982] 1 R.C.S. 
938; Sopinka, Lederman et Bryant, op. cit., aux 
pp. 303 a 307. 11 n'y a pas de doute que c' est ce a 
quoi le juge Doherty faisait allusion dans la deci-
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applicability of this or some other exception to 
each level of hearsay involved, statements of joint 
intention are only admissible to prove the declar­
ant's intentions. 

(ii) Application to this Appeal 

As noted above, the trial judge below admitted 
Cook' s statement to Jodie Giesbrecht as admissible 
hearsay evidence of Cook's "state of mind to go 
with the accused", and as evidence from which the 
jury could infer that Cook acted in accordance 
with his stated intentions. He also admitted it as 
evidence from which the jury could conclude that 
the appellant "proposed that [ Autopac] scheme to 
Cook because it would isolate Cook if he followed 
along with it, without alanning him". Therefore 
the evidence was admitted not only to prove the 
intentions of the declarant Cook, but also of a third 
party - the appellant-accused. 

All three judges in the Court of Appeal below 
accepted as a preliminary proposition that Cook's 
statement to Giesbrecht fell within the traditional 
"present intentions" or "state of mind" exception 
to the hearsay rule. Although Twaddle J.A., dis­
senting, considered it inappropriate to admit 
Cook's statement, especially to show the intentions 
and subsequent course of conduct of the appellant, 
he would have excluded the statement through an 
application of the principled approach to hearsay 
admissibility, or alternatively pursuant to the 
court' s residual discretion to exclude evidence 
where its prejudicial effect outweighs its probative 
force. Ordinarily, given our limited jurisdiction on 
appeals as of right, our scope of review would be 
li1nited to those issues raised by Twaddle J.A. 's 
dissent. However, by ordering a re-hearing we 
expanded the scope of our review to include the 
question, answered unanimously in the affirmative 

sion P. (R.), precitee, lorsqu'il a mentionne [TRA­
DUCTION] «le cas d'un acte que la personne dece­
dee et une autre personne ont accompli ensemble» 
(p. 344). A moins qu'il ne soit possible d'appliquer 
cette exception ou quelque autre exception a 
chaque niveau de ou·i-dire en cause, les declara­
tions d'intention commune ne sont admissibles que 
pour etablir les intentions du declarant. 

(ii) Application au present pourvoi 

Comme nous I'avons vu, le juge du proces a 
decide que la declaration de Cook a Jodie 
Giesbrecht etait admissible a titre de preuve par 
ou"i-dire de [TRADUCTION] «I' intention [de Cook] 
d ' accompagner I'accuse», et a titre de preuve per­
mettant au jury de deduire que Cook avait donne 
suite a ses intentions explicites. 11 l 'a egalement 
admise a titre de preuve pennettant au jury de con­
clure que l'appelant avait [TRADUCTION] «propose 
ce plan [concemant l'Autopac] a Cook parce que 
cela permettrait de I' isoler sans eveiller aucune 
crainte chez lui s'il y participait». La preuve a 
done ete admise pour prouver non seulement les 
intentions du declarant Cook, mais egalement cel­
les d'un tiers - l' appelant-accuse. 

Les trois juges de la Cour d'appel ont tous tenu 
pour acquis, au depart, que la declaration de Cook 
a Giesbrecht relevait de !' exception traditionnelle 
des «intentions existantes» OU de l'«etat d'esprit» a 
la regle du ou"i-dire. Meme s'il estimait qu'il ne 
convenait pas d'admettre la declaration de Cook, 
particulierement pour demontrer les intentions et la 
ligne de conduite ulterieure de l'appelant, le juge 
Twaddle, dissident, aurait ecarte la declaration en 
vertu de la fa<;:on fondee sur des principes d'abor­
der l'admissibilite de la preuve par ou"i-dire, ou, 
subsidiairement, en vertu du pouvoir discretion­
naire residuel de la cour d'ecarter une preuve lors­
que son effet prejudiciable l'emporte sur sa valeur 
probante. Vu la competence limitee que nous pos­
sedons en matiere de pourvois de plein droit, notre 
examen serait nonnalement limite aux questions 
soulevees par la dissidence du juge Twaddle. Tou­
tefois, lorsque nous avons ordonne la tenue d 'une 
nouvelle audition, nous avons etendu la portee de 
notre examen de maniere a inclure la question de 
savoir si la declaration de Cook a Giesbrecht 
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below, of whether Cook's statement to Giesbrecht 
falls within the present intentions exception. 

With great respect to the Court of Appeal, I con­
clude that the trial judge erred in admitting Cook's 
statement to Giesbrecht under the present inten­
tions exception and, having admitted it, in not lim­
iting its use by the jury, for three reasons. First, the 
statement contained no indicia of reliability since 
it was made under circumstances of suspicion; sec­
ond, the trial judge failed to instruct the jury that 
the statement was only admissible as evidence 
regarding the intentions of Cook, not the appellant; 
and third, even if it had been properly limited, the 
evidence was more prejudicial than probative. 

Turning first to the circumstances of suspicion, I 
agree with Twaddle J.A. that the statement lacked 
circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness. As 
Twaddle J.A. noted, Cook and Giesbrecht had been 
romantically involved for almost two years. Cook 
had lived with Giesbrecht and her mother for a 
time, and had spent the night before his murder 
with Giesbrecht, after getting out of jail. Then, in 
the early morning hours of August 21, 1994, Gies­
brecht observed Cook in the car of another woman, 
Darlene Weselowski. Giesbrecht testified that she 
thought Cook might try to "take off on her" if he 
saw Giesbrecht approaching the car, and she 
endeavoured not to be seen by Cook until she was 
close enough to talk to him. After an initial con­
frontation, Giesbrecht walked away into an alley 
behind the gas station, where Cook followed her. 
Their conversation ended in an argument because 
Cook was with Weselowski. She was angry at 
Cook for being with another woman, and asked 
him expressly why Cook would not come home 
with her rather than remain with Weselowski. It 
was at this point, and in this heated context, that 
Cook said he was going to engage in an Autopac 
scam with the appellant, who was sitting in a car 

rel eve de l' exception des intentions existantes, a 
laquelle la Cour d'appel a unanimement donne une 
reponse affirmative. 

En toute deference pour la Cour d'appel, trois 
raisons m'amenent a conclure que le juge du pro­
ces a eu tort d'admettre la declaration de Cook a 
Giesbrecht en vertu de l'exception des intentions 
existantes et de ne pas en delimiter l'utilisation par 
le jury apres l'avoir admise. Premierement, la 
declaration n'offrait aucun signe de fiabilite etant 
donne qu'elle a ete faite dans des circonstances 
douteuses; deuxiemement, le juge du proces n'a 
pas dit au jury que cette declaration etait admissi­
ble pour etablir Jes intentions de Cook seulement 
et non celles de l'appelant; troisiemement, meme si 
son utilisation avait ete delimitee correctement, la 
preuve etait plus prejudiciable que probante. 

En ce qui concerne d'abord les circonstances 
douteuses, je partage l'avis du juge Twaddle que la 
declaration n'offrait aucune garantie circonstan­
cielle de fiabilite. Comme le juge Twaddle l'a sou­
ligne, Cook et Giesbrecht avaient une liaison 
amoureuse depuis presque deux ans. Cook avait 
vecu avec Giesbrecht et sa mere pendant un certain 
temps, et il avait passe la nuit precedant le meurtre 
avec Giesbrecht, apres etre sorti de prison. Ensuite, 
aux petites heures du matin du 21 aout 1994, 
Giesbrecht a apen;u Cook dans !'automobile d'une 
autre femme, Darlene Weselowski. Giesbrecht a 
temoigne qu'elle pensait que Cook pourrait essayer 
de «la fuirn s'il la voyait s'approcher de !'automo­
bile, et qu'elle s'etait efforcee d'echapper au 
regard de Cook jusqu'a ce qu'elle se trouve assez 
pres pour lui parler. Apres un premier affronte­
ment, Giesbrecht s'est dirigee vers une ruelle der­
riere la station-service, ou Cook l'a suivie. Leur 
conversation s' est terminee par une dispute parce 
que Cook etait en compagnie de Weselowski. Elle 
etait en colere contre Cook parce qu'il etait avec 
une autre ferrune et elle lui a demande expresse­
ment pourquoi il ne la raccompagnerait pas chez 
elle au lieu de rester avec Weselowski. C'est a ce 
moment et dans ce contexte anime que Cook a dit 
qu'il allait frauder l' Autopac avec l'appelant, qui 
se trouvait dans une automobile stationnee tout 
pres. Giesbrecht a temoigne que Cook n'avait pas 
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nearby. Giesbrecht testified that it was unusual for 
Cook to discuss such business matters with her. 

Twaddle J.A. found that the circumstances sur­
rounding the making of the statement cast serious 
doubt upon the reliability of the statement. The 
possibility that Cook was untruthful could not be 
said to have been substantially negated. Twaddle 
J.A. relied, in particular, upon the fact that Cook 
may have had a motive to lie in order to make it 
seem that he was not romantically involved with 
Weselowski, and upon the ease with which Cook 
could point to the appellant, who was sitting 
nearby in a car but out of earshot, as being the per­
son with whom he was going to do a scam. In my 
view, Twaddle J.A. was correct in finding that 
these circumstances bring the reliability of Cook's 
statement into doubt. The statement was made 
under "circumstances of suspicion", and therefore 
does not fall within the present intentions excep­
tion. The statement should have been excluded. 

The statement was also inadmissible for the pur­
pose tendered because it was a statement of joint 
intention. Even assuming, contrary to the forego­
ing, that the Court of Appeal was correct in con­
cluding that Cook's statement was admissible with 
respect to his own intentions under the present 
intentions exception, we must remember that 
Cook's statement was at least double hearsay, if 
not worse. The Crown did not establish how Cook 
became qualified to comment on the appellant's 
intentions. The only hearsay exception that could 
conceivably apply is the co-conspirator exception. 
However, this exception was never raised at trial, 
and therefore the trial judge did not even attempt 
to comply with the strict requirements for this 
exception set out in Carter, supra. 

I should emphasize that statements of intention 
are not automatically inadmissible simply because 
they refer to joint acts. As Twaddle J.A. noted at 

coutume de discuter d'affaires de ce genre avec 
elle. 

Le juge Twaddle a conclu que les circonstances 
ayant entoure la declaration soulevaient de serieux 
doutes sur la fiabilite de cette derniere. On ne pou­
vait pas dire que la possibilite que Cook ait menti 
etait vraiment ecartee. Le juge Twaddle s'est 
notamment fonde sur le fait que Cook pouvait 
avoir eu un motif de mentir dans le but de faire 
croire qu'il n'avait aucune liaison amoureuse avec 
Weselowski, et sur la facilite avec laquelle Cook 
avait pu indiquer que l'appelant, qui se trouvait 
dans une automobile stationnee tout pres mais qui 
etait trop loin pour entendre ce qui se disait, etait la 
personne avec qui il commettrait une fraude. J'es­
time que le juge Twaddle a eu raison de conclure 
que ces circonstances faisaient douter de la fiabi­
lite de la declaration de Cook. La declaration a ete 
faite dans des «circonstances douteuses» et ne 
releve done pas de !'exception des intentions exis­
tantes . Elle aurait du etre ecartee. 

La declaration etait egalement inadmissible aux 
fins pour lesquelles elle a ete presentee parce qu'il 
s'agissait d'une declaration d'intention commune. 
Meme si, contrairement a ce qui precede, on tient 
pour acquis que la Cour d'appel a eu raison de 
conclure que la declaration de Cook etait admissi­
ble pour etablir ses propres intentions en vertu de 
!'exception des intentions existantes, nous devons 
nous rappeler que cette declaration constituait au 
moins du double ou1-dire ou pis encore. Le minis­
tere public n'a pas etabli ce qui avait rendu Cook 
apte a parter des intentions de l'appelant. La seule 
exception a la regle du ou1-dire qui pouvait s'appli­
quer en theorie est celle des coauteurs d'un com­
plot. Cette exception n' a toutefois jamais ete invo­
quee au proces, de sorte que le juge du proces n'a 
meme pas tente de se conformer aux exigences 
strictes qu'elle comporte selon l'arret Carter, 
precite. 

Je dois souligner que les declarations d'intention 
ne sont pas automatiquement inadmissibles du seul 
fait qu'elles renvoient a des actes accomplis con-
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p. 167 of his dissent, "[t]he controversy is not so 
much over whether such a statement can be admit­
ted in evidence, but rather over the use to which it 
can be put". Therefore statements of intention, 
which refer to intentions of persons other than the 
declarant, may be admissible if the trial judge 
clearly restricts their use to proving the declarant's 
intentions, and if it is more probative than prejudi­
cial. 

McLachlin C.J. disagrees with the foregoing, 
particularly with the statement of L'Heureux­
Dube J. at para. 67 (with which I agree) that "[i]t is 
co1mnon cause that the 'present intentions' excep­
tion may not be used to infer that a third party 
acted in accordance with the declarant's stated 
intention". McLachlin CJ., at para. 13, argues that 
she would "not state the matter so categorically" as 
"in some circumstances the statement of joint 
intention can be fairly considered along with other 
evidence in deciding what the third party did". 
In fact, no such blanket rule is being laid down 
in this case. Doherty J.'s statement on this point 
in P. (R.), supra, at p. 344 (as mentioned by 
L'Heureux-Dube J. at para. 67 of her reasons) cor­
rectly states the law: 

The rules of evidence as developed to this point do 
not exclude evidence of utterances by a deceased which 
reveal her state of mind, but rather appear to provide 
specifically for their admission where relevant. The evi­
dence is not, however, admissible to show the state of 
mind of persons other than the deceased (unless they 
were aware of the statements), or to show that persons 
other than the deceased acted in accordance with the 
deceased's stated intentions, save perhaps cases where 
the act was a joint one involving the deceased and 
another person. The evidence is also not admissible to 
establish that past acts or events referred to in the utter­
ances occurred. 

jointement. Comme le juge Twaddle l'a fait remar­
quer a la p. 167 de sa dissidence, [TRADUCTION] 
«[l]a controverse ne porte pas tant sur la question 
de savoir si une telle declaration peut etre admise 
en preuve, que Sur l'utilisation qui peut en etre 
faite». Par consequent, les declarations d'intention, 
qui renvoient aux intentions de personnes autres 
que le declarant, peuvent etre admissibles si le juge 
du proces en restreint clairement !'utilisation a la 
preuve des intentions du declarant et si elles sont 
plus probantes que prejudiciables. 

Le juge en chef McLachlin est en desaccord 
avec ce qui precede, en particulier avec l'affin11a­
tion (a laquelle je souscris) que le juge L'Heureux­
Dube fait au par. 67 de ses motifs, selon laquelle 
«[i]l est generalement reconnu que !'exception des 
«intentions existantes» ne saurait servir a deduire 
qu'un tiers a donne suite a !'intention explicite de 
!'auteur de la declaration». Le juge en chef 
McLachlin dit, au par. 13, qu'elle ne serait «pas 
aussi categorique a ce propos» etant donne que 
«dans certaines circonstances, la declaration d ' in­
tention commune peut, a juste titre, etre prise en 
consideration conjointement avec d'autres ele­
ments de preuve pour determiner ce que le tiers a 
fait». En realite, aucune regle generate de cette 
nature n'est etablie en l'espece. L'affirmation que 
le juge Doherty fait a ce sujet dans la decision P. 
(R.), precitee, a lap. 344 (que le juge L'Heureux­
Dube mentionne au par. 67 de ses motifs), decrit 
bien la regle applicable: 

[TRADUCTJON] Les regles de preuve etablies jusqu'a 
ce jour n'excluent pas la preuve des declarations d'une 
personne decedee qui revelent son etat d'esprit, mais 
paraissent plutot prevoir expressement leur admission 
lorsque cela est utile. Toutefois, la preuve n'est pas 
admissible pour montrer l'etat d'esprit de personnes 
autres que la personne decectee (a moins que celles-ci 
n'aient ete au COUrant des declarations) OU pour etablir 
que des personnes autres que la personne decedee ont 
donne suite aux intentions explicites de cette demiere, 
sauf peut-etre dans le cas d'un acte que la personne 
decedee et une autre personne ont accompli ensemble. 
La preuve n'est pas non plus admissible pour etablir que 
!es actes ou evenements anterieurs mentionnes dans Jes 
declarations se sont produits. 
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This statement of the present intention exception 
was adopted by this Court in Smith, supra, at 
p. 927. 

Where we disagree, however, is over the appli­
cation of these principles in this case. McLachlin 
C.J. , at para. 13, concludes that "Cook's statement 
may be viewed as one piece of circmnstantial evi­
dence supporting the inference that Starr was with 
the deceased later that night". In my opinion, this 
is an impermissible use of Cook's statement for 
the reasons given above. The jury should have 
been explicitly warned that they could not rely on 
Cook's statement to infer the appellant's inten­
tions. 

McLachlin C.J. further concludes that the trial 
judge' s direction to the jury in this case provided a 
sufficient warning as to how Cook's statement 
about the Autopac scam could legitimately be 
used, despite the fact that an express instruction on 
this point was not given. With respect, I also disa­
gree. It is well-established that when a piece of 
evidence may conceivably be put to both proper 
and improper uses, the trial judge in a criminal 
case must give the jury a limiting instruction 
regarding the permissible inferences that may be 
drawn from the evidence. See R. v. D. (L.E.), 
[1989] 2 S.C.R. 111, at p. 128; R. v. Corbett, 
[1988] 1 S.C.R. 670, at p. 695; R. v. D. (L.E.) 
(1987), 20 B.C.L.R. (2d) 384 (C.A.), at 
pp. 398-400, per McLachlin J.A. (as she then was), 
dissenting; McCormick on Evidence, supra, vol. 1, 
at § 59; P. K. McWilliams, Canadian Criminal 
Evidence (3rd ed. (looseleaf)), vol. 1, at p. 3-8; 
Phipson on Evidence (15th ed. 2000), at p. 110; 
Sopinka, Lederman and Bryant, supra, at § 2.83; 
Cross and Tapper on Evidence (9th ed. 1999), at 
p. 58; Wigmore on Evidence, vol. 1 (Tillers rev. 
1983), at § 13; United States Federal Rule of 
Evidence 105. Aside from her cogent dissent 
in D. (L.E.), supra, which was upheld on appeal, 
authority in support of my position comes 

Notre Cour a adopte cet enonce de l'exception des 
intentions existantes dans l'arret Smith, precite, a 
lap. 927. 

Notre desaccord concerne toutefois l'application 
de ces principes en l 'espece. Le juge en chef 
McLachlin conclut, au par. 13, que «la declaration 
de Cook peut etre consideree comme un element 
de preuve circonstancielle qui etaye la deduction 
que Starr s'est retrouve avec la victime plus tard 
cette nuit-la». A mon avis, cette utilisation de la 
declaration de Cook est inacceptable pour Jes rai­
sons exposees plus haut. Le jury aurait du etre pre­
venu expressement qu'il ne pourrait pas se servir 
de la declaration de Cook pour deduire Jes inten­
tions de l'appelant. 

Le juge en chef McLachlin conclut, en outre, 
que la directive que le juge du proces a donnee au 
jury en l'espece constituait une mise en garde suf­
fisante quant a l'utilisation legitime qui pourrait 
etre faite de la declaration de Cook concernant la 
fraude de l' Autopac, meme si aucune directive 
explicite SUI ce point n'avait ete donnee. En toute 
deference, je ne suis pas de cet avis non plus. Il est 
reconnu que, si, en theorie, ii peut y avoir a la fois 
bonne utilisation et mauvaise utilisation d'un ele­
ment de preuve, le juge du proces en matiere cri­
minelle doit donner au jury une directive restric­
tive concernant Jes deductions acceptables qui 
peuvent etre faites de la preuve. V oir R. c. D. 
(L.E.), [1989] 2 R.C.S. 111, a la p. 128; R. c. 
Corbett, [1988] 1 R.C.S. 670, a lap. 695 ; R. c. D. 
(L.E.) (1987), 20 B.C.L.R. (2d) 384 (C.A.), aux 
pp. 398 a 400, le juge McLachlin (maintenant Juge 
en chef du Canada), dissidente; McCormick on 
Evidence, op. cit., vol. 1, au § 59; P. K. 
McWilliams, Canadian Criminal Evidence (3e ed. 
(feuilles mobiles)), vol. 1, a lap. 3-8; Phipson on 
Evidence (l5e ed. 2000), a la p. 110; Sopinka, 
Lederman et Bryant, op. cit., au § 2.83; Cross and 
Tapper on Evidence (9e ed. 1999), a la p. 58; 
Wigmore on Evidence, vol. 1 (Tillers rev. 1983), au 
§ 13; regle 105 des Federal Rules of Evidence des 
Etats-Unis. Outre sa dissidence convaincante dans 
l'arret D. (L.E.) , precite, qui a ete confirrnee en 
appel, les motifs que le juge McLachlin a rediges 
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from the reasons of McLachlin J. in R. v. Rockey, 
[1996] 3 S.C.R. 829, at para. 38: 

It has long been accepted that trial judges charging 
juries on out-of-court statements must instruct them on 
how they may use the statements - whether as evi­
dence of the · truth of their contents or for some other 
purpose, such as credit. In this case the trial judge did 
not do this. It may be that it was apparent to everyone in 
the courtroom that the subsequent statements were ten­
dered on the issue of consistency, as the majority of the 
Court of Appeal suggests. Nevertheless, the usual rule 
requires this to be stated expressly. [Emphasis added.] 

I can see no reason why hearsay statements 
about joint acts should be immune from this most 
sensible rule. Cook's statement, asswning its 
admissibility, may be used to show the intentions 
of the declarant only, not the intentions of the 
appellant. The jury should have been instructed as 
such. As McLachlin J. pointed out in Rockey, 
juries cannot be trusted to detennine what are 
proper and improper uses of evidence; indeed, the 
entire law of evidence is premised on the notion 
that relevant, probative evidence should on occa­
sion be kept from juries because of their potential 
inability to assess its weight properly. 

In this appeal, the trial judge did not instruct the 
jury on the proper uses of Cook's statement; in 
fact, he did the opposite by expressly inviting the 
jury to use the evidence to infer the appellant's 
intentions. In so doing, he clearly committed an 
error of law warranting reversal. 

Finally, I would exclude Cook's statement as 
more prejudicial than probative. The trial judge did 
not make a finding on the issue of reliability. His 
focus was upon the impermissible inferences that 
the jury might draw from otherwise admissible 
hearsay, and he regarded the primary prejudice to 

dans R. c. Rockey, [1996] 3 R.C.S. 829, au par. 38, 
etayent mon point de vue: 

II est accepte depuis longtemps que le juge du proces 
qui donne aux jures des directives relativement a des 
declarations extrajudiciaires doit leur indiquer a quelles 
fins ils peuvent utiliser ces declarations - soit comme 
preuve de la veracite de leur contenu soit a quelque 
autre fin, par exemple !'appreciation de la credibilite. En 
l'espece, le juge du proces ne !'a pas fait. II est possible 
qu'il ait ete evident a tous ceux qui se trouvaient dans la 
salle d' audience que !es declarations ulterieures etaient 
presentees relativement a la question de la coherence, 
corrune le suggere la Cour d'appel a la majorite. Nean­
moins, suivant la regle habituelle, cette directive doit 
etre dormee expressement. [Je souligne.] 

Je ne vois pas pourquoi cette regle fort judi­
cieuse ne devrait pas s'appliquer aux declarations 
relatees portant sur des actes accomplis conjointe­
ment. En supposant qu 'elle est admissible, la 
declaration de Cook peut servir a etablir les inten­
tions du declarant seulement et non celles de l'ap­
pelant. Le jury aurait du recevoir des directives 
en ce sens. Cornme le juge McLachlin l'a sou­
ligne dans l'arret Rockey, on ne peut pas s'en 
remettre au jury pour ce qui est de determiner 
quelles soot Jes bonnes et les mauvaises utilisa­
tions de la preuve; en fait, le droit de la preuve au 
complet repose sur l'idee qu'il y a parfois lieu de 
ne pas soumettre un element de preuve pertinent et 
probant a !'appreciation des jures en raison de leur 
incapacite potentielle d'en apprecier correctement 
le poids. 

En l'espece, le juge du proces n'a donne au jury 
aucune directive sur les utilisations qui pouvaient 
etre faites de la declaration de Cook; en realite, il a 
fait le contraire en invitant expressement le jury a 
utiliser cet element de preuve pour deduire les 
intentions de l'appelant. Ce faisant, il a manifeste­
ment commis une erreur de droit justifiant revi­
sion. 

Enfin, je suis d'avis d'ecarter la declaration de 
Cook pour le motif qu'elle est plus prejudiciable 
que probante. Le juge du proces n'a tire aucune 
conclusion sur la question de la fiabilite. 11 s'est 
concentre sur les deductions inacceptables que le 
jury pourrait faire a partir d 'une preuve par 
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the appellant to be that the jury might infer that he 
was the type of person likely to commit insurance 
fraud. However, as noted above, this was not the 
primary source of prejudice. 

The trial judge erred by not considering whether 
"the prejudicial effect of the prohibited use of the 
evidence [i.e., the appellant's intentions] overbears 
its probative value on the permitted use [i.e., 
Cook's intentions]": Watt's Manual of Criminal 
Evidence (1999), at p. 281 (emphasis in original). 
The impermissible inferences that the jury might 
well have drawn from Cook's statement are that 
the appellant was in the car that followed Cook, 
that the appellant was alone in the car (since Cook 
referred only to the appellant), and that the appel­
lant went with Cook as part of a plan to lure Cook 
to a secluded area and kill him. These were the 
specific impermissible inferences that the jury 
might have drawn in this regard - indeed, they 
are inferences that the Crown specifically invited 
the jury to draw - quite apart from the inferences 
that they might have drawn regarding his general 
criminality. In my view, Twaddle J.A. was correct 
in finding that the prejudicial effect of the admis­
sion of Cook's statement accordingly outweighed 
the statement's probative value. The statement 
ought to have been excluded on this basis as well: 
see R. v. Seaboyer, [1991] 2 S.C.R. 577, at 
pp. 609-11, per McLachlin J. 

I have concluded that Cook's statement does not 
fall within the present intentions exception to the 
hearsay rule. Earlier, I recognized the conflict 
regarding the precise scope of this exception, and 
noted that the principled approach requires adopt­
ing Wigmore's requirement that the statement not 
be made under circumstances of suspicion. I turn 
now to this question of the relationship between 
the principled approach and the traditional hearsay 
exceptions. 

ou"i-dire par ailleurs admissible, et il a considere 
que le principal prejudice que pourrait subir l'ap­
pelant etait la possibilite que le jury deduise qu'il 
etait le genre de personne susceptible de commet­
tre une fraude en matiere d'assurance. Toutefois, 
comme nous l'avons vu, ce n'etait pas la la princi­
pale source de prejudice. 

Le juge du proces a commis une erreur en ne se 
demandant pas si [TRADUCTION] «l'effet prejudicia­
ble de !'utilisation interdite de la preuve [c 'est-a­
dire les intentions de l'appelant] l'emporte sur sa 
valeur probante relative a !'utilisation permise 
[c'est-a-dire les intentions de Cook]»: Watt's 
Manual of Criminal Evidence (1999), a lap. 281 
(en italique dans !'original). Les deductions inac­
ceptables que le jury aurait bien pu faire a partir de 
la declaration de Cook sont que l'appelant etait 
dans !'automobile qui a suivi Cook, qu'il etait seul 
dans cette automobile (puisque Cook n'a men­
tionne que l'appelant) et qu'il avait accompagne 
Cook dans le cadre d 'un plan vis ant a attirer Cook 
dans un endroit retire pour le tuer. Ce sont ces 
deductions inacceptables que le jury aurait pu faire 
a cet egard - en fait, ce sont les deductions que le 
ministere public a invite expressement le jury a 
faire - outre celles qu'il aurait pu faire au sujet de 
la delinquance generale de l'appelant. J'estime que 
le juge Twaddle a eu raison de conclure que l 'effet 
prejudiciable de !'admission de la declaration de 
Cook l'emportait done sur la valeur probante de 
cette declaration. La declaration aurait egalement 
du etre ecartee pour ce motif: voir R. c. Seaboyer, 
[1991] 2 R.C.S. 577, aux pp. 609 a 611, le juge 
McLachlin. 

J'en suis arrive a la conclusion que la declara­
tion de Cook ne releve pas de !'exception des 
intentions existantes a la regle du ou"i-dire. J'ai 
reconnu plus tot I' existence d'un conflit au sujet de 
la portee precise de cette exception et j 'ai souligne 
que la methode fondee sur des principes com­
mande !'adoption de !'exigence de Wigmore que la 
declaration n'ait pas ete faite dans des circons­
tances douteuses. Je vais maintenant aborder la 
question de la relation entre la methode fondee Sur 
des principes et les exceptions traditionnelles a la 
regle du ou"i-dire. 
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(c) Admissibility of Cook 's Statement to 
Giesbrecht Under the Principled Approach 

(i) Why the Principled Approach Should 
Prevail 

Previous Hearsay Jurisprudence 

Before turning to the question of whether 
Cook's statement to Giesbrecht might be admissi­
ble under the principled approach, I would like to 
offer some general observations on the relationship 
between the principled approach and the hearsay 
exceptions. Speaking for this Court in Smith, 
supra, at pp. 932-33, Lamer CJ. emphasized that 
the rules regarding hearsay admissibility in Canada 
were changed by the Court's decision in Khan, 
supra: 

.. . Khan should not be understood as turning on its par­
ticular facts , but, instead, must be seen as a particular 
expression of the fundamental principles that underlie 
the hearsay rule and the exceptions to it. What is impor­
tant, in my view, is the departure signalled by Khan 
from a view of hearsay characterized by a general prohi­
bition on the reception of such evidence, subject to a 
limited number of defined categorical exceptions, and a 
movement towards an approach governed by the princi­
ples which underlie the rule and its exceptions alike . . .. 

This Court's decision in Khan, therefore, signalled an 
end to the old categorical approach to the admission of 
hearsay evidence. Hearsay evidence is now admissible 
on a principled basis, the governing principles being the 
reliability of the evidence, and its necessity. 

Similarly, at p. 930, Lamer CJ. stated: 

The decision of this Court in Khan . . . should be under­
stood as the triumph of a principled analysis over a set 
of ossified judicially created categories. 

In R. v. U (F.J.), [1995] 3 S.C.R. 764, the Court 
suggested the need to reconsider the traditional 
hearsay exceptions in light of the principled 
approach established by Khan and Smith . Speaking 

c) Admissibilite de la declaration de Cook a 
Giesbrecht selon la methode fondee sur des 
principes 

(i) Les raisons pour lesguelles la methode fon­
dee sur des principes devrait l'emporter 

La jurisprudence en matiere de oui~dire 

. Avant d'aborder la question de savoir si la 
declaration de Cook a Giesbrecht pourrait etre 
admissible en vertu de la methode fondee sur des 
principes, j'airnerais faire quelques observations 
generales sur la relation entre la methode fondee 
sur des principes et Jes exceptions a la regle du 
ou·i-dire. S' exprirnant au nom de la Cour dans l'ar­
ret Smith, precite, aux pp. 932 et 933, le juge en 
chef Lamer a souligne que les regles en matiere 
d'admissibilite de la preuve par ou·i-dire au Canada 
avaient ete modifiees par l'arret Khan, precite, de 
notre Cour: 

... l'arret Khan doit etre considere non pas comme un 
cas d'espece, mais plutot comme une expression parti­
culiere des p1incipes fondamentaux qui sous-tendent la 
regle du ou·i-dire et ses exceptions. Ce qui importe, a 
mon avis, c' est que l'arret Khan s'est ecarte d'une con­
ception de la preuve par ou"i-dire caracterisee par une 
interdiction generale de la reception d'une telle preuve, 
sous reserve d'un nombre restreint de categories d'ex­
ceptions definies, et qu ' il represente une evolution vers 
une conception regie par !es principes qui sous-tendent 
la regle ainsi que ses exceptions .. . 

L'arret Khan de noire Cour a done annonce la fin de 
l'ancienne conception, fondee sur des categories d'ex­
ceptions, de !'admission de la preuve par ou"i-dire. L'ad­
mission de la preuve par ou"i-dire est desormais fondee 
sur des principes, dont !es principaux sont la fiabilite de 
la preuve et sa necessite. 

De meme, a la p. 930, le juge en chef Lamer a 
affinne: 

L'arret Khan de noire Cour doit [ ... ] etre perr;:u comme 
le triomphe d'une analyse fondee sur des principes sur 
un ensemble de categories sclerosees conc;:ues par Jes tri­
bunaux. 

Dans l'arret R. c. U (F.J.), [1995] 3 R.C.S. 764, 
notre Cour a indique la necessite de reexaminer les 
exceptions traditionnelles a la regle du ou"i-dire a la 
lumiere de la methode fondee sur des principes 
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for the majority of the Court, Lamer CJ. pointed 
to the illogical nature of some of the exceptions, 
and to the need for principled refonn (at para. 20): 

Briefly stated, Khan and Smith announced this 
Court's commitment to ensure that the rule against the 
admission of hearsay as evidence would be sufficiently 
flexible to adapt to new situations. The hearsay rule and 
its rigidly fo1mulated exceptions had become a some­
times illogical and frequently confusing se1ies of 
pigeon-hole categories. Khan and Smith examined the 
principles underlying the hearsay rule to ensure that new 
developments in the evidentiary treatment of hearsay 
would reflect those tenets. [Emphasis added.] 

Similarly, in R. v. Hawkins , [1996] 3 S.C.R. 1043, 
at para. 66, the majority of the Court emphasized: 

In Khan and Smith, this Court signalled the begi1ming 
of a modem principled framework for defining excep­
tions to the hearsay rule. The Court rejected the tradi­
tional approach of the common law premised on rigid, 
categotical exceptions to the hearsay rule in favour of a 
more flexible approach which seeks to give effect to the 
underlying purposes of the rule. [Emphasis added.] 

Up to the present, this Court's application of the 
principled approach to hearsay admissibility in 
practice has involved only expanding the scope of 
hearsay admissibility beyond the traditional excep­
tions. The focus of the Court's analysis and com­
mentary has been upon the need to increase the 
flexibility of the existing exceptions, and not spe­
cifically upon the need to re-examine the excep­
tions themselves. However, this case requires that 
we examine an exception to the hearsay rule and 
determine its co-existence with the principled 
approach. As I will discuss further, to the extent 
that the various exceptions may conflict with the 
requirements of a principled analysis, it is the prin­
cipled analysis that should prevail. 

etablie dans les arrets Khan et Smith. S'exprimant 
au nom de la Cour a la majorite, le juge en chef 
Lamer a souligne l'illogisme de certaines excep­
tions et le besoin de reforme fondee sur des prin­
cipes (au par. 20): 

En bref, les arrets Khan et Smith ont annonce !'enga­
gement de notre Cour de garantir que la regle interdisant 
!'admission du oul-dire comme preuve soit suffisam­
ment souple pour s'adapter aux nouvelles situations. La 
regle du ou·i-dire et ses exceptions rigidement formul6e°S 
etaient devenues une serie de categories compartimen­
tees, parfois illogique, qui creait souvent de la confu­
sion. Dans Jes arrets Khan et Smith, Jes principes qui 
sous-tendent la regle du ou·i-dire ont ete examines pour 
veiller a ce gue la nouvelle tendance dans le traitement 
reserve au ou·i-dire par le droit de Ia preuve retlete ces 
principes. [Je souligne.] 

De meme, dans l'arret R. c. Hawkins, [1996] 3 
R.C.S. 1043, au par. 66, notre Cour a la majorite a 
souligne: 

Dans Jes arrets Khan et Smith, noire Cour a signale le 
debut d'une analyse moderne fondee sur des principes 
pour definir Jes exceptions a Ia regle du oul-dire. Notre 
Cour a rejete la methode traditi01melle de la common 
law fondee sur des categories d' exceptions rigides a la 
regle du ou"i-dire en faveur d ' une methode plus soupie 
qui cherche a donner effet aux objets qui sous-tendent la 
regle. [Je souligne.] 

Jusqu'a maintenant, !'application par notre Cour 
de la methode fondee Sur des principes en matiere 
d'admissibilite de la preuve par ou·i-dire s'est limi­
tee, en pratique, a elargir la portee de l'admissibi­
lite de la preuve par ou·i-dire au-dela des excep­
tions traditionnelles. L'analyse et les observations 
de la Cour ont ete axees sur la necessite d'accroltre 
la souplesse des exceptions existantes, et non pas 
particulierement Sur la necessite de reexaminer Jes 
exceptions elles-memes. Toutefois, la presente 
affaire exige que nous examinions une exception a 
la regle du ou"i-dire et que nous nous prononcions 
sur sa coexistence avec la methode fondee sur des 
principes. Comme je vais !'analyser davantage 
plus loin, dans la mesure oil il peut exister un con­
flit entre les diverses exceptions et Jes exigences 
d'une analyse fondee sur des principes, c'est cette 
demiere qui doit l'emporter. 
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The applicability of the principled approach to 
the exclusion as well as inclusion of evidence is 
implicitly confirmed by Khan itself. At p. 543 of 
her reasons for a unanimous panel, McLachlin J. 
addressed recent developments in the law with 
respect to the testimony of child victims of sexual 
assault: 

These developments underline the need for increased 
flexibility in the interpretation of the hearsay rule to per­
mit the admission in evidence of statements made by 
children to others about sexual abuse. In so far as they 
are tied to the exception to the hearsay rule of spontane­
ous declarations, however, they suffer from certain 
defects. There is no requirement that resort to the hear­
say evidence be necessary. Even where the evidence of 
the child might easily be obtained without undue 
trauma, the Crown would be able to use hearsay evi­
dence. Nor is there any requirement that the reliabi lity 
of the evidence in the particular case be established; 
hence inherently unreli able evidence might be admitted. 
[Emphasis added.] 

Thus the Court in Khan declined simply to enlarge 
the traditional exceptions because doing so might 
have allowed into evidence unnecessary or unrelia­
ble evidence, thereby falling afoul of the princi­
pled approach. It therefore makes little sense to say 
that the current exceptions need not meet the same 
standard. 

In this light, it is noteworthy that several provin­
cial courts of appeal have already begun a recon­
sideration of the appropriateness of relying upon 
the traditional hearsay exceptions. Several Courts 
of Appeal have suggested that "the traditional rules 
governing the admissibility of hearsay evidence 
are no longer controlling. Reliability and necessity 
are now the determining factors": see, e.g., R. v. 
Kelly (1999), 213 N.B.R. (2d) 1 (C.A.), at p. 39; 
and R. v. R. (D.) (1995), 98 C.C.C. (3d) 353 (Sask. 
C.A.), at p. 428, per Vancise J.A. (dissenting, but 
not on this point). However, even a relatively cur­
sory review of lower court decisions reveals a wide 
range of approaches to the principled approach and 
its effect on existing exceptions. See R. v. Grand­
Pierre (1998), 124 C.C.C. (3d) 236 (Que. C.A.), at 
pp. 242-43; R. v. Bisson (1997), 114 C.C.C. (3d) 

L'applicabilite de la fayon fondee sur des prin­
cipes d'aborder l'~xclusion ainsi que !'inclusion de 
la preuve est implicitement confirmee par l'arret 
Khan lui-meme. A la page 543 des motifs qu'elle a 
rediges au nom d 'une formation unanime de la 
Cour, le juge McLachlin a aborde !'evolution 
recente du droit en ce qui concerne le temoignage 
des enfants victimes d'agression sexuelle: 

Cette evolution fait ressortir la necessite d'une plus 
grande souplesse dans !'interpretation de la regle du ou·i­
dire pour permettre !'admission en preuve des declara­
tions faites par des enfants a d 'autres personnes au sujet 
d'abus sexuels. Cependant, dans la mesure ou elle est 
liee a !'exception de la regle du ou'i-dire en matiere de 
declarations spontanees, elle comporte ce11aines 
lacunes. Rien n'indique qu'il faille recourir a la preuve 
par ou·i-dire. Meme lorsqu'il pourrait etre facile d'obte­
nir le temoignage de l'enfant sans le traumatiser indG­
ment, le ministere public pourrait utiliser la preuve par 
ou·i-dire. Rien n'exige non plus que la fiabilite du temoi­
gnage rendu dans l'affaire en question soit etablie; d'ou 
la possibilite qu 'un temoignage qui en soi n'est pas 
digne de foi soit admis. [Je souligne.] 

Dans l'arret Khan, notre Cour a done simplement 
refuse d'elargir les exceptions traditionnelles parce 
que cela aurait pu permettre !'admission d'une 
preuve qui n'etait ni necessaire ni fiable, ce qui 
aurait contrevenu a la methode fondee sur des prin­
cipes. 11 est done peu logique d'affinner que Jes 
exceptions actuelles n'ont pas a respecter la meme 
norme. 

A cet egard, il vaut la peine de souligner que 
plusieurs cours d'appel provinciales ont deja entre­
pris un reexamen de l'opportunite d'invoquer les 
exceptions traditionnelles a la regle du ou!-dire. 
Plusieurs cours d'appel ont affinne que <des regles 
traditionnelles regissant l'admissibilite de la 
preuve par oul-dire ne sont plus detenninantes. La 
fiabilite et la necessite sont maintenant les facteurs 
detenninants»: voir, par exemple, R. c. Kelly 
(1999), 213 R.N.-B. (2e) 1 (C.A.), a lap. 39, et R. 
c. R. (D.) (1995), 98 C.C.C. (3d) 353 (C.A. Sask.), 
a lap. 428, le juge Vancise (dissident, mais non sur 
ce point). Toutefois, meme un examen relative­
ment superficiel des decisions des tribunaux d'ins­
tance inferieure revele une grande variete de 
manieres d'aborder la methode fondee sur des 
principes et ses effets sur les exceptions existantes. 
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154 (Que. C.A.), at p. 177; R. v. Chahley (1992), 
72 C.C.C. (3d) 193 (B.C.C.A.); Wepruk(Guardian 
ad !item of) v. McMillan Estate (1993), 77 
B.C.L.R. (2d) 273 (C.A.); R. v. Crossley (1997), 
117 C.C.C. (3d) 533 (B.C.C.A.); R. v. Collins 
(1997), 118 C.C.C. (3d) 514 (B.C.C.A.); and R. v. 
Warner (1994), 94 C.C.C. (3d) 540 (Ont. C.A.), at 
p. 551. 

Commentators 

Questions as to whether and how the traditional 
hearsay exceptions should be modified in light of 
the principled approach have also been discussed 
in the academic literature. Some commentators 
favour reforming the exceptions to make them an 
inherent aspect of a logical and coherent approach 
to hearsay admissibility based on reliability and 
necessity: see, e.g., M. Rosenberg, "B. (KG.) -
Necessity and Reliability: The New Pigeon-holes" 
(1993), 19 C.R. (4th) 69; D. Rowsell, "Necessity 
and Reliability: What is the Impact of Khan on the 
Admissibility of Hearsay in Canada?" (1991), 49 
UT. Fae. L. Rev. 294; E. Then, "Dying Declara­
tions Following Khan and Smith: Are They Neces­
sarily Reliable?", in National Criminal Law Pro­
gram: Criminal Evidence (1994), vol. 1, section 
6.5; A. L.-T. Choo, Hearsay and Conji-ontation in 
Criminal Trials (1996), at pp. 166-70. 

In "B. (KG.) - Necessity and Reliability: The 
New Pigeon-holes", an article published before his 
appointment to the bench, Marc Rosenberg states 
that this Court's decisions in Khan, Smith, and B. 
(KG.) signify that "it must .. . be open to the 
courts to revisit any established exception to deter­
mine whether that exception can still be justified 
on the basis of necessity and reliability" (p. 71). 
Rosenberg explains, at pp. 80-81 : 

[T]he reason which justifies an existing exception may 
in time be found to be wanting. The exceptions were 
created as the courts from time to time applied common 
sense and experience, but ideas which seemed reasona-

Voir R. c. Grand-Pierre (1998), 124 C.C.C. (3d) 
236 (C.A. Que.), aux pp. 242 et 243; R. c. Bisson, 
[1997] R.J.Q. 286 (C.A.), a la p. 298; R. c. 
Chahley (1992), 72 C.C.C. (3d) 193 (C.A.C.-B.); 
Wepruk (Guardian ad !item of) c. McMillan Estate 
(1993), 77 B.C.L.R. (2d) 273 (C.A.); R. c. Crossley 
(1997), 117 C.C.C. (3d) 533 (C.A.C.-B.); R. c. 
Collins (1997), 118 C.C.C. (3d) 514 (C.A.C.-B.); 
et R. c. Warner (1994), 94 C.C.C. (3d) 540 (C.A. 
Ont.), a lap. 551. 

La doctrine 

La doctrine traite egalement des questions de 
savoir si et comment les exceptions traditionnelles 
a la regle du ou"i-dire doivent etre modifiees a la 
lumiere de la methode fondee sur des principes. 
Certains commentateurs preconisent une reforme 
des exceptions pour les integrer dans une fas;on 
logique et coherente d'aborder l'admissibilite de la 
preuve par ou·i-dire en fonction des principes de 
fiabilite et de necessite: voir, par exemple, 
M. Rosenberg, <<B. (KG.) - Necessity and Relia­
bility: The New Pigeon-holes» (1993), 19 C.R. 
(4th) 69; D. Rowsell, «Necessity and Reliability: 
What is the Impact of Khan on the Admissibility 
of Hearsay in Canada?» (1991), 49 UT. Fae. L. 
Rev. 294; E. Then, «Dying Declarations Following 
Khan and Smith : Are They Necessarily Reliable?», 
dans National Criminal Law Program: Criminal 
Evidence (1994), vol. 1, section 6.5; A. L.-T. 
Choo, Hearsay and Conji-ontation in Criminal 
Trials (1996), aux pp. 166 a 170. 

Dans l'article intitule «B. (KG.) - Necessity 
and Reliability: The New Pigeon-holes» qu'il a 
publie avant d'etre nomme juge, Marc Rosenberg 
affinne que les arrets de notre Cour Khan, Smith et 
B. (KG.) signifient [TR.ADUCTION] «[qu']il doit 
[ ... ] etre loisible aux tribunaux de reexaminer 
toute exception reconnue pour determiner si elle 
est toujours justifiable en fonction de la necessite 
et de la fiabilite» (p. 71). Rosenberg explique, aux 
pp. 80 et 81 : 

[TRADUCTION] [L]a raison qui justifie !'existence d'une 
exception peut, a la longue, etre jugee insuffisante. Les 
exceptions ont ete creees au fur et a mesure que Jes tri­
bunaux recouraient au bon sens et a !'experience 
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ble in the 19th century may appear questionable in the 
late 20th century. As early as 1913 Hamilton L.J. in 
considering the exception for statements against pecuni­
ary interest where the circumstantial guarantee of trust­
worthiness is said to lie in the fact that persons will not 
lie to their pecuniary disadvantage observed that as a 
reason for admitting hearsay this one was "sordid and 
unconvincing" noting that "Men lie for so many reasons 
and some for no reason at all; and some tell the truth 
without thinking about their pockets". 

Other writers have been less · convinced of the 
benefits of altering the traditional hearsay excep­
tions. Their concerns have generally been focussed 
upon the harm that they suggest would result from 
the complete abolition of the exceptions, rather 
than upon the effects of a piecemeal reform of the 
exceptions to comply with the principled approach. 
See, e.g., P. B. Carter, "Hearsay: Whether and 
Whither?" (1993), 109 L.Q.R. 573; D. A. R. 
Thompson, "The Supreme Court Goes Hunting 
and Nearly Catches a Hearsay Woozle" (1995), 37 
C.R. (4th) 282. 

The concerns expressed in the academic com­
mentary warrant careful consideration, and are of 
assistance in determining how best to rationalize 
the traditional exceptions in light of the underlying 
principles of the rule. In my view, there are two 
paramount reasons to reconsider the hearsay 
exceptions, namely: first, trial fairness and the 
integrity of the justice system; and second, the 
intellectual coherence of the law of hearsay. 

Why the Exceptions Must be Rationalized 

As I have already discussed, a fundamental con­
cern with reliability lies at the heart of the hearsay 
rule. By excluding evidence that might produce 
unfair verdicts, and by ensuring that litigants will 
generally have the opportunity to confront adverse 
witnesses, the hearsay rule serves as a cornerstone 
of a fair justice system. 

acquise, mais des idees qui semblaient raisonnables au 
xrxe siecle peuvent paraltre discutables a la fin du xxe 
siecle. Des 1913, en examinant !'exception applicable 
aux declarations prejudiciables aux interets financiers de 
leur auteur, au sujet desquelles on pretend que la garan­
tie circonstancielle de fiabilite reside dans le fait que Jes 
gens ne mentent pas au detriment de leurs interets finan­
ciers, le lord juge Hamilton a fait remarquer que, pour 
justifier !'admission du ou'i-dire, cette exception etait 
«sordide et non convaincante», soulignant que «Des 
hommes mentent pour un certain nombre de raisons, et 
d 'autres le font sans raison; de plus, ce1iains di sent la 
vfaite sans penser a leurs poches». 

D'autres auteurs sont moins convaincus des 
avantages de modifier les exceptions tradition­
nelles a la regle du ou"i-dire. Leurs preoccupations 
sont generalement axees sur le tort qui, selon eux, 
resulterait de l'abolition complete de ces excep­
tions, plutot que sur les effets d'une refonne a la 
piece des exceptions qui vise a respecter la 
methode fondee sur des principes. Voir, par 
exemple, P. B. Carter, «Hearsay: Whether and 
Whither?» (1993), 109 L.Q.R. 573; D. A. R. 
Thompson, «The Supreme Court Goes Hunting 
and Nearly Catches a Hearsay Woozle» (1995), 37 
C.R. (4th) 282. 

Les preoccupations exprimees dans la doctrine 
meritent d'etre examinees attentivement et soot 
utiles pour detenniner la meilleure maniere de 
rationaliser Jes exceptions traditionnelles en fonc­
tion des principes qui sous-tendent la regle. Selon 
moi, il y a deux raisons majeures de reexaminer les 
exceptions a la regle du ou"i-dire, a savoir, premie­
rement, l'equite du proces et l'integrite du systeme 
de justice, et, deuxiemement, la coherence intellec­
tuelle du droit de la preuve par ou"i-dire. 

Les raisons pour lesquelles les exceptions doi­
vent etre rationalisees 

Comme nous l'avons vu, une preoccupation fon­
damentale de fiabilite est au cceur de la regle du 
ou"i-dire. En ecartant !es elements de preuve sus­
ceptibles de donner lieu a des verdicts inequitables 
et en assurant que les parties aient generalement la 
possibilite de confronter des temoins opposes, la 
regle du ou·i-dire est une pierre angulaire d 'un sys­
teme de justice equitable. 
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In Khan, Smith, and subsequent cases, this Court 
allowed the admission of hearsay not fitting within 
an established exception where it was sufficiently 
reliable and necessary to address the traditional 
hearsay dangers . However, this concern for relia­
bility and necessity should be no less present when 
the hearsay is sought to be introduced under an 
established exception. This is particularly true in 
the criminal context given the "fundamental prin­
ciple of justice, protected by the Charter, that the 
innocent must not be convicted": R. v. Leipert, 
[1997] 1 S.C.R. 281, at para. 24, quoted in R. v. 
Mills, [1999] 3 S.C.R. 668, at para. 71. It would 
compromise trial fairness, and raise the spectre of 
wrongful convictions, if the Crown is allowed to 
introduce unreliable hearsay against the accused, 
regardless of whether it happens to fall within an 
existing exception. 

In addition to improving trial fairness, bringing 
the hearsay exceptions into line with the principled 
approach will also improve the intellectual coher­
ence of the law of hearsay. It would seem anoma­
lous to label an approach "principled" that applies 
only to the admission of evidence, not its exclu­
sion. Rationalizing the hearsay exceptions into the 
principled approach shows that the former are sim­
ply specific manifestations of general principles, 
rather than the isolated "pigeon-holes" referred to 
in U. (F.J.), supra, at para. 20. 

The Continuing Importance of the Existing 
Exceptions 

Having recognized the primacy of the principled 
approach, it is nevertheless important for a court to 
exercise a certain degree of caution when reconsid­
ering the traditional exceptions. While the excep­
tions may need to be reexamined in light of the 
principled approach, their complete abolition is not 
the answer. Rather, the exceptions continue to play 
an important role under the principled approach. 

Dans Jes arrets Khan et Smith et d'autres arrets 
subsequents, notre Cour a pennis !'admission 
d'elements de preuve par ou·i-dire qui ne relevaient 
pas d 'une exception reconnue, lorsque ces ele­
ments de preuve etaient suffisamment fiables et 
necessaires pour remedier aux dangers tradition-
nels du ou·i-dire. Cependant, cette preoccupation de 
fiabilite et de necessite ne doit pas etre moindre 
lorsqu' on cherche a presenter une preuve par ou"i-
dire en vertu d'une exception reconnue. Cela est 
particulierement vrai en matiere criminelle, etant 
donne que «la regle selon laquelle !'innocent ne 
doit pas etre declare coupable est un principe de 
justice fondamentale garanti par la Charle»: R. c. 
Leipert, [1997] 1 R.C.S . 281 , au par. 24, cite dans 
l' arret R. c. Mills, [1999] 3 R.C.S . 668, au par. 71. 
Si on pennettait au ministere public de presenter 
une preuve par ou"i-dire non fiable contre !'accuse, 
peu importe qu'elle Se trouve OU non a reJever 
d'une exception existante, cela compromettrait 
l'equite du proces et ferait appara'itre le spectre des 
declarations de culpabilite erronees. 
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d'adapter Jes exceptions a la regle du ou"i-dire a la 
methode fondee sur des principes augmentera ega­
lement la coherence intellectuelle du droit de la 
preuve par ou"i-dire. II semblait anormal de quali-
fier de «fondee SUI des principes» Ja methode qui 
ne s'applique qu'a !'admission de la preuve et non 
pas a son exclusion. La rationalisation des excep-
tions a la regle du ou"i-dire en fonction de la 
methode fondee sur des principes demontre que 
ces exceptions sont simplement des manifestations 
particulieres de principes generaux, plutot que Jes 
«categories compartimentees» mentionnees dans 
l'arret U. (F.J), precite, au par. 20. 

L 'importance constante des exceptions exis­
tantes 

Apres avoir reconnu la primaute de la methode 
fondee sur des principes, ii est toutefois important 
qu'un tribunal demontre une certaine prudence en 
reexaminant !es exceptions traditionnelles. Bien 
qu'il puisse etre necessaire de reexaminer ces 
exceptions en fonction de la methode fondee sur 
des principes, leur abolition totale n'est pas la 
solution. Au contraire, Jes exceptions continuent de 
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Our task therefore is to reconcile the traditional 
exceptions with the principled approach. 

One important function that the hearsay excep­
tions have served has been to add predictability 
and certainty to the law of hearsay. In light of the 
exceptions, and regardless of how illogical or arbi­
trary they may be, litigants can be more or less cer­
tain when going into court of the types of issues 
that will be relevant in debating admissibility in a 
particular context, and of the likelihood that the 
evidence will indeed be admitted. This certainty 
has fostered greater efficiency in the use of court 
time both at trial and on appeal, and has facilitated 
the task of the too frequently overburdened trial 
judge who is called upon to rule on hearsay admis­
sibility with speed and considerable regularity. As 
suggested by Rosenberg, supra, at p. 75, a com­
plete abolition of the exceptions and their replace­
ment by the principled approach standing alone 
would complicate the judicial task: 

[I]t is unfair to simply leave the decision as to the 
admission of hearsay completely open-ended, leaving 
the trial judges without any analytical tool for determin­
ing what is reasonably necessary. To simply define the 
test in terms of reliability and necessity is just too vague 
to be of any practical use. With all its rigidity and anom­
alies a hearsay rule consisting of a broad rule of exclu­
sion with certain well-defined exceptions was relatively 
easy to apply. Taking away all of the rules and replacing 
them with necessity and reliability, while perhaps not 
inviting chaos, does make the role of the trial judge that 
much more difficult. [Emphasis in original.] 

Second, in addition to serving the utilitarian 
goals of providing greater certainty and fostering 
judicial efficiency, the exceptions have served an 
explanatory or educative function, instructing liti­
gants and judges about the relevant factors to con­
sider in detennining whether to admit a particular 
~ of hearsay evidence, or whether to adtnit 

jouer un role important dans la methode fondee sur 
des principes. II nous incombe done de concilier 
les exceptions traditionnelles avec la methode fon­
dee sur des principes. 

Les exceptions a la regle du ou!-dire jouent un 
role important en conferant Ull element de previsi­
biJite et de certitude au droit de la preuve par ou·i­
dire. A la lumiere de ces exceptions, quelque illo­
giques et arbitraires qu'elles puissent etre, les par­
ties peuvent etre plus OU mOillS certaines, lors­
qu 'elles vont en cour, du genre de questions qui 
seront pertinentes pour debattre la question de 
l'admissibilite dans un contexte particulier et des 
chances que la preuve soit effectivement admise. 
Cette certitude a favorise une plus grande effica­
cite dans )'utilisation du temps de la cour, tant au 
proces qu'en appel, et a facilite la tache du juge du 
proces qui est trop souvent surcharge de travail et 
qui doit frequemrnent prendre des decisions 
rapides en matiere d'admissibiJite de la preuve par 
ou·i-dire. Comme l'a indique Rosenberg, foe. cit., a 
la p. 75, l'abolitio11 totale des exceptions et leur 
remplacement par la seule methode fondee sur des 
principes compliqueraient la tache des tribunaux: 

[TRADUCTION] [I]l est injuste que l'on se contente de 
laisser entierement libre la decision qui peut etre prise 
en matiere d'admission de la preuve par ou·i-dire et de 
priver ainsi le juge du proces de tout instrument 
d'analyse pour determiner ce qui est raisormablement 
necessaire. Definir simplement le critere en termes de 
fiabilite et de necessite est vraiment trop vague pour etre 
de quelque utilite que ce soit sur le plan pratique. Mal­
gre toute sa rigidite et ses anomalies, une regle du ou·i­
dire consistant en une regle generate d'exclusion com­
portant certaines exceptions bien definies etait relative­
ment facile a appliquer. Meme si cela n'ouvre peut-etre 
pas la porte au chaos, le fait d' eliminer toutes les regles 
et de !es remplacer par la necessite et la fiabilite rend la 
tache du juge du proces d'autant plus ardue. [En italique 
dans !'original.] 

Deuxiemement, en plus de servir les objectifs 
utiJitaires d'assurer une plus grande certitude et de 
favoriser l'efficacite des tribunaux, Jes exceptions 
rempJissent une fonction explicative ou educative, 
en infonnant Jes parties et les juges des facteurs 
qui doivent etre examines pour determiner s'il ya 
lieu d'admettre un type particulier de preuve par 
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hearsay in a particular factual context. Different 
hearsay scenarios by their nature raise different 
reliability concerns, and different issues of neces­
sity. The specific requirements of the individual 
exceptions have had the useful effect of focussing 
attention upon the peculiar factors that make it 
desirable, or undesirable, to admit a particular 
form of out-of-court statement. This should be no 
surprise given Lamer C.J. 's statement in Smith, 
supra, that the principled approach is "governed 
by the principles which underlie the [hearsay] rule 
and its exceptions alike" (p. 932). Since the princi­
pled approach is implicit in most of the exceptions, 
they are likely to be strong evidence of necessity 
and reliability. 

It is true that there is guidance inherent in the 
principled approach itself, which directs a court to 
gauge whether a particular hearsay statement is 
reliable and whether its admission is necessary in 
the circumstances. However, the exceptions are 
more fact-specific and contextually sensitive. 
Properly modified to conform to the principled 
approach, the exceptions are practical manifesta­
tions of the principled approach in concrete and 
meaningful form. Indeed, it is precisely to illus­
trate the fonn of analysis under the principled 
approach that must occur in a particular factual 
context that this Court in its recent cases has out­
lined carefully the type of inquiry that must occur 
when dealing with a particular type of hearsay, 
whether it be the testimony of a child witness 
(Khan, supra), a prior inconsistent statement (B. 
(K.G.), supra, and U. (F.J), supra), or prior testi­
mony (Hawkins, supra). Some commentators have 
suggested that the Court's recent hearsay jurispru­
dence may accordingly be seen as creating new 
hearsay exceptions to supplement the traditional 
exceptions: see, e.g., Carter, supra, at p. 579. Per­
haps a more accurate characterization is to say that 
all of the hearsay "exceptions" should be seen 
simply as concrete examples of the practical 

ou'i-dire ou s'il ya lieu d'admettre un ou'i-dire dans 
un contexte factuel particulier. De par leur nature, 
differents scenarios de ou·i-dire soulevent diffe­
rentes preoccupations de fiabilite et differentes 
questions de necessite. Les exigences precises de 
chaque exception ont eu pour effet utile d'attirer 
!'attention sur les facteurs particuliers qui font en 
sorte qu'il est ou n'est pas souhaitable d'admettre 
une forme particuliere de declaration extrajudi­
ciaire. Il ne devrait pas etre etonnant, compte tenu 
de la declaration du juge en chef Lamer dans l'ar­
ret Smith, precite, que la methode fondee sur des 
principes soit «regie par !es principes qui sous-ten­
dent la regle [du ou'i-dire] ainsi que ses excep­
tions» (p. 932). Comme la methode fondee sur des 
principes est implicite dans la plupart des excep­
tions, ces demieres sont susceptibles de constituer 
une preuve solide de necessite et de fiabilite. 

Il est vrai que la methode fondee sur des prin­
cipes elle-meme contient des indications qui aident 
le tribunal a evaluer si une declaration relatee par­
ticuliere est fiable et si son admission est neces­
saire dans Jes circonstances. Toutefois, les excep­
tions dependent plus des faits et tiennent davantage 
compte du contexte. Si elles sont modifiees correc­
tement de maniere a etre confonnes a la methode 
fondee sur des principes, Jes exceptions seront des 
manifestations pratiques sous forme concrete et 
utile de la methode fondee sur des principes. En 
effet, c'est justement pour illustrer la forme 
d'analyse que la methode fondee sur des principes 
commande dans un contexte factuel particulier 
que, dans ses recents arrets, notre Cour a expose 
soigneusement le genre d'examen qui doit etre 
effectue lorsqu'il est question d'un type particulier 
de oul-dire, qu'il s'agisse du temoignage d'un 
enfant (Khan, precite), d'une declaration antfaieure 
incompatible (B. (K.G.) et U. (F.J), precites), ou 
d'un temoignage anterieur (Hawkins, precite). Cer­
tains commentateurs ont indique que la jurispru­
dence recente de notre Cour en matiere de ou·i-dire 
peut done etre per9ue cmnme creant de nouvelles 
exceptions a la regle du oul-dire afin de completer 
les exceptions traditionnelles: voir, par exemple, 
Carter, Zoe. cit., a la p. 579. Une qualification plus 
juste pourrait consister a dire que toutes Jes 
«exceptions» a la regle du oul-dire devraient etre 
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application of the purpose and principles of the 
hearsay rule in a particular context. 

A third important function played by the tradi­
tional hearsay exceptions is that they teach us 
about the historical and contemporary rationale for 
admitting certain forms of hearsay. It has quite 
properly been noted that some hearsay exceptions 
allow for the admission of evidence that is unrelia­
ble, unnecessary, or both. In the interest of fairness 
for the litigant against whom it is used, unreliable 
hearsay evidence should never be admitted. Apart 
from that, a review of the traditional exceptions 
reveals that there are reasons beyond "pure" neces­
sity why a court might wish to admit reliable hear­
say evidence. This point was addressed by Lamer 
C.J. in B. (KG.), at pp. 796-97, where he 
explained that the need to permit the admission of 
certain fonns of hearsay can stem not only from 
the unavailability of the out-of-court declarant, but 
also from the quality of the evidence itself. Lamer 
C.J. cited Professor Wigmore's explanation 
(Wigmore on Evidence, vol. 5 (Chadbourn rev. 
1974), at p. 253) that some hearsay evidence "may 
be such that we cannot expect, again, or at this 
time, to get evidence of the same value from the 
same or other sources" (emphasis in original). 
Such hearsay may be admitted, where appropriate, 
less on the basis of necessity and more on the basis 
of "expediency or convenience". The traditional 
exceptions are useful, therefore, because they are 
instructive as to the types of situations that may 
produce hearsay that is the best evidence in the cir­
cumstances. 

There are other important functions served by 
the traditional hearsay exceptions, but the issues I 
have referred to are sufficient to illustrate that it is 
neither desirable nor necessary to abolish these 
exceptions outright. The more appropriate 
approach is to seek to derive the benefits of cer­
tainty, efficiency, and guidance that the exceptions 

simplement pen;:ues comme des exemples concrets 
de l'application pratique de l'objet et des principes 
de la regle du ou'i-dire dans un contexte particulier. 

La troisieme fonction importante des exceptions 
traditionnelles a la regle du ou'i-dire consiste a 
nous enseigner la raison d'etre historique et con­
temporaine de l'admission de certaines fonnes de 
preuve par ou'i-dire. On a eu parfaitement raison de 
souligner que certaines exceptions a la regle du 
ou'i-dire pennettent l'admission d'une preuve qui 
n'est ni fiable ni necessaire. Pour des raisons 
d'equite pour la partie contre qui elle est utilisee, 
une preuve par ou'i-dire qui n'est pas fiable ne 
devrait jamais etre ad.mise. A part cela, l'examen 
des exceptions traditionnelles revele que des rai­
sons autres que la «pure» necessite sont suscep­
tibles d'inciter un tribunal a admettre une preuve 
par ou'i-dire fiable. Le juge en chef Lamer a aborde 
cette question dans l'arret B. (K. G.), aux pp. 796 et 
797, ou il a explique que la necessite de permettre 
l'admission de certaines fonnes de preuve par ou·i­
dire peut decouler non seulement de la non-dispo­
nibilite de l'auteur de la declaration extrajudiciaire, 
mais aussi de la qualite de la preuve elle-meme. Le 
juge en chef Lamer a cite l'explication du profes­
seur Wigmore (Wigmore on Evidence, vol. 5 
(Chadbourn rev. 1974), a lap. 253), selon laquelle 
une preuve par ou'i-dire [TRADUCTION] «peut etre 
telle qu'on ne peut pas s'attendre, de nouveau ou a 
ce moment-ci, a obtenir des memes sources ou 
d'autres sources une preuve de meme valeur» (en 
italique dans l'original) . Une telle preuve par ou·i­
dire peut etre admise, lorsqu'il convient de le faire, 
mains pour des raisons de necessite que pour des 
raisons de «commodite». Les exceptions tradition­
nelles sont done utiles, car elles renseignent sur les 
genres de situation qui peuvent faire en sorte 
qu 'une preuve par ou'i-dire constitue la meilleure 
preuve dans les circonstances. 

Les exceptions traditionnelles a la regle du ou'i­
dire remplissent d'autres fonctions importantes, 
mais les questions que j'ai mentionnees sont suffi­
santes pour montrer qu'il n'est ni souhaitable ni 
necessaire de les abolir totalement. La meilleure 
methode consiste a tenter de tirer profit de la certi­
tude, de l'efficacite et des indications offertes par 
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offer, while adding the benefits of fairness and 
logic that the principled approach provides. The 
task is to rid the exceptions of their arbitrary 
aspects , in order to avoid admitting hearsay evi­
dence that should be excluded. 

(ii) Is Cook's Statement to Giesbrecht Admissi­
ble Under the Principled Approach? 

For much the same reasons why the statement 
did not meet the requirements for admissibility 
under the present intentions exception, I conclude 
that the statement is not admissible under the prin­
cipled approach either. This should not be particu­
larly surprising - as I have discussed above, the 
traditional exceptions are based on the concepts of 
reliability and necessity. While occasionally, as in 
Khan , supra, a statement not falling within an 
existing exception will be admissible under the 
principled approach, this will likely be the excep­
tion, not the rule. 

The first requirement for admissibility under the 
principled approach is reliability. Given my con­
clusion above that Cook's statement was made 
under "circumstances of suspicion", it follows that 
the statement was not reliable. Nor are there any 
other circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness 
that could render the statement reliable. Having 
found that the statement is unreliable, it is unnec­
essary to go on to ask whether it was necessary or 
not. I conclude that Cook's statement to Giesbrecht 
was inadmissible under the principled approach. 
Since it does not fall under an existing exception 
either, for all the reasons given above, the courts 
below erred in admitting this evidence. There 
being no serious argument that the error was one 
that could be saved by the curative provisio, 
s. 686(l)(b)(iii) of the Criminal Code, R.S.C., 
1985, c. C-46, the appeal must be allowed. 

les exceptions, tout en y ajoutant les avantages de 
l'equite et de la logique que foumit la methode 
fondee sur des principes. Il s'agit de debarrasser 
les exceptions de leurs aspects arbitraires afin 
d'eviter !'admission d'une preuve par ou'i-dire qui 
devrait etre ecartee. 

(ii) La declaration de Cook a Giesbrecht est-elle 
admissible en vertu de la methode fondee 
sur des principes? 

Pour a peu pres les memes raisons que celles 
pour lesquelles la declaration ne remplit pas les 
conditions d'admissibilite de !' exception des inten­
tions existantes, je conclus que la declaration n'est 
pas non plus admissible en vertu de la methode 
fondee sur des principes. Cela ne devrait pas etre 
particulierement etonnant car, comme nous I'avons 
vu, Jes exceptions traditionnelles sont fondees sur 
les notions de fiabilite et de necessite. Meme s' il 
peut arriver, conune cela a ete le cas dans l'arret 
Khan, precite, qu'une declaration qui ne releve pas 
d'une exception existante soit admissible en vertu 
de la methode fondee sur des principes, ce sera 
vraisemblablement !'exception et non pas la regle. 

La premiere condition d'admissibilite que com­
porte la methode fondee sur des principes est la 
fiabilite. Etant donne que j'ai conclu plus haut que 
la declaration de Cook a ete faite dans des «cir­
constances douteuses», ii s'ensuit que la declara­
tion n'etait pas fiable. Il n'y a pas non plus 
d'autres garanties circonstancielles de fiabilite sus­
ceptibles de rendre la declaration fiable. Apres 
avoir conclu que la declaration n'est pas fiable, il 
n'est pas necessaire de se demander si elle etait 
necessaire. Je conclus que la declaration de Cook a 
Giesbrecht etait inadmissible en vertu de la 
methode fondee sur des principes. Etant donne 
qu'elle ne releve pas non plus d'une exception 
existante, pour toutes Jes raisons exposees plus 
haut, les cours d' instance inferieure ont comrnis 
une erreur en l'admettant en preuve. En !'absence 
d'argument serieux selon lequel ii pouvait etre 
remedie a l'erreur au moyen de la disposition repa­
ratrice qu'est le sous-al. 686(l)b)(iii) du Code cri­
minel, L.R.C. (1985), ch. C-46, le pourvoi doit etre 
accueilli. 
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( d) Revisiting the Hearsay Exceptions in Future 
Cases 

While the foregoing is perhaps sufficient to dis­
pose of this appeal, the majority of the arguments 
both in the court below and before this Court 
focussed on the relationship between the principled 
approach and the traditional exceptions. Given 
this, and the substantial controversy among both 
lower courts and commentators regarding the 
appropriate relationship between the principled 
approach and the traditional hearsay exceptions, I 
would like to offer some general remarks on this 
issue. I have no doubt that the lower courts will 
develop guidelines over time as circumstances 
warrant. 

I hope from the foregoing that it is clear that the 
existing exceptions are a long-standing and impor­
tant aspect of our law of evidence. I am cognizant 
of their important role, and the need for caution in 
reforming them. Given their continuing impor­
tance, I would expect that in the clear majority of 
cases, the presence or absence of a traditional 
exception will be determinative of admissibility. 

While Khan, supra, and its progeny have set out 
the approach for evidence falling outside a tradi­
tional exception, I would note that evidence falling 
within a traditional exception is presumptively 
admissible. These exceptions traditionally incorpo­
rate an inherent reliability component. For exam­
ple, testimony in fonner proceedings is admitted, 
at least in part, because many of the traditional 
dangers associated with hearsay are not present. As 
pointed out in Sopinka, Lederman and Bryant, 
supra, at pp. 278-79: 

... a statement which was earlier made under oath, sub­
jected to cross-examination and admitted as testimony at 
a former proceeding is received in a subsequent trial 

d) Le reexamen des exceptions a la regle du 
oui~dire dans des affaires fi1tures 

Meme si ce qui precede peut-etre suffisant pour 
trancher le present pourvoi, la plupart des argu­
ments avances en Cour d'appel et devant notre 
Cour etaient axes sur la relation entre la methode 
fondee sur des principes et !es exceptions tradition­
nelles. Compte tenu de cela et de la controverse 
importante dans laquelle !es cours d'instance infe­
rieure et !es auteurs sont engages au sujet de la 
relation qui devrait exister entre la methode fondee 
sur des principes et !es exceptions traditionnelles a 
la regle du ou·i-dire, j'aimerais faire quelques 
observations generales a ce propos. Je n'ai aucun 
doute que !es cours d' instance inferieure etabliront 
des lignes directrices au fur et a mesure que !es cir­
constances le justifieront. 

J'espere qu'il ressort nettement de ce qui pre­
cede que !es exceptions existantes constituent 
depuis longtemps un aspect important de notre 
droit en matiere de preuve. Je suis conscient de 
leur role important et de la necessite de faire mon­
tre de prudence en !es reformant. Compte tenu de 
ieur importance Constante, je m'attendrais a Ce 
que, dans la plupart des cas, la presence ou !'ab­
sence d'une exception traditionnelle soit determi­
nante en matiere d'admissibilite. 

Je souligne que, meme si l'arret Khan, precite, 
et !es arrets qui en decouient Ont etabli la fayon 
d' aborder la preuve qui ne releve pas d'une excep­
tion traditionnelle, la preuve qui releve d'une telle 
exception est presumee admissible. Ces exceptions 
comportent traditionnellement un element de fiabi­
lite inherent. Par exemple, le temoignage fait dans 
le cadre d'une instance anterieure est admis, du 
moins en partie, parce que bien des dangers qui se 
rattachent traditionnellement a la preuve par ou·i­
dire ne se posent pas. Comme il a ete souligne 
dans Sopinka, Lederman et Bryant, op. cit., aux 
pp. 278 et 279: 

[TRADUCTION] .. . une declaration qui a ete faite ante­
rieurement sous la foi du serment, qui a fait l'objet d'un 
contre-interrogatoire et qui a ete admise en tant que 
preuve testimoniale !ors d 'une instance anterieure est 
admise !ors d'un proces ulterieur parce gue les dangers 
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because the dangers underlying hearsay evidence are 
absent. [Emphasis added.] 

Other exceptions are based not on negating tradi­
tional hearsay dangers, but on the fact that the 
statement provides circumstantial guarantees of 
reliability. This approach is embodied in recog­
nized exceptions such as dying declarations, spon­
taneous utterances, and statements against pecuni­
ary interest. 

All this being said, it is also clear that the logic 
of the principled approach demands that it must 
prevail in situations where it is in conflict with an 
existing exception. For example, had there been 
any doubt in this appeal whether the present inten­
tions exception required that the statement not be 
made under circumstances of suspicion, the princi­
pled approach would require holding that it does 
now. Hearsay evidence may only be admitted if it 
is necessary and reliable, and the traditional excep­
tions should be interpreted in a manner consistent 
with this requirement. 

In some rare cases, it may also be possible under 
the particular circwnstances of a case for evidence 
clearly falling within an otherwise valid exception 
nonetheless not to meet the principled approach's 
requirements of necessity and reliability. In such a 
case, the evidence would have to be excluded. 
However, I wish to emphasize that these cases will 
no doubt be unusual, and that the party challenging 
the admissibility of evidence falling within a tradi­
tional exception will bear the burden of showing 
that the evidence should nevertheless be inadmissi­
ble. The trial judge will detennine the procedure 
(whether by voir dire or otherwise) to determine 
admissibility under the principled approach's 
requirements of reasonable necessity and reliabil­
ity. 

In this connection, it is important when examin­
ing the reliability of a statement under the princi­
pled approach to distinguish between threshold and 
ultimate reliability. Only the fonner is relevant to 
admissibility: see Hawkins, supra, at p. 1084. 

gue comporte la preuve par oul-dire ne se posent pas. 
[Je souligne.] 

D'autres exceptions sont fondees non pas sur la 
suppression des dangers traditionnels de la preuve 
par ou'i-dire, mais sur le fait que la declaration 
offre des garanties circonstancielles de fiabilite. 
Cette methode se retrouve dans des exceptions 
reconnues comme les declarations de mourants, les 
declarations spontanees et !es declarations au detri­
ment des interets financiers de leur auteur. 

Ceci etant dit, il est egalement clair que la 
logique de la methode fondee sur des principes 
exige que cette methode l'emporte dans !es cas OU 
elle entre en conflit avec une exception existante. 
Par exemple, s'il y avait eu un doute dans le pre­
sent pourvoi quant a savoir si !'exception des 
intentions existantes exigeait que la declaration 
n'ait pas ete faite dans des circonstances douteu­
ses, la methode fondee sur des principes obligerait 
a conclure qu'elle l'exige maintenant. La preuve 
par ou'i-dire ne peut etre admise que si elle est 
necessaire et fiable, et les exceptions tradition­
nelles doivent etre interpretees d'une maniere con­
fonne a cette exigence. 

II se peut egalement que, dans de rares cas, des 
circonstances particulieres fassent en sorte qu 'une 
preuve manifestement visee par une exception par 
ailleurs valide ne satisfasse toutefois pas aux exi­
gences de necessite et de fiabilite de la methode 
fondee sur des principes. En pareils cas, la preuve 
devrait etre ecartee. Je tiens toutefois a souligner 
que ces cas seront certes inhabituels et que la par­
tie qui conteste l'admissibilite de la preuve visee 
par une exception traditionnelle aura le fardeau de 
demontrer que la preuve doit neanmoins etre inad­
missible. Le juge du proces etablira la procedure 
(par voir-dire ou autrement) applicable pour deter­
miner l'admissibilite en vertu des exigences de 
necessite et de fiabilite raisonnables de la methode 
fondee sur des principes. 

A cet egard, Iorsque Ia fiabilite d'une declara­
tion est exaininee selon la methode fondee sur des 
principes, ii importe d'etablir une distinction entre 
le seuil de fiabilite et la fiabilite absolue. Seu! le 
seuil de fiabilite est pertinent relativement a l'ad-
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Again, it is not appropriate in the circumstances of 
this appeal to provide an exhaustive catalogue of 
the factors that may influence threshold reliability. 
However, our jurisprudence does provide some 
guidance on this subject. Threshold reliability is 
concerned not with whether the statement is true or 
not; that is a question of ultimate reliability. 
Instead, it is concerned with whether or not the cir­
cumstances surrounding the statement itself pro­
vide circumstantial guarantees of trustworthiness. 
This could be because the declarant had no motive 
to lie (see Khan, supra; Smith , supra), or because 
there were safeguards in place such that a lie could 
be discovered (see Hawkins, supra; U. (F.J.), 
supra; B. (K.G.), supra) . 

And indeed, lower courts have recognized that 
the absence of a motive to lie is a relevant factor in 
admitting evidence under the principled approach: 
see R. v. L. (J. W) (1994), 94 C.C.C. (3d) 263 (Ont. 
C.A.); R. v. Tam (1995), 100 C.C.C. (3d) 196 
(B.C.C.A.); R. v. Rose (1998), 108 B.C.A.C. 221; 
see also B. P. Archibald, "The Canadian Hearsay 
Revolution: Is Half a Loaf Better Than No Loaf at 
All?" (1999), 25 Queen's L.J. 1, at p. 34. Con­
versely, the presence of a motive to lie may be 
grounds for exclusion of evidence under the princi­
pled approach. Put another way, it is the role of the 
trial judge to detennine threshold reliability by sat­
isfying him- or herself that notwithstanding the 
absence of the declarant for cross-examination 
purposes, the statement possesses sufficient ele­
ments of reliability that it should be passed on to 
be considered by the trier of fact. 

At the stage of hearsay admissibility the trial 
judge should not consider the declarant's general 
reputation for truthfulness, nor any prior or subse­
quent statements, consistent or not. These factors 
do not concern the circumstances of the statement 
itself. Similarly, I would not consider the presence 
of corroborating or conflicting evidence. On this 
point, I agree with the Ontario Court of Appeal's 
decision in R. v. C. (B.) (1993), 12 O.R. (3d) 608; 
see also Idaho v. Wright, 497 U.S. 805 (1990). In 

missibilite: voir Hawkins, precite, a la p. 1084. La 
encore, il ne convient pas, dans les circonstances 
du present pourvoi, de fournir une liste detaillee 
des facteurs qui peuvent influer sur le seuil de fia­
bilite. Toutefois, notre jurisprudence est utile dans 
une certaine mesure a ce sujet. Le seuil de fiabilite 
ne concerne pas la question de savoir si la declara­
tion est veridique ou non; c'est une question de fia­
bilite absolue. 11 concerne plutot la question de 
savoir si les circonstances ayant entoure la declara­
tion elle-meme offrent des garanties circonstan­
cielles de fiabilite. Ces garanties pourraient decou­
ler du fait que le declarant n'avait aucune raison de 
mentir (voir Khan et Smith, precites) ou du fait 
qu'il y avait des mesures de protection qui pennet­
taient de deceler Jes mensonges (voir Hawkins, U. 
(F.J.) et B. (K.G.), precites). 

En realite, Jes tribunaux d' instance inferieure 
ont reconnu que l'absence de raison de mentir etait 
un facteur pertinent pour admettre un element de 
preuve en vertu de la methode fondee sur des prin­
cipes: voir R. c. L. (J. W) (1994), 94 C.C.C. (3d) 
263 (C.A. Ont.); R. c. Tam (1995), 100 C.C.C. (3d) 
196 (C.A.C.-B.); R. c. Rose (1998), 108 B.C.A.C. 
221; voir egalement B. P. Archibald, «The 
Canadian Hearsay Revolution: Is Half a Loaf 
Better Than No Loaf at All?» (1999), 25 Queen's 
L.J. 1, a Ia p. 34. A !'inverse, la presence d'une 
raison de mentir peut etre un motif d'exclusion en 
vertu de la methode fondee sur des principes. 
Autrement dit, ii appartient au juge du proces 
de fixer le seuil de fiabilite en s'assurant que, 
malgre l' absence du declarant pour fins de contre­
interrogatoire, la declaration comporte suffisam­
ment d'elements de fiabilite pour etre soumise a 
!' appreciation du juge des faits . 

A l'etape de l'admissibilite de la preuve par ou·i­
dire, le juge du proces ne devrait pas tenir compte 
de la reputation generale de sincfaite du declarant, 
ni d'aucune declaration anterieure ou ulterieure, 
compatible ou incompatible. Ces facteurs n'ont pas 
trait aux circonstances de la declaration elle-meme. 
De meme, je ne tiendrais pas compte de la pre­
sence d'une preuve corroborante ou contradictoire. 
Sur ce point, je suis d'accord avec l'arret de la 
Cour d'appel de l'Ontario R. c. C. (B.) (1993), 12 
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swnmary, under the principled approach a court 
must not invade the province of the trier of fact 
and condition admissibility of hearsay on whether 
the evidence is ultimately reliable. However, it will 
need to examine whether the circumstances in 
which the statement was made lend sufficient cred­
ibility to allow a finding of threshold reliability. 

(4) Admissibility of Cheryl Ball's Out-of-Court 
Identification 

The analysis of Cheryl Ball's identification evi­
dence proceeds in much the same way as the fore­
going analysis of Cook's statement to Giesbrecht. I 
conclude that the statement is hearsay, and that it 
does not fall within an existing exception. Since I 
also conclude that the evidence was inadmissible 
under the principled approach, it follows that the 
trial judge erred in admitting the evidence. 

Again I will assume for the purposes of analysis 
the veracity of the testimony of Constables Mad­
den and Macleod at trial. They testified that 
Cheryl Ball identified the appellant as being a man 
she had seen talking to Cook at the Mohawk gas 
station on the night of the murders, and, according 
to Madden, as the man who was also "probably 
driving the other car". It is clear that these state­
ments are hearsay and so are inadmissible unless 
reliable and necessary, because the Crown sought 
to use the statements to show that the appellant 
was present at the Mohawk station, thus creating 
an inference that he had followed them from the 
station and was driving the smaller car Cheryl Ball 
saw when she left Cook and Weselowski in St. 
Norbert. The issue before the trial judge was 
whether the evidence was admissible pursuant to 
the "prior identification" exception to the hearsay 
rule. The trial judge found that the exception did 
apply. 

O.R. (3d) 608; voir egalement Idaho c. Wright, 497 
U.S. 805 (1990). En reswne, en vertu de la 
methode fondee Sur des principes, Je tribunal ne 
doit pas empieter sur la competence du juge des 
faits ni subordonner l'admissibilite de la preuve 
par ou'i-dire a la question de savoir si la preuve est 
absolwnent fiable . Il devra cependant examiner si 
les circonstances ayant entoure la declaration con­
ferent suffisa1nment de credibilite pour pouvoir 
conclure que le seuil de fiabilite est atteint. 

( 4) Admissibilite de I' identification extrajudi­
ciaire par Cheryl Ball 

L'analyse de la preuve d'identification fournie 
par Cheryl Ball s'effectue a peu pres de la meme 
maniere que l'analyse precedente de la declaration 
de Cook a Giesbrecht. Je conclus que la declara­
tion est du ou·i-dire et qu'elle ne releve pas d'une 
exception existante. Etant donne que je conclus 
egalement que cet element de preuve etait inadmis­
sible en vertu de la methode fondee sur des prin­
cipes, ii s'ensuit que le juge du proces a c01nmis 
une erreur en l' admettant. 

La encore, je vais tenir pour avere, aux fins de 
l'analyse, le temoignage des agents Madden et 
Macleod au proces. Ils ont temoigne que Cheryl 
Ball avait identifie l'appelant c01nme etant 
l'homme qu 'elle avait vu parler a Cook a la sta­
tion-service Mohawk la nuit des meurtres et, selon 
Madden, comme etant aussi l'homme qui [TRADUC­
TION] «conduisait probablement l'autre automo­
bile». Ces declarations constituent manifestement 
du ou·i-dire et sont done inadmissibles, a moins 
qu'elles ne soient fiables et necessaires, parce que 
le ministere public a cherche a Jes utiliser pour 
demontrer que l'appelant se trouvait a la station­
service Mohawk, d'ou la deduction qu'il Jes avait 
suivis a partir de cet endroit et qu'il conduisait la 
petite automobile que Cheryl Ball avait aperc;:ue 
lorsqu'elle avait quitte Cook et Weselowski a St. 
Norbert. La question dont le juge du proces etait 
saisi etait de savoir si cette preuve etait admissible 
en vertu de I' exception de I' «identification ante­
rieure» a la regle du ou'i-dire. Le juge du proces a 
conclu que !'exception s'appliquait effectivement. 
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It is not necessary in this case to review the 
entirety of the "prior identification" exception to 
the hearsay rule. The narrow issue before this 
Court is whether hearsay evidence of an out-of­
court identification by a trial witness is admissible 
where the witness does not testify at trial that she 
made the identification. On the particular facts of 
this appeal, Cheryl Ball testified at trial that she 
told police that one of the men in the photographs 
she was shown on August 23, 1994 "look[ed] kind 
of familiar", but she did not testify that she had 
seen the person at the Mohawk gas station or at the 
wheel of the car that followed Weselowski's sta­
tion wagon to St. Norbert. 

The scope of the "prior identification" exception 
to the hearsay rule was recently thoroughly can­
vassed in the lucid reasons of Doherty J.A. in Tat, 
supra. As Doherty J.A. sets out, there are two situ­
ations in which out-of-court statements of identifi­
cation may be admitted for the truth of their con­
tents. First, "prior statements identifying or 
describing the accused are admissible where the 
identifying witness identifies the accused at trial" 
(pp. 497-98). Second, such statements are admissi­
ble "where the identifying witness is unable to 
identify the accused at trial, but can testify that he 
or she previously gave an accurate description or 
made an accurate identification" (p. 500). In the 
latter circumstance, Doherty J.A. explained, "the 
identifying witness may testify to what he or she 
said or did on those earlier occasions and those 
who heard the description given by the witness or 
witnessed the identification made by the witness 
may give evidence of what the witness said or did" 
(ibid.). 

In the present case, only the second branch of 
the "prior identification" exception could possibly 
be applicable to permit the admission of the police 
testimony under the exception, because Ball did 
not identify the appellant in court. However, in my 
opinion, the requirements of this second branch are 

En l'espece, il n'est pas necessaire d'examiner 
au comp let I' exception de l' «identification ante­
rieure» a la regle du ou·i-dire. La question precise 
dont notre Cour est saisie est de savoir si la preuve 
par ou"i-dire d'une identification extrajudiciaire par 
un temoin au proces est admissible lorsque ce der­
nier n'affinne pas au proces qu'il a fait cette iden­
tification. D'apres les faits du present pourvoi, 
Cheryl Ball a temoigne au proces qu'elle avait 
declare a la police que l'un des hommes figurant 
sur les photographies qui lui avaient ete montrees 
le 23 aout 1994 lui [TRADUCTION] «di[sait] quelque 
chose», mais elle n'a pas affinne avoir apen;:u cette 
personne a la station-service Mohawk OU au volant 
de !'automobile qui avait suivi la familiale de 
Weselowski jusqu'a St. Norbert. 

La portee de l' exception de l '«identification 
anterieure» a la regle du ou"i-dire a recemment ete 
examinee en profondeur dans les motifs clairs du 
juge Doherty dans l'arret Tat, precite. Comme le 
juge Doherty l'explique, il existe deux situations 
ou les declarations d'identification extrajudiciaires 
peuvent etre admises comme preuve de la veracite 
de leur contenu. En premier lieu, [TRADUCTION] 
«les declarations antfaieures qui identifient ou 
decrivent l'accuse sont admissibles lorsque le 
temoin auteur de !'identification identifie !'accuse 
au proces» (pp. 497 et 498). En deuxieme lieu, ces 
declarations sont admissibles [TRADUCTION] «lors­
que le temoin auteur de !'identification est incapa­
ble d'identifier !'accuse au proces, mais peut affir­
mer qu'il a deja foumi une description ou une 
identification exacte» (p. 500). Dans ce demier 
cas, comme le juge Doherty l'a explique, [TRADUC­
TION] «le temoin auteur de !'identification peut 
deposer au sujet de ce qu'il a dit ou fait a ces occa- · 
sions, et ceux qui ont entendu la description four­
nie par Ce temoin OU qui ont ete temoins de }' iden­
tification qu'il a faite peuvent deposer au sujet de 
ce que ce temoin a dit ou fait» (ibid.). 

Dans la presente affaire, seul le deuxieme volet 
de I' exception de I' «identification anterieure» 
aurait pu s'appliquer pour pennettre !'admission 
du temoignage des policiers en vertu de !'excep­
tion, car Ball n'a pas identifie l'appelant en cour. 
J' es time toutefois que, dans les circonstances, il 
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not satisfied in the circwnstances. Ball did not tes­
tify that she could not remember whether the 
appellant was the person whom she identified. She 
was not asked to compare the appellant with her 
recollections about the person she saw on the night 
of the murders . Accordingly, the underlying cir­
cumstances of necessity required to trigger the sec­
ond branch of the traditional exception did not 
exist. Even aside from this point, the police evi­
dence went far beyond the scope of the "prior 
identification" exception. Part of the rationale 
underlying the second branch of the exception is 
that the testimony that is being admitted to com­
plement the testimony of the identifying witness 
does not truly constitute hearsay. If the witness can 
at least testify that at some point she made an accu­
rate identification, then a police officer's testimony 
that he or she observed the identifying witness in 
the act of identification is original evidence that 
the identifying witness did indeed select a particu­
lar person, and that that person is the accused. 
However, for this rationale to apply, the identify­
ing witness must confinn that the person he or she 
identified in the police officer's presence was the 
person who committed an act that is relevant in the 
immediate proceedings. The testimony of the iden­
tifying witness may thus have its own hearsay 
component, but this issue is beyond the scope of 
this appeal: see H. Stewart, "Prior Identifications 
and Hearsay: A Note on R. v. Tat" (1998), 3 Can. 
Crim. L. Rev. 61. The point is that the officer's tes­
timony should merely state who the witness identi­
fied, once the witness has already testified to the 
identification itself, and why the identification is 
relevant to the case. 

The evidence provided by Constables Madden 
and MacLeod went beyond simply asserting that 
Cheryl Ball identified the accused on August 23, 
1994. Their testimony provided almost the entirety 
of the narrative underlying the identification. Of 
particular importance, as already mentioned, 
Cheryl Ball did not testify that the person she 
pointed to in the photo line-up as being "familiar" 
was present at the Mohawk gas station or in the car 

n'a pas ete satisfait aux exigences de ce deuxieme 
volet. Ball n'a pas temoigne qu ' elle etait incapable 
de se rappeler si l'appelant etait la personne qu'elle 
avait identifiee. On ne Jui a pas demande de com­
parer l'appelant a la personne qu ' elle se souvenait 
avoir apen;:ue la nuit des meurtres . Par consequent, 
la situation sous-jacente de necessite requise pour 
declencher !'application du deuxieme volet de 
!' exception traditionnelle n'existait pas. Meme en 
faisant abstraction de ce fait, le temoignage des 
policiers a excede de beaucoup la portee de !'ex­
ception de !'«identification anterieure». Une partie 
du raisonnement qui sous-tend le deuxieme volet 
de !'exception veut que le temoignage qui est 
admis pour completer celui du temoin auteur de 
!'identification ne constitue pas vraiment du ou1-
dire. Si le temoin peut au moins affinner qu'a un 
moment donne il a fait une identification exacte, le 
temoignage dans lequel un policier affirme l'avoir 
vu proceder a !' identification constitue alors une 
preuve originale que le temoin auteur de !'identifi­
cation a vraiment designe une personne en particu­
lier et que cette personne est !'accuse. Cependant, 
pour que ce raisonnement s'applique, le temoin 
auteur de !' identification doit continuer que la per­
sonne qu'il a identifiee en presence du policier est 
la personne qui a commis un acte pertinent dans le 
cadre de !'instance en cause. La deposition du 
temoin auteur de I' identification peut done avoir sa 
propre composante de ou·i-dire, mais cette question 
excede la portee du present pourvoi: voir 
H. Stewart, «Prior Identifications and Hearsay: A 
Note on R. v. Tat» (1998), 3 Rev. can. D.P. 61. 11 
reste qu 'une fois que le temoin a depose quant a 
!'identification elle-meme, le temoignage du poli­
cier devrait sirnplement indiquer la personne iden­
tifiee par le temoin et la raison pour laquelle 
!'identification est pertinente en l' espece. 

Dans leur temoignage, Jes agents Madden et 223 

MacLeod ne se sont pas contentes d' affinner que 
Cheryl Ball avait identifie l'accuse le 23 wilt 
1994. Leur temoignage a constitue presque tout le 
recit sous-jacent a !'identification. Fait particulie­
rement important, comrne nous l' avons vu, Cheryl 
Ball n'a pas temoigne que la personne qu'elle avait 
decrite, lors de la seance d 'identification par pho-
tos, comrne «lui disant quelque chose» se trouvait 
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that followed the Weselowski station wagon to St. 
Norbert. All of the links between the act of identi­
fication and the reasons for the identification were 
provided by Constables Madden and MacLeod. As 
Doherty J.A. emphasized in Tat, the evidence 
explaining why the identifying witness identified 
the accused must come from the identifying wit­
ness himself or herself. In his words, at p. 505: 
"Absent some evidence connecting the person 
identified at the line-up to the crime, I fai l to see 
how identification at the line-up has any relevance 
to the issue of identity". Similar comments were 
made by Twaddle J.A. below, who stated (at 
p. 175) that "[ w ]here the identifying witness is 
unable to recall the prior identification, the situa­
tion is the same as if he or she has not testified. In 
that scenario, the trier of fact is left with the bald 
assertion of the recipient as to the person identified 
without the ability to cross-examine the eyewitness 
on the actual identification". It follows that the 
trial judge erred in admitting the police evidence 
regarding Ball's out-of-court identification under a 
traditional exception to the hearsay rule. 

The next question, following Khan, supra, and 
Smith, supra, is whether the hearsay evidence of 
Constables Madden and MacLeod is nonetheless 
admissible under the principled approach to hear­
say admissibility. Parenthetically, I should mention 
that since the "prior identification" exception is not 
directly brought into play on these facts, I leave to 
another day the question of whether the exception 
requires revisiting in order to conform to the prin­
cipled approach. 

In my view, the police testimony was equally 
inadmissible under the principled approach. First 
of all, quite simply, the police hearsay was not 

a la station-service Mohawk OU dans l'automobile 
qui avait suivi la familiale de Weselowski jusqu'a 
St. Norbert.Tousles liens entre l'acte d'identifica­
tion et les raisons de l'identification ont ete fournis 
par les agents Madden et MacLeod. Comme le 
juge Doherty l'a souligne dans l'arret Tat, la 
preuve qui explique pourquoi le temoin auteur de 
l'identification a identifie l'accuse doit emaner du 
temoin auteur de l'identification lui-meme. Pour 
reprendre ses propos, a la p. 505: [TRADUCTION] 
«En l'absence de preuve reliant au crime la per­
sonne identifiee lors de la seance d'identification, 
je ne vois pas en quoi l'identification lors de la 
seance d'identification est pertinente a l'egard de 
la question de l'identite». Le juge Twaddle de la 
Cour d'appel a fait des observations similaires 
lorsqu'il a <lit, a la p. 175, que [TRADUCTION] 
«[l]orsque le .temoin auteur de !'identification est 
incapable de se souvenir de l'identification ante­
rieure, la situation est la meme que s'il n'avait pas 
temoigne. Dans ce cas, le juge des faits ne dispose, 
au sujet de la personne identifiee, que de la simple 
affinnation de la personne a qui l'identification a 
ete faite, sans qu 'il y ait possibilite de contre­
interroger le temoin oculaire sur !'identification 
elle-meme». Il s'ensuit que le juge du proces a 
commis une erreur en se fondant sur une exception 
traditionnelle a la regle du ou·i-dire pour admettre 
le temoignage des policiers relativement a l'identi­
fication extrajudiciaire par Ball. 

Selon Jes arrets Khan et Smith, precites, il s'agit 
ensuite de savoir si la preuve par ou1-dire des 
agents Madden et MacLeod est neanmoins admis­
sible en vertu de la fac;on fondee sur des principes 
d'aborder l'admissibilite de la preuve par ou1-dire. 
J' ouvre une parenthese pour mentionner qu' etant 
donne que l'exception de l'«identification ante­
rieure» n'entre pas directement en jeu d'apres les 
faits de la presente affaire, je reporte a une autre 
occasion le soin de repondre a la question de 
savoir si l'exception a besoin d'etre reexaminee 
afin d'en assurer la conformite avec la methode 
fondee sur des principes. 

Je suis d'avis que le temoignage des policiers 
etait tout aussi inadmissible selon la methode fon­
dee sur des principes. D'abord, le ou1-dire des 

::J 
c 
(1) 

S2., 
0 
"1" 
u 
u 
(j) 

0 
0 
0 
N 



[2000] 2 R.C.S. R. c. STARR Le juge Iacobucci 259 

necessary. Cheryl Ball was a witness at trial and 
could have provided first-hand evidence, had the 
Crown chosen to question her on point. That the 
Crown chose not to do so is a question of tactics, 
not a basis for admitting hearsay evidence to fill 
the gap. Moreover, there are strong indications that 
Cheryl Ball's identification was unreliable, even if 
one accepts the evidence of Constables Madden 
and MacLeod that Ball told them she saw a man in 
a car talking to Cook at the Mohawk gas station. 
According to Madden's testimony, Ball described 
the person she saw speaking to Cook as having had 
short hair in a ponytail, glasses, and no goatee. The 
black-and-white photocopied photograph that she 
pointed to as looking "familiar" showed the appel­
lant with long hair and a goatee, with no ponytail 
and no glasses. Moreover, Madden testified that 
the appellant had never worn glasses. This incon­
sistency in the identification clearly does not meet 
the threshold of reliability . It is quite clear that the 
Constables' testimony should not have been admit­
ted at trial. 

Before this Court as in the court below, the 
Crown argued that, even if the trial judge erred in 
admitting hearsay evidence regarding Ball's out­
of-court identification, any prejudice that might 
otherwise have been suffered by the appellant as a 
result was cured by the trial judge's cautionary 
instruction to the jury. The trial judge's instruction 
on this point was as follows: 

I think it is of some significance that Cheryl Ball was 
not asked if the reason she could identify the individual 
in photo number 5 of Exhibit 11 was because she had 
seen a photo, that is, photo number 3 in Exhibit 10, a 
week before. I think it is significant that photo number 3 
in Exhibit 10 is the only one, the only photograph of the 
three people in Exhibit 10 repeated in Exhibit 11. It is 
significant, I think, that she was not told that the 
description she gave of the man she saw talking to Cook 
did not in fact fit the description of the man in photo­
graph number 3 of Exhibit 10. It is significant, I think, 
as well that, in court, she did not mention Starr by name 

policiers n'etait tout simplement pas necessaire. 
Cheryl Ball a temoigne au proces et aurait pu four­
nir une preuve originale si le ministere public avait 
choisi de l'interroger en consequence. Le fait que 
le ministere public ait decide de ne pas le faire est 
une question de strategie et non pas une raison 
d'admettre une preuve par oul-dire en vue de com­
bler cette lacune. En outre, ii y a de solides indices 
que !'identification faite par Cheryl Ball n'etait pas 
fiable, meme si on accepte le temoignage des 
agents Madden et MacLeod voulant que Ball leur 
ait dit qu'elle avait vu un h01mne, dans une auto­
mobile, parler a Cook a la station-service Mohawk. 
Selon le temoignage de Madden, Ball a dit que la 
personne qu'elle avait vu parler a Cook avait !es 
cheveux courts attaches en queue de cheval et por­
tait des lunettes, mais n'avait pas de barbiche. La 
photographie qu'elle a choisie parce qu'elle Jui 
«disait quelque chose» etait une photocopie en noir 
et blanc qui montrait l'appelant avec les cheveux 
longs et une barbiche, sans queue de cheval ni 
lunettes. De plus, Madden a temoigne que l'appe­
lant n'avait jamais porte de lunettes. Cette contra­
diction dans !'identification ne satisfait manifeste­
ment pas au critere du seuil de fiabilite. II est tres 
clair que le temoignage des agents n'aurait pas du 
etre admis au proces. 

Devant notre Cour comme devant la Cour d'ap­
pel, le ministere public a pretendu que, meme si le 
juge du proces avait commis une erreur en admet­
tant la preuve par ou·i-dire concemant !'identifica­
tion extrajudiciaire par Ball, la mise en garde qu'il 
avait faite au jury avait remectie au prejudice que 
cette admission aurait par ailleurs cause a l'appe­
lant. La directive du juge du proces a ce propos 
etait la suivante: 

[TRADUCTION) Je pense qu'il est revelateur dans une 
certaine mesure qu'on n'ait pas demande a Cheryl Ball 
si la raison pour laquelle elle pouvait identifier la per­
sonne sur la photo numero 5 de la piece 11 etait qu'elle 
avait vu une photo, c'est-a-dire la photo numero 3 de la 
piece 10, la semaine precedente. Je pense qu'il est signi­
ficatif que la photo numero 3 de la piece I 0 soit la seule, 
la seule photographie des trois personnes dans la piece 
10 que l' on retrouve egalement dans la piece 11. 11 est 
significatif, je pense, qu'on ne lui ait pas dit que la des­
cription qu'elle a donnee de l'homme qu'elle avait vu 
parler a Cook ne correspondait pas, en fait, a la descrip-
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and that she was not asked to identify nor did she iden­
tify the accused, Starr, .in the dock as being the man she 
saw at the Mohawk station. I would tell you, then, that 
the identification evidence of Mrs. Ball is, to say the 
least, extremely frail, and I would express the opinion 
that it does not link the accused, Starr, to the deaths of 
either Weselowski or Cook. However, it is for you to 
decide the value of her evidence. 

The majority in the Court of Appeal was of the 
view that the above instruction effectively negated 
any hann that the hearsay evidence of Constables 
Madden and MacLeod might have caused. In par­
ticular, the majority found that the evidence was 
relatively insignificant in the larger context of the 
case, because, in its words, "[t]his was not a case 
that turned on the issue of identification" (p. 159). 

With respect, I disagree with the Court of 
Appeal's assessment of the harm that may have 
been caused by the admission of the out-of-court 
identification evidence. Constable Madden testi­
fied that Cheryl Ball had stated that the appellant 
"was the one that she saw at the Mohawk Station 
and that he was probably driving the other car" 
(emphasis added) . It is true that Jodie Giesbrecht's 
testimony had also put the appellant at the 
Mohawk station. However, according to Constable 
Madden, Cheryl Ball identified the appellant not 
only as being at the Mohawk station, but also as 
someone who "was probably driving the other 
car''. The use of a conjunctive "and" indicates that 
there were two distinct elements to this testimony 
- namely, being at the Mohawk station, and 
"probably" being in the other car. The jury could 
easily have taken the reference to the "other car" to 
refer not to the appellant's presence at the Mohawk 
station, but to the second car seen in St. Norbert 
when the Balls last saw Cook and W eselowski 
alive. 

While admittedly the jury could also have taken 
the "other car" testimony to refer to the appellant's 

tion de l'homme figurant sur la photographie numero 3 
de la piece 10. Je pense egalement qu'il est revelateur 
qu'elle n'ait pas designe Starr par son nom en cour, et 
qu'on ne lui ait pas demande d'identifier !'accuse StatT 
au bane des accuses, et qu'elle ne l'ait pas fa it non plus, 
comme etant l'homme qu'elle avait apen;:u a la station­
service Mohawk. Je vous dirais done que la preuve 
d'identification de Mme Ball est, le moins qu'on puisse 
dire, extremement fragile, et j'exptimerais !'opinion 
qu'elle ne relie !'accuse Starr ni au deces de Weselowski 
ni a celui de Cook. Cependant, ii vous appartient de 
juger de la valeur de son temoignage. 

La Cour d'appel a la majorite etait d'avis que la 
directive susmentionnee avait effectivement eli­
mine tout prejudice que pouvait avoir cause la 
preuve par ou'i-dire des agents Madden et 
MacLeod. Les juges majoritaires ont nota1mnent 
conclu que la preuve etait relativement negligeable 
dans le contexte general de l'affaire, car, d'apres 
eux, [TRADUCTION] «[l]'affaire ne dependait pas de 
la question de !'identification» (p. 159). 

En toute deference, je ne suis pas d'accord avec 
l'evaluation que la Cour d'appel a faite du preju­
dice que peut avoir cause l'admission de la preuve 
d'identification extrajudiciaire. L'agent Madden a 
temoigne que Cheryl Ball avait dit que l'appelant 
[TRADUCTION] «etait la personne qu 'elle avait aper­
yue a la station-service Mohawk~ qu'il conduisait 
probablement l'autre automobile» Ue souligne). 
11 est vrai que, dans son temoignage, Jodie 
Giesbrecht avait egalement situe l'appelant a la 
station-service Mohawk. Toutefois, selon !'agent 
Madden, Cheryl Ball a non seulement dit que l'ap­
pelant etait a la station-service Mohawk, mais 
aussi qu'il «conduisait probablement l'autre auto­
mobile». L'utilisation de la conjonction «et» 
indique que ce temoignage comportait deux ele­
ments distincts - a savoir, se trouver a la station­
service Mohawk ~ «probablement» dans l'autre 
automobile. Le jury aurait pu facilement conside­
rer que la mention de l' «autre automobile» visait 
non pas la presence de l'appelant a la station­
service Mohawk, mais la deuxieme automobile 
aperyue a St. Norbert quand les Ball ont vu pour la 
derniere fois Cook et Weselowski vivants. 

Meme si le jury avait certes pu egalement consi­
derer que le temoignage concemant l' «autre auto-
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presence at the Mohawk station, certainly both 
interpretations are possible. The former interpreta­
tion would have placed the appellant at the last 
place the deceased were seen alive and provided a 
crucial gap in the prosecution's case. While Cheryl 
Ball clearly stated at trial that she did not see who 
was in the other car she saw at St. Norbert, the 
entire problem with the Constables' testimony is 
that they went far beyond what Cheryl Ball herself 
said at trial. Having offered the evidence, the 
respondent is now hard pressed to argue the jury 
would have undoubtedly disregarded it. Thus, even 
if, as the trial judge cautioned, the identification 
evidence had little weight, there remained the 
problem of the serious prejudice that may have 
been caused to the appellant by its admission. A 
crucial aspect of the defence theory in this case is 
that some unknown other person may have been 
involved in the murders. By potentially putting the 
appellant with the victims in St. Norbert, the iden­
tification evidence could have gone a long way to 
assuaging the jury' s concerns about the non­
existence of such other persons. The cautionary 
instruction was insufficient to remedy the hann 
caused by the admission of the evidence. 

B. Adequacy of the Instruction to the Jury on Rea­
sonable Doubt 

( 1) The Decisions in Li[chus and Bisson 

In its decisions in Lifchus, supra, and R. v. 
Bisson, [1998] 1 S.C.R. 306, this Court has 
recently addressed the appropriate manner of 
instructing a jury on the nature of the criminal 
standard of proof. Cory J., writing for the full 
Court in Lifchus, held that it is essential for jurors 
to be instructed that the tenn "beyond a reasonable 
doubt" has a special meaning in a criminal trial. 
He explained that an appropriate jury instruction 
on reasonable doubt is a fundamental component 
of a fair trial, because a jury might otherwise con­
vict the innocent by finding guilt on the basis of 

mobile» concemait la presence de l'appelant a la 
station-service Mohawk, les deux interpretations 
sont sfuement possibles. La premiere interpretation 
aurait situe l'appelant a l'endroit OU les victimes 
ont ete apen;:ues vivantes pour la demiere fois et 
aurait cree une lacune decisive dans la preuve de la 
poursuite. Bien que Cheryl Ball ait clairement 
affirme au proces qu'elle n'avait pas vu qui etait 
dans l'autre automobile qu'elle avait apen;:ue a St. 
Norbert, le probleme que pose le temoignage des 
agents reside exclusivement dans le fait que ces 
derniers sont alles beaucoup plus loin que ce que 
Cheryl Ball a dit elle-meme au proces. L'intimee, 
qui a presente la preuve, peut maintenant difficile­
ment faire valoir que le jury n'en aurait sfuement 
pas tenu compte. Par consequent, meme si, corrune 
le juge du proces en a fait la mise en garde, la 
preuve d'identification avait peu de poids, il y 
avait toujours le probleme du prejudice grave que 
son admission avait pu causer a l'appelant. Un 
aspect crucial de la these de la defense dans la pre­
sente affaire est la possibilite qu'une autre per­
sonne inconnue ait ete impliquee dans les 
meurtres. Paree qu' elle soul eve la possibilite que 
l'appelant se soit trouve avec !es victimes a St. 
Norbert, la preuve d'identification aurait pu contri­
buer grandement a dissiper les preoccupations du 
jury au sujet de !'absence de telles autres per­
sonnes. La rnise en garde etait insuffisante pour 
remedier au tort cause par !'admission de la 
preuve. 

B. Le caractere sufjisant de la directive au jwy 
sur le doute raisonnable 

(1) Les arrets Li[chus et Bisson 

Dans ses arrets Lifchus, precite, et R. c. Bisson, 
[1998] 1 R.C.S. 306, notre Cour a recemment 
aborde la fa<;on dont ii convient de donner des 
directives a un jury sur la nature de la norme de 
preuve en matiere criminelle. Le juge Cory a statue 
au nom de notre Cour au complet, dans Lifchus, 
qu'il est essentiel que les jures re<;oivent la direc­
tive que l'expression «hors de tout doute raisonna­
ble» a un sens particulier dans un proces crirninel. 
Il a explique qu'une directive appropriee au jury 
sur le doute raisonnable est un element fondamen­
tal d'un proces equitable parce qu'un jury pourrait 
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mere probability, rather than on the basis of proof 
to a near certainty as is required in criminal pro­
ceedings. In his words, at para. 14: 

No matter how exemplary the directions to the jury 
may be in every other respect if they are wanting in this 
aspect the trial must be lacking in fairness. It is true the 
tenn has come echoing down the centuries in words of 
deceptive simplicity. Yet jurors must appreciate their 
meaning and significance. They must be aware that the 
standard of proof is higher than the standard applied in 
civil actions of proof based upon a balance of probabili­
ties yet less than proof to an absolute certainty. [Empha­
sis added.] 

In Lifchus, Cory J. held that there are certain 
essential elements that should be included in any 
effective jury charge on reasonable doubt, as 
well as several instructions that would generally 
lessen or impair the effectiveness of such a charge. 
Cory J. summarized the essential elements in the 
following tenns, at para. 36: 

It should be explained that: 

• the standard of proof beyond a reasonable doubt is 
inextricably intertwined with that principle funda­
mental to all criminal trials, the presumption of 
innocence; 

the burden of proof rests on the prosecution 
throughout the trial and never shifts to the accused; 

• a reasonable doubt is not a doubt based upon sym­
pathy or prejudice; 

• rather, it is based upon reason and common sense; 

• it is logically connected to the evidence or absence 
of evidence; 

• it does not involve proof to an absolute certainty; it 
is not proof beyond~ doubt nor is it an imaginary 
or frivolous doubt; and 

• more is required than proof that the accused is 
probably guilty - a jury which concludes only that 
the accused is probably guilty must acquit. [Empha­
sis in original.] 

autrement condamner un innocent en concluant a 
sa culpabilite sur la base d'une simple probabilite, 
plutot qu'a la lumiere de la preuve correspondant a 
une quasi-certitude qui est requise en matiere cri­
minelle. 11 s'est exprime ainsi, au par. 14: 

Peu importe gue Jes directives aient ete donnees de 
fa9on exemplaire a tous autres egards, si elles sont 
defectueuses sur ce point, le proces ne pent gue manguer 
d'eguite. II est vrai que !'expression s'est transmise au 
cours des siecles dans des mots d'une simplicite trom­
peuse. Il n'en demeure pas moins que !es jures doivent 
en comprendre le sens et !'importance. Ils doivent savoir 
que meme si la norme de preuve est plus exigeante que 
celle appliquee dans Jes litiges civils, qui est fondee sur 
la preponderance des probabilites, elle n'exige toutefois 
pas une preuve correspondant a la certitude absolue. 
[Je souligne.] 

Dans Lifchus, le juge Cory a conclu que, pour 
etre efficace, tout expose au jury sur le doute rai­
sonnable devait comporter certains elements essen­
tiels, et que plusieurs directives sont generalement 
de nature a amoindrir OU a annu!er !'efficacite d'un 
tel expose. Le juge Cory a resume !es elements 
essentiels de la fac;:on suivante, au par. 36: 

Les explications suivantes devraient etre donnees: 

• la norme de la preuve hors de tout doute raisonna­
ble est inextricablement liee au principe fondamen­
tal de tous Jes proces penaux, c'est-a-dire la pre­
somption d'innocence; 

le fardeau de la preuve incombe a la poursuite tout 
au long du proces et ne se deplace jamais sur les 
epaules de I' accuse; 

• un doute raisonnable ne pent etre fonde sur la sym­
pathie ou sur un prejuge; 

• ii repose plutot sur la raison et le bon sens; 

• ii a un lien logique avec la preuve ou !'absence de 
preuve; 

• la norme n'exige pas une preuve correspondant a la 
certitude absolue; ii ne s'agit pas d'une preuve au­
dela de n'importe guel doute; ii ne peut s'agir non 
plus d 'llll doute imaginaire ou frivole; 

• ii faut davantage que la preuve que !'accuse est pro­
bablement coupable - le jury qui conclut seule­
ment que !'accuse est probablement coupable doit 
acquitter I' accuse. [Souligne dans l' original.] 
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Cory J. also summarized, at para. 37, certain ref­
erences to the required standard of proof that 
should be avoided: 

• describing the te1m "reasonable doubt" as an ordi­
nary expression which has no special meaning in 
the criminal law context; 

• inviting jurors to apply to the task before them the 
same standard of proof that they apply to important, 
or even the most important, decisions in their own 
lives; 

• equating proof "beyond a reasonable doubt" to 
proof "to a moral certainty"; 

• qualifying the word "doubt" with adjectives other 
than "reasonable", such as "serious'', "substantial" 
or "haunting'', which may mislead the jury; and 

instructing jurors that they may convict if they are 
"sure" that the accused is guilty, before providing 
them with a proper definition as to the meaning of 
the words "beyond a reasonable doubt". 

Cory J. stressed that the precise wording of any 
given jury charge on reasonable doubt will not 
necessarily be determinative of its effectiveness at 
transmitting the meaning of the term, and so at 
securing the fairness of the accused's trial. A 
charge must be examined in its entirety to deter­
mine whether the essential elements of a fair and 
accurate instruction on reasonable doubt are pre­
sent and have been properly explained. The ques­
tion in every case in which a trial judge's instruc­
tions on reasonable doubt are impugned is whether 
there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury was 
under a misapprehension as to the correct standard 
of proof to apply. If the charge, when read as a 
whole, could not have placed the jury under a mis­
apprehension as to the correct standard of proof, 
then the jury verdict should not be disturbed: R. v. 
W. (D.), [1991) l S.C.R. 742, at p. 758. However, 
in Cory J.'s words in Lifchus, at para. 41: "if the 
charge as a whole gives rise to the reasonable like­
lihood that the jury misapprehended the standard 
of proof, then as a general rule the verdict will 
have to be set aside and a new trial directed". 

Le juge Cory a egalement resume, au par. 37, 
certaines mentions qui doivent etre evitees au sujet 
de la norme de preuve requise: 

• le fait de decrire I 'expression «doute raisonnable» 
comme etant une expression ordinaire, qui n'a pas 
de sens special dans le contexte du droit penal; 

• le fait d' inviter Jes jures a appliquer la meme norme 
de preuve que celle qu'ils utilisent, dans leur propre 
vie, pour prendre des decisions importantes, voire 
Jes plus importantes de ces decisions; 

• le fait d'assimiler preuve «hors de tout doute rai­
sonnable» a une preuve correspondant a la «certi­
tude morale»; 

• le fait de qualifier le mot «doute» par d'autres 
adjectifs que «raisonnable», par exemple «serieux», 
«substantiel» ou «0bsedant», qui peuvent induire le 
jury en erreur; 

• le fait de dire auxjures qu'i ls peuvent declarer l'ac­
cuse coupable s'ils sont «sfirs» de sa culpabilite, 
avant de leur avoir do1me une definition appropriee 
du sens des mots «hors de tout doute raisonnable». 

Le juge Cory a souligne que I' efficacite d 'un 
expose au jury sur le doute raisonnable, pour ce 
qui est de communiquer le sens de cette expression 
et d'assurer ainsi l'equite du proces de !'accuse, ne 
dependra pas necessairement de la formulation 
precise de cet expose. L'expose doit etre examine 
dans son ensemble pour detenniner si Jes elements 
essentiels d'une directive equitable et exacte sur le 
doute raisonnable s'y trouvent et s'ils ont ete bien 
expliques. La question qui se pose dans chaque 
affaire ou Jes directives du juge du proces sur le 
doute raisonnable sont contestees est de savoir s'il 
existe une probabilite raisonnable que le jury ait 
ma! compris la norme de preuve applicable. Si, 
considere dans son ensemble, !'expose n'est pas 
susceptible d'avoir induit le jury en erreur quant a 
la norrne de preuve applicable, ii n'y a alors pas 
lieu de modifier le verdict du jury: R. c. W. (D.), 
[1991) 1 R.C.S. 742, a lap. 758. Toutefois, comme 
!'a explique le juge Cory dans l ' arret Lifchus, au 
par. 41: «si I' expose, considere dans son ensemble, 
souleve une probabilite raisonnable que le jury a 
ma! compris la norme de preuve applicable, alors, 
en regle generale, le verdict doit etre annule et un 
nouveau proces doit etre ordonne». 
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In both Lifchus, supra, and Bisson, supra, this 
Court held that the reasonable doubt instruction 
provided to the jury in the particular cases created 
a reasonable likelihood of a misapprehension of 
the standard of proof. In Lifchus, the trial judge 
instructed the jury on reasonable doubt by refer­
ring to the ordinary everyday meaning of the 
p!irase. 

In finding that the trial judge's instruction 
constituted an error in law justifying a new trial, 
Cory J. explained that the instruction contained 
two central flaws. First, it did not provide a defini­
tion of "reasonable doubt". Second, it described 
the words "reasonable doubt" as "ordinary, every 
day words" with no specific meaning in the con­
text of a criminal trial. Cory J. found that these 
errors were not cured when the jury charge was 
viewed as a whole, even though the charge was, in 
all other respects, "a model of clarity and concise­
ness" (para. 44). 

The trial judge in Bisson, supra, explained to the 
jury that proof to an absolute certainty was not 
required, and that a reasonable doubt was some­
thing more than simply a frivolous, capricious, or 
imaginary doubt. He then drew an analogy 
between the standard of proof beyond a reasonable 
doubt and the standard of proof used in everyday 
activities such as checking the oil in one's car, 
emphasizing at some length that there was no dis­
tinction between the two standards. Writing for the 
Court, Cory J. explained that a trial judge should 
avoid providing examples from daily life of what 
may constitute a reasonable doubt, for two key rea­
sons. First, everyday examples are problematic 
because, almost invariably, they involve the appli­
cation of a standard of probability rather than one 
of proof beyond a reasonable doubt. Second, 
examples tend to be applied subjectively, depend­
ing upon the degree of care taken by different 
jurors prior to making everyday decisions, whereas 

Tant dans l'arret Lifchus, precite, que dans l'ar­
ret Bisson, precite, notre Cour a conclu que la 
directive sur le doute raisonnable qui avait ete don­
nee au jury creait une probabilite raisonnable de 
meprise quant a la norme de preuve applicable. 
Dans Lifchus, le juge du proces avait donne une 
directive au jury sur le doute raisonnable en men­
tionnant le sens ordinaire de taus les jours de cette 
expression. 

En concluant que la directive du juge du proces 
constituait une erreur de droit justifiant la tenue 
d 'un nouveau proces, le juge Cory a explique que 
cette directive comportait deux lacunes majeures. 
Premierement, elle ne donnait aucune definition du 
«doute raisonnable». Deuxiemement, les mots 
«doute raisonnable» y etaient decrits comme etant 
«des mots ordinaires, de tous les jours» qui n'ont 
aucun sens particulier dans le contexte d 'un proces 
criminel. Le juge Cory a conclu que, considere 
dans son ensemble, l'expose au jury ne remediait 
pas aces erreurs meme s'il etait, a tout autre egard, 
«un modele de clarte et de concision» (par. 44). 

Dans l'arret Bisson, precite, le juge du proces a 
explique au jury qu'une preuve correspondant a la 
certitude absolue n'etait pas requise et qu'un doute 
raisonnable etait plus qu'un simple doute frivole, 
arbitraire ou imaginaire. II a ensuite fait une analo­
gie entre la norme de preuve hors de tout doute rai­
sonnable et la norme de preuve qui est utilisee 
dans les activites de taus les jours, comme la veri­
fication du niveau d'huile d'une automobile, en 
soulignant a un certain nombre de reprises qu'il 
n'y avait aucune difference entre les deux normes. 
Le juge Cory a explique, au nom de notre Cour, 
que le juge du proces devrait eviter de s'inspirer de 
la vie quotidienne pour illustrer ce qui peut consti­
tuer un doute raisonnable, et ce, pour deux raisons 
fondamentales. Prernierement, les exemples tires 
de la vie de taus les jours posent un probleme 
parce qu'ils comportent presque toujours !'applica­
tion d'une norme de probabilite plutot que celle 
d'une norme de preuve hors de tout doute raison­
nable. Deuxiemement, ces exemples tendent a etre 
appliques de fa9on subjective, selon la diligence 
dont font preuve les differents jures avant de pren-
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the reasonable doubt standard is a single, objec­
tive, and exacting standard of proof. 

Before turning to examine the charge to the jury 
in the present appeal, I would like to emphasize 
that in Lifchus and Bisson, we set out to improve 
the existing standard for instructions on reasonable 
doubt. This was not intended to suggest that a new 
trial is warranted for all previous convictions 
obtained following jury charges that were not in 
strict compliance with every aspect of Lifchus and 
Bisson. To the contrary, as Cory J. made clear in 
Lifchus, supra, at para. 40, there is no "magic 
incantation". A court reviewing a pre-Lifchus jury 
charge must examine it to make sure that it was in 
substantial compliance with the principles set out 
in that case. 

(2) Inadequacy of the Reasonable Doubt 
Charge in This Case 

It should be pointed out that the trial judge in 
the present appeal, like the trial judge in Bisson, 
supra, gave his charge to the jury without the ben­
efit of the decision of this Court in Lifchus. How­
ever, I agree with Twaddle J.A. that the reasonable 
doubt instruction given in this case falls prey to 
many of the same difficulties outlined in Lifchus, 
and likely misled the jury as to the content of the 
criminal standard of proof. For ease of reference, I 
will set out again the relevant portion of the charge 
in this case: 

It is rarely possible to prove anything with absolute cer­
tainty and so the burden of proof on the Crown is only 
to prove the guilt of the accused beyond reasonable 
doubt. What, then, is proof beyond a reasonable doubt? 

The words "reasonable doubt" are used in their every­
day, ordinary sense and not as a legal term having some 
special connotation. The words have no magic meaning 

dre des decisions dans leur vie de tous Jes jours, 
tandis que la norme du doute raisonnable est une 
seule norme de preuve objective et stricte. 

Avant d'aborder !'examen de !'expose qui a ete 
fait au jury en l'espece, j'aimerais souligner que, 
dans les arrets Lifchus et Bisson, nous avons 
cherche a ameliorer la norme existante en matiere 
de directives sur le doute raisonnable. Nous ne 
voulions pas laisser entendre que la tenue d 'un 
nouveau proces serait justifiee pour toutes les 
declarations de culpabilite anterieures prononcees 
a la suite d'exposes au jury qui n'etaient pas en 
tous points confonnes aux arrets Lifchus et Bisson. 
Au contraire, cornme le juge Cory l' a dit claire­
ment dans l'arret Lifchus, precite, au par. 40, il n'y 
a pas de «fonnule magique». La cour qui examine 
un expose au jury antfaieur a l'arret Lifclnis doit le 
faire dans le but de s'assurer qu'il etait conforme, 
pour l'essentiel, aux principes etablis dans cet 
arret. 

(2) Le caractere insuffisant de !'expose sur le 
doute raisonnable en l'espece 

II y a lieu de souligner que, dans la presente 
affaire comme dans l'affaire Bisson, precitee, le 
juge du proces a fait son expose au jury sans bene­
ficier de l'arret Lifchus de notre Cour. Je suis 
cependant d'accord avec le juge Twaddle pour dire 
que la directive sur le doute raisonnable qui a ete 
donnee en l'espece pose, dans une large mesure, 
les memes difficultes que celles exposees dans 
l'arret Lifchus et qu'elle a probablement induit le 
jury en erreur quant au contenu de la norme de 
preuve applicable en matiere criminelle. Pour en 
faciliter la consultation, je reproduis de nouveau la 
partie pertinente de l' expose qui a ete fa it en l' es­
pece: 

[TRADUCTION] II est rarement possible d'etablir quelque 
chose avec une certitude absolue, de sorte que le minis­
tere public n'a qu'a etablir la culpabilite de l'accuse 
hors de tout doute raisonnable. En quoi consiste done la 
preuve hors de tout doute raisonnable? 

L'expression «doute raisonnable» est utilisee dans 
son sens ordinaire de tous Jes jours et non pas en tant 
qu'expression juridique ayant une connotation particu-
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that is peculiar to the law. A reasonable doubt is an hon­
est, fair doubt, based upon reason and common sense. It 
is a real doubt, not an imaginary or frivolous one resting 
on speculation or guess rather than upon the evidence 
you heard in this courtroom. 

So you can see, the words "reasonable doubt" are 
ordinary words we use in our everyday language. So if 
you can say, I am satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt, 
the Crown has met the onus upon it. If you cannot say 
those words - if you ca1mot say, I am satisfied beyond 
a reasonable doubt, the Crown has not met the onus on 
it, and the accused is entitled to have your doubt 
resolved in his favour. 

The key difficulty with this instruction is that it 
was not made clear to the jury that the Crown was 
required to do more than prove the appellant' s 
guilt on a balance of probabilities. The trial judge 
told the jury that they could convict on the basis of 
something less than absolute certainty of guilt, but 
did not explain, in essence, how much less. In 
addition, rather than telling the jury that the words 
"reasonable doubt" have a specific meaning in the 
legal context, the trial judge expressly instructed 
the jury that the words have no "special connota­
tion" and "no magic meaning that is peculiar to the 
law". By asserting that absolute certainty was not 
required, and then linking the standard of proof to 
the "ordinary everyday" meaning of the words 
"reasonable doubt", the trial judge could easily 
have been understood by the jury as asserting a 
probability standard as the applicable standard of 
proof. 

The trial judge did comply with some of the 
requirements discussed in Lifchus, supra. He 
explained that a reasonable doubt is not an imagi­
nary or frivolous doubt resting on speculation or 
guess, and that a reasonable doubt is a real doubt 
based on reason and common sense upon a review 
of the evidence. He also explained, as mentioned, 
that the standard of proof beyond a reasonable 

here. Cette expression n'a aucun sens magique propre 
au droit. Un doute raisonnable est un doute sincere et 
legitime qui est fonde sur la raison et le bon sens. C'est 
Un doute reel et non pas Un doute imaginaire OU frivoJe 
qui repose sur des conjectures ou des suppositions plutot 
que sur les temoignages que vous avez entendus dans 
cette salle d'audience. 

Yous pouvez ainsi constater que !es mots «doute rai­
s01mable» sont des mots ordinaires que nous utilisons 
dans la vie de tous !es jours. Done, si vous pouvez dire 
<rje suis convaincu hors de tout doute rais01mable», le 
ministere. public s'est acquitte de !'obligation qui Jui 
incombait. Si vous ne pouvez pas prononcer ces mots -
si vous ne pouvez pas dire <rje suis convaincu hors de 
tout doute raisonnable», le ministere public ne s'est pas 
acquitte de !'obligation qui lui incombait et !'accuse a le 
droit de profiter de votre doute. 

Le probleme fondamental que pose cette direc­
tive est qu'on n'a pas indique clairement au jury 
que le ministere public etait tenu de faire plus 
qu'etablir la culpabilite de l'appelant selon la pre­
ponderance des probabilites. Le juge du proces a 
dit au jury qu'il pourrait prononcer une declaration 
de culpabilite en fonction d'une nonne de preuve 
moindre que la certitude absolue de culpabilite, 
sans pour autant expliquer essentiellement jusqu'a 
quel point elle pourrait etre inferieure a cette der­
niere norme. En outre, au lieu de dire au jury que 
les mots «doute raisonnable» ont un sens particu­
lier dans le contexte juridique, le juge du proces lui 
a expressement dit que ces mots n'avaient aucune 
[TRADUCTION] «comiotation particuliere» ni 
«aucun sens magique propre au droit». Lorsque le 
juge du proces a affirme que la certitude absolue 
n'etait pas requise et qu'il a ensuite lie la norme de 
preuve au sens «ordinaire de tous les jours» de 
I' expression «doute raisonnable», le jury aurait pu 
facilement comprendre qu'il disait qu'une norme 
de probabilite etait la norme de preuve applicable. 

Le juge du proces a respecte certaines exigences 
analysees dans l'arret Lifchus, precite. I1 a explique 
qu'un doute raisonnable n'est pas un doute imagi­
naire ou frivole qui repose sur des conjectures ou 
des suppositions, et qu'un doute raisonnable est un 
doute reel fonde sur la raison et sur le bon sens, 
que suscite l' examen de la preuve. Il a egalement 
explique, c01mne nous l'avons vu, que la norme de 
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doubt does not involve proof to an absolute cer­
tainty. However, the trial judge's adherence to 
these requirements would have benefited primarily 
the Crown, not the appellant. 

In the present case, the trial judge did refer to 
the Crown's onus and to the presumption of inno­
cence, and he stated that the appellant should 
receive the benefit of any reasonable doubt. The 
error in the charge is that the jury was not told how 
a reasonable doubt is to be defined. As was empha­
sized repeatedly in Lifchus and again in Bisson, a 
jury must be instructed that the standard of proof 
in a criminal trial is higher than the probability 
standard used in making everyday decisions and in 
civil trials. Indeed, it is this very requirement to go 
beyond probability that meshes the standard of 
proof in criminal cases with the presumption of 
innocence and the Crown's onus. However, as 
Cory J. explained in these earlier decisions, it is 
generally inappropriate to define the meaning of 
the term "reasonable doubt" through examples 
from daily life, through the use of synonyms, or 
through analogy to moral choices. The criminal 
standard of proof has a special significance unique 
to the legal process. It is an exacting standard of 
proof rarely encountered in everyday life, and 
there is no universally intelligible illustration of 
the concept, such as the scales of justice with 
respect to the balance of probabilities standard. 
Unlike absolute certainty or the balance of 
probabilities, reasonable doubt is not an easily 
quantifiable standard. It cannot be measured or 
described by analogy. It must be explained. How­
ever, precisely because it is not quantifiable, it is 
difficult to explain. 

In my view, an effective way to define the rea­
sonable doubt standard for a jury is to explain that 
it falls much closer to absolute certainty than to 
proof on a balance of probabilities. As stated in 
Lifchus, a trial judge is required to explain that 
something less than absolute certainty is required, 

preuve hors de tout doute raisonnable n'implique 
pas une preuve correspondant a la certitude abso­
lue. Toutefois, le respect de ces exigences par le 
juge du proces aurait surtout profite au ministere 
public, et non pas a l'appelant. 

Dans la presente affaire, le juge du proces a 
mentionne l' obligation du ministere public et la 
presomption d'innocence, et ii a dit que l'appelant 
devait beneficier de tout doute raisonnable. L'er­
reur de !'expose provient du fait que le jury n 'a pas 
ete infonne de la definition a donner au doute rai­
sonnable. Conune on !'a souligne a maintes repri­
ses dans Lifchus, puis de nouveau dans Bisson, il 
faut dire au jury que la norme de preuve applicable 
dans un proces criminel est plus elevee que la 
norme de la preponderance des probabilites qui est 
utilisee dans les decisions de tous Jes jours et dans 
Jes proces civils . En fait, c'est precisement cette 
exigence d'aller au-dela de la probabilite qui fait 
concorder la nonne de preuve en matiere crimi­
nelle avec la presomption d'innocence et !'obliga­
tion du ministere public. Cependant, cmmne le 
juge Cory !'a explique dans ces arrets anterieurs, il 
est generalement inopportun de definir !'expres­
sion «doute raisonnable» au moyen d'exemples 
tires de la vie quotidienne, de I 'utilisation de syno­
nymes ou d'une analogie avec des choix moraux. 
La norme de preuve en matiere criminelle a un 
sens particulier qui est propre au processus judi­
ciaire. C'est une norme de preuve stricte qui se 
voit rarement dans la vie de tous les jours, et il n'y 
a aucun exemple de cette notion qui soit intelli­
gible a tous, comme la balance de la justice relati­
vement a la norme de la preponderance des proba­
bilites. Contrairement a la certitude absolue OU a la 
preponderance des probabilites, le doute raisonna­
ble n'est pas une norme facile a quantifier. 11 ne 
peut etre ni mesure ni decrit par analogie. 11 doit 
etre explique. Toutefois, il est difficile a expliquer 
justement parce qu'il n'est pas quantifiable. 

J'estime qu'une maniere efficace de definir la 
nonne du doute raisonnable a Uil jury consiste a 
expliquer qu'elle se rapproche davantage de lacer­
titude absolue que de la preuve selon la preponde­
rance des probabilites. Comme l'arret Lifchus l'a 
precise, le juge du proces est tenu d'expliquer qu'il 
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and that something more than probable guilt is 
required, in order for the jury to convict. Both of 
these alternative standards are fairly and easily 
comprehensible. It will be of great assistance for a 
jury if the trial judge situates the reasonable doubt 
standard appropriately between these two stan­
dards. The additional instructions to the jury set 
out in Lifcl?Us as to the meaning and appropriate 
manner of detennining the existence of a reasona­
ble doubt serve to define the space between abso­
lute certainty and proof beyond a reasonable doubt. 
In this regard, I am in agreement with Twaddle 
J.A. in the court below, when he said, at p. 177: 

If standards of proof were marked on a measw-e, 
proof "beyond reasonable doubt" would lie much closer 
to "absolute certainty" than to "a balance of probabili­
ties". Just as a judge has a duty to instruct the jury that 
absolute certainty is not required, he or she has a duty, 
in my view, to instruct the jmy that the criminal stan­
dard is more than a probability. The words he or she 
uses to convey this idea are of no significance, but the 
idea itself must be conveyed . . . . 

In the appellant's case, with respect, the trial 
judge did not give instructions that could be con­
strued as having located the reasonable doubt stan­
dard above the probability standard. Not only was 
the jury not told that something more than 
probability was required in order to convict, but 
nearly all of the instructions they were given (i.e., 
less than absolute certainty required, ordinary eve­
ryday words, no special meaning, more than a friv­
olous doubt required) weakened the content of the 
reasonable doubt standard in such a manner as to 
suggest that probability was indeed the requisite 
standard of proof. In this regard, the reasonable 
doubt instruction in the appellant's case cannot be 
meaningfully distinguished from the impugned 
instructions in Lifchus and Bisson. The reasonable 
likelihood that the jury applied the wrong standard 
of proof raises a realistic possibility that the appel­
lant's convictions constitute a miscarriage of jus­
tice. While obviously a mistake in the charge will 
not always be fatal, at no point did the instructions 
in this case cure the mistake. The fact that the trial 
judge repeatedly stated that the prosecution must 
prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt is no cure 

faut moins que la certitude absolue et plus que la 
culpabilite probable pour que le jury prononce une 
declaration de culpabilite. Ces deux nonnes subsi­
diaires se comprennent assez facilement. 11 sera 
tres utile au jury que le juge du proces situe la 
nonne du doute raisonnable de la bonne fayon 
entre ces deux nonnes. Les directives supplemen­
taires au jury qui ont ete enoncees dans Lifchus, 
quant au sens du doute raisonnabJe et a Ja fayon 
d'en detenniner !'existence, servent a definir ce 
qui separe la certitude absolue de la preuve hors de 
tout doute raisonnable. A cet egard, je suis d'ac­
cord avec le juge Twaddle de la Cour d'appel lors­
qu'il dit, a lap. 177: 

[TRADUCTION] Si !es norrnes de preuve etaient ins­
crites sur un etalon de mesure, la preuve «hors de tout 
doute raiso1mable» se situerait beaucoup plus pres de la 
«certitude absolue» que de la «preponderance des pro­
babilites». De la meme maniere que le juge est tenu de 
dire au jury que la certitude absolue n'est pas requise, ii 
Jui incombe, a rnon avis, de Jui dire que la norme en 
matiere criminelle est plus qu'une probabilite. Les mots 
qu'il utilise pour transmettre cette idee n'ont pas d'im­
portance, mais l'idee elle-meme doit etre transmise ... 

En toute deference, le juge du proces n'a pas, 
dans le cas de l'appelant, donne de directives sus­
ceptibles d'etre interpretees comme ayant situe la 
nonne du doute raisonnable au-dessus de la norme 
de la probabilite. Non seulement n'a-t-il pas dit au 
jury qu'il fallait plus qu'une probabilite pour que 
celui-ci puisse prononcer une declaration de culpa­
bilite, mais encore presque toutes les directives qui 
ont ete donnees (c'est-a-dire, moins que la certi­
tude absolue, Jes mots ordinaires de tous Jes jours, 
aucun sens particulier, plus qu'un doute frivole 
requis) ont affaibli le contenu de la norme du doute 
raisonnable au point d'indiquer que la probabilite 
etait effectivement la nonne de preuve requise. A 
cet egard, on ne peut pas etablir de distinction utile 
entre la directive portant sur le doute raisonnable 
dans le cas de l'appelant et les directives contes­
tees dans les affaires Lifchus et Bisson. La probabi­
lite raisonnable que le jury ait applique la mau­
vaise norme de preuve souleve une possibilite 
realiste que Jes declarations de culpabilite de l'ap­
pelant constituent une erreur judiciaire. Meme s'il 
est evident qu'une erreur dans !'expose n'est pas 
toujours fatale, Jes directives donnees en l'espece 
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given his failure to ever define reasonable doubt 
correctly. To hold otherwise would eviscerate the 
holdings of Lifcl1Us and Bisson. I reach this finding 
notwithstanding the fact that, like the jury charge 
in Lifchus when read as a whole, the jury charge in 
the present case was largely a model of fairness to 
the accused. The fact that other elements of the 
charge were fair to the accused cannot eliminate 
the prejudice caused by the improper instructions. 
Thus I conclude that there was not substantial 
compliance with the Lifchus principles. I would 
therefore allow the appeal on this ground as well. 

I note that, appropriately, the respondent has not 
seriously attempted to apply the curative proviso 
contained ins. 686(1)(b)(iii) of the Criminal Code. 

VI. Disposition 

The appeal is allowed, the judgment of the 
Court of Appeal is set aside, and a new trial is 
directed. 

Appeal allowed and new trial ordered, 
MCLACHLIN C.J. and L'HEUREUX-DUBE, 
GONTHIER and BASTARACHE JJ. dissenting. 

Solicitors for the appellant: Walsh, Micay & 
Company, Winnipeg. 

Solicitor for the respondent: The Attorney Gen­
eral of Manitoba, Winnipeg. 

Solicitor for the intervener the Attorney General 
of Canada: Bernard Laprade, Ottawa. 

Solicitor for the intervener the Attorney General 
for Ontario: The Minisny of the Attorney General, 
Toronto. 

n'ont, a aucun moment, remedie a l'erreur com­
mise. Le fait que le juge du proces a affirme a 
maintes reprises que la poursuite doit etablir la cul­
pabilite hors de tout doute raisonnable ne remedie 
a rien en raison de son omission de definir correc­
tement le doute raisonnable. Conclure le contraire 
depouillerait de tout leur sens les decisions rendues 
dans Lifchus et Bisson. Je tire cette conclusion en 
depit du fait que, a l'instar de !'ensemble de !'ex­
pose au jury dans Lifchus, !'expose au jury en l'es­
pece etait dans une large mesure un modele 
d'equite pour !'accuse. Le fait que d'autres ele­
ments de l' expose aient ete equitables pour l'ac­
cuse ne saurait eliminer le prejudice cause par les 
directives inappropriees. Je conclus done que, pour 
l'essentiel, les principes etablis dans l'arret Lifchus 
n'ont pas ete respectes. Par consequent, je suis 
d'avis d'accueillir le pourvoi pour ce motif egale­
ment. 

Je souligne que l' intimee a eu raison de ne pas 
tenter serieusement d'appliquer la disposition repa­
ratrice du sous-al. 686(1)b)(iii) du Code criminel. 

VI. Dispositif 

Le pourvoi est accueilli, l'arret de la Cour d'ap­
pel est annule et la tenue d'un nouveau proci~s est 
ordonnee. 

Pourvoi accueilli et nouveau proces ordonne, le 
juge en chefMCLACHLIN et !es juges L'HEUREUX­
DUBE, GONTHIER et BAST ARA CHE sont dissidents. 

Procureurs de l 'appelant: Walsh, Micay & Com­
pany, Winnipeg. 

Procureur de l'intimee: Le procureur general du 
Manitoba, Winnipeg. 

Procureur de l'intervenant le procureur general 
du Canada: Bernard Laprade, Ottawa. 

Procureur de l'intervenant le procureur general 
de /'Ontario: Le ministere du Procureur general, 
Toronto. 
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Solicitor for the intervener the Attorney General 
of British Columbia: The Ministry of the Attorney 
General, Vancouver. 

[2000] 2 S.C.R. 

Procureur de l 'intervenant le procureur general 
de la Colombie-Britannique: Le ministere du Pro­
cureur general, Vancouver. 
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Court of Queen's Bench of Alberta 

Citation: Twinn v Sawridge Band, 2017 ABQB 366 

Between: 

I. Introduction 

Catherine Twinn 

- and -

Sawridge Band 

Reasons for Decision 
of the 

Honourable Madam Justice Dawn Pentelechuk 

Date: 20170607 
Docket: 1103 09493 
Registry: Edmonton 

Applicant 

Respondent 

[1] This matter comes before me by way of a Reference from Review Officer Dennis 
Pawlowski l.lllder Rule 10.18 of the Alberta Rules of Court. Catherine Twinn [Ms. Twinn] is a 
barrister and solicitor in Alberta. On Jl.llle 10, 2011, she filed an application before a Master in 
Chambers to permit a review of 14 accounts she had issued to the Sawridge Band, now Sawridge 
First Nation [Sawridge]. 

[2] These accol.lllts were part of a retainer dating back to the mid 1980's, involving 
constitutional and Charter challenges to Bill C-31, which proposed amendments to membership 
l.lllder the Indian Act, RSC 1985, c I-5 [Indian Act]. Between 1999 and 2009, Ms. Twinn billed 
Sawridge in excess of $5 million on this file. The disputed accounts were issued between 
October 31, 2005 and October 19, 2009, and total $213,959.29. Sawridge argues the subject of 
these accounts did not form part of Ms. Twinn's retainer, are barred under the Limitations Act, 
RSA 2000 CL-12 [Limitations Act], and are excessive in any event. 
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[3] On June 10, 2011 , Ms. Twinn filed an Appointment for Review of the disputed accounts. 

[4] On July 6, 2011, an order was granted in Master's Chambers permitting review of the 
accounts. 

[5] The review was originally scheduled for July 13 and 14, 2011. The patties appeared 
before Review Officer J.A.B. Christensen. Mr. Christensen suggested that a Reference to the 
Coutt might be required. Ultimately, the review was adjourned pending the appeal by Sawridge 
of the Master's Order. 

[ 6] The appeal was heard on November 15, 2011, and dismissed by Browne, J with reasons 
reported at Twinn v SawridgeBand, 2012 ABQB 44, 531AR158. She held that the Alberta 
Rules of Court, r 10.10(2) (which has since been amended) did not apply to lawyer-initiated 
reviews. Ms. Twinn' s application to permit review was "perhaps wise, but not necessary'': at 
para 62. Browne J held the quantum of the accounts should be decided first, and liability decided 
by Reference to a Justice of the Court of Queen's Bench. 

[7] In September 2015, the parties appeared before Review Officer Dennis Pawlowski. The 
review did not proceed in order to allow for determination of the following issues outlined in his 
Reference: 

1. Did Sawridge Band expressly, impliedly, orally or [in] writing, enter into any 
agreement with Catherine Twinn to provide the services that are claimed to have 
been provided by her and, if so, what was the nature and scope of the agreement 
or agreements? 

2. Are any of Catherine Twinn' s claims for legal costs barred by the Limitations Act 
(Alberta)? 

3. Is Sawridge Band estopped, in any way, from contesting its liability with respect 
to any of the statements of account in question? 

[8] The evidence in the application before me consists of the following: 

1. Affidavit of Catherine Twinn, sworn June 8, 2011; 

2. Transcript of Questioning on the Affidavit of Catherine Twinn on July 11, 2011; 

3. Exhibits and Answers to Undertakings arising from Questioning on the Affidavit 
of Catherine Twinn; 

4. Affidavit ofRoland Twinn, Chief ofSawridge, sworn October4, 2011; 

5. Transcript of Questioning on Affidavit of Roland Twinn on November 2, 2011; 
and 

6. Exlubits and Answers to Undertakings arising from Questioning on the Affidavit 
ofRoland Twinn. 

II. Background Facts 

[9] Ms. Twinn was admitted to the Law Society of Alberta in 1980, practiced law in various 
locations in Alberta, and in 1983, opened an office in Edmonton [Lancaster House or Data 
Room]. 
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[10] Ms. Twinn entered into a retainer agreement dated April 13, 1984 with the Lesser SI 
Slave Lake Indian Regional Council and other parts of Treaty 8, signed by Chief Walter Twinn, 
in his capacity as President [Retainer Agreement]. Ms. Twinn says this Retainer Agreement 
governs her retainer with Sawridge. It is agreed that Sawridge is part of Treaty 8. 

[11] Ms. Twinn ma.tTied Chief Walter Twinn in November 1984. Walter Twinn died on 
October 30, 1997. His son, Roland Twinn, was elected as a member of the Sawridge Band 
Council in September 1997, and in Febmary 2003, became Chief of the Sawridge Band. 

[12] The parties agree that the 1984 Retainer Agreement pertained to Bill C-47, which 
proposed various amendments to the Indian Act. This Bill died following the federal election m 
1984. 

[13] In 1985, Bill C-31 was tabled . Ms. Twinn acted primarily as "instructing solicitor" m a 
lawsuit commenced in 1986 in the Federal Court by numerous Indian Bands. The lawsuit 
involved lengthy Charter and constitutional challenges to Bill C-31. 

[14] The first 79-day trial in Federal Court began in September 1993. Six Bands were named 
as plaintiffs, including Sawridge. The lawsuit was dismissed, but the plaintiff Bands successfully 
appealed to the Federal Court of Appeal in 1997. A new trial was ordered based on reasonable 
apprehension of bias on the part of the trial judge. 

[15] The second trial was originally scheduled to commence in January 2005 but did not 
commence until January 2007. By this point, only two plaintiff Bands remained: Sawridge and 
Tsuu T'ina First Nation. While the date is not clear on the evidence, Sawridge agreed at some 
point to cover legal fees on behalf of Tsuu T'ina First Nation. 

[16] Throughout these proceedings, the Twinn Law firm was one of the Counsel of Record on 
behalf of the plaintiffs. Lead counsel at that time was Philip Healey of Aird & Berlis LLP in 
Toronto. 

[17] The claim was extensively case managed. In the course of the second trial, the plaintiffs 
made a number of controversial and unsuccessful applications, resulting in a cost award against 
the plaintiff Bands of approximately $1.8 million for their misconduct. The reasons for the costs 
award are reported at Sawridge First Nation v Canada , 2008 FC 267, 320 FTR 166, affd 2009 
FCA 123, leave to appeal to SCC refused, [2009] SCCA No 248 . 

[18] In early 2008, the plaintiff Bands advised the Cornt they were closing their case, would 
not be calling any further evidence and, based on the pre-trial rulings, would be appealing to the 
Federal Court of Appeal. The action was dismissed with reasons rep01ted at Saw ridge Band v 
Canada, 2008 FC 322, 319 FTR 217. 

[19] The plaintiffs ' appeal to the Federal Court of Appeal was dismissed on April 21 , 2009: 
Sawridge First Nation v Canada, 2009 FCA 123, 391NR375 . Leave to appeal to the Supreme 
Court of Canada was denied on December 10, 2009: SawridgeBand v R, [2009] SCCA No 248, 
403 NR393 . 

[20] With that background, I will now turn to an analysis of the issues outlined in the 
Reference. 



Page: 4 

1. What was the nature and tenns of the retainer agreement between the 
parties? 

a) Does the April 13, 1984 Retainer Agreement govern the parties? 

[21] Ms. Twinn argues that the agreement signed April 13, 1984 governs the retainer between 
the parties and applies to the disputed accounts. 

[22] The agreement pertains to "Proposed Membership Amendments To The Indian Act." Ms. 
Twinn was authorized to "conduct all matters and negotiations required under this retainer and to 
take any legal steps which may be necessary or desirable in Counsel's sole opinion to protect the 
Client's interests .... " and to retain other counsel as she deemed essential. 

[23] As indicated earlier, the agreement was signed by Chief Walter Twinn in his capacity as 
President of the Lesser SI Slave Lake Indian Regional Council and other parts of Treaty 8. There 
is no evidence as to the legal status of the Lesser SI Slave Lake Indian Regional Council or 
which entities formed Treaty 8 in 1984, although it is agreed that Sawridge was, and continues to 
be, patt of Treaty 8. Nor is there other evidence of whether the six Bands that originally filed the 
lawsuit in 1986 formed pa1t of Treaty 8. 

[24] It is agreed that the 1984 Retainer Agreement was executed when the proposed 
legislation was Bill C-47. However, the lawsuits challenged the subsequently tabled Bill C-31. I 
heard no evidence as to the degree of similarity between the two bills. 

[25] There is no evidence that the parties took formal steps to end the Retainer Agreement, 
either before or after Chief Walter Twinn' s passing. No further written retainer agreement was 
ever executed nor is there evidence before me of any written amendments to this Retainer 
Agreement. 

[26] The legal fees outlined in the 1984 Retainer Agreement ($250 per day) increased over 
time, to $270 per hour, and Ms. Twinn billed not only for the services she provided personally, 
but for various staff of Twinn Law firm 

[27] In a broad sense, proposed amendments to membership under the Indian Act were the 
subject of both the Retainer Agreement and the ensuing litigation, but over time, the fundamental 
terms of the 1984 Retainer Agreement changed. The legal entity that signed the Retainer 
Agreement (i.e. the Lesser SI Slave Lake Indian Regional Council) is a different legal entity than 
Sawridge. The basis of billing not only increased, but changed from a daily flat rate to an hourly 
rate. Further, in reading the terms of the agreement, it cannot be said that the full scope of this 
protracted litigation was contemplated. The agreement speaks of negotiation and specifically 
allows for possible withdrawal of counsel if an application to the court is required. 

[28] Consequently, I conclude that the Retainer Agreement has no application and does not 
inform the Review Officer's assessment of the accounts in question. 

[29] Notwithstanding my conclusion that the 1984 Retainer Agreement does not apply to the 
parties, there is no question that Ms. Twinn had a form of retainer agreement with Sawridge. 
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b) What was the scope of the retainer and did it cover the subject of the 
disputed accounts? 

[30] The determination of the type ofretainer governing the parties and the tem1S of that 
agreement is largely a question of fact. In the case of an oral retainer, the onus is on the solicitor 
to prove its terms and the client's version is more likely to be accepted if the tenns of the retainer 
have not been reduced to writing: Davis & Company v Jiwan, 2006 BCSC 658 at para 73 , 2006 
CarswellBC 1094; Peterson, Ross v Kirwood, [1984] AJNo 863 at para 71, 52 AR 284. 

[31] Here, the analysis is hampered by limited and rather vague evidence on the part of Ms. 
Twinn as well as the absence of evidence from Sawridge on the terms of the retainer. The 
Questioning of Roland Twinn was focused on Ms. Twinn's handling of the case and other issues 
not before me in this Reference. 

[32] Ms. Twinn's evidence is that her primary role was to act as "instructing solicitor" for the 
other firms engaged in representing the plaintiff Bands. She was the lawyer prilnarily responsible 
for assembling the legal team, locating and docwnenting evidence as well as marshalling 
witnesses, including expert witnesses. She deposed she was heavily involved in managing legal 
and other research. 

[33] The scope of Ms. Twinn's retainer was also addressed in her correspondence of October 
2005 to the Chiefs of the two plaintiff Bands. She advised that Twinn Law would continue as 
Solicitor of Record and would be involved in all aspects of the case, including strategy, research 
and preparation for interlocutory motions and trial. Ms. Twinn would also lead evidence at trial. 1 

[34] Ms. Twinn was also described as ''the conduit" through which the various legal counsel 
on the file were provided with the clients' instructions. 

[35] The parties agree that the determination of whether or not the subject matter of the 
disputed accounts fell within the terms of Ms. Twinn's retainer is an issue properly before me. 

[36] The accounts in question involve fees and expenses charged for the following: 

1. Attendance at a UN Expert Conference in Arizona in October 2005; 

ii. Set up of Lancaster House (also referred to as Data Room start-up) between June and 
August 2003; 

u1. Data Room shutdown and creation of the "DML index" between February 2003 and 
February 2004. 

i. UN Expert Conference 

[37] In October 2005, Ms. Twinn travelled to Arizona to meet with Willie Littlechild and 
attend a UN Expert Conference. She billed Sawridge for 34 hours of her tilne plus expenses 
totalling $9,870.15. Ms. Twinn felt attendance at this Conference was part of her duties in 
connection with Bill C-31. She admits she did not obtain approval from Sawridge to attend the 
Conference at its expense. 

1 Exhibit Al, Tab 16 from Questioning on Affidavit of Catherine May Twinn on July 11, 2011. 
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[3 8] After she issued the account dated October 31 , 2005 , Sawridge refused to pay, stating 
this trip had not been approved. 

[39] The limited evidence before me does not establish that attendance at this seminar was 
part of her retainer and, as will be explained later in these reasons, is now barred under the 
Limitations Act, in any event. 

ii. Lancaster House/Data Room set-up 

[40] In 2003, to facilitate the litigation, Ms. Twinn set up a second office in Edmonton, and 
staff from her Lac La Biche office began working in Edmonton. 

[41] Ms. Twinn recorded time spent between February 2003 and February 2004 ($54,735) and 
expenses incurred between June and August 2003 ($27,204.26) in relation to the Data Room set­
up. She did not prepare an account until May 31 , 2009, after Sawridge had terminated her 
retainer. She first presented this account to Sawridge at a ' 'without prejudice" meeting regarding 
her outstanding accounts, which occurred sometime in October 2009. 

[42] Following this meeting, Ms. Twinn reduced her account for these services by 30%, from 
$81 ,939.26 to $60,943 .26. She made hand written changes on the May 31, 2009 account and sent 
it along with a number of other accounts to Sawridge, on November 20, 2009. 

[43] Ms. Twinn suggests the Data Room was established to support the second trial. As 
Sawridge had agreed to pay for an office for the first trial, this fanned part of her w1derstanding 
that the office set-up for the second trial would also be covered. 

[44] Ms. Twinn' s evidence is that this office provided a workspace in Edmonton for lead 
counsel (based in Toronto), a space to meet and interview witnesses, and a space to store trial 
production. In July 2005, Edward H. Molstad, QC of Parlee McLaws became Counsel of Record, 
replacing Phillip Healey. 

[45] When Questioned on why these expenses were not billed until 2009, Ms. Twinn 
answered: 

Well, there were discussions with Mr. McKinney and - - which also included 
discussions with my legal counsel; there were discussions with myself; my 
accountant with them, with Mr. McKinney and this was a matter that was not 
resolved.2 

[ 46] When asked again why these expenses were not included in her Jw1e 2003 account, she 
answered: 

Well, I wanted to have the conversation with the client about the cost of this 
office that had to be set up, and Samson in their litigation had to set up an office 
to support the litigation. They retained Terry Munroe and they paid for all the 
costs associated with that. In the first trial Sawridge also set up an office to 
support the trial process. 

2 Ques tioning on Affidav it of Catherine May Twinn on July 11, 2011 staiting on page 56, line 17. 
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So I was eTecting that we would reach some resolution that would be 
reasonable. 

[47] Ms. Twinn admits that Sawridge never expressly told her that the time and expenses she 
incurred in the office set up would be paid, but suggests that based on discussions with Michael 
McKinney, General Counsel to Sawridge, and Bertha L'Hirondelle, then Chief of Sawridge, she 
''was left with the clear understanding" these expenses would be covered, because Sawridge 
recognized the need for the office in E.dmonton, and she did what was needed to fulfill her 
professional obligations. 

[48] In his letter of April 22, 2010, Mr. McKinney addressed these charges: 

DATA ROOM 

We note that $60,943 .26 was added to the May 2009 invoice in relation to Data 
Room sta1t up . We believe that these items and amounts had been the subject of 
earlier discussions. We have previously advised you of our concerns with respect 
to these amounts, including the fact that some of these costs are office costs which 
would normally be incurred by legal counsel on their own account, the fact that 
the Band may have reduced or avoided these amounts had it been consulted and 
involved in the set up of the Data Room at a later time, the fact that some of the 
time included appears to be for the move of your office from the Band 
Administration building to your residence, the set up of an office at Enoch and the 
set up of an office at Hobbema and the fact that some of this work was charged at 
legal rates when it could have been done by others at non-legal rates. These issues 
have not been addressed. 

[ 49] Was this expense an implied tetm of the retainer? 

[50] In 2003, lead counsel was based in Toronto. It is logical that Ms. Twinn, as the 
coordinator and conduit ofthis litigation, would need space in E.dmonton to support the trial. The 
issue is not whether an E.dmonton office was logically required, but whether the resulting 
expense in establishing it was part of the retainer such that the client is responsible for it. 

[51] The record before me does not suggest the monthly costs for leasing the space were 
charged to Sawridge. 

[52] While it is entirely possible for a client to negotiate such an expense as part of his or her 
retainer, in this instance, nothing was reduced to writing and the evidence supporting Ms. 
Twinn's "clear understanding" (that the expenses would be covered) is scant. In the absence of 
an express agreement, would the client expect to absorb this expense as an incidental part of its 
retainer, or would it expect that this expense is part and parcel of a lawyer doing business? 

[53] It is certainly conceivable that a lawyer may spend significant time and money setting 
up, or adapting their practice in order to serve their client. Absent an express agreement, it does 
not follow that time and money incurred with administrative functions should be the 
responsibility of the client. For instance, it cannot be said that a lawyer's time spent in hiring a 
legal assistant or buying a photocopier, or researching and learning new software programs, is an 
incidental part of a lawyer' s retainer, even if those steps are driven by the retainer. 

3 Ibid, page 56, line 27 to page 57, line 10. 
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[54] Further, Ms. Twinn's actions disaffirmed her assertion that she understood these 
expenses would be covered. From inception, she billed her time and disbursements regarding the 
Data Room to a different file, and never actually sent the account until her retainer ended, some 
six years later. 

[55] While the concept of an Edmonton office or ' 'war room" seems entirely logical given the 
scope of this litigation, I am unable to imply a term of this retainer that Sawridge was responsible 
not only for Ms. Twinn's disbursements in setting up the office, but significant professional time 
too . Accordingly, these accounts will not be before the Review Officer. 

iii. Office shutdown and DML (June 2008 - September 2008) 

[56] Sometime in early 2008, after the second trial was dismissed, Ms. Twinn wrote to Mr. 
McKinney and requested a meeting to discuss facilitating the intervention and winding down of 
the Data Room Ms. Twinn requested that her counsel, Mr. Kalie), Q .C.be present at the 
meeting. 

[57] Ms. Twiim suggested that the file contents (685 boxes) be put ii1 a storage container and 
placed on the Sawridge First Nation. Sawridge did not approve this request. 

[58] The evidence suggests that all producible documents in the litigation had been scanned 
through "Summation" software and stored on the Parlee McLaws server. 

[59] Nonetheless, Ms. Twinn felt it was necessary to organize the 685 boxes of material in 
order to retrieve hard copies in the event the appeal was successful. She nlStructed her staff to 
create a "detailed DML index" or database to accomplish this objective, and billed Sawridge 
$86,028.07. Although there were negligible disbursements associated with this, the account was 
almost entirely comprised of Ms. Twinn's staff's time, billed at between $45 and $60 per hour. 

[60] Ms. Twinn believed preparing the file for storage was part of her retainer, but admits she 
did not receive ll1Structions from Sawridge to create this data base. She deposed she was trying to 
have discussions with Mr. McKinney but it was a busy time. She did not advise Sawridge of the 
cost, as she did not know what the cost would be. 

[61] In his April 22, 2010 letter, Mr. McKinney questions both the rate and total time charged, 
but does not dispute liability for these office shutdown expenses or suggest that the expenses 
were beyond the scope of the retainer. I conclude that these expenses regarding the office 
shutdown are properly before the Review Officer. 

2. Are the claims barred by the Limitations Act? 

[62] I have determined that the accounts relating to the attendance at the UN Expert 
Conference and the Data Room start-up did not form part of Ms. Twinn's retainer. Nonetheless, 
if I am incorrect in this conclusion, I will consider whether any of the accounts are barred by the 
Limitations Act. In order to make this determination, it is necessary to first determine the nature 
of the retainer agreement between the parties. 

[63] In this case, I am satisfied that the retainer between Ms. Twinn and Sawridge was a 
continual one, as defined by Rooke ACJ in Samson Cree Nation v O'Reilly &Associes, 2013 
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ABQB 350 at paras 29, 67, 564 AR 169, aff'd 2014 ABCA 268, that is, where legal counsel start 
to act and continue to act until the final appeal, or otherwise instructed. 

[64] Clearly in this retainer, Ms. Twinn issued periodic accounts, usually on a monthly basis. 
Under a continual retainer, counsel and the client may agree to interim or provisional accounts 
pending the final account, or a series of final accounts. 

[65] Whether Ms. Twinn's periodic accounts were interim or final is critical, as this 
determination informs when the limitation period starts to run. 

[66] Ms. Twinn argues that the periodic accounts issued were interim and as a result, the 
limitation period did not start to run until her final account was rendered at the end of the retainer 
(November 20, 2009). 

[67] Ms. Twinn's Appointment for Review of the disputed accounts is a claim for a remedial 
order and subject to the two year limitation period in the LimitaNons Act: Samson Cree Nation v 
O'Reilly & Associes, 2014 ABCA 268 at para 169, 580 AR 181. The Appointment for Review 
stops the two year limitation period from running. 

[68] Ms. Twinn :filed her Application for Review of the accounts on June 10, 2011, within two 
years of the date of her last account. Therefore, she argues, the Limitations Act does not preclude 
review of any of her accounts. 

[69] Sawridge argues the periodic accow1ts issued were each final accounts, and therefore, 
many of the accounts were issued more than two years prior to the Application for Review filed 
June 10, 2011, and are now barred under the Limitations Act. 

[70] In Samson Cree, Rooke ACJ provides a helpful distinction between periodic interim and 
periodic final accounts (at paras 45-46): 

Periodic accounts may be interim or final. An interim account is one that is not 
final, but is issued pending a final account, and may be changed directly at any 
future time or in the end result between the time it is issued and the final account. 
It is thus customary that interim accounts are not the subject of taxation 
individually, but rather only the final account. When the final account is taxed, all 
the interim accounts issued leading to the final account are taxable. 

Final accounts are ones that conclude all truly interim or provisional accounts 
before them (in which case, as noted, all the interim accounts are part of that 
taxation), or are final and taxable in themselves, with no regard to other accounts. 

[71] Ms. Twinn issued in excess of 137 accounts in the course of this retainer. Were these 
accounts periodic interim or periodic final? 

[72] In Samson Cree, Rooke AJC undertook a comprehensive review of the authorities in 
determining whether a periodic account is interim or final. Those authorities were succinctly 
summarized in the later decision of Brown, J (as he then was) in Lewis Estates Communities Inc 
v Brownlee LLP, 2013 ABQB 508 at para 42, 2013 CarswellAlta 1704 [Lewis Estates]: 

Taken together, these authorities have focussed on whether the lawyer and the 
client considered each of the accounts in question to be the lawyer ' s final account 
for the work recorded. And, in determining with regard to the dealings of the 
parties and the circumstances whether the paities intended that each account 
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would be :final, they establish that a periodic accolUlt is likely to be considered 
final [where] the parties lUlderstand that the lawyer's charges will be based upon 
hours spent and the lawyers' billable rates, and that the charges will not be 
adjusted, whether upwards or downwards, upon issuance of a final bill at the 
conclusion of the matter. 

[73] It is not disputed that for the most part, Ms. Twimi issued accolUlts on a monthly basis 
and, with the exception of the disputed accolUlts, were paid by Sawridge. 

[74] Ms. Twinn points to Roland Twinn's evidence that Sawridge reserved the right to 
question and reduce all legal accolUlts issued, including those of Ms. Twinn, as a factor 
suggesting the accolUlts were periodic interim. In my view, it is entirely appropriate (and 
expected) that Sawridge would develop an internal accollilt review process. Over the course of 
this litigation, millions of dollars in legal fees were paid to various lawyers, including to Ms. 
Twinn. Good governance and an internal review of accolUlts are not detenninative of this issue. 

[75] There is nothing to suggest that Ms. Twinn's accolUlts overall, would either increase or 
decrease depending on the results of the litigation or some other contingency, or that the patties 
agreed to adjust the accolUlts up or down at the end of the retainer. Ms. Twinn' s accollilts 
included her professional services for a specific period, and were billed according to the time 
spent at the agreed hourly rates. 

[76] Based on the conduct of the patties where each of the monthly accolUlts that pertained to 
the professional services rendered by Ms. Twinn were paid as due by Sawridge, I conclude that 
the periodic accollilts issued by Ms. Twinn in the course of this ve1y lengthy retainer are properly 
characterized as periodic final accolUlts, and were considered to be so by both Ms. Twinn and 
Sawridge: Lewis Estates at paras 44-46. 

[77] As a result, Ms. Twinn had no more than two years from the date of the accolUlt, to 
pursue a remedial order by way of review. 

[78] Ms. Twinn concedes that if I find the accounts were periodic final, then her Appointment 
for Review for the accollilt dated October 31, 2005, in relation to her attendance at the UN 
Expert Conference, is clearly out of time. 

a) The May 31, 2009 Account-Data Room Start-Up 

[79] In the course of oral argument, I questioned cow1Sel on whether a litnitation issue arose 
from the fact that the time and expenses relating to Lancaster House/Data Room start-up were 
incun·ed between 2003 and 2004, but not billed lliltil 2009. This had not been addressed by the 
parties in their Brie:fS, as they were focused on limitation issues arising from the date the account 
was issued. 

[80] Counsel provided further written submissions on this issue on April 28, 2017. 

[81] Section 3(1) of the Limitations Act provides the funitation period for actions and remedial 
orders. It states: 

Subject to subsections (1.1) and (1.2) and section 11, if a claimant does not seek a 
remedial order within 
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(a) 2 years after the date on which the claimant first knew, or in the 
circumstances ought to have known, 

CD that the injury for which the claimant seeks a remedial 
order had occurred, 

(ii) that the injury was attributable to conduct of the defendant, 
and 

(ill) that the injury, assuming liability on the part of the 
defendant, warrants bringing a proceeding, 

or 

(b) 10 years after the claim arose, whichever period expires first, the 
defendant, on pleading this Act as a defence, is entitled to immunity from liability 
in respect of the claim. 

[82] This section must be applied to the facts of any given case, taking into account the 
circumstances existing, to determine the starting date for a limitation period. A plaintiff is not 
required to bring a claim until two years after discovery of the three criteria listed in s 3(1)(a): 
Gayton v Lacasse, 2010 ABCA 123 at paras 18-21, 482 AR 179. 

[83] The parties agree that the limitation period to bring a claim for services rendered started 
when Ms. Twinn knew or ought to have known of the injru-y, that the irtjury could be attributable 
to Sawridge and that the irtjru-y warranted bringing an action. In the case of agreements, an iI~ury 
is defined as "non-performance of an obligation": s 1, Limitations Act. 

[84] Ms. Twinn argues that she understood, and her reasonable belief was, that she would be 
paid her tiine and the expenses incurred in setting up the Data Room She argues the Court 
should not assrune that she ought to have known ''that the Band intended to be dishonest and 
deceitful with respect to its intention to pay the claiin." She points out there is no evidence to 
contradict her reasonable belief that the Band, through continued discussions, would agree to pay 
these costs. Fru1her, she argues, she could not have known Sawridge would refuse to pay until 
she actually rendered an account. Alternatively, Ms. Twinn argues that Sawridge's failure to pay 
did not warrant bringing a proceeding until her retainer was terminated, because the stakes were 
high in this litigation and jeopardizing the Band's position by suing over the relatively small cost 
of the Data Room set-up was not warranted. 

[85] Sawridge argues the injury attributable to it occrured when the expense and the work was 
actually incurred, and Ms. Twinn should have issued invoices in the months the costs were 
incurred, in keeping with her usual practice. 

[86] In the circumstances of this case, it is difficult to accept that Ms. Twinn, a barrister and 
solicitor, did not know and ought not to have known, that the Limitations Act applied to her 
claim for non-performance of Sawridge's obligation to pay. 

[87] Significantly, iI1 GJ White Construction Ltd v Palermo (1999), 2 CPC (5th) 110, 7 CLR 
(3d) 13 (Ont SCJ) (WL), the evidence before the Court in that case was that the invoice for work 
done in July and August 1989 was not sent out until December 30, 1994. In light of that 
circumstance, Nordheimer J commented, at para 20, that it would be improper to use the time 
when the invoice was delivered as the basis for determining when the plaintiff knew, or ought to 
have known, the material facts givmg rise to the cause of action because to "select [the invoice 
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delivery] date would allow the plaintiff to effectively toll the limitation period for as long as it 
wished by simply withholding delivery of an invoice." 

[88] Taking Ms. Twinn' s evidence at its highest, she relies on a clear belief or a clear 
understanding she would be paid. With respect, this cannot delay the commencement of the 
limitation period. She leads no evidence to suggest that Sawridge waived the limitation period or 
voluntarily entered into some type of standstill agreement. A plaintiff cannot unilaterally impose 
a standstill agreement for delaying the preparation of an invoice: Royal Well Servicing Ltd v 
MUiphy Oil Co, 2016 ABQB 418 at para 14 (Alta Master) [Royal Well]. 

[89] Nor on these facts, is Ms. Twinn justified in issuing the account only after her retainer 
had been terminated, in light of her argued significant legal and fiduciary duties to the Band. 
Given the legal principle that a service provider cannot suspend the limitation period by delaying 
the issuance of an invoice, Ms. Twinn could have issued the account but delayed · her request for 
payment pending discussions with Sawridge, or she could have negotiated a stand-still 
agreement on review. She did neither. (See Royal Well at para 14; Hugh Munro Construction 
Ltdv Moschuk, 2012ONCA109 at para 1, 2012 CarswellOnt 1854). 

[90] It is neither fair nor in the interests of justice to issue an account to a client five to six 
years after the work was done, particularly when the long standing practice was to issue monthly 
accounts for time and expenses incurred. It is incongruous to permit the lawyer an open-ended 
period in which to issue an account while imposing on the client, a regulatory limit of six months 
to review that accolll1t: Alberta Rules of Court, r 10.10; See also, the Law Society of Alberta, 
Code of Conduct, ch III, 3.6-3, Commentary 2, which stipulates, inter alia, that, "[s]ubject to any 
special agreement with the client, a final account should be rendered within a reasonable time 
after completion of the services." 

[91] Further, the inordinate delay by Ms. Twinn in issuing the account for the Data Room 
start-up puts Sawridge at a distinct disadvantage in being able to recall any discussions 
surrolll1ding the subject matter of the account. It also thwarts the client's ability to properly 
budget for and monitor its legal expenses. The modem approach to litigation delay and presumed 
prejudice, most recently articulated by our Court of Appeal in Humphreys v Trebilock, 2017 
ABCA 116, 2017 CarswellAlta 647, has, in my view, application to all aspects of litigation, 
including the rendering, enforcement of and challenge to accounts. 

[92] Consequently, I conclude that the account of May 31, 2009, relating to the Data Room 
start-up, was issued too late and the Appointment for Review of that account was filed too late. 
Therefore, I find that the May 31, 2009 Data Room start-up account is barred bys 3(1)(a) of the 
Limitations Act. 

b) The Accounts dated June 30, 2008-0ctober 31, 2008-Data Room shut-down and Creation 
ofDML Index 

[93] The five invoices in question were sent to Sawridge with Ms. Twinn's letter dated 
November 20, 2009. Ms. Twinn's Appointment for Review was filed June 10, 2011 , more than 
two years from the date services were provided and more than two years from the date of the 
accounts. However, the limitation period may be extended by the application of s 8 of the 
Limitations Act, which extends the limitation period ~ during the limitation period, there has 
been an acknowledgment of or part payment toward the claim. 
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Does Section 8 of the Limitations Act apply to any of the Disputed Accounts? 

[94] Section 8 of the Limitations Act reads as follows: 

(2) Subject to subsections (3) and (4) and section 9, if a person liable in respect of 
a claim acknowledges the claim, or makes a part payment in respect of the claim, 
before the expiration of the limitation period applicable to the claim, the operation 
of the limitation period begins again at the time of the acknowledgment or part 
payment. 

(3) A claim may be acknowledged only by an admission of the person liable in 
respect of it that the swn claimed is due and unpaid, but an acknowledgment JS 

effective 

(a) whether or not a promise to pay can be implied from it, and 

(b) whether or not it is accompanied with a refusal to pay. 

(4) When a claim is for the recovery of both a primary swn and interest on it, an 
acknowledgment of either obligation, or a part payment in respect of either 
obligation, is an acknowledgment of: or a part payment in respect of: the other 
obligation. 

[95] Ms. Twinn argues there has been both an acknowledgment and pati- payment with 
respect to the accounts, which would serve to extend the limitation periods. 

[96] Sawridge, relying on the decision of Verville Jin Dicorp Properties Ltd v Zellers Inc, 
2005 ABQB 399, 381AR19, argues that any acknowledgment or part payment must be in 
relation to the disputed debt or accounts. 

[97] In Dicorp, the defendant objected to common area expenses assessed by the claimant 
landlord, raising concerns about the calculation of the common area taxes, but it did not object to 
the common area expense attributable to a parking lot. Despite making a payment towards those 
common area expenses it did not question, Verville J concluded that the defendant's 
correspondence did not constitute an acknowledgement of the common area taxes being claimed. 

[98] Graesser J, in JohnBarlotArchitectLtdv973189AlbertaLtd, 2008ABQB 458, 73 
CLR (3d) 44, distinguished Dicorp, concluding that the decision turned on the specific wording 
of the defendant's correspondence and that the case did not otherwise provide guidance as to the 
nature or necessary fonn an acknowledgment must take to extend a limitation period. 

[99] Graesser J held it was not necessary for the acknowledgment to refer to the specific 
amount of the debt. Citing Re Heffren , [1922] 2 WWR 1038, 68 DLR 766 (Man KB), he 
concluded that an acknowledgment is sufficient if the words either expressly or by implication 
amount to an unconditional acknowledgment of the debt, but the acknowledgement must be in 
writing. See also Nike/ Investments Ltd v Gallaher, 2012 ABQB 276 at paras 22-23 , 538 AR 
373 (per Manderscheid J). 

[100] John Barlot involved a claim for outstanding architectural fees in relation to three 
different projects. Graesser J considered the application of s 8 of the Limitations Act in relation 
to the ''Haven Project." 
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[l 01] Graesser J reviewed three pieces of correspondence issued by the client. The first was a 
letter in July 2004 saying "in follow up with our discussions of July 15, 2004, you have advised 
me that you will prepare the completion certificates for the Haven [Project]. Once these 
certificates are completed, please contact me so that I can ce11ify the cheque for final payment. .. " 

[102] Then, in early 2005, a settlement meeting took place between the patties. The plaintiff 
asked the client that the proposal be put in writing. The client made an offer in writing to pay the 
full aimunt owing under the "Haven Project" and some amount to another project. 

[103] Finally, on April 20, 2005, the client wrote requesting certain schedules be prepared to 
obtain completion certificates for the various units and that upon completion of the requested 
schedules, the client would ''prepare a certified cheque in the amow1t of $87,007.79" being the 
full amount owing on the ''Haven Project." 

[104] In dismissing the related appea~ the Court of Appeal concluded that the July 2004 letter, 
the February 2005 settlement offer and the April 2005 letter, either alone or in combination, 
provided ample support for Graesser J's conclusion that the client had acknowledged the 
plaintiffs claim respecting the ''Haven Project," and therefore extended the limitation period, 
pursuant to s 8: John Barlot Architect Ltdv 973189 Alberta Ltd, 2009 ABCA 307 at para 15, 
460 AR 393 . 

[l 05] In reviewing the authorities provided, the following principles emerge: 

"Claim" is defined ins 8(1) as being an "accrued liquidated pecuniary sum"; 

For the purposes of s 8, an acknowledgement need not refer to the specific amount of 
the debt; 

TI1e acknowledgement must be in writing; oral promises to pay are not sufficient; 

The words used must expressly or by implication amount to an unconditional 
acknowledgement of the debt; 

TI1e limitation period may be extended by either an acknowledgment or a part 
payment. 

[l 06] I would add that the analysis is factually driven, and the words used must be assessed in 
the context of the circwnstances existing. 

[107] In Dicorp, the defendant never acknowledged the claim relating to common area taxes, 
because its correspondence consistently questioned the calculations. TI1e pa11 payments made 
were found to be made towards aimunts not in dispute. In that case, Verville J, at paras 68-69, 
commented : 

[68] Partial payment, sometimes constituting a form of acknowledgement, may 
extend a limitation. However, here the Defendant clearly indicated to the 
Plaintiffs that it would pay only with respect to the separate parking lot, which 
debt it did not dispute. The Defendant submitted that this was not an 
acknowledgement of the remainder of the debt. 

[69] Brandon v. Dale, [1930] 2 D.L.R. 272 (Sask.C.A.) stands for the principle 
that for a part payment to extend a limitation, it must be made on account of the 
debt for which the action is brought, and it must appear that the payment was 
made on account of a greater debt, because unless a payment amounts to an 
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admission that more is due, it cannot be taken as an admission of a still existing 
debt. There is nothing in the [Limitations Act] which indicates that this principle is 
no longer applicable. I find that the Defendant's payment was on account of the 
charges with respect to which it admitted liability, not for any of the disputed 
debt. The payment did not extend the limitation. 

[108] In John Barlot, while the correspondence seemed to tie payment to requests that further 
services be provided, the defendant nevertheless agreed to pay the entire amount owing. 

[109] In the matter before me, Ms. Twinn points to a series of communications from Sawridge 
as evidencing its acknowledgment of her claims. First, a letter from Roland Twinn, dated 
September 17, 2009, in response to Ms. Twinn's explanatory letter regarding certain contentious 
invoices. In this letter, Roland Twinn advised that Sawridge would like to resolve all outstanding 
accounting matters between Ms. Twinn and Sawridge, and requested that she issue accounts for 
the period July 2008 to September 2008 so that all issues and concerns could be dealt with at one 
time. 

[110] In response, Ms. Twinn sent a series of accounts under her cover of November 20, 2009. 
These accounts included new accounts isolating the DML indexing charges as well as accounts 
for the period July 2008 to September 2008. 

[111] Secondly, she relies on Mr. McKinney' s letter to her, dated December 1, 2009, advising 
that Sawridge would be paying $10,000 per month towards the remaining outstanding balance 
and that he would be reviewing the invoices recently submitted, and advising of any issues or 
comments. 

[112] Mr. McKinney's comments and concerns were later outlined in his letter of April 22, 
2010. 

[113] Counsel for Sawridge concedes that part payments were made on three accounts, thus 
extending the limitation period to allow for review: September 9, 2008 (Inv. 1034.200809), 
October 31, 2008 (Inv. 1034.200810) and December 31, 2008 (Inv. 1034.200812). 

[114] Regarding the balance of the invoices that relate to the Data Room shut down and DML 
Index, Sawridge argues it did not provide an acknowledgement as contemplated by the 
Limitations Act, s 8, because at the time Sawridge issued the letter of September 17, 2009, it had 
not received the majority of the accounts in issue , and the balance of the co1Tespondence clearly 
outlined various concerns as well as questions regarding the accounts issued. 

[115] In Nickel Investments Ltd, Manderscheid J referenced the Alberta Law Reform 
Instititute's December 1989 Report No 55, Limitations, discussing the policy reasons for 
allowing an extension of the limitation period where there is an acknowledgement of the debt by 
the debtor: 

There are two policy reasons for the colTilmn law doctrine of acknowledgement: 

1. If a debtor has admitted his indebtedness and his legal duty to 
pay the debt, he has, by his conduct, renounced his need for the 
protection afforded by a limitations system. If he has admitted his 
legal liability, the reasons for limitations protection based on stale 
evidence, peace and repose, and economic cost are so reduced that 
a renewed limitation period is justified; 
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2. The second reason is based on estoppel If the debtor has 
promised to pay a debt, the creditor should be permitted to rely on 
this new promise without bringing an action for a renewed 
limitation period. 

[116] These stated policy reasons are consistent with the established principle that to extend the 
limitation period, the acknowledgment must be unconditional 

[117] In Dic01p, it was clear that the partial payment made by the defendant related only to the 
debt it did not dispute. In John Barlot, the defendant agreed to pay the entire amount owing. 
Here, the correspondence of September 17, 2009, December 1, 2009 and April 22, 2010 is not 
clear cut. 

[118] The letter of April 22, 2010 provides a detailed outline of questions and concerns 
regarding various accounts covering the period June 2008 to December 2008 and May 2009 
through October 2009. While there is no indication that Sawridge was refusing to pay these 
accounts outright (as was the case with the charges for attendance at the UN expert seminar) it 
cannot be said this letter, in isolation or together with the earlier correspondence, viewed 
contextually, constitutes an unconditional acknowledgment. This is evidenced in the penultimate 
paragraph of that Jetter: 

"We note that we are still paying $10,000 per month in respect of the outstanding 
amounts which we do not have concerns with ... " (Emphasis added) 

[119] With the exception of the three invoices in which patt payments were made, referenced 
earlier, the invoices dated June 30, 2008 (Inv. DML 200806), July 31, 2008 Onv. DML 200807) 
and August 31, 2008 (Inv. DML 200808) are barred by the Limitations Act as the Appointment 
for Review was not filed in time and there was no acknowledgement or a part payment extending 
the limitation period for these invoices. 

3. Estoppel 

[120] In the ahernative, Ms. Twinn argues Sawridge is estopped from relying on the limitation 
period by reason ofrepresentations by Sawridge that it would pay for the costs relating to the 
Data Room start-up and shut-down that she relied on to her detriment. 

[121] Words or conduct, combined with detrimental reliance, may estop a party from relying on 
the Limitations Act as a bar to the claim. The common law doctrine of promissory estoppel 
continues to operate in conjunction with the Limitations Act. Whether the words or conduct 
constitute a representation and whether that representation was relied on to a party's detritnent, 
are :findings of fact: Brar v Roy, 2005 ABCA 269 at para 32, 371 AR 290. 

[122] The evidence before me does not establish that Sawridge, through its words or conduct, 
represented that it would pay these costs, nor does it establish that Ms. Twinn relied on these 
representations to her detriment. The ahernative claitn of estoppel is dismissed. 

ID. Conclusion 

[123] The account relating to Ms. Twinn's attendance at the UN Expert seminar in Phoenix did 
not form part of her retainer with Sawridge, and in any event, is barred under the Limitations Act. 
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[124] The accounts relating to the Lancaster House/Data Room start-up did not form patt of 
Ms. Twinn's retainer with Sawridge, and in any event, are barred by the Limitations Act. 

[125] The acc0tmts relating to the Data Room shut down and DML index constitute an 
incidental part of Ms. Twinn's retainer, with the exception of the accounts noted below however, 
the acc0tmts are barred by the Limitations Act as the limitation period to enforce these accounts 
was not extended by virtue of s 8 of the Limitations Act. 

[126] Therefore the following accounts shall be remitted to a Review Officer for review in 
accordance with the Alberta Rules of Court: 

Invoice 1034.200809 dated September 9, 2008; 

Invoice 1034.200810 dated October 31 , 2008; 

Invoice 1034.200812 dated December 31, 2008; 

Invoice 1034.200905 dated June 30, 2009; 

Invoice 1034.200907 dated July 31, 2009; 

Invoice 1034.200909 dated September 9, 2009; 

Invoice 1034.200910 dated October 9, 2009. 

Heard on the 24th day of March, 2017. 
Dated at the City of Edmonton, Albetta, this ih day of June, 2017. 

Appearances: 

Brian P. Kalie], Q.C. 
Miller Thomson LLP 

for the Applicant 

Patty Ko 
Bishop & McKenzie LLP 

for the Respondent 

Dawn Pentelechuk 
J.C.Q.B.A. 
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446 CHAPTER 10 THE RESULTING TRUST 

that the payor can use the accou.nt for his own benefit during his life; but that on hi 
death, the account shall belong beneficially to another, the volunteer. As Rothstei~ 
J. noted, this is not a joint account situation; the payor is the sole account holder 
throughout. Although the retention of such a high degree of control by the settlor/ 
trustee might cast doubt on whether there was genuinely an intention to create a 
trust, Rothstein J. noted that U.S. authority has accepted that such trusts can be 
created.257 There is also Canadian and English authority to similar effect.258 The best 
analysis ofthis situation is presumably that the settlor/trustee has a power to encroach 
on the capital for his own benefit, but the underlying beneficial interest, in default 
of the exercise of the power, is in the volunteer.259 This interest subsists when, on 
the payor' s death, the legal right to the account falls into the payor' s estate. But here 
too, as Rothstein J. noted, the creation of this defeasible beneficial interest take~ 
place inter vivas, and is not testamentary.260 

5. Conclusion 

The joint bank account is a popular device, particularly among married people, 
but increasingly between parents and their children, and.it has long been recognized 
by banking practice. Sheard, Hull and Fitzpatrick felt compelled to warn practitioners 
in their Canadian Forms of Wills26 1 that "such accounts are a prolific source of 
litigation," and that "with the passing of years the difficulties ... have certainly not 
decreased." Nor has this concern since declined. Those who open such accounts 
would do well to make their intentions perfectly clear, as the case law shows that 
the potential for uncertainty and litigation is vast. 

F. Exhaustion or Failure of Express Trust Objects 

We come now to the second group of resulting trust situations. A resulting trust 
will arise when for some reason an express trust fails, and the trustees are left holding 
the trust property. Clearly the trustees cannot as trustees take the property benefi­
cially, unless this is expressly provided and, so, the question is what they are to do 

257 Pecore, supra, note 244, at para. 52. 
258 Paul v. Constance, [1977] l W.L.R. 527, [1977] 1 All E.R. 195 (Eng. C.A.), in which both payor 

and volunteer were equally beneficially interested during the joint lives, but the surviving volunteer 
had the sole beneficial interest in the balance of the account remaining on the death of the payor. For 
another example of a trust of "whatever remains" after the life of a trustee who also had the power 
to encroach during her life for her own benefit, involving property other than bank accounts, see Re 
Shamas, 1967 CarswellOnt 111, [1967] 2 O.R. 275 (Ont. C.A.). In Birmingham v. Renfrew (1937), 
57 C.L.R. 666 (Australia H.C.) the High Court of Australia noted that the trust that binds the survivor 
in a mutuiil will situatiol) is often of this kind; see chapter 11, Part II F 3 (d). 

259 This was the interpretation in Re Shamas, ibid. 
260 Again, the payor cannot unilaterally revoke the arrangement, even though he has the ability to defeat 

the volunteer' s interest by exercise of the power. A testamentary gift can always be revoked before 
death (at least outside of the mutual wills context). 

26 1 Sheard, Hull and Fitzpatrick, at 266. 
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I. Introduction 

[l] This is a case management decision on an application filed on August 12, 2016 (the 
"Stoney Application") by Maurice Felix Stoney "and his brothers and sisters" (Billy Stoney, 
Angeline Stoney, Linda Stoney, Bernie Stoney, Betty Jean Stoney, Gail Stoney, Ahna Stoney, 
and Bryan Stoney) to be added "as beneficiaries to these Trusts". In his written brief of 
September 28, 2016, Maurice Stoney asks that his legal costs and those of his siblings be paid for 
by the 1985 Sawridge Trust. 

[2] The Stoney Application is opposed by the Trustees and the Sawridge Band, which 
applied for and has been granted intervenor status on this Application. The Public Trustee of 
Alberta ("OPTG") did not patticipate in the Application. 

[3] The Stoney Application is denied . Maurice Stoney is a third party attempting to insert 
himse lf (and his siblings) into a matter in which he has no legal interest. Further, this Application 
is a collateral attack which attempts to subvert an unappealed and crystalliz.ed judgment of a 
Canadian cowt which has akeady addressed and rejected the Applicant 's claims and arguments. 
This is serious litigation misconduct, which will have costs implications for Maurice Stoney and 
also potentially for his lawyer Priscilla Kennedy. 
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II. Background 

[4] This Action was commenced by Originating Notice, filed on June 12, 2011, by the 1985 
Sawridge Trustees and is sometimes referred to as the "Advice and Direction Application" . 

[5] The histo1y of the Advice and Direction Application is set out in previous decisions 
(including the Orders taken out in relation thereto) reported as 1985 Sawridge Trust vAlberta 
(Public Trustee), 2012 ABQB 365, 543 AR 90 ("Sawridge #1"), a:ffd 2013 ABCA 226, 543 AR 
90 ("Sawrfrlge #2"), 1985 Sawridge Trust v Alberta (Public Trustee), 2015 ABQB 799 
("Sawridge #3"), time extension for appeal denied 2016 ABCA 51, 616 AR 176, 1985 Sawridge 
v Alberta (Public Trustee), 2017 ABQB 299 ("Sawridge #4") . A separate motion by three third 
parties to participate in this litigation was rejected on July 5, 2017, and that decision is reported 
as 1985 Sawridge Trust vAlberta (Public Trustee) , 2017 ABQB 377 ("Sawridge #5"), 
(collectively the "Sawridge Decisions"). 

[6] Some of the terms used in this decision ("Sawridge #6") are also defined in the various 
Sawridge Decisions. 

[7] I directed that this Application be dealt with in writing and the materials filed include the 
following: 

August 12, 2016 Application by Maurice Felix Stoney and His Brothers and Sisters 

September 28, 2016 Written Argument of Maurice Stoney, supported by an Affidavit of 
Maurice Stoney sworn on May 17, 2016. 

September 28, 2016 Written Submission of the Sawridge Band, supported by an 
Affidavit of Ro land Twinn, dated September 21 , 2016, for the 
Sawridge Band to be granted Intervenor status in the Advice and 
Direction Application in relation to the August 12, 2016 
Application, and that the Application be struck out per Rule 3.68. 

September 30, 2016 Application by the Sawridge Trustees that Maurice Stoney pay 
security for costs. 

October 27, 2016 Written Response Argument to the Application of Sawridge First 
Nation filed by Maurice Stoney. 

October 31, 2016 The OPTG sent the Cowt and participants a letter indicating it has 
"no objection" to the Stoney Application. 

October 31, 2016 Trustees' Written Submissions in relation to the Maurice Stoney 
Application and the proposed Sawridge Band intervention. 

October 31, 2016 Sawridge Band Written Submissions responding to the Maurice 
Stoney Application. 

November 14, 2016 Reply argument to Maurice Stoney's Written Response Argument 
filed by the Sawridge Band . 
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November 15, 2016 Further Written Response Argwnent of Maurice Stoney. 

III. Preliminary Issue #1- Who is/are the Applicant or Applicants? 

[8] As is apparent from the style of cause in this Application, the manner in which the 
Applicants have been framed is unusual. They are named as ''Maw-ice Felix Stoney and His 
Brothers and Sisters". The Application further states that the Applicants are "Maurice Stoney and 
his 10 living brothers and sisters" (para 1). Para 2 of the Application states the issue to be 
determined is: 

Addition of Maurice Stoney, Billy Stoney, Angeline Stoney, Linda Stoney, Bernie 
Stoney, Betty Jean Stoney, Gail Stoney Alma Stoney, Alva Stoney and Bryan 
Stony as beneficiaries of these Trusts. 

[9] There is no evidence before me or on the court file that indicates any of these named 
individuals other than Maurice Stoney has taken steps to involve themselves in this litigation. 
The " l 0 Jiving brothers or sisters" are simply named. Maw-ice Stoney's filings do not include 
any documents such as affidavits prepared by these individuals, nor has there been an Alberta 
Rules of Court , Alta Reg 124/2010 [the "Rules'', or individually a "Rule"] application or 
appointment ofa litigation representative, per Rules 2.11-2.21. In fact, aside from Maurice 
Stoney, the Applicant(s) materials provide no biographical information or records such as birth 
ce1tificates for any of these additional proposed litigants, other than the year of their bi1th. 

[I OJ Counsel for Maurice Stoney, Priscilla Kennedy, has not provided or filed any data to 
show she has been retained by the "l 0 living brothers or sisters". 

[11] Pa1ticipating in a legal proceeding can have significant adverse effects, such as exposme 
to awards of costs, findings of contempt, and declarations of vexatious litigant status. Being a 
litigant creates obligations as well, pa1ticularly in light of the positive obligations on litigation 
actors set by Rule l .2. 

[12] In the absence of evidence to the contrary and from this point on, I limit the scope of 
Maurice Stoney's litigation to him alone and do not involve his "] 0 living brothers and sisters" 
in this application and its consequences. I will return to this topic because it has other 
implications for Maurice Stoney and his lawyer Priscilla Kennedy. 

IV. Preliminary Issue #2 - The Proposed Sawridge Band Intervention and Motion to 
Strike Out the Stoney Application 

[13] To this point, the role of the Sawridge Band in this litigation has been what might be 
described as "an interested third party". The Sawridge Band has taken the position it is not a 
pa1ty to this litigation: Sawridge#3 at paras 15, 27. The Sawridge Band does not control the 
1985 Sawridge Trust, but since the beneficiaries of that Trust are defined dir·ectly or indirectly by 
membership in the SFN, there have been occasions where the Sawridge Band has been involved 
in respect to that underlying issue, pa1ticular ly when it comes to the provision of relevant 
information on procedures and other evidence: see Sawridge #1 at paras 43-49; Sawridge #3. 
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[14] The Sawridge Band argued that its intervention application under Rule 2.10 should be 
granted because the Stoney Application simply continues a lengthy dispute between Maurice 
Stoney and the Sawridge Band over whether Maurice Stoney is a member of the Sawridge Band. 

[15] The Trustees suppott the application ofthe Sawridge Band, noting that the proposed 
intervention makes available useful evidence, particularly in providing context concerning 
Maurice Stoney's activities over the years. 

[16] The Applicant, Stoney responds that intervenor status is a discretionary remedy that is 
only exercised sparingly. Maurice Stoney submits the broad overlap between the Sawridge Band 
and the Trustees means that the Band brings no useful or unique perspectives to the litigation. 
Maurice Stoney alleges the Sawridge Band operates in a biased and discriminatory manner. If 
any party should be involved it should be Canada, not the Sawridge Band . Maurice Stoney 
demands that the intervention application be dismissed and costs ordered against the Band. 

[17] Two criteria are relevant when a court evaluates an application to intervene in litigation: 
whether the proposed intervenor is affected by the subject matter of the proceeding, and whether 
the ·proposed intervenors have expertise or perspective on that subject: Papaschase Indian Band 
v Canada (Attorney General) , 2005 ABCA 320, 380 AR 301; Edmonton (City) v Edmonton 
(Subdivision and Development Appeal Bocmlj , 2014 ABCA 340, 584 AR 255. 

[18] The Sawridge Band intervention is appropriate since that response was 1nade in reply to a 
collateral attack on its decision-making on the core subject of membership. The common law 
approach is clear; here the Sawridge Band is pa1ticularly prejudiced by the potential implications 
of the Stoney Application. Indeed, it is hard to imagine a more fundamental impact than where 
the Court considers litigation that potentially finds in law that an individual who is currently an 
outsider is, instead, a patt of an established community group which holds title and property, and 
exercises rights, in a sui generis and communal basis: Delgamuukw v British. Columbia, [1997] 
3 SCR I 010, 153 DLR (4th) 193; R v Van der Peet, [1996] 2 SCR 507, 137 DLR (4th) 289. 

[19] I grant the Sawridge Band application to intervene and participate in the Advice and 
Direction Application, but limited to the Stoney Application only. 

V. Positions of the Parties on the Application to be Added 

A. Maurice Stoney 

[20] The Applicant's argument can be reduced to the following simple proposition. Maurice 
Stoney wants to be named as a party to the litigation or as an intervenor because he claims to be 
a member of the Sawridge Band. The Sawridge 1985 Trust is a trust that was set up to hold 
property on behalf of members of the Sawridge Band. He is therefore a beneficiary of the Trust, 
and should be entitled to participate in this litigation. 

[21] The complicating factor is that Maurice Stoney is not a member ofthe Sawridge Band. 
He argues that his parents, William and Margaret Stoney, were members of the Sawridge Band, 
and provides documentation to that effect. In 1944 William Stoney and his family were 
"enfranchised ", per Indian Act, RSC 1927, c 98, s 114. This is a step where an Indian may accept 
a payment and in the process lose their Indian status. The "enfranchisement" option was 
subsequently removed by Federal legislation, specifically an enactment commonly known as 
"Bill C-31". 
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[22] Maurice Stoney argues that the enfranchisement process is unconstitutional, and that, 
combined with the result of a lengthy dispute over the membership of the Sawridge Band, means 
he (and his siblings) are members of the Sawridge Band. In his Written Response argument this 
claim is framed as follows: 

Retroactive to April 17, 1985, Bill C-31 (R.S.C. 1985, c. 32 (!st Supp.) amended 
the provisions of the Indian Act, R.S.C. 1985, 1-5 by removing the 
enfranchisement provisions returning all enfranchised Indians back on the pay 
lists of the Bands where they should have been throughout all of the years. 

[23] In 2012, Mamice Stoney applied to become a member of the Sawridge Band, but that 
application was denied. Maurice Stoney then conducted an unsuccessful judicial review of that 
decision: Stoney v Sawridge First Nation, 2013 FC 509, 432 FTR 253. Maurice Stoney says all 
this is irrelevant to his status as a member of the Sawridge Band; the definition of beneficiaries is 
contrary to public policy, and unconstitutional. The Cou1t should order that Mamice Stoney and 
his siblings are beneficiaries of the 1985 Sawridge Trust and add them as parties to this Action. 
The Trust should pay for all litigation costs. 

[24] The Written Response claims the Sawridge Band is in breach of orders of the Federal 
Cowt, that Maurice Stoney and others "have faced a tortuous long process with no success". 
Maurice Stoney and his siblings' paiticipation does not cause prejudice to the Trustees, and 
claims that Maurice Stoney has not paid costs are false . l note the Written Response was not 
accompanied by any evidence to establish that alleged fact. 

[25] The October 27, 2016 Written Response Argument stresses the Sawridge Band is not a 
party to this litigation, it has voluntarily elected to follow that path, and a third patty should not 
be permitted to interfere with Maurice Stoney's litigation. In any case, the Sawridge Band is 
wrong - Maurice Stoney is already a member of the Sawridge Band. He deserves enhanced costs 
in response to the Rule 3.68 Application by the Band. 

B. Sawridge Band 

[26] The Sawridge Band points to the decision in Stoney v Sawridge First Nation and says 
the Maurice Stoney Application is an attempt to revisit an issue that was decided and which is 
now subject to res judicata and issue estoppel. Maurice Stoney is wrong when he argues that he 
automatically became a Sawridge Band member when Bill C-31 was enacted. His Affidavit 
contains factual errors. Maurice Stoney's claim to be a Sawridge Band member was rejected in 
coutt judgments that Maurice Stoney did not appeal. 

[27] Instead, Maurice Stoney had a right to apply to become a Sawridge Band member. He did 
so, and that application was denied, as was the subsequent appeal. The Federal CoUtt reviewed 
and confirmed that result in the Stoney v Saw ridge First Nation decision. The issue of Maurice 
Stoney's potential membership in the Sawridge Band is therefore closed. 

[28] The Sawridge Band has entered evidence that Maurice Stoney has not paid the costs that 
were awarded against him in the Stoney v Sawridge First Nation action, and that Mamice 
Stoney has unpaid costs awards in relation to the unsuccessful appeal in 1985 Sawridge Trust v 
Alberta (Public Trustee) , 2016 ABCA 51, 616 AR 176. 

[29] 0 n January 31 , 2014, Maurice Stoney filed a Canadian Human Rights Commission 
complaint concerning the Sawridge Band's decision to refuse him membership. The Commission 
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refused the complaint, and concluded the issue had already been decided by Stoney v Saw ridge 
First Nation . 

[30] The Sawridge Band says this Court should do the same and strike out the Stoney 
Application per Rule 3.68 . 

[31] As for the "10 brothers and sisters", the Sawridge Band indicates it has received and 
refused an application from one individual who may be in that group. 

[32] The Sawridge Band seeks solicitor and own client costs, or elevated costs, in light of 
Maurice Stoney's litigation history in relation to his alleged membership in the Sawridge Band. 

C. 1985 Sawridge Trustees 

[33] The Trustees echo the Sawridge Band's arguments, asse1t the Application is 
"unnecessary, vexatious, frivolous, res judicata, and an abuse of process", and that the Stoney 
Application should be denied. The Trustees seek solicitor and own client costs or enhanced costs 
as a deterrent against further litigation abuse by Maurice Stoney. 

VI. Analysis 

[34] The law concerning Rule 3.68 is well established and is not in dispute. This is a civil 
litigation procedw·e that is used to weed out hopeless proceedings: 

3 .68(1 ) If the circumstances warrant and a condition under sub rule (2) applies, the 
Court may order one or more of the following: 

(a) that all or any patt of a claim or defence be struck out; 

(b) that a commencement document or pleading be amended or set aside; 

(c) that judgment or an order be entered; 

(d) that an action, an application or a proceeding be stayed. 

(2) The conditions for the order are one or more of the following: 

(b) a commencement document or pleading discloses no reasonable claim 
or defence to a claim; 

(c) a commencement document or pleading is frivolous, irrelevant or 
improper; 

(d) a commencement document or pleading constitutes an abuse of 
process; 

(3) No evidence may be submitted on an application made on the basis of the 
condition set out in subrule (2)(b ). 

(4) The Court may 

(a) stril(e out all or part of an affidavit that contains fi:ivo lo us, irrelevant or 
improper information; 
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[35] An action or defence may be struck under Rule 3.68 where it is plain and obvious, or 
beyond reasonable doubt, that the action cannot succeed: Hunt v Carey Canada Inc., [1990] 2 
SCR 959, 74 DLR (4th) 321. Pleadings should be considered in a broad and liberal manner: 
Tottrup v Lund, 2000 ABCA 121 at para 8, 186 DLR (4th) 226. 

[36] A pleading is frivolous if its substance indicates bad faith or is factually hopeless: 
Donaldson v Farrell, 2011 ABQB 11 at para 20. A frivolous plea is one so palpably bad that the 
Co wt needs no real argument to be convinced of that fact: Haljan v Serdahely Estate, 2008 
ABQB 472 at para 21 , 453 AR 337. 

[37] A proceeding that is an abuse of process may be struck on that basis: Reece v Edmonton 
(City) , 2011 ABCA 238 at para 14, 335 DLR (4th) 600. ''Vexatious" litigation may be struck 
under either Rule 3.682(c) or (d): Wong v Leung, 2011 ABQB 688 at para 33, 530 AR 82; 
Mcmeekin vAlberta (Attorney General), 2012 ABQB 144 at para 11, 537 AR 136. 

[3 8] The documentary record introduced by Maurice Stoney makes it very clear that in 1944 
William J. Stoney, his wife Margaret, and their two children Alvin Joseph Stoney and Maurice 
Felix Stoney, underwent the enfranchisement process and ceased to be Indians and members of 
the Sawridge Band per the Indian Act. 

[39] As noted above, the Advice and Direction Application was initiated on June 11 , 2011. 

[40] On December 7, 2011, the Sawridge Band rejected Maurice Stoney's application for 
membership. An appeal of that decision was denied. 

[41] Maurice Stoney then pursued ajudicial review ofthe Sawridge Band membership 
application review process, in the Federal Cou1t of Canada, which resulted in a reported May 15, 
2013 decision, Stoney v Saw ridge First Nation. At that proceeding, Maurice Stoney and two 
cousins argued that they were automatically made members of the Sawridge Band as a 
consequence of Bill C-31. At paras 10-14, Justice Barnes investigates that question and 
concluded that this argument is wrong, citing Saw ridge v Canada, 2004 FCA 16, 316 NR 332. 

[42] At para 15, Justice Barnes specifically addresses Maurice Stoney: 

I also cannot identify anything in Bill C-31 that would extend an automatic right 
of membership in the Sawridge First Nation to [Maurice] Stoney. He lost his right 
to membership when his father sought and obtained enfranchisement for the 
family. The legislative amendments in BilJ C-31 do not apply to that situation. 

I note the original text of this paragraph uses the name "William Stoney" instead of ''Maurice 
Stoney". This is an obvious typographical error, since it was William Stoney who in 1944 sought 
and obtained enfranchisement. Maurice Stoney is William Stoney's son. 

[43] Justice Barnes continues to observe at para 16 that this very same claim had been 
advanced in Huzar v Canada, [2000] FCJ 873, 258 NR 246 (FCA), but that Maurice Stoney as a 
respondent in that hearing at para 4 had acknowledged this argument had no basis in law: 

It was conceded by counsel for the respondents that, without the proposed 
amending paragraphs, the unamended statement of claim discloses no reasonable 
cause of action in so far as it asserts or assumes that the respondents are entitled to 
Band membership without the consent of the Band. [Emphasis added.] 
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[44] Justice Barnes at para 17 continues on to observe that: 

It is not open to a party to relitigate the same issue that was conclusively 
determined in an earlier proceeding. The attempt by these Applicants to reargue 
the question ofthek automatic right of membership in Sawridge is barred by the 
principle of issue estoppel ... 

[45] As for the actual judicial review, Justice Barnes concludes the record does not establish 
procedural unfairness due to bias: paras 19-21. A Charter, s 15 application was also rejected as 
unsupported by evidence, having no record to support the relief clain1S, and because the Crown 
was not served notice of a challenge to the constitutional validity of the Indian Act: para 22. 

[46] Maurice Stoney did not appeal the Stoney v Sawridge First Nation decision. 

[47] The Sawridge Band and the Trustees argue that Maurice Stoney' s current application is 
an attempt to attack an unappealed judgment of a Canadian court. They are correct. Maurice 
Stoney is making the same argument he has before - and which has been rejected - that he now is 
one of the beneficiaries of the 1985 Sawridge Trust because he is automatically a foll member of 
the Sawridge Band, due to the operation of Bill C-31 . 

[48] In summary, there are four separate grounds for rejecting Maurice Stoney's application : 

1. He is estopped from making this argument via his concession in Huzar v Canada 
that this argument has no legal basis. 

2. He made this same argument in Stoney v Saw ridge First Nation, where it was 
rejected . Since Mr. Stoney did not choose to challenge that decision on appeal, 
that finding of fact and law has ' crystallized'. 

3. ln Saw ridge #3 at para 35 I concluded the question of Band membership should 
be reviewed in the Federal Court, and not in the Advice and Direction 
Application. 

3. In any case I accept and adopt the reasoning of Stoney v Sawridge First Nation as 
correct, though I am not obliged to do so. 

[49] Mamice Stoney has conducted a "collateral attack", an attempt to use 'downstream' 
litigation to attack an ' upstream' cou1t result. This offends the principle of resjudicata, as 
explained by Abella Jin British Columbia (Workers' Compensation Board) v Figliola, 2011 
SCC 52 at para 28, [2011] 3 SCR 422: 

The rule against collateral attack similarly attempts to protect the fairness and 
integrity of the justice system by preventing duplicative proceedings. It prevents 
a party from using an institutional detour to attack the validity of an order by 
seeking a different result from a different forum, rather than through the 
designated appellate or judicial review route ... [Emphasis added.] 

[50] Mcintyre Jin Wilson v The Queen, [1983] 2 SCR 594 at 599, 4 DLR (4th) 577 explains 
how it is the intended effect that defines a collateral attack: 

It has long been a fondamental rule that a coutt order, made by a cou1t having 
jurisdiction to make it, stands and is binding and conclusive unless it is set aside 
on appeal or lawfolly quashed. It is also well settled in the authorities that such 
an order may not be attacked collaterally - and a collateral attack may be 
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described as an attack made in proceedings other than those whose specific object 
is the reversal, variation, or nullification of the order or judgment. [Emphasis 
added.] 

See also: R v Litchfield, [1993] 4 SCR 333, 86 CCC (3d) 97; Quebec (Attorney General) v 
Laroche, 2002 SCC 72, 219 DLR (4th) 723;R vSarson, [1996] 2 SCR223, 135 DLR (4th) 402. 

[51] While I am not bound by the Federal Court judgments under the doctrine of stare decisis, 
I am constrained by res judicata and the prohibition against collateral attacks on valid co Ult and 
tribunal decisions. Maurice Stoney's application to be a member of the Sawridge Band was 
rejected, and his cowt challenges to that result are over. He did not pursue all available appeals. 
He cannot now attempt to slip into the Sawridge Band and 1985 Sawridge Trust beneficiaries 
pool ' through the backdoor'. 

[52] I dismiss the Stoney Application to be named either as a party to this Litigation, or to 
participate as an intervenor. Maurice Stoney has no interest in the subject of this Litigation, and is 
nothing more than a third-patty interloper. In light of this conclusion, it is unnecessary to address 
the Sawridge Band 's application that Maurice Stoney pay security for costs. 

VII. Vexatious Litigant Status 

[53] Maurice Stoney's conduct in relation to the Advice and Direction Application has been 
inappropriate . He arguably had a basis to be an interested patty in 2011, because when the 
Trustees initiated the distribution process he had a live application to join the Sawridge Band. 
Therefore, at that time he had the potential to become a beneficiary. However, by 2013, that 
avenue for standing was closed when Justice Barnes issued the Stoney v Sawridge First Nation 
decision and Maurice Stoney did not appeal. 

[54] Maurice Stoney neve1theless persisted, appearing before the Alberta Cou1t of Appeal in 
1985 Sawridge Trust (Trustee for) v Alberta (Public Trustee), 2016 ABCA 51, 616 AR 176, 
where Justice Watson concluded Mr. Stoney should not receive an extension of time to challenge 
Saw ridge #3 because he had no chance of success as he did not have standing and was " ... in 
fact, a stranger to the proceedings insofar as an appeal from the decision of Mr. Justice Thomas 
to the Court of Appeal is concerned.": paras 20-21. Now Maurice Stoney has attempted to add 
himse If (and his siblings) to this action as parties or intervenors, in a manner that defies res 
judicata and in an attempt to subve1t the decision-making of the Sawridge Band and the Federal 
Court of Canada. 

[55] ChutskoffvBonora, 2014 ABQB 389 at para 92, 590 AR 288, affd 2014 ABCA 444 is 
the leading Albetta authority on the elements and activities that define abusive litigation. That 
decision identifies eleven categories of litigation misconduct which can trigger court intervention 
in litigation activities. Several of these indications of abusive litigation have already emerged in 
Maurice Stoney's legal actions: 

1. Collateral attacks that attempt to determine an issue that has already been 
determined by a cou1t of competent jurisdiction, to circumvent the effect of a 
court or tribunal decision, using previously raised grounds and issues; 

2. Bringing hopeless proceedings that cannot succeed, here in both the present 
application and the Sawridge #3 appeal where Maurice Stoney was declared to be 
an uninvolved third patty; and 
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3. Initiating "busybody'' lawsuits to enforce the rights ofthird parties, here the 
recruited participation of Maurice Stoney's "10 living brothers and sisters." 

[56] The Sawridge Band says Maurice Stoney does not pay his cowt-ordered costs. Maurice 
Stoney denies that. Failure to pay outstanding cost awards is another potential basis to conclude a 
person litigates in an abusive manner. However, I defer any finding on this point until a later 
stage. 

[57] Any of the abusive litigation activities identified in Chutskojf v Bonora are a basis to 
declare a person a vexatious litigant and restrict access to Alberta cowts. Maurice Stoney has 
exhibited three independent bases to take that step. The Alberta Cowt of Queen's Bench has 
adopted a two-step vexatious litigant application process to meet procedural justice requirements 
set in Lymer vJonsson, 2016 ABCA 32, 612 AR 122, see Hok vAlberta,2016 ABQB 651 at 
paras I 0-11, leave denied 2017 ABCA 63; Ewanchuk v Canada (Attorney General), 2017 
ABQB 137 at para 97. 

[58] I therefore exercise this Cotnt's inherent jurisdiction to control litigation abuse (Hok v 
Alberta, 2016 ABQB 651 at paras 14-25, Thompson v International Union of Operating 
Engineers Local No. 955, 2017 ABQB 210 at para 56, affirmed 2017 ABCA 193; Ewanchuk v 
Canada (Attorney General) at paras 92-96; McCargar v Canada, 2017 ABQB 416 at para 110) 
and to examine whether Maurice Stoney's foture litigation activities should be restricted. 

[59] To date this two-step process has sometimes involved a hearing on the second step, for 
example Kavanagh v Kavanagh, 2016 ABQB 107; Ewanchuk v Canada (Attorney General); 
McCargar v Canada. However, other vexatious litigant analyses have been conducted via 
written submissions and affidavit evidence: Hok vAlberta, 2016 ABQB 651.Veldhuis Jin Hok v 
Alberta, 2017 ABCA 63 at para 8 specifically reproduces the trial court's instruction that the 
process was conducted via written submissions and subsequently concludes the vexatious litigant 
analysis and its result shows no error or legal issues that raise a serious issue of general 
impo1tance with a reasonable chance of success: para 10. 

[60] In this case, I follow the approach of Verville J. in Hok v Alberta and proceed using a 
document-only process. In R v Cody, 2017 SCC 31, the Cowt at para 39 identified that one of 
the ways courts may iniprove their efficiencies is to operate on a docU111entary record rather than 
to hold in-person cornt hearings. That advice was generated in the context of criminal 
proceedings, which are accorded a special degree of procedural fairness due to the fact the 
accused 's libe1ty is at stake. 

[61] The Ontario coutts use a document-based 'show cause' procedure authorized by Rules of 
Civil Procedure , RRO 1990, Reg 194, s 2.1 to strike out litigation and applications that are 
obviously hopeless, vexatious, and abusive. This mechanism has been confirmed as a valid 
procedure for both trial level (Scaduto v Law Society of Upper Canada , 2015 ONCA 733, 343 
OAC 87, leave to the SCC denied 36753 (21 April 2016)) and appellate proceedings (Simpson v 
InstituteofCharteredAccountantsof Ontario , 2016 ONCA 806). 

[62] I conclude the procedural fairness requirements indicated in Lymer v Jonsson are 
adequately met by a document-only approach, particularly given that the implications for a 
litigant of a criminal proceeding application, or for the strilcing out of a civil action or 
application, are far greater than the potential consequences of what is commonly called a 
vexatious litigant order. As Justice Verville observed in Hok v Alberta, 2016 ABQB 651 at paras 
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30-34, the implications ofa restriction of this kind should not be exaggerated, it instead " ... is not 
a great hw-dle. " 

[63] I therefore order that Maurice Stoney is to make written submissions by close of business 
on August 4, 2017, if he chooses to do so, on whether: 

1. his access to Alberta cou1ts should be restricted, and 

2. if so, what the scope of that restriction should be. 

[64] The Sawridge Band and the Trustees may make submissions on Maurice Stoney's 
potential vexatious litigant status, and introduce additiona I evidence that is relevant to this 
question, see Chutskoff v Bonora at paras 87-90 and Ewanchuk v Canada (Attorney General) 
at paras 100-102. Any submissions by the Sawridge Band and the Trustees are due by close of 
business on July 28, 2017. 

[65] In addition, I follow the process mandated in Hok v Alberta, 2016 ABQB 335 at para 
105, and order that Maurice Stoney's court filing activities are immediately restricted . I declare 
that Maurice Stoney is prohibited from filing any material on any Alberta court file, or to 
institute or further any court proceedings, without the permission of the Chief Justice, Associate 
Chief Justice, or Chief Judge of the court in which the proceeding is conducted, or his or her 
designate. This order does not apply to: 

1. written submissions or affidavit evidence in relation to the Maurice Stoney's 
potential vexatious litigant status; and 

2. any appeal from this decision. 

[66] This order will be prepared by the Coutt and filed at the same time as this Case 
Management decision. 

VIII. Costs 

[67] I have indicated Maurice Stoney's application had no merit, and was instead abusive in a 
manner that exhibits the hallmark characteristics of vexatious litigation. The Sawridge Band and 
Trustees seek solicitor and own client indemnity costs against Maw-ice Stoney. Those are amply 
warranted . In Saw ridge #5, I awarded solicitor and own client indemnity costs against two of the 
applicants since their litigation conduct met the criteria identified by Moen Jin Brown v Silvera, 
2010 ABQB 224 at paras 29-35, 488 AR 22, affirmed 2011 ABCA 109, 505 AR 196, for the 
Court to exercise its Rule 10.33 jurisdiction to award costs beyond the presumptive Rule 10.29(1) 
patty and patty amounts indicated in Schedule C. The same principles apply here. 

[68] The costs award to the Sawridge Band is appropriate given its valid intervention and the 
important implications of Maurice Stoney's attempted litigation, as discussed above. 

[69] In Saw ridge #5, at paras 50-51, I observed that there is a "new reality of litigation m 
Canada": 

Rule 1.2 stresses this Cou1t should encourage cost-efficient litigation and 
alternative non-collli remedies. The Supreme Cou1t of Canada in Hryniak v 
Mauldin, 2014 SCC 7 at para 2, [2014] 1 SCR 87 has instructed it is time for trial 
courts to undergo a "culture shift" that recognizes that litigation procedure must 
reflect economic realities. In the subsequent R v Jordan, 2016 SCC 27, [2016] 
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1 SCR 631 and R v Cody, 2017 SCC 31 decisions, Canada's high court has 
stressed it is time for trial comts to develop and deploy efficient and timely 
processes, "to improve efficiency in the conduct of legitimate applications and 
motions" (R v Cody, at para 39). I futther note that in R v Cody the Supreme 
Court at para 38 instructs that trial judges test criminal law applications on 
whether they have "a reasonable prospect of success" [emphasis added], and if 
not, they should be dismissed summarily. That is in the context of criminal 
litigation, with its elevated protection of an accused's rights to make full answer 
and defence. This Action is a civil proceeding where I have found the addition of 
the Applicants as parties is wmecessary. 

This is the new reality of litigation in Canada. The purpose of cost awards is 
notorious; they serve to help shape improved litigation practices by creating 
consequences for bad litigation practices, and to offset the litigation expenses of 
successful patties . ... 

[Emphasis in original.] 

[70] Then at para 53, I concluded that the "new reality of litigation in Canada" meant: 

... one aspect of Canada's litigation "culture shift" is that cost awards should be 
used to deter dissipation of trust property by meritless litigation activities by trust 
beneficiaries . 

[71] The Supreme Court of Canada has recently in Quebec (Director of Criminal and Penal 
Prosecutions) v Jodoin, 2017 SCC 26 ["Jodoin"] commented on another facet of the 
problematic litigation, where lawyers abuse the court and its processes. Jodoin investigates when 
a costs award is appropriate against crimina 1 defence counsel. At para 56, Justice Gascon 
explicitly links co wt discipline of abusive lawyers to the "cultllJ·e of complacency" condemned 
in R v Jordan and R v Cody. Costs awards are a way to help control this misconduct, and are a 
tool to help achieve the badly needed "culture shift" in civil and criminal litigation. 

[72] I pause at this point to note that Jodoin focuses on criminal litigation, where the Coutts 
have traditionally been cautious to order costs against defence counsel "in light of the special 
role played by defence lawyers and the rights of accused persons they represent": para 1. 

[73] At paras 16-24 Justice Gascon discusses the issue of costs awards against lawyers in a 
more general manner: 

The coutts have the power to maintain respect for their authority. This includes 
the power to manage and contro l the proceedings conducted before them ... A 
comt therefore has an inherent power to control abuse in this regard ... and !Q__ 

prevent the use of procedure "in a way that would be manifestly unfair to a party 
to the litigation before it or would in some other way bring the administration of 
justice into disrepute" ... 

It is settled law that this power is possessed both by cowts with inherent 
jurisdiction and by statutory courts ... It is therefore not reserved to superior cou1ts 
but, rather, has its basis in the common law ... 

There is an established line of cases in which COlllts have recognized that the 
awarding of costs against lawyers personally flows from the right and duty of the 
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coutts to supervise the conduct of the lawyers who appear before them and to 
note, and sometimes penalize, any conduct of such a nature as to frustrate or 
interfere with the administration of justice ... As officers of the court, lawyers 
have a duty to respect the cou1t's authority. If they fail to act in a manner 
consistent with their status, the cou11 may be required to deal with them by 
punishing their misconduct ... 

The power to control abuse of process and the judicia I process by awarding costs 
against a lawyer personally applies in parallel with the power of the courts to 
punish by way of convictions for contempt of cowt and that of law societies to 
sanction unethical conduct by their members .... 

... a lthough the criteria for an award of costs against a lawyer personally are 
comparable to those that apply to contempt of court ... the consequences are by no 
means identica I. Contempt of co wt is strictly a matter of law and can result in 
harsh sanctions, including imprisonment. In addition, the rules of evidence that 
apply in a contempt proceeding are more exacting than those that apply to an 
award of costs against a lawyer personally, as contempt of cou1t must be proved 
beyond a reasonable doubt. Because of the special status of lawyers as officers of 
the cou11, a cotut may therefore opt in a given situation to award costs against a 
lawyer personally rather than citing him or her for contempt ... 

In most cases, of course, the implications for a lawyer of being ordered personally 
to pay costs are less serious than those of the other two alternatives. A conviction 
for contempt of cotut or an entry in a lawyer's disciplinary record generally has 

more significant and more lasting consequences than a one-time order to pay 
costs. Moreover, as this appeal shows, an order to pay costs personally will 
normally involve relatively small amounts, given that the proceedings will 
inevitably be dismissed summarily on the basis that they are unfounded, frivolous, 
dilatory or vexatious. 

[Emphasis added, citations omitted.] 

[74] This costs authority operates in a parallel but separate manner from the disciplinary and 
lawyer control functions of law societies: paras 22-23. Cost awards against a lawyer are 
potentially triggered by either: 

1. "an unfounded, frivolous, dilatory or vexatious proceeding that denotes a serious 
abuse of the judicial system by the lawyer", or 

2. "dishonest or malicious misconduct on his or her part, that is deliberate". 

[Jodoin , para 29] 

[75] The Court stresses that an investigation of a particular instance of potential litigation 
misconduct should be restricted to the specific identified litigation misconduct and not put the 
lawyer's "career[,] on trial": para 33. This investigation is not of the lawyer's "entire body of 
work'', though external facts can be relevant in ce1tain circwnstances: paras 33-34. 

[76] . The lawyer who is potentially personally subject to a costs sanction must receive notice 
of that, along with the relevant facts: para 36. This normally would occur after the end of 
litigatio n, once" ... the proceeding has been resolved on its merits.": para 36. 
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[77] I conclude this is one such occasion where a costs award against a lawyer is potentially 
warranted. Maurice Stoney's attempted pa1ticipation in the Advice and Direction Application has 
ended, so now is the point where this issue may be addressed. I consider the impending vexatious 
litigant analysis a separate matter, though also exercised under the CoUtt's inherent jmisdiction. I 
do not think this is an appropriate point at which to make any comment on whether Ms. Kennedy 
should or should not be involved in that separate vexatious litigant analysis, given her litigation 
representative activities to this point. 

[78] T have concluded that Mamice Stoney's lawyer, Priscilla Kennedy, has advanced a futile 
application on behalf of her client. I have identified the abusive and vexatious nature of that 
application above. This step is potentially a "serious abuse of the judicial system" given: 

I . the nature of interests in question; 

2. this litigation was by a third party attempting to intrude into an aboriginal 
community which has sui generis characteristics; 

3. that the applicant sought to indemnify himself via a costs claim that would 
dissipate the resources of aboriginal community trust property; 

4. the application was obviously futile on multiple bases; and 

5. the attempts to involve other third parties on a "busybody" basis, with potential 
serious implications to those persons ' rights. 

[79] I therefore order that Priscilla Kennedy appear before me at 2:00 pm on Friday, July 
28, 2017, to make submissions on why she should not be personally responsible for some or all 
of the costs awards against her client, Maurice Stoney. 

[80] I note that in Morin v TransAlta UtilitiesC01poration,2017 ABQB 409, Graesser J. 
applied Rule I 0.50 and Jodoin to order costs against a lawyer who conducted litigation without 
obtaining consent of the named plaintiffs. Justice Graesser concludes at para 27 that a lawyer has 
an obligation to prove his or her authority to represent their clients. Here, that is a live issue for 
the "l 0 living brothers and sisters". 

[81] Jodoin at para 38 indicates the limited basis on which the other litigants may patticipate 
in a hearing that evaluates a potential costs award against a lawyer. The Sawridge Band and 
Trustees may introduce evidence as indicated in paras 33-34 of that judgment. They should also 
appear on July 28 111 to comment on this issue. 

Heard and decided on the basis of written materials described in paragraph 7 hereof. 
Dated at the City of Edmonton, Alberta this I i 11 day of July, 2017. 

D.R.G. Thomas 
J.C.Q.B.A. 
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REASONS FOR JUDGMENT AND JUDGMENT 

[1] This is an application for judicial review pursuant to section 18.1 of the Federal Courts Act, 

RSC, 1985, c F-7. The Applicants are all descendants of individuals who were at one time 

members of the Sawridge First Nation, but who , either voluntarily or by operation of the law at the 

time, lost their band memberships. As a result the Applicants were excluded from membership in 

the Sawridge First Nation. They now ask this Collli to review the Sawridge First Nation Appeal 

Committee' s decision to uphold the Sawridge Chief and Council' s decision which denied their 

applications for membership. 

[2] The father of the Applicant Maurice Stoney was William J. Stoney. William Stoney was a 

member of the Sawridge First Nation but in April 1944 he applied to the Superintendent General of 

Indian Affu.irs to be enfranchised under section 114 of the Indian Act, c 98, RSC 1927. In 

consideration of payments totalling $871.35, William Stoney surrendered his Indian status and his 

membership in the Sawridge First Nation. By operation of the legislation, William Stoney's wife, 

Margaret Stoney, and their two children, Alvin Stoney and Maurice Stoney, were similarly 

enfranchised thereby losing their Indian status and their membership in the Sawridge First Nation. 

[3] The Applicants Aline Huz.ar and June Kolosky are sisters and, like Mr. Stoney, they are the 

grandchildren of Johnny Stoney. The mother of Ms. Huz.ar and Ms. Kolosky was Johnny Stoney's 

daughter, Mary Stoney. Mary Stoney married Simon McGillivray in 1921. Because of her 

marriage Mary Stoney lost both her Indian status and her membership in Sawridge by operation of 

Jaw. When Ms. Huz.ar and Ms. Kolosky were born in 1941 and 193 7 respectively Mary Stoney was 
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not a member of the Sawridge Band First Nation and she did not reacquire membership before her 

death in 1979. 

[4] In 1985, with the passing of Bill C-31, An Act to amend the Indian Act, 33-34 Eliz II c 27, 

and pursuant to section 10 of the Indian Act, the Sawridge First Nation delivered its membership 

rules, supporting documentation and bylaws to the Deputy Minister of Indian and N orthem Affairs, 

who accepted them on behalf of the Minister. The Minister subsequently infonned Sawridge that 

notice would be given pursuant to subsection 10(7) of the Indian Act that the Sawridge First Nation 

had control of its membership. From that point on, membership in the Sawridge First Nation was 

determined based on the Sawridge Membership Rules. 

[5] Ms. Kolosky submitted her application for inembership with the Sawridge First Nation on 

February 26, 2010. Ms. Huzar submitted her application on June 21, 2010. Mr. Stoney submitted 

his application on August 30, 2011. In letters dated December 7, 2011 , the Applicants were 

informed that their membership applications had been reviewed by the First Nation Council, and it 

had been determined that they did not have any specific "right" to have their names entered in the 

Sawridge Membership List. The Council further stated that it was not compelled to exercise its 

discretion to add the Applicants' names to the Membership list, as it did not feel that their admission 

would be in the best interests and welfare of Sawridge. 

[6] After this dete1mination, ''Membership Processing Forms" were prepared that set out a 

"Surnmary ofFirst Nation Councils Judgement". These forms were provided to the Applicants and 

outlined their connection and commitment to Sawridge, their knowledge of the First Nation, their 
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character and lifestyle, and other considerations. In particular, the fonns noted that the Applicants 

had not had any family in the Sawridge First Nation for generations and did not have any current 

relationship with the Band. Reference was also made to their involvement in a legal action 

commenced against the Sawridge First Nation in 1995 in which they sought damages for lost 

benefits, economic losses, and the "arrogant and high-handed manner in which Walter Patrick 

Twinn and the Sawridge Band of Indians has deliberately, and without cause, denied the Plaintiffs 

reinstatement as Band Members ... ". The 199 5 action was ultimately unsuccessful. Although the 

Applicants were ordered to pay costs to the First Nation, those costs remained unpaid. 

[7] In accordance with section 12 of the Sawridge Membership Rules, the Applicants appealed 

the Council's decision arguing that they had an automatic right to membership as a result of the 

enactment of Bill C-31. OnApril 21 , 2012 their appeals were heard before 21 Electors of the 

Sawridge First Nation, who made up the Appeal Committee. Following written and oral 

submissions by the Applicants and questions and comments from members of the Appeal 

Committee, it was unanimously decided that there were no grounds to set aside the decision of the 

Chief and Council. It is from the Appeal Committee's decision that this application for judicial 

review stems. 

[8] The Applicants maintain that they each have an automatic right of membership in the 

Sawridge First Nation. Mr. Stoney states atpara8 ofhis affidavit ofMay 22, 2012 that this right 

arises from the provisions of Bill C-31. Ms. Huzar and Ms. Kolosky also argue that they ''were 

persons with the right to have their names entered in the [Sawridge] Band List" by virtue of section 

6 ofthe IndianAct. 
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[9] I accept that, if the Applicants had such an acquired right of membership by virtue of their 

ancestry, Sawridge had no right to refuse their membership applications: see Sawridge v Canada, 

2004 FCA 16 at para 26, [2004] FCJ no 77. 

[10) Ms. Huzar and Ms. Kolosky rely on the decisions in Sawridge v Canada, 2003 FCT347, 

[2003) 4 PC 748, and Sawridge v Canada, 2004FCA16, [2004) FCJ no 77 in support of their 

claims to automatic Sawridge membership. Those decisions, however, apply to women who had 

lost their Indian status and their band membership by virtue of marriages to non-Indian men and 

whose rights to reinstatement were clearly expressed in the amendments to the Indian Act, including 

Bill C-31. The question that remains is whether the descendants of Indian women who were also 

deprived of their right to band membership because of the inter-marriage of their mothers were 

intended to be protected by those same legislative amendments. 

[11] A plain reading of sections 6 and 7 of Bill C-31 indicates that Parliament intended only that 

persons who had their Indian status and band memberships directly removed by operation of Jaw 

ought to have those memberships unconditionally restored. The only means by which the 

descendants of such persons could gain band membership (as distinct from regaining their Indian 

status) was to apply for it in accordance with a First Nation's approved membership rules. This 

distinction was, in fact, recognized by Justice James Hugessen in Sawridge v Canada, 2003 PCT 

347 at paras 27 to 30, 4 PC 748, [2003) 4 PC 748: 

27 Although it deals specifically with Band Lists maintained in the 
Department, section 11 clearly distinguishes between automatic, or 
unconditional, entitlement to membership and conditional 
entitlement to membership. Subsection 11(1) provides for automatic 
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entitlement to certain individuals as of the date the amendments 
came into force . Subsection 11(2), on the other hand, potentially 
leaves to the band's discretion the admission of the descendants of 
women who 'inarried out." 

28 The debate in the House of Commons, prior to the enactment of 
the amendments, reveals Parliament's intention to create an 
automatic entitlement to women who had lost their status because 
they married non-Indian men. Minister Crombie stated as follows 
(House of Commons Debates, Vol II, March 1, 1985, page 2644): 

.. . today, I am asking Hon. Members to consider 
legislation which will eliminate two historic wrongs 
in Canada's legislation regarding Indian people. 
These wrongs are discriminatory treatment based on 
sex and the control by Government of membership m 
Indian communities. 

29 A little further, he spoke about the careful balancing between 
these rights in the Act. In this section, Minister Crombie referred to 
the difference between status and inembership. He stated that, while 
those persons who lost their status and membership should have both 
restored, the descendants of those persons are only automatically 
entitled to status (House of Commons Debates, idem, at page 2645): 

This legislation achieves balance and rests 
comfortably and fairly on the principle that those 
persons who lost status and membership should have 
their status and membership restored. [page766] 
While there are some who would draw the line there, 
in my view fairness also demands that the first 
generation descendants of those who were wronged 
by discriminatory legislation should have status under 
the Indian Act so that they will be eligible for 
individual benefits provided by the federal 
Govermnent. However, their relationship with respect 
to membership and residency should be determined 
by the relationship with the Indian communities to 
which they belong. 

30 Still further on, the Minister stated the fundamental purposes of 
amendments, and explained that, while those purposes may conflict, 
the fairest balance had been achieved (House of Commons Debates, 
idem, at page 2646): 
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... I have to reassert what is unshakeable for this 
Government with respect to the Bill. First, it must 
include removal of discriminatory provisions in the 
Indian Act; second, it must include the restoration of 
status and membership to those who lost status and 
membership as a result of those discriminatory 
provisions; and third, it must ensure that the Indian 
First Nations who wish to do so can control their own 
membership. Those are the three principles which 
allow us to find balance and :fairness and to proceed 
confidently in the fuce of any disappointment which 
may be expressed by persons or groups who were not 
able to accomplish 100 per cent of their own 
particular goals .. . 

[Emphasis added] 

This decision was upheld on appeal in Sawridge v Canada, 2004 FCA 16, [2004] FCJ no 77. 

[12] The legislative balance referred to by Justice Hugessen is also reflected in the 2010 

Page: 7 

Legislative Summary of Bill C-3 titled the Gender Equity inlndianRegistrationAct, SC 2010, c 18. 

There the intent of Bill C-31 is described as follows: 

Bill C-31 severed status and band membership for the first time and 
authorized bands to control their own membership and enact their 
own membership codes (section 10). For those not exercising that 
option, the Depaitment of Indian Affairs would maintain "Band 
Lists" (section 11). Under the legislation's complex scheme some 
registrants were granted automatic band membership, while others 
obtained only conditional membership. The former group included 
women who had lost status by marrying out and were reinstated 
under paragraph 6(1)(c). The latter group included their children, 
who acquired status under subsection 6(2). 

[Emphasis added] 

.....I 
c 
ro 
~ 
<J) 
0 
I.() 

u 
LL 
(') 
r-
0 
N 



Page: 8 

(13] While Mary Stoney would have an acquired right to Sawridge membership had she been 

alive when Bill C-31 was enacted, the same right did not accrue to her children. Simply put neither 

Ms. Huzar or Ms. Kolosky qualified under section 11 of Bill C-31 for automatic band membership. 

Their only option was to apply for membership in accordance with the membership rules 

promulgated by Sawridge. 

(14] This second generation cut-off rule has continued to attract criticism as is reflected in the 

Legislative Summary at p 13, para 34: 

34. The divisiveness has been exacerbated by the Act's 
provisions related to band membership, under which not all new or 
reinstated registrants have been entitled to automatic membership. As 
previously mentioned, under provisions in Bill C-31 , women who 
had "married out" and were reinstated did automatically become 
band members, but their children registered under subsection 6(2) 
have been eligible for conditional membership only. In light of the 
high volume of new or returning ''Bill C-31 Indians" and the scarcity 
of reserve land, automatic membership did not necessarily translate 
into a right to reside on-reserve, creating another source of internal 
conflict. 

Notwithstanding the above-noted criticism, the legislation is clear in its intent and does not support 

a claim by Ms. Huzar and Ms. Kolosky to automatic band membership. 

(15] I also cannot identify anything in Bill C-31 that would extend an automatic right of 

membership in the Sawridge First Nation to William Stoney. He lost his right to membership when 

his father sought and obtained enfranchisement for the family. The legislative amendments in Bill 

C-31 do not apply to that situation. 
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[16] Even if I am wrong in my interpretation of these legislative provisions, this application 

cannot be sustained at least in terms of the Applicants' claims to automatic band membership. All 

of the Applicants in this proceeding, among others, were named as Plaintiffs in an action filed in 

this Court on May 6, 1998 seeking mandatory relief requiring that their names be added to the 

Sawridge membership list. That action was struck out by the Federal Court of Appeal in a decision 

issued on June 13, 2000 for the following reasons: 

[4] It was conceded by counsel for the respondents that, without 
the proposed amending paragraphs, the unamended statement of 
claim discloses no reasonable cause of action in so :fur as it asserts or 
assumes that the respondents are entitled to Band membership 
without the consent of the Band. 

[5] It is clear that, until the Band's membership rules are found 
to be invalid, they govern membership of the Band and that the 
respondents have, at best, a right to apply to the Band for 
membership. Accordingly, the statement of claim against the 
appellants, Walter Patrick Twinn, as Chief of the Sawridge Indian 
Band, and the Sawridge Indian Band, will be struck as disclosing no 
reasonable cause ofaction. 

See Huzar v Canada, [2000] FCJ no 873, 258 NR 246. 

[17] It is not open to a party to relitigate the sarne issue that was conclusively determined in an 

earlier proceeding. The attempt by these Applicants to reargue the question of their automatic right 

of membership in Sawridge is barred by the principle of issue estoppel: see Danyluk v Ainsworth 

Technologies Inc., 2001SCC44, [2001] 2 SCR460. 

[18] The Applicants are, nevertheless, fully entitled to challenge the lawfulness ofthe appeal 

decision rejecting their membership applications. 
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[19] The Applicants did not challenge the reasonableness of the appeal decision but only the 

fairness of the process that was followed. Their argument is one of institutional bias and it is set out 

with considerable brevity at para 35 of the Huzar and Kolosky Memorandum of Fact and Law: 

35. It is submitted that the total membership of Sawridge First 
Nation is small being in the range of 50 members. Only three 
applicants have been admitted to membership since 1985 and these 
three are (were) the sisters of deceased Chie£ Walter Twinn. The 
Appeal Committee consisted of21 of the members of Sawridge and 
three of these 21 were the Chie£ Roland Twinn and Councillors, 
Justin Twinn and Winona Twin, who made the original decision 
appealed from. 

[20] In the absence of any other relevant evidence, no inference can be drawn from the limited 

number ofnew memberships that have been granted by Sawridge since 1985. While the apparent 

involvement of the Chief and two members of the Band Council in the work of the Appeal 

Committee might give rise to an appearance of bias, there is no evidence in the record that would 

permit the CoUlt to make a :finding one way or the other or to ascertain whether this issue was 

waived by the Applicants' failure to raise a concern at the time. 

[21] Indeed, it is surprising that this issue was not fully briefed by the Applicants in their 

affidavits or in their written and oral arguments. It is of equal concern that no cross-examinations 

were carried out to provide an evidentiary foundation for this allegation of institutional bias. The 

issue of institutional bias in the context of small First Nations with numerous family connections is 

nuanced and the issue cannot be resolved on the record before me: see Sweetgrass First Nation v 

Favel, 2007 FC 271 at para 19, [2007] FCJ no 347, and Lavalee v Louison, [1999] FCJ no 1350 at 

paras 34-35, 91 ACWS (3d) 337. 
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[22] The same concern arises in connection with the allegation of a section 15 Charter breach. 

There is nothing in the evidence to support such a :finding and it was not advanced in any serious 

way in the written or oral submissions. The record is completely inadequate to support such a claim 

to relief There is also nothing in the record to establish that the Crown was provided with any 

notice of what constitutes a constitutional challenge to the Indian Act. Accordingly, this claim to 

relief cannot be sustained. 

[23] For the foregoing reasons these applications are dismissed with costs payable to the 

Respondent. 
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JUDGMENT 

THIS COURT'S JUDGMENT is that these applications are dismissed with costs payable 

to the Respondent. 

"R.L. Barnes" 
Judge 
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1 saw that there was limited evidence available to provide an explanation for what had 
2 transpired. But we do also have other background information of a circumstantial nature 
3 that does assist in understanding what went on and we know, at least one can infer -- and 
4 I'm happy to hear if you don't accept the inferences or where I'm headed but we do see 
5 that the 1985 trust was created for a very specific purpose. That purpose was to ensure that 
6 the trust assets were not going to be shared with a group of people who were likely to 
7 become members of the band as a result of proposed modifications to the Indian Act in 
8 1985, which were imminent, and which would permit women, primarily, to re-join the band 
9 as members. And, therefore, if that happened without the trust being changed, they would 

10 then become beneficiaries of the trust. 
11 
12 So I confess that I had some concern with respect to what I was seeing. I asked myself how 
13 it could possibly be that we had really substantial assets -- I don't know, there's evidence 
14 or numbers kicking around 70 million or 220 million or whatever they are -- whatever the 
15 number is, it's a lot of money. So I had concerns with respect to how we were seeing a 
16 modification of a trust without any judicial approval, without any compliance with section 
17 42, without anything other than simply the creation of a new trust. So I questioned -- and I 
18 could totally be wrong about this and I'm more than happy to hear all of you out -- I 
19 question the legitimacy of the 1985 trust declaration at all. 
20 
21 I did consider Justice Thomas' order -- a consent order of August 24th, 2016. You may 
22 consider that to be the total answer to all of the problems and you could well be right and 
23 I'm happy to hear you on that. On the surface I don't accept that but I'm open minded and 
24 I'm happy to hear from you. But I can tell you that I have fundamental concerns. So how 
25 does that relate to the issue that the parties together have defined for today the jurisdictional 
26 issue. I think you are all on board that there are three ways in which a trust can be varied. 
27 One is the reservation in the trust declaration. All of you are in agreement that that's not 
28 the case here so we put that aside. 
29 
30 Secondly is section 42 of the Trustee Act. We all agree that that's properly enforced and 
31 must be complied with. There's some disagreement with respect to whether enough effort 
32 has been made to try to comply but I would say -- again, without hearing more argument -
33 - that section 42 is definitely available. Whether it is practically available is really the issue 
34 and because we have competing interests the likelihood of getting a hundred percent 
35 approval is slim to nil and I would think nil is probably closer than slim. So practically 
36 speaking, section 42 doesn't look like a way to achieve the result that everyone would like. 
37 
38 Which leads to the ability of the Court at common law through the exercise of discretion 
39 to amend the terms of the trust apart from section 42 of the Trustee Act. And I think it's 
40 fair to say that the law in terms of my ability -- any Court's ability to modify the terms of 
41 a trust on that basis is quite limited. And to achieve that result through the common law or 
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1 that interpretation, that sets the direction for where we go forward, does it not? 
2 
3 Like, if -- just if I were to say, for example, that these assets are being held for the 1982 
4 beneficiaries, where would we be? Like --
5 
6 MR. FAULDS: And the Court of Appeal, My Lord, as you 
7 indicated, but --
8 
9 THE COURT: Well, of course. I expect -- listen, don't get your 

10 -- I expect this to be in the Court of Appeal no matter what I do, so there you go. That's the 
11 lay of the land here. 
12 
13 MR. FAULDS: 
14 

Right. 

15 THE COURT: But in tenns of next steps, like, maybe, Mr. 
16 Molstad, and I didn ' t see this in his brief to be totally honest, but maybe he is asking me to 
17 make a direction that one thing or another that amounts to a remedy. I don't know, but I 
18 have a pretty clear vision as to where -- the type of order I need to make, but my concern 
19 is listening to your submissions that you think that wouldn't be a remedy, but it comes 
20 awfully close to that, doesn't it? 
21 
22 MR. FAULDS: My Lord, my concern is not that the Court have 
23 regard to the context and circumstances and the relevant law. My concern only is that we 
24 have a common understanding that what the purpose of the hearing is is to interpret the 
25 order that has been granted as opposed to granting a remedy based on submissions that they 
26 -- that the -- that that which the order approved in fact shouldn't have been approved. 
27 
28 THE COURT: True. Well, I don't think that I'm going to be 
29 saying the order shouldn't have approved anything. I'm going to -- because it' s not for me 
30 to say whether we should have done one thing or another. That's for other people, not me. 
31 
32 MR. FAULDS: 
33 

Right. 

34 THE COURT: The order is there. What does it mean? What is 
35 the effect of it? Are the assets being held for the 1985 beneficiaries or for the 1982 
36 beneficiaries or for something else or is it uncertain? And what's the theoretical basis? If -
37 - what's the theoretical basis in trust law that gets us to wherever we get to? What was the 
38 theoretical basis that existed before, the moment before the order was granted? What's the 
39 theoretical basis after the order is granted? But once I give that interpretation subject to 
40 whatever is said the Court of Appeal, that is looking awfully close to a remedy. And I think 
41 Ms. Bonora's brief that I got yesterday which again, I just superficially scanned, is 
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1 
2 Mr. Faulds, you --
3 
4 MR. FAULDS: 
5 

5 

Oh, no. No, I was just saying no, My Lord. 

6 TIIE COURT: Good. When we left off last time, I indicated 
7 that I would review the transcripts from the previous proceedings. Thank you very much 
8 for providing those to me. I have had an opportunity to review them. That review was for 
9 the purpose of attempting to determine whether or not there was any concern with respect 

10 to the issue raised in relation to the application on the asset transfer issue that was to be 
11 argued November 27th, but which we have now arranged for January 16th. 
12 
13 I have reviewed the transcripts. I see no lack of clarity with respect to the issues that have 
14 been set out. The issues I initially raised on April 25th, 2019, as I review that transcript, 
15 and I was speaking at that time when I knew much less about the case than I do today, 
16 but, in any event, going back to that transcript I think that it sets out quite clearly what 
17 my concerns were. I raised those very same concerns on September the 4th when the 
18 parties were before me. And the notice of motion was filed shortly thereafter. And the 
19 notice of motion, it's now called an application I'm afraid, so the application that was 
20 filed sets out the application that is being made. There is clarity in that. It conforms very 
21 closely to what I discussed in my comments on April 25th and again on September the 
22 4th. There is, in my view, no lack of clarity here. 
23 
24 The issues that we are going to hear on January 16th are a question of the interpretation 
25 and the effect of Justice Thomas' order from August of 2016. As part of that process, 
26 we're going to consider whether that order should be interpreted so as to confirm that the 
27 trust assets are being held by the 1985 trustees for the benefit of the beneficiaries as 
28 defined in the 1985 trust deed. Or, alternatively, whether those trust assets are being held 
29 by the 1985 trustees for the benefit of the beneficiaries described in the 1982 trust deed. 
30 Or, as I mentioned last time, a third alternative. The third alternative is I will not be able 
31 to answer that question. 
32 
33 And maybe I will just elaborate a little more clearly with respect to what I was thinking 
34 there because I see that I didn't articulate that the last time. I have not been able to review 
35 all the materials on this file. The application refers to essentially the materials on the file 
36 as being a record that the trustees rely on in seeking advice and direction. One of two 
3 7 things is going to happen: either I will have sufficient confidence in the state of the record 
38 that I will be permitted to answer the question posed by the trustees, or I will not. If I 
39 have sufficient confidence in the state of the record, I will provide an answer to the 
40 question - do the trustees hold for the benefit of the 1985 beneficiaries? If not, do they 
41 hold for the benefit of the 1982 beneficiaries? Or, if the record shows some other 
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1 alternative, maybe that will arise as well. 
2 
3 But if I do not have sufficient confidence in the state of the record, I reserve the right to 
4 say no, this will not happen on this application. I can't tell you how I will rule on that 
5 until I have a better handle on the record that's before me. And I don't have that today, I 
6 will propose to address that issue specifically in the reasons. So, I will hear argument, I 
7 hopefully will be able to give you an answer, I will do my best to give an answer, but I, 
8 sitting here today, cannot tell you with an absolute certainty that you will walk away with 
9 an answer. There is a chance that I will be concerned about the state of the record and, 

10 therefore, I will not be able to give you an answer. And that's really where I think we will 
11 be. 
12 
13 I want to specifically address a concern or a caution that was raised with me by Mr. 
14 Faulds, I believe, at the last appearance, and that is inviting me to look at page 56 and 57 
15 of the transcript of the October 30th hearing. And there, Mr. Faulds I think was pointing 
16 me to commentary that could suggest that there were two issues at stake here - one, is 
17 whether I agreed or would conclude that the 1985 trust assets were being held by the 
18 1985 trustees for the benefit of the 1985 beneficiaries; and, if I didn't agree on that front, 
19 we would stop and do something else. And I see his -- I see that there is something in the 
20 record that would point in that direction but I can tell you that that is not what I was 
21 attempting to articulate at the time I made those comments. What I was doing, and if we 
22 follow along, I was trying to suggest that that is something that Mr. Faulds had referred to 
23 earlier in the presentation. 
24 
25 The two issues that I see, and always have, are the asset transfer issue and the 
26 jurisdictional issue. It would not be possible to cut the asset transfer issue in two parts 
27 and finish off by saying yes or no to whether or not the 1985 trustees hold for the benefit 
28 of the 1985 beneficiaries, and then wait for further argument. That is not possible. 
29 Because to get to the point where I make a ruling on 1985, I'm going to have to have 
30 considered the context, and the background, and most importantly, what was the status of 
31 this trust immediately prior to Justice Thomas granting his order. 
32 
33 So that is where I think we are. Now, we did hear further submissions from the parties 
34 last time with respect to two issues - document production and process. I've previously 
35 given a ruling, and indeed there was debate about that just a few minutes ago, my prior 
36 ruling was that there's no need for any further document production. That is the ruling. If 
3 7 there is something in particular that any of the parties think they need in order to properly 
38 advocate their position, I am prepared at least on the surface to reconsider my ruling if 
39 you tell me what you want and why it would impact the decision that I have to make. So 
40 if anyone wants to make submissions on that, they're welcome to do that. 
41 
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l Catherine Twinn, of .the Sawridge Indian Reserve 150 G and the City of Edmonton, in the Province of 
Alberta, SWEAR AND SAY THAT: 

L 1 am a former trustee of the Sawridge Band Inter Vivos Settlement, April .15 , 1985 (the " J985 
Trust") and the Sawridge Trust, August 15, 1986 (the "1986 Trust") (collectively referred to as 
the "Trusts"), and, as such, have a personal knowledge of the matters hereinafter deposed to, save 
where stated to be based upon information and belief. I served as a trustee of the Trusts from 
l 986 until 2018. I wns one of the original trustees of the 1986 Trust. T am also the widow of 
Chief Walter Twinn, the settlor of the Trusts. 

2. As a long serving trustee of the Trusts, I have a great deal or personal familiarity with the 
circumstances that arose in and around 1985 and which led to the assets of the Sawridge Band 
Trust (the "1982 Trust") being transferred to the 1985 Trust (the "Asset Transfer"). 



3. I an1 aware th~t i11y late .hu~ band, Chief T\vjnn engaged ·'-\ ·good deal of professi on~il e~perti.se· to 
~tdvise on the Trusts and. the Asset Transfer. I am aware that one of those individuals wus Ron 
Ewoniak, Chattered Accountant, of the accounting firm now know as Deloitte. 

4. l recently spoke with Tvi:r. Ewoniak, who is now a retired partner of the .Edmonton office of 
Deloitte. 

5. Mr. Ewoniak advised me of the fol lowing: 

(a) In his capacity as an accoimtant at Deloitte, he provided professional advice to my late 
husband, Chief Walter Twi:nn ("Walter"). While he was.a partner at Deloitte, Walter was 
the instructing client for numerous matters that Mr. Ewoniak worked with him on . Mr. 
Ewoniak first met and began to provkle professional advice t:o Wi.ilter in or about. 1969-
1970. 

(b) He was aware that Walter was the settler of the Trusts and Mr. Ewoniak provided 
professional services to Walter in relation to these Trusts and the assets held by them 
until hi s retirement from Deloitte in 1996. 

(c) After his reliremcnt frorn Deloitte, he was asked and accepted the position as chair of the 
Trusts . . Mr. Ewoniak held that position in 2008 and withdrew as chair in 2009. 

TRUST STRlJCTURE AND ASSETS 

(d) At some point in the late J 970s, he suggested to \Valter it was advantageous to create and 
use a trust stmc\ure to hold corporate as.sets. Walter ~\cceptecl bis advic~. They 
established a trust in l982 and subsequently established the 1985 Trust and the 1986 
Trust. Mr. Ewoniak understood tbal Walter wished to keep assets out of the Banc! anti 
keep ownership of the as·ets Beparate from the SFN. This would allow for tax planning 
and limit the exposure oJ the assets to Band politics. They c1igaged ~1 nuiilber of la\.vyers 
with expertise in trust Jaw to assist with the structure froi11 varimis law firms. Over the 
years, these lawyers included Dave Fennel, David Jones~ Maurice Cullity who became a 
}ustice in C)ntario as well as others. A great deal of legal expe1'ti~e was engaged. 

(e) Throughout the period of 1'1r. Ewoniak.'s ~ss i stance to Walter, ,'evernl businesses were 
created and developed. Ultin1ately these corporations wore owned by the 1985 Trust and 
1986 Trust. A chronology of some of the developments ancl events thaL 1Vlr. Ewoniak 
recalled or lutd some involveme11t with or knmvledge of included the following; 

o 1972 - Sawridge Motor Hotel opens in the Town of Slave Lake; 

o 198 l - Additions are maae to the Sawridge .!Vlotor Hotel and stuff apartments are 
built in Slave Lake; 

o 1983 -The Sawridge Hotel in Jasper is constructed; 

.. Febi·uary 12, 1984 - There is a grand opening of the Sawridge Hotel, in Jasper; 

o Jairnary 15, )985 - !he Sawridge Truck Stofr is opened; 

o I 985 - The Sawridge Manor Apaitri1ent complex (56 Suites) is opened; 



o April 7, 1988-The Sawridge Hotel in Fort McMurray is acquired; 

• Mo.rch 1990 - The Sawridge Plaztt Mall in the Town of Slave Lake is opened; 

a 1993 -The Water Bottling Plant is acquired. 

(f) The first entrepreneurial venture 10 build the hotel in Slave Lake in .1972 was financed by 
money from outside the SFN. Third Parties provide l funding for this project, such as 
grnnts from the Depr-irtrnenL or B.egional Economic Expansion ("DREE"). His 
recollection is that SFN funds wer1; not invested into the Slave Lake Hotel. He recalls 
there was a mortgage on that properly and the mo1tgagor required various conditions with 
respect to the operations of the hotel that included outsourcing the hotel manager \Vho 
ultimately was recruited from the Hotel MacDonald in Ed monton. 

(g) He recalls a video created in 1987 wherein he spoke about the financing of the Slave 
Lake Hotel. In that video he spec ifically addressed that it was basically impossible for a 
Band to obtain funding to finance projecls like the projects Walter was pursuing. Jn ihat 
video he indicated that, after scv•ral months of negotiations, money was obtained from 
OREE and provided to a corporate entity, consistent with the intention to separate assets 
from !he SFN. 

(h) He believed that Walter obtained n ski lled group of profossiqnal advisors to assist hiin 
with developing these assets and the structure within which they \vcre held. He believed 
it was done properly and that was certainly the advice that he and Walte1' were receiving 
at the time. 

(i) Mr. Ewoniak was involved wlwn the 1985 Trust and 1hc 1986 Trust were created. He 
took care lo ensu re that everything\\ as properly completed. Walter retained and received 
advice f'rom quality advisors in relation to the Asset Transfer, agai n incl uding Maurice 
Cullity. At the time of the trtmsfer from the 1982 Trust to the 1985 Trust they had the 
same beneficiaries and .this was determined by the same Legislation. He attended many 
111eetings that addressed details with respect to establU1ing the 1985 Trust and the 1986 
Trust, inclucling what <tsset·s were created and transferred. 

(j) His recollection was that a comb! nation or the 1985 Trust and the 1986 Trust captured all 
of the interests or the beneficiaries, including people who may become SFN members 
pursuant to Bill C-3 1. · 

(k) At the time, he understood that Walter was concerned that pi·oposed Legislation changes 
would resu lt in a significant increase in B<incl members with voting power. This in turn 
would result in potential changes to voting right and would possibly result in a 
significant trarn; fer of power and control lo a potential influx of new members. He 
understood that one of Walter's concerns was that this influx may result in a new :Band 
council which may dissipate assets. This is partly why thar trust structure was 
contemplated to protect the assets. 

(I) He recalled that Walter was concerned about the equitable treatment of band men1bers 
who had previously enfr<~nchisccl cornparec) to members who remained. Peof>le \Vho 
previou. ly enfranchised received a per capital payment of money from the SFN. His 
recollection is that there was large sum of money paid out during this process and that, 
afterwards, \Vatter felt it would be ~nfair if these peoples' memberships were restored 
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without repayment of those funds when pl~ople who did not en franchise did not receive <t 
payout. 

(m) At the time the Trusts were sel up, which is now several decades ago, there WGre certainly 
numerous compelling reasons why he and Walter set up the Trust structu1'e and legal 
advice was obtained throughout the process. 

(n) He understood that the 1982 Trust was dissolved after the Asset Transfer and he and 
Walter conducted themselves on that understand ing. After the· 1982 Trust was dissolved, 
he believes there were no financial statements created for the 1982 Trnst, no tax filings, 
no meetings, no resoluti ons or records of decisions because they believed it had ceased tq 
exist. 

(o) He inquired with Deloitte \.Vhether it had mai'nta.ined any records in relation to these 
historical transactions and Deloitte did not have l'ecords Urnt far back. However, he 
expected that there are records either held by the Trusts, at lnw firms or in the possession 
of the SFN thnt would corroborate the information he provided to me. 

(p) Jt was the intention and the understanding of himself and Waller that the companies and 
corporate assets that were transferred into the 1985 Tmst and 1986 Trust were owned by 
those Trusts fc;r the benefi ci aries of each of those Trusts. This was clear to him and 
appeared to hin1 to be clear lo all whom he wns involved with at the time, ii1c luding 
Walter. 

(q) For many years, the 1985 Trust distributed n lai:ge cheque to one or more of the 
benc:.ficiaries, for the purpose of triggering a la;\ advantage. This distribution was then 
wholly gifted back to the 1985 Tru: t by \he beneficiary. Therd'ore · there were 
di stributions made from the 1985 Trust. He be! ieves the Trusts shouid have records of 
these distributions. A ny suggestion that the 1985 Trust has never made a dist.ribution of 
it s assets to it$ beneficiaries is inaccurate. 

6. l swear thi s Affidavit as evidence for the Coutt and for no iri1pr9per purpose. 

SWORN BEFORE ME at the 
· City of_~~' 
in the Province of Afbe1ta 
thc~dayof~2020 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

-\--f..c.~µL.l~--""'--="-'>-~~~~~~~) 
'ommissioner for Oaths in and ) 

for the Province of Albe1ia 

C·i"ta c. Osualc\ni . . 1 .... . 1 ... • .~:- •0r Q1;tns 
t~o'-"' P\ •1-\iic c:n:i Com:n,s~ 10.r>~· r . 

a i. r~1 , "'~a"-,· Mr tr,e Prvvinc~ o\ Albsrtz 
In "' • " " ' . · I ( ' I l 'e 

A 
·. t·11ent (J)(plfPG a\ tne , •,caSt ' MY pµOifi ' I "- ' - . - ~, n r 

of the Lieutenant Gov .. r .. o, 

CATHERD.\JE TWlNN 
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COURT FILE NO: 1103 14112 

COURT: QUEEN'S BENCH OF ALBERTA 

JUDICIAL CENTRE: EDMONTON 

APPLICANT: 

IN THE MATTER OF THE TRUSTEE ACT, 
R.S.A. 2000 , c. T- 8 , AS AMENDED, and 

IN THE MATTER OF THE SAWRIDG E BAND 
INTER VIVOS SETTLEMENT CREATED BY 
CHIEF WALTER PATRICK TWINN, OF THE 
SAWRIDGE INDIAN BAND, NO. 19, now 
known as SAWRIDGE FIRST NATION ON 
APRIL 15, 1985 (the "1 985 Sawridge 
Trust") 

ROLAND TWINN, MARGARET WARD, TRACEY 
SCARLETT , EVERETT JUSTIN TWINN AND 
DAVID MAJESKI, as Trustees for the 
1985 Sawridge Trust 

QUESTIONING RE ASSET TRANSFER 
ORDER APPLICATION 

OF 

CATHERINE TWINN 

S . Elzen-Hoskyn, Esq. 

Ms. J. Hutchison and 
P.J. Faulds, Esq. 

Ms. C. Osualdini 

Ms. E. Sopko 

Susan Stelter 

For the Applicants 

For the Public Trustee 

For Cather ine Twinn 

For Sawridge First Nation 

Court Reporter 

Edmonton, Alberta 

12 March, 2020 
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CATHERINE TWINN, SWORN AT 10 : 05 A.M . , 

QUESTIONED BY MS . HUTCHISON: 

MARCH 12, 2020 

MS. HUTCHISON: Good morning, Ms. Twinn. Before we 

A 

MS. 

get started I understand that we have counsel today 

that would like to put some statements on the record so 

I am just going to wait until they have an opportunity 

to do that and then we wi l l begin . 

Thank you. 

SOPKO : I am Ellery Sopko, I represent the 

Sawridge First Nation which I will refer to just as 

Sawridge. We are in receipt of Ms. Osualdini ' s letter 

of March 6th and Ms. Hutchison's letter of March 10 and 

responded in turn with our letter yesterday of March 

11th . Sawridge is reserving its rights with respect to 

the evidence that wil l be given by Ms . Twinn today, and 

Sawridge wishes to make the following points on the 

record : 

First , it is Sawridge ' s pos i tion that this is a 

questioning on an Affidavit. Second, Sawr i dge is 

concerned over disclosure of information that Ms. Twinn 

would have in her former capacity as counsel to 

Sawridge. Ms. Twinn acted for Sawridge beginning in 

the 1980s on matters involving the Sawridge Trust and 

the Sawridge Trust assets . And third , Sawridge First 

Nation questions the appropriateness of th i s 

examination as the Public Trustee and Catherine Twinn 

are not parties adverse in interest on the asset 
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transfer application. And Sawridge takes the position 

that questioning can only be conducted by parties 

adverse in interest under the Rules of Court. 

Consequently, and having regard to those rules, 

Sawridge reserves the right to make further submissions 

at the application, the asset transfer application, on 

May 19th relating to the appropriateness of the Public 

Trustee's questioning of Ms. Twinn and the 

admissibility of any evidence obtained through 

questioning, and Sawridge reserves its right to 

challenge the admissibility of evidence on the grounds 

that it was obtained through questioning by a party who 

is not adverse in interest, that it is subject of 

privilege, that it is irrelevant or immaterial, or 

other proper objection. 

ELZEN-HOSTYN: And I am Simon Elzen-Hostyn of 

any 

Dentons Canada, and I represent Roland Twinn, Margaret 

Ward, and Tracey Scarlett and Everett Justin Twinn and 

David Majeski as Trustees for the 1985 Sawridge Trust, 

and who I will refer to as the 1985 Trustees. 

We have Ms. Osualdini's letter of March 6th, 2020 

and Ms. Hutchison's letter of March 10th, 2020 and the 

1985 Trustees are reserving their rights with respect 

to the evidence that will be given by Ms. Twinn today. 

The 1985 Trustees make the following points on the 

record: 

Firstly, the 1985 Trustees question the 
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MS. SOPKO: Is there a Sawridge document number 

on it? 

MS. HUTCHISON: 

001429. 

Sawridge Document Number 1429, or 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

MS. HUTCHISON: Now, Ms. Twinn, the origin of this 

document, it was produced by Mr. Bujold in response to 

his own answers to undertakings. But is the date given 

there for your commencement as a Trustee at December 

18th, 1986, do you have any reason to believe that that 

date is not accurate? 

No reason to believe it is not accurate. I did not do 

the underlying research, and I had never seen the 

underlying documentation. 

dates. 

But I would accept those 

Okay . And then in the course of this litigation, Ms. 

Twinn, I understand you resigned as a Trustee, and that 

was announced to be effective March 19th of 2018? 

Which is that? 

If that date doesn't ring a bell, tab 27. 

recognize that document, Ms. Twinn? 

Yes. 

Do you 

I think that we will actually mark that as an exhibit 

if the date doesn't ring a bell for you. 

So. Ms. Twinn, you agree that your term as a 

Sawridge Trustee ended March 19th, 2018? 

Correct. 

Can we mark that. 
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beginning of my awakening. 

And then in 1 989 Walter finally did gain sobriety. 

And from 1989 until 1997 he was sober. But when you 

are inside an addictive system you know there are 

rules. Don't talk , don't trust, don 't feel. There is 

a lot of scapegoating . I was a scapegoat . There is a 

lot of blaming, there is a lot of dua li sm , it is black 

or white , this or that, and i t is chaotic . 

chaotic . 

It is 

So this period that we are talking about , you know, 

' 82 transfer, ' 85 , ' 86 , that was a period for me 

personally that was high toxic stress. Also, I was a 

mother and we have four sons. And one son was born in 

October of ' 85 , another son was born in January of ' 88 , 

and the three sons then -- the three oldest sons 

experienced the alcoholism , th e alcoholic fam il y 

system . And I can say that there was a lot of people 

that wanted Walter drunk , and there is a l ot of 

exploitation . 

So what I am hearing, Ms. Twinn, is this was a 

disruptive t ime, there wasn't a process or a system to 

educate new Trustees, to tell you about what your role 

was or what the history was. 

Was there a point in your role as an ' 85 Trustee 

when you came to understand why the ' 85 Trust had been 

created and what the history of that Trust was? 

Well, my understanding of the '85 Trust was Walter had 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 Q 

8 A 

9 Q 

10 A 

11 

12 Q 

13 A 

14 

15 

16 Q 

17 

18 

19 A 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

22 

a number of concerns. And one of them was the 

potential high impact of Bill C- 3 1 on the membership 

number. And Sawridge had experienced a very, very high 

rate of enfranchisement . One family had enfranchised 

and received a per capita share of about 1.2 million in 

those dollars. 

Do you know what year that was, Ms. Twinn, or ro ughl y? 

I am going to guess early ' 80s . 

Okay . And was that 1.3 million per person? 

I think it was 1.2. I think that was the family, and I 

don't know how many fa mily members there were. 

Okay. 

And I know that in around that early ' 80s , that period, 

it wasn 't atypical for a per capita distribution upon 

enfranchisement to be 3 to $400 ,000 per person. 

And when we are talking about enfranchisement , Ms. 

Twinn, we are including women that lost their status 

under Section 12 sub --

However you went out. There were many, many ways in 

which you cou ld enfranchise , and there was a bit of a 

legal fiction created around voluntary and involuntary 

enfranchisement. For example, the male head of 

household could enfranch i se on his application his 

entire family , which is involuntary in my mind. But 

and it is also a form of sex discrimination. 

were those kinds of examples . 

But there 

Then there were examples where people voluntarily 
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was taken out of the Indian Act and particularized. 

But that was a l so the formulation that determined who 

the members were under the ' 82 Trust. 

Ms. Twinn, I'm just going to interject with a question. 

So the payments that you are talking about on 

enfranchisement , was it your understanding that those 

payments came out of capita l and revenue funds? 

Correct , that is my understanding. 

And capital/revenue funds in part were used to settle 

the Trusts that we are talking about as well? 

Correct. But I might add that not all of those assets 

came from capita l and revenue account monies. 

Okay. 

Ron Ewoniak 

And we are talking ' 85? 

85 Trust. I'm talking about the ' 85 Trust assets , I am 

talking about the Sawridge Hotel in Slave Lake. 

Okay. 

I am talking about a v i deo that I did to h onour Walter 

on his 20th anniversary as Chief in 1 986 , which is a 

public document . 

I'm going to interrupt you for two seconds. 

23 MS. OSUALDINI: Can I clarify yo u r earlier 

24 question, were you talking about settling the Trust or 

25 being transferred into the Trust? 

26 MS. HUT CHISON : The ' 86 Trust I believe it was 

27 sett l ed in to . 
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when he retired. 

Deloitte in 1996. 

It says until his retirement from 

Okay. And obviously Mr. Ewoniak is still alive? 

He is still alive. He is very competent. And by the 

way, so is Maurice Cullity, despite suggestions from 

Dentons that he was not. 

frailties given his age. 

He is very competent. He has 

It appears from this January 24th, 2020 Affidavit that 

you had a fairly recent conversation with Mr. Ewoniak, 

is that fair? 

Correct. 

Do you recall roughly the time frame? 

It was probably --

I see in paragraph 4 you recently spoke to him? 

Yeah, it would have been probably December and January 

of 2020. 

Okay. 

So before I filed, you know, just before I filed this 

Affidavit. 

And is Mr. Ewoniak --

The discussions with Ron Ewoniak were very fresh, which 

is why I wanted to file this Affidavit. 

Thank you. 

Canada? 

Is Mr. Ewoniak still living in Alberta, in 

He lives in Edmonton. He vacations typically from 

January to March in Australia, and I believe -- wasn't 

that when Australia was burning in January? 
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I believe so. 

Yeah, because I remember making a comment to him about 

going in to the fire. 

distance from that. 

And he said I will be a long 

Okay. And my understanding from reading your Affidavit 

is that Mr. Ewoniak is willing to share information 

about these matters? 

He shared with me. 

Has he indicated if he has maintained any of his own 

records about these matters? 

I did not ask him if he personally had records , but I 

would think that these large professional entities like 

Deloitte, and Davies Ward Phillips & Vineberg and 

others would have retained records which would be 

available and helpful. 

Okay. So we were chatting about your understanding of 

the purpose of the ' 85 Trust? 

Yeah . 

Is there a time frame that you can sort of pinpoint 

about when you became aware of those purposes? 

Well , I talked about one purpose. 

M-hm. 

I didn ' t talk about the other purpose. 

Okay, please continue . 

So the first purpose being prevention of dissipation 

and securing some equity as between people who had left 

and taken out per capita shares and those who had 
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of payables. 

And is it your recollection that Shannon Twin acted as 

sort of an admin assistant to the Trustees, or was she 

more of an executive --

She was an accountant . 

An accountant , okay. 

So she would have been housed in the Sawridge 

administration building . 

Okay . 

And how all of that worked I don 't know . 

would know all of this . 

Mike McKinney 

Okay . And I realize that it is a l ong time ago , but if 

I try to take you back to some of the -- well , I shou l d 

ask this. Between ' 86 , your appointment , and 2003 did 

the 1985 Trustees meet on a regular basis? 

No. 

Did they meet at all? 

Well, they may have met. 

back to --

I am using that for --

Sorry , 2003 . No , let me go 

I'm thinking when things for me became very active was 

1997. 

Okay . 

Walter died October 1 997 . 

And November 1997 is when I started to become active . 

Okay . 

And prior to that I was not . And I believe Bertha was 

appointed in November of 1997 as a Trustee. But I need 
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to look at the tab with the list. 

Tab 18. 

Tab 18. 

So Sawridge 001429 indicates November 21st, 1997. 

That sounds right . 

Okay . 

And she was also installed as a Ch i ef i n around then. 

And the reporting and affairs regarding the management 

of Trust assets was going through that Sawridge Band 

adm i nistration. And I was outside of that . I was not 

a Band employee , I was not -- I didn ' t have any 

employment capacity. 

Okay. 

So I was not in the know , per se . 

Okay. 

Yes . 

And did that change in November 199 7 ? 

Well, it started to change . And my involvement 

grew from there . 

Okay. So in terms of how things were managed, how 

meetings were organized , who attended Trustee meetings 

prior to that November 1997, I take it that you have 

l i mited information? 

Well, 

Okay . 

there were meetings between '97 and 2003. 

Let ' s go before ' 97 , though . Do you have any 

information? 

Again , records would have been in the Sawridge Band 

administration . 

And you don ' t have those records? 
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WHEREAS: 

SAWn IDGE ENTER PR !SES LTD. 

(incorporated under the 1 aws of the Province of Alberta) 

PEMAND ·DEBENTURE ·- $12;000,000;00 

c:===== · 

Ot .I.ht c;.5 ...... ;!. ... .L f 'Vfl!.. • 

A. WALTER P. 1'r/INN (herein called the "Holder") as Trustee for the 
SAWRIDGE INDIAN BAND a band of Indians maintaining a reserve at or near 
the Town of SJ ave Lake ln the Province of Alberta, has advanced to 

~ ?AW~J.OGE ... E.m.~-~-~JSES LTD. formerly known as Scli'lridge Native Enterprises 
Ltd; (herein called the "Company'') the sum (herein called the "Present 
Indebtedness") of TEN MlLLION EIGHT HUNDRED SEVE NTY THOUSAND 

($10,87D,OOO,OO) DOLLARS as .ev idenced by o mies of demand promissory 

notes, which demand promissory no.tes were to be further col laterally 
secured by way of a debenture • 

B. The Company has requested an additional sum of money (herein 
called the "Additional Indebtedness") in the amount of OllE MILLION ONE 
HUNDRED THIRTY TllOUSAND ($1,130,000,00) DOLLARS. 

c. WHEREAS the Holder has agreed to advance the Additional 
Indebtedness only if the Company grants a debenture to the Holder in the 

principal amount of TWELVE MILLION ($12,000,000,00) DOLLARS (herein cal led 
the "Principal Sum"), such debenture to secure the Present Indebtedness 

and to secure the Additional Indebtedness of the Company to the Holder, 

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, the receipt and suft'lclcncy of l'li11ch is 
hereby acknowledged. the Company hereby covenants and agrees with the 
Holder as follows: 

1. (a) The Company acknowledges itself Indebted to and pr~n isos to pay 
to the Ho 1 der on demand, or on such aarl 1 er da tc as the 
indobtcdness hereby secured bec001cs payable in ~ccordance with 

!" .. 

.. ···-·-·····--·--·----------....... -_. 
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the tenns of this debenture or by operation of la11, at his 
office located at the Sawr1dge Indian Reserve, Slave Lake, 

· ~ or at such other address as the Company may receive 
wr I tten not ice of from the Ho 1 der from time to t 1me, the 
Principal Sum together w1th interest thereon or on so much 

thereafter as shall from time to time remain unpaid at the rate 
specified in clause l(b), such interest being payable before and 
after demand, def au 1t and judgment, lnteres t at the rate 
specified shall accrue fr001 and after June I, 1984, being the 
interest adjustment date, and shall be calculated half-yearly 

not in advance on the 1st day of June and on the 1st day of 
December, in each and every year during wh \ch th Is debenture 
remains undischarged by ·the Holder (the first of ~hkh 

calculdtlons and canpounding shal 1 be made on the first of such 
dates ne~t follo1~ing the interest adjustment date); and 

(b) Interest shall accrue at t11e rate per annum equal to Three (3%) 
per cent In excess of the "Pr lme Rate" as herein def! ned. The 
"Prime Rate" means the · prime commercial lending rate published 
and charged by The Bank of Nova Scotia (a chartered bank of 
Canada with corporate head offices In the CHy of Hal !fax, 1n 

the Province of Nova Scotia) on substantial Canadian Dollar 
loans to its prime risk commercial customers. It is understood 
and agreed that the Prime Rate Is a vari ab 1 e rate pub Ii shed and 
charged by Tl1c Bank of /lava Scotia from timo to time and that 1f 

and whenever the Prime Rate 1s val'led by The Bank of Nova Scotia 
the interest rate hereunder sh al I also be varied, so that at all 
times the Interest rate hereunder, computed on the daily minimum 
bill anco, shal I bo the Prime nate than in emct plus Three (3%) 
per annum, The Company by these presents, hereby walves dispute 
of and contest with the Prime Rate, and of tha effective date of 
any change thereto, whether or not the Company shal 1 have 

received not ice 1n respect of any change, lt be1ng prov1ded and 
agreed that Interest nt the Prlme Rate In affect froin time to 
time on the Principal Sum, or on such part thereof as has been 
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from time to time advanced and is then outstanding is computed 
from (and including) the date the Principal Sum or any part 
thereof is advanced . . 

2. The amount of the Principal Sum al ready advanced under and 
secured by this debenture is the Present Indebtedness and the rate of 
interest chargeable thereon is the Prime Rate plus Three (3%) per centum 
per annuni calculated half yearly and not in advance. The amount of 
Principal Sum 1.tiich remains to be advanced under and secured by this 
debenture is the Add1tional Indebtedness and the rate of interest 
chargeable thereon 1s the Prime Rate plus Three (3%) per centum per annum 
calculated half-yearly and not In advance. 

3. As security for the due payment of the Pr 1nci pa 1 Sum and 
interest and all other debts, ,liabl lities and indebtedness of the Company 
to the Holder, whether such indebtedness arises under this debenture or 
not, from time to time owing on the s'ecurlty of these presents and for the 
due performance of the obligations of the Company herein contained: 

(a) The Company hereby mortgages by Wily of a fixed and specific 

mortgage and charge to and in favour of the Holder all . its 

estate and 1nterest fn fee simple in possession of those parcels 
of land (herein cal led the 11Lands") situate 1n the Town of Slave 

Lake, in the Province of Alberta, more particularly described in 
the First Schedule hereto and Including al 1 buildings, 
Improvements, plant, erect ions, fixtures and fixed cqufpment of 
the Company no1i or at any time heroafter placed thereon and any 
and al 1 rlgh,ts, Interests, licenses, franchises and privileges 
appertaining t.llArP.tn nr connected therewith, and any rcpl~ccmcnt 
property subject however to such encumbrances 1 11 ens and 

interests as are descrfbed fn the first schedule hereto as 
11 Perml ttad Encumbrances"; 

I 
I 
J 
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(h) The Co111pany hereby mortgages by way of a fixed and specific 
mortgage and charge to and in favour of the Holder its leasehold 
estate In possession and interest In that parcel of land (herein 
called the "Leased Lands") situate in the Town of Jasper, in the 
Province of Alberta, more particularly described in the Second 
Schedule hereto, and Including all buildings, improvements, 
plant, erections, fixtures and fixed equ ipment of the Company 
now or at any time hereafter placed thereon and any and all 
rights, interests licenses, franchises and prlv11eges 
appertaining thereto or connected there11ith 1 and any replacement 
property subject however to such encumbrances, I fens and 
interests as are described in the second schedule hereto as 
"Permi tied Encu u1brances"; and 

(c) The Corporation he!'~by grants, ass1gns, transfers sets over, 
mortgages, pledges, charges, confi rms and encumbe1·s, as and by 
way of a floating charge, 'to and in favour of the Holder, all 
its undertaking and all its property nod assets, real and 
personal, movable and immovable, of 11!1atsoever nature and 
lvhcresoever situate, both present and future, including, without 

. In any way limiting the generality of the foregoing, its present 
and future goodwfll, trademarks, Inventions, processes, patents 
and patent rights, franchises, benefits, 1mmunltfos, materials, 
supplies, inventories, furniture, equipment, revenues, inc<Xlles, 
contracts, leases, licences, credits, book debts, accounts 
receivable, negotiable and non-negotiable instruments, 
judgments, choses In act ions, stocks 1 shares, securities, 
including without lh1iting the generality of the foregoing 1ts 
uncalled capital und all otlwr pruµerly and things of value 
tangible or intangible, legal or equitable, including without 
11m1tat1on all 1nterests of the Company under any conditional 
sales, mortgage or lom agreements subject however to such 
encumbrances, lions and Interests as are described in the th1rd 
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schedule hereto as "Permitted Encumbrances": Provided that the 
floating charge created in this clause 3(c) shall not in any way 
hinder or prevent ' the Company (until the security hereby 
constituted shall have becooie enforceable) from leas ing, 
mortgaging, pledging, sell Ing, al fenating, assigning, giving 
security lo t ts bankers under The Bank Act or otherwise 
charging, disposing of or dealing 11fth that portion of the 
Mortgaged Property that ls subject to the floating charge in the 
ordinary course of 1ts business and for the purpose of carrying 
on the same and 1~fthout 11m1tat1on shal 1 not hinder or prevent 
the Company from borrowing from bankers or others upon the 
security of the Company's accounts or b111s receivable or 
mercantile documents or any other property, such sums of rooney 
as the Company may from time to time deem necessary 1n the 
ordinary course of the Company1 s business and for the purpose of 
carrying on the same. 

( d) rt 1 s acknov1l edged that the property charged by c 1 auses 3( a), 
3(b), and 3(c) 1 s herein col lect1vely called the "Mortgaged 
Property", 

4. Neither the execution nor registration nor acceptance of tills 
debenture, · nor the advance of part of the mnies secured hereby shall bind 
the Holder to advance the entire sum or any ut\idvanced portion thereof, 
but nevertheless this debenture and the mortgage and charge hereby created 
shal 1 t~ke effect fortlwl1th upon the execution hereM 1 whether .the 111onies 
hereby secured shal 1 be advanced before, after or upon the date of 
execution of these presents, and 1f the Principal Sum or any part thereof 
shall not be advanced at the date hereof, the Holder may advance the same 
1 n one or more sums to the Company or to 1 ts order ~t any future date or 
dates, and the amounts of such advances when so made shal 1 be secul'ed 
lrnreby and be repayable with interest as herein prov1ded, 

5, This Debenture 1s issued subject to and with the benefit of tha 
cond1t1ons and schedules hereto annexed which ~re rtcemed to be part of 
1t, 
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In wl tness whereof the Company has executed th1 s debenture by 
the hands of its duly authorized officers In that behalf and under its 
corporate seal this _J,L day of Janua1',Y , 1985. 

SAWRJOGE £NTERPRI SES LTD, 

(corporate sea 1) ''" Je:e~ . Sec tary 

..,. 

:: 
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CONDITJONS Of DEBENTURE 

THE FOLLOW ING ARE THE CDNDITI ONS REFERRED TO IN THE 

DEBENTURE DATED JANUARY 21, 1985 AND TO WHICH TllESE 
CONDITIONS ARE ATTACHED, 

THE COMPANY HEREBY COVENANTS AND AGREES WITH THE HOLDER THAT: 

1. Th1s debenture ls a single debenture securing the Principal Sum 
of TWELVE MILLION ($12,000,000.00) DOLLARS, 1nterest and all other sums 
made payable by th1s debenture and ls a charge upon the Mortgaged Property 
and the Company ls not at liberty to create any mortgage or charge ln 
priority to or .pari passu 1dlh th1s debenture, save as speclfl cally 
provided herein. 

2. The Company la1vfu11y owns and is lawfully in possess1on of the 
Mortgaged Property; that it has a good right and lawful author ity to 
grant, convey, assign, transfer, hypothecate, mortgage, pledge and/or 
charge the Mortgaged Property as herein provided; that the Mortgaged 
Property ls free and clear of any deed of trust, mortgage, lien or similar 
charge or encumbrance except such as are kno1m to and perm! tted by the 
Holder and as set out in Schedules 1, 2 and 3 and called the "Permitted 
Encumbrances"; that on default the Holder shall have quiet possession of 
the Mortgaged Property, free from all enc1.1obrances save as herein 
provided; and that It wil I warrant and defend the t1t le of the Mortgaged 
Property and every part thereof, whether now owned or hereafter acquired 
by the Company, against the cla ims and demands of all persons 1vh001 soever . 

3. Tills debenture Is glven as additional and co llateral security to 
and not in substitution for a series of 13 promissory notes (the "Notes") 
given by the Company payable to Holder and dated July 31

1 
1973, July 31, 

1974, July 31, 1976, July 31, 1976, July 31, 1977 1 llovember 30, 1977, July 
31, 1978, December 31, 1978, December 31, 1979, Doccmber 31, 1980, 
December 31, 1981, Docember 31, 1982, December 31, 1983 and any rencwa ls, 
rep\ acemcnts or substitutions thereof, Pa)111cnts made under the Notes 
shall bo credited against p~)111cnts due hereundor, and vice vorsa, and 
notwithstanding nnythlng contained 1n the Notes or ln any renewals, 
replacements or subst1tntlon$ thoroof, if the 1Vholc of tho Principal ·Sum 

·. 

. ". 
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hereby secured shall forthwith be due and payable upon any default or 
breach by the Company of any covenant, agreement or provision of this 
debenture. the whole of the Principal Sum and interest owfng under the 
Notes or any renewals, rep 1 acements or sub st 1tut fans thereof shall 
1 fkewise and forthwith shall be due and payable. 

4. The Company acknowledges that any monies advanced prior to the 
execution of thfs debenture 1vere advanced on the condition that this 
debenture be granted to the Holder as security for such advance. 

5, The Company wil 1 duly and punctually pay or cause to be paid to 
the Holder the Princ1pal Sum together with Interest accrued thereon, and 
In the case of default, cooipound interest, and any other monfes due or 
payable under the debenture at the date and places and in the manner 
mentioned herein. 

6, The Company will mainta1n 1ts corporate existence, d1119ently 
preserve all 1ts rights, powers, privileges, fr an chi ses and good w111; 
carry on and conduct its business in a proper and efficient manner so as 
to preserve and protect the Mortgaged Property and the earn lngs, 1ncome, 
rents, issues and profits thereof; duly observe, nnd perform all va11d 
requirements of any governmental or municipal authority relative to the 
Mortg~ged Property or any part thereof nnd al 1 covenants, ter111s and 
conditions upon or under whlch the Mortgaged Property is held; and 
exercise any r1ghts of renewal or extensions of any lease, lfcense, 
concession, franch1se or other right, whenever, in the opinion of the 
Co~pany, it 1s advantageous to the Company to do so. 

7, Tho Company wll I punctually pay and discharge every obligation 
I awfully incurred by it or Imposed upon it or the Mortgaged Property or 
any part thereof, by v1rtue of any law, rcgulat1on, order, d1rectlon or 
requirement of any competent author1ty or ~ny contract, agreement, lease, 
l1cense, concession, franchise or otherwise, the failure to pay or 
discharge which might result in any lien or d1arga against the Mortgaged 

\ 
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Property or any part thereof and w1l l exhibit to the Holder hl1en requl red 
a certificate of the Company's aud1tor or other ev1dence establishing such 
payment: provided that the Company may, upon furnishing such security, If 
any, as the Holder may require, refrain from paying and d1scharglng any 
such obligation so long as it shall in good faith contest its liab11ity 
therefor. 

B. The Company does hereby indemnify and save harmless the Holder 
from all 11 ability and damages of whatsoever nature 1<Mch rnay be incurred 
or caused in connection with the use and operat1on of the Mortgaged 
Property or any part thereof. 

9. The Company will fully and effectually maintain and keep 
maintained the security herein created os a va11d and effect1ve security 
at all times and it wlll not, save as hereln permitted, permit or suffer 
the registration of any lien, privilege or charge of workmen, builders, 
contractors, architects or suppllers' of materials upon or in respect of 
the Mortgaged Property or any part thereof ""11ch 1muld rank prior to or 
pari passu with this debenture: provided that the registration of such 
1 ien 1 pr1v1lege or charge shall not be· deemed to be ·a breach of this 
covenant . if the Company shall deslre to contest the same and shal 1 give 
security to the sat1sfaction of the Holder for the due payment or 
discharge of the amount claimed 1n respect thereof in case It shall be 
held to be a val fd l len, pr Iv liege or charge, 

10, The Company will not, without prior wrl tten consent of the 
Ho Ider permit any of I ts 1 es sees to pay to the Company or to any party 
whomsoever other than the Holder, in advance of the time specified In any 
lA~sP. (or rAnewal thereof) of space or premises in the bu1ld1ng situate on 
the Lands or Lensed Lands the rentals payable thereunder or permit any 
such lmee to surrender any lease of such space or pre11lsos 1 or other1~fse 
terminate the term granted by such lease or other renewal thereof 1 or 
mater I olly alter or ~nend or agree to alter or amend any of the provisions 
of such loaso or any renewal thoreof. 

~ 

I 
! 

' 
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ll. The last day of any term of years or any extended term as the 
case may be reserved by any lease, verbal or written, or any agreement 
thorefor, now held or hereafter .acquired by the Company is excepted out of 
the Mortgaged Property but the Company shal 1 stand possessed of any such 
reversion upon trust to assign and dispose thereof as the Holder may 
direct. 

12. (a) The Company will keep proper books of account and make therein 
true and faithful entries of al 1 dealings and transact tons in 
relation to Its business, permit the Holder by Its agents, 
audltors and accountants to examine the books of account, 

records, reports and other papers of the Company or to conduct 
an audit of its books and accounts by a qua11fied accountant 
selected by the Holder and for such purposes the Company shall 
make available to ~uch persons all books of record and all 
vouchers, books, papers and documents lltlich may relate to the 
Ccxnpany' s business, ~ho inay make copies thereof and take 
extracts therefrom. 

(b) The Company w11 l during the continuance of this Debenture and 

until the same has been discharged by the Holder furnish to the 
Holder annually 111thln ninety (90) days of the end of each of 
the Ccxnpany's fiscal years, balance sheets and statements 
covering the operations of the Company upon the Lands and the 
Leased Lands for the preceding year, and in each case with 
supporting schedules, deta11ed profit and loss accounts and 

explanations of al I Items of an unusual nature, all audited by a 
cha rtered accountant or firm of chartered accountants 

sitisfactory t.o thA Holrler: nnrl ns well copies of every audited 
financial statement or statements which may be prepared from 
time to time of the Company's affa f rsi 

(c) The officers or authorized agents of the Holder shall have the 
right to v1sft and Inspect the Mortgaged Property or any part 
thereof and discuss the affairs, finances and accounts of tho 

1 

I 

. ' 
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Company with the officers of the Company, all upon reasonDble 
notice, at reasonable times and as often as the Holder may 
reasonably require. . 

13. The Company will pay llilen and as the same fal 1 due all tam, 
rates, assessments, liens, charges, encumbrances or claims ~hich are or 

may be or become charges or claims against . the Mortgaged Property, or 
which may be validly levied, assessed or imposed upon it or upon the 
Mortgaged Property: provided that in respect of municipal taxes against 
the Mortgaged Property or any part thereof upon default of payment by the 
Company of taxes as aforesaid, then the Holder may pay such taxes and also 
any liens, charges and encumbrances 11hich may be charged against the 
Mortgaged Property, but sha 11 not be ob 1f gated so to do 1 and a 11 monies 
expended by the Holder for any such purposes shall be added to the 

Principal Sum hereby secured .and be repaid by the Company to the llolder 
forthwith and Interest on the unpaid amount shall be at the Prime Rate 
plus Three (3%) per centum per annum 'until such sum together with interest 
ls paid calculated froot the date of payment by the Holder, 

14, All erections, buildings, fences, machinery, plant and improve· 
ments, fixed or otherwfse, now or hereafter put upon the Lands and Leased 
Lands including, but without limit ing the generality of the foregoing, all 
furnaces, boilers, plumbing, heating and aircondltioning equipment, 
elevators, light fixtures, stonn ~1indows 1 storm doors and screens and all 
appmtus and equipment oppurtenant thereto, are and will, ln addition to 
any other fixtures thereon, bec001e fixtures and form part of the realty 
and of the security of this debenture, and the Co~ pany wil 1 not permit any 
act of waste thereon, 

15, The Company wil I repair and keep in good order and condi tio n all 
buildings, erections, machinery and other plant and equipment and 
appurtenances thereto, the use of 1111 lch 1s necessary or advantageous 1n 
connect1on with tts business, up to a modern standard of usage and 
ma1nta 1 n the same cons i steut with the best pr act ice of other co]pan i es 
working similar undertaklngs; renew and replace al 1 and any of the same 

, . . 
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which may be worn, dilapfdated, unserviceable, obsolete, inconvenient or 
destroyed, or may otherwise require renewal or replacement and at al I 
reasonable times allow the Holder or lts representatives access to its 
premises in order to view the state and cond itfon the same are 1n, and in 
the event of any loss or dan1a9e thereto or destruction thereof the Holder 
may give notice to the Company to repair, rebuild, replace or reinstate 
within a time to be determined by the Holder . to be stated in such notice 
and upon the Company falling to so repair, rebuild, replace or reinstate 
within such time such failure shall constitute a breach of covenant 
hereunder. 

16, The Company will not remove or destroy the buildings or any 
mach1nery, fixtures or Improvements thereon now or hereafter in, upon or 
under the buildings or the Lands and Leased Lands, unless the same be worn 
out or rendered unfit for use or unless such removal is with a vie11 to 
immediately replace the same by other p1·operty of greater or of at least 
equal value, unless 1t shall appear by a cert1f1cate of the Company 
delivered to the Holder and 'the Holder concurs, that such property 1s no 
longer useful in the conduct of the Company's bus lness, and need not be 
replaced • 

17. lf the Company shall fa 11 to perfonn any covenant on 1ts part 
herein contained the Holder may In Its discret1on, but shal 1 not be 
obligated to perform any of the said covenants capable of being perfo1med 
by 1t, and if any such covenant requ1 res the payment or expand i ture of 
money it may make such pa}1llents or expenditures and all sums so expended 
or advanced sha 11 be at once repayab 1 e by the Company Dnd sha 11 bear 
interest calculated from the date such sums are expended by the Holder at 
the Pr1me Rate plus Thl'P.P. (3%) per annum until paid end shal 1 be ~ccurcd 

hereby as Is the Principal Sum, but no perfo1mance or paytnent shal 1 be 
deemed to relieve the Company frcm any default hereunder, 

18. All proper 1nspoctors 1
1 lawyers, valuators' and surveyors' fees 

and expenses for examining the lfortgagcd Property and the title thereto 
and for making or ma1nta1nlng thls debenture and charge upon the Mortgaged 
Pi•operty, together wlth all sums hhkh tho lloldor 111ay and does from time 
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to time advance, expend or incur hereunder for principal, insurance 
premiums, taxes, rates or in or towards pa.)11lent of prior liens, charges, 
encumbrances or claims charged· or to be charged against the I.ands, Leased 
Lands or other Mortgaged Property, or In repairing, rep laci ng or 
reinstating the Mortgaged Property as hereinbefore provided, or in 
inspect1ng, leasing, managing or lmproving the Mortgaged Property or 1n 
exercisinR or enforcing or attempting to enforce or in pursuance of any 
right, po~1er, remedy or purpose hereunder including legal costs as between 
solicitor and his o~m client relative thereto are to be secured hereby and 
shall be a charge upon the Mortgaged Property together with Interest at 
the Prima Rate plus three (3%) per annum, and al 1 such mo nies shall be 
repayable to the Holder on demand, 

19, {a) The Company. shall at tts sole expense forthwith insure and 
during the continuance of this security keep insured against 
loss or damage by fire, )ightntng, explos ion, smoke, tornado, 
cyclone, boiler or such other risks or perils as the Holder may 
deem expedient or require, with extended coverage and 
rep 1 acement cost endorsements, each and every bu1ld1 ng now or 
hereafter erected or placed on the Lands and Leased Lands ·(and 
if the property of the Company, the said contents) to their full 
insurable value, excludi ng In the case of buildings the cost of 
excavat Ions and foundations, and In any event to the extent of 
at least the full insurable value thereof with an insurance 
COlllpany or compan !es to be approved by the Holder and subject 
thereto the Company shall duly maintain the amount of insurance 

thereon thQt may be required by any co-insurance clause ln any 
such pol Icy, 

(b) The Company shall at its sole expense forthwith insure and 
during the continuance of this security shall maintain publfc 
11abillty fnsurance policies 1n an amount which shall ba 
satisfactory to the Holder and shall name tho Holder as an 
insured under those pol lcies, 

~ 
I 
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20. In the event of loss, the Holder at its option and as 1t In its 
sole discretion may deem appropriate, may apply the insurance proceeds 
regressively against the balance outstanding against the Company or 
release said proceeds to the Company to repair, replace or rebuild, or 
apply the said proceeds or any part thereof to repair , replace or rebuild 
or partly one and partly the others, and that nothing done under this 
paragraph shall operate as payment or novation or 1n any way affect the 
security hereof or any other security for the amount hereby secured. 

21. lhe Company shall also insure and keep insured against loss or 
damage by the same perils in 1 i ke manner in like c001pani es or by other 
approved insurers and to their full insurable value al I of its property 
which is of a character usually insured by same or similar locations and 
carrying on a business s 1mi 1 ar to that of the Co111pany. 

22, The Company shal 1 promptly pay as they become due all premiums 
and all other sums payable for maintaining all such 1nsurance and w111 not 
do or suffer anything whereby such insurance may be vitiated, The loss 
under such pol1cy or policies of insurance shall, ~here appropriate, be 
made payable to the Holder as its Interest may appear and subject to a 
standard . mortgage clause, The Company will forthwith deliver to the 
Holder such policy or policies of insurance or certified copies thGreof 
and the receipts proving payment of the premiums thereto appertaining. 
Each policy may be kept by the Holder dur1ng the currency of this 
debenture and ·unt 11 the debentul'e Is discharged by the Ho 1 der and should 

an insurer at any time cease to have the approval of the Holder the 
Company wll 1 forthwith effect such new insurance as the Holder may desire. 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained, 1f the Company 
dnAi nnt. kP.ep t.he Mortoaoerl Property insured as aforccald, or pay the sa 1d 
premiums, or dallvcr such receipts and produce to the Holder at least 
th1rt,y (30) days before the tennlnatlon of the Insurance then existing 
proof of renewal thereof, then the Holder wi 11 be ent 1 tl ed, but not 
obllgated, to Insure the Mortgaged Property or any part of them, and all 
monies expended by it shall be repaid by the Company on demand, and In the 
meantime the amount of such paYffients shall be added lo the Principal Sum 
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hereby secured and shall bear Interest at the Prime Rate plus three (3%) 
per cent per annum from the t1me of such payment and al 1 such payments 
shall become a part of the Principal Sum secured by th is Debenture and 
shall be a charge upon the Mortgaged Property . All roonies received by 
vfrtue of any such policy or policies may at the option of the Holder 
either be forthwith applied In or to1iards the payment of the Principal 
Sum. And In case of surplus then It may be paid over in 11hole or In part 
to the Company. On the happening of any loss or damage to Mortgaged 
Property the Company shal 1 forthwith notify the insurer and the Holder and 
and the Company at 1ts expense shall cooplete all the necessary proofs of 
loss and do all necessary acts to enable the Holder to obtain payment of 
the insurance monies. 

23, The Holder may release any part or parts of the Mortgaged 
Property at its discretion, .either with or without any consideration 
therefor, without being accountable for the value thereof, or any monies 
except those actual ly received by it, and ~11thout releasing thereby any 
other part of the Mortgaged Property or any other securities and without 
releasing the Company from any other covenants herein expressed or 
Imp! ied. 

24. That the Company shan when so directed by the Holder execute, 
acknowledge, Issue and deliver unto the Holder by the proper officers of 

the Company, deeds or indentures supplemental hereto i\!lich thereafter 
sha 11 form part hereof foi· any one or more of the fo 11 owl ng purposes: 

(a) correcting or amplifying the descrfptlon of any property 
specifically mortgaged, pledged or charged or intended so to 
be: 

(b) mak1ng any correct ions or changes as Counsel adv I ses are 
required fo r the purpose of curing or correcting any amblgulty 
or defective or inconsfstent provisions or clerical ootfss1on or 
mistake or manifest error contained here1n or in any doed or 
I ndenturo supp 1 omental or ancl l 1 ary hereto i and 

·----·-/l.o'f-'.~·-' _________________________________ 1111:1 ___ _ 
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(c) executing any other documents or performing any other acts 
wh1ch are reasonably required to better secure the Holder under 
the debenture. 

C, IT JS AGREED BETWEEN THE PART JES HERETO THAT: 

25, The whole of the Principal Sum and interest and other mon1es 
owing under the debenture hereby secured, shall at the opt lon of the 
llolder, inmediately become due and payable wlthout demand and the security 
hereby constituted shall become enforceable: 

(a) if the Company makes default in the payment of the Principal 
Sum, · interest or other mon ies hereby secured, or in the 
observance or performance of any covenant, condit1on or proviso 
binding upon the Company by virtue of these presents or makes 
default under any of the, covenants contained tn any security 
collateral, supplemental or separate to th ls debenture, whether 
or no.t the Company ts In default hereunder; 

(b) ff an order is made or an effective resolution passed for the 
w f nding up of the Company; 

(c) 1f the Company becomes Insolvent or makes an authorlzed 
assignment or commits an act of bankruptcy or is subject to the 
provisions of the Bankruptcy Act or any successor or replacement 
legislation or any other bankruptcy or insolvency legisl ation; 

(d) If any process of execut Ion 1s enforced or levied upon the 
Mortgaged P1•ope1•ty or any µdrL thereof and remains unsat lsfied 
for a period of five (5) days as to personal proparty and three 
(3) 1ieeks as to real property, provided that such process of 

execution is not in good fa 1th d1 sputed by the Company and In 
that event prov tded furtho1· that nonpa.Yment shall not, in the 
sole dfscret1on of the Holder, Jeopardize or fmpa1r 1ts 
1ntercsts, 110d that further the Company shal 1 In that event also 
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give additional security hhich in th~ discretion of the Holder 
shal 1 or may be sufficient to pay fn full the amount claimed 
under any such execut.ion fn the event that it shal 1 be held to 
be valid; 

( e} if a rece fver of the· Company's undertaking or any part thereof 
sha 11 be appo I nted or if the security constituted by any 
mortgage, bond, trust deed or other debenture or debentures of 
the Company heretofore or hereafter issued shall become 
enforceable pursuant to the terms and conditions therein 
contained; 

( f) ff the Co111pa11y shall except as may be specifically allowed 
herein sell or dispose of or In any way part with possessfon of 
the Mortgaged Prope~ty, or any substantial portion thereof or 

make a bulk sale of its assets, or remove or suffer the removal · 
of the furnishings, chattel's and equipment forming a part of the 
Mortgaged Property or any part thereof fr001 the Lands or Leased 
Lands; 

(g) . 1f a cha1·ge 1 or encumbrance created or issued by the Conpany 
having the nature of a floating or fi xed charge upon the 
Mortgaged Property sha 11 become enforceab 1 e; 

(h) If the Company ceases or threatens to cease to carry on its 
bus1ness1 

( 1) lf the Company sh al I without the consent or the l!o 1 der make or 
attempt to m~kP. ~ny altmt1ons 1n the provisions of 1ts Dy-Laws 
or Art1cles of Incorporation 'nll1ch m19ht In the sole discret1on 
of the Ho 1 der de tr fmenta lly affect f ts secur1ty1 

(j) ff the Company shall, without the permission of the Holder, 
create or propose or attempt to create, any charge or mortgage 
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r~nking or llhich may be made to rank pari passu with or in 
pl'ior1ty to the security hereby constituted; 

(k) If the Company is 1n default In respect of any indebtedness to 
any creditor of the Company; and 

(1) in any circumstance In 1rnich the Holder, in hfs sole discret ion, 
deems ft necessary to protect hfs security. 

25, Al 1 pa.)1Tlents made by the CClllpany to the Ho 1 der sh a 11 be app 1 i ed 
to interest then outs tend in9 1 and the remainder, if any, aga Inst the 
pr I ncipal, 

27, This debenture shall be assignable by the Holder 111thout notice 
to the Company, Further the, Holder may negotiate the debenture 11ithout 
notice to the Company at any time du;lng the currency of the debenture and 
unt11 the same has been discharged by the Holder, 

28. The Company shall Immediately, upon request by the Holder, 
pledge the debenture to the !!older. 

29, Upon the happening of any event upon 11h lch the security hereby 
constituted become s enforceable as in clause 25 he1·eof 1 and In addition to 
all other rights and remed1es to which the !folder Is ent1tled either at 
law or equ1ty the Holder may, without not Ice to the Company 1 enter upon 
and take possession of th& Mortgaged Property or any part thereof, either 
by Itself or its agents and may, In it s discral1on, whether in or out of 
possession, and either before or after making any such entry, lease or 
sell, call in, collect Ol' conYel'~ ln~o money the same or any part thereof 
for s11ch terms, periods and at such rents as the Holder shal I think 
proper, Any such sale or conveyance of al 1 or any part of the Mortgaged 
Property may be either a sale en bloc or in such parcols and either by 
public auction or by private contract and tilth or 1i!thout any special 
cond1t1ons as to upset prke, reserve bid, tltle or evidence of title or 
othar matter as from tiine to time the Holder In 1ts discretion thinks fit, 
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with power to vary or rescind any such contract of sale or buy 1n at any 
such auct1on and resell wfth or without being answerable for any loss. 
The Holder may at any sale of the Mortgaged Property or any part thereof, 
sell for a purchase consideration payable by installments either with or 
wt thout taking security for the second and subsequent installments and may 

make and deliver to the purchaser good and sufficient trnsfers
1 

assurances 1 and conveyances of such Mortgaged Property and give receipts 

for the purchase money, and any such sale shal 1 be a perpetual bar both at 
law and in equity against the Company and all others claiming the 
Mortgaged Property or any part thereof by1 from or under the Company. The 
Holder may becone purchaser at any sale of the Mortgaged Property made 
pursuant to Judicial proceedings, Nothing hereto contained shall curtail 
or limit the remedies of the Holder as permitted by any law or statute to 
a mortgagee or creditor, 

30. After the security hereby constituted shal 1 have become enforce­
able and the Holder shall have determined to enforce the same, ·the Holder 
may 11i thout not ice to the Cooipany, by writing appoint a rece tver or 
receivers of the Mortgaged Property or any part thereof and may remove any 
receiver so appointed and appoint another in his stead and the follo1dng 
provisions shall take effect: 

(a) such appointment may be made at any time either before or after 

the Holder shall have entered into or taken possession of the 
Mortgaged Premt ses or any part thereof: 

(h) any such receiver may be ves tad wl th any of tha powers 11nd 
discretions of the Holder: 

(c) such receiver may carry on the business of the Company or any 
part thereof: 

(d) such receiver shall have, possess and may exercise all powers 
vested or herein conferred upon the Holder including its power 
of sate of the security or part or parts thereof; 
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(e} such receiver may, with the consent of the Holder borrow money 
for the purpose of carrying on the business of the Ccxnpany, or 
the maintenance of the Mortgaged Premises or any part of parts 
thereof, or for other purposes approved by the Holder and any 
amount so borrowed together with Interest thereon shal 1 form a 
charge upon the Mortgaged Property in priority to the security 
of th Is debenture; 

( f} the Holder may from time to t1me fix the remuneration of every 
such receiver and direct the paJ'lllent thereof out of the 
11ortgaged Property or the proceeds thereof; and 

( g I every such receiver sha 11 1 so far as concerns res pons lb i 1 i ty for 
his acts, be deemed to be the agent of the Company. 

The term "receiver" as used in this debenture includes a 
receiver Md manager, 

31, In case the amount realized under any sale of the Mortgaged 
Property sh al I be 1nsuff1c1ent to pay the 11hole of the pr loci pal, 
interest, costs, charges and expenses then due, the COOlpany shall and will 
forth1ilth pay or cause to be paid unto the Holder any such deficiency • 

32, For better secur1ng the punctual payment of the Principal Sum 
and interest, and other ~ounts hereby secured the Company h~reby attorns 
and becomes tenant to the Hot der in regard to the Lands at a rental 
equivalent to the amounts hereby secured, and If the ~hole of the balance 
of the monlcs hereby secured shall become lnmedtately due and payable and 
the security hereby constituted shal 1 bRr.('/J)P. enforr.eahle as hcrc1nboforo 
provided then such rental shall, if not already payable, be payable 
tmmed1ately thereafter. The legal relationship of landlord and tenanl is 
hRreby constituted between the Holder and the Company, The Holder may a~ 
any t1me ~ft er def au It hereunder en_ter upon the Lands and determine the 
tenancy hereby cr~ated without g1ving the Company any not1ce to qu1t, 
Neither this clause or anything by virtue thereof or ony acts of the 
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rece1ver shall render the Holder a mortgagee 1n possession or ·accountable 
for any monies except those actually received. 

33, The taking of a judgment or judgments under any of the covenants 
hereunder or pursuant to any col lateral, addi t1onal or separate security 
w111 not operate as a merger of the sa id covenants or affect the Holder's 
right to interest at the rate and upon the terms aforesaid, and cooipound 
interest in the manner afo resa id, and the exercise or Attempted exercise 
of one or more of the Holder 1 s rights or remedies wi 11 not operate as a 
11aiver of the remainder thereof and any and al 1 of the said rights or 
remedies may be exerci sed successively or concurrently. 

34. The Company hereby covenants and agrees with the Holder that it 
w1 11 at all times do, execute, acknowledge and de! Iver or cause to be 
done, executed, acknowledged and delivered al 1 and every such further 
acts, deeds, mortgages, transfers and assurances in law as the Holder 
hereof shall reasonably require fo"r the better assuring,. mortgaging, 
assigning, and confirming unto the Holder the Mortgaged Property hereby 
mortgaged and charged or intended so to be or vA1ich the Cooipany may here­
after become bound to mortgage and charge in favour of the liolder and for 
the better accomplishing of the intentions of this debenture. 

35. I~ the event of default the Company hereby irrevocably ap points 
the Holder to be the attorney of the Company in the name and on behalf of 
the Company lo execute and do any and al I deeds, transfers, conveyances, 
assignments, assurances and things 11hich the Company ought to execute and 
do under the covenants and provisions herein contained, and generally to 
use the name of the Company 1n the ex ere i se of any or all of the powers 
hereby conferred on the lloldar, 

36, No remedy herein or in any collateral, additional or separate 
security conferred upon or reserved to the Bolder is intended to be 
exclusive of any other remedy, but each and every such remedy shall be 
cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder 
or under any security collaleral hereto or now oxlsting or hereafter to 
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exist by law or by statute, and the Holder may proceed to realize upon 
such secur1ty ho1~soever created and to enforce the rights of the llolder 
thereunder by any one or more of such remedies or any coobination of them 
and in such order as it may deem exped I ent and sha 11 not re 1 ease or effect 
any other security held by the Holder for the payment of the Pr1ncfpal 
Sum, interest and other sums to be pafd hereunder , 

37, Except as otherwise herein provided, the monies arising frooi any 
sale or other real tzation of the Mio le or any part of the Mortgaged 
Prope rty after default, htlether under any sale by the Holder or by 
judicial process or otherwise shall be appl ted: 

(a) firstly, in payment of all sums extended or advanced by the 
Ho Ider and Interest thereon as in this debenture prov 1ded 
including the remuneration, costs and expenses Of any receiver, 
the cos ts and expenses of the sa 1 e and the proceedings 
Incidental thereto and all encumbrances, taxes, dues, rates, 
assessments and other charges on the Mortgaged Property (except 
those subject to \\h1ch such sale shal 1 have been madeL ranking 
1n priority to this debenture and the interest thereon: 

(b) secondly, in payment of the accrued and unpaid Interest and 
interest on overdue interest; 

(c) thirdly, in payment of the Principal Sum pursuant to this 
deben ture; and 

( d) fourth 1 y, as to the surp 1 us ( 1 f any) of such monies in payment 
tot.he Company or its assigns. 

38, llo person de a 11 ng with the Ho 1 der or the rece iver or the ir 
agents, shall be under any obligation to inquire 11hether the security 
hereby constituted has becane onforceab le or llhether the powers 1..tiich the 
Holder or receiver 1s purporting to exercise have become exercisable, or 
whether Dny money remains due upon the security of th1s debenture, or as 
to the ncccssHy or expediency of the stipulations and conditions subject 
to which any sale shall be made or otherwise as to lhe propriety or 
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regu 1 ari ty of any sa 1 e or of any other dea 1 ing by lhe Company or rece 1ver 
with the Mortgaged Property. 

39, Every request, notice, account, bill or other ccxnmun1catlon 
provided for 1n this debenture or ar ls1ng in connection lhere1~ith shall be 
1 n writing and shal 1 be mailed or del 1vered to such part1es addressed as 
follows: 

The Company: Sawridge Enterprises Ltd. 
P.O. Box 326 
Slave Lake, Alberta 

The Holder: Sawrldge lndl an Band 
Smidge Indian Reserve 
Slave Lake, Alberta 

Any party may change fts mailing and/or del1very address or 
addres ses by g1ving to the o'thcr party written not1ce to that effect. 
Every not1ce, request, account or other commun1catfon malled at any Post 
Office 1n Canada in prepaid reg1stered post 1n Dn envelope addressed to 
lhe party or parties to whom the same is directed, shall be deemed to have 
been g1ven to and received by the addressee on the second bus lness day 
following ma11 ing as aforesa1d. 

40. No action or 1naction on the part of the Holder shall constitute 
a waiver of any default under the debenture by the Company unless the 
holder notifies the Cooipany 1n 1~r1tfng that the Holder Is waiving that 
part fcul ar default. 

41. Time shall be of the essence, 

42, lf any obllgat1on 1 covenant or agreement 1n th1s debenture or 
the arpl 1catlon thereof to any person or circumstance shal 1, to any 
extent, be lnva11d or unenforceable, the remainder of this debenture or 
the application of such covenant, ohligatfon and agreement to persons or 
circumstances other than those as to 1 ·~1fch 1t is held 1nva11d or 
unenforceable, shall not ha affected ~hereby and each covenant, oblfgat1on 
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and agreement shall be separately va11d nod enforceable to the fullest 
ex tent perm it t ed by 1 aw, 

43, This debenture shall be construed in accordance with and shall 
be governed by the laws of the Province of Alberta, 

44. Words importing the singular number only shall include the 

plural and vice versa and 11ords 1mportlng the masculine gender shal I 
include the feminine and neuter genders and words importing persons shal 1 
include companies and trusts as the context may require, 

45, This debenture shall enure to the benefit of the Holder and its 

successors and assigns and shall be binding upon the Company, and its 
successors and ass I gns. 

lN WITNESS WHEREOF the C~mpany has executed these Condit ions 
under Its corporate seal duly attested by the hands of Its proper officers 
1n that behalf, this J!... day of January , A.D, 1986, 

SAHRIOGE ENTERPRISES LTD. 

Per: ---bl,ltA,,M.ceu;...f....,~..,..-e,..c::..<.oJ __ 

!//~--
(corporate sea 1) 

Per: 
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29/1-97182/5. 24-270984jb 

FIRSTLY: 

/ 

FIRST SCHEDULE 

LOT ONE (1) I ,,.,,, 
CONTAINING ONE AND TWELVE HUNDREDTHS (1.12) ACRES 
MORE OR LESS 
HI RLOCK FIVE-A (5-A) (/" 
ON PLAN 3225 T.R, / 
EXCEPT! NG THEREOUT: 

ACRES 
0.01 

PLAN 
SUBDIVISIOll 

(SLAVE LAKE • SE 36-72-6-5) · 

EXCEPTING THEREOUT ALL Mii/ES AllD Ml~S. 
Permitted Encumbrances: 

NUMBER 
752 0877 

l. Mortgage in favour of Her Majesty the Queen 1)1 Rlgh~J>f Canada 
registered as lnstrunient 13673 SS , b 15(),l\.01tY{ 

2. Caveat l'egfstered 1n favour' of the Soclet~nerale (Canada) and 
registered as 1nstrument 1832202427, V 

SECONDLY: LOT nlO ( 2) ' 
CONTAINING fOUR AND NINETY SIX HUtiDREDTHS (4,96) A,CRtS 

. IN BLOCK FIVE-A (S·A) 
MORE OR LESS ' // 

· ON PLAN 3225 T. R, 
j (SLAVE LAKE - SE 36-72-6·5) 

EXCEPTING THEREOUT ALL MINES AND MINERALS. 

Permitted Encumbrances: 

1. Mortgaga in favour of Her Majesty the Queen ,1~}~ of Canada 
registered as 1nstrument #3673 SS ~1 '[_-_:_ 

2. Mortgage in ravour of A 19erta Opportun1ty Co, reg Is tered as 
lnstrum~nt. #fi:rn9 U,O, V 

3, 

4. 

Postponement reg1 stersd as Instrument 11545 UK and k~m.eJ>/ 

Caveat In favour of Syciete Generale (Canada) registered fs / 
Instrument 0832202427.,/ 

· .. 

\ 

· ' 
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Fl RST SCHEOUL E 

FIRSTLY: LOT ONE (l) /_' / 
CONTAIN ING ONE AND TWELVE HUNDREDTHS ( 1.12) ACRES 
NORE OR LESS 

J 

JN BLOCK FIVE-A (5-A) If/. 
ON PLAN 3225 T.R, ( 
EXCEPTING THEREOUT: 

ACRES 
0.01 

PLAN 
SUBDIVISION 

(SLAVE LAKE • SE 36-72-6-5) . 

EXCEPTJNG THEREOUT ALL MINES AHO Mll;;LS. 

Permitted Encumbrances: 

NUMBER 
752 087 7 

1. f/1irtgage in favour of Her Majesty the ~ueen 1Jl Righ~_9f Canada 
reg i stared as instrument f3673 SS • b 15a,N;, tG?{ 

2, caveat reglstered in favour 'of the Soclet~erale (Canada} and 
registered as instrument 0832202427. V 

SECONDLY: LOT TllO (2) (s' 
CONTA!tl!NG FOUR ANO NINETY SIX HUNOOEOTHS (4,96) AJ:R S 
MORE OR LESS ' // 

. IN BLOCK FIVE-A (5-A} 
· Oil PLAN 3225 T.R. j (SLAVE LAKE - SE 36-72-6-5) 

EXCEPTING THEREOUT ALL MlNES ANO MHIERALS. 

Per11l lted fncumbra11ces: 

1. Mortgage in favour of Her Majesty the Queen 1n R1gh,t of Cunada 
registered as 1nstru111ent 63673 SS ~1 'l..tJ)f 
Mortgage In favour of Alqerta Opportunity Co. registered as 
instrument #5399 U.B. ;,/ 

2' 

3, Postponement registered as instrument Bl545 U~ and 1..Aei.ttf'f}wj 
4. Caveat in favour of)6iete Gencrale (Canada) registered Is 

1 ns trument #832?.02427 

.. ,. ••. :t' ' 1 
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/ 

1. 

2. 

SECOND SCHEDULE • LEASEHOLD 

PLAN 4458 R.S. L 
THE WHOLE OF PARCEL CG 
CONTA !NING 1.17 HECTARE1, MORE OR LESS 
JASPER 

Permitted Encumbrances: 

/ 
Mortgage registered as instrument No. 832187930. Societe 
Generale (Canada) 

Caveat in favour of Societe Gener/e .. (Canada) reglstmd as 
instrument No. 832202425 7"'" 
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29/97182/5, 26-161184 spm 

THJRD SCHEDULE 

Permitted Encumbrances: 

1. a debenture ln the ·principal amount of FIVE HUNDRED THOUSAND 
($500,000,00) DOLLARS ln favour of the Alberta Opportunity 
Company and registered on the mortgage register at the 
Corporations Branch on September 19, 1973. 

2, a chattel mortgage in favour of the Societe Generale (Canada) 
·and registered at the Central Registry as 1nstr~ent No, 432294 
and in the mortgage reglstor at the Corporations Branch on 
August 41 1983 In the principal amount of Eleven M11lion, Five 
Hundred Thousand ($11,500,000.00) Dollars; and 

3, an assignment of book debts in favour of the Soclete Generale 
(Canada) and registered at the Central Registry as instrument 
No, 432573, 

: . 

I . , 
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ASSIGNMENT OF DEBENTURE 

THIS INDENTURE MADE THIS I'S#. day of ~ , A. D. 1985 

BETWEEN: 

WALTER P. TWINN 
as Trustee of the Sawridge Indian Band 

(hereinafter called the "Assignor") 

OF THE FIRST PART 

AND: 

WALTER P. TWINN, SAM TWIN, AND GEORGE TWIN 
As Trustees for the Sawridge B~nd Inter Vivos Settlement 

(hereinafter called "the Assignees") 

OF THE SECOND PART 

WHEREAS the Assignor holds a certain debenture made in writing 
and executed on the 21st day of January, 1985, between Sawridqe Enterprises 
Ltd. and the Sawridge Indian Band through its Chief Walter P. Twinn acting 
Trustee as holder, in the ~rincipal amount of $12,000,000.00. 

ANO WHEREAS the Assignor has agreed to assign all of its interest 
in the aforesaid debenture to the Assignees. 

ANO WHEREAS the Assignees have consented to such assignment . 

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the sum of $1.00 together with 
other good and valuable consideration the adequacy and sufficiency whereof 
is hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto covenant and agree as follows: 

SAW000537 
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1. The said Assignor does hereby assign all its interest in the 

said debenture as hereinbefore described to the said Assignees to have 

and to hold the said interest in the said debenture, unto and to the use 

of the Assignees, their heirs and assigns forever, subject to the terms, 

covenants contained in the said debenture. 

2. The said Assignor hereby covenants with the said Assignees 

that there is now due or accruin9 due and upaid under the said debenture, 

the sum of $13,157,219.89. 

3. The said Assignor covenants that it has done no act or 

permitted any act to encumber its interest in the said debenture, 

and it has not done or permitted any act, neither has it been guilty 

of any ommission or laches whereby the said debenture has become in 

part or entirely in any way impaired or invalid and has not released, 

assigned, hypothecated or discharged nor has any covenant, condition, 
or proviso contained in the said debenture been discharged or waived 

or any breach or non-performance of any covenant contained in the said 

debenture been ~1aived or condoned and that the Assignor will, upon the 

request to do so from the Assignees do, perform, or execute every act 

necessary to enforce the full performance of the covenants or any other 

matter contained in the said debenture . For the purposes of enforcing 

all rights of the Assignor, being the SAWRIDGE INDIAN BAND, in the said 

debenture, the said Assignor does hereby nominate, constitute and appoint 

the Assignees its true and lawful attorney, irrevocable and to use the 

name of the Sawridge Indian Band in securing the enforcement of all such 

rights contained in the debenture. 

SAW000538 
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NOW WHEREFORE the Assignor and Assignee have hereunto affixed 

their signatures on the day and month and year first written above. 
.... . . . ........ ,, ,_ ···- ... . ... _ ................ ..... ·- ............ .............. ·-· . 

SAWRIDGE INDIAN BAND 

Per: 

T . • ' 

SAWRIDGE BAND INTER VIVOS SETTLEMENT 

SAWD00539 





0 . . 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

50 

into the '85 Trust. 

Q Okay. Thank you. I was finding that a bit confusing. 

A It is very confusing for us as well, so. 

Q Okay, thank you. And just scr that I am clear on this, 

going back to paragraph 7, 8, and 9? 

MS. BONORA: Can we just go off the record for a 

second, just so that there is a clear picture. 

(Discussion off the Record.) 

Q MS. HUTCHISON: . We had a useful discussion off the 

record. Thank you, Ms. Bonora. 

So my understanding is that the transfer from the 

'82 Trust to the '85 Trust, we can probably talk about 

it as being three components. The holdco transfer? 

A Yes. 

Q The non-holdco asset transfer? 

A Yes. 

Q And then there was a third element that we hadn't 

discussed until we went off the record, wheie there was 

A Yes. 

Q From the '82 Trust to the '85 Trust? 

A There was a debenture held by the First Nation 

separate 1 y , and it w a s a d.e:b;e'rf'.t:t:t .t,ei for the cons t ruction 

of the Slave Lake Hotel and the development of that 

property. And so that ·d.el~re.'1l.t'.µ~r,·e1 was held by the First 

Nation itself, and it decided to transfer that 

27 debenture to the '85 -- it wasn't part of the '82 

'----------------------~ JtccuJ'cript~~J'~~ice& ---------------------------' 
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1 Trust, but it was added to the 1985 Trust. 

2 Q I see. So the '85 Trust ultimately ended up holding 

3 more assets actually than the '82 Trust? 

4 

5 

6 

A Yes, that is right. 

Q Okay. 

MS. SONORA: 

7 record. 

Sorry, if we just go off the 

8 (Discussion off the Record.) 

9 Q MS. HUTCHISON: Mr. Bujold, we are showing you a 

10 copy of what we have called the de·b·e·n--t:u:re.? 

11 

12 

A 

Q 

A 

Yes. 

Are you familiar with that document? 

I am, yes. 13 

14 MS. HUTCHISON: So I wonder if we could mark that 

15 as Exhibit 1. 

1 6 "E'~Ii¥Ir1B'I'T~ N·.0~! ·1.Y:J 

17 .O:E'Mi\N:D1 .. QE,B •E'N.'lW,RE~ O•F,',,S'A·WRI OGE: 1E'N.TERPR'.l:S'E$ 

19 Q MS. HUTCHISON: Mr. Bujold, I am just showing you a 

20 band council resolution dated April 15th, 1985. Is 

21 that document familiar to you? 

22 

23 

24 

25 

A 

Q 

Yes. 

And so if we could mark that as Exhibit 2. 

EXHIBIT NO. 2: 

BAND COUNCIL RESOLUTION DATED APRIL 15, 

1985. e 26 

27 And ju~t by way of clarification, 

'---~~~~~~~~~~~ Jtccud'~yx·fl?.e/;ortUf!l'J'~~ ~~~~~~~~~~~~~ 

Q MS. HUTCHISON: 
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COURT FILE NO: 1103 14112 

COURT: QUEEN'S BENCH OF ALBERTA 

JUDICIAL CEN TRE: EDMONTON 

APPLICANT: 

IN THE MATTER OF THE TRUSTEE ACT , 
R.S.A. 2000 , c . T-8, AS AMENDED , and 

IN THE MATTER OF THE SAWRIDGE BAND 
INTER VIVOS SETTLEMENT CREATED BY 
CHIEF WALTER PATRICK TWINN, OF THE 
SAWRIDGE INDIAN BAND, NO. 19, now 
known as SAWRIDGE FIRST NATION ON 
APRIL 15, 1985 (the "1 985 Sawridge 
Trust ") 

ROLAND TWINN, MARGARET WARD, TRACEY 
SCARLETT , EVERETT JUSTIN TWINN AND 
DAVID MAJESKI, as Trustees for the 
1985 Sawridge Trust 

QUESTIONING RE ASSET TRANSFER 
ORDER APPLICATION 

OF 

PAUL BUJOLD 

Ms. D. Bonora 

P.J. Faulds, Esq. and 
Ms. J. Hutchison 

Ms. C. Osua ldini 

M. Cressatti , Esq. 

Susan Stelter 

For the Applicants 

For the Public Trustee 

For Catherine Twinn 

For Sawridge First Nation 

Court Reporter 

Edmonton, Alberta 

26 February, 2020 
2 March, 2020 
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Sorry , ask me the question again? 

The question I asked you , I think, was you understood 

t hat in addition to the assets transferred to the 1985 

Trust by the 1982 Trustees, there was this debenture 

which was also transferred to the 1985 Trust by Walter 

Patrick Twinn? 

I -- yes , initially I understood that to be the case , 

yes. 

Now you say initially . 

understanding? 

Did you come to a different 

Well , I have come to a different understanding recently 

because we since discovered that this -- I had never 

seen this actual debenture show up anywhere, I have 

never seen that value, $12 million show up anywhere as 

a singular amount . And when we did a title search 

recently on this debenture and discovered that it had 

been registered , the , you know, the debenture wasn ' t -­

it didn ' t follow through. Like it didn 't go all of the 

way to the end . It was released at some point . 

Okay . Now you understand that a debenture is an 

instrument reflecting a debt? 

Yeah, it is a mortgage, yeah . 

Yes , sure . A mortgage which you can register in more 

ways than you can register a mortgage? 

That is right , yes . 

And it isn ' t confined to land either? 

That is right. 
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evidence of the debenture. 

MR. FAULDS: But that would include a line item? 

Yeah, so there was no line items, nor were there any 

other references to this $12 million debenture. And 

when I inquired about it I was told that it had no 

effect . The debenture was cancelled . 

Sir, who did you inquire of? 

I inquired of John MacNutt. 

Who is? 

The CEO of Sawridge Group of Companies. 

Okay . And where does Sawridge Holdings fit in to that? 

Sawridge Holdings is one of the two holding companies 

that existed at the time that were administered by the 

Sawridge Group of Companies . 

Okay. And Sawridge Enterprises? 

I am not sure where Sawridge Enterprises fit in a ll of 

that. It was -- I think Sawridge Enterprises, and I am 

simply , you know, supposing at this point. 

MS. BONORA: Don 't speculate. If you don't 

A 

Q 

A 

Q 

A 

know , you don't know. 

I don't know. 

MR. FAULDS: Okay. But you did go to Mr. 

MacNutt and ask him what about this debenture? 

Yes . 

Okay . And when did you do that? 

I can 't be sure exactly what the date was. 

around 2012 , I am guessing. 

It was 
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1 was about. Like was it referring to an asset that 

2 belonged to the Trust or not? 

3 Q Okay. Well, you understood the debenture had been 

4 transferred to the Trust? 

5 A Yes. 

6 Q So it was an asset of the Trust? 

7 A Yes, but I had many documents that referred to --

8 MS. BONORA: Sorry, I feel like we are getting 

9 away from the evidence I think is going in a circle. 

10 He testified that the asset -- he never saw any 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

evidence that this debenture was part of the Trust. 

That is what he said at the beginning. 

MR. FAULDS: Well, no. With respect, Ms. Bonora, 

he said he recognized that this was an asset that was 

transferred to the Trust. 

MS. BONORA: Can you ask him that question 

Q 

A 

Q 

again, because I don't think that that is his evidence. 

And if we can just maybe perhaps go off the record. 

(Discussion off the Record.) 

MR. FAULDS: 

on the record. 

Okay, Mr. Bujold, if we can go back 

Your counsel has said in our discussion 

off the record that the 1985 Trustees take the position 

that this debenture never formed a part of the Trust? 

Yes. 

And let me ask you this. You recognized from your 

review that this was, if it was an asset of the Trust, 

it was a substantial asset given its value? 
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Yes. 

So what inquiries did you make about what happened with 

this debenture? 

I think I explained it to you already. I asked the 

Sawridge Group of Companies, through John MacNutt, if I 

should be considering this as part of the assets of the 

Trust in the holding company . 

Okay. 

And he said the debenture had no effect. 

Okay. 

And that it had been discharged a long time ago . So I 

didn ' t have any record of that. I didn't find any --

in the materials that were given to me at the time, I 

didn ' t find any indication of registration of the 

debenture, I didn ' t find anything on it. 

Okay . So did you ask Mr . MacNutt why it was of no 

effect? 

I did , and he said that it had -- you know, he had as 

little information about it as I did . 

So 

So John MacNutt didn't come on the scene until 2003, so 

he had no knowledge of this other than, you know, other 

than the knowledge that I had , was here is a document 

that says that you have $12 million in assets, so where 

is it? Both of us went through the same process of 

trying to figure out okay , what is this about. 

Okay. 
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And, you know, both of us came to the same conclusion 

that there was nothing in our records that indicated 

this debenture had ever actually been transferred into 

the assets of the ' 85 Trust. 

Well , again, other than the documents that we just 

6 looked at? 

7 A Other than the assignment and , you know, other than 

8 that, that is all that we had. 

9 Q Did you ask Mr. McKinney about the debenture? 

10 MS . BONORA: He can't give you any evidence 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

about Mr . McKinney ' s discussion. 

lawyer . 

Mr. McKinney is a 

MR. FAULDS: 

administrator . 

MS. BONORA: 

Q 

questions. 

MR. FAULDS : 

Well, Mr. McKinney is also an 

We are objecting to those 

Well, I am going to ask you. My 

question is not asking you what Mr. McKinney told you, 

19 my question is did you ask Mr. McKinney? 

20 MS. BONORA: We are not answering that question. 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

MR. FAULDS: Okay. 

Q MR. FAULDS: You are saying that you have not 

A 

Q 

seen any records which reflect this debenture as part 

of the assets of the 1985 Trust? 

No. 

Are you confident that you have all of the records 

relating to the 1985 Trust? 
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0010 961 514 

HISTORICAL LAND TITLE CERTIFICATE 

TITLE CANCELLED ON SEPTEMBER 04,2012 

SHORT LEGAL 
8522283;7;1 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
PLAN 8522283 
BLOCK 7 
LOT 1 
EXCEPTING THEREOUT ALL MINES AND MINERALS 
AREA: 3.94 HECTARES (9 . 74 ACRES) MORE OR LESS 

ESTATE: FEE SIMPLE 
ATS REFERENCE: 5 ; 6;72 ; 36 ; SE 

MUNICIPALITY : TOWN OF SLAVE LAKE 

REGISTERED OWNER(S) 
REGISTRATION DATE(DMY) DOCUMENT TYPE VALUE 

852 264 042 29/11/1985 

OWNERS 

SAWRIDGE HOLDINGS LTD. 
OF C/O OGILVIE LLP 
SUITE 1400, 10303 JASPER AVENUE 
EDMONTON 
ALBERTA T5J 3N6 

(DATA UPDATED BY : CHANGE OF ADDRESS 102322174) 
(DATA UPDATED BY : CHANGE OF NAME 122191127) 

REGISTRATION 
NUMBER 

762 002 490 

772 104 108 

ENCUMBRANCES, LIENS & INTERESTS 

DATE (D/M/Y) PARTICULARS 

07/01/1976 UTILITY RIGHT OF WAY 
GRANTEE - THE TOWN OF SLAVE LAKE. 
"PART" 

07/06/1977 UTILITY RIGHT OF WAY 
GRANTEE - THE TOWN OF SLAVE LAKE . 
AS TO PORTION OR PLAN : 7721172 

( CONTINUED ) 

TITLE NUMBER 
852 264 042 B 

CONSIDERATION 

NIL 

i 

' t . 
! 
~·-

t 
I 
t 
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REGISTRATION 
NUMBER 

852 050 951 

852 264 039 

862 125 067 

862 135 756 

932 109 411 

932 11~ 429 

032 443 307 

032 456 280 

102 322 174 

122 191 127 

ENCUMBRANCES, LIENS & INTERESTS. 
PAGE 2 
4t 852 264 042 B 

DATE (D/M/Y) PARTICULARS 

14/03/1985 MORTGAGE . 
MORTGAGEE - WALTER P TWINN 
SAWRIDGE INDIAN RESERVE, SLAVE LAKE 
ALBERTA 
ORIGINAL PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: $12,000,000 
"PART" 

29/11/1985 UTILITY RIGHT OF WAY 
GRANTEE - ALBERTA GOVERNMENT TELEPHONES, 
"PART" 

17/06/1986 MORTGAGE 
MOR.TGAGEE - THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA. 
SLAVE LAKE 
ALBERTA 
ORIGINAL PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: $12,000,000 

30/06/1986 POSTPONEMENT 
OF MORT 852050951 
TO MORT 862125067 

26/04/1993 MORTGAGE 
MORTGAGEE - THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA. 
10050 JASPER AVE., EDMONTON 
ALBERTA 
ORIGINAL PRINCIPAL AMOUNT: $500,000 

03/05/1993 POSTPONEMENT 
OF MORT 852050951 
TO MORT 932109411 

15/11/2003 DISCHARGE OF MORTGAGE 852050951 
AND POSTPONEMENT 862135756 
AND POSTPONEMENT 932118429 

25/11/2003 CAVEAT 
RE : AGREEMENT CHARGING LAND 
CAVEATOR - THE BANK OF NOVA SCOTIA. 
10050 JASPER AVENUE, EDMONTON 
ALBERTA T5JlV7 
AGENT - PERCIVAL E ODYNAK 

13/09/2010 CHANGE OF ADDRESS FOR SERVICE 
RE: SAWRIDGE ENTERPRISES LTD. 
17416-111 AVE 
EDMONTON 
ALBERTA T5SOA2 
AFFECTS INSTRUMENT: 8522640428 

18/06/2012 CHANGE OF NAME 

( CONTINUED 

l 
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REGISTRATION 
NUMBER 

122 200 513 

122 289 407 

ENCUMBRANCES, LIENS & INTERESTS 

DATE (D/M/Y) PARTICULARS 

RE: SAWRIDGE HOLDINGS LTD. 
C/O OGILVIE LLP 
SUITE 1400, 10303 JASPER AVENUE 
EDMONTON 
ALBERTA T5J3N6 
AFFECTS INSTRUMENT: 852264042B 

22/06/2012 BUILDER'S LIEN 
LIENOR - 1617235 ALBERTA LTD . 
C/O 300, 10335-172 STREET 
EDMONTON 
ALBERTA T5SlK9 
AMOUNT: $18,210 

04/09/2012 TRANSFER OF LAND 

PAGE 3 
# 852 264 042 B 

OWNERS - SAWRIDGE MANAGEMENT CORPORATION. 
17416-111 AVE 
EDMONTON 
ALBERTA T5SOA2 
NEW TITLE ISSUED 

TOTAL INSTRUMENTS: 014 

THE REGISTRAR OF TITLES CERTIFIES THIS TO BE AN 
ACCURATE REPRODUCTION OF THE CERTIFICATE OF 
TITLE REPRESENTED HEREIN THIS 14 DAY OF 
NOVEMBER, 2019 AT 03:53 P .M. 

ORDER NUMBER: 38365259 

CUSTOMER FILE NUMBER: 

*END OF CERTIFICATE* 

THIS ELECTRONICALLY TRANSMITTED LAND TITLES PRODUCT IS INTENDED 
FOR THE SOLE USE OF THE ORIGINAL PURCHASER, AND NONE OTHER, 
SUBJECT TO WHAT IS SET OUT IN THE PARAGRAPH BELOW. 

THE ABOVE PROVISIONS DO NOT PROHIBIT THE ORIGINAL PURCHASER FROM 
INCLUDING THIS UNMODIFIED PRODUCT IN ANY REPORT, OPINION, 
APPRAISAL OR OTHER ADVICE PREPARED BY THE ORIGINAL p(tRcru:{sER AS 
PART OF THE ORIGINAL PURCHASER APPLYING PROFESSIONAL, CONSULTING 
OR TECHNICAL EXPERTISE FOR THE BENEFIT OF CLIENT(S) . 





ALBERTA GOVERNMENT SERVICES 
LAND TITLES OFFICE 

IMAGE OF DOCUMENT REGISTERED AS: 

862135756 
ORDER NUMBER: 38678563 

ADVISORY 

This electronic image is a reproduction of the original document 
registered at the Land Titles Office. Please compare the registration 
number on this coversheet with that on the attached document to ensure 
that you have received the correct document. Note that Land Titles Staff 
are not permitted to interpret the contents of this document. 

Please contact the Land Titles Office at (780) 422-7874 if the image of the 
document is not legible. 



~ 
~ 
18. 
II!) 

I/\ 
I'-

I/\ 

"" ... 
N 
IQ 
co 

\'... 

v 

\ 
I 

I 

'l 

I 

I ,, 

I 

~ 
I 
I 

. I 
i 



I 

I 
/ .; 

POSTPOtfEMENT OF DEBENTURE 

TO: THE RECISTR~.R OF CORPORATIONS 
CORPORATE REGISTRY 
EDMONTON, ALBERTA 

11ND 
.T01 THE REGISTRAR 

NORTH ALBERTA LllND REXlISTP.ATLON DISTRICT 
L11ND TITLES OFFICE 
EDMONTON, ALBERTA 

WALTER P, mINtf~ as Trnstee for the Sawddge Indian 
Band, hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees to 
the postponement of all of his and their rights, both 
present or future, H Debenture Hold.er with respect to a 
Demand Debenture made by STl(ofRIOOE ENTERPRISES LTD. to 
;;~:.:'~ ~. '!'!·!!!!!!. ~.~ '1'~11•t~e for the Sa11ridqe Indian 
Band, on the 21st day of January, 11.0. 19ti~ anti 
registered as follows: ' 

(a) at the Office of the Registrar of Corporations 
in the City of Edmonton, in the Province of 
Alberta on the 13th day of March, A.D. 1985; 

(bl at the Off ice of the Registrar of the North 
!1berta L~nd Reqistration District on the 14th 
~ay of March, A;D, 1985 as instru1ent 

/ 852050951 against the following lands and 

: :FIRSTL'f 1 

~ECONDLY I 

premises 1 

PLAN SLl\Vf. L/IKF. 85?. 2283 
fl[,OC.K SEVBN t 7 l 
LOT ONE: (1) 
CONT/IINING 3, 9~ HECTARES, MORE OR LESS 
( $,E, 36-72-6-W5'l'Hl 
EXCEPTING THEREOUT /ILL MINF.S AND MlNERLS 

LgASEHOLD FOR /I TERK or FORTY TWO (q ?. ) VE:/IRS 
COMHENCINO ON THE lST D/IV or H/\V I 198] TINO 
EH!llHO ON THF. JOTH DAV OF i\PRIL I 2023 

PL.~N 4458 R,S, 
THE WHOLE OF PARCEL CO 
CONTAINING ).17 HECTARES, MORE OR LESS 
JllSPER 

\.J 

j 
i 
I 
~ 

I 
l 
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and said Debenture as descrlbed above is postponed to 
all the rights and remedies in and to that cert.11in 
Debenture granted by SAWRIIJGE ENTERPRISES LTD. to THE 
Bl\NK OF NOVA SCOTIA on the~ day of June, A,D, 1986 
and registered at the Off.ice of tlle Reqistrnr of 
Corporations in the City of Edmonton, in the Provinr.e of 
Alberta on the ..ir'.:. day of :Ju~~ A.D. 1986 , at the 
Office of the Registrar of the North Alberta Land 
Registration District against the lands and gremises 
described in paragraph lb) het·ein on the 11~ day of ,; 
.J !AJ\f A.D. 1986 as Instrument Number~&. .:m.S'Olo] 

with respect to all sums of money secured or to be 
ser.ured thereby including any o.nd all monie~ that mny be 
advanced thereunder so that the said Debenture in favour 
of The Bank of Nova Scotia shall take absolute 
precedence and priority in all i ts respects as 
principal, interest, claims , charges, rights and 
renedles. 

NP.LTER P. 'l'WINN, as Trustee of i'he sawridge lna1an 
Band hereby further agrees to execute such further and 
other documents and assurances a~ ma)' be required from 
tiThe to ti~e in order to give effect to this 
postponement. 

HI WITNESS HHEREOF W/\LTER P. '!'WINN has affixed hie 
hand and seal being duly-authorized in that behalf on 
behalf of The Sawridge Indian Band on this $t..d1;1y of 

l.\•, .. 1, A.O. 1986, 

o,.> 
'y)'1M~ ) 'jh_p-,,,,_. _glut:. yJ -2= 

W1LTEP. P ,-#ITTIN 
l\S TRUSTEE ['OR 
THE Sf\WRIOOE INDIAN BllND 

,. • • · · • _ , ,.,, .. " . . .. .. .. . . ,., , . ., •. '''" .. .. ,~ .. . , ~ .. 1 .. u ... i.1.·1 1<1.t..""''~hl•l....,.£J."~~ 
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CANADA. 

PROVINCE OF ALBERTA) 
) 

AFFIDAVIT OF EXECUTlON 

I, BRUCE THOM 

of the TollTI of Slave Lake 

TO WI'l' ) in the Province of Alberta 

MAKE OATH A.ND SAY : 

1. I WAS PERSONALLY present and did see WALTER '!WINN named in 

the within instrument, who is personally known to me to be the person 

named therein, duly sign and executed the same for the purposes named 

therein. 

2, THAT THE SAME was exe cuted at Slave Lake in the Province 

of Alberta, and I am the subscribing witness thereto. 

3, THM~ 1 KNOW tne said WALTER 'IVlINN and he h !11 my belief uf 

tho full age of eighteen years, 

SvlORN BCTORE M8 at Slave Lake 

in the Province of Alberta 

this .'.!L day of ·ru11fo , 

A.O. l?B6, 

/) (,/ . /11/ ,.,.- I ' 
J.J/· f\(. 11 t', i : [.l.)/i 1·1 
A Commiooionor for Oaths in nnrl 
for the Province of lllbertn 

( .1V1. Tv.; ,,,,1 

11111 ~ /( o \ "'~ I::\ 'j,,.,, ' ' 1 rvli. 

(
") 

i ; '\ I 
~Ji11, .. :L .~~'\Nyy'-v __ _ 

B1(1JCE 'IllOM 

v 

I 

"' .... , ............. .................. -~ .............. ~-~ 
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TO: 

AND 

POSTPONEMENT OP Ol;Bi!ITURE 

TH!! REGISTRAR 

PERSOllAL PROPERTY SECURITY REGISTRY 
EDMONTON 1 ALBERTA 

TO I THE REGISTRAR OF THE NORTH ALBERTI\ 

LAND REGISTRATION DISTRlCT 

EDMONTON 1 ALBERTA 

WALTER p, TWrllN, as Trustee for The Sawridge Indian 
Band, hereby irrevoc~bly and unconditionally 4grees to the 
postponement of dll of his and their rights, both present or 
future, as Debenture Holder with respect to a Demand Debenture 
made by SAWRIDGE ENTERPRISES LTD, to WALTER p, TWiml, AS Trustee 

for The sawridge Indian Band 1 on the 2 lst day of January, A. D, 
1985 and registered es follows: 

(a) at the Office of the Registrar of Corporations in 
the city of Edmonton, in the Province o! Alberta on 
the 13th day of March, A,D, 1985; 

(b) at the Office of the Registrar of the North Alberta 
Land Registration District on the 14th day of 
March, A. D. 1965 as Instrument Number 652 oso 951 
against the tallowing lands and premises : 

FIRSTLY: 

PLAN SLAV8 LAKE 852 2283 
BLOCK SEVEN ( 7) 
LOT ONE ( 1) 
CONTAINING 3,94 HECTARES, MORE OR LESS 
(8.E, 36-72-6-115TH) 
EXCEPTING THEREOUT ALL HINES AND MINERALS 

·-·--------



~ 2 -

SECOllDLY 1 

LEASEHOLD FOR A TERM OF FORTY' TWO ( 4 2) Y€1\RS COMMENCING 
ON THE !ST DAY OF Ml\Y 1 1981 AND ENDING ON THE JOTH DAY 
OF APRIL 1 202 3 

PLAN 4458 R,S, 
THE WHOLE OF PARCEL CG 
CONTAINING l.17 HECTARES, MORE OR LESS 
JASPER 

and said Debenture as described above is postponed to all the 
rights and remedies in and to that certain Debenture for 
$500 1000,00 granted by SAWRIDGE ENTERPR!SBS LTD. to THE BANK Oli' 

NOVA SCOTIA on the ..l!___ day ot March, A.D. 1993 and registered at 
the Office of the Registrar, Personal Property security Registry, 
in the city of Edmonton, in the Province of Alberta on the ~ 
day of Hnrch A.D. 1993, as Instruments Number 

~J032J027J4 
vumow1 and in the North Alberta Land Registration 

District on the ~day of hprll 1 A,D, 1993 as Instrument 
Number 9l21094ll with respect to all sums of money secured 
or to be secured thereby including any and all monies that may be 
advanced thereunder so that the Debenture in favor of the Bank of 
Nova Scotia shall take absolute precedence and priority in all its 
respects as principal, interest, claims, charges, rights and 
remedies. 

WALTER P. TWINN, as Trustee of The Sawridge Indian Dand 
hereby further agrees to execute such further and other documents 
and assurances aa may be required from time to time in order to 
give to this postponement. 

IN WITNBSS WHEREOF WALTER P, TWINN has affixed his hand 
and seal being duly authorized in that behalf on behalf of The 
sawridge Indian Band on this 3 I day of March, A.D: 1993, 

WITNESS WALTER P. TWINN, as 
Trustee for The sawridge 
Indian Band 



CANADA 
PROVINCE OF ALBl!RTA 

TOWIT: 

AFFIDAVIT OF EXECUTION 

I, MICHAilL McKJNNllY, or lho City of Edmonton, in the Provinco of 

Alberta, MAKl!OATHANDSAY: 

THAT l wai porsonally prc.1ant &nd did mi WALTER P. TWINN named in 
tho within (or annexed) irutrumenl who iJ personally known lo mo to bo tho perion 
named thmin, duly sign and oxecu lo U11 suno for !he purpoie named therein. 

2. THAT the same w111 oxccured at the Town or Sim Lake, in the Province ol 

Alborla, and lhet 1 am the !\lbicriblng witne11 thero\o, 

~. THAT I know tho said WALiER P. TW111N llld he Is In my beUef ol lhe 

Ml ago o! eight® year~ 

~ORN oolore me at the City of 
~~nlon~' U1e}1ov!nco '·, 
of ~rta, lhi1:;iliday or j 
Ap ', A.D. l· 

I \r,)11. klC:11 : 
A COMMISStoNI!R FO OATHS IN 
AND FOR Tilll PROVIN BOP ALBERTA 





ALBERTA GOVERNMENT SERVICES 
LAND TITLES OFFICE 

IMAGE OF DOCUMENT REGISTERED AS: 

032443307 
ORDER NUMBER: 38365229 

ADVISORY 

This electronic image is a reproduction of the original document 
registered at the Land Titles Office. Please compare the registration 
number on this coversheet with that on the attached document to ensure 
that you have received the correct document. Note that Land Titles Staff 
are not permitted to interpret the contents of this document. 

Please contact the Land Titles Office at (780) 422-7874 if the image of the 
document is not legible. 



:· 

... 

Albrtta R~:i !Uton .S38 ;a2 lliE LANO TITLES ACT Fotm 7 Set1ion 39, I 08 

CANADA 
PROVINCE Of ALBERTA 

DISCHARGE BY MORTGAGEE 

To tbt Rpti\trai ol tht NORTH Albuu hnd Rtvi$tntion Di\trlct: 

l,fNrl rlhLTER P. T'tir:·m, as Trustee of the sawridge Indian Band, 

the moru;agetld, (~tniahlo htr~y ai:kn~wledge 10 htve rtteivtd 111 tne monry to become due under !he 

n:on911~ Wt'~¥1Ctl mlldeliy SAWRIDGE ENTERPRISES LTD. 

ro ~ALTER P. TWit:N, as Trusrne of the Sawridge Indian Band, 

whicb mDrtgq (cr:~'!I r~il1errd in the LANO TITLES OFFICE for the North 

AlbtrtJ lud Rf)istntio11 Dis1ri:t t1n the 14th d1y of March .A.D, 19 BS, 

Ill mrtrumtnt No. 852050951 

,A .D.1~6 . 

SIGN ED by the ebovt! Nmei 

~ ./} VJ ../) 1 • 
--~-......... -.--.. · ............. _ ............. _ .. 

WALTER P. nllNN 

' 
; 
I 

I 
. l 

J 
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DARREN 

AFFIDAVIT Of EXECUTION 

CAtlADA ) 
) 

PROVINCE Of ALBERTA t 
) 

TOWIT: ) 

of EDMONTON 

In the Provinu of Albect;i 

MAKE OATH ANO SAY: 

1. I was personally pruent and did ue 

WALTER P. TWI.NN 

named in the within instrument, who is (ard personally 

known to me to be the person{sl name.ti therein, duly 1ign 

&nd execute the same for the purpose(s) named tharein. 

2. Tl:.iit the safl'lewas executed al EDMONTOn 
in the Pr;Jvince of A!berta and that I am the wbsi:ribin11 

witness thereto. 

3. That I know tha said person($) and he (ihe, each} is 

in my belief of tht full age nf eighteen years • 

.17 l -
i ,.,... .. _ -~ f'):.n 

. ·-····-·-·--- ·.f..,...-/:/:-..!t:;.-···'--;..,,__:!t.~1-c..------

swo RN before me ••..••...•.• ?.~~~.':~--~-~~~~--· ·· ·--··-

BARRJSTER & SOl.J(;:11t!Jffmmt•'•t:>n~r tv' O.aitnl- tor Al.0•11• 

. " ,. 
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